

FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT



Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C.
a Delaware limited liability company
150 North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(312) 750-1234
information@hyattdevelopment.com
www.hyattdevelopment.com
www.hyatt.com

The franchise offered is to operate an upscale, select service Hyatt Place ~~Hotel® hotel~~.

The total investment necessary to begin operation of a Hyatt Place ~~Hotel® hotel~~ ranges from ~~\$13,629,297~~ 17,918,455 to ~~\$40,143,980~~ 52,134,018. This includes ~~\$154,075~~ 158,770 to ~~\$752,352~~ 884,817 that must be paid to the franchisor or affiliate.

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of your franchise agreement and other information in plain English. Read this disclosure document and all accompanying agreements carefully. You must receive this disclosure document at least 14 calendar-days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make any payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale. **Note, however, that no governmental agency has verified the information contained in this document.**

You may wish to receive your disclosure document in another format that is more convenient for you. To discuss the availability of disclosures in different formats, contact Rebecca Smetters (rebecca.smetters@hyatt.com) at 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606, and (312) 780-5828.

The terms of your contract will govern your franchise relationship. Don't rely on the disclosure document alone to understand your contract. Read all of your contract carefully. Show your contract and this disclosure document to an advisor, like a lawyer or an accountant.

Buying a franchise is a complex investment. The information in this disclosure document can help you make up your mind. More information on franchising, such as "A Consumer's Guide to Buying a Franchise," which can help you understand how to use this disclosure document, is available from the Federal Trade Commission. You can contact the FTC at 1-877-FTC-HELP or by writing to the FTC at 600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C. 20580. You can also visit the FTC's home page at www.ftc.gov for additional information. Call your state agency or visit your public library for other sources of information on franchising.

There may also be laws on franchising in your state. Ask your state agencies about them.

Issuance date of this Franchise Disclosure Document: March 26, ~~2024, as amended May 7, 2024~~ 2025

Hyatt Place ~~2024-2025~~ 2025 FDD
~~ACTIVE~~ 1609045226.2
1615720939.4

How to Use This Franchise Disclosure Document

Here are some questions you may be asking about buying a franchise and tips on how to find more information:

QUESTION	WHERE TO FIND INFORMATION
How much can I earn?	Item 19 may give you information about outlet sales, costs, profits or losses. You should also try to obtain this information from others, like current and former franchisees. You can find their names and contact information in Item 20 or Exhibits G and H.
How much will I need to invest?	Items 5 and 6 list fees you will be paying to the franchisor or at the franchisor's direction. Item 7 lists the initial investment to open. Item 8 describes the suppliers you must use.
Does the franchisor have the financial ability to provide support to my business?	Item 21 or Exhibit A includes financial statements. Review these statements carefully.
Is the franchise system stable, growing, or shrinking?	Item 20 summarizes the recent history of the number of company-owned and franchised outlets.
Will my business be the only Hyatt Place—Hotel® <u>hotel</u> business in my area?	Item 12 and the “territory” provisions in the franchise agreement describe whether the franchisor and other franchisees can compete with you.
Does the franchisor have a troubled legal history?	Items 3 and 4 tell you whether the franchisor or its management have been involved in material litigation or bankruptcy proceedings.
What's it like to be a Hyatt Place—Hotel® <u>hotel</u> franchisee?	Item 20 or Exhibits G and H lists current and former franchisees. You can contact them to ask about their experiences.
What else should I know?	These questions are only a few things you should look for. Review all 23 Items and all Exhibits in this disclosure document to better understand this franchise opportunity. See the table of contents.

What You Need To Know About Franchising *Generally*

Continuing responsibility to pay fees. You may have to pay royalties and other fees even if you are losing money.

Business model can change. The franchise agreement may allow the franchisor to change its manuals and business model without your consent. These changes may require you to make additional investments in your franchise business or may harm your franchise business.

Supplier restrictions. You may have to buy or lease items from the franchisor or a limited group of suppliers the franchisor designates. These items may be more expensive than similar items you could buy on your own.

Operating restrictions. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a similar business during the term of the franchise. There are usually other restrictions. Some examples may include controlling your location, your access to customers, what you sell, how you market, and your hours of operation.

Competition from franchisor. Even if the franchise agreement grants you a territory, the franchisor may have the right to compete with you in your territory.

Renewal. Your franchise agreement may not permit you to renew. Even if it does, you may have to sign a new agreement with different terms and conditions in order to continue to operate your franchise business.

When your franchise ends. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a similar business after your franchise ends even if you still have obligations to your landlord or other creditors.

Some States Require Registration

Your state may have a franchise law, or other law, that requires franchisors to register before offering or selling franchises in the state. Registration does not mean that the state recommends the franchise or has verified the information in this document. To find out if your state has a registration requirement, or to contact your state, use the agency information in Exhibit D.

Your state also may have laws that require special disclosures or amendments be made to your franchise agreement. If so, you should check the State Specific Addenda. See the Table of Contents for the location of the State Specific Addenda.

Special Risks to Consider About *This* Franchise

Certain states require that the following risk(s) be highlighted:

1. **Out-of-State Dispute Resolution.** The franchise agreement requires you to resolve disputes with the franchisor by arbitration and/or litigation only in Illinois. Out-of-state arbitration or litigation may force you to accept a less favorable settlement for disputes. It may also cost more to arbitrate or litigate with the franchisor in Illinois than in your own state.

Certain states may require other risks to be highlighted. Check the “State Specific Addenda” (if any) to see whether your state requires other risks to be highlighted.

**THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS APPLY ONLY TO TRANSACTIONS GOVERNED BY
THE MICHIGAN FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW**

THE STATE OF MICHIGAN PROHIBITS CERTAIN UNFAIR PROVISIONS THAT ARE SOMETIMES IN FRANCHISE DOCUMENTS. IF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS ARE IN THESE FRANCHISE DOCUMENTS, THE PROVISIONS ARE VOID AND CANNOT BE ENFORCED AGAINST YOU.

Each of the following provisions is void and unenforceable if contained in any documents relating to a franchise:

- (a) A prohibition on the right of a franchisee to join an association of franchisees.
- (b) A requirement that a franchisee assent to a release, assignment, novation, waiver, or estoppel which deprives a franchisee of rights and protections provided in this act. This shall not preclude a franchisee, after entering into a franchise agreement, from settling any and all claims.
- (c) A provision that permits a franchisor to terminate a franchise prior to the expiration of its term except for good cause. Good cause shall include the failure of the franchisee to comply with any lawful provision of the franchise agreement and to cure such failure after being given written notice thereof and a reasonable opportunity, which in no event need be more than 30 days, to cure such failure.
- (d) A provision that permits a franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise without fairly compensating the franchisee by repurchase or other means for the fair market value at the time of expiration of the franchisee's inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures, and furnishings. Personalized materials which have no value to the franchisor and inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures, and furnishings not reasonably required in the conduct of the franchise business are not subject to compensation. This subsection applies only if: (i) The term of the franchise is less than 5 years and (ii) the franchisee is prohibited by the franchise or other agreement from continuing to conduct substantially the same business under another trademark, service mark, trade name, logotype, advertising, or other commercial symbol in the same area subsequent to the expiration of the franchise or the franchisee does not receive at least 6 months advance notice of franchisor's intent not to renew the franchise.
- (e) A provision that permits the franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise on terms generally available to other franchisees of the same class or type under similar circumstances. This section does not require a renewal provision.
- (f) A provision requiring that arbitration or litigation be conducted outside this state. This shall not preclude the franchisee from entering into an agreement, at the time of arbitration, to conduct arbitration at a location outside this state.
- (g) A provision which permits a franchisor to refuse to permit a transfer of ownership of a franchise, except for good cause. This subdivision does not prevent a franchisor from exercising a right of first refusal to purchase the franchise. Good cause shall include, but is not limited to:
 - (i) The failure of the proposed transferee to meet the franchisor's then current reasonable qualifications or standards.
 - (ii) The fact that the proposed transferee is a competitor of the franchisor or subfranchisor.

(iii) The unwillingness of the proposed transferee to agree in writing to comply with all lawful obligations.

(iv) The failure of the franchisee or proposed transferee to pay any sums owing to the franchisor or to cure any default in the franchise agreement existing at the time of the proposed transfer.

(h) A provision that requires the franchisee to resell to the franchisor items that are not uniquely identified with the franchisor. This subdivision does not prohibit a provision that grants to a franchisor a right of first refusal to purchase the assets of a franchise on the same terms and conditions as a bona fide third party willing and able to purchase those assets, nor does this subdivision prohibit a provision that grants the franchisor the right to acquire the assets of a franchise for the market or appraised value of such assets if the franchisee has breached the lawful provisions of the franchise agreement and has failed to cure the breach in the manner provided in subdivision (c).

(i) A provision which permits the franchisor to directly or indirectly convey, assign, or otherwise transfer its obligations to fulfill contractual obligations to the franchisee unless provision has been made for providing the required contractual services.

If the franchisor's most recent financial statements are unaudited and show a net worth of less than \$100,000.00, the franchisee may request the franchisor to arrange for the escrow of initial investment and other funds paid by the franchisee until the obligations, if any, of the franchisor to provide real estate, improvements, equipment, inventory, training or other items included in the franchise offering are fulfilled. At the option of the franchisor, a surety bond may be provided in place of escrow.

THE FACT THAT THERE IS A NOTICE OF THIS OFFERING ON FILE WITH THE ATTORNEY GENERAL DOES NOT CONSTITUTE APPROVAL, RECOMMENDATION, OR ENFORCEMENT BY THE ATTORNEY GENERAL.

Any questions regarding this notice should be directed to:

State of Michigan
Consumer Protection Division
Attn: Franchise Section
670 G. Mennen Building
Lansing, Michigan 48913
Telephone Number: (517) 335-7567

Notwithstanding paragraph (f) above, we intend to enforce fully the provisions of the arbitration section in our Franchise Agreement. We believe that paragraph (f) is unconstitutional and cannot preclude us from enforcing our arbitration provision. If you acquire a franchise, you acknowledge that we will seek to enforce that section as written, and that the terms of the Franchise Agreement will govern our relationship with you, including the specific requirements of the arbitration section.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>PAGE</u>
ITEM 1 THE FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS, AND AFFILIATES	1
ITEM 2 BUSINESS EXPERIENCE	6 <u>7</u>
ITEM 3 LITIGATION.....	7 <u>8</u>
ITEM 4 BANKRUPTCY	7 <u>8</u>
ITEM 5 INITIAL FEES.....	8
ITEM 6 OTHER FEES	11 <u>13</u>
ITEM 7 ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT.....	26 <u>29</u>
ITEM 8 RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES	30 <u>34</u>
ITEM 9 FRANCHISEE’S OBLIGATIONS	35 <u>39</u>
ITEM 10 FINANCING.....	38 <u>41</u>
ITEM 11 FRANCHISOR’S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, COMPUTER SYSTEMS, AND TRAINING.....	38 <u>42</u>
ITEM 12 TERRITORY	54 <u>60</u>
ITEM 13 TRADEMARKS	56 <u>62</u>
ITEM 14 PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION.....	58 <u>63</u>
ITEM 15 OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ACTUAL OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISE BUSINESS.....	61 <u>66</u>
ITEM 16 RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL	63 <u>69</u>
ITEM 17 RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER, AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION..	64 <u>70</u>
ITEM 18 PUBLIC FIGURES.....	70 <u>77</u>
ITEM 19 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS	71 <u>77</u>
ITEM 20 OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION	78 <u>84</u>
ITEM 21 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	92 <u>98</u>

ITEM 22	CONTRACTS.....	92 <u>99</u>
ITEM 23	RECEIPTS	92 <u>99</u>

EXHIBITS

Exhibit A	Financial Statements
Exhibit B	Franchise Application
Exhibit C	Franchise Agreement
Exhibit D	State Administrators/Agents for Service of Process
Exhibit E	System Standards Table of Contents
Exhibit F	Confidentiality Agreement
Exhibit G	List of Franchisees
Exhibit H	List of Franchisees Who Left the System
Exhibit I	Service Agreement for Revenue Management <u>Central Hotel</u> Services <u>by Hyatt Master Agreement</u>
Exhibit J	Comfort Letter
Exhibit K	Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement
Exhibit L	Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement
Exhibit ML	State-Specific Additional Disclosures and Riders

Item 1

THE FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS, AND AFFILIATES

To simplify the language in this disclosure document, “we,” “us” or “our” means Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C., the franchisor. “You” means the entity acquiring a franchise. One or more of the owners of a Controlling Ownership Interest (defined in Item 15) in you who we specify must sign the Guaranty and Assumption of Obligations, which means that all provisions of the Franchise Agreement (Exhibit C) also will apply to those owners. We expect that only entities, and not individuals, will acquire our franchises.

Our Company History and Parents

We are a limited liability company formed in Delaware. Our principal business address is 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606. If we have an agent for service of process in your state, we disclose that agent in Exhibit D. We do business only under our company name and the Proprietary Marks (defined below). We have never operated ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels (defined below), but some of our affiliates do. We have no predecessors and no business activities that are not described here. One of our parent companies is Hyatt Corporation, whose principal business address is the same as our address. Another parent company is Select Hotels Group, L.L.C. (~~“Select Hotels”~~), whose principal business address is the same as our address. Another parent company is Hyatt Hotels Corporation, whose principal business address is the same as our address. We have offered franchises for ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels since September 2005 and have never offered franchises in any other line of business.

Franchise Rights for ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels

We grant franchises for, and some of our affiliates operate, upscale, select service hotels that use the Hotel System (defined below) and are identified by the Proprietary Marks (“~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels”). ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels offer attractively-designed rooms with upscale amenities and exceptional service standards incorporating state-of-the-art technology, design and entertainment components. They typically are in primary and secondary cities and offer complimentary hot breakfast, free high-speed Internet access, a fitness center, swimming pool and meeting space. We call the ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel that you will operate under the Franchise Agreement your “Hotel.” You will operate the Hotel only from the location we approve before signing the Franchise Agreement.

The “Hotel System” means the concept and system associated with the establishment and operation of ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels, as we periodically modify it. The Hotel System now includes: (a) the trade names, trademarks, and service marks “Hyatt Place” and other trade names, trademarks, service marks, logos, slogans, trade dress, domain names, and other source and origin designations (including all derivatives) that we or our affiliate periodically develops and we periodically designate for use with the Hotel System (collectively, the “Proprietary Marks”); (b) all copyrightable materials that we or our affiliate periodically develops and we periodically designate for use with the Hotel System, including the contents of our secure extranet, electronic media, marketing materials (including advertising, marketing, promotional, and public relations materials

and business and marketing plans), the Design and Construction Standards (defined below), sample architectural plans, drawings, designs, and layouts, such as site, floor, plumbing, lobby, electrical, and landscape plans and building designs, whether or not registered with the U.S. Copyright Office (collectively, the “Copyrighted Materials”); (c) all Confidential Information (defined in Item 14); (d) the standards that we periodically prescribe detailing certain design criteria to be incorporated into the design and layout of the Hotel, and our minimum standards for engineering and construction of newly constructed, renovated or adapted ~~Hyatt-Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels, all as we determine them (the “Design and Construction Standards”); (e) the central reservations system and related services for ~~Hyatt-Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels, as we may periodically modify it (“CRS”); (f) the global distribution systems (“GDS”) and the online travel agencies and other alternative distribution systems (“ADS”) that we periodically authorize or require for the Hotel and other similarly situated ~~Hyatt-Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels, subject to Reasonable Deviations (defined in Item 8); (g) management, personnel, and operational training programs, materials, and procedures; (h) standards, specifications, procedures, and rules for operations, marketing, construction, equipment, furnishings, and quality assurance that we implement and may periodically modify for ~~Hyatt-Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels (collectively, “System Standards”) we describe in our confidential owner extranet, as we periodically amend them, or in other written or electronic communications; (i) marketing, advertising, and promotional programs; and (j) Mandatory Services and Non-Mandatory Services (each defined in Item 6).

Before signing the Franchise Agreement, and while you apply for franchise rights, you must submit ~~the Franchise Application~~[a franchise application](#) (Exhibit B) through our online application portal and pay the application fee. We will refund the application fee less a fee to cover our costs if you withdraw your franchise application before we approve it or if we do not approve it. During your evaluation process, and before receiving any Confidential Information, you must sign the Confidentiality Agreement (Exhibit F) (the “Confidentiality Agreement”). Because we may engage in negotiations with you and other franchisees, you may sign a Franchise Agreement with us that differs significantly from the agreements that other franchisees sign for ~~Hyatt-Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels.

Competition and the Market

The hotel market is well-established and highly competitive. ~~Hyatt-Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels compete with other national select- and full-service hotel systems and with regional and local hotels that offer comparable services and lodging products. ~~Hyatt-Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels will target both corporate business travelers and family weekend leisure travelers. Some competitors of ~~Hyatt-Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels may be larger, may operate more hotels and may have greater resources than we do. Other competitive factors include room rates, quality of accommodations, name recognition, service levels, geographic area, site location, general economic conditions and your management capabilities.

Our Affiliates Who Supply the Franchise Network or Offer Franchises

The following companies are our affiliates who currently provide products or services to ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel franchisees.

- Hyatt Corporation administers the “World of Hyatt” program, under which members earn points for eligible amounts guests spend at Hyatt Network Hotels and resorts worldwide. “Hyatt Network Hotels” are ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels and other hotels, resorts, lodging facilities and other accommodations and hospitality affiliations that we, our affiliates, or our or their franchisees or licensees periodically own and/or operate under the name “Hyatt” or another brand that any of our affiliates own, regardless of whether those brands utilize the “Hyatt” mark in their names. Other companies that provide hospitality or hospitality-related services to members, including other hotel operators, airlines and car rental companies, as well as branded hotel chains that Hyatt Corporation’s affiliates own, manage or license, also participate in the World of Hyatt program. Hyatt Corporation also will provide most of the Mandatory Services and Non-Mandatory Services to ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel franchisees. Hyatt Corporation (directly or through affiliates) has owned, operated, provided services to, and/or managed hotels since 1957 and currently owns, operates, provides services to, and manages (directly or through affiliates) hotels and lodging facilities under more than 25 lodging brands. Hyatt Corporation has never offered franchises in any line of business.
- Rosemont Project Management, L.L.C. (“Rosemont”) is a purchasing company that provides optional project management services and purchasing services for certain furniture, fixtures and equipment that ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels use. Rosemont has never operated hotels or offered franchises in any line of business. Rosemont’s principal business address is the same as our address.

We call Hyatt Corporation, Rosemont, us, and any of our other affiliates who also are subsidiaries of Hyatt Hotels Corporation that currently, or may in the future, provide goods or services to you during the Franchise Agreement’s term, the “Hyatt Group.”

The following companies are our affiliates who currently offer franchises or licenses in the United States and around the world. The branded hotels that some of these affiliates operate or franchise might use the same reservations systems and other systems and processes as ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels.

- Hyatt Franchising, L.L.C. (formerly known as Hyatt Franchise Corporation) (“Hyatt Franchising”) offered franchises for full service hotels operating in the United States under the Hyatt® name (without a sub-brand) from December 1994 until April 1997 and again from September 2006 until January 2015. Hyatt Franchising offered franchises for full service hotels operating in the United States

under the Hyatt Regency® name from September 1994 until April 1997 and began offering these franchises again in September 2006. Hyatt Franchising also began offering franchises for full service hotels operating in the United States under the Hyatt Centric® name in February 2015 and franchises for unique, up-scale accommodations and hospitality affiliations operating in the United States under their own names but associated with The Unbound Collection by Hyatt® name since June 2016. There currently are 9 full service hotels which operate under the Hyatt name (without a sub-brand), 7 of which are franchised. Hyatt Franchising previously offered (but no longer intends to offer) franchises for full service hotels under the Thompson® name from December 2018 to August 2021. Hyatt Franchising began offering franchises for “lifestyle” hotels operating in the United States under the brand names “Destination®” and “joie de vivre®” (also referred to as “JdV®”) in May 2019 and under the brand name “Caption by Hyatt®” in September 2019. Hyatt Franchising now refers to these brands as “Destination by Hyatt®,” “JdV by Hyatt®” and “Caption by Hyatt®” respectively. Hyatt Franchising has offered franchises for upper-midscale, extended stay hotels operating in the United States under the brand name “Hyatt Studios™” since May 2023. Hyatt Franchising has never operated hotels or offered franchises in any other line of business. Hyatt Franchising’s principal business address is the same as our address.

- Hyatt House Franchising, L.L.C. (formerly known as Summerfield Hotel Company, L.L.C. and before that as Summerfield Hotel Company L.P.) (“Hyatt House”) has offered franchises for extended stay hotels operating in the United States since August 1999. Hyatt House has never operated hotels or offered franchises in any other line of business. Hyatt House’s principal business address is the same as our address.
- Hyatt Franchising Canada Corp. (“Hyatt Franchising Canada”) has offered franchises for full service hotels operating in Canada since November 2007. Hyatt Franchising Canada has never operated hotels or offered franchises in any other line of business. Hyatt Franchising Canada’s principal business address is the same as our address.
- Hyatt International (Europe Africa Middle East) LLC (“Hyatt International EAME”) has offered franchises for full service hotels, select service hotels and/or extended stay hotels operating in the European Union since June 2014. Hyatt International EAME has never operated hotels or offered franchises in any other line of business but provides services to certain hotels in the European Union. Hyatt International EAME’s principal business address is The Circle 09, 8058 Zurich-Airport, Switzerland.
- Hyatt Place Canada Corporation (“Hyatt Place Canada”) has offered franchises for select service hotels operating in Canada under the Hyatt Place® name since

August 2006. Hyatt Place Canada has never operated hotels or offered franchises in any other line of business. Hyatt Place Canada's principal business address is the same as our address.

- Hyatt House Canada, Inc. (formerly known as Hyatt Summerfield Suites Canada, Inc.) ("Hyatt House Canada") has offered franchises for extended stay hotels operating in Canada since September 2007. Hyatt House Canada has never operated hotels or offered franchises in any other line of business. Hyatt House Canada's principal business address is the same as our address.
- Hyatt Franchising Latin America, L.L.C. ("Hyatt Franchising Latin America") has offered franchises for select service hotels, extended stay hotels, full service hotels and/or all-inclusive resorts operating in the Caribbean, Mexico, Central America, and South America since February 2013. Hyatt Franchising Latin America has never operated hotels or all-inclusive resorts or offered franchises in any other line of business. Hyatt Franchising Latin America's principal business address is the same as our address.
- [Hyatt do Brasil Participações Ltda. \("Hyatt Brazil"\) has offered franchises for full service hotels in Brazil since December 2024. Hyatt Brazil has managed hotels in Brazil since February 2000. Hyatt Brazil has never otherwise operated hotels or offered franchises in any other line of business. Hyatt Brazil's principal business address is Avenida das Nações Unidas, 14.171, 15º andar, Rochavera – Torre Marfin, São Paulo – SP, Brazil, CEP 04794-010.](#)
- Hyatt International – Asia Pacific, Limited ("Hyatt International Asia Pacific") has offered franchises for full service hotels and select service hotels in Asia since July 2016. Hyatt International Asia Pacific has never operated hotels or offered franchises in any other line of business. Hyatt International Asia Pacific's principal business address is Suite 1302-07, 13/F, The Gateway, Tower 1, 25 Canton Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Industry-Specific Regulations

You must comply with a number of federal, state and local laws that apply generally to establishing and operating hotel businesses. The laws involve, among other things, zoning and construction, public accommodations, accessibility by persons with disabilities, health and safety, and labor. Many laws vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. You must learn about and comply with all applicable laws. Examples of these laws include:

Health & Sanitation. Most states have regulations or statutes governing the lodging business and related services, including food handling and preparation. Many state and local authorities require lodging businesses to obtain licenses to assure compliance with health and

sanitation codes. Health-related laws may affect the use of linens, towels and glassware, among other things.

Alcoholic Beverages. Alcoholic beverage service in a ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel is subject to extensive regulations and licensing governing virtually all aspects of the beverage service.

Facility Operations. Lodging facilities must comply with innkeepers' laws that, among other things, might (i) allow innkeepers under certain circumstances to impose liens against the possessions of guests who do not pay their bills; (ii) limit the liability of innkeepers regarding guests' valuables; (iii) require posting of house rules and room rates in each room or near the registration area; (iv) require registration of guests and proof of identity at check-in, and retention of records for a specified period of time; (v) limit the rights of innkeepers to refuse lodging to certain guests; and (vi) limit innkeepers' rights to evict guests under certain circumstances. Applicable federal and state civil rights laws prohibit discrimination in hotels on the basis of race, creed, color or national origin. Some states prohibit "overbooking" and require innkeepers to find other accommodations if the guest has paid a deposit. Some states and municipalities also have enacted laws and regulations governing non-smoking areas and guest rooms. In addition, the general business laws, rules and regulations which apply to hotels in your jurisdiction will affect you. This includes any government orders related to emergent conditions, such as natural disasters and public health emergencies.

Persons with Disabilities. The accessibility laws, which include the Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA") and all other laws, rules, regulations and ordinances governing accommodations for or relationships with persons with disabilities or similar individuals, as periodically in effect, require (among other things) that public accommodations, including hotels, (i) offer facilities without discriminating against persons with disabilities; (ii) offer auxiliary aids and services to enable a person with a disability to use and enjoy the establishment's goods or services if doing so is not unduly burdensome or disruptive to business; and (iii) remove barriers to mobility or communication to the extent readily achievable. The U.S. Department of Justice has published "accessibility guidelines" ("ADAAG") that specify, among other things, a minimum number of handicapped-accessible rooms, assistance devices for hearing, speech, and visually impaired persons, and general design and construction standards that apply to all areas of facilities. Under the ADA, all new public accommodations and commercial facilities must be "readily accessible to and useable by individuals with disabilities," unless it would be structurally impractical to do so. Alterations of existing facilities also might need to comply with the ADA and ADAAG. In addition, many states and municipalities have their own laws and regulations addressing disability discrimination, access requirements, building modifications and alterations and building code requirements.

Fire Safety. The Hotel and Motel Safety Act of 1990 (the "Safety Act") encourages public accommodations to install hard wired single-station smoke detectors. Certain travel directories include only those facilities that comply with the Safety Act. Other state and local fire and life safety codes might require maps, lighting systems and other safety measures unique to lodging facilities.

OSHA Regulations. Like many other businesses, lodging facilities are subject to Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) standards. State occupational safety laws and rules may also apply.

Telephone Charges. Federal, state and local laws and regulations affect the re-offering of local, intrastate, and long distance telephone service in hotel guest rooms and at coin box telephones. Some states regulate or prohibit surcharges on local and intrastate calls.

Hotel Room Occupancy Tax Laws. You may be required to pay local or state room occupancy taxes in your jurisdiction.

Menu and Labeling Laws. Federal, state and local laws and regulations govern menu labeling. These laws and regulations may, among other things, require you to post caloric information on menus and provide additional written nutrition information to consumers upon request.

In addition to these laws, you must also comply with laws that apply generally to all businesses. You should investigate these laws.

Item 2

BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Executive Vice President – Chief Growth Officer: Jim Chu

Mr. Chu has been our and Hyatt Hotels Corporation’s Executive Vice President – Chief Growth Officer since June 2022. From March 2021 until May 2022, he was our and Hyatt Hotels Corporation’s Executive Vice President – Global Franchising and Development. From March 2018 until February 2021, he was our and Hyatt Hotels Corporation’s Global Head of Development and Owner Relations. Each of Mr. Chu’s positions with us and our affiliates has been in Chicago, Illinois. As of July 1, 2025, we expect Mr. Chu to become our and Hyatt Hotels Corporation’s Head of Owner Relations.

President, Inclusive Collection: Javier Águila

Mr. Águila has been our and Hyatt Hotels Corporation’s President, Inclusive Collection in Zurich, Switzerland since March 2025. He has also been Hyatt Hotels Corporation’s Group President, EAME in Zurich, Switzerland since June 2022. Before that, he was Group President of Europe and Global Strategy Apple Leisure Group in Madrid, Spain from February 2019 until June 2022. As of July 1, 2025, we expect Mr. Águila to become our and Hyatt Hotels Corporation’s Executive Vice President – Chief Growth Officer.

Head of Americas Development – Daniel Hansen

Mr. Hansen has been our and Hyatt ~~Hotels~~-Corporation's Head of Americas Development since April 2024. He has also been Hyatt Franchising's Global Head, Hyatt Studios since May 2023. From January 2022 until May 2023, he was the owner and President of Parabellum Advisory, LLC in Austin, Texas, a company providing consulting services for hotel owners. He served as the President and CEO of Summit Hotel Properties in Austin Texas from February 2011 until January 2021. He held the additional roles of its Chairman of the Board from January 2017 until January 2021 and its Executive Chairman from January 2021 until January 2022.

Executive Vice President, Group President – Americas: Peter Sears

Mr. Sears has been our and Hyatt ~~Hotels~~-Corporation's Executive Vice President, Group President – Americas in Chicago, Illinois since September 2014.

Senior Vice President, Development & Owner Relations: Jim Tierney

Mr. Tierney has been our and Hyatt ~~Hotels~~-Corporation's Senior Vice President, Development & Owner Relations since June 2019. From October 2017 until May 2019, he was our Corporate Vice President, Development & Owner Relations (East Division).

Global Head of Franchise & Owner Relations: Paul Daly

Mr. Daly has been our and Hyatt ~~Hotels~~-Corporation's Global Head of Franchise & Owner Relations since January 2024. From March 2021 until December 2023, he was our and Hyatt ~~Hotels~~-Corporation's Senior Vice President, Franchise Operations & Owner Relations. Before that, he was the Senior Vice President, Global Select and Franchise Operations & Owner Relations for us and Hyatt House from August 2019 until March 2021. From August 2018 until August 2019, he was Global Head of Guest Satisfaction Innovation for Hyatt ~~Hotels~~-Corporation in Chicago, Illinois.

Vice President Franchise Operations & Owner Relations – Americas: Patrick Schumm

Mr. Schumm has been our and Hyatt Corporation's Vice President Franchise Operations & Owner Relations – Americas since July 2023. Before that, he was our and Hyatt Corporation's Regional Vice President – Franchise Performance from June 2020 until June 2023. From November 2019 until June 2020, he served as our and Hyatt Corporation's Regional Vice President – Managed Select Service. Each of Mr. Schumm's positions with us and our affiliates has been in Chicago, Illinois.

Item 3

LITIGATION

No litigation is required to be disclosed in this Item.

Item 4

BANKRUPTCY

No bankruptcy is required to be disclosed in this Item.

Item 5

INITIAL FEES

Application Fee

You will pay us a lump-sum application fee when you submit the ~~Franchise Application~~[franchise application](#) through our online application portal. If the Hotel is new to the ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel network, the lump-sum new development application fee is \$75,000 plus an additional \$500 for each guest room in the Hotel over 150 rooms. If you are purchasing an existing ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel, you or the transferor will pay us a lump-sum change of ownership application fee of \$150,000 when you submit the ~~Franchise Application~~[franchise application](#) through our online application portal. If you withdraw your ~~Franchise Application~~[franchise application](#) before we approve it, or if we do not approve your ~~Franchise Application~~[franchise application](#) for any reason, then we will refund your application fee, less a \$7,500 fee to cover our costs for evaluating your application. After we approve your ~~Franchise Application~~[franchise application](#), the application fee is non-refundable, even if we and you do not sign a Franchise Agreement. If you and we agree to add any guest rooms to the Hotel before the Hotel opens, then you must pay us, when we approve the additional guest rooms, an additional non-refundable application fee of \$500 multiplied by the number of additional guest rooms over 150 total guest rooms at the Hotel.

PIP Preparation Fee

If you are converting an existing structure to a Brand Hotel, you will pay us a non-refundable fee of \$10,000 for our preparation of the Property Improvement Plan (the “PIP”), which will detail the improvements necessary to renovate the structure to a Brand Hotel, at the time you submit your franchise application and the application fee.

New Development Diversity Development Incentive

~~In order to increase diversity among owners of newly constructed or converted Hyatt Place Hotels, we have established a diversity development incentive applicable to Black, Latino, Native~~

~~American/First Nations and Women franchise applicants (collectively, “Diverse Applicants”). To qualify for the incentive, the franchisee must be an individual who is a Diverse Applicant or an entity in which a Diverse Applicant or Diverse Applicants have a “Controlling Ownership Interest” (defined in Item 15). If you apply for the incentive under our policy and we determine that you meet the qualifications (and we otherwise approve your franchise application), we will reduce the new development application fee by \$50,000. If we apply the reduction to your new development application fee and we later determine that you did not meet the qualifications for the incentive, or if you transfer the Franchise Agreement to a party that does not meet the qualifications at any time within 1 year following the Hotel’s opening date, you must pay the amount of the discount to us upon notice from us. The diversity development incentive is only available if the Hotel is new to the Hyatt Place Hotel network.~~

Operator Approval ~~Fee~~ and Onboarding

If you or the management company that you select to operate the Hotel is not already an approved operator of ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels, you or the management company must complete our ~~new operator screening process and pay a new~~ operator approval ~~fee~~and onboarding program. Currently, the ~~new operator approval~~entry fee for this program is \$10,000 ~~to enter the operator approval screening process for 2 participants~~, plus re-entry fees up to \$10,000 if you fail to successfully complete any stage of the ~~process~~program. Any additional participants beyond 2 will be charged a fee of \$2,500 per participant. We may periodically increase the ~~new operator approval fee and/or the re-entry fees~~ for this program.

Comfort Letter Fee

You must obtain a comfort letter or similar agreement, the current form of which is attached as Exhibit J, that we reasonably specify from each lender, each ground lessor (if applicable), the owner of fee simple title to the Hotel’s real property or building and improvements (if you are not that owner), and each other entity with an interest (or any power or right, conditional or otherwise, to acquire an interest) in the Hotel’s real property or building and improvements (each a “Comfort Letter Party”). Under this comfort letter or similar agreement, the Comfort Letter Party agrees (among other things) to assume your obligations under the Franchise Agreement (subject to our rights under the Franchise Agreement) if the Comfort Letter Party or any of its affiliates acquires title or otherwise assumes possession, or the right to sell or direct the disposition of, the Hotel’s real property or building and improvements. You must pay our then applicable, non-refundable comfort letter fee, which currently is \$2,500, for each comfort letter that we negotiate relating to the Hotel.

Consulting Pre-Opening Purchasing Services

At your option, you may ask Rosemont, our affiliate, to assist you with pre-opening ~~consulting~~purchasing services for ~~the~~any model rooms, FF&E, OS&E, and IT for a new Brand Hotel. Rosemont's fees for this optional assistance would range from ~~\$0~~\$85,000 to ~~\$250,000~~\$275,000, depending on how much and what kind of assistance you ask Rosemont to provide.

IT Project Management Services and Implementation and Training for Hyatt Proprietary Systems

We will provide the IT project management services, which are described in Exhibit E of the Franchise Agreement, relating to the opening of the Hotel (the "IT Project Management Services"). Our performance is dependent on your timely, accurate, and effective performance of all responsibilities listed in Exhibit E to the Franchise Agreement. These services include blueprint review and IT project management and planning and installation, configuration and training services for Hyatt proprietary systems. You must pay us a non-refundable fee of \$58,300 for a Hotel with up to 250 guest rooms, and you must reimburse us or our affiliate for our or its reasonable expenses in rendering the IT Project Management Services, including any necessary transportation, lodging and meals (which we anticipate will range from ~~\$6,500~~\$6,695 to ~~\$11,000~~\$11,330), plus applicable taxes. If your Hotel is larger than 250 guest rooms, we may require a larger IT Project Management Services ~~Fee~~fee, which we and you would agree on before signing the Franchise Agreement. We will invoice you for the IT Project Management Services fee (including expenses) on or after we complete an IT Project Management Service or upon your termination of the Hotel development project or the IT Project Management Services, for any reason, in either event regardless of whether we have approved the Hotel for opening.

Additional Pre-Opening Advisory Services

You may request or we may determine that you need, additional guidance, services or assistance during the pre-opening period concerning the development, construction, or inspection and approval process that is beyond what we typically provide to similarly situated ~~Hyatt Place Hotels~~Brand Hotels. We may determine you need additional pre-opening services under certain circumstances, including if the Hotel is a conversion of an existing structure to a Brand Hotel (rather than a newly-constructed facility), if one of our affiliates previously managed the Hotel, or if you (or your owners or operators) lack prior experience or familiarity with the System. If we agree to provide this additional guidance and advice (for example, making more than a reasonable number of visits to the Hotel during the development and construction period), then you must pay our then current fees for our services. The costs of these fees will vary depending on the additional guidance or service you request or we determine you need, but we estimate that you may pay between \$0 and ~~\$200,000~~\$250,000 for additional services or guidance before the ~~Hotels~~Hotel opens.

Pre-Opening Training Fees and Expenses

In connection with the Hotel opening, we will provide owner/operator orientation and training to the Hotel management and staff on elements of the Hotel System, including training for the Hotel's general manager at our General Manager University and training for the managing owner and senior operations officer at the owner/operator orientation program. We may conduct training via remote learning, or in person (in one or more visits to the Hotel), or both, as we determine in our sole discretion. These fees and expenses will vary depending on how many people attend each particular training program, how much training they need, and where we conduct training. We currently estimate that the fees you pay to us and our affiliates for orientation and various initial training programs will range from ~~\$10,625~~ \$15,175 to ~~\$18,550~~ \$34,300. You must pay these amounts upon receiving our invoice and before the pre-opening team arrives at the Hotel. You must also reimburse us and our affiliates for our and their personnel's travel and living expenses associated with any training programs that we provide on site at the Hotel. We currently estimate that reimbursement of our and our affiliates' expenses associated with these training programs, not including the tuition fees described above, will range from ~~\$3,650~~ \$3,600 to ~~\$6,500~~ \$7,405.

Extension Fee

If you are constructing a new Hotel, you must start and complete construction and open the Hotel, according to the timetables in the Franchise Agreement. If you are converting an existing hotel to a ~~Hyatt Place~~ Brand Hotel, you must start renovation and open the Hotel under the Hotel System according to the timetables in the Franchise Agreement. We may terminate the Franchise Agreement if you fail to meet the required timetable. You may request one or more extensions of time by giving us, at least 3 months before the opening deadline, a written extension request and a \$10,000 "Extension Fee." We will inform you of the length of the extension if and when we grant it. We will refund the Extension Fee only if we deny the extension. We may waive this fee under some circumstances.

Alternative Design Services Review

If you request review of alternative plans, design, or products other than those prescribed by our prototype plans, you must pay us an alternative design review fee (the "Alternative Design Review Fee"). The amount of the Alternative Design Review Fee will vary depending on the size and location of the project and the scope of our review, but we expect the Alternative Design Review Fee to range from \$5,000 to \$30,000.

Revenue Management Services

You may elect to begin receiving certain revenue management services for your Hotel before the Hotel begins operating under the Proprietary Marks under ~~our Service Agreement for the~~ Revenue Management Services ~~(Exhibit I~~ Program Schedule (the "Revenue Management Services Program Schedule") to the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement attached as Exhibit

I (the “Central Services Agreement”). Depending on some factors concerning your (or your approved management company’s) experience, we may in some situations require you to sign our ~~Service Agreement for~~ Revenue Management Services Program Schedule and receive revenue management services from us. If you sign the ~~Service Agreement for~~ Revenue Management Services Program Schedule, then we will provide specialized central revenue management services on a daily, weekly, monthly, and annual basis to assist you in a variety of essential ~~Hotel~~hotel functions, including resource planning, inventory controls, market segmentation, and industry and competitor analyses for the Hotel (as more specifically described in Exhibit I). The current, non-refundable monthly subscription fee due under the ~~Service Agreement for~~ Revenue Management Services Program Schedule is dependent upon the service tier level then in effect: for the “Tactical” Tier Level: \$1,000 per month; for the “Essential” Tier Level: \$1,000 per month for calendar months preceding the Opening Month (if applicable) and \$2,000 per month from and after the Opening Month; and for the “Premium” Tier Level: \$1,750 per month for calendar months preceding the Opening Month (if applicable) and \$3,500 per month from and after the Opening Month. “Opening Month” means the calendar month in which the Hotel first opens to the public as a Hyatt branded or affiliated hotel, but if that date occurs after the 16th day of the month, then the “Opening Month” is the immediately following calendar month. We would provide services under the ~~Service Agreement for~~ Revenue Management Services Program Schedule for up to 90 days before the anticipated or scheduled opening date of the Hotel for the “Essential” service tier level or for up to 120 days before the anticipated or scheduled opening date of the Hotel for the “Premium” service tier level. You must pay these amounts within 30 days after you receive each invoice for services rendered and expenses incurred during the previous month. The total amount you may pay us for pre-opening revenue management services ranges from \$0 to \$7,000. We also reserve the right to charge you for reimbursement of expenses reasonably incurred by us, including for transportation and related expenses, printing, photocopying, postage, and delivery services. We may periodically increase these fees at any time upon 30 days’ written notice to you, but we may not increase these fees by more than 10% per calendar year. ~~These payments are not refundable.~~

Field Marketing Program.

Up to 6 months before the opening of your Hotel, you may elect to receive from the Hyatt Group certain centralized resources to guide and support local integrated marketing for hotels that leverage the expertise of a designated field marketing team for a fee (which may contain a profit component, not to exceed a competitive amount), pursuant to ~~a~~the Field Marketing Program ~~Opt-In~~Schedule to the Central Services Agreement (Exhibit L) (the “Field Marketing Program ~~Opt-In~~ Agreement Schedule”). Inclusions and deliverables vary by service level, and may include management of local digital marketing, regional marketing campaigns, website management, social media consultation, local promotion creation and execution, and brand activations. The current non-refundable monthly subscription fee due under the Field Marketing Program ~~Opt-In~~ Agreement Schedule is dependent on the service tier level then in effect for Tier 1: ~~\$967~~996 per month; for Tier 2: ~~\$1,813~~1,867 per month; and for Tier 3: ~~\$2,667~~2,747 per month. The total amount you may pay us for pre-opening field marketing services ranges from \$0 to ~~\$16,002~~16,482.

Refundability and Range of Initial Fees

Except as we describe above concerning the application fee and Extension Fee, none of these payments are refundable under any circumstances. In addition, other than the application fee, Extension Fee and Comfort Letter Fee, all of the ranges of initial fees described in this Item 5 reflect the current fees for services rendered and depending on when the Hotel is developed or remodeled, may be higher in subsequent years. During our ~~2023~~2024 fiscal year, franchisees signing our ~~Franchise Agreement~~franchise agreement paid, or made commitments to pay, total initial fees as described in this Item 5 to us and/or our affiliates ranging from \$~~79,975~~53,250 to \$~~167,050~~228,950.

Item 6

OTHER FEES

We group the ongoing fees that you will pay to us and other companies in the Hyatt Group when operating the Hotel into 3 categories. The first category includes the fees that the Franchise Agreement specifies. Except as described below, these fees are typically imposed and collected by and payable to us. The second category includes the fees for those System Services that we typically classify as Mandatory Services for ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels. The third category includes the fees for those System Services that we typically classify as Non-Mandatory Services for ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels. Depending on the particular circumstances of the Hotel, including its size, location and market positioning, we may reclassify some of the Mandatory Services listed below as Non-Mandatory Services and/or may reclassify some of the Non-Mandatory Services listed below as Mandatory Services for the Hotel. The fees in the second and third group are typically imposed and collected by and payable to Hyatt Corporation. At times we may collect amounts on behalf of our affiliates for services that they provide to franchisees. This Item does not cover the ongoing fees or payments relating to the Hotel's operation that you pay directly to third parties.

Except for the ~~application~~transfer fee, all fees are non-refundable. In some cases we might negotiate some of the fees that some franchisees will pay, such as franchisees agreeing to develop multiple ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels or acquiring existing ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels. Otherwise, except as described below, all fees are uniform or are calculated on a uniform basis. There currently are no franchisee advertising cooperatives in the ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel network.

Fees Under the Franchise Agreement

You will pay these fees to us under the Franchise Agreement.

Column 1 Type of Fee	Column 2 Amount	Column 3 Due Date	Column 4 Remarks
Royalty Fee	5% of Gross Rooms Revenue ⁶ . See Note 1 ⁷	10 th day of each month or later day we periodically specify (“Payment Day”), based on Gross Rooms Revenue during previous month	See Notes 2 and 3
Cooperative advertising contributions	Amount Cooperative determines	As Cooperative determines	Payable only if you decide to participate in a Cooperative in your area
World of Hyatt program assessment	Currently 4% of eligible revenue or 2% of eligible revenue when a guest is enrolled on property in World of Hyatt for that enrolling stay, but could increase if costs increase ⁸ . See Note 4 ⁹	Monthly	See Note 4
Comfort letter fee	Currently \$2,500, but could increase if costs increase	As incurred	Due for each comfort letter you must obtain

Column 1 Type of Fee	Column 2 Amount	Column 3 Due Date	Column 4 Remarks
Quality assurance, franchisee compliance and guest satisfaction programs ^(*)	Will vary under circumstances based on the Focused Improvement Policy (“FIP”) fees, which currently range from \$5,000 to \$20,000 per each stage of FIP, plus personnel’s related expenses, and the Brand Protection Program (“BPP”) fees, which are currently \$45,000 per year. See Note 5	As incurred	In addition to the FIP and BPP fees, you must reimburse us for all costs, actions and additional training for your personnel. You must also participate in compliance (including for data security), best rate guarantee and guest satisfaction programs, and/or requirements to effect credits or discounts to guests, as we determine according to System Standards. (. We may introduce additional compliance programs in the future. Any fees associated with such programs will fall within the same ranges as the FIP and BPP fees. See Note 5)
On-site quality assurance inspections	Currently, \$500 1,500 to \$1,700 2,000 per annual inspection, but could increase if our costs increase	As incurred	You must also pay for any re-inspection needed due to a failed inspection (currently, also \$500 to \$1,700 2,000 per inspection) and reverse the folio charge for the inspection company. (See Note 5)
Additional training and assistance	\$875 950 per trainer per day plus our expenses, but could increase if our costs increase	As incurred	Due if you request, or we require, supplemental or optional training programs, including replacement training for new Core Management personnel hired after the Hotel opens. You also pay for the incurred travel, lodging, and other expenses for your attendees
PMS hosting subscription fees	Currently, \$6.65 per room per month, but could increase if costs increase	Monthly	Due if we provide subscription and hosting services for the Hotel’s property management system under the subscription and hosting services agreement (Exhibit K) (the “Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement”)

Column 1 Type of Fee	Column 2 Amount	Column 3 Due Date	Column 4 Remarks
Training tools and materials	Currently \$3.64 per guest room per year, but could increase if our costs increase	Annually	Covers the cost of developing certain training tools and materials relating to Hyatt standards and policies.
Fees for owner convention	Currently \$2,000 to \$5,000 per attendee, but could increase if our costs increase	As incurred (typically before the convention)	We and our affiliates hold owner conventions when we or they determine, typically annually or biennially. In addition to the fee for attendance, you must pay for the incurred travel, lodging, and other expenses for your attendees
Fees for leadership summit	Currently \$3,000 to \$6,000 per attendee, but could increase if our costs increase	As incurred (typically before the leadership summit)	We and our affiliates periodically hold leadership summits that we recommend or may require your Hotel's general manager and/or above-property leaders to attend. Currently, a leadership summit occurs approximately once every 4 years. In addition to the fee for attendance, you must pay the travel, lodging, and other expenses for your attendees
Application fee for new guest rooms (added after Hotel opens)	Greater of the then current PIP fee, currently \$10,000, or \$500 times number of new guest rooms	PIP fee, currently \$10,000, due when you request approval, remainder due when we approve plans	Due only if you propose adding new guest rooms to the Hotel during Franchise Agreement's term
General Manager University	Currently \$2,700 per newly hired or promoted general manager, but could increase if costs increase	As incurred	Required training program for all newly hired or recently promoted general managers. In addition to the fee for attendance, you must pay the travel, lodging and other expenses for your attendees

Column 1 Type of Fee	Column 2 Amount	Column 3 Due Date	Column 4 Remarks
Operator approval fee and re-entry fees	Currently \$10,000 to \$20,000, but could increase	Before the new management company enters our operator screening process	Applies if you appoint a new management company to operate the Hotel if that new management company is not already an approved operator of Hyatt Place Brand Hotels
Transfer fee	No fee for transfers, but you or the transferee must pay the then-current amount of the change of ownership application fee	Together with transfer application	Applies to control transfers. We will refund the change of ownership application fee paid (less \$7,500) if we disapprove transfer
Fee for review of offering materials	\$5,000	When submitting materials for our review	Due only if you or your owners propose offering of ownership interests in you or an owner
Property Improvement Plan (“PIP”) fee for PIP fee for conversion of existing structure or for successor franchise	Then current PIP fee – currently \$10,000, but could increase	With successor franchise application for conversion of an existing structure or a successor franchise	Due only if you are converting an existing structure to a Brand Hotel or applying for a successor franchise
Royalty fee upon termination	\$5,000 per day plus our costs and expenses	As incurred	Due only if, and while, you fail to properly de-identify the Hotel after expiration or termination
Liquidated damages upon termination ⁽⁴⁰⁾	See Note 6	15 days after termination	Due if Franchise Agreement terminates before its term expires
Audit expenses	Cost of audit	As incurred	Due only if our audit reveals an understatement of 3% or more or if you fail to report on time or willfully underpay amounts
Late fee and interest	\$225 late fee plus lesser of 1½% per month or the highest rate law allows	As incurred	Late fee is due on all overdue amounts. Interest is due on all amounts more than 7 days late or not available for withdrawal by due date
Costs and attorneys’ fees	Will vary under circumstances	As incurred	Due if we prevail in dispute

Column 1 Type of Fee	Column 2 Amount	Column 3 Due Date	Column 4 Remarks
Indemnification	Will vary under circumstances	As incurred	You must reimburse us and related parties for all claims and related costs arising from your application, the Hotel's development or operation (including failure to open on time), your breach, and your Hotel's proportionate share of our expenses in defending or controlling the defense of actions that involve both the Hotel and any other Hyatt Network Hotel
Testing of new product/supplier	Our costs, currently \$5,000 20,000 for testing of new products/suppliers	As incurred	Due only if you request our approval of supplier or item
<u>Designer approval fees for required renovations</u>	<u>Our costs. Currently \$2,000 to \$10,000 for review of up to 2 design firms you propose to assess whether the firm(s) meet our requirements for renovation projects</u>	<u>As incurred</u>	<u>Due if you request our approval of interior design firm(s)</u>
Insurance	Premiums and our costs plus fee (currently \$200 per guest room per year)	As incurred	If you fail to obtain and maintain insurance, we may (if we choose) obtain it on your behalf and charge you our premiums and costs, plus a fee

System Services, System Services Costs, and System Services Charges

If you are in full compliance with your obligations under the Franchise Agreement, one or more members of the Hyatt Group will provide you those System Services we periodically specify. You must participate in all Mandatory Services and related programs, and may (at your option) participate in any or all Non-Mandatory Services and related programs, in the manner that we periodically specify. "System Services" means those services that the Hyatt Group generally and periodically makes available on a central, regional, or other shared or group basis (whether in whole or in part) to those [Hyatt PlaceBrand](#) Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels that the Hyatt Group reasonably determines will be provided those services. We categorize System Services as

either Mandatory Services or Non-Mandatory Services. “Mandatory Services” means those mandatory System Services that one or more members of the Hyatt Group provides to the Hotel and certain other ~~Hyatt-Place~~Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels, and that the Hyatt Group reasonably determines must be acquired only from the Hyatt Group. “Non-Mandatory Services” means those non-mandatory System Services that one or more members of the Hyatt Group provides to the Hotel and certain other ~~Hyatt-Place~~Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels that the Hyatt Group reasonably determines will be offered to the Hotel and certain other ~~Hyatt-Place~~Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels on an optional basis.

We may periodically add to, delete from, and otherwise modify System Services, the scope of and manner of providing System Services, upon written notice to you. “System Services Costs” means, for the System Services in which the Hotel participates (or is required to participate), all costs that the Hyatt Group actually incurs or properly accrues during the period of determination in providing those System Services, including out-of-pocket expenses, costs for employees, occupancy costs, capital costs, administrative expenses, carrying costs and other costs. Any allocation of shared costs that the Hyatt Group makes in good faith and with the intention of fairly allocating those costs to System Services is binding on us and you. The Hyatt Group may vary these allocations depending on, among other things, the specific brand, size or market positioning of the Hotel. System Services Costs include the actual costs that the Hyatt Group incurs and are not subject to any mark-up, premium or profit on any Mandatory Services, but may include a profit or mark-up component on Non-Mandatory Services.

“System Services Charges” means the amounts that the Hyatt Group charges the Hotel, and you will pay, for the Hotel’s equitably allocable share of the System Services Costs attributable to the System Services in which the Hotel participates (or is obligated to participate), as the Hyatt Group periodically determines them. The Hyatt Group determines System Services Charges on the same basis as it determines those amounts for other ~~Hyatt-Place~~Brand Hotels and Hyatt Network Hotels that we periodically and reasonably determine are similarly situated with the Hotel (subject to Reasonable Deviations (as defined in Item 8) and that participate in those System Services in the same manner (collectively, “Participating Hotels”). The Hyatt Group may in its reasonable discretion periodically change its method of allocation of the System Services Costs among Participating Hotels, and the categories of ~~Hyatt-Place~~Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels that are classified as Participating Hotels, but will at all times determine the method of allocation and categories of Participating Hotels on a reasonable, equitable and non-discriminatory basis.

Current System Services Charges for Mandatory Services

The following reflects the current System Services Charges for the current Mandatory Services. These amounts are estimates, and may change over time and/or as our and the Hyatt Group's costs of providing Mandatory Services changes.

OTHER FEES

Column 1 Type of Fee	Column 2 Amount	Column 3 Due Date	Column 4 Remarks
Commercial Services Fee ⁽⁷⁾	Currently 3.5% of Gross Rooms Revenue, but could increase if costs increase	Payment Day, based on Gross Rooms Revenue during previous month	See Note 7
Digital Acquisition Fee ⁽⁸⁾	Currently 1.35% of Gross Rooms Revenue through the Digital Channels, but could increase if costs or scope of services increase	Payment Day	See Note 8
Global distribution services and other reservation services ⁽⁹⁾	Currently averages about \$8.50 per reservation, but could increase if costs increase	Payment Day	At our option, you must subscribe to certain GDS and/or ADS through us. See Note 9
Costs for Mandatory Contracts ⁽¹⁰⁾	Your allocable share of Hyatt Group's costs, currently \$1,500 to \$7,500 per month but could increase if costs increase	Payment Day	Covers contracts with vendors or service providers (like certain credit card acceptance agreements, music license agreements and telecommunications agreements) that cover the Hotel and all or certain subsets of Hyatt PlaceBrand Hotels. <u>See Note 10</u>
Other corporate services ⁽¹¹⁾	Your share of Hyatt Group's costs, currently \$500 to \$5,000 per month, but could increase if costs increase	Payment Day	See Note 11

Current System Services Charges for Non-Mandatory Services

The following reflects the current System Services Charges for the current Non-Mandatory Services. Currently you may choose to use, or not use, any of these Non-Mandatory Services at your Hotel.

OTHER FEES

Column 1 Type of Fee	Column 2 Amount	Column 3 Due Date	Column 4 Remarks
Field Marketing Program ⁽¹²⁾	<u>Will vary depending on service tier selected.</u> Currently, \$967,996 to \$2,667,747 per month, depending on the services provided, but could increase if costs increase	As incurred	<u>Applies under the Field Marketing Program Schedule.</u> See Note 12
Subscription fee and expenses for Revenue Management Services <u>Program</u>	Tactical Tier: Currently \$1,000 / per month <u>for Tactical Essential Tier:</u> Currently: \$1,000 / per month before Opening Month and \$2,000 / per month from and after Opening Month- <u>for Essential Premium Tier:</u> Currently: and \$1,750 / per month before Opening Month and \$3,500 / per month <u>from and</u> after Opening Month- <u>for Premium Tier, but could increase if costs increase</u>	Within 30 days after receiving invoice	<u>Applies under the Revenue Management Services Program Schedule.</u> See Note 12
<u>Central Sales Services Program</u>	<u>Will vary depending on services selected.</u> Currently, \$1,750 to <u>\$6,300 per month for group sales management services;</u> <u>\$1,000 to \$5,000 per month for lead specialist services;</u>	<u>As incurred</u>	<u>Applies under the Central Sales Services Program Schedule to the Central Services Agreement (the "Central Sales Services Program Schedule"). See Note 12</u>

Column 1 Type of Fee	Column 2 Amount	Column 3 Due Date	Column 4 Remarks
	<u>\$1,600 to \$3,200 per month for transient sales services; \$5,050 to \$7,600 per month for central director of sales services; and \$2,000 to \$2,500 per month for administrative support services, but could increase if costs increase</u>		
<u>Global Property Guest Services (GPGS) Add-On Program</u>	<u>Will vary depending on services selected. Currently, \$3.50 to \$16 per service interaction requested, but could increase if costs increase</u>	<u>As incurred</u>	<u>Applies under the Global Property Guest Services Program Schedule to the Central Services Agreement (the “GPGS Program Schedule”). See Note 12</u>
<u>Digital Ancillary Services Program</u>	<u>Currently, \$1,250 per month plus commission payable to our vendor of 5% of net revenue actually received from bookings through the vendor’s channels, but could increase if costs increase</u>	<u>As incurred</u>	<u>Applies under the Digital Ancillary Services Program Schedule to the Central Services Agreement (the “Digital Ancillary Services Program Schedule”). See Note 12</u>
Purchasing services	Will vary depending on items purchased	As incurred	You might choose to buy items through our affiliate.
Optional corporate services	Actual costs, which will vary depending on assistance needed	As incurred	The Hyatt Group corporate office may provide temporary employees for your Hotel at your request.
Other related party transactions	Will vary depending on assistance provided and other circumstances	As incurred	Your Hotel will routinely engage in transactions with Hyatt PlaceBrand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels, some of which our affiliate may own or operate. For example, your Hotel may pay for using another hotel’s staff (during high demand periods) or for another hotel redeeming quality assurance

Column 1 Type of Fee	Column 2 Amount	Column 3 Due Date	Column 4 Remarks
			certificates that your Hotel previously issued to resolve a guest service problem at the Hotel.
Optional technology services	Will vary depending on service(s) you acquire	As incurred	Covers some point-of-sale, accounting, procurement, guest service and other IT-related services that you may choose to acquire.
Regional Hyatt Sales Force (“HSF”) national sales commission team booking fees	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • 6% (reduced to 3% if an intermediary is involved) of the Group Contract Revenue for group bookings resulting from HSF leads, but in neither case exceeding \$30,000; • 3% of Gross Rooms Revenue per transient room night resulting from HSF leads; and Currently none. If implemented, will vary under the program terms• 1% of Gross Rooms Revenue per room night for leads generated from the sales sourcing center (e.g., referrals) 	As incurred	<p><u>HSF offers sales services to Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels for small to mid-sized accounts on a local/regional basis. Your acceptance of the business that HSF generates is optional and fees only apply to bookings that your Hotel confirms.</u></p> <p>In the future, the Hyatt Group may offer sales services to Hyatt Place Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels on a local or regional basis. If the Hyatt Group offers these sales services, it may charge a fee to Hyatt Place Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels that participate in or accept reservations from the program. The Hyatt Group may charge the fee on a commission, flat fee, or shared basis. “Group Contract Revenue” means 90% of the total revenue included in the group contract</p>

In addition to any sales, use and other taxes that applicable law requires or permits us to collect from you for providing goods or services under the Franchise Agreement, you must pay us all federal, state, local or foreign (a) sales, use, excise, privilege, occupation or any other transactional taxes, and (b) other taxes or similar exactions, no matter how designated, that are imposed on us or that we are required to withhold relating to the receipt or accrual of amounts you pay us under the Franchise Agreement, excluding only taxes imposed on us for the privilege of conducting business and calculated based on our net income, capital, net worth, gross receipts, or some other basis or combination of those factors, but not excluding any gross receipts taxes

imposed on us or our affiliates for your payments intended to reimburse us or our affiliates for expenditures incurred for your benefit and on your behalf. You must make these additional required payments in an amount necessary to provide us with after-tax receipts (taking into account any additional required payments) equal to the same amounts that we would have received if the additional tax liability or withholding had not been imposed or required.

Explanatory Notes to All Charts

1. Gross Rooms Revenue. “Gross Rooms Revenue” means “Total Rooms Revenue” or its equivalent, as determined in accordance with the Uniform System of Accounts for the Lodging Industry, Eleventh Edition, as published by the Educational Institute of the American Hotel and Motel Association, 2014, or a later edition that we approve, plus any revenue from resort fees, destination fees, or similar mandatory charges. If you receive any proceeds from any business interruption insurance applicable to the rental of rooms at the Hotel, then there will be added to Gross Rooms Revenue an amount equal to the imputed gross revenues that the insurer used to calculate those proceeds. Inclusion of resort fees, destination fees, or similar fees in “Gross Rooms Revenue” does not constitute our approval of or authorization to charge those fees.

2. Royalty Fee. Your Royalty Fee will be 5% of Gross Rooms Revenue accrued during the previous month. If you are constructing a new Hotel, we may agree to reduce your Royalty Fee for the first 1-3 years of the Hotel’s operations.

3. Electronic Payments. You must make all payments for Royalty Fees, System Services Charges and other amounts due to us or any member of the Hyatt Group under the Franchise Agreement or relating to the Hotel by electronic funds transfer (“EFT”) in compliance with System Standards. We periodically may change the procedure for payments. You must make funds available in your account to cover payments when due. You may not change your bank, financial institution, or account used in the operation of the Hotel without first telling us.

4. World of Hyatt Program. ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels must participate in, and pay all charges related to, the Hyatt Group’s frequent guest loyalty program (the “Loyalty Program”), called the “World of Hyatt” program. The Hyatt Group assesses each Participating Hotel and certain other hotels an amount in the Hyatt Group’s discretion to operate the Loyalty Program, which amount may change periodically. The assessment for each participating Brand Hotel (including the Hotel) is currently 4% of all eligible revenue generated at that hotel from members of the program (excluding applicable taxes) who provide their World of Hyatt member number when booking or 2% of that eligible revenue when a guest is enrolled on-property in World of Hyatt for that enrolling stay.

Under separate contractual arrangements, the following companies will participate in alliances with the World of Hyatt program in ~~2024~~2025: (i) the master licensee for Hyatt Residence Club and Hyatt Vacation Club, our shared ownership brands; (ii) HyCard, Inc., our affiliate (in relation with JPMorgan Chase Bank, the issuing company of the World of Hyatt credit cards); (iii) American Airlines; and (iv) Headspace, Inc. The Hyatt Group may allocate

assessments for these programs at different rates than those applied to ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels, given the difference in the products and services being offered to Loyalty Program members. Owners of Participating Hotels bear no cost from including these programs in the Loyalty Program. The Hyatt Group also may agree to other similar joint marketing or co-branding arrangements in the future.

Currently, the Hyatt Group deposits all funds that it collects for the Loyalty Program (including sales of points and other related fees) into segregated accounts and invests a portion of the funds in various investment securities (primarily fixed income) that independent investment managers manage. These funds are designated to fund the Loyalty Program obligations, including all marketing and administrative costs, and current and future award redemptions. The Hyatt Group may periodically change the method of funding the Loyalty Program, the assessment methodology and other program attributes. An independent accounting firm audits the Loyalty Program on an annual basis and we will make copies of the audit reports available upon request. We may periodically change the assessment methodology and other program attributes in the future.

The Hyatt Group also has contractual arrangements with participating airlines under which Participating Hotel guests may choose to receive airline miles, in lieu of Loyalty Program points, as a result of their stay. The Participating Hotel must pay the actual cost of those miles that the airline charges to the Hyatt Group. Guests choosing airline miles for a stay at a Participating Hotel are not entitled to Loyalty Program points for that stay.

~~We may periodically change the assessment methodology and other program attributes in the future.~~

5. Quality Assurance, Franchisee Compliance, and Guest Satisfaction. The Hotel must participate in quality assurance, compliance and guest satisfaction programs that we periodically develop and modify (collectively, the “Quality Assurance and Compliance Program”). You must pay your allocable share of all fees and other costs associated with the Quality Assurance and Compliance Program. Our representatives may inspect or audit the Hotel at any time, with or without notice to you, to determine whether you and the Hotel are complying with the Hotel System, System Standards, and the terms of the Franchise Agreement, and you will give them free lodging (subject to availability) during the inspection period. If we determine that the Hotel is not complying with the Hotel System ~~or~~, System Standards, or any other Franchise Agreement provisions, then you will pay or bear the cost of the Hotel’s allocable share of all fees and other costs associated with the Quality Assurance and Compliance Program to correct the non-compliance. This includes (a) reimbursing our costs related to your non-compliance, such as travel and living expenses, guest satisfaction payments or expenses, and other costs for administering any necessary actions, follow-up inspections, audits or re-evaluation visits until you have fully corrected the non-compliance, (b) paying for meetings and additional brand standards training programs that we specify and require your personnel to attend relating to your non-compliance, and (c) paying program fees which we and/or our affiliates may use to promote guest satisfaction initiatives for Hyatt Network Hotels. These amounts will vary depending on the extent of your

non-compliance and may increase if our costs increase. Currently, we impose the following fees for each 6-month FIP stage if the Hotel is placed in or remains in FIP protocols as a result of QA scores below requirements: (i) ~~FIP~~ Stage 1 – \$5,000 administrative fee; (ii) Stage 2 – \$15,000 administrative fee; and (iii) Stage 3 – \$20,000 administrative fee. In addition, if the Hotel does not achieve passing scores necessary to exit the FIP protocols by the end of Stage 3, the Hotel is placed in our BPP program, which requires the Hotel to pay an administrative fee of \$45,000 per year. We may, as we deem appropriate, reduce or refund FIP fees based on improved performance and/or your accelerated compliance with hotel renovation requirements. Under the FIP and BPP policies currently in place, ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels are eligible for up to a 100% reduction of the applicable FIP or BPP fee, based on improvement in performance. We may introduce additional compliance programs in the future. Any fees associated with such programs will fall within the same ranges as the FIP and BPP fees listed above.

6. Liquidated Damages. The amount of liquidated damages you must pay us if the Franchise Agreement terminates varies depending on when the Franchise Agreement terminates. Upon termination of the Franchise Agreement before the term expires for any reason (subject to ~~ARTICLE~~Article X of the Franchise Agreement), you must pay us, within 15 days after the date of that termination, liquidated damages in a lump sum equal to (a) the lesser of 36 or the number of months then remaining in the Franchise Agreement term had it not been terminated, multiplied by (b) the sum of (i) the Average Monthly Revenue times 5% for lost future Royalty Fees; plus (ii) the Average Monthly Revenue times 3.5% for lost future System Services Charges.

“Average Monthly Revenue” means: (i) if, as of the effective date of termination, at least 36 months have elapsed since the Hotel’s opening date, the average monthly Gross Rooms Revenue of the Hotel during the 12 full calendar months preceding the month of termination; or (ii) if, as of the effective date of termination, the Hotel’s opening date has not yet occurred, the average monthly Gross Rooms Revenue per available guest room for all ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels in the United States (including those that we and our affiliates own, manage, and franchise) during the 12 full calendar months preceding the month of termination, multiplied by the number of guest rooms approved for the Hotel; or (iii) if, as of the effective date of termination, the Hotel’s opening date has occurred but less than 36 months have elapsed since the Hotel’s opening date, either (a) the amount determined under part (ii) above or (b) the average monthly Gross Rooms Revenue of the Hotel during the period from the Hotel’s opening date until the effective date of termination, whichever of (a) or (b) is greater.

However, if “Average Monthly Revenues” as determined under any part of (i) through (iii) above was materially and negatively impacted during the preceding 12 full calendar month period by a disruption in Hotel operations resulting from force majeure, casualty, suspension of operations (whether or not we consented to it), renovation of the Hotel, or any other similar circumstances, then we ~~still~~will determine “Average Monthly Revenue” by referencing the most recent 12 full calendar month period before termination during which the Hotel performance was not impacted.

If we or you terminate the Franchise Agreement because of a Consequential Termination, then the liquidated damages are 150% of the amount calculated above. A “Consequential

Termination” occurs if (1) the Franchise Agreement’s termination involves a transfer of the Hotel or its assets, or a direct or indirect Controlling Ownership Interest in you, to a Competitor (defined below); or (2) there are 3 or more franchise agreements for Hyatt-Related Select Service Brand (defined below) hotels with you or your affiliates (including the Franchise Agreement) that we (or our affiliate) terminate because of your (or your affiliate’s) default or you (or your affiliates) terminate in breach of the applicable agreement. A “Hyatt-Related Select Service Brand” means any brand under which or in affiliation with which a select service Hyatt Network Hotel operates. A “Competitor” is any entity that owns, franchises and/or manages, or is an affiliate of any entity that owns, franchises and/or manages, a select service hotel brand, trade name or service mark for a system of at least 4 hotels with an average daily room rate for all or substantially all of the hotels in the U.S. during the then most recent full calendar year that is at least 60% of the average daily room rate for ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels operating in the U.S.

If a governmental agency or other authority condemns or takes by eminent domain or expropriation all or a substantial portion of the Hotel, and we and you do not agree to terms for relocating the Hotel, then either we or you may terminate the Franchise Agreement. If you and your owners sign our then current form of termination agreement and a general release, in a form satisfactory to us (together, a “Termination Agreement”), then you need not pay us liquidated damages when the Franchise Agreement terminates. The Termination Agreement will provide that if you or your affiliate begins construction on or operation of a new select service hotel at any location within the Area of Protection during the 24-month period following the termination, other than a Hyatt Network Hotel or a hotel that was already under contract to be developed at that particular location within the Area of Protection on the date that the Termination Agreement is signed, then you must pay us liquidated damages of \$5,000 multiplied by the number of guest rooms at that new select service hotel. If you and your owners do not sign a Termination Agreement, then you must pay us liquidated damages when the Franchise Agreement terminates.

If the Hotel is damaged by fire, flood, accident, hurricane or other casualty, you must notify us immediately. If the cost to repair the damage is less than or equal to the greater of (a) 60% of the market value of the Hotel immediately prior to the casualty, or (b) the amount of insurance proceeds made available to you in connection with the casualty (“Damage Threshold”), then you must repair the damage promptly according to the System Standards and the Franchise Agreement’s other terms and conditions. If the damage or repair requires you to close all or any portion of the Hotel, then you must commence reconstruction as soon as practicable (but in any event within 4 months) after closing the Hotel and reopen for continuous business operations as a ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel as soon as practicable (but in any event within 24 months) after closing the Hotel, but not without complying with the Franchise Agreement’s other terms and conditions. The Franchise Agreement’s term will be extended for the period of time during which the Hotel is closed, and you need not make any payments of Royalty Fees or System Services Charges while the Hotel is closed unless you receive insurance proceeds compensating you for lost Gross Rooms Revenue during such period, in which case you must pay Royalty Fees and System Services Charges on the amount of proceeds received allocable to such loss.

If the cost to repair the damage from the casualty exceeds the Damage Threshold, you may either: (a) repair the damage promptly according to the System Standards and the Franchise Agreement's other terms and conditions; or (b) elect to terminate the Franchise Agreement if you and your owners sign a Termination Agreement and pay a termination fee equal to the lesser of (i) the liquidated damages and (ii) the insurance proceeds you receive as a result of the casualty minus amounts required to be paid to your lenders minus unreturned capital investment of your owners (the "Net Recovery").

You must provide us any documentation that we may reasonably request to calculate the Damage Threshold, the insurance proceeds you receive for any casualty, and the Net Recovery amount (if applicable). Any Termination Agreement that you and we sign will provide that if you, any of your affiliates, or any other entity (including any buyer of the Hotel) begins construction on or operation of a full service hotel at the Hotel's site other than a ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel or another Hyatt Network Hotel at any time during the 24-month period following the effective date of termination of the Franchise Agreement, then you or your owners must pay us liquidated damages equal to the difference between (i) the amount of liquidated damages that you would have otherwise owed us under the Franchise Agreement at the time of termination, minus (ii) the amount of liquidated damages you actually paid us at the time of termination.

7. Commercial Services Fee. The "Commercial Services Fee" currently covers the costs for the following commercial services that the Hyatt Group makes available to the Hotel and other Participating Hotels (the "Commercial Services"):

- (a) brand-wide marketing, advertising, public relations, and guest satisfaction program management and research for the Hotel;
- (b) base Global Property and Guest Services which provide, among other things, centralized reservation services (including the services and charges for the base reservation fee which applies regardless of channel, and certain additional reservation fees based on channels) and care professionals supporting the business by enhancing the guest experience;
- (c) revenue management technology, including the Hyatt Group's proprietary revenue management software, and advisory and support services, such as pricing strategy across channels and on-going training, support, and tools for pricing and inventory applications;
- (d) group sales support for large accounts, including lead generation from the Hyatt Group's global and regional sales offices, account management, and account development, and transient and luxury sales promotion services (including Consortia);
- (e) sales and catering system services, including account management, booking pipeline management, and analysis through our designated sales software systems, which are required in order to receive leads from the Hyatt Group's sales sources;

- (f) property management system services, including Opera PMS, web-in/web-out and hosting, and interface file, maintenance, and support;
- (g) the Hyatt Group's digital product technology and infrastructure including Hyatt.com and the mobile app; and
- (h) other technology services, including e-learning, e-mail, HyattConnect, SharePoint, identity access management, ServiceNow, in-room technology, and network access.

The Hyatt Group may periodically change the benefits and services currently included as Commercial Services and the charges and fees for those benefits and services. The Hyatt Group may adopt other methodologies for fees and charges related to chain-wide programs to Participating Hotels, including segregation by brand, geographic location, or other criteria that the Hyatt Group deems appropriate in its discretion. The Hyatt Group may periodically allocate the Commercial Services Fee as a fixed charge, percentage charge, direct billback, or any other combination of multiple allocation methodologies. The Hyatt Group may spend in any year more or less than the total Commercial Services Fee contributions in that year, but will use all Commercial Services Fees collected for Commercial Services.

8. Digital Acquisition Fee. We currently charge the Hotel and other Participating Hotels the "Digital Acquisition Fee" to help drive bookings through the Hyatt Group's online direct booking channels (the "Digital Channels"). The Digital Channels currently are the Hotel System Website and any Hyatt-branded website or mobile app (such as the World of Hyatt app). You must pay the Digital Acquisition Fee on the subset of Gross Rooms Revenue resulting from reservations that are generated through the Digital Channels, whether directly or via a link from another platform, such as a search engine advertisement, social media page, or any Franchisee Organization Website. We may, in our sole judgment and subject to change, exclude certain types of bookings that originate through Digital Channels for purposes of calculating the Digital Acquisition Fee and certain portions of Gross Rooms Revenue that is generated through the Digital Channels, such as the Upsell Revenue (defined below). Digital Channels do not include reservations placed through external sources, such as online travel agencies (e.g., priceline.com and expedia.com) or through Hyatt-managed channels that are not digital in nature, such as reservations placed via telephone calls to our global contact center.

9. GDS and Other Reservations Services. In addition to the global contact centers, the costs of which the Hyatt Group allocates to each Participating Hotel as part of the Commercial Services Fee, GDSs accept reservations for Participating Hotels and confirm the reservations with the Hyatt Group through the central reservations center. The Hyatt Group incurs a reservations fee for each reservation that these supplemental reservations systems accept, which currently averages approximately \$8.50 per reservation, and the Hyatt Group passes on the charge to the hotel receiving the reservation at cost without imposing a markup or receiving a profit.

The Commercial Services Fee and these other reservation services fees include some of the current charges from providers of products or services for the Hotel, including the then current CRS operator (if applicable), the then current GDS and ADS operators (if applicable), and other suppliers to the Hotel, which may include us and/or our affiliates (collectively, “Providers”), that we currently collect from franchisees and pay (on their behalf) to the Providers. If any Provider assesses a single or group fee or other charge that covers all or a group of ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels or other Hyatt Network Hotels to which that Provider provides products or services, then our calculation of that fee or other charge among the Hotel and other Participating Hotels is final. The Providers may periodically increase the fees and other charges they impose. At our option, you must begin paying these fees and other charges directly to the applicable Provider(s).

10. Mandatory Contracts. The Hyatt Group periodically enters into relationships with vendors or providers of services that may require mandatory participation by all or certain subsets of Participating Hotels, such as certain contracts provided through Avendra, LLC, credit card acceptance agreements, music license agreements and certain telecommunications agreements. While the Hyatt Group does not receive any fees, rebates or commissions under these mandatory contracts, certain of the mandatory contracts may provide for promotional or other allowances that the Hyatt Group then allocates among Participating Hotels, as the Hyatt Group determines or the applicable vendor or supplier requires, or that the Hyatt Group uses for activities benefiting all or substantially all Participating Hotels.

11. Other Corporate Services. The Hyatt Group provides a number of other corporate services and programs for the benefit of Participating Hotels for which those hotels reimburse the Hyatt Group on a cost recovery basis, including taxes, if applicable. These services and programs include group sales promotional programs and events that 2 or more Participating Hotels sponsor, property evaluations, profit improvement services, quality assurance materials, security services, certain training programs and other various services. As part of these other corporate services, the Hyatt Group currently provides “upsell” services for ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels and other Participating Hotels, offering room upgrades to guests having reservations at the Hotel before they arrive. If the guest purchases the room upgrade, you must pay the Hyatt Group a commission on the additional revenue. That commission currently is 5% of the difference between the Gross Rooms Revenue at the upgraded rate and the Gross Rooms Revenue at the rate the guest originally booked, excluding taxes (the “Upsell Revenue”). The Upsell Revenue currently does not include any additional revenue resulting from the upgrade, such as early arrival fees and additional revenue derived from upgrades to the F&B Operations.

12. ~~Field Marketing~~Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Program. The Hyatt Group currently offers to Participating Hotels centralized resources to guide ~~and~~ support ~~local integrated marketing for hotels, and augment local and on-property services~~ that leverage the expertise of ~~our~~ designated ~~field marketing teams~~specialty teams for a fee (which may contain a profit component, not to exceed a competitive amount), pursuant to ~~a Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement~~the Central Services Agreement and the various schedules attached to such agreement for the following services: field marketing, revenue management services, central sales services, global property guest services add-ons, and digital ancillary services. Inclusions and deliverables

for each program vary by service level, ~~and may include management of local digital marketing, regional marketing campaigns, website management, social media consultation, local promotion creation and execution, and brand activations.~~ Central hotel services are generally Non-Mandatory Services but in certain circumstances may be designated as Mandatory Services as a condition of our approval of the Hotel's management company, as consideration for other items negotiated as part of the Franchise Agreement, or as part of the requirements of our Quality Assurance and Compliance Program.

Item 7

ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

Column 1 Type of expenditure	Column 2 Amount	Column 3 Method of Payment	Column 4 When due	Column 5 To whom payment is to be made
New development application fee or change of ownership application fee (1)	\$75,000 to \$150,000	Lump sum	Upon signing Franchise Application <u>franchise application</u>	Us
Comfort letter fee(s)	\$0 to \$5,000 <u>2,500</u>	Lump sum	When your lender(s) sign a comfort letter with us	Us
<u>Alternative Design Services Review Fee</u>	<u>\$0 to \$30,000</u>	<u>As agreed</u>	<u>As incurred</u>	<u>Us</u>
Extension of opening deadline	\$0 to \$10,000	As agreed	When you request extension of Hotel opening deadline	Us
IT Project Management Services fee and expense reimbursement	\$64,800 <u>64,995</u> to \$69,300 <u>69,630</u>	As agreed	Before the Hotel opens	Us
Signage	\$65,000 to \$100,000	As agreed	As incurred	Suppliers
Telecommunications systems, security system and Technology System equipment and fees (2)	\$620,000 <u>638,600</u> to \$755,000 <u>777,650</u>	As agreed	As incurred	Suppliers and Hyatt Corporation

Column 1 Type of expenditure	Column 2 Amount	Column 3 Method of Payment	Column 4 When due	Column 5 To whom payment is to be made
Architecture and design	\$276,429 <u>315,000</u> to \$866,143 <u>1,200,000</u>	As agreed	As incurred	Architects, engineers, designers and other professionals
Construction, improvements, remodeling, decorating costs and other sitework	\$9,321,429 <u>13,500,000</u> to \$29,207,143 <u>40,000,000</u>	As agreed	As incurred	General contractor, suppliers and us or our affiliate
Furniture, fixtures, other fixed assets and equipment (3)	\$1,735,650 <u>1,845,000</u> to \$5,438,370 <u>6,000,000</u>	As agreed	As incurred	Suppliers
Operating supplies & equipment (4)	\$381,214 <u>414,000</u> to \$1,194,471 <u>1,320,000</u>	As agreed	As incurred	Suppliers
General and administrative buildout costs (5)	\$305,000 <u>320,000</u> to \$485,000 <u>500,000</u>	As agreed	As incurred	Third parties
Revenue management fees (6)	\$0 to \$17,500	As agreed	Monthly, if you participate in the revenue management program	Us
Field marketing program fees (6)	\$0 to \$24,003 <u>24,723</u>	As agreed	Monthly, if you participate in the field marketing program	Us
Pre-opening marketing and sales expenses (7)	\$45,000 to \$250,000	As agreed	Before opening	Us and third parties
Liquor license (8)	\$30,000 to \$400,000	As agreed	As incurred	Government agency or previous license holder
Operator approval fees	\$0 to \$20,000 <u>22,500</u>	As agreed	Before we begin the operator screening process	Us

Column 1 Type of expenditure	Column 2 Amount	Column 3 Method of Payment	Column 4 When due	Column 5 To whom payment is to be made
PIP fee	\$0 to \$10,000	As agreed	For our preparation of the PIP if you are converting an existing structure to a Brand Hotel	Us
Training expenses (fees and reimbursements payable to us)	\$14,275 18,775 to \$25,050 41,705	As agreed	As incurred	Us
Training expenses (your and your personnel's costs to attend)	\$19,500 20,085 to \$27,000 27,810	As agreed	As incurred	Suppliers
Additional optional training	\$0 to \$200,000 250,000	As agreed	As incurred	Us
Fire and life safety consultation	\$15,000 to \$30,000	As agreed	As incurred	Suppliers
Miscellaneous pre-opening costs (9)	\$276,000 to \$375,000	As agreed	As incurred	Suppliers, employees, us and Hyatt Corporation
Additional funds - 3 months (10)	\$400,000 276,000 to \$525,000	As agreed	As incurred	Suppliers, employees, us and Hyatt Corporation
TOTAL ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT (excluding real estate costs) (11)	\$13,629,297 17,918,455 to \$40,143,980 52,134,018			

Explanatory Notes

1. Application fee. The application fee listed above is for a ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel with 90 to 200 guest rooms. In Item 5, we describe the application fee; [and](#) the conditions for its refund; ~~and the diversity development incentive under which we might reduce the new development application fee.~~

2. Telecommunications systems, security system and Technology System equipment; ~~We or our affiliate will review the Hotel and/or its plans and specifications to develop a proposal relating to the equipment required for the telecommunications systems, security system and Technology System for your Hotel.~~ We include in this estimate the projected costs of

acquisition/installation and the annual support and service contracts for the first year that the Hyatt Group provides as part of Mandatory Services.

3. Furniture, fixtures, other fixed assets, and equipment. Costs for fixtures, equipment, furnishings, furniture, room equipment and appliances and other items (collectively, “FF&E”) depend mostly on the Hotel’s size and configuration. This item covers costs for all FF&E for the Hotel except the costs for telecommunications systems, security system and Technology System equipment and related fees that we describe separately in Note 2 above and the OS&E that we describe in Note 4 below.

4. Operating Supplies and Equipment. Costs for initial operating supplies and equipment, including initial food and beverage inventory, bed linens, personal care amenities, cleaning supplies, and other consumables and similar items we periodically specify for the Hotel (collectively, “OS&E”) depend mostly on the Hotel’s size and location. This item does not include the FF&E for the Hotel that we describe in Note 3 above or the costs for telecommunications systems, security system, and Technology System equipment and related fees that we describe in Note 2 above.

5. General and administrative. This item includes costs for permit fees, security deposits, utility deposits and startup requirements, impact fees (one-time charges that the government levies to offset service costs relating to the new development), tap fees (charges for connecting to existing water or sewer lines), and various business licenses. Landlords sometimes pay some of the tap or impact fees, and the amount depends on municipal requirements and the final Hotel configuration. This item also includes costs for insurance, legal and accounting expenses.

6. Revenue management fees and field marketing program fees. These items include revenue management program fees and field marketing program fees, respectively, during the pre-opening period and the first 3 months of operation. We describe these fees in Item 5.

7. Pre-opening marketing and sales expenses. This item includes costs for marketing and sales programs that you undertake before the Hotel opens, including payments of the applicable System Services Charges during the pre-opening period and the costs to establish and operate a sales office during the pre-opening period. It does not include field marketing or revenue management program fees that you pay to us if you participate in those programs.

8. Liquor license. Liquor license costs vary widely depending on the jurisdiction. In most jurisdictions, the cost will be on the low end of the range, but could be on the high end (or even exceed the high end) in those jurisdictions that consider a liquor license to be an asset. You may be able to apply for a full spirits liquor license and pay standard costs for this license that would be on the lower end of the estimate. However, if your property is located in a “quota” city or state, you might need to locate and purchase a full spirits liquor license on the open market, which could mean your anticipated costs are on the mid-to-high range of this cost estimate. If you purchase a liquor license on the open market, you may be able to re-sell your liquor license in

those jurisdictions to another licensee if you sell your Hotel. The liquor license that you apply for or purchase must include beer, wine and full spirits, as allowable under applicable law in the Hotel's jurisdiction. If you engage a third party to be the F&B Operator (defined in Item 8), depending on the jurisdiction, you might not need a liquor license.

89. Miscellaneous pre-opening costs. This item includes costs for office and other supplies, wages for Hotel management and employees before opening and other miscellaneous pre-paid opening expenses, as well as estimated amounts you may pay to us or our affiliates for optional training or consulting services.

910. Additional funds – 3 months. This item estimates your initial start-up expenses (other than the items identified separately in the table). These expenses include payroll costs for the Hotel's personnel but not any management fees or similar draw. These figures are estimates, and we cannot guarantee that you will not have additional expenses starting the business. Your costs depend on how closely you follow our methods and procedures; your management skill, experience, and business acumen; local economic conditions; the local market for the Hotel's services; the prevailing wage rate; competition; and the sales level reached during the initial period.

1011. Total estimated initial investment (excluding real estate costs). The estimated amounts presented in the table above are to construct a new, full-size ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel with 90 to 200 guest rooms, according to the Design and Construction Standards and the Hotel System. We relied on our affiliates' experience in developing and operating hotels since 1957 to compile the estimate for additional funds and other figures. You should review these figures carefully with a business advisor before deciding to acquire the franchise. Except as described in Item 10, we do not offer financing directly or indirectly for any part of the initial investment. The availability and terms of financing depend on many factors, including the availability of financing generally, your creditworthiness and collateral, and lending policies of financial institutions from which you request a loan. The estimate does not include any finance charge, interest, or debt service obligations. Except for a portion of the application fee that we will refund if we do not approve the application, no amounts in the chart are refundable.

~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels typically are in primary markets in urban, densely-populated locations. They will typically occupy property of 1 to 3 acres, but the amount of land the Hotel requires will vary greatly depending upon local building codes, setback requirements, parking requirements and similar factors. Leasing or purchase costs vary widely and depend on geographic location, size, visibility, local rental rates, other businesses in the area, other local economic conditions, the site's market potential, the type of ownership or leasehold interest and other factors. Because of these factors, this table does not estimate the costs for the Hotel's rent or security deposit, or the purchase price for the building or land on which the Hotel is located (if you decide to buy, rather than lease, the land and/or premises).

If you own an existing hotel that you plan to convert from another brand to a ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel, you might already have incurred many of the costs listed in this Item, but you still will incur significant costs to upgrade and renovate the Hotel to meet our current standards for

~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels. These costs vary widely and depend primarily on the Hotel's existing condition and FF&E. Before we and you sign the Franchise Agreement, we will prepare a PIP on your Hotel and provide details about our conversion and upgrade requirements for the Hotel.

Item 8

RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

You must operate the Hotel according to our System Standards, which may regulate, among other things, the types, models, and brands of products and services your Hotel uses; required and authorized products and services that the Hotel must offer to customers and quality standards for those products and services (including F&B Operations, as defined below); and designated and approved suppliers of these products and services, which may include or be limited to us and/or our affiliates that we may designate. "F&B Operations" means all food and beverage operations for Hotel guests and patrons consisting of the following (in each case, to the extent applicable): (a) restaurant, dining, bar, lounge, and retail food and beverage services; (b) banquet, meeting, event, catering (including outside catering), and room services; (c) a multi-functional service area that serves coffee and breakfast, lunch and dinner menu items, and alcoholic beverages; (d) grab-and-go food and beverage items available for purchase in a Hotel market; (e) a communal area serving as a combination restaurant, bar, coffee shop and workplace; (f) a standalone restaurant and/or rooftop bar; and (g) all other food, beverage and related services at the Hotel.

If you are constructing a new ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel or converting an existing hotel or other building to a ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel, we or Hyatt Corporation will advise you on the System Standards to be met, the aesthetics to be reflected, and the systems to be installed at the Hotel, so the Hotel can be opened and operated as a ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel. We and Hyatt Corporation are the only approved ~~supplier~~[suppliers](#) for these services if you are constructing a new Hotel. We also provide IT [Project Management](#) Services and other technology-related services as well as PMS hosting services.

You must use the Opera PMS at the Hotel. You must sign the Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement ([Exhibit K](#)) (the "[Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement](#)") and engage us to host the PMS remotely. We will provide services necessary to install access to the PMS at the Hotel under the Franchise Agreement. You must also sign an agreement with our designated supplier to provide connectivity services and training for the PMS. If your Hotel is in Hawaii or Puerto Rico, under certain circumstances (with our approval), we may permit you to self-host the PMS at the Hotel.

System Services

Mandatory Services and Non-Mandatory Services comprise the System Services. If you are in full compliance with your obligations under the Franchise Agreement, we or one or more members of the Hyatt Group will provide you those System Services that we periodically specify.

You must participate in all Mandatory Services and related programs, and may (at your option) participate in any or all Non-Mandatory Services and related programs, in the manner that we periodically specify. You must acquire all Mandatory Services (as we periodically modify them) only from a member of the Hyatt Group. We may periodically add to, delete from, and otherwise modify these System Services, and the scope of and manner of providing System Services, upon notice to you. Also, due to the differences in products, services, markets and hospitality experiences among ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels, we may, where we deem appropriate in our judgment: (a) classify certain System Services as Mandatory Services for the Hotel which we classify as Non-Mandatory Services or do not offer to other ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels; (b) not provide to the Hotel certain System Services that we provide to other ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels; and (c) limit the scope of those System Services provided to franchised ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels, such as by limiting the access that franchised ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels have to certain customer and other proprietary information for Hyatt Network Hotels other than the Hotel. We describe the current System Services and the current charges for those System Services in Item 6-, [including all of the services offered pursuant to the Central Services Agreement, which are generally Non-Mandatory Services but in certain circumstances may be designated as Mandatory Services as a condition of our approval of the Hotel's management company, as consideration for other items negotiated as part of the Franchise Agreement, or as part of the requirements of the Quality Assurance and Compliance Program.](#)

Avendra, LLC ("Avendra") is a products and services sourcing company that offers volume contracts to its customer hotels on a variety of FF&E and other items used in hotel operations, including food and beverage equipment and supplies (such as branded and commodity programs), operating equipment and supplies (such as linens, pillows, terry, and light bulbs), and other products and services (such as printing and stationery, logoed items, chemicals, and pest elimination), at competitive prices that Avendra negotiates. You determine whether, and the extent to which, your Hotel will use Avendra's services. However, if you choose not to use Avendra, you might find it impracticable to purchase certain products for the Hotel (such as bathroom amenities made specifically for Hyatt Network Hotels) elsewhere.

You may, and if we require (depending on your or your approved management company's experience) you must, acquire revenue management services from us. You also may, but are not required to, use Rosemont's purchasing and project management services and acquire our pre-opening advisory assistance for your Hotel. If you are constructing a new ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel, you may decide to engage us (or our affiliate) to provide technical services and assistance relating to the Hotel's development. We or another member of the Hyatt Group, Avendra and Rosemont negotiate purchase arrangements with suppliers, including price terms, for some required Hotel items. When we do so, we seek to promote the overall interests of the network of ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels and our interests as the franchisor. We do not provide material benefits (like renewal or granting additional franchises) to individual franchisees for purchasing particular products or services or for using particular suppliers.

You must participate in, connect with, and use the authorized CRS, GDS and ADS as we periodically designate for offering, booking, modifying, and communicating guest room reservations for the Hotel and bear all related costs and expenses. You may only use the GDS and ADS that we periodically authorize. You must honor and give first priority on available rooms to all confirmed reservations that the CRS, GDS or ADS refer to the Hotel. The CRS and approved GDS and ADS are the only reservation systems or services that the Hotel may use for reservations. You will establish the Hotel's room rates, if those rates and your pricing policies comply with System Standards (to the maximum extent the law allows). You must comply with our "best ~~price~~rate guarantee" and related policies, as we periodically modify them. You may not charge any guest a rate higher than the rate that the reservations center specifies to the guest when the guest makes the reservation.

Except as described here and in Item 6, in providing these and other products and services to you, the Hyatt Group companies have the right to charge prices that exceed their costs and include a profit margin. Except as described above or in Item 5 or 6, there currently are no other goods or services for the Hotel that you must buy or lease from us or one of our affiliates or for which we or one of our affiliates is an approved supplier or the only approved supplier.

Approved Suppliers, Hotel System and System Standards

Promptly after preparing the plans for your Hotel's construction or remodeling, you must prepare and deliver to us for our approval a plan for conducting and administering the F&B Operations at the Hotel (the "F&B Operations Plan"). The F&B Operations Plan will contain the identity of any proposed restaurant operator or other operator of some or all F&B Operations at the Hotel (other than you or your approved management company) (each an "F&B Operator") and the restaurant concept(s) that you plan to incorporate as part of or adjacent to the Hotel. You must make the modifications to the F&B Operations Plan that we reasonably specify and ensure that the Hotel and its F&B Operations operate according to the approved F&B Operations Plan. You may not make any material changes to the F&B Operations Plan (including any changes to the proposed restaurant concept(s) and/or F&B Operator(s)) without our prior written approval. Before the Hotel begins operating under the Proprietary Marks, you must require each F&B Operator to sign the documents we reasonably specify to protect our (and our affiliates') intellectual property and other rights. At our option, you must submit to us for our prior approval any proposed lease or other agreement between you (or your affiliate or management company) and the F&B Operator under which the F&B Operator will conduct F&B Operations, in which case you may not sign (or permit your affiliate or management company to sign) any lease or other agreement that we have not approved.

If you or your management company do not have in-house technology services support, you must contract with a third party technology consultant that meets our qualifications for "break/fix" support. You must also use our designated cyber end point protection and web filtering tools and enter into agreements with suppliers of such services, as applicable.

You currently must use our designated third party provider of travel agent commission program services. This provider calculates travel agent commissions, remits them to travel agents and collects them from participating hotels. You also must use our designated provider of quality assurance and inspection services. Except as described in this Item or in ~~Items~~[Item 5](#) or [6](#), there currently are no goods, services, supplies, fixtures, equipment, inventory, computer hardware and software, real estate, or comparable items related to establishing or operating the Hotel that you must buy from us, our affiliates, or designated or approved suppliers. ~~None~~[Except for The Living Company, which may provide some FF&E to Brand Hotels, none](#) of our officers currently owns an interest in any supplier to ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel franchisees.

However, you must buy or lease most other products and services for your Hotel according to our System Standards. We issue and modify standards and specifications based on our, our affiliates' and our franchisees' experience in operating ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels. Our standards and specifications may impose minimum requirements for delivery, performance, reputation, prices, quality, design, and appearance, among other factors. You must ensure that the Hotel strictly complies with all applicable laws and maintains adequate insurance policy coverage in the amounts that we periodically specify. Our System Standards or other communications will identify our standards and specifications and/or names of approved suppliers.

If you wish to obtain any FF&E, supplies, or other goods and services from a source that we have not previously approved as meeting our System Standards (for those items that require supplier approval), you must send us a written request with any information and samples we consider necessary to determine whether the product, service and source meet our then current criteria. If you comply with our processes and procedures, we will respond to your request within a reasonable time period (typically 30 days) after receiving all information we request. We may charge you our costs to review your request and evaluate the product, service and/or source. We may condition our approval on standards and requirements relating to quality, quantity, warranties, prices, volume capability, frequency of delivery, distribution methods and locations, standards of service (including prompt attention to complaints), consistency, reliability, financial capability, labor and customer relations, the willingness and ability to comply with our vendor compliance guide and other criteria. We may modify our System Standards in this area as we deem best. We may, at our option, revoke our approval of certain goods, services or sources if they fail to continue to meet our System Standards. We may designate a particular source for, or model or brand of, FF&E, supplies or other goods or services that we (in our sole judgment) determine to be critical to the Hotel System.

If the Hyatt Group receives any payments from vendors or service providers whose costs are included as part of System Services Costs, the Hyatt Group currently will offset them against System Services Costs. We and our affiliates may receive rebates, commissions, payments, benefits and other material consideration from suppliers on account of their actual or prospective dealings with you and other franchisees and owners of ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels, but neither we nor our affiliates will receive rebates from suppliers based solely on the volume of your purchases from those suppliers unless we either forward those rebates to you, use them to cover System

Services Costs, or otherwise use those rebates for the benefit of the Hotel System or the ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel network. During the ~~2023~~2024 fiscal year, Hyatt Corporation received \$~~249,786~~529,077 in rebates from suppliers of food and beverage products and office supplies based on purchases that franchised ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels made from those suppliers, but Hyatt Corporation used this entire amount to offset part of the System Services Costs. In addition, ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel network suppliers attending franchisee conventions, conferences, or other meetings of ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel owners make contributions to us or other members of the Hyatt Group (which do not derive from franchisee purchases) that we use to defray your and other franchisees' and owners' costs of attending these functions. Except for these payments, neither we nor our affiliates currently receive, or have negotiated to receive, similar payments or other material consideration from suppliers based on our franchisees' purchases or leases, although our affiliates currently receive rebates from suppliers based on goods and services they buy for ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels that they operate.

You also must participate in and comply with the terms of all of our mandatory marketing, reservation service, rate and room inventory management, advertising, cooperative advertising, guest frequency and loyalty, social responsibility, discount or promotional, customer award, customer loyalty, Internet, computer, training and operating programs, including a PMS that interfaces with the CRS or any other central reservation system that we periodically adopt. We may periodically establish and/or coordinate these programs with third parties we designate. These third parties might (but need not) be our affiliates. You must sign and comply with any license, participation and other agreements we periodically specify relating to these programs.

You may not make any material changes to the Hotel's construction, including any changes to any structural or life safety equipment or systems, the number and/or type of guest rooms or common areas, or any architectural features, without our prior written consent and complying with our conditions and procedures. We may periodically require you to upgrade or renovate the Hotel, including by altering the Hotel's appearance and/or replacing a material portion of improvements and/or FF&E, to comply with then current building décor, appearance, trade dress standards and other aspects of the Hotel System that we have established and then require for new similarly situated ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels (subject to Reasonable Deviations (defined below)). This upgrading or renovation might require you to invest additional capital in the Hotel and/or incur higher operating costs. You must implement the upgrading and renovation within the time period we request. However, all of these upgrades and renovations will apply to similarly situated ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels (subject to Reasonable Deviations). In order to assist you in having funds available to make any necessary capital expenditures at the Hotel and comply with your upgrade and renovation obligations (but without limiting those obligations), each month you must deposit into a separate account that you control an amount equal to (a) 3% of the Hotel's Gross Rooms Revenue accrued during the first year of operations, (b) 4% of the Hotel's Gross Rooms Revenue accrued during the second year of operations, and (c) 5% of the Hotel's Gross Rooms Revenue accrued during the balance of the Franchise Agreement's term. You will use these funds only to make approved capital expenditures and comply with your upgrade and renovation obligations, although your obligations may require you to spend more than the amount in the account.

“Reasonable Deviations” means that, if the market area or circumstances of a ~~Hyatt PlaceBrand~~ Hotel warrant, then, in our Reasonable Business Judgment (defined below), we may apply an aspect of the Hotel System, System Standard, requirement, fee or other term or condition to the Hotel in a manner which differs from the manner in which that aspect of the Hotel System, requirement, fee or other term or condition applies to one or more other similarly situated ~~Hyatt PlaceBrand~~ Hotels. “Reasonable Business Judgment” means that our action or inaction has a business basis that is intended to benefit the ~~Hyatt PlaceBrand~~ Hotel network or the profitability of the network, including us and our affiliates, regardless of whether some individual hotels may be unfavorably affected; or to increase the value of the Proprietary Marks; or to increase or enhance overall hotel guest or franchisee or owner satisfaction; or to minimize possible brand inconsistencies or customer confusion.

Collectively, the purchases and leases you must make from us, from designated or approved suppliers, or according to our System Standards represent approximately 95% of your total purchases and leases to establish, and approximately 95% of your total purchases and leases to operate, the Hotel. During our ~~2023~~2024 fiscal year, we did not derive any revenue from selling or leasing products or services directly to ~~Hyatt PlaceBrand~~ Hotel franchisees, but our affiliates collected about \$~~28,443,111~~17,684,840 in fees and other revenue from providing various products and services to ~~Hyatt PlaceBrand~~ Hotel franchisees, but not including revenue ~~for chain services, IT-related services and other ancillary services~~from any Commercial Services Fees or similar fees for the System Services outlined in Item 6. In addition, ~~Hyatt PlaceBrand~~ Hotel franchisees received \$~~5,324,723~~68,882,587 more in loyalty program reimbursements than they paid in loyalty program fees during ~~2023~~2024. We derived these figures from our affiliates’ internal financial records.

Item 9

FRANCHISEE’S OBLIGATIONS

This table lists your principal obligations under the franchise and other agreements. It will help you find more detailed information about your obligations in these agreements and in other items of this disclosure document.

Obligation	Section in agreement	Disclosure document item
a. Site selection and acquisition/lease	1.1, 2.5 and 2.6 of Franchise Agreement	7 and 11
b. Pre-opening purchases/leases	2.1, 2.2, 2.5, 2.7, 3.3, 4.3, 4.4 and <u>5.1 and Articles 2 and </u> Article 9 and Exhibit B- <u>1</u> of Franchise Agreement	5, 7, 8 and 11

Obligation	Section in agreement	Disclosure document item
c. Site development and other pre-opening requirements	2.1 to 2.4 and Exhibit B- 3 of Franchise Agreement; 1 to 4 of Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services <u>Program Schedule</u>	5, 7, 8 and 11
d. Initial and ongoing training	3.1, 3.4, 4.2 and 12.4 and Exhibit B of Franchise Agreement	5, 6, 7 and 11
e. Opening	2.5 of Franchise Agreement	5 and 11
f. Fees	2.2, 2.5, 3.1, 3.3, 3.4, 4.1, 4.2, 4.4, 4.8, 5.3, 7.5, 8.3, 12.4, 12.8, 13.2, 14.4, 16.1, 16.2 and 16.5 and Articles 3, 6, 9 and 10 and Exhibit B- 1 of Franchise Agreement; Franchise Application; 7 of Confidentiality Agreement; 5 of Service <u>Schedules to Central Services</u> Agreement for Revenue Management Services ; 6 and 8 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 4 and Exhibit A of Field Marketing Program Opt In Agreement	5, 6, 7, 8 and 11
g. Compliance with standards and policies/operating manual	2.1 to 2.3, 2.6, 3.2, 3.3, 5.1, 5.3, 5.4, 7.4 and 11.2 and Article 4 of Franchise Agreement; Management Company Rider	6, 8, 11, 13, 14 and 15
h. Trademarks and proprietary information	3.2, 5.3 and 16.1 and Article 11 of Franchise Agreement; Confidentiality Agreement; Management Company Rider; 10 of Service <u>6 of Central Services</u> Agreement for Revenue Management Services ; 11 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 6 of Field Marketing Program Opt In Agreement	11, 13 and 14
i. Restrictions on products/services offered	4.1, 4.3, 4.4, 4.5 and 4.6 of Franchise Agreement	8, 11 and 16
j. Warranty and customer service requirements	4.3 and 4.5 of Franchise Agreement; 7 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement	8, 12 and 16

Obligation	Section in agreement	Disclosure document item
k. Territorial development and sales quotas	Not applicable	Not applicable
l. Ongoing product/service purchases	3.2, 3.3, 4.1, 4.3, 4.4, 4.5, and 4.6 of Franchise Agreement; 2-through 5 of Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services Schedules to Central Services	5, 6, 7, 8 and 11
m. Maintenance, appearance, and remodeling requirements	3.2, 4.3, 4.4, 4.6, 4.7, 4.8 and 10.2 of Franchise Agreement	6, 8, 11 and 16
n. Insurance	Article 9 of Franchise Agreement; 8 of Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services; 8 of Field Marketing Program Opt In Central Services Agreement	6, 7 and 8
o. Advertising	4.1, 4.3, 4.5 and Article 5 of Franchise Agreement	6, 8 and 11
p. Indemnification	2.5 and 8.3 of Franchise Agreement; 7 of Confidentiality Agreement; 7 of Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services; 8 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 9 of Field Marketing Program Opt In 9 of Central Services Agreement	6
q. Owner's participation/management/staffing	3.1, 3.2, 4.2 and 4.6 of Franchise Agreement; Management Company Rider; 2 of Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services Program Schedule	5, 7, 11 and 15
r. Records and reports	4.3 and 4.7 and Article 7 of Franchise Agreement	6
s. Inspections and audits	4.3, 4.8, 7.4 and 7.5 of Franchise Agreement	6

Obligation	Section in agreement	Disclosure document item
t. Transfer	12.2 to 12.9 of Franchise Agreement and 8(e) of Confidentiality Agreement; 13 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 13 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In <u>Central Services</u> Agreement	6 and 17
u. Renewal	Article 13 of Franchise Agreement	6 and 17
v. Post-termination obligations	12.4 and Articles 10, 14 and 16 of Franchise Agreement; 7-6 and 10-of <u>Service 9 of Central Services</u> Agreement for Revenue Management Services ; 10d of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 1 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement	6, 13, 14 and 17
w. Non-competition covenants	4.2, 4.10 and 4.11 of Franchise Agreement	15 and 17
x. Dispute resolution	Article 14 of Franchise Agreement; 8 of Confidentiality Agreement; 12-of <u>Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services</u> ; 11 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In <u>11 of Central Services</u> Agreement	6 and 17
y. Honoring guest room rates	3.3 and 4.5 of Franchise Agreement	8
z. Guarantor Monetary threshold <u>Threshold</u>	12.1 of Franchise Agreement and Guaranty	15
aa. Right of first offer	Exhibit C of Franchise Agreement	17

Item 10

FINANCING

We do not have a fixed financial assistance program for our franchisees and typically do not offer financial assistance to franchisees. However, in some cases we periodically may offer financial assistance to franchisees developing new Hyatt Place Brand Hotels or converting existing hotels from other brands to the Hotel System. We have no formal criteria to determine which franchisees will receive financial assistance or the amount or timing of the assistance. The terms of any financial assistance, including amount, interest rate, and repayment terms, will vary widely

and depend on our agreement with the franchisee and its particular circumstances. Our decision to offer financial assistance depends on what we think is best for us and the ~~Hyatt-Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel franchise network. We have no obligation to offer financial assistance to any franchisee.

Except as described above, neither we nor our affiliates offer direct or indirect financing. Neither we nor our affiliates guarantee your note, lease or obligation.

Item 11

FRANCHISOR'S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, COMPUTER SYSTEMS, AND TRAINING

Except as listed below, Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. is not required to provide you with any assistance.

Before you begin operating the Hotel, we or another member of the Hyatt Group will:

(1) Approve a site for the Hotel that meets our requirements. We do not provide any site selection assistance or specify an area within which you may look for a site. We do not own hotel premises and lease them to franchisees. In determining whether to approve a site, we consider, among other things, demographic characteristics, traffic patterns, parking, visibility, allowed signage, the predominant character of the neighborhood, competition from other lodging facilities in the area, the nature of other businesses near the site, and other commercial characteristics (including the purchase price or rental obligations and other lease terms) and the proposed site's size, appearance, and other physical characteristics. You may not develop a ~~Hyatt-Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel at a site that we do not approve. We and you will not sign a Franchise Agreement until you have located and we have approved the Hotel's site. If you are converting an existing hotel from another brand to the Hotel System, we will inspect the hotel and prepare a PIP to provide details on our upgrade requirements. Each Comfort Letter Party must sign a comfort letter or similar agreement that we reasonably specify. (Sections 2.1 and 2.7 ~~and Exhibit B~~ of Franchise Agreement)

(2) Communicate our then current specifications and requirements for designing and developing a ~~Hyatt-Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel, including the Design and Construction Standards. We will provide a briefing virtually, at our headquarters, or at another location we designate, to acquaint your managing owner or senior operations officer with our building process and support structure. If you are constructing a new Hotel at the site, you must design and construct the Hotel according to our Design and Construction Standards and Hotel System. If you are converting an existing hotel from another brand to the Hotel System, you must renovate the Hotel according to the PIP, which may reference some or all of our Design and Construction Standards and the Hotel System. The PIP is attached to the Franchise Agreement when we and you sign it. You may not make any material changes to plans set forth in the PIP (including any changes to any

structural or life safety equipment or systems, the number and/or type of guest rooms or common areas, or any architectural features), without our prior written consent, which we will not unreasonably withhold. We and our affiliates may operate, and authorize others to operate, ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels within or outside the United States providing additional, fewer and/or different amenities and services to guests than the Hotel provides, or that otherwise operate in a manner that is substantially different from the manner in which the Hotel operates. We may establish and periodically modify the Hotel System and System Standards for certain ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels in a manner that is different from the Hotel System and System Standards that apply to some or all ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels within or outside the United States. (Sections 2.1, 2.6 and 2.8 and Exhibit B-[3](#) of Franchise Agreement)

(3) As described in Item 8, identify the brands, types, makes and/or models of FF&E and other items (including both products and services) that meet our System Standards and, if we require, designated and approved suppliers of these items. We or our designated affiliate will directly provide and deliver, and in certain cases install, some items. We will provide you with the names of approved suppliers for some items. Our System Standards or other communications provide our standards and specifications for some items. (Sections 3.3, 4.3 and 4.4 of Franchise Agreement)

(4) Approve your initial design development documents and detailed plans for a new Hotel [or renovation plans for conversion of an existing structure](#), including working drawings and specifications, if they comply with our Design and Construction Standards, Hotel System and System Standards. You must prepare and submit the plans to us for our approval and change the plans as we specify. You may not begin constructing, remodeling or developing the Hotel until we have approved the plans. You may not change the approved plans, including by changing any structural or life safety equipment or systems, the number or type of guest rooms or common areas, or any architectural features, without our prior approval. (Section 2.1 and Exhibit B-[3](#) of Franchise Agreement)

(5) If applicable, approve an F&B Operations Plan and F&B Operator(s) that meet our requirements. (Section 2.3 of Franchise Agreement)

(6) Approve you establishing a temporary or permanent sales office at the Hotel's site to solicit and accept reservations during the pre-opening period for stays after the Hotel's opening date, if we permit you to establish a pre-opening sales office and it meets our requirements. Promptly after ~~we or our designee installs~~ the Technology System [is installed](#) at the Hotel, you must, at our option, staff the pre-opening sales office with the Hotel's director of sales and begin operating the pre-opening sales office. (Section 2.4 of Franchise Agreement)

(7) Provide the applicable System Services for the Hotel during its pre-opening period. (Section 4.1 of Franchise Agreement)

(8) Approve a pre-opening marketing program that you prepare according to our requirements. At least 120 days before the Hotel's opening, you must prepare and submit to us for our approval a written pre-opening marketing program that satisfies our requirements and contemplates spending at least \$500 times the number of guest rooms at the Hotel. You must change the program as we specify and implement the approved program. We anticipate your spending additional amounts on pre-opening marketing as well. (Section 5.1 of Franchise Agreement)

(9) Provide data installation services relating to the initial set-up of the CRS, GDS and ADS at the Hotel, IT ~~project-management-implementation-services~~[Project Management Services](#) and other technology-related services described in Item 5. (Section 2.2 of Franchise Agreement) We describe the Technology System later in this Item.

(10) Provide you access to the CRS and listings in advertising publications that we periodically specify during the period before the Hotel's opening date that we reasonably specify. (Section 3.3 of Franchise Agreement)

(11) Train your Hotel's senior manager-level employees whom we periodically designate, which may include (as applicable), the general manager, rooms director, director of sales, engineering director, director of food and beverage, director of catering, executive chef, and assistant general manager (collectively the "Core Management") and other Hotel personnel we specify in the operation of a ~~Hyatt-Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel to help ensure compliance with System Standards. We will place our trainer(s) at the Hotel for its opening. (Section 3.1 of Franchise Agreement)

(12) Provide you access to the System Standards. You must comply with the System Standards, as we periodically modify them, except for any employment-related or other policies and procedures which are clearly indicated in the System Standards as being for your optional use. We may communicate the System Standards to you using various means that we may periodically establish, including electronic media and/or written materials, and you must continuously monitor and access any updates to the System Standards or other aspects of the Hotel System. The System Standards and any passwords or other digital identifications necessary to access the System Standards are confidential.

Any materials, guidance or assistance that we provide on employment-related policies or procedures, whether in the System Standards or otherwise, are solely for your (or your management company's) optional use. Those materials, guidance and assistance do not form part of the mandatory System Standards. You (or your approved management company) will determine to what extent, if any, these materials, guidance or assistance should apply to the Hotel's employees. We do not dictate or control labor or employment matters for franchisees and their employees. You (or your approved management company) are solely responsible for determining the terms and conditions of employment for all Hotel employees (including Core Management), for all decisions concerning the

hiring, firing and discipline of Hotel employees, and for all other aspects of the Hotel's labor relations and employment practices. (Sections 3.2 and 4.3 of Franchise Agreement)

(13) Authorize your Hotel to open under the Proprietary Marks if you satisfy our pre-opening conditions as set forth in the System Standards or otherwise in writing. We will use commercially reasonable efforts in our review and approval of plans and in our approval process to open the Hotel, including by making a reasonable number of visits to the Site (to the extent practical under the circumstances) and providing reasonable guidance and advice relating to the Hotel's development or conversion. You must pay our then current fees for any additional guidance, services or assistance (beyond what we typically provide to similarly situated Brand Hotels, subject to Reasonable Deviations) that you request and we agree to provide. We act only in an advisory capacity and are not responsible for the adequacy or coordination of any plans and specifications, the integrity of any structures, compliance with applicable laws (including accessibility laws) or any insurance requirements, or obtaining any permits. We will have no liability to you for the Hotel's construction or renovation. You must give us certificates from your contractors concerning the Hotel's compliance. (Sections 2.5 and 2.6 of Franchise Agreement)

(14) Provide revenue management services for the Hotel if you choose to acquire them or we determine that you must acquire them. (~~Sections 2 and 3 of Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services~~ Program Schedule)

(15) Provide field marketing program services for the Hotel if you choose to acquire them. (~~Section 2 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement~~ Schedule)

During your operation of the Hotel, we or another member of the Hyatt Group will:

(1) Continue to provide the System Services for the Hotel, as we periodically modify them. (Section 4.1 of Franchise Agreement)

(2) Advise you periodically regarding the Hotel's operation, for example, concerning System Standards and advertising and marketing materials and programs. If you request, and we agree to provide, additional or special guidance, assistance, or training, ~~or if you sign the Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services,~~ you must pay our then applicable charges and travel and living expenses. Any specific training, guidance or assistance that we provide does not create an obligation (whether by course of dealing or otherwise) to continue providing that specific training, guidance or assistance, all of which we may periodically modify. (Section 3.4 of Franchise Agreement ~~and Sections 2 to 4 of Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services~~)

(3) Let you use our Proprietary Marks. (Sections 11.1 to 11.4 of Franchise Agreement)

(4) Let you use our Confidential Information and Copyrighted Materials. (Sections 11.1, ~~H,5~~[11.5](#) and 11.6 of Franchise Agreement)

(5) Provide you access to the System Standards as we may modify them periodically. You must restrict (and ensure your management company restricts) access to the System Standards according to our policies, as we periodically modify them. If there is a dispute over their contents, our master copy of the System Standards controls. Because complete and detailed uniformity under many varying conditions might not be possible or practical, we may, as we deem best, vary the Hotel System and System Standards for any ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel based upon the peculiarities of any condition or factors that we consider important to that hotel's successful operation. We need not grant you a similar variation or accommodation. The table of contents for the System Standards in effect as of the issuance date of this disclosure document is Exhibit E and reflects that the System Standards comprise ~~3,623~~[3,614](#) pages. (Sections 3.2 and 4.3 of Franchise Agreement)

(6) Provide you access to the CRS and listings in advertising publications that we periodically specify during the Franchise Agreement's term. (Section 3.3 of Franchise Agreement)

(7) Conduct periodic inspections of the Hotel and otherwise maintain the Quality Assurance [and Compliance](#) Program for the ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel franchise network. (Section 4.8 of the Franchise Agreement)

(8) Provide hosting and subscription services for the Hotel's PMS when you sign the Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement. (Section 1 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement)

(9) Continue to provide revenue management services if we choose to offer and either you chose to acquire them or we determine that you must acquire them. (~~Sections 2 and 3 of Service Agreement for~~ Revenue Management Services [Program Schedule](#))

(10) Continue to provide field marketing program services for the Hotel if we choose to offer and you choose to acquire them. (~~Section 2 of~~ Field Marketing Program ~~Opt-In Agreement~~[Schedule](#))

(11) [Provide central sales services, add-on global property guest services, or digital ancillary services if we choose to offer and you choose to acquire them. \(Central Sales Services Program Schedule, GPGS Program Schedule, and Digital Ancillary Services Program Schedule\).](#)

Advertising and Marketing

Except for the System Services, which we describe in Item 6, there are no advertising funds or local or regional advertising cooperatives to which you must contribute. However, promoting ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels as a single chain in the United States is an important part of the Hotel

System, so you must participate in and use, in the manner we specify, all advertising, marketing and promotional activities, materials and programs that we periodically require for ~~the Hotel~~similarly-situated Brand Hotels (subject to Reasonable Deviations). (Section 5.2 of Franchise Agreement) The Hyatt Group prepares advertising, marketing and promotional programs as part of System Services. (Section 4.1 of Franchise Agreement) These programs may cover any media (including print, radio, television and electronic) and their scope may be local, regional, national or international or focus on a subset of hotels (like resort hotels or convention hotels). The Hyatt Group's corporate personnel and advertising agencies develop these programs. We will not use funds that franchisees pay for System Services principally to solicit new franchise sales. We will not prepare any periodic accounting of how we and our affiliates spend these funds. The Hyatt Group need not spend any amount on advertising, marketing or promotional programs in the area where the Hotel is located. There currently are no franchisee advertising councils that advise us on advertising and marketing policies. However, we may form, change, and dissolve these councils.

We may identify a region in which 2 or more ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels are located (including, if applicable, those that we or our affiliates own or operate) to establish a local or regional advertising cooperative (a "Cooperative"). We may form, change, dissolve and merge Cooperatives. The Cooperative's purpose will be to collect funds from its members and to plan, discuss, organize, develop, utilize, produce, disseminate, and implement marketing, advertising and promotional programs and materials on a collective basis (and to cover related expenses) for participating ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels. We will not require you to participate in a Cooperative. However, if you choose to participate in the Cooperative, you must do so according to the Cooperative's rules, including by paying your Hotel's allocable share for any advertising, marketing, promotional and other programs that the Cooperative conducts. The Cooperative ~~is~~will be in charge of its own administration and determines contributions. Cooperative members will typically contribute to programs at the same rate. We anticipate that Cooperatives will operate from written governing documents and prepare financial statements that member franchisees may review. All restrictions relating to any advertising, marketing or promotional materials and programs that you use or conduct also apply to any materials and programs that the Cooperative ~~uses~~will use or ~~conducts~~conduct. (Section 5.5 of Franchise Agreement)

You must ensure that all advertising, marketing, and promotional materials, all public relations plans and programs, and all uses of the Proprietary Marks are conducted in a dignified manner and comply with the System Standards, including the use of our standard templates where applicable, and which may, at our option, require our prior approval of materials that we have not previously approved. You must discontinue using any materials (including previously-approved materials) and stop engaging in any plans and programs (including previously-approved plans and programs) within the timeframe we specify after you receive written notice from us. You may not use Guest Information (defined in Item 14) in conducting marketing, advertising and promotional programs for the Hotel, except for programs conducted by or through us or with our supervision in each instance. (Section 5.3 of Franchise Agreement)

The “Hotel System Website” is a website that we or one or more members of the Hyatt Group develops, maintains and/or authorizes for all or a certain group of ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels that we periodically specify (and, at our option, other Hyatt Network Hotels). We currently provide each participating ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel a separate webpage on the Hotel System Website. You must comply with all System Standards relating to the Hotel System Website, including by providing us (or our designee) all information and other materials concerning the Hotel that we periodically request and promptly notifying us whenever any information concerning the Hotel on the Hotel’s webpage is no longer accurate. By providing Hotel-related information and materials, you are representing to us that they are accurate and not misleading and do not infringe any third party’s intellectual property or other rights. We have the final decision about all information or materials appearing on the Hotel System Website. As between us and you, we own all intellectual property rights and other rights in and to the Hotel System Website, including all data that visitors supply or the Hotel System Website obtains. We may discontinue the Hotel System Website and/or any of its content (including separate webpages for participating ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels) at any time.

You may not develop, maintain or authorize any website or other electronic medium (other than the Hotel System Website) that has the word “hyatt” or any similar word, or any of the Proprietary Marks, as part of its domain name or URL or that accepts reservations for the Hotel (other than through an approved link to a Hotel System Website) or otherwise sells any products or services associated with the Hotel or any of the Proprietary Marks. In addition, except for the Hotel System Website, approved ADS, and as otherwise provided here, you may not develop, maintain or authorize any other website, other online presence or other electronic medium that describes or in any other way promotes the Hotel or displays any of the Proprietary Marks. You may, with our approval (which we will not unreasonably withhold) and subject to compliance with System Standards, authorize any Travel Services Website or Franchisee Organization Website to list and promote the Hotel together with other hotels. A “Travel Services Website” is a website that a third party (which is not your affiliate) operates that promotes and sells travel-related products and services for a number of hotel brands, including other Hyatt Network Hotels. A “Franchisee Organization Website” is a website that mentions the Hotel and other hotels in which you and your affiliates have an interest as part of your and their portfolio of properties and that has a primary purpose of promoting the entire portfolio (rather than only promoting the Hotel). (Section 5.4 of Franchise Agreement)

Technology System

You must use the computer hardware, software, and related equipment (the “Technology System”) that we or our affiliate periodically designate to operate the Hotel. The Hotel will use the Technology System to administer the CRS and the property management system (the “PMS”); automate front desk registration/cashiering, telephone switchboard, housekeeping and accounting functions; record and track sales and labor data; run the point-of-sale (“POS”), key lock system, in-room entertainment, sound and related systems; and perform a variety of other management and reporting functions. To meet our current brand standards, you must install the following systems: Property Management, Point of Sale, Revenue Management, ~~Sales~~[Events and Lead Generation](#)

System (Envision), Key Lock, PBX/Phones, ~~Call Accounting~~, In-Room Entertainment, High Speed Internet Service, Guest Computing, Hotel Music Services, ~~Security~~Digital Surveillance, and Scent. The Technology System will generate and ~~store~~record revenue, ~~cash~~, payment, labor and other operational data relating to the Hotel and its operations. We will provide project management implementation and related services for the Technology System. Based on our current requirements for a ~~Hyatt-Place~~Brand Hotel, we estimate that it will cost approximately \$~~620,000~~638,600 to \$~~755,000~~777,650 for you to acquire and install the Technology System at the Hotel.

You currently must acquire the PMS, POS system, and certain other components of the Technology System only from our designated vendors. You must acquire 24/7 support, maintenance, and warranty coverage from us or our designated PMS and POS vendor. Our designated PMS and POS vendor currently charges \$~~6.65~~3.90 per room per month but may increase this amount upon notice to you. Our designated PMS and POS vendor will also provide upgrades and updates to its licensed software if we approve them. You also must acquire maintenance from our designated PBX/phones vendor, our designated key lock vendor, and our designated sound system vendor, who currently charges \$18.95 per month to provide quarterly updates to the playlist that the ~~Hyatt-Place~~Brand Hotel network uses. We or another member of the Hyatt Group will provide other maintenance, support, upgrades and updates for parts of the Technology System and certain other technology services as part of the Mandatory Services for the Hotel, all of which are included in the Commercial Services Fee. No other party has an obligation to provide ongoing maintenance, repairs, upgrades or updates to the Technology System. The cost of other optional maintenance, updating, upgrading and support contracts varies widely depending on the market and the level of support you need. If you or your management company do not have in-house technology services support, you must contract with a third party technology consultant that meets our qualifications for “break/fix” support. You must also use our designated cyber end point protection and web filtering tools and enter into agreements with suppliers of such services, if applicable.

We may periodically require changes, upgrades, or updates to the Technology System. No contract limits the frequency or cost of changes, upgrades or updates. We or our affiliates may charge you reasonable fees for software or other technology that we license to the Hotel and for other Technology System maintenance and support services that we or they periodically provide to the Hotel, such as revenue management software, PMS enhancements, Hyatt’s Collaboration Network including HyattConnect, SharePoint Knowledge Network, E-Mail, User Identity Access Management, Learning Management Systems and Wide Area Network and Remote Access support. We will have independent, unlimited access to the information that the Technology System generates and tracks. (Sections 4.3, 4.4 and 7.4 of Franchise Agreement)

Hotel Opening

If you are developing a new ~~Hyatt-Place~~Brand Hotel, including by adapting an existing building to a new use as a hotel, we estimate that you will open the Hotel approximately 20 to 36 months after paying the application fee. If you are converting an existing hotel from another brand

to a ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel, we estimate that you will open the Hotel approximately 9 to 12 months after paying the application fee. The interval depends on the time it takes for you to finalize acquisition of the Hotel's premises (if applicable) and sign the Franchise Agreement, the suitability of the site, weather, the location and condition of the premises (including the premises' former use) and the construction schedule for the Hotel. You must open and begin operating the Hotel within 24 months after signing the Franchise Agreement for new ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels and 6 months after signing the Franchise Agreement for converted hotels (unless we agree to a longer period before we and you sign the Franchise Agreement). You also must meet various interim deadlines for the Hotel's development. If you do not meet these requirements, then you must pay the \$10,000 extension fee to us and request an extension, which we may grant or deny at our option. If we approve the extension, we will set a new opening deadline, the extension fee is non-refundable, and we may (at our option) require you to modify any previously-approved detailed plans or the PIP (as applicable), to comply with the then current design, equipment and other aspects of the Hotel System. If you do not open the Hotel by the required completion date, we may terminate the Franchise Agreement.

You may not open or begin operating the Hotel under the Proprietary Marks until we have notified you in writing that: (1) you have properly developed and equipped the Hotel in compliance with the Franchise Agreement and all applicable laws; (2) Hotel personnel have completed all pre-opening training to our satisfaction; (3) you have paid all amounts then due to us and our affiliates; (4) you have obtained all required certificates of occupancy, licenses and permits to operate the Hotel; (5) you have given us evidence of insurance coverage and payment of premiums we request; (6) you have given us certifications concerning the Hotel's construction; and (7) we have conducted a pre-opening inspection and approved the Hotel for opening under the Proprietary Marks. You must open and begin operating the Hotel under the Proprietary Marks within 10 days after receiving our authorization, which we will not unreasonably withhold or delay. We may terminate the Franchise Agreement if you do not meet these deadlines. Our determination that you have met all of our pre-opening requirements is not a representation or warranty, express or implied, that the Hotel complies with any laws or is safe for occupancy, nor will such determination act as a waiver of your non-compliance, or our right to demand full compliance, with our pre-opening requirements or any other provision of the Franchise Agreement. You must indemnify us for costs and expenses we incur because of your failure to open on time, including amounts we pay to customers whose reservations are canceled. (Sections 2.1 to 2.6 ~~and Exhibit B~~ of Franchise Agreement)

You must and must cause your lessees and your affiliates and their respective lessees to: (a) develop, maintain and operate all Non-Hotel Components within the Mixed-Use Site (as defined in Item 16) in accordance with quality, design and operational standards consistent with the quality, design and operational standards applicable to the Hotel, (b) refrain from advertising, marketing or promoting the Non-Hotel Components as being associated with or part of the Hotel, the "Hyatt Place" brand or any other Proprietary Marks, except in connection with the Hotel, advertisement and promotion approved pursuant to Section 5 of the Franchise Agreement; and (c) operate the Non-Hotel Components in a way that, in our reasonable judgment, does not damage or reflect adversely on the goodwill associated with any Proprietary Mark.

Training

Our current required initial training program has ~~78~~ parts: the Owner Briefing, the ~~Owner/Operator Orientation~~operator approval and onboarding program (“Franchise Manager University” or “FMU”), ~~the owner/operator orientation program~~, the General Manager University; (“GMU”), the operations training program, the sales/catering/revenue training program, the training programs for other Hotel personnel, and the Pre-Opening Brand Training. Except for any optional courses that we choose to provide, all initial training is mandatory. Our Franchise People & Learning Department administers and directs all of our initial training in coordination with our corporate operations team. Julie Suh, Associate Vice President, People & Learning, leads the Franchise People & Learning Department. Julie joined us and our affiliates in 2022. She has over 20 years of experience in the hotel/hospitality industry. We also have a staff of training professionals who conduct various training programs. These staff members typically have at least 15 years of experience in hotel and/or learning and development roles and at least 5 years of experience with us or our affiliates. The System Standards, videos, charts, pamphlets, and other training aids serve as the instructional materials for the training programs. You must pay us the fees and expenses described in Item 5 and Item 6 and you are responsible for all travel and living expenses (including travel, lodging, food and beverage, and miscellaneous charges) for your personnel.

Owner Briefing

Your managing owner or senior operations officer must attend a briefing, either virtually or at our corporate headquarters in Chicago, Illinois, within 6 months (for new construction hotels) or 3 months (for conversion hotels) after signing the Franchise Agreement. Our SVP Global Franchise Operations & Owner Relations supervises this briefing, which we hold whenever necessary. There are no instructional materials or tasks that your managing owner or senior operations officer must complete to our satisfaction. As of the date of this disclosure document, this 2-day briefing takes place in a classroom or virtual setting covers the following topics:

TRAINING PROGRAM Owner Briefing

Subject	Hours of Classroom Training	Hours of On the Job Training	Location
An overview of our building process and support structure	8	0	Chicago, Illinois, a Hyatt hotel location we designate, or virtually
Total Hours – Owners Briefing	8	0	

FMU

The Hotel's proposed management company (or you, if we approve you to manage the Hotel) must complete FMU, which provides an overview of our brand requirements and the tools we make available in support of these requirements. FMU consists of self-paced eLearning, virtual instructor led training, learning assessments, and a final virtual presentation to our leadership team. FMU is required for any management company (or you, if we approve you to manage the Hotel) that is not already an approved operator of a Brand Hotel. The attendees must complete FMU prior to the Hotel's opening date or, for existing Hotels, within 90 days after appointment as a new approved management company. Attendees can complete FMU's self-paced eLearning and virtual components at most 12 months before the Hotel's anticipated opening date. The operator must pass learning assessments throughout FMU's eLearning and virtual components. Within 9 months after completion of FMU, the new management company (or you, if we approve you to manage the Hotel) must attend the owner/operator orientation described below. Our SVP Global Franchise Operations and Owner Relations supervises this orientation, for which we maintain an ongoing schedule to adjust to the volume of new management companies. New management companies must consistently participate in all aspects of FMU in order to successfully complete it and be approved as an operator.

As of the date of this disclosure document, this training includes the following topics:

TRAINING PROGRAM **FMU**

<u>Subject</u>	<u>Hours of Classroom Training</u>	<u>Hours of On the Job Training</u>	<u>Location</u>
<u>Formative assessment</u>	<u>1</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>Online, Self-Paced knowledge assessment questionnaire</u>
<u>Hyatt's history & purpose, policies, programs, World of Hyatt, Colleague Advantage, BOB, HySat, STR</u>	<u>5-7</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>Self-paced eLearning & knowledge assessment</u>
<u>Introduction to Hyatt, Core Metrics, World of Hyatt, Operational systems and tools, data linkage, introduction to Commercial Services</u>	<u>8</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>Virtual instructor led training & knowledge assessment</u>

<u>Subject</u>	<u>Hours of Classroom Training</u>	<u>Hours of On the Job Training</u>	<u>Location</u>
<u>Virtual presentation of management company's mission/vision/values, strategy for the Hotel, key FMU learnings</u>	<u>1</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>Virtual presentation to our leadership</u>
<u>Total Hours – FMU</u>	<u>15-17</u>	<u>0</u>	

Owner/Operator Orientation

Your managing owner and senior operations officer must attend and complete to our satisfaction the owner/operator orientation program (“Orientation”) within 6 months after signing the Franchise Agreement for existing ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels or within 6 months after the Hotel’s opening date for new ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels. We conduct Orientation virtually, or in person at a Hyatt hotel location we designate or at our company headquarters in Chicago, Illinois approximately once per quarter. As of the date of this disclosure document, this 2-day briefing takes place in a classroom or virtual setting and covers the following topics:

[Remaining page left intentionally blank]

TRAINING PROGRAM **~~Owner/Operator~~ Orientation**

Subject	Hours of Classroom Training	Hours of On the Job Training	Location
Introduction to Hyatt brands, support functions, <u>operational</u> strategy, tools, and culture	8	0	Chicago, Illinois, Hyatt hotel location we designate, or virtually
<u>Commercial Services strategy and tools</u> , FF&E, design, F&B, brand standards and purchasing	8	0	Chicago, Illinois, Hyatt hotel location we designate, or virtually
Total Hours – Owners Orientation	16	0	

~~General Manager University~~GMU

The Hotel's proposed general manager, whether newly hired or promoted, must attend General Manager University GMU, which provides an overview of Hyatt's brand requirements and the tools made available by us in support of these requirements. General Manager University GMU consists of self-paced eLearning, virtual ~~and~~ instructor-led training, in-person training, ~~and~~ a learning assessments, and a final virtual presentation to our leadership team. The Hotel's proposed general manager must complete GMU (including the final learning assessment, and a virtual presentation to our leadership team) at least 6 months before the Hotel's opening date or within 6 months after the date of hire or promotion (as applicable) for new general managers at an existing Brand Hotel. The Hotel's proposed general manager must complete the self-paced eLearning and virtual components of General Manager University must be completed GMU at least 3 months before the Hotel's anticipated opening date or within 3 months after the date of hire or promotion (as applicable) for a new general managers hired at an already opened Hyatt hotel location manager at an existing Brand Hotel. The required in-person training component is a 3-day workshop at our corporate headquarters in Chicago, Illinois or at a Hyatt hotel location we specify, and gives the general manager an opportunity to meet our affiliates' personnel who will be providing training. The Hotel's proposed general manager must complete the in-person training component must be completed at least 3 months after before the Hotel's opening date or within 3 months after the hiring date of each general manager for any general managers who are hired to work at Hyatt Place Hotels that are already open and in operation as of the date that the general manager is hired. The final learning assessment must be completed approximately 3 months after the general manager has completed the 3-day in-person training hire or promotion (as applicable) for a new general manager at an existing Brand Hotel. Our SVP Global Franchise Operations & Owner Relations supervises this orientation, for which we maintain an ongoing schedule adjusting to the volume of general manager hires. General managers must consistently participate in all aspects of General Manager University GMU in order to successfully complete it.

In the case of a general manager vacancy, the owner/operator must adhere to our standards related to the timing of filling the vacancy with a permanent or interim general manager. If a permanent general manager has not been identified for more than 6 months after the original vacancy, the owner/operator must identify a leader as an interim general manager to complete GMU. Once the general manager vacancy has been permanently filled, the new permanent general manager will also be required to complete GMU, unless we waive the requirement for a particular individual. If the new permanent general manager previously worked at a Hyatt Network Hotel, the general manager will be required to complete GMU knowledge assessment if the general manager has been absent from such Hyatt Network Hotel for more than 1 year as of the date of hire. Based on the results of that assessment, the general manager may be exempt from some or all of the GMU components.

As of the date of this disclosure document, this training includes the following topics:

TRAINING PROGRAM
~~General Manager University~~ GMU

Subject	Hours of Classroom Training	Hours of On-the-Job Training	Location
Hyatt culture <u>history</u> and <u>purpose</u> , portfolio of brands, <u>policies and programs</u> , brand expectations, standards , key <u>programs</u> , metrics and tools	20 <u>20-24</u>	0	Self-paced eLearning and virtually
<u>Brand standards, World of Hyatt, Core metrics, operational tools, Commercial Services</u>	<u>8</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>Virtual instructor led</u>
Hyatt's Loyalty Program (World of Hyatt) <u>HySat, key operational systems, quality assurance, service skills</u>	15-25 <u>24</u>	0	Virtually, or at a Chicago, Illinois Hyatt hotel or office we designate
<u>Knowledge assessment and virtual presentation to Hyatt leadership</u>	<u>1-2</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>Virtually</u>
Total Hours – General Managers University <u>GMU</u>	35-45 <u>53-58</u>	0	

Operations Training and Sales/Events/Revenue Management Training

Your Hotel's Core Management team and other personnel we specify (as described in the chart below) must complete various initial mandatory brand standard training courses to our satisfaction before the Hotel's opening. We conduct some of this training at our company headquarters in Chicago, Illinois. Additionally, components of the training may take place at a Hyatt hotel we designate. We conduct this training according to an annual schedule, with some programs held quarterly or semi-annually and others held as often as necessary. In some instances, as needed to meet your Hotel's opening date, we may send our trainers to your Hotel to conduct training programs that we typically hold at our headquarters. We recommend that managers and directors who are new to their role attend the live classroom New Hire Training and complete online training within 6 months of being hired. There are some periodic requirements that your operational, sales/events/revenue managers must complete to our satisfaction, including eLearning knowledge checks and assessments, and full attendance and participation in virtually-facilitated programs.

As of the date of this disclosure document, this training includes the following topics:

TRAINING PROGRAM
Operations

Subject	Hours of Classroom Training	Hours of On-the-Job Training	Location
New Hire Training (Franchise) - for hotel senior leadership positions including but not limited to: General Managers, Director of Operations, Food and Beverage Directors, Rooms Directors and/or other senior operational leaders – Topics include: the fundamentals of Hyatt hotel operations, brand standards, HySat, In-Stay Engagement, Colleague Advantage, and Guest Experience Resource Library	8-16	0	Your Hotel
Hyatt's Loyalty Program (World of Hyatt)	4	0	Your Hotel
Operations: Hyatt's brand/operations training defines service and skill standards required for hourly and management	0	24-60 (based on position help)	Your Hotel
Reservations Managers: Central reservations system training	16	0	Your Hotel, a Hyatt hotel we designate, Chicago, Illinois or Virtually
Revenue Management Systems Training	3	0	Self-paced eLearning & Facilitator-led Virtual Classroom
System Users: Property management system (various by position)	16-40	16	Your Hotel, a Hyatt hotel we designate, Chicago, Illinois or Virtually

Subject	Hours of Classroom Training	Hours of On-the-Job Training	Location
Total Hours – Operations Training	47-79	40-76	

TRAINING PROGRAM
Sales/Events/Revenue Management

Subject	Hours of Classroom Training	Hours of On-the-Job Training	Location
Sales Leader: Hyatt Sales Onboarding	30 (completed within 90 days of hire)	0	Virtually-facilitated program
Sales Leader: Sales Management Self-Paced Learning Path	13	0	Self-paced eLearning & Facilitator-Led Virtual Classroom
Sales Leader: World of Hyatt How it Works	2	0	Self-paced eLearning
Hyatt Sales Skills Curriculum	10	0	Self-paced eLearning & Facilitator-Led Virtual Classroom
Sales Leader: Revenue Management Software Training for Hotel General Managers & Directors of Sales	5	0	Virtually-facilitated program
Revenue Management Orientation	2	0	Virtually-facilitated program
Revenue Systems Training for all day-to-day users	50	0	Self-paced eLearning & Facilitator-Led Virtual
Revenue Management Software Certification (All Hyatt Place Brand Hotels are required to have 2 certified users)	1.5	0	Self-paced eLearning
Events: Systems Training	23	0	Self-paced eLearning & Facilitator-Led Virtual

Subject	Hours of Classroom Training	Hours of On-the-Job Training	Location
Total Hours – Sales/Events/Revenue Management Training	136.5	0	

Training for Other Personnel

We also offer other brand standard training programs for various Hotel personnel that a representative from your Hotel will facilitate as often as needed. Some of these programs include instructional materials or tasks that personnel must complete to our satisfaction, as indicated below.

As of the date of this disclosure document, this training includes the following topics:

Subject	Hours of Classroom Training	Hours of On-the-Job Training	Location
New Hotel Orientation	4	0	Your Hotel
Department Training – Train the Trainer	0	6-12	Your Hotel
Guest Experiences Training– including but not limited to Creating Connections / In-Stay Engagement, GEM, Colleague Advantage Pre-arrival Dashboard, Brand Experience Guide, BOB / HyGEO, Guest Experience Resource Library	8-16	4-8	Your Hotel
Guest Loyalty Training (World of Hyatt) – program completion requires 80% correct on eLearning knowledge test	1-6 (varies by position)	1-4	Your Hotel
Related position systems training – including but not limited to Opera, Reserve, Colleague Advantage, Symphony	4-8 (varies by position)	4-12 (varies by position)	Your Hotel – onsite and virtual

Subject	Hours of Classroom Training	Hours of On-the Job Training	Location
Total Hours – Other Personnel	17-34	15-36	

Training for Other Personnel – Required

We also require other brand standard training programs for various Hotel personnel that a representative from your Hotel will facilitate as often as needed. Instructional materials are provided, and tasks which must be completed to our satisfaction are indicated below. These requirements are routinely updated and subject to change.

In addition to the courses listed below, the Hotel's general manager must facilitate training of on-property personnel in several areas, including safety and security, ethics, de-escalation, cybersecurity and hygiene. This training does not need to take any specific format or follow a standardized curriculum. It is in the discretion of the Hotel's general manager as to the materials to utilize, which may include optional materials that we offer. The Hotel's general manager must regularly acknowledge via our learning management system that it has provided such training to Hotel staff.

As of the date of this disclosure document, this required training includes the following topics:

Subject	Hours of Classroom Training	Hours of On-the-Job Training	Location
Elevate Service Skills Training	2-10	0	Self-paced eLearning
World of Hyatt Host	1-6 (varies by position)	0-4	Self-paced eLearning
World of Hyatt How it Works	1	0	Self-paced eLearning
World of Hyatt Training	6	1-2	Your Hotel
Hyatt's Human Trafficking Training – this program requires annual retraining for all employees	1-3	0	Self-paced eLearning

Global Privacy Program – this program requires annual retraining for all employees	1-3	0	Your Hotel – Hotel general manager to facilitate the training and acknowledge completion
Total Hours – Other Personnel	10-19 12-29	1-6	

Pre-Opening Brand Training

For the final part of our required initial training program, we send a pre-opening team of 2 to 3 trainers (at our option) to assist with training the Hotel staff on brand standards and related issues concerning the Hotel's opening. You must pay us a fee and our trainers' travel and living expenses. The trainers arrive at or before the opening and typically stay for a minimum of 7 nights (not including virtual training), although we may (at our option) conduct this training on more than 1 visit. There are no instructional materials or tasks that you must complete to our satisfaction. As of the date of this disclosure document, there is no predetermined agenda for this on-the-job training. The trainers will generally train Hotel managers and staff with aspects of day-to-day operations, including:

- Guest services
- Housekeeping and laundry efficiencies
- Food and beverage
- Front desk
- Culinary (if applicable)
- Hyatt systems, tools, and initiatives with hotel leaders

Additional, Supplemental, and Optional Training Programs During Franchise Term

If any member of the Hotel's Core Management team or other individuals whom we required to attend training ceases to hold that position, you (or the approved management company or any F&B Operator) must have their replacement attend and successfully complete the applicable mandatory brand standard training programs that we reasonably specify, some of which we describe above, within 90 days (or a longer period we periodically designate) after assuming their position. We may charge fees for this training, and you must pay all travel and living expenses. If we determine that any Hotel personnel have failed to satisfactorily complete any training program, you (or the approved management company or F&B Operator) must immediately hire a substitute and promptly arrange for that person to complete training to our satisfaction.

We may, at the times and places we deem best, require the Hotel's Core Management and other personnel to participate in regional and national conventions, meetings and other brand standard training programs that we periodically specify. For example, we may require additional training when major concept and repositioning changes occur in a food and beverage outlet at the Hotel. These individuals must attend any supplemental training within the time period we reasonably specify after you receive notice from us. We also may periodically hold an owner

convention for all or a certain group of Hyatt Hotels and/or all or certain other Hyatt Network Hotels at a location we periodically designate. You must pay our fees for these programs and conventions. You must pay all of your personnel's travel, living and other expenses (including local transportation expenses) and compensation relating to these training programs and conventions. (Sections 3.1 and 3.4 and Exhibit B-1 of Franchise Agreement)

In addition to our mandatory initial training programs, we also offer various optional brand standard training courses for Hotel personnel during the Franchise Agreement's term. We typically update the menu of optional courses annually to address then current hotel and business needs. These optional offerings include discounted enrollment for eCornell's self-paced, facilitated courses and certificate programs specifically curated for hospitality professionals. We also make available other virtually-facilitated commercial services offerings and over 1,600 free, multi-lingual self-paced courses via our learning platform. In addition, we periodically offer optional instructor-led or virtual programs for a fee. You may, at your option, send Hotel personnel to some or all of these programs if you pay our then current fees. We typically conduct optional training programs either at our headquarters in Chicago, Illinois, at your Hotel, or at another operating Hyatt hotel. We offer optional brand standards training programs on an ongoing basis. ~~100% of our new franchisees attended at least one optional brand standards training program in 2023.~~

Item 12

TERRITORY

You must operate the Hotel only from a specific site that we first approve. Your rights under the Franchise Agreement are limited to operating the Hotel at the approved site. If all or a substantial portion of the Hotel is condemned or suffers a casualty requiring you to close all or a portion of the Hotel, you may relocate the Hotel to a location we approve.

Unless the Hotel is an operating ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel, we and you will agree on the boundaries of your "Area of Protection" before signing the Franchise Agreement. We typically define the Area of Protection's boundaries using geographic references (such as streets or rivers) or as a circle with the Hotel at its center. The Area of Protection's size will vary depending on the Hotel's size and location. It could be as small as a few blocks in urban areas and up to about a 3 mile radius from the Hotel's entrance in certain suburban areas. We also will assign an "AOP Term" and list the AOP Term in the Franchise Agreement before we and you sign it. The AOP Term is the time period during which your rights in the Area of Protection will apply. The AOP Term begins on the effective date of the Franchise Agreement and typically ends 3 years after the Hotel's opening date.

Subject to the one exception below, neither we nor any of our affiliates will open and operate during the AOP Term, nor authorize any other party to open and operate during the AOP Term, any other ~~Hyatt Place Hotels~~Brand Hotel the physical premises of which are located within the Area of Protection. One exception to this restriction is that, during the AOP Term, if we or

any affiliate acquires ownership of or the right to operate, manage, franchise, or license (regardless of the form of transaction) another group of at least 4 hotels, one or more of which hotels are located or are under contract or construction to be located in the Area of Protection, then we and our affiliates will have the unrestricted right to convert, or cause to be converted, the acquired hotel(s) within the Area of Protection from its (or their) original trade identity to operate under the Proprietary Marks and the Hotel System. We then may operate, or authorize any other party to operate, those hotel(s) as ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel(s), even if one or more of the other acquired hotels, whether operating within or outside the Area of Protection, are not converted to ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels.

If the Hotel is an operating ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel, you may not receive any Area of Protection or AOP Term when signing the Franchise Agreement. We will make the determination of whether to provide any Area of Protection based on the time during which the Hotel has operated under the “Hyatt Place” name and the market conditions under which the Hotel operates.

Your rights in the Area of Protection apply only during the AOP Term. Following the AOP Term, you will have no territorial rights or protection, whether within or outside the Area of Protection, and we and our affiliates may open and operate, and authorize any other parties to open and operate, other ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels the physical premises of which are located within the Area of Protection, including under franchise applications submitted and/or franchise agreements and other agreements signed during the AOP Term. Because we and others may establish and operate one or more ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels within the Area of Protection after the AOP Term expires, and during the AOP Term under the exception above, you will not receive an exclusive territory. You may face competition from other franchisees, from outlets we own, or from other channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control.

Except for the limited exclusivity described above, your rights under the Franchise Agreement are nonexclusive in all respects, the Hotel has no territorial protection whatsoever, and we and our affiliates have the right without restriction to engage in all activities we and they desire (including concerning all types of lodging facilities) at any time and place, whether or not using the Proprietary Marks or any aspect of the Hotel System, and whether or not those activities compete with your Hotel. We and our affiliates may use or benefit from, among other things, common computer systems, administrative systems, reservation systems, purchasing systems, and personnel and may provide some or all of the System Services to other Hyatt Network Hotels and other hotels, lodging facilities and other businesses, even if they compete with the Hotel. You will have no right to pursue any claims, demands, or damages as a result of these activities, whether under breach of contract, unfair competition, implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, divided loyalty, or other theories.

You have no options, rights of first refusal or similar rights to acquire additional franchises. Continuation of your territorial rights does not depend on your achieving a certain sales volume, market penetration or other contingency. We may not alter your Area of Protection or territorial rights during the AOP Term.

There are no restrictions on where you or other ~~Hyatt-Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel operators (including us and our affiliates) may solicit customers or accept orders. We and our affiliates may use other channels of distribution, such as the Internet, catalog sales, telemarketing, or other direct marketing, to make sales in the Area of Protection under the Proprietary Marks and other trademarks without compensating you. You may use other channels of distribution, such as the Internet, catalog sales, telemarketing, or other direct marketing, to advertise and market the Hotel outside of the Area of Protection with our approval. Except for the CRS, you may not use the Internet or any other method to accept reservations for the Hotel.

As described in Item 1, Hyatt Corporation and certain of its affiliates operate and/or grant franchises for various types of hotel, resort, spa, timeshare and other lodging facilities, other accommodations and hospitality affiliations that operate under the Hyatt® name and other trade names. (We disclose the principal business addresses for Hyatt Corporation and some of these affiliates, and these other trade names, in Item 1.) We share offices and/or training locations with Hyatt Corporation and some of its other affiliates. These facilities may solicit and serve customers located near your Hotel's location. You should expect to find, now and in the future, facilities identified with the Hyatt® name and/or these other trade names, and other brands that we and our affiliates operate, franchise, or develop in the future, in your Area of Protection. These facilities will sell goods and services similar to those that you will sell. If conflicts arise between our franchisees and the franchisees and operators of these other facilities, we will analyze them and take the actions (if any) that we deem appropriate. We also may (but need not) develop internal policies for dealing with conflicts.

Item 13

TRADEMARKS

Hyatt Corporation registered the following principal Proprietary Marks on the Principal Register of the United States Patent and Trademark Office (the "PTO"):

<u>Mark</u>	<u>Registration No.</u>	<u>Registration Date</u>
Hyatt	945,384	October 17, 1972
Hyatt Place	3,320,344	October 23, 2007
Hyatt Place logo	3,368,516	January 15, 2008
World of Hyatt	5,201,881	May 9, 2017

Hyatt Corporation has made all required renewal and affidavit filings for these registrations.

Hyatt Corporation granted us the rights to use and sublicense the Proprietary Marks under a Trademark License Agreement dated August 19, 2005, as amended (the "Trademark License Agreement"). That agreement has a perpetual term, subject to termination by Hyatt Corporation for cause. Hyatt Corporation may terminate the agreement if it no longer owns a majority interest

in us, if we fail to make a required payment and do not cure the failure within 7 days after notice, if we fail to maintain or require our sublicensees to maintain Hyatt Corporation's prescribed standards of quality and service and do not cure the failure within 30 days after notice, if we fail to comply with any other provision of the agreement and do not cure the failure within 30 days after notice, or if we have an insolvency event and do not cure the failure within 60 days after notice. If Hyatt Corporation terminates the Trademark License Agreement because we failed to maintain or failed to require our sublicensees to maintain Hyatt Corporation's standards of quality and service, Hyatt Corporation may enter into a license with our authorized franchisees, but only if the franchisee not in default of its franchise agreement. No other agreements significantly limit our rights to use or license the Proprietary Marks in a manner material to the franchise.

There are no currently effective material determinations of the PTO, the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board, any state trademark administrator or any court, and no pending infringement, opposition or cancellation proceedings or other material federal or state court litigation, involving the Proprietary Marks. We do not know of any superior prior rights or infringing uses that could materially affect your use of the Proprietary Marks in any state.

You must follow our rules when using the Proprietary Marks. You (and any F&B Operators at the Hotel) may not use the Proprietary Marks with any Hotel restaurant operations without our prior written consent, which we will not unreasonably withhold, and complying with all related System Standards. If we discover your unauthorized use of the Proprietary Marks, we may require you to destroy (with no reimbursement from us) all offending items reflecting that unauthorized use. You must notify us immediately of any apparent infringement or challenge to your use of any Proprietary Mark, or of any person's claim of any rights in any Proprietary Mark, and not communicate with any person other than us, our affiliates, and our and their attorneys, and your attorneys, regarding any infringement, challenge, or claim. We and our affiliates may take the action we and they deem appropriate (including no action) and control exclusively any litigation, PTO proceeding, or other proceeding arising from any infringement, challenge, or claim or otherwise concerning any Proprietary Mark. You must sign any documents and take any other reasonable actions that, in the opinion of our and our affiliates' attorneys, are necessary or advisable to protect and maintain our and our affiliates' interests in any litigation or PTO or other proceeding or otherwise to protect and maintain our and our affiliates' interests in the Proprietary Marks. We will reimburse your reasonable out-of-pocket costs for taking any requested action.

If it becomes advisable at any time for us and/or you to modify, discontinue using, and/or replace any Proprietary Mark and/or to use one or more additional, substitute, or replacement trade or service marks, you must comply with our directions within a reasonable time after receiving notice. Neither we nor our affiliates will reimburse you for any costs or expenses you incur relating to these directions, including your expenses of changing the Hotel's signs, any loss of revenue due to any modified or discontinued Proprietary Mark, or your expenses of promoting a modified or substitute trademark or service mark. Our rights in this paragraph apply to any of the Proprietary Marks (and any portion of any Proprietary Mark) that we authorize you to use.

We will reimburse you for all damages and expenses that you incur in any trademark infringement proceeding disputing your authorized use of any Proprietary Mark if you have timely notified us of, and comply with our directions in responding to, the proceeding. We will defend you in the proceeding and, at our option, we and/or our affiliate(s) may defend and control the defense of any proceeding arising from your use of any Proprietary Mark.

Item 14

PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

No patents or pending patent applications are material to the franchise. We and our affiliates claim copyright protection for the Copyrighted Materials. We have not registered these Copyrighted Materials with the United States Copyright Office but need not do so at this time in order to protect them. You must follow our rules when using the Copyrighted Materials. You may use the Copyrighted Materials only as we specify to operate the Hotel under the Franchise Agreement.

You must notify us immediately of any apparent infringement or challenge to your use of any Copyrighted Materials or Confidential Information, or of any person's claim of any rights in any Copyrighted Materials or Confidential Information, and not communicate with any person other than us, our affiliates, and our and their attorneys, and your attorneys, regarding any infringement, challenge, or claim. We and our affiliates may take the action we and they deem appropriate (including no action) and control exclusively any litigation or administrative proceeding arising from any infringement, challenge, or claim or otherwise concerning any Copyrighted Materials or Confidential Information. You must sign any documents and take any other reasonable actions that, in the opinion of our and our affiliates' attorneys, are necessary or advisable to protect and maintain our and our affiliates' interests in any litigation or other proceeding or otherwise to protect and maintain our and our affiliates' interests in the Copyrighted Materials and Confidential Information. We will reimburse your reasonable out-of-pocket costs for taking any requested action. We need not participate in your defense nor indemnify you for damages and expenses you incur if you are a party to any administrative or judicial proceeding involving any Copyrighted Materials or if the proceeding is resolved unfavorably to you.

If it becomes advisable at any time in our sole judgment for you to modify or discontinue using any of the Copyrighted Materials and/or for you to use one or more additional or substitute copyrighted or copyrightable items, you must immediately comply with our directions.

There are no effective material determinations of, or pending material proceedings before, the PTO, the United States Copyright Office, or any court involving the Copyrighted Materials. We do not know of any infringement of the Copyrighted Materials that could materially affect you. No agreement significantly limits our right to use or license the Copyrighted Materials.

You will sign the Confidentiality Agreement while we and you are evaluating whether to start a franchise relationship. You must keep confidential all information concerning development

plans for particular sites or markets and information concerning our plans, strategies, operations, processes, and System Standards, including any information in the PIP that we conduct or prepare for your hotel. These obligations continue even if we and you do not sign a Franchise Agreement. You must take reasonable measures to ensure that your employees, agents and advisors comply with these restrictions and are responsible if they fail to do so. You also must promise us that our and your discussions and, if applicable, your signing a Franchise Agreement do not violate any laws, breach any agreements or require any consents.

We and our affiliates possess (and will continue to develop and acquire) Confidential Information, some of which constitutes trade secrets under applicable law, relating to developing and operating ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels. “Confidential Information” includes: (1) site selection criteria; (2) the substance, design, and construction of ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels and the Design and Construction Standards; (3) training and operations materials and modules; (4) methods, formats, specifications, standards, systems, procedures, sales and marketing techniques, knowledge, and experience used in developing and operating ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels; (5) marketing, advertising and promotional programs for ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels; (6) Guest Information (defined below) and any information and data relating to guests and customers of other ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels; (7) knowledge of specifications for and suppliers of FF&E and other products and supplies that are uniquely identified with ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels; (8) any part of the Technology System and other computer software or other technology that is proprietary to us, our affiliates or the Hotel System, including digital passwords and identifications and any source code of, and data, reports, and other printed materials generated by, the software or other technology; (9) knowledge of the operating results and financial performance of ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels other than the Hotel; (10) graphic designs and related intellectual property; and (11) any negotiated provisions of the Franchise Agreement and any other agreements we sign with you.

Confidential Information is proprietary and includes our and our affiliate’s trade secrets. You (a) must not use (or allow your affiliates to use) Confidential Information in any other business or capacity; (b) must keep confidential each item that is a part of Confidential Information, both during and after the Franchise Agreement’s term (afterward for as long as the item is not generally known in the hotel industry); (c) must not make unauthorized copies of any Confidential Information disclosed via electronic medium or in written or other tangible form; and (d) must adopt and implement reasonable procedures that we periodically specify to prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of Confidential Information.

Confidential Information does not include information, knowledge, or know-how that you can demonstrate lawfully came to your attention before we or our affiliate provided it to you or your affiliate directly or indirectly; that, at the time we or our affiliate disclosed it to you, already had lawfully become generally known in the hotel industry through publication or communication by others (without violating an obligation to us or our affiliate); or that, after we or our affiliate disclose it to you, lawfully becomes generally known in the hotel industry through publication or communication by others (without violating an obligation to us or our affiliate). However, if we

include any matter in Confidential Information, anyone who claims that it is not Confidential Information must prove that one of these exclusions is satisfied.

All Guest Information is our property and part of Confidential Information. “Guest Information” means information and data relating to or derived from the Hotel’s guests and other customers during the Franchise Agreement’s term, whether obtained from the guest or customer or from any other source, including names, preferences, and other information about the guests’ or customers’ experiences and/or purchases, and including information stored in or provided to the CRS or the Hotel’s property management system. We have the right periodically during the Franchise Agreement’s term, without notice to you, to access the Hotel’s property management system and other computer systems to retrieve Guest Information. We and our affiliates may use, and allow others to use, the Guest Information in any manner that we deem appropriate (subject to applicable law).

You may use the Guest Information, and certain other information and data relating to guests and customers of other ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels that we periodically specify, during the Franchise Agreement’s term only to market to and provide services to the Hotel’s guests and potential guests in compliance with the System Standards and all applicable laws, rules and regulations. You must ensure that your affiliates may not access, and neither you nor any of your affiliates may use, any of that Guest Information or that other information or data in any other business or capacity. However, following the Franchise Agreement’s expiration or termination, you may use, and allow your affiliates and others to use, any Guest Information that was generated at the Hotel (and that we or our affiliate did not supply to the Hotel) during the guest’s stay at the Hotel and stored in the Hotel’s property management system database in any manner that you deem appropriate (subject to applicable law) at your own risk, if you comply, and ensure that any recipients of that Guest Information from you comply, with our then current policies and procedures regarding the collection, storage, use, processing and transfer of personal and/or financial data. If there is an actual or suspected breach of security or unauthorized access of Guest Information or other information from the Hotel’s property management system or other computer system database, you must notify us promptly and we may require you to use a third party supplier we designate, at your sole cost and expense, to review and if necessary, remediate that breach or unauthorized access. You must not take any action that could jeopardize our or our affiliate’s ability to comply with, or make certifications under, any law, regulation, contract, program or policy related to Guest Information (including privacy laws, privacy notices and PCI certifications) and applicable to us or our affiliate.

You must promptly disclose to us all inventions, innovations and discoveries relating to a ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel and based or relying upon any element of the Hotel System, including any advertising, marketing, promotional or public relations plans, programs or materials that you or your contractors develop for the Hotel (collectively, “Innovations”), whether or not protectable intellectual property and whether created by or for you, your affiliates or contractors, or your or their employees. Innovations are our or our affiliate’s sole and exclusive property, part of the Hotel System, and works made-for-hire for us or our affiliate. You may not use any Innovation in operating the Hotel or otherwise without our prior written consent. If any Innovation does not

qualify as a “work made-for-hire” for us or our affiliate, you assign ownership of that Innovation, and all related intellectual property rights and other rights to that Innovation, to us and must take whatever action (including signing assignment or other documents) we request to evidence our ownership or to help us obtain intellectual property rights in the Innovation.

Item 15

OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ACTUAL OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISE BUSINESS

Hotel Management

Either a management company we approve, or you (if we approve you to manage the Hotel), must at all times retain and exercise direct management control over all aspects of the Hotel’s business and be the employer of the Hotel’s Core Management and other personnel, ~~unless~~ except for any members of Core Management that are overseen by an F&B Operator whom we approve ~~employs the individual(s) serving as director of food and beverage, director of catering, and/or executive chef for the Hotel.~~ You may not enter into any lease, management agreement, or other similar arrangement with any management company for the management or other oversight of all or a part of the Hotel’s operation (a “Management Arrangement”) without our prior written approval of the management company, and you may not yourself manage the Hotel without our approval of you as the Hotel’s operator. We will not unreasonably withhold our approval if the management company or you (as applicable) meets our minimum qualifications and ensures that its or your personnel attend and satisfactorily complete required brand standard training programs. If we approve a management company, as a condition of that approval, the management company must sign the documents we require to protect our intellectual property rights and reflect its agreement to perform its management responsibilities and operate the Hotel in compliance with the Franchise Agreement. Our current form of Management Company Rider is attached as Exhibit F to the Franchise Agreement.

We may refuse to approve a management company that is a Competing Brand Owner. “Competing Brand Owner” means any entity that (a) is either a franchisor or owner of a Competing Brand (defined below), (b) manages or otherwise operates hotels exclusively for the franchisor or owner of a Competing Brand, or (c) is an affiliate of any entity described in (a) or (b) above. A “Competing Brand” is a hotel concept that has at least 5 hotels operating under that concept’s trade name anywhere in the world and that, in our reasonable opinion, competes with ~~Hyatt Place~~ Brand Hotels. If the management company or you (if we approve you to manage the Hotel) at any time becomes a Competing Brand Owner, fails to meet our minimum qualifications (as we may periodically modify them) or fails to comply with the Franchise Agreement (including any System Standards and/or if the Hotel remains in any remedial or non-compliant status under our then current Quality Assurance and Compliance Program for 3 or more consecutive months), the Management Company Rider, or any conditions of operator approval that we previously imposed, then we may: (a) revoke our approval of that management company or you as the Hotel’s manager; ~~or~~ or (b) as a condition of our continued approval, we may impose on that management company

or you additional requirements, including participation in remedial training and other operational programs, at the Management Company's or your expense. If we revoke our approval of the Management Company or you as the manager, then you then must promptly terminate the Management Arrangement (if applicable) and either assume direct control of the Hotel's management and operation, if we approve you to manage the Hotel, or engage another management company we approve.

You must ensure that all F&B Operations operate in full compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and all applicable System Standards. You must provide, or cause the management company to provide, all brand standard training programs to the F&B Operator that we periodically specify. If the F&B Operator at any time fails to operate in full compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and all applicable System Standards, or fails to comply with any agreement with us, then, without limiting our other rights and remedies under the Franchise Agreement and applicable law, we may revoke our approval of the F&B Operator. You then must promptly terminate your arrangement with the F&B Operator and either assume (if we approve you to manage the Hotel) or have your approved management company assume direct control of the Hotel's F&B Operations or engage another approved F&B Operator we approve.

At our option, before any of the Hotel's ~~general manager is~~ Core Management are engaged, you must submit to us the proposed candidate's identity and qualifications. If the general manager fails to ensure that the Hotel satisfies our quality assurance requirements and other brand standards, then we may require you (or your approved management company) to hire a new general manager for the Hotel. You or the management company (as applicable) is solely responsible for hiring the Core Management and other Hotel personnel and determining the terms and conditions of their employment. You (or your approved management company or F&B Operator) must hire and properly train all Core Management personnel and have a Core Management team in place at the Hotel at all times. Also, all members of the Hotel's Core Management must spend all of their working time at the Hotel fulfilling their management and operational responsibilities and may not concurrently maintain a position at another lodging facility or in any other capacity related to the lodging industry.

If you or your approved management company choose to retain a revenue manager for the Hotel, we must certify the revenue manager within 90 days after the revenue manager's date of hire or, if already employed by you or your approved management company, within 90 days after the date the revenue manager begins providing revenue management services to the Hotel. Revenue managers must: (a) provide revenue management services to no more than 20 Brand Hotels; (b) meet our then current qualification criteria and complete all required revenue management training courses to our satisfaction; and (c) have authorized access to our reservation system and the other systems and software necessary to perform revenue management functions. Although you may retain third parties to consult on revenue management matters, only you, a management company we approve, or a certified revenue manager employed by you or your approved management company can access our revenue management systems and the data contained in our revenue management systems.

A Core Management team who has satisfactorily completed our initial training program must devote all of its business time to supervising the Hotel's day-to-day operations. Your Hotel's general manager and other Core Management personnel need not have an equity interest in the Hotel or in you.

Guaranty and Guarantor Monetary Threshold

We expect that only business entities, and not individuals, will sign our Franchise Agreement. You must cause one or more of the direct and indirect owners (whether they are individuals or business entities) of a Controlling Ownership Interest (defined below) in you which we specify to sign the form of Guaranty and Assumption of Franchisee's Obligations attached to the Franchise Agreement (the "Guaranty"). Under the Guaranty, these owners must personally guaranty all of your obligations under the Franchise Agreement and be personally bound by, and personally liable for the breach of, every provision of the Franchise Agreement, both monetary and non-monetary, including the confidentiality and arbitration obligations.

In addition, each owner that signs the Guaranty must agree, and you must ensure, that at least one guarantor will satisfy the Guarantor Monetary Threshold at all times during the Franchise Agreement's term. The "Guarantor Monetary Threshold" means ~~the minimum amount of each of the following: (a)~~ total assets less total liabilities (excluding Hotel assets and liabilities relating solely to the Hotel), each as calculated according to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, ~~and in the minimum amount of~~ the guarantor net worth minimum listed in Exhibit B-1 to the Franchise Agreement; and (b) liquid assets (consisting of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities), ~~that at least one guarantor (whether an individual or an entity) must maintain at all times during in the minimum amount of the guarantor liquidity minimum listed in Exhibit B-1 to the Franchise Agreement's term~~ Agreement. We will determine the amount of the Guarantor Monetary Threshold as of the Franchise Agreement's effective date based on information we deem relevant, including the Hotel's size, the market in which the Hotel will operate, and our assessment of our risk or exposure in the transaction. We will list the initial Guarantor Monetary Threshold in Exhibit B-1 to the Franchise Agreement before we and you sign it. The Guarantor Monetary Threshold will increase automatically each year of the Franchise Agreement's term, without notice from us, effective on the first day of the calendar month during which the Franchise Agreement's effective date falls, by an amount equal to the CPI Increase. The "CPI Increase" means the amount to be adjusted multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers for All Items, which the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics publishes (the "Base Index") as of the first day of the calendar month during which the increase is to take effect, and the denominator of which is the Base Index in effect on the Franchise Agreement's effective date or used for the most recent increase (whichever is later). If the Base Index is no longer published, we may designate another reasonably comparable index for calculating changes in the cost of living or purchasing power for consumers. Your guarantors must provide us on an annual basis financial statements or other documents that we reasonably specify, which you or the guarantor certify in the manner we specify, demonstrating that at least one guarantor satisfies the Guarantor Monetary Threshold. You and your guarantors must

reasonably cooperate with all auditing and reporting requirements relating to the Guarantor Monetary Threshold.

A “Controlling Ownership Interest” in you or one of your owners (if that owner is a legal entity) means, whether directly or indirectly, either: (a) the record or beneficial ownership of, or right to control, 50% or more of the investment capital, equity, rights to receive profits or losses, or other rights to participate in your or the entity’s results; or (b) the effective control of the power to direct or cause the direction of your or that entity’s management and policies, including a general partnership interest (if the entity is a partnership) and a manager or managing member interest (if the entity is a limited liability company), or the power to appoint or remove any party having these powers. In addition, in the case of (a) or (b), the determination of whether a “Controlling Ownership Interest” exists is made both immediately before and immediately after a proposed transfer.

Item 16

RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL

Under the Franchise Agreement, you must offer all products and provide all services that we periodically authorize for your Hotel (including F&B Operations) in compliance with all applicable laws and according to our quality standards. We may change these products and services at any time, and there is no limit on this right. You may not sell any products or perform any services at the Hotel that we have not authorized. You also must obtain our approval of your relationship with any F&B Operator, including the restaurant concept and the lease terms. The Franchise Agreement contains no restrictions on the customers to whom you may provide goods and services.

If the Hotel is or will be part of a site (whether newly constructed or adapted) that is owned or developed by you, your owner, or your affiliate (“Mixed-Use Site”), which may include, in addition to the Hotel, any residential, retail, restaurant, commercial or public space that is located on the same single, contiguous site as the Hotel but which operates separate from the Hotel (“Non-Hotel Components”), no part or portion of the Mixed-Use Site may be used to operate: (i) a pawnshop, check-cashing business, gentlemen’s club, pornography retailer, or other sexually-oriented business, or (ii) a package liquor store, marijuana dispensary, or gambling business, without our prior written consent, which consent may be granted or withheld in our sole judgment, or (iii) a bar, lounge, club or similar establishment situated within 300 feet of any part of the Hotel’s interior footprint, whose revenues are derived more than 50% from the sale of alcoholic beverages, without our prior written consent, which consent will not be withheld unless we reasonably determine that the establishment might have a material negative impact on guests of the Hotel.

You will establish the Hotel’s room rates if those rates and your pricing policies comply with System Standards (to the maximum extent the law allows). You must comply with our “best ~~price~~rate guarantee” and related policies, as we periodically modify them. You may not charge any guest a rate higher than the rate that the reservations center specifies to the guest at the time

the guest makes the reservation. You may not change the number of guest rooms in the Hotel without our consent.

Item 17

RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER, AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

THE FRANCHISE RELATIONSHIP

This table lists certain important provisions of the franchise and related agreements. You should read these provisions in the agreements attached to this disclosure document.

Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
a. Length of the franchise term	1.2 and 10.2 of Franchise Agreement; 2 of Confidentiality Agreement; 1 of ServiceCentral Services Agreement for Revenue Management Services ; 10 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 1 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement <u>Schedule; Central Sales Program Schedule; Revenue Management Services Program Schedule; GPGS Program Schedule; Digital Ancillary Services Program Schedule</u>	Franchise Agreement's term expires 20 years after Hotel's opening date <u>the 1st day of the month in which the Hotel opens</u> . If you acquire an existing Hyatt PlaceBrand Hotel from a franchisee, the term will be the remaining term on the selling franchisee's agreement. Term extends for period during which Hotel is closed for casualty. Confidentiality Agreement's obligations continue for 5 years or indefinitely for trade secrets. ServiceCentral Services Agreement for Revenue Management Services' terms expire <u>expires</u> upon the Franchise Agreement's termination or expiration. Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement expires when our affiliate's PMS license terminates or Hotel no longer operates under a Hyatt brand. Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement terminates <u>Schedule, Central Sales Program Schedule, Revenue Management Services Program, GPGS Program Schedule, and Digital Ancillary Services Program Schedule each terminate</u> if the Franchise Agreement expires or is terminated and the Hotel no longer operates under a Hyatt brand <u>or the Central Services Agreement expires or is terminated</u> .

Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
b. Renewal or extension of the term	13.1 of Franchise Agreement	If you have substantially complied with Franchise Agreement during term, are then fully complying, meet our then current standards for new franchisees, have received passing quality assurance scores during previous 3 years, and have rights to maintain possession of Hotel for at least 10 years, you may acquire successor franchise for 10 years on then current terms (which may be materially different).
c. Requirements for franchisee to renew or extend	13.1, 13.2 and 13.3 of Franchise Agreement	Under Franchise Agreement, you must renovate, remodel or expand Hotel and FF&E; give us notice; sign then current form of agreement (which may be materially different) and ancillary documents; pay PIP fee; and sign general releases (if state law allows). “Renewal” means signing our then current franchise agreement for the 10-year successor franchise term, which could contain materially different terms (including fees).
d. Termination by franchisee	1 of Service Central Services Agreement for Revenue Management Services ; 10b of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 1.a and 1.c of Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement Schedule ; Central Sales Program Schedule ; Revenue Management Services Program Schedule ; GPGS Program Schedule ; Digital Ancillary Services Program Schedule	You may not terminate the Franchise Agreement or Confidentiality Agreement except as the law allows. You may terminate the Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services with or without cause by providing 90 days’ written notice to us, unless we require you to sign the agreement in connection with signing the Franchise Agreement, in which case you may not terminate without cause during the first 2 years or other period we specify Central Services Agreement upon our material breach if not cured within 10 days following receipt of notice . You may terminate the Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement upon our material breach if not cured within 30 days’ following receipt of notice, and may terminate the

Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
		Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement without cause on 6 months' notice. You may terminate the Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement Schedule, Central Sales Program Schedule, Revenue Management Services Program Schedule, GPGS Program Schedule, or Digital Ancillary Services Program Schedule upon our material breach if not cured within 10 days following receipt of notice, and or you may terminate the Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement without cause for any reason on 90 days' notice, but, if we required you to sign a Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement as a condition to entering into a Franchise Agreement with you under some circumstances, you may not terminate the Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement during the first 2 years of the Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement's term applicable schedule before a certain date we specify.
e. Termination by franchisor without cause	1 of Service Central Services Agreement for Revenue Management Services ; 10a of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 1.a of Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement Schedule; Central Sales Program Schedule; Revenue Management Services Program Schedule; GPGS Program Schedule; Digital Ancillary Services Program Schedule	We may not terminate the Franchise Agreement without cause. We may terminate the Service Central Services Agreement for Revenue Management Services by providing 90 days' written notice to you. We may terminate the Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement for any reason upon 30 days' written notice to you. We may terminate the Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement Schedule, Central Sales Program Schedule, Revenue Management Services Program Schedule, GPGS Program Schedule, or Digital Ancillary Services Program Schedule for any reason upon 90 days' written notice to you.

Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
f. Termination by franchisor with cause	15.1 and 15.2 of Franchise Agreement; 1 of Service Central Services Agreement for Revenue Management Services ; 6c of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 1.e of Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement Schedule ; Central Sales Program Schedule ; Revenue Management Services Program Schedule ; GPGS Program Schedule ; Digital Ancillary Services Program Schedule	We may terminate the Franchise Agreement only if you, your guarantors, or your owners commit any one of several violations. We may terminate Service Agreement for Revenue Management Central Services if you breach your obligations under that Agreement upon your material breach if not cured within 10 days following receipt of notice . We may terminate the Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement upon your material breach if not cured within 30 days following receipt of notice. We may terminate the Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement Schedule , Central Sales Program Schedule , Revenue Management Services Program Schedule , GPGS Program Schedule , or Digital Ancillary Services Program Schedule upon your material breach if not cured within 10 days following receipt of notice.
g. “Cause” defined – curable defaults	15.1 and 15.3 of Franchise Agreement; 1c and 10a of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement	Under Franchise Agreement you have 24 hours to shut down if we determine there is serious threat or danger to public health or safety; 10 days to cure failures to send us real estate documents or evidence of insurance and failures to pay amounts owed to us or our affiliates; 30 days to cure failures to pay taxes, develop Hotel according to deadlines, pay Providers, and comply with related agreements (unless related agreement has shorter cure period) and other defaults not listed in (h) below; and 60 days to cure failure to ensure that at least one guarantor satisfies the Guarantor Monetary Threshold. Upon your default (and after any applicable cure period), we also may suspend your rights to use CRS/GDS/ADS and advertising materials, remove Hotel from advertising publications and

Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
		programs, and/or the Hotel System Website, suspend or terminate fee reductions, and/or refuse to provide support. Under Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement, if any payment is 45 days late, or if you misuse the PMS or related services or upon government authority request, we may suspend services.
h. “Cause” defined – non-curable defaults	15.2 of Franchise Agreement	Bankruptcy-related events, failing to discharge judgments exceeding \$100,000, you stop operating Hotel or identifying Hotel with Proprietary Marks or lose possession, you or affiliate contests ownership of or tries to register our intellectual property, unauthorized transfer, conviction of felony, committing action or other offense likely to reflect adversely on us or the Proprietary Marks, knowingly maintaining false books or submitting false reports, unauthorized use or disclosure of Confidential Information, violation of law (including trade restriction laws), and repeated defaults.
i. Franchisee’s obligations on termination/non-renewal	16 of Franchise Agreement; 7 and 10 of Service 1 of Central Services Agreement for Revenue Management Services ; 10d of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 1 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement Schedule ; Central Sales Program Schedule ; Revenue Management Services Program Schedule ; GPGS Program Schedule ; Digital Ancillary Services Program Schedule	Return confidential materials, de-identify Hotel, stop uses of Hotel System with F&B Operations, change telephone listing, stop references to association with us, stop using the Hotel website and the domain name, cancel assumed name registrations, allow inspections, pay amounts owed, allow us to contact customers, pay liquidated damages and stop using services.

Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
j. Assignment of contract by franchisor	12.10 of Franchise Agreement; 13 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 12 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In <u>13 of Central Services Agreement</u>	We may transfer and change ownership or form without restriction. We have no further obligations after transfer.
k. "Transfer" by franchisee-defined	12.2 of Franchise Agreement	Includes transfer of any interest in Franchise Agreement, the Hotel or substantially all of its assets, or you or your owners.
l. Franchisor approval of transfer by franchisee	12.2 to 12.5 of Franchise Agreement; 12 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 13 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In <u>Central Services Agreement</u>	No transfers of Franchise Agreement, the Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement, the Field Marketing Program Opt-In <u>Central Services Agreement</u> , the Hotel or its assets, or Controlling Ownership Interests without our approval. However, you may mortgage hotel to lender and your owners may transfer ownership interests for estate planning purposes. Your <u>Under the Franchise Agreement, your</u> owners may transfer non-Controlling Ownership Interests without our approval if transferee and its owners (other than a small interest public owner) are not <u>Competing</u> Brand Owners or sanctioned persons, you remain in compliance with laws, the transfer does not through one or a series of transactions transfer or create a Controlling Ownership Interest, and you notify us within 30 days after transfer.
m. Conditions for franchisor approval of transfer	12.4 and 12.7 of Franchise Agreement; 8(e) of Confidentiality Agreement; 14 of Service <u>13 of Central Services Agreement</u> for Revenue Management Services	Under Franchise Agreement, transferee and owners qualify, you pay transfer fee and other amounts owed and have complied with Franchise Agreement, transferee's personnel complete training, at our option, either transferee and owners sign then current franchise agreement and related documents (which may be materially different), or the agreements and related documents

Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
		that we specify under which they assume all of your rights and obligations under the Franchise Agreement, you and your guarantors sign termination and release (if state law allows), transferee agrees to renovate, remodel or expand Hotel and FF&E, we determine capital structure, debt service and overall financial status after transfer will not adversely affect Hotel's operation, you remain liable, and you stop associating with us. Neither you nor your Controlling Owner may conduct a public offering. We may review and comment on offering materials for private offerings. Confidentiality Agreement is not transferable. Service Central Services Agreement for Revenue Management Services is transferable only with simultaneous transfer of Franchise Agreement to an affiliate.
n. Franchisor's right of first refusal to acquire franchisee's business	1.5 and Exhibit C of Franchise Agreement	We only have right of first offer on transfers of the Hotel or a Controlling Ownership Interest in you if we and you sign Exhibit C. We will require Exhibit C only for certain markets that we determine are strategic to us.
o. Franchisor's option to purchase franchisee's business	Not applicable	Not applicable.
p. Death or disability of franchisee	12.7 of Franchise Agreement	Upon death or incompetence of owner of a Controlling Ownership Interest in you or your controlling owner, representative must transfer to approved transferee within 6 months.
q. Non-competition covenants during the term of the franchise	4.2, 4.10 and 4.11 of Franchise Agreement	No covenant not to compete, but neither you nor Hotel management company may be a Competing Brand Owner.
r. Non-competition covenants after the	Not applicable	Not applicable

Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
franchise is terminated or expires		
s. Modification of the agreement	18.5 of Franchise Agreement; 12 of Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services ; 15 of Central Services Agreement ; 16 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 15 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement	Only writing signed by duly-authorized officers may modify agreement, but we may change Hotel System, System Standards, and System Services, <u>and services (and related prices) provided under the schedules to the Central Services Agreement.</u>
t. Integration/ merger clause	18.5 of Franchise Agreement; 8(f) of Confidentiality Agreement; 12 of Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services ; 16 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 14 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In Central Services Agreement	Only terms of Franchise Agreement, Confidentiality Agreement and Service Central Services Agreement for Revenue Management Services are binding (subject to state law). Any representations or promises made outside of the disclosure document and those agreements may not be enforceable.
u. Dispute resolution by arbitration or mediation	14.1 of Franchise Agreement; 12 of Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services ; 16 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 11 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In Central Services Agreement	We and you must arbitrate all disputes at a location the arbitrator chooses within 10 miles of our then current principal business address (currently Chicago, Illinois).
v. Choice of forum	14.3 of Franchise Agreement; 12 of Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services ; 16 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 11 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In Central Services Agreement	Subject to arbitration obligation and state law, litigation generally must be in our home state (currently Illinois).

Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
w. Choice of law	14.2 of Franchise Agreement; 8C of Confidentiality Agreement; 12 of Service Agreement for Revenue Management Services ; 16 of Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement; 11 of Field Marketing Program Opt-In <u>Central Services</u> Agreement	Except for Federal Arbitration Act and other federal law, and subject to state law, Illinois law applies.

Item 18

PUBLIC FIGURES

We do not use any public figure to promote our franchise.

Item 19

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS

The FTC’s Franchise Rule permits a franchisor to provide information about the actual or potential financial performance of its franchised and/or franchisor-owned outlets, if there is a reasonable basis for the information, and if the information is included in the disclosure document. Financial performance information that differs from that included in Item 19 may be given only if: (1) a franchisor provides the actual records of an existing outlet you are considering buying; or (2) a franchisor supplements the information provided in this Item 19, for example, by providing information about possible performance at a particular location under particular circumstances.

Characteristics of Covered Hotels and Urban Hotels

As of December 31, ~~2023~~2024, there were ~~350 Hyatt Place~~352 Brand Hotels operating in North America, which we define as the U.S. and Canada. ~~339~~348 of these ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels (the “Covered Hotels”) operated during all of ~~2023~~2024 while the other ~~114~~ opened during ~~2023~~2024. No ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels were excluded from the group of Covered Hotels because they closed during ~~2023~~2024. All of the financial performance representations (“FPRs”) in this Item 19 relate to the results during the period from January 1, ~~2023~~2024 through December 31, ~~2023~~2024 for the ~~339~~348 Covered Hotels or a defined subset of the Covered Hotels. When we use the term “Gross Rooms Revenue” in this Item 19, it has the definition listed in Item 6.

The Covered Hotels are similar in size and services offered to the ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels that we expect franchisees will develop. The Covered Hotels operate in a mix of urban and

suburban sites. The Covered Hotels had operated under the “Hyatt Place” name for an average of ~~10.3~~10.8 years as of December 31, ~~2023~~2024. Some of the Covered Hotels converted from another brand and system to the “Hyatt Place” name and therefore had an existing marketing and customer base before converting to the “Hyatt Place” name. The average number of rooms at the Covered Hotels is ~~140~~139, with 520 as the highest room count and 79 as the lowest room count. The Covered Hotels operate throughout the United States and Canada and are generally not concentrated in specific regions or markets. During ~~2023, 77.3~~2024, approximately 78.8% of the reservations at the Covered Hotels were for 1 to 4 nights, ~~16.6~~approximately 15.8% were for 5 to 11 nights, ~~3.8~~approximately 3.3% were for 12 to 29 nights, and approximately 2.4% were for 30 or more nights.

We classify the Covered Hotels as Franchised Covered Hotels and Owned/Managed Covered Hotels. “Franchised Covered Hotels” are the ~~314~~323 Covered Hotels that franchisees own and operate. Some of these Franchised Covered Hotels might be joint ventures in which our affiliate owns less than 50% of the ownership interest. “Owned/Managed Covered Hotels” are the 25 Covered Hotels in which our affiliate owns at least a 50% interest or that our affiliate manages for a third party. The results of operations for Owned/Managed Covered Hotels that we manage for third parties are not materially different from the results of operations of other similarly situated Owned/Managed Covered Hotels.

These FPRs also contain information on Urban Hotels. We classify ~~84~~77 of the Covered Hotels as “Urban Hotels” because they operate in a densely populated part of a large metropolitan area. ~~64~~ of the Urban Hotels (the “Owned/Managed Urban Hotels”) are Owned/Managed Covered Hotels, and the other ~~78~~73 (the “Franchised Urban Hotels”) are Franchised Covered Hotels. The Urban Hotels have operated under the “Hyatt Place” name for an average of ~~7.5~~8.2 years. Some of the Urban Hotels converted from another brand and system to the “Hyatt Place” name and therefore had an existing marketing and customer base before converting to the “Hyatt Place” name. The average number of rooms at the Urban Hotels is 168 with 520 as the highest room count and 91 as the lowest room count.

First FPR: Hyatt Statistics for Occupancy Rate, Average Daily Rate and RevPAR

“Occupancy Rate” is the total number of room nights sold for a hotel during ~~2023~~2024 divided by the total number of available room nights for that hotel during ~~2023~~2024. To calculate the average Occupancy Rate for all Covered Hotels (or a subgroup of Covered Hotels), we divided the total number of room nights sold for all Covered Hotels (or that subgroup) by the total number of available room nights for those hotels.

“Average Daily Rate” is the Gross Rooms Revenue for a hotel during ~~2023~~2024 divided by the total number of room nights sold for that hotel during ~~2023~~2024. To calculate the Average Daily Rate for all Covered Hotels (or a subgroup of Covered Hotels), we divided the aggregate Gross Rooms Revenue for the Covered Hotels (or that subgroup) by the total number of room nights sold for those hotels.

“RevPAR,” or revenue per available room, is the Gross Rooms Revenue for a hotel during ~~2023~~2024 divided by the total number of available room nights for that hotel during ~~2023~~2024. To calculate the RevPAR for all Covered Hotels (or a subgroup of Covered Hotels), we divided the aggregate Gross Rooms Revenue for the Covered Hotels (or that subgroup) by the total number of available room nights for those hotels.

Occupancy Rate, Average Daily Rate and RevPAR for ~~2023~~2024

	#	Average Occupancy Rate	Average Daily Rate	Average RevPAR
Franchised Covered Hotels	314 <u>323</u>	71.7 <u>72.0</u> %	\$157.86 <u>158.98</u>	\$112.12 <u>114.45</u>
Owned/Managed Covered Hotels	25	67.9 <u>66.7</u> %	\$149.19 <u>148.73</u>	\$101.31 <u>99.22</u>
All Covered Hotels	339 <u>348</u>	70.8 <u>71.6</u> %	\$157.25 <u>158.30</u>	\$111.33 <u>113.37</u>
Franchised Urban Hotels	78 <u>73</u>	72.5 <u>74.5</u> %	\$190.65 <u>191.32</u>	\$138.17 <u>142.47</u>
Owned/Managed Urban Hotels	64	69.5 <u>73.1</u> %	\$201.37 <u>223.55</u>	\$139.99 <u>163.48</u>
All Urban Hotels	84 <u>77</u>	72.3 <u>74.4</u> %	\$191.43 <u>193.16</u>	\$138.31 <u>143.69</u>

The table below reflects the highest, lowest and median Average Occupancy Rate, Average Daily Rate and Average RevPAR of the Covered Hotels or Urban Hotels, and the number and percentage of Covered Hotels or Urban Hotels whose results exceeded the averages in the table above.

Statistics for Occupancy Rate, Average Daily Rate and RevPAR for ~~2023~~2024

	Occupancy Rate			Average Daily Rate			RevPAR		
	High / Low	Median	#/% Exceeding Average	High / Low	Median	#/% Exceeding Average	High / Low	Median	#/% Exceeding Average
Franchised Covered Hotels	95.6 <u>96.</u> 4%/ 21.3% <u>28.9%</u>	71.9 <u>72.</u> <u>2%</u>	167-164/ 53.2 <u>50.8%</u>	\$283.95 280.89/\$ 69.64 <u>68.</u> <u>79</u>	\$139.74 <u>140.95</u>	102-109/ 32.5 <u>33.7%</u>	\$246.74 259.58/\$ 23.75 <u>43.</u> <u>29</u>	\$101.03 <u>101.75</u>	118-117/ 37.6 <u>36.2%</u>
Owned/Managed Covered Hotels	86.6 <u>88.</u> 2%/ 50.0% <u>52.3%</u>	66.1 <u>62.</u> <u>8%</u>	11-10/ 44 <u>40%</u>	\$276.34 277.39/\$ 106.15 <u>99</u> <u>.67</u>	\$125.16 <u>126.48</u>	8-7/-32 <u>28%</u>	\$220.55 228.59/\$ 54.81 <u>55.</u> <u>09</u>	\$82.05 <u>7.</u> <u>7.47</u>	6-7/-24 <u>28%</u>
All Covered Hotels	95.6 <u>96.</u> 4%/ 21.3% <u>28.9%</u>	71.6 <u>71.</u> <u>3%</u>	178-174/ 52.5 <u>50%</u>	\$283.95 280.89/\$ 69.64 <u>68.</u> <u>79</u>	\$139.15 <u>139.39</u>	107-114/ 31.6 <u>32.8%</u>	\$246.74 259.58/\$ 23.75 <u>43.</u> <u>29</u>	\$99.55 <u>9.</u> <u>9.85</u>	129-123/ 38.1 <u>35.3%</u>
Franchised Urban Hotels	95.6 <u>96.</u> 4%/ 35.0% <u>51.5%</u>	72.4%	38-32/ 48.7 <u>43.8%</u>	\$269.14 270.78/\$ 101.60 <u>10</u> <u>2.51</u>	\$173.99 <u>173.44</u>	28-24/ 35.9 <u>32.9%</u>	\$246.74 259.58/\$ 56.50 <u>55.</u> <u>34</u>	\$119.36 <u>121.47</u>	30-24/ 38.5 <u>32.9%</u>
Owned/Managed Urban Hotels	79.8 <u>82.</u> 4%/ 60.7% <u>59.9%</u>	66.9 <u>70.</u> <u>7%</u>	2-1/ 33.3 <u>25%</u>	\$276.34 277.39/\$ 123.98 <u>15</u> <u>1.75</u>	\$175.07 <u>192.43</u>	1/-16.7 <u>25%</u>	\$220.55 228.59/\$ 81.61 <u>107</u> <u>.48</u>	\$110.59 <u>125.71</u>	2-1/ 33.3 <u>25%</u>
All Urban Hotels	95.6 <u>96.</u> 4%/ 35.0% <u>51.5%</u>	72.3 <u>72.</u> <u>2%</u>	43-33/ 51.2 <u>42.9%</u>	\$276.34 277.39/\$ 101.60 <u>10</u> <u>2.51</u>	\$173.99 <u>175.63</u>	30-24/ 35.7 <u>31.2%</u>	\$246.74 259.58/\$ 56.50 <u>55.</u> <u>34</u>	\$118.95 <u>121.47</u>	32-25/ 38.1 <u>32.5%</u>

Second FPR: Market Share/Smith Travel Indices

Smith Travel Research, Inc. (“Smith Travel”) is an independent research company that compiles and analyzes data in the lodging and travel industries. Most major hotels, including ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels, report information to Smith Travel that it uses in its analysis and reporting. First, Smith Travel determines a hotel’s market area using Metropolitan Statistical Areas (“MSAs”), a group of MSAs or a group of counties. Then Smith Travel and the reporting hotel determine the competitive set for each reporting hotel based on a number of competitive characteristics, including room count, services and amenities offered, and pricing. Smith Travel then attempts to ensure some variation among the brands included in the competitive set. Smith Travel excludes from the competitive set some hotels that do not report information, and in some cases excludes hotels (some of which are ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels) that do report information. While Smith Travel does not fully explain the reasons for its decision to exclude reporting hotels, typically Smith Travel will exclude hotels that are open less than one full year, hotels that do not have at least 3 other hotels in the competitive set in the market area, market areas where a single

brand exceeds 40% of the competitive set, and market areas where a single hotel company's hotels comprise more than 60% of the competitive set.

Among the data that Smith Travel reports are indices that represent a particular hotel's performance relative to its competitive set. These indices reflect Smith Travel's calculation of the "fair share" of the particular metric that each hotel captures relative to the competitive set. An index of 100 means a hotel is capturing a fair share compared to the competitive set. An index greater than 100 represents more than a fair share of the competitive set's performance, and an index below 100 reflects less than a fair share of the competitive set's performance. In calculating its indices, Smith Travel uses a portfolio weighting system to adjust the particular hotel's number of available rooms to the competitive set's number of available rooms.

Smith Travel compiled the information on the Covered Hotels that we use for this second FPR. "Occupancy Rate Index," "Rate Index" and "RevPAR Index" for a hotel mean, respectively, the hotel's Occupancy Rate, Average Daily Rate or RevPAR (as applicable) divided by the Occupancy Rate, Average Daily Rate or RevPAR (as applicable) for all hotels in the competitive set, multiplied by 100. Smith Travel calculated the average Occupancy Rate Index, average Rate Index and average RevPAR Index for all Covered Hotels during ~~2023~~2024 using the same methodology that we used for calculating average Occupancy Rate, Average Daily Rate, and average RevPAR that we described above.

Smith Travel Occupancy Rate Index, Travel Rate Index, and RevPAR Index for ~~2023~~2024

	#	Average Occupancy Rate Index	Average Travel Rate Index	Average RevPAR Index
Franchised Covered Hotels	314 <u>323</u>	104.1 <u>105.0</u>	101.3 <u>100.6</u>	106.0 <u>106.1</u>
Owned/Managed Covered Hotels	25	98.3 <u>96.7</u>	101.0 <u>100.4</u>	99.7 <u>97.5</u>
All Covered Hotels	339 <u>348</u>	103.7 <u>104.4</u>	101.3 <u>100.5</u>	105.6 <u>105.4</u>
Franchised Urban Hotels	78 <u>73</u>	104.1 <u>105.1</u>	101.5 <u>100.0</u>	106.0 <u>105.3</u>
Owned/Managed Urban Hotels	64	101.8 <u>103.3</u>	104.9 <u>103.6</u>	106.9 <u>107.3</u>
All Urban Hotels	84 <u>77</u>	104.0 <u>105.0</u>	101.7 <u>100.2</u>	106.1 <u>105.4</u>

The table below reflects the highest, lowest and median Smith Travel Occupancy Rate Index, Travel Rate Index and RevPAR Index of the Covered Hotels or Urban Hotels, and the number and percentage of Covered Hotels or Urban Hotels whose results exceeded the averages in the table above.

**Statistics for Smith Travel Occupancy Rate Index, Travel Rate Index and RevPAR Index
for ~~2023~~2024**

	Occupancy Rate Index				Travel Rate Index				RevPAR Index		
	High / Low	Median	#/% Exceeding Average		High / Low	Median	#/% Exceeding Average		High / Low	Median	#/% Exceeding Average
Franchised Covered Hotels	151.2 <u>150.5</u> / 46.6 <u>50.6</u>	104.0 <u>10</u> <u>4.9</u>	155-161 / <u>49.4</u> <u>49.8</u> %		160.0 <u>158.4</u> / 72.1 <u>74</u> <u>.5</u>	100.0 <u>99</u> <u>.2</u>	139-145 / <u>44.3</u> <u>44.9</u> %		214.6 <u>214.8</u> / 43.5 <u>51</u> <u>.2</u>	104.9 <u>10</u> <u>3.4</u>	146-152 / <u>46.5</u> <u>47.1</u> %
Owned/Managed Covered Hotels	131.8 <u>122.8</u> / 76.3 <u>78.2</u>	96.7 <u>95</u> <u>1</u>	11-10 / <u>44</u> <u>40</u> %		122.4 <u>138.3</u> / 85.2 <u>79</u> <u>.0</u>	99.0 <u>99</u> <u>1</u>	9-11 / <u>36</u> <u>44</u> %		142.2 <u>142.9</u> / 80.1 <u>70</u> <u>.3</u>	92.8 <u>95</u> <u>6</u>	9-10 / <u>36</u> <u>40</u> %
All Covered Hotels	151.2 <u>150.5</u> / 46.6 <u>50.6</u>	103.2 <u>10</u> <u>4.0</u>	163-171 / <u>48.1</u> <u>49.1</u> %		160.0 <u>158.4</u> / 72.1 <u>74</u> <u>.5</u>	100.0 <u>99</u> <u>.2</u>	148-156 / <u>43.7</u> <u>44.8</u> %		214.6 <u>214.8</u> / 43.5 <u>51</u> <u>.2</u>	104.4 <u>10</u> <u>2.3</u>	157-162 / <u>46.3</u> <u>46.6</u> %
Franchised Urban Hotels	134.6 <u>145.6</u> / 73.8 <u>71.8</u>	103.7 <u>10</u> <u>5.5</u>	37/ 47.4 <u>50.7</u> %		127.6 <u>121.8</u> / 72.1 <u>74</u> <u>.5</u>	100.7 <u>98</u> <u>.8</u>	36-32 / <u>46.2</u> <u>43.8</u> %		160.6 <u>153.2</u> / 53.9 <u>53</u> <u>.5</u>	104.3 <u>10</u> <u>1.7</u>	36-34 / <u>46.2</u> <u>46.6</u> %
Owned/Managed Urban Hotels	111.9 <u>109.8</u> / 93.7 <u>90.9</u>	100.7 <u>10</u> <u>6.2</u>	2-3 / <u>33.3</u> <u>75</u> %		110.2 <u>108.6</u> / 98.8 <u>99</u> <u>.1</u>	106.0 <u>10</u> <u>3.4</u>	3-2 /50%		120.8 <u>119.3</u> / 92.8 <u>90</u> <u>.1</u>	109.8 <u>10</u> <u>9.9</u>	4-3 / <u>66.7</u> <u>75</u> %
All Urban Hotels	134.6 <u>145.6</u> / 73.8 <u>71.8</u>	103.3 <u>10</u> <u>5.5</u>	41-39 / <u>48.8</u> <u>50.6</u> %		127.6 <u>121.8</u> / 72.1 <u>74</u> <u>.5</u>	100.8 <u>99</u> <u>.5</u>	39-35 / <u>46.4</u> <u>45.5</u> %		160.6 <u>153.2</u> / 53.9 <u>53</u> <u>.5</u>	104.9 <u>10</u> <u>2.1</u>	38-36 / <u>45.2</u> <u>46.8</u> %

Smith Travel developed the methodologies, collected the information and calculated the indices referenced in these financial performance representations. We did not do so. We developed the explanations of how Smith Travel collects information and calculates indices based on publicly-available information and our conversations with Smith Travel's representatives, but we cannot confirm whether Smith Travel's information or methodology is accurate. We are relying on Smith Travel in reporting this information.

Third FPR: World of Hyatt Program Contribution

World of Hyatt is the frequent guest loyalty program that Hyatt Corporation maintains. It covers all Hyatt Network Hotels.

This third FPR covers the average revenue that Covered Hotels (or a subset of Covered Hotels) received from World of Hyatt members during ~~2023~~2024 and the average percentage and

number of room nights that World of Hyatt members occupied at Covered Hotels (or a subset of Covered Hotels) during ~~2023~~2024.

World of Hyatt Revenue, Occupancy Percentage and Occupied Room Nights for ~~2023~~2024

	#	Average % Revenue from WOH	Average % WOH- Occupied Room Nights	Average # WOH- Occupied Room Nights
Franchised Covered Hotels	314 <u>323</u>	49.1 <u>50.7</u> %	40.4 <u>42.0</u> %	14,653 <u>15,267</u>
Owned/Managed Covered Hotels	25	52.4 <u>55.0</u> %	45.3 <u>47.9</u> %	15,539 <u>16,170</u>
All Covered Hotels	339 <u>348</u>	49.3 <u>51.0</u> %	40.8 <u>42.4</u> %	14,719 <u>15,331</u>
Franchised Urban Hotels	78 <u>73</u>	46.2 <u>48.9</u> %	38.4 <u>40.5</u> %	17,014 <u>18,237</u>
Owned/Managed Urban Hotels	64	56.4 <u>56.9</u> %	50.3 <u>51.7</u> %	22,777 <u>26,063</u>
All Urban Hotels	84 <u>77</u>	47.0 <u>49.4</u> %	39.3 <u>41.1</u> %	17,426 <u>18,639</u>

The table below reflects the highest, lowest and median revenue from World of Hyatt members and percentage and number of room nights that World of Hyatt members occupied at Covered Hotels or Urban Hotels, and the number and percentage of Covered Hotels or Urban Hotels whose results exceeded the averages in the table above.

**Statistics for World of Hyatt Revenue, Occupancy Percentage and Occupied Room Nights
for ~~2023~~2024**

	% Revenue from WOH			% WOH-Occupied Room Nights			# WOH-Occupied Room Nights		
	High / Low	Median	#/% Exceeding Average	High / Low	Median	#/% Exceeding Average	High / Low	Median	#/% Exceeding Average
Franchised Covered Hotels	78.5 75.7 %/ 22.4 23.5%	51.5 52	183-185 / 58.3 57.3%	68.7 66 8%/ 16.7 18.3%	41.7 42 9%	174-180 / 55.4 55.7%	49,171 69,533 / 4,396 20 6	13,836 1 4,439	134-142 / 42.7 44%
Owned/Managed Covered Hotels	66.9 70.2 %/ 36.7 38.7%	54.6 55 1%	14-13 / 56 52%	60.7 62 7%/ 30.0 31.8%	46.5 48 9%	14/56%	43,957 7 9,428 46 7,431 10 267	13,748 1 5,227	9-11 / 36 44%
All Covered Hotels	78.5 75.7 %/ 22.4 23.5%	51.5 52 8%	194 199/57.2%	68.7 66 8%/ 16.7 18.3%	41.8 43 4%	185-192 / 54.6 55.2%	49,171 69,533 / 4,396 20 6	13,807 1 4,471	141-154 / 41.6 44.3%
Franchised Urban Hotels	72.1 69.9 %/ 23.3 24.1%	51.0 52 4%	50-48 / 64.1 65.8%	57.3 65 4%/ 19.1 18.6%	40.5 41 7%	49-44 / 62.8 60.3%	49,171 69,533 / 7,218 1 639	15,279 1 5,971	29-25 / 37.2 34.2%
Owned/Managed Urban Hotels	66.9 69.9 %/ 46.8 48.3%	57.9 59 9%	3-2 /50%	60.7 62 7%/ 37.2 38.8%	52.2 54 4%	4-3 / 66.7 75%	43,957 7 16,930 4 6,743 1 7,525	19,051 1 9,991	1/ 16.7 25%
All Urban Hotels	72.1 69.9 %/ 23.3 24.1%	51.3 52 9%	53-49 / 63.1 63.6%	60.7 65 4%/ 19.1 18.6%	40.8 41 9%	49-44 / 58.3 57.1%	49,171 69,533 / 7,218 1 639	15,834 1 6,055	31-28 / 36.9 36.4%

Additional Information: Reservation Channel Mix

~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotels receive reservations from a number of different sources or “reservation channels.” The table below describes average split of Gross Rooms Revenue for

Covered Hotels (or a subset of Covered Hotels) during ~~2023~~2024 from Direct Channels and Indirect Channels, as we define these terms below.

	#	Direct Channel Contribution	Indirect Channel Contribution
Franchised Covered Hotels	314 323	59.8 60.2%	40.2 39.8%
Owned/Managed Covered Hotels	25	60.6 60.8%	39.4 39.2%
All Covered Hotels	339 348	59.9 60.3%	40.1 39.7%
Franchised Urban Hotels	78 73	54.8 55.6%	45.2 44.4%
Owned/Managed Urban Hotels	6 4	59.9 58.3%	40.1 41.7%
All Urban Hotels	84 77	55.2 55.8%	44.8 44.2%

The “Direct Channels” consist of:

- the electronic rooming list, which are reservations originating from the Hyatt Group’s proprietary group rooming list software tool;
- GPGS, which are reservations made through the global property and guest services centers that the Hyatt Group operates. These centers field voice calls routed from Hyatt Network Hotels and from the Hyatt Group’s toll-free reservations phone number; and
- Hyatt.com, which are reservations originating from the reservation tools on the Hotel System Website and any Hyatt-branded website or mobile app (such as the World of Hyatt app).

The “Indirect Channels” consist of:

- GDS, which are reservations originating from the global distribution system that travel agencies use, including business that our affiliate’s group sales/national accounts teams negotiate; and
- Indirect Internet, which are reservations originating from third-party online travel agencies (as we determine them) with whom the Hyatt Group has a distribution agreement.

Comments to All Financial Performance Representations

Prospective franchisees and sellers of franchises should be advised that no certified public accountant has audited any of the figures in these financial performance representations nor expressed their opinion concerning their contents or form. We will provide written substantiation for all of these financial performance representations upon your reasonable request. Except for the Smith Travel figures, we derived these figures based on our and our affiliates’ internal unaudited financial information, and no third party has independently investigated the figures.

The figures contained in these financial performance representations do not reflect the costs of sales, operating expenses, or other costs or expenses that must be deducted from the revenue figures to obtain net income or profit. You should conduct an independent investigation of the costs and expenses you will incur in operating a ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel. Franchisees or former franchisees, listed in this disclosure document, may be one source of this information.

Your results will depend on many factors, including the size, age and condition of your Hotel; the services and amenities your Hotel offers; the quality of the service at the Hotel; the market for lodging in your Hotel's area, including whether the Hotel is near an airport, vacation destination, central business district or other features that attract travelers; general economic conditions; relationships with other businesses near the Hotel; competition; seasonality and weather; pricing; and your sales and marketing effectiveness. These and other factors will significantly impact the results that a ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotel can expect to achieve.

Some hotels have sold or earned this amount. Your individual results may differ. There is no assurance that you'll sell or earn as much.

Other than the preceding financial performance representations, we do not make any financial performance representations. We also do not authorize our employees or representatives to make any such representations either orally or in writing. If you are purchasing an existing outlet, however, we may provide you with the actual records of that outlet. If you receive any other financial performance information or projections of your future income, you should report it to the franchisor's management by contacting ~~Jim Chu~~[Dan Hansen](#), our ~~Chief Growth Officer~~[Head of Americas Development](#), at 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606, (312) 750-1234, the Federal Trade Commission, and the appropriate state regulatory agencies.

Item 20

OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION

All numbers appearing in the tables below are as of December 31 in each year. We include both ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels that our affiliates own and operate, and ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels that our affiliates manage for third-party owners under management agreements, as "company-owned" ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels. We count ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels in which our affiliates have at least a 50% equity interest in the hotel's ownership entity as "company-owned" hotels that our affiliates own and operate for purposes of the tables (regardless of the type of agreement governing the hotel's operation). Our affiliates owned and operated ~~4 Hyatt Place Hotels as of December 31, 2021, 3 Hyatt Place~~[3 Brand](#) Hotels as of December 31, 2022, ~~and 3 Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels as of December 31, 2023, ~~and 3 Brand Hotels as of December 31, 2024~~. Our affiliates manage the remaining "company-owned" ~~Hyatt Place~~[Brand](#) Hotels for third-party owners.

Table No. 1

Systemwide Outlet Summary
For years ~~2021~~2022 to ~~2023~~2024

Column 1 Outlet Type	Column 2 Year	Column 3 Outlets at the Start of the Year	Column 4 Outlets at the End of the Year	Column 5 Net Change
Franchised	2021	292	309	+17
<u>Franchised</u>	2022	309	309	0
	2023	309	317	+8
Company- Owned	2021 2024	30 317	23 318	-7 +1
<u>Company- Owned</u>	2022	23	24	+1
	2023	24	24	0
Total Outlets	2021 2024	322 24	332 24	+10 0
<u>Total Outlets</u>	2022	332	333	+1
	2023	333	341	+8
	<u>2024</u>	<u>341</u>	<u>342</u>	<u>+1</u>

Table No. 2

Transfers of Outlets from Franchisees to New Owners (other than the Franchisor)
For years ~~2021~~2022 to ~~2023~~2024

Column 1 State	Column 2 Year	Column 3 Number of Transfers
Alabama	2021	0
<u>Alabama</u>	2022	1
	2023	0
Arizona	2021 2024	0
<u>Arizona</u>	2022	2
	2023	0

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3
State	Year	Number of Transfers
Arkansas	2021 2024	0
Arkansas	2022	0
	2023	1
California	2021 2024	0 1
California	2022	2
	2023	0
Colorado	2021 2024	1
	2022	0
	2023	0
Florida	2021	0
Florida	2022	3
	2023	4
Georgia	2021 2024	0 2
Georgia	2022	1
	2023	0
Illinois	2021 2024	0 2
Illinois	2022	1
	2023	3
Indiana	2021 2024	0 1
Indiana	2022	1
	2023	0
Kansas	2021 2024	0 2
Kansas	2022	2
	2023	0
Kentucky	2021 2024	0
Kentucky	2022	0
	2023	1

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3
State	Year	Number of Transfers
Maryland	2021 2024	0
Maryland	2022	0
	2023	2
Massachusetts	2021	1
	2022 2024	0
	2023	0
Michigan	2021	0
Michigan	2022	1
	2023	1
New Jersey	2021 2024	0
Nevada	2022	0
	2023	1 0
New York	2021 2024	1
New Jersey	2022	0
	2023	0 1
North Carolina	2021 2024	0 1
North Carolina	2022	2
	2023	0
Oklahoma	2021 2024	0
Oklahoma	2022	1
	2023	0
	2024	0
Pennsylvania	2022	0
	2023	0
South Carolina	2021 2024	1 2
South Carolina	2022	2
	2023	0

Column 1 State	Column 2 Year	Column 3 Number of Transfers
	<u>2024</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>Tennessee</u>	<u>2022</u>	<u>0</u>
	2023	0
Texas	2021 <u>2024</u>	5 <u>1</u>
<u>Texas</u>	2022	6
	2023	1
Utah	2021 <u>2024</u>	0 <u>3</u>
<u>Utah</u>	2022	1
	2023	0
Virginia	2021 <u>2024</u>	1
<u>Virginia</u>	2022	1
	2023	0
Total	2021 <u>2024</u>	10 <u>0</u>
<u>Total</u>	2022	27
	2023	14
	<u>2024</u>	<u>19</u>

Note: Franchisees sometimes restructure their organizations and assign franchise agreements from one company to another within the same ownership group. We do not consider these restructuring transactions to be “transfers” because the ultimate ownership and control group does not change.

~~{Table 3 begins on following page}~~

Table No. 3

Status of Franchised Outlets
For years ~~2021~~2022 to ~~2023~~2024

Col. 1	Col. 2	Col. 3	Col. 4	Col. 5	Col. 6	Col. 7	Col. 8	Col. 9
State	Year	Outlets at Start of Year	Outlets Opened	Terminations	Non-Renewals	Reacquired by Franchisor	Ceased Operations Other Reasons	Outlets at End of the Year
Alabama	2021	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
Alabama	2022	3	0	1	0	0	0	2
	2023	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
Alaska	2021 2024	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
Alaska	2022	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2023	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
Arizona	2021 2024	82	20	0	0	0	0	102
Arizona	2022	10	0	0	0	0	0	10
	2023	10	1	0	0	0	0	11
Arkansas	2021 2024	11	10	0	0	0	0	211
Arkansas	2022	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2023	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
California	2021 2024	192	30	0	0	0	0	222
California	2022	22	0	0	0	0	0	22
	2023	22	3	0	0	0	0	25
Colorado	2021 2024	925	10	0	0	0	0	1025
Colorado	2022	10	0	0	0	0	0	10
	2023	10	0	0	0	0	0	10
Connecticut	2021 2024	310	0	0	0	0	0	310
Connecticut	2022	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
	2023	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
Delaware	2021 2024	23	0	0	0	0	0	23

Col. 1 State	Col. 2 Year	Col. 3 Outlets at Start of Year	Col. 4 Outlets Opened	Col. 5 Terminations	Col. 6 Non- Renewals	Col. 7 Reacquired by Franchisor	Col. 8 Ceased Operations Other Reasons	Col. 9 Outlets at End of the Year
Delaware	2022	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2023	2	1	0	0	0	0	3
District of Columbia	2021 2024	4 3	0	0	0	0	0	4 3
District of Columbia	2022	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
	2023	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
Florida	2021 2024	28 4	1 0	0	0	0	0	29 4
Florida	2022	29	1	0	0	0	0	30
	2023	30	2	0	0	0	0	32
Georgia	2021 2024	11 32	0	0	0	0	0	11 32
Georgia	2022	11	0	0	0	0	0	11
	2023	11	0	0	0	0	0	11
Hawaii	2021 2024	1 11	0	0	0	0	0	1 11
Hawaii	2022	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Idaho	2021 2024	2 1	0	0	0	0	0	2 1
Idaho	2022	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2023	2	1	0	0	0	0	3
Illinois	2021 2024	15 3	1 0	0	0	0	0	16 3
Illinois	2022	16	0	0	0	0	0	16
	2023	16	0	0	0	0	0	16
Indiana	2021 2024	6 16	1 0	0	0	0	0	7 16
Indiana	2022	7	1	1	0	0	0	7
	2023	7	0	0	0	0	0	7
Iowa	2021 2024	4 7	0 1	0	0	0	0	4 8
Iowa	2022	4	0	0	0	0	0	4

Col. 1 State	Col. 2 Year	Col. 3 Outlets at Start of Year	Col. 4 Outlets Opened	Col. 5 Terminations	Col. 6 Non- Renewals	Col. 7 Reacquired by Franchisor	Col. 8 Ceased Operations Other Reasons	Col. 9 Outlets at End of the Year
	2023	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
Kansas	2021 2024	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
Kansas	2022	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
	2023	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
Kentucky	2021 2024	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
Kentucky	2022	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
	2023	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
Louisiana	2021 2024	24	0	0	0	0	0	24
Louisiana	2022	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2023	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
Maine	2021 2024	12	0	0	0	0	0	12
Maine	2022	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Maryland	2021 2024	51	0	0	0	0	0	51
Maryland	2022	5	1	0	0	0	0	6
	2023	6	0	0	0	0	0	6
Massachusetts	2021 2024	36	0	0	0	0	0	36
Massachusetts	2022	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
	2023	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
Michigan	2021 2024	93	0	0	0	0	0	93
Michigan	2022	9	0	0	0	0	0	9
	2023	9	0	0	0	0	0	9
Minnesota	2021 2024	49	0	0	0	0	0	49
Minnesota	2022	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
	2023	4	0	0	0	0	0	4

Col. 1 State	Col. 2 Year	Col. 3 Outlets at Start of Year	Col. 4 Outlets Opened	Col. 5 Terminations	Col. 6 Non- Renewals	Col. 7 Reacquired by Franchisor	Col. 8 Ceased Operations Other Reasons	Col. 9 Outlets at End of the Year
Mississippi	2021 <u>2024</u>	34 <u>34</u>	0	0	0	0	0	34 <u>34</u>
<u>Mississippi</u>	2022	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
	2023	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
Missouri	2021 <u>2024</u>	13 <u>13</u>	0	0	0	0	0	13 <u>13</u>
<u>Missouri</u>	2022	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Nebraska	2021 <u>2024</u>	21 <u>21</u>	0	0	0	0	0	21 <u>21</u>
<u>Nebraska</u>	2022	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2023	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
Nevada	2021 <u>2024</u>	32 <u>32</u>	0	0	0	0	0	32 <u>32</u>
<u>Nevada</u>	2022	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
	2023	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
New Jersey	2021 <u>2024</u>	43 <u>43</u>	0 <u>1</u>	0	0	0	0	4
<u>New Jersey</u>	2022	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
	2023	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
New Mexico	2021 <u>2024</u>	34 <u>34</u>	0	0	0	0	0	34 <u>34</u>
<u>New Mexico</u>	2022	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
	2023	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
New York	2021 <u>2024</u>	11 <u>13</u>	1 <u>0</u>	0	0	0	0	12 <u>13</u>
<u>New York</u>	2022	12	0	0	0	0	0	12
	2023	12	1	0	0	0	0	13
North Carolina	2021 <u>2024</u>	11 <u>13</u>	1 <u>0</u>	1 <u>0</u>	0	0	0	11 <u>13</u>
<u>North Carolina</u>	2022	11	0	1	0	0	0	10
	2023	10	0	0	0	0	0	10
Ohio	2021 <u>2024</u>	9 <u>10</u>	0	0	0	0	0	9 <u>10</u>

Col. 1 State	Col. 2 Year	Col. 3 Outlets at Start of Year	Col. 4 Outlets Opened	Col. 5 Terminations	Col. 6 Non- Renewals	Col. 7 Reacquired by Franchisor	Col. 8 Ceased Operations Other Reasons	Col. 9 Outlets at End of the Year
Ohio	2022	9	1	2	0	0	0	8
	2023	8	0	0	0	0	0	8
Oklahoma	2021 2024	5 8	0	0	0	0	0	5 8
Oklahoma	2022	5	0	0	0	0	0	5
	2023	5	0	3	0	0	0	2
Oregon	2021 2024	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
Oregon	2022	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2023	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
Pennsylvania	2021 2024	7 2	1 0	0	0	0	0	8 2
Pennsylvania	2022	8	0	1	0	0	0	7
	2023	7	0	0	0	0	0	7
Rhode Island	2021 2024	1 7	0	0	0	0	0	1 7
Rhode Island	2022	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
South Carolina	2021 2024	10 1	0	0	0	0	0	10 1
South Carolina	2022	10	0	0	0	0	0	10
	2023	10	0	0	0	0	0	10
South Dakota	2021 2024	1 10	0	0	0	0	0	1 10
South Dakota	2022	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Tennessee	2021 2024	9 1	1 0	0	0	0	0	10 1
Tennessee	2022	10	0	0	0	0	0	10
	2023	10	1	0	0	0	0	11
Texas	2021 2024	33 11	3 0	0	0	0	0	36 11
Texas	2022	36	1	0	0	0	0	37

Col. 1 State	Col. 2 Year	Col. 3 Outlets at Start of Year	Col. 4 Outlets Opened	Col. 5 Terminations	Col. 6 Non- Renewals	Col. 7 Reacquired by Franchisor	Col. 8 Ceased Operations Other Reasons	Col. 9 Outlets at End of the Year
	2023	37	1	0	0	0	0	38
Utah	2021 2024	9 38	0 1	0 1	0	0	0	9 38
<u>Utah</u>	2022	9	0	0	0	0	0	9
	2023	9	0	0	0	0	0	9
Virginia	2021 2024	13 9	1 0	0	0	0	0	14 9
<u>Virginia</u>	2022	14	1	0	0	0	0	15
	2023	15	0	0	0	0	0	15
Washington	2021 2024	1 15	0	0	0	0	0	1 15
<u>Washington</u>	2022	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Wisconsin	2021 2024	4 1	0	0	0	0	0	4 1
<u>Wisconsin</u>	2022	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
	2023	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
Totals	2021 2024	29 24	18 0	1	0	0	0	30 93
<u>Totals</u>	2022	309	6	6	0	0	0	309
	2023	309	11	3	0	0	0	317
	2024	317	3	2	0	0	0	318

Table No. 4

**Status of Company-Owned Outlets
For years ~~2021~~2022 to ~~2023~~2024**

Col. 1 State	Col. 2 Year	Col. 3 Outlets at Start of the Year	Col. 4 Outlets Opened	Col. 5 Outlets Reacquired From Franchisee	Col. 6 Outlets Closed	Col. 7 Outlets Sold to Franchisee	Col. 8 Outlets at End of the Year
Arizona	2021	2	0	0	1	0	1
<u>Arizona</u>	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1
California	2021 <u>2024</u>	3 <u>1</u>	0	0	0	2 <u>0</u>	1
<u>California</u>	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1
Colorado	2021 <u>2024</u>	1	0	0	0	0	1
<u>Colorado</u>	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1
Florida	2021 <u>2024</u>	1	0	0	0	0	1
<u>Florida</u>	2022	1	1	0	0	0	2
	2023	2	0	0	0	0	2
Georgia	2021 <u>2024</u>	5 <u>2</u>	0	0	1 <u>0</u>	0	4 <u>2</u>
<u>Georgia</u>	2022	4	0	0	0	0	4
	2023	4	0	0	0	0	4
Indiana	2021 <u>2024</u>	2 <u>4</u>	0	0	1 <u>0</u>	0	1 <u>4</u>
<u>Indiana</u>	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1
Kansas	2021 <u>2024</u>	1	0	0	0	0	1
<u>Kansas</u>	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1
Massachusetts	2021 <u>2024</u>	1	0	0	0	0	1

Col. 1 State	Col. 2 Year	Col. 3 Outlets at Start of the Year	Col. 4 Outlets Opened	Col. 5 Outlets Reacquired From Franchisee	Col. 6 Outlets Closed	Col. 7 Outlets Sold to Franchisee	Col. 8 Outlets at End of the Year
Massachusetts	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1
Michigan	2021 2024	1	0	0	0	0	1
Michigan	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1
Missouri	2021	1	0	0	1	0	0
	2022 2024	0 1	0	0	0	0	0 1
	2023	0	0	0	0	0	0
New Jersey	2021	1	0	0	0	0	1
New Jersey	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1
North Carolina	2021 2024	1	0	0	0	0	1
North Carolina	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1
Ohio	2021 2024	1	0	0	0	0	1
Ohio	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1
Tennessee	2021 2024	1	0	0	0	0	1
Tennessee	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1
Texas	2021 2024	5 1	0	0	1 0	0	4 1
Texas	2022	4	0	0	0	0	4
	2023	4	0	0	0	0	4
Virginia	2021 2024	2 4	0	0	0	0	2 4
Virginia	2022	2	0	0	0	0	2

Col. 1 State	Col. 2 Year	Col. 3 Outlets at Start of the Year	Col. 4 Outlets Opened	Col. 5 Outlets Reacquired From Franchisee	Col. 6 Outlets Closed	Col. 7 Outlets Sold to Franchisee	Col. 8 Outlets at End of the Year
	2023	2	0	0	0	0	2
Wisconsin	2021 <u>2024</u>	1 <u>2</u>	0	0	0	0	1 <u>2</u>
<u>Wisconsin</u>	2022	1	0	0	0	0	1
	2023	1	0	0	0	0	1
Totals	2021 <u>2024</u>	3 <u>0</u>	0	0	5 <u>0</u>	2 <u>0</u>	2 <u>1</u>
<u>Totals</u>	2022	23	1	0	0	0	24
	2023	24	0	0	0	0	24
	<u>2024</u>	<u>24</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>24</u>

Table No. 5

Projected Openings As Of December 31, ~~2023~~2024

Column 1 State	Column 2 Franchise Agreements Signed But Outlet Not Opened	Column 3 Projected New Franchised Outlet In The Next Fiscal Year	Column 4 Projected New Company-Owned Outlet In the Next Fiscal Year
Arizona <u>Alabama</u>	2 <u>1</u>	0	0
Arkansas <u>Arizona</u>	2 <u>3</u>	0 <u>1</u>	0
California <u>Arkansas</u>	4 <u>6</u>	0	0
Florida <u>California</u>	4 <u>19</u>	0	0
<u>Florida</u>	<u>5</u>	<u>1</u>	<u>0</u>
Georgia	1	0	0
Hawaii	1	0	0
Idaho	1	0	0
Illinois	2	0	0

Column 1 State	Column 2 Franchise Agreements Signed But Outlet Not Opened	Column 3 Projected New Franchised Outlet In The Next Fiscal Year	Column 4 Projected New Company-Owned Outlet In the Next Fiscal Year
Indiana	3 <u>2</u>	1 <u>0</u>	0
Iowa	1	0	0
Kansas	1	0	0
Kentucky	1	0	0
Louisiana <u>Michigan</u>	1 <u>3</u>	0	0
Michigan	4	0	0
Minnesota	1	0	0
Mississippi	2	0	0
Missouri	1	0	0
Montana	3	0 <u>1</u>	0
Nevada <u>New Jersey</u>	1	1 <u>0</u>	0
New Jersey <u>York</u>	1	0	0
North Carolina	4 <u>3</u>	1	0
Ohio	1	0	0
Oregon	1	0	0
Pennsylvania	2 <u>1</u>	0	0
South Carolina	1	0	0
South Dakota	1	0 <u>1</u>	0
Tennessee	3 <u>4</u>	1	0
Texas	9 <u>6</u>	0	0
<u>Utah</u>	<u>2</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>0</u>
Washington	2	0	0
Wyoming	1	0 <u>1</u>	0
Total	74 <u>72</u>	4 <u>7</u>	0

Exhibit G is a list of ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel franchisees as of December 31, ~~2023~~2024 and the addresses and telephone numbers of each of their outlets. Exhibit H is a list of the Brand Hotel franchisees who had an outlet terminated, canceled, transferred or not renewed or otherwise voluntarily or involuntarily ceased to do business under our Franchise Agreement during our most recent fiscal year, and no franchisee has failed to communicate with us within 10 weeks before this disclosure document's issuance date. If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

As of the issuance date of this disclosure document, no franchisees have signed confidentiality clauses that restrict them from discussing with you their experiences as a franchisee in our franchise system during our last 3 fiscal years and there are no trademark-specific franchisee organizations associated with the ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel franchise system.

Item 21

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attached to this Disclosure Document as Exhibit A-1 are the audited consolidated financial statements of our parent company, Hyatt Hotels Corporation, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and ~~2022 and~~ for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, and ~~2021~~attached as Exhibit A-2 is the Form 8-K filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission on March 26, 2025.

Hyatt Hotels Corporation absolutely and unconditionally guarantees the performance of our obligations to franchisees under the Franchise Agreement. The Guarantee of Performance also is included in Exhibit A-1.

Item 22

CONTRACTS

The following agreements are attached as exhibits to this disclosure document:

Exhibit B	Franchise Application
Exhibit C	Franchise Agreement
Exhibit F	Confidentiality Agreement
Exhibit I	Service Agreement for Revenue Management <u>Central Hotel</u> Services <u>by Hyatt Master Agreement</u>
Exhibit J	Comfort Letter
Exhibit K	Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement
Exhibit L	Field Marketing Program Opt In Agreement
Exhibit <u>ML</u>	State-Specific Riders to agreements, including form of release used upon renewal or transfer

Item 23

RECEIPTS

Our and your copies of the Franchise Disclosure Document Receipt are the last 2 pages of this disclosure document.

EXHIBIT A
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A

EXHIBIT A-1

GUARANTEE OF PERFORMANCE

GUARANTEE OF PERFORMANCE


For value received, **HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION**, a Delaware corporation located at 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606 (the "Guarantor"), absolutely and unconditionally guarantees to assume the duties and obligations of **HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.**, a Delaware limited liability company located at 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606 (the "Franchisor"), under its franchise registration in each state where the franchise is registered, and under its Franchise Agreement identified in its 2025 Franchise Disclosure Document, as it may be amended, and as that Franchise Agreement may be entered into with franchisees and amended, modified or extended from time to time. This guarantee continues until all such obligations of the Franchisor under its franchise registrations and the Franchise Agreement are satisfied or until the liability of Franchisor to its franchisees under the Franchise Agreement has been completely discharged, whichever first occurs. The Guarantor is not discharged from liability if a claim by a franchisee against the Franchisor remains outstanding. Notice of acceptance is waived. The Guarantor does not waive receipt of notice of default on the part of the Franchisor. This guarantee is binding on the Guarantor and its successors and assigns.

The Guarantor signs this guarantee at Chicago, Illinois on the 24th day of March, 2025.

Guarantor:

HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION

By: 

 Peter Sears

Title: Executive Vice President,
Group President – Americas

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Hyatt Hotels Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hyatt Hotels Corporation and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity and noncontrolling interests, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes and the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Deferred Revenue Related to the Loyalty Program – Refer to Notes 2 and 3 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company operates the loyalty program for the benefit of the Hyatt portfolio of properties during the period of their participation in the loyalty program. The Company's estimate of the value of the deferred revenue liability related to the loyalty program ("the liability") is \$1,333 million as of December 31, 2024 and is actuarially determined based on the anticipated timing of future point redemptions, including an estimate of the breakage for points that will not be redeemed. Changes in the estimates used in the determination of the liability could result in a material change to the liability.

Given the subjectivity of the Company's breakage assumption, performing audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of this estimate involved a higher degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort, including the need to involve our actuarial specialists in performing audit procedures over the liability.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the liability included the following, among others:

- We tested the effectiveness of the Company's controls related to the liability, including those over the estimation of the breakage assumption.
- We tested the underlying data that served as the basis for the actuarial estimate, including points earned and redemptions, to test that the inputs to the actuarial estimate were reasonable.
- With the assistance of our actuarial specialists, we developed independent estimates of the liability and compared our estimates to management's estimate.

Goodwill – Refer to Note 9 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quarter of each year. As a result of the impairment analyses, the Company determined that the carrying value of a reporting unit within the management and franchising segment ("the reporting unit") was in excess of the fair value and recognized \$110 million of goodwill impairment charges. The Company's consolidated goodwill balance as of December 31, 2024 was \$2,541 million, of which \$1,116 million related to the reporting unit.

Management estimated the fair value of the reporting unit using a weighted methodology considering the output from both a discounted future cash flow model and the guideline public companies method. The fair value determination of the reporting unit required management to make significant assumptions and judgments related to the projected future cash flows, discount rate, and capitalization rate.

Given the determination of fair value of the reporting unit required management to make significant assumptions and judgments related to the projected future cash flows, discount rate, and capitalization rate, performing audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of these estimates and assumptions involved a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort, including the need to involve our fair value specialists.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the projected future cash flows, discount rate, and capitalization rate included the following, among others:

- We tested the effectiveness of the Company's controls over management's goodwill impairment analyses, including those over management's selection of the projected future cash flows, discount rate, and capitalization rate.
- We evaluated the reasonableness of management's projected future cash flows associated with the reporting unit by comparing them to (1) historical results, (2) internal communications to management and those charged with governance of the reporting unit, and (3) forecasted information included in analyst and industry reports for the Company and its peer companies.
- With the assistance of our fair value specialists, we evaluated the reasonableness of the discount rate and capitalization rate by (1) testing the source information underlying the determination of the discount rate and capitalization rate, (2) testing the mathematical accuracy of the calculations, (3) developing a range of independent estimates and comparing those to the discount rate selected by management, and (4) evaluating the reasonableness of inputs included in the capitalization rate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, Illinois
February 13, 2025

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2003.

HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022

(In millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

	2024	2023	2022
REVENUES:			
Base management fees	\$ 399	\$ 374	\$ 319
Incentive management fees	242	232	192
Franchise and other fees	458	364	297
Gross fees	1,099	970	808
Contra revenue	(69)	(47)	(31)
Net fees	1,030	923	777
Owned and leased	1,174	1,339	1,235
Distribution	1,023	1,047	986
Other revenues	69	300	273
Revenues for reimbursed costs	3,352	3,058	2,620
Total revenues	6,648	6,667	5,891
DIRECT AND GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES:			
General and administrative	548	578	435
Owned and leased	925	1,022	916
Distribution	875	859	775
Other direct costs	94	336	280
Transaction and integration costs	42	42	35
Depreciation and amortization	333	397	426
Reimbursed costs	3,457	3,144	2,632
Total direct and general and administrative expenses	6,274	6,378	5,499
Net gains (losses) and interest income from marketable securities held to fund rabbi trusts	49	55	(75)
Equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures	31	(1)	5
Interest expense	(180)	(145)	(150)
Gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other	1,245	18	263
Asset impairments	(213)	(30)	(38)
Other income (loss), net	257	124	(34)
Income before income taxes	1,563	310	363
Benefit (provision) for income taxes	(267)	(90)	92
Net income	1,296	220	455
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	—	—	—
Net income attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation	\$ 1,296	\$ 220	\$ 455
EARNINGS PER CLASS A AND CLASS B SHARE:			
Net income attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation—Basic	\$ 12.99	\$ 2.10	\$ 4.17
Net income attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation—Diluted	\$ 12.65	\$ 2.05	\$ 4.09

See accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statements.

HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022
(In millions of dollars)

	2024	2023	2022
Net income	\$ 1,296	\$ 220	\$ 455
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:			
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax of \$6, \$(3), and \$— for the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively	(96)	46	4
Available-for-sale debt securities unrealized fair value adjustments, net of tax of \$—, \$(4), and \$4 for the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively	(2)	15	(10)
Derivative instrument adjustments, net of tax of \$(1) for the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022	3	6	5
Pension liabilities adjustments, net of tax of \$—, \$—, and \$(1) for the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively	—	—	4
Other comprehensive income (loss)	(95)	67	3
Comprehensive income	1,201	287	458
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(1)	—	—
Comprehensive income attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation	<u>\$ 1,202</u>	<u>\$ 287</u>	<u>\$ 458</u>

See accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statements.

HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023

(In millions of dollars, except share and per share amounts)

	2024	2023
ASSETS		
CURRENT ASSETS:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 1,011	\$ 881
Restricted cash	1	34
Short-term investments	372	15
Receivables, net of allowances of \$62 and \$50 at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively	1,121	883
Inventories	8	9
Prepays and other assets	174	195
Prepaid income taxes	46	51
Assets held for sale	—	62
Total current assets	2,733	2,130
Equity method investments	189	211
Property and equipment, net	1,689	2,340
Financing receivables, net of allowances of \$36 and \$42 at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively	368	73
Operating lease right-of-use assets	328	369
Goodwill	2,541	3,205
Intangibles, net	2,167	1,670
Deferred tax assets	466	358
Other assets	2,843	2,477
TOTAL ASSETS	\$ 13,324	\$ 12,833
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		
CURRENT LIABILITIES:		
Current maturities of long-term debt	\$ 456	\$ 751
Accounts payable	475	493
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	565	468
Current contract liabilities	1,553	1,598
Accrued compensation and benefits	192	210
Current operating lease liabilities	33	41
Liabilities held for sale	—	17
Total current liabilities	3,274	3,578
Long-term debt	3,326	2,305
Long-term contract liabilities	843	1,759
Long-term operating lease liabilities	245	273
Other long-term liabilities	1,810	1,351
Total liabilities	9,498	9,266
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)		
EQUITY:		
Preferred stock, \$0.01 par value per share, 10,000,000 shares authorized and none outstanding at both December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023	—	—
Class A common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized, 42,613,090 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024, and Class B common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, 385,525,991 shares authorized, 53,531,579 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024. Class A common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized, 44,275,818 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023, and Class B common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, 390,751,535 shares authorized, 58,757,123 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023	1	1
Additional paid-in capital	—	—
Retained earnings	3,815	3,738
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(269)	(175)
Total stockholders' equity	3,547	3,564
Noncontrolling interests	279	3
Total equity	3,826	3,567
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY	\$ 13,324	\$ 12,833

See accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statements.

HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022
(In millions of dollars)

	2024	2023	2022
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:			
Net income	\$ 1,296	\$ 220	\$ 455
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:			
(Gains) losses on sales of real estate and other	(1,245)	(18)	(263)
Depreciation and amortization	333	397	426
Amortization of share awards	64	75	61
Amortization of operating lease right-of-use assets	36	42	35
Deferred income taxes	(123)	(125)	(259)
Asset impairments	213	30	38
Equity (earnings) losses from unconsolidated hospitality ventures	(31)	1	(5)
Contra revenue	69	47	31
Unrealized (gains) losses, net	(53)	(36)	55
Contingent consideration liability fair value adjustment	(39)	9	—
Payments for key money assets	(153)	(132)	(165)
Other	78	87	98
Increase (decrease) in cash attributable to changes in assets and liabilities			
Receivables, net	(15)	—	(209)
Prepaid income taxes	65	(24)	2
Prepays and other assets	(116)	(66)	(114)
Other long-term assets	(6)	(92)	(110)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other current liabilities	56	(29)	96
Contract liabilities	48	290	378
Deferred revenue related to the loyalty program	203	202	113
Operating lease liabilities	(35)	(43)	(35)
Accrued compensation and benefits	(6)	(22)	46
Other long-term liabilities	(6)	(13)	—
Net cash provided by operating activities	<u>\$ 633</u>	<u>\$ 800</u>	<u>\$ 674</u>

(Continued)

See accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statements.

HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022

(In millions of dollars)

	2024	2023	2022
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:			
Purchases of marketable securities and short-term investments	\$ (1,775)	\$ (483)	\$ (952)
Proceeds from marketable securities and short-term investments	1,338	576	1,060
Contributions to equity method and other investments	(88)	(43)	(8)
Return of equity method and other investments	62	7	54
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired	(609)	(175)	(174)
Capital expenditures	(170)	(198)	(201)
Issuance of financing receivables	(136)	(43)	(25)
Proceeds from financing receivables	51	1	17
Proceeds from sales of real estate and other, net of cash disposed	1,421	(10)	625
Other investing activities	(13)	3	20
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	81	(365)	416
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:			
Proceeds from debt, net of offering expenses of \$14, \$4, and \$—, respectively	1,424	596	—
Repayments and repurchases of debt	(750)	(660)	(711)
Repurchases of common stock	(1,190)	(453)	(369)
Dividends paid	(60)	(47)	—
Payment of withholding taxes for stock-based compensation	(43)	(16)	(15)
Other financing activities	1	2	(11)
Net cash used in financing activities	(618)	(578)	(1,106)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	(3)	(2)	18
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, including cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash classified within current assets held for sale	93	(145)	2
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash classified within assets held for sale	3	(3)	—
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash	96	(148)	2
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash—Beginning of year	919	1,067	1,065
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash—End of year	\$ 1,015	\$ 919	\$ 1,067

(Continued)

See accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statements.

HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022

(In millions of dollars)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

	2024	2023	2022
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 1,011	\$ 881	\$ 991
Restricted cash	1	34	39
Restricted cash included in other assets	3	4	37
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash	<u>\$ 1,015</u>	<u>\$ 919</u>	<u>\$ 1,067</u>
	2024	2023	2022
Cash paid during the period for interest	<u>\$ 167</u>	<u>\$ 115</u>	<u>\$ 138</u>
Cash paid during the period for income taxes, net	<u>\$ 160</u>	<u>\$ 153</u>	<u>\$ 101</u>
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities	<u>\$ 45</u>	<u>\$ 54</u>	<u>\$ 47</u>
Non-cash investing and financing activities are as follows:			
Change in accrued capital expenditures	<u>\$ (4)</u>	<u>\$ 9</u>	<u>\$ 1</u>
Non-cash contributions to equity method and other investments (Note 4, Note 7, Note 15)	<u>\$ 223</u>	<u>\$ 4</u>	<u>\$ —</u>
Non-cash issuance of financing receivables (Note 4, Note 7)	<u>\$ 185</u>	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$ —</u>
Non-cash right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities	<u>\$ 19</u>	<u>\$ 16</u>	<u>\$ 25</u>
Non-cash legal defeasance of Series 2005 Bonds (Note 7)	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$ 166</u>
Non-cash reduction in right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities for lease reassessment	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$ 13</u>
Non-cash held-to-maturity debt security received (Note 7)	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$ 19</u>
Non-cash repurchases of common stock (Note 16)	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$ 9</u>
Non-cash contingent consideration liability assumed in acquisition (Note 7)	<u>\$ 141</u>	<u>\$ 107</u>	<u>\$ —</u>
Non-cash contingent consideration receivable recorded in disposition (Note 4, Note 7)	<u>\$ 5</u>	<u>\$ 28</u>	<u>\$ —</u>
Non-cash deferred consideration liability assumed in acquisition (Note 7)	<u>\$ 58</u>	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$ —</u>
Non-cash redemption of HTM debt security in exchange for equity method investment (Note 4)	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$ 32</u>	<u>\$ —</u>
Non-cash redemption of financing receivables	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$ 20</u>	<u>\$ —</u>
Non-cash dividends declared (Note 16)	<u>\$ 1</u>	<u>\$ 1</u>	<u>\$ —</u>

(Concluded)

See accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statements.

HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022
(In millions of dollars, except share and per share amounts)

	Stockholders' equity attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation								Total
	Common Shares Outstanding		Common Stock Amount		Additional Paid-in Capital	Retained Earnings	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss	Noncontrolling Interests	
	Class A	Class B	Class A	Class B					
BALANCE—January 1, 2022	50,322,050	59,653,271	\$ 1	\$ —	\$ 640	\$ 3,167	\$ (245)	\$ 3	\$3,566
Net income	—	—	—	—	—	455	—	—	455
Other comprehensive income	—	—	—	—	—	—	3	—	3
Repurchases of common stock	(4,233,894)	—	—	—	(369)	—	—	—	(369)
Liability for repurchases of common stock (1)	—	—	—	—	(9)	—	—	—	(9)
Employee stock plan issuance	60,543	—	—	—	5	—	—	—	5
Share-based payment activity	598,566	—	—	—	51	—	—	—	51
Class share conversions	735,522	(735,522)	—	—	—	—	—	—	—
BALANCE—December 31, 2022	47,482,787	58,917,749	\$ 1	\$ —	\$ 318	\$ 3,622	\$ (242)	\$ 3	\$3,702
Net income	—	—	—	—	—	220	—	—	220
Other comprehensive income	—	—	—	—	—	—	67	—	67
Repurchases of common stock (2)	(4,123,828)	—	—	—	(391)	(56)	—	—	(447)
Employee stock plan issuance	61,977	—	—	—	6	—	—	—	6
Share-based payment activity	694,256	—	—	—	67	—	—	—	67
Cash dividends declared of \$0.15 per share (Note 16) (3)	—	—	—	—	—	(48)	—	—	(48)
Class share conversions	160,626	(160,626)	—	—	—	—	—	—	—
BALANCE—December 31, 2023	44,275,818	58,757,123	\$ 1	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 3,738	\$ (175)	\$ 3	\$3,567
Net income	—	—	—	—	—	1,296	—	—	1,296
Other comprehensive loss	—	—	—	—	—	—	(94)	(1)	(95)
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest (Note 7)	—	—	—	—	—	—	—	277	277
Repurchases of common stock (2)	(4,362,776)	(3,629,480)	—	—	(40)	(1,158)	—	—	(1,198)
Employee stock plan issuance	53,366	—	—	—	8	—	—	—	8
Share-based payment activity	1,050,618	—	—	—	32	—	—	—	32
Cash dividends declared of \$0.15 per share (Note 16) (3)	—	—	—	—	—	(61)	—	—	(61)
Class share conversions	1,596,064	(1,596,064)	—	—	—	—	—	—	—
BALANCE—December 31, 2024	42,613,090	53,531,579	\$ 1	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 3,815	\$ (269)	\$ 279	\$3,826

- (1) Represents repurchases of 106,116 shares for \$9 million that were initiated prior to December 31, 2022, but settled in the first quarter of 2023. At December 31, 2022, the shares were included in shares outstanding, and the liability was recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet.
- (2) Includes a \$8 million and \$3 million liability recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, related to the 1% U.S. federal excise tax on certain share repurchases enacted by the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022.
- (3) Includes a \$1 million liability recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets to be paid upon vesting of certain stock-based compensation awards.

See accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statements.

HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in millions of dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

1. ORGANIZATION

Hyatt Hotels Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries have offerings that consist of full service hotels and resorts, select service hotels, all-inclusive resorts, and other properties, including timeshare, fractional, and other forms of residential and vacation units. We also offer distribution and destination management services through ALG Vacations and distribution services through Mr & Mrs Smith, a boutique and luxury global travel platform. At December 31, 2024, our hotel portfolio included 1,442 hotels, comprising 347,301 rooms throughout the world, of which 721 hotels are located in the United States, comprising 159,829 rooms, and 149 are all-inclusive resorts, comprising 55,708 rooms. At December 31, 2024, our portfolio of properties operated in 79 countries around the world. Additionally, we provide certain reservation and/or loyalty program services to hotels that are unaffiliated with our hotel portfolio and operate under other trade names or marks owned by such hotels or licensed by third parties.

Transaction and Integration Costs—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we presented a new financial statement line item to provide enhanced visibility on our consolidated statements of income and reclassified prior-period results for comparability. Transaction and integration costs include the following:

- integration costs, which were previously recognized in integration costs during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and general and administrative expenses during the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 and primarily include expenses incurred related to the integration of recently acquired businesses, including certain compensation expenses, professional fees, sales and marketing expenses, and technology expenses;
- transaction costs for potential transactions, primarily related to professional fees incurred for acquisitions and dispositions, which were previously recognized in general and administrative expenses; and
- transaction costs for transactions completed during the period, primarily related to professional fees incurred for acquisitions, which were previously recognized in other income (loss), net. Transaction costs incurred during the period of a completed disposition continue to be recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other.

Segment Realignment—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we realigned our operating and reportable segments to align with our business strategy, certain organizational changes within our leadership team, and the manner in which our CODM assesses performance and makes decisions regarding the allocation of resources. The segment realignment had no impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations. Prior-period segment results have been recast to reflect our new reportable segments. See Note 19 for a summary of our revised reportable segments and summarized consolidated financial information by segment.

In conjunction with the segment realignment, certain financial statement line item descriptions were revised within our consolidated statements of income. With the exception of the new transaction and integration costs financial statement line item described above, the composition of the accounts within these financial statement line items remains unchanged. The changes include:

New financial statement line item	Previously-used financial statement line item
Owned and leased revenues	Owned and leased hotels revenues
Franchise and other fee revenues	Franchise, license, and other fee revenues
Revenues for reimbursed costs	Revenues for the reimbursement of costs incurred on behalf of managed and franchised properties
General and administrative expenses (1), (2)	Selling, general, and administrative expenses
Integration costs (2)	Selling, general, and administrative expenses
Owned and leased expenses	Owned and leased hotels expenses
Reimbursed costs	Costs incurred on behalf of managed and franchised properties

(1) Excludes integration costs.

(2) Transaction and integration costs are now presented within a new financial statement line item as described above, transaction and integration costs.

Additionally, distribution and destination management revenues and expenses are no longer presented as the accounts under these previously-used financial statement line items are now included in the following:

Distribution revenues—Represents revenues derived from the ALG Vacations business, which were previously recognized in distribution and destination management revenues, and commission fee revenues related to Mr & Mrs Smith, which were previously recognized in other fee revenues.

Distribution expenses—Consists of expenses related to the ALG Vacations business, which were previously recognized in distribution and destination management expenses, and general and administrative expenses related to Mr & Mrs Smith, which were previously recognized in selling, general, and administrative expenses.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation—Our consolidated financial statements present the results of operations, financial position, and cash flows of Hyatt Hotels Corporation and its majority owned and controlled subsidiaries as well as entities consolidated under the variable interest entity ("VIE") model. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates—We are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying footnotes (the "Notes"). Our estimates and assumptions are subject to inherent risk and uncertainty, and actual results could differ materially from our estimated amounts.

Reclassifications—Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Revenue Recognition—Our revenues are primarily derived from the products and services provided to our customers and are generally recognized when control of the product or service has transferred to the customer. Our customers primarily include third-party owners and franchisees, guests at owned and leased hotels, customers that use our distribution services through ALG Vacations and Mr & Mrs Smith, a third-party partner through our co-branded credit card programs, and owners and guests of residential and vacation units. A summary of our revenue streams is as follows:

- *Gross fees*—Gross fees include base management fees, incentive management fees, and franchise and other fees. Base management fees are generally calculated as a percentage of gross revenues, and incentive management fees are generally computed based on a hotel profitability measure. Included in the management fees are fees that we earn in exchange for providing the hotel access to Hyatt's intellectual property ("IP"). Franchise and other fees consist of (i) an initial franchise fee and ongoing royalty fees computed as a percentage of gross room revenues and as applicable, food and beverage revenues, (ii) termination fees, (iii) license fees associated with the licensing of the Hyatt brand names through our co-branded credit card programs and with sales of our branded residential units, (iv) management and royalty fees related to the management and licensing of certain of our brands to the Unlimited Vacation Club following the UVC Transaction, and (v) fees from hotel services provided to certain all-inclusive resorts.
- *Net fees*—Net fees represent gross fees reduced by key money assets amortization and performance cure payments, which constitute payments to customers. Consideration provided to customers related to key money assets is recorded in other assets and amortized to Contra revenue over the expected customer life, which is typically the initial term of the management and hotel services agreement or franchise agreement.
- *Owned and leased revenues*—Owned and leased revenues are derived from room rentals and services provided at our owned and leased hotels. We present revenues net of sales, occupancy, and other taxes. Taxes collected on behalf of, and remitted to, governmental taxing authorities are excluded from the transaction price of the underlying products and services.
- *Distribution revenues*—Distribution revenues include revenues from the sale of vacation packages, experiences, and charter flights through ALG Vacations, destination services and excursions offered through Amstar, and commission fees related to Mr & Mrs Smith for bookings made directly through the platform and through third-party partners.
- *Other revenues*—Other revenues include revenues from the sale of promotional awards through our co-branded credit programs as well as the paid membership program prior to the UVC Transaction (see Note 4) and the Destination Residential Management business, which was sold during the year ended December 31, 2023 (see Note 7).
- *Revenues for reimbursed costs*—Revenues for reimbursed costs represent the reimbursement of costs incurred on behalf of third-party owners and franchisees. These reimbursed costs relate primarily to payroll at managed properties where we are the employer, as well as costs associated with system-wide services and the loyalty program operated on behalf of owners.

The products and services we offer to our customers are comprised of the following performance obligations:

Management and hotel services agreements and franchise agreements

- *Access to Hyatt's IP, including the Hyatt brand names*—We receive sales-based fees from hotel owners in exchange for providing access to our IP, including the Hyatt brand names and systems, among other services. Fees are generally payable on a monthly basis as third-party owners and franchisees derive value from access to our IP. Fees are recognized over time as services are rendered. Under our franchise agreements, we also receive initial fees from third-party owners and franchisees. The initial fees do not represent a distinct performance obligation, and therefore, are combined with the royalty fees and deferred and recognized in franchise and other fees over the expected customer life, which is typically the initial term of the franchise agreement.
- *System-wide services*—We provide system-wide services on behalf of owners of managed and franchised properties. The promise to provide system-wide services is not a distinct performance obligation because it is attendant to the access to our IP. Therefore, this promise is combined with the access to our IP to form a single performance obligation.

Hyatt's system-wide services are accounted for under a fund model whereby third-party owners and franchisees are invoiced a system-wide assessment fee on a monthly basis. We recognize the revenues over time as services are provided in revenues for reimbursed costs on our consolidated statements of income. We have discretion over how we spend program revenues, and therefore, we are the principal. Expenses related to the system-wide programs are recognized as incurred in reimbursed costs on our consolidated statements of income. Over time, we intend to manage the system-wide programs to break-even and not earn a profit on these services, but the timing of revenues received from the owners may not align with the timing of the expenses incurred to operate the programs. Therefore, any difference between the revenues and expenses will impact our net income.

- *Management and hotel services agreement services*—Under the terms of our management and hotel services agreements, we provide management and hotel services, which form a single performance obligation that qualifies as a series. In exchange, we receive variable consideration in the form of management or hotel services fees which are comprised of base and/or incentive management fees. Incentive fees are typically subject to the achievement of certain profitability targets, and therefore, we apply judgment in determining the amount of incentive management fees recognized each period. Incentive management fees are recognized to the extent it is probable that we will not reverse a significant portion of the fees in a subsequent period. We rely on internal financial forecasts and historical trends to estimate the amount of incentive management fees recognized and the probability that incentive fees will reverse in the future. Generally, base management and hotel services fees are due and payable on a monthly basis as services are provided, and incentive fees are due and payable based on the terms of the agreement, but at a minimum, incentive fees are billed and collected annually. Revenues are recognized over time as services are rendered.

Under the terms of certain management agreements, primarily within the U.S., we are the employer of hotel employees. When we are the employer, we are reimbursed for costs incurred related to the employee management services with no added margin, and the reimbursements are recognized over time as services are rendered in revenues for reimbursed costs on our consolidated statements of income. In jurisdictions in which we are the employer, we have discretion over how employee management services are provided, and therefore, we are the principal.

- *Loyalty program administration*—We administer the loyalty program for the benefit of Hyatt's portfolio of properties during the period of their participation in the loyalty program. Under the program, members earn points based on their spend at our properties and through our experience platform; by transacting with our strategic loyalty alliances, including American Airlines and Peloton; or in connection with spend on the World of Hyatt co-branded consumer and business credit cards. Loyalty program points can be redeemed for the right to stay at participating properties, as well as for other goods and services from third parties. Points earned by loyalty program members represent a material right to free or discounted goods or services in the future.

The loyalty program has one performance obligation that consists of marketing and managing the program and arranging for award redemptions by members. These two promises are not distinct because the promise to market and manage the program does not benefit the customer without the related arrangement for award redemptions. The costs of administering the loyalty program are charged to the properties through an assessment fee based on members' qualified expenditures. The assessment fee is billed and collected monthly, and revenues received by the program are deferred until a member redeems points. Upon redemption of points at managed and franchised properties, we recognize the previously deferred revenue in revenues for reimbursed costs on our

consolidated statements of income, net of redemption expense paid to managed and franchised hotels. We are responsible for arranging for the redemption of promotional awards, but we do not directly fulfill the award night obligation except at owned and leased hotels. Therefore, we are the agent with respect to this performance obligation for managed and franchised hotels, and we are the principal with respect to owned and leased hotels. A portion of our owned and leased revenues is deferred upon initial stay as points are earned by program members at owned or leased hotels, and revenues are recognized upon redemption at owned or leased hotels.

The revenues recognized each period are based on the number of loyalty points redeemed and the revenue per point, which includes an estimate of breakage for the loyalty points that will not be redeemed. Determining breakage involves significant judgment, and we engage third-party actuaries to assist us in estimating the ultimate redemption ratios used in the breakage calculations and the amount of revenues recognized upon redemption. Changes to the expected ultimate redemption assumptions are reflected in the current period. Any revenues in excess of the anticipated future redemptions are used to fund the other operational expenses of the program.

Room rentals and other services provided at owned and leased hotels

We provide room rentals and other services to our guests, including, but not limited to, food and beverage, spa, laundry, and parking. These products and services each represent individual performance obligations, and in exchange for these services, we receive fixed amounts based on published rates or negotiated contracts. Payment is due in full at the time the services are rendered or the goods are provided. If a guest enters into a package including multiple goods or services, the fixed price is allocated to each distinct good or service based on the standalone selling price for each item. Revenues are recognized over time when we transfer control of the good or service to the customer. Room rental revenues are recognized on a daily basis as the guest occupies the room, and revenues related to other products and services are recognized when the product or service is provided to the guest.

Hotels commonly enter into arrangements with online travel agencies, trade associations, and other entities. As part of these arrangements, we may pay the other party a commission or rebate based on the revenues generated through that channel. We recognize revenues gross or net of rebates and commissions depending on the terms of each contract.

Global travel platform bookings

Through Mr & Mrs Smith, we offer direct booking access primarily to properties that are unaffiliated with our hotel portfolio and operate under other trade names or marks owned by such hotels or licensed by third parties. Mr & Mrs Smith also has arrangements with third-party partners that market hotel offerings through their respective booking channels. In exchange for bookings made directly through Mr & Mrs Smith and through third-party partners, we receive variable consideration representing a commission fee from hotel owners, which is based on the total transaction value of the associated booking. Commission fee revenues are recognized at the time of the guest's stay in distribution revenues. Certain bookings require prepayment for travel prior to stay. These deposits are recorded as contract liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets until the stay occurs, at which point revenues are recognized in distribution revenues, net of amounts paid to hotel owners or third-party partners.

Distribution and destination management

ALG Vacations offers traditional leisure travel products and services on an individual and package basis to destinations primarily within Mexico and the Caribbean. Travel products and services include some or all of the following:

- Performance obligations in which third-party suppliers are primarily responsible for providing the services and ALG Vacations is the agent:
 - *Commercial air transportation provided by third-party air carriers*—revenues are recognized at the time of booking, net of related payments to suppliers;
 - *Hotel accommodations provided by our all-inclusive resorts and third-party branded hotels and resorts*—revenues are recognized on a net basis as the guest occupies the room;
 - *Travel insurance provided by third-party insurance companies*—revenues are recognized at the time of booking, net of related payments to suppliers;
 - *Car rental reservations provided by third-party companies*—revenues are recognized on a daily basis as the guest utilizes the rental car, net of related costs; and

- *Excursions provided by third-party companies*—revenues are recognized on the day of the excursion, net of related costs.
- Performance obligations in which ALG Vacations is primarily responsible for providing the services and is the principal:
 - *Chartered air transportation provided by ALG Vacations*—gross revenues are recognized at the time of departure and return; and
 - *Ground transportation and excursions provided by Amstar*—gross revenues are recognized at the time of departure and return.

In exchange for the products and services provided, we receive fixed and variable consideration that is allocated between the performance obligations based on relative standalone selling prices. For all performance obligations, we utilize a cost plus margin approach to determine the standalone selling price. For car rental reservations and excursions provided by third-party companies, we allocate the standalone selling price using observable transaction prices. Customers pay for travel prior to trip departure, and these deposits are recorded as contract liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets until the transfer of control of the related performance obligation occurs, at which point the related revenues are recognized in distribution revenues on our consolidated statements of income. For certain airline, hotel, and car rental transactions, we also receive fees through global distribution systems ("GDS") that provide the computer systems through which travel supplier inventory is made available and reservations are booked. Payments received through GDS are considered commissions from suppliers and are recognized as revenues at the time of booking in distribution revenues on our consolidated statements of income.

We provide advertising services to travel suppliers on our consumer websites and travel agent websites, in travel brochures, and via other media. Revenues from advertising are recognized in distribution revenues on our consolidated statements of income when the service is provided.

Co-branded credit card programs

We have co-branded credit card agreements with a third party, and under the terms of the agreements, we have various performance obligations: granting a license to the Hyatt name, arranging for the fulfillment of points issued to cardholders through the loyalty program, and awarding cardholders with free room nights upon achievement of certain program milestones. The loyalty points and free room nights represent material rights that can be redeemed for free or discounted services in the future.

In exchange for the products and services provided, we receive fixed and variable consideration which is allocated between the performance obligations based on their relative standalone selling prices. Significant judgment is involved in determining the relative standalone selling prices, and therefore, we engage a third-party valuation specialist for assistance. We utilize a relief from royalty method to determine the revenues allocated to the license, and the revenues are recognized over time as the licensee derives value from access to Hyatt's brand name in other revenues on our consolidated statements of income. We utilize observable transaction prices and adjusted market assumptions to determine the standalone selling price of a loyalty point, and we utilize a cost plus margin approach to determine the standalone selling price of the free room nights. The revenues allocated to loyalty program points and free night awards are deferred and recognized in revenues for reimbursed costs on our consolidated statements of income upon redemption or expiration of a card member's promotional awards, net of redemption expense when we are the agent. We are responsible for arranging for the redemption of promotional awards, but we do not directly fulfill the award night obligation except at owned and leased hotels. Therefore, we are the agent for managed and franchised hotels, and we are the principal with respect to owned and leased hotels.

We satisfy the following performance obligations over time: access to Hyatt's symbolic IP, services provided under management and hotel services agreements, administration of the loyalty program, and the license of our brand name through our co-branded credit card agreements. Each of these performance obligations is considered a sales-based royalty or a series of distinct services, and although the activities to fulfill each of these promises may vary from day to day, the nature of each promise is the same and the customer benefits from the services every day.

For each performance obligation satisfied over time, we recognize revenues using an output method based on the value transferred to the customer. Revenues are recognized based on the transaction price and the observable outputs related to each performance obligation. We deem the following to represent our progress in satisfying these performance obligations:

- revenues and operating profits earned by the hotels during the reporting period for access to Hyatt's IP as it is indicative of the value third-party owners and franchisees derive;
- revenues and operating profits of the hotels for the promise to provide services to the hotels under management and hotel services agreements;
- award night redemptions or point redemptions with third-party partners for the administration of the loyalty program performance obligation; and
- cardholder spend for the license to the Hyatt name through our co-branded credit card programs as it is indicative of the value our partner derives from the use of our name.

Within our management and hotel services agreements, we have two performance obligations: providing access to Hyatt's IP and providing management and hotel services. Although these constitute two separate performance obligations, both obligations represent services that are satisfied over time, and we recognize revenues using an output method based on the performance of the hotel. Therefore, we have not allocated the transaction price between these two performance obligations as the allocation would result in the same pattern of revenue recognition.

Revenues are adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component when the period between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year.

We have applied the practical expedient that permits the omission of prior-period information about revenues allocated to future performance obligations, and we do not estimate revenues allocated to remaining performance obligations for the following:

- deferred revenue related to the loyalty program, base management fees, and incentive management fees as the revenues are allocated to a wholly unperformed performance obligation in a series;
- revenues related to royalty fees as they are considered sales-based royalty fees;
- revenues received for free nights granted through our co-branded credit card programs as the awards have an original duration of 12 months;
- revenues related to advanced bookings at owned and leased hotels as each stay has a duration of 12 months or less; and
- revenues related to ALG Vacations and Mr & Mrs Smith distribution services as bookings are generally for travel within 12 months or less.

Contract Balances—Our payments from customers are based on the billing terms established in our contracts. Customer billings are recorded as accounts receivable when our right to consideration is unconditional. If our right to consideration is conditional on future performance under the contract, the balance is recorded as a contract asset in receivables, net on our consolidated balance sheets. Due to certain profitability hurdles in our management and hotel services agreements, incentive management fees are considered contract assets until the risk related to achieving the profitability metric no longer exists. When the profitability hurdle has been met, the incentive management fee receivable balance is recorded in accounts receivable in receivables, net on our consolidated balance sheets. Payments received in advance of performance under the contract are recorded as current or long-term contract liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets and recognized as revenues as we perform under the contract.

Costs Incurred to Obtain Contracts with Customers—Prior to the UVC Transaction (see Note 4), we incurred incremental costs to obtain membership contracts, primarily related to sales commissions. At December 31, 2023, we had \$27 million of these deferred costs recorded in prepaids and other assets and \$194 million recorded in other assets on our consolidated balance sheets. During the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, we recognized \$4 million, \$27 million, and \$9 million, respectively, of amortization expense related to these deferred costs in other direct costs on our consolidated statements of income using the straight-line method over the same period as the associated revenues.

Foreign Currency—The functional currency of our consolidated entities located outside the U.S. is generally the local currency. The assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into U.S. dollars at period-end exchange rates, and the related

gains and losses, net of applicable deferred income taxes, are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on our consolidated balance sheets. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions, including those related to intercompany receivables and payables, are recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income.

Fair Value—We apply the provisions of fair value measurement to various financial instruments, which we measure at fair value on a recurring basis, and to various financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities, which we measure at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. We disclose the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities based on observable market information, where available, or market participant assumptions. These assumptions are subjective in nature and involve matters of judgment; therefore, fair values cannot always be determined with precision. When determining fair value, we maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

- Level One—Fair values based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;
- Level Two—Fair values based on quoted market prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices in inactive markets for identical assets and liabilities, and inputs other than quoted market prices that are observable for the asset or liability; and
- Level Three—Fair values based on inputs that cannot be corroborated by observable market data and reflect the use of significant management judgment. Valuation techniques may include the use of discounted future cash flow models, certain of which utilize probability weighting, and similar techniques and may be internally developed.

We recognize transfers in and transfers out of the levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of each quarterly reporting period.

We typically utilize the market approach and income approach for valuing our financial instruments. The market approach utilizes prices and information generated by market transactions involving identical or similar assets and liabilities, and the income approach uses valuation techniques to convert future cash flows or earnings to a single, discounted present value. For instances in which the inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the classification within the fair value hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect the classification of fair value assets and liabilities within the fair value hierarchy.

The carrying values of our current financial assets and current financial liabilities approximate fair values with the exception of debt and equity securities as discussed below and in Note 4 and financing receivables as discussed in Note 6. The fair value of long-term debt is discussed in Note 11, and the fair value of our guarantee liabilities and contingent consideration receivables and liabilities is discussed below and in Note 4, Note 7, and Note 15. We do not have nonfinancial assets or nonfinancial liabilities required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

Cash Equivalents—We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Except for time deposits as discussed below and in Note 4, cash equivalents are classified as Level One in the fair value hierarchy as we are able to obtain market pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Restricted Cash—Cash deposited or held in escrow under contractual or regulatory requirements is classified as restricted cash. Our restricted cash may include sales proceeds pursuant to like-kind exchanges, escrow deposits, deposits with banks that collateralize our obligations to certain vendors, and other arrangements.

Variable Interest Entities—We determine at the inception of each arrangement whether an entity in which we have made an investment or in which we have other variable interests is considered a VIE. We consolidate VIEs when we are the primary beneficiary. We are the primary beneficiary of a VIE when we have the power to direct activities that most significantly affect the economic performance of the VIE and have the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE. If we are not the primary beneficiary of a VIE, we account for the investment or other variable interests in a VIE in accordance with the applicable GAAP. On a quarterly basis, we determine whether any changes in the interest or relationship with the entity impact the determination of whether we are still the primary beneficiary. For additional information about variable interest entities, see Note 4.

Equity Method Investments—We have investments in unconsolidated hospitality ventures accounted for under the equity method. These investments are an integral part of our business and strategically and operationally important to our overall results. When we receive a distribution from an investment, we determine whether it is a return on our investment or a return of our investment based on the underlying nature of the distribution. Certain equity method investments are reported on a

lag of up to three months. When intervening events occur during the time lag, we recognize the impact in our consolidated financial statements.

We assess investments in unconsolidated hospitality ventures for impairment quarterly, and when there is an indication that a loss in value has occurred, we may evaluate the carrying value in comparison to the estimated fair value of the investment, among other factors, to determine if the loss in value is other than temporary. Fair value is based on internally-developed discounted cash flow models, third-party appraisals, and if appropriate, pending third-party offers. Under the discounted cash flow approach, we utilize various assumptions requiring judgment, including projected future cash flows, discount rates, and capitalization rates, which are primarily Level Three assumptions. Our estimates of projected future cash flows are based on historical data, internal estimates, and/or external sources and are developed as part of our routine, long-term planning process.

We apply judgment to determine whether the decline in value is other than temporary. We consider factors including, but not limited to, the length of time and extent of the decline, loss of value as a percentage of the cost, financial condition and near-term financial projections, our intent and ability to recover the lost value, and current economic conditions. If the estimated fair value is less than the carrying value and the decline in value is deemed other than temporary, impairments are recognized in equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures on our consolidated statements of income.

For additional information about equity method investments, see Note 4.

Debt and Equity Securities—Excluding equity method investments, debt and equity securities consist of various investments:

- Equity securities consist of interest-bearing money market funds, mutual funds, exchange-traded funds, common shares, and preferred shares. Equity securities with a readily determinable fair value are recorded at fair value on our consolidated balance sheets based on listed market prices or dealer quotations where available and are classified as Level One in the fair value hierarchy as we are able to obtain pricing information on an ongoing basis. Equity securities without a readily determinable fair value are recorded at cost less any impairment, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or similar investment of the same issuer. Net gains and losses, both realized and unrealized, and impairment charges on equity securities are recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income.
- Debt securities include preferred shares, convertible debt, time deposits, and fixed income securities, including U.S. government obligations, obligations of other government agencies, corporate debt, mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities, and municipal and provincial notes and bonds. Debt securities are classified as trading, available-for-sale ("AFS"), or HTM.
 - Trading securities are recorded at fair value based on listed market prices or dealer price quotations, where available. Net gains and losses, both realized and unrealized, on trading securities are recognized in net gains (losses) and interest income from marketable securities held to fund rabbi trusts or other income (loss), net, depending on the nature of the investment, on our consolidated statements of income.
 - AFS securities are recorded at fair value based on listed market prices or dealer price quotations, where available. Unrealized gains and losses on AFS debt securities are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on our consolidated balance sheets. Realized gains and losses on AFS debt securities are recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income. AFS securities are assessed quarterly for expected credit losses, which are recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income. In determining the allowance for credit losses, we evaluate AFS securities at the individual security level and consider our investment strategy, current market conditions, financial strength of the underlying investments, term to maturity, credit rating, and our intent and ability to sell the securities.
 - HTM securities are investments that we have the intent and ability to hold until maturity are recorded at amortized cost, net of expected credit losses and unamortized discounts calculated using an imputed interest rate. HTM securities are assessed for expected credit losses quarterly, and credit losses are recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income. In determining the allowance for credit losses, we evaluate HTM securities individually due to the unique risks associated with each security, and we consider the financial strength of the underlying assets, including the current and forecasted performance of the property, term to maturity, credit quality of the owner, and current market conditions.

We classify debt securities as current or long-term based on their contractual maturity dates and our intent and ability to hold the investment. Our debt securities are primarily classified as Level Two in the fair value hierarchy.

Time deposits are recorded at par value, which approximates fair value, and are therefore classified as Level Two. The remaining securities, other than our investments in preferred shares, are classified as Level Two due to the use and weighting of multiple market inputs being considered in the final price of the security. Our preferred equity investments and a convertible debt security are classified as Level Three as discussed in Note 4.

Interest income on preferred equity investments that earn a return is recognized in other income (loss), net.

For additional information about debt and equity securities, including where we record these securities on our consolidated balance sheets, see Note 4.

Accounts Receivables—Our accounts receivables primarily consist of trade receivables due from the following: hotel owners with whom we have management and hotel services agreements and franchise agreements for services rendered and for reimbursed costs; guests at our owned and leased properties for services rendered; third-party financial institutions for credit and debit card transactions; customers through ALG Vacations and Mr & Mrs Smith for using our distribution services; and a third-party partner for our co-branded credit card programs. We assess all accounts receivables for credit losses quarterly and establish an allowance to reflect the net amount expected to be collected. The allowance for credit losses is based on an assessment of historical collection activity, geographic considerations, and/or the current business environment and is recognized in general and administrative expenses, owned and leased expenses, or distribution expenses on our consolidated statements of income, based on the nature of the receivable. For additional information about accounts receivables, see Note 6.

Financing Receivables—Financing receivables represent contractual rights to receive money either on demand or on fixed or determinable dates and are recorded on our consolidated balance sheets at amortized cost, net of expected credit losses and unamortized discounts calculated using an imputed interest rate. We recognize interest as earned and include accrued interest in the amortized cost basis of the asset.

We may offer seller financing as part of our dispositions. Seller financing is generally accounted for as a significant financing component and recorded as a financing receivable on our consolidated balance sheets. We estimate the fair value of the financing receivable upon sale using discounted future cash flow models. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and judgments regarding discount rates and expected timing of payments, which are primarily Level Three assumptions.

Our financing receivables represent one portfolio segment based on the level at which we develop and document a systematic methodology to determine the allowance for credit losses. Based on initial measurement attributes, risk characteristics, and our method for monitoring and assessing credit risk, we have identified the following classes of financing receivables within our portfolio segment:

- Secured financing to hotel owners—These financing receivables are junior and senior secured mortgage loans and are collateralized by underlying hotel properties.
- Unsecured financing to hotel owners or unconsolidated hospitality ventures—These financing receivables are primarily made up of individual loans and other types of unsecured financing arrangements provided to hotel owners or unconsolidated hospitality ventures. These financing receivables are generally subordinate to senior financing and have stated maturities and interest rates, but the repayment terms vary and may be dependent on future cash flows of the hotel or unconsolidated hospitality venture.

We individually assess all financing receivables for credit losses quarterly and establish an allowance to reflect the net amount expected to be collected. We estimate credit losses based on an analysis of several factors, including current economic conditions, industry trends, and/or specific risk characteristics of the financing receivable, including capital structure, loan performance, market factors, and/or the underlying hotel performance. Adjustments to credit losses are recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income.

We evaluate accrued interest allowances separately from the financing receivable assets. On an ongoing basis, we monitor the credit quality of our financing receivables based on historical and expected future payment activity. We determine if financing to hotel owners and unconsolidated hospitality ventures is nonperforming based on facts and circumstances of the individual financing receivables, including, but not limited to, if interest or principal is greater than 90 days past due based on the contractual terms of the individual financing receivables or if an allowance has been established for our other financing arrangements with that borrower. If we consider a financing receivable to be nonperforming, we place the financing receivable on nonaccrual status.

For financing receivables on nonaccrual status, we recognize interest income in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income when cash is received. Accrual of interest income is resumed and potential reversal of any

associated allowance for credit loss occurs when the receivable becomes contractually current and collection doubts are removed.

After an allowance for credit losses has been established, we may determine the receivable balance is uncollectible when all commercially reasonable means of recovering the receivable balance have been exhausted. We write off uncollectible balances by reversing the financing receivable and the related allowance for credit losses.

Financing receivables acquired in a business combination that have experienced more-than-insignificant deterioration in credit quality since origination are considered purchased with credit deterioration ("PCD") assets. PCD assets are accounted for at the purchase price or acquisition date fair value with an estimate of expected credit losses to arrive at an initial amortized cost basis. We use certain indicators, such as past due status and specific risk characteristics of the financing receivable, including capital structure, loan performance, market factors, and/or the underlying hotel performance, in identifying and assessing whether the acquired financing receivables are considered PCD assets.

For additional information about financing receivables, see Note 6.

Inventories—Inventories are comprised of operating supplies and equipment that primarily have a period of consumption of two years or less and food and beverage items at our owned and leased hotels, which are generally valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or net realizable value.

Property and Equipment and Definite-Lived Intangible Assets—Property and equipment is stated at cost, including interest incurred during development and construction periods, less accumulated depreciation. Definite-lived intangible assets are recorded at the acquisition date fair value, less accumulated amortization. Depreciation and amortization are recognized over the estimated useful lives of the assets, primarily using the straight-line method.

Property and equipment are depreciated over the following useful lives:

Buildings and improvements	10–50 years
Leasehold improvements	The shorter of the lease term or useful life of asset
Furniture and equipment	3–20 years
Computers	3–7 years

Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over the following useful lives:

Management and hotel services agreement and franchise agreement intangibles	4–31 years
Customer relationships intangibles	4–12 years
Other intangibles	Varies based on the nature of the asset

We assess property and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets for impairment quarterly, and when events or circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable, we evaluate the net book value of the assets by comparing it to the projected undiscounted future cash flows of the assets. Under the undiscounted cash flow approach, the primary assumption requiring judgment is our estimate of projected future operating cash flows, which are based on historical data, internal estimates, and/or external resources, which are primarily Level Three assumptions, and are developed as part of our routine, long-term planning process.

If the projected undiscounted future cash flows are less than the net book value of the assets, the fair value is determined based on internally-developed discounted cash flows of the assets, third-party appraisals or broker valuations, or if appropriate, pending third-party offers. Under the discounted cash flow approach, we utilize various assumptions requiring judgment, including projected future cash flows, discount rates, and capitalization rates. The excess of the net book value over the estimated fair value is recognized in asset impairments on our consolidated statements of income.

We evaluate the carrying value of our property and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets based on our plans, at the time, for such assets and consider qualitative factors such as future development in the surrounding area, status of local competition, and any significant adverse changes in the business climate. Changes to our plans, including a decision to dispose of or change the intended use of an asset, may have a material impact on the carrying value of the asset.

For additional information about property and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets, see Note 5 and Note 9, respectively.

Leases—We primarily lease land, buildings, office space, and equipment. We determine whether an arrangement is an operating or finance lease at inception. For our management and hotel services agreements, we apply judgment in order to determine whether the contract is accounted for as a lease or management or hotel services agreement based on the specific facts and circumstances of each agreement. In evaluating whether an agreement constitutes a lease, we review the contractual terms to determine which party obtains both the economic benefits and control of the assets. In arrangements where we control the assets and obtain substantially all of the economic benefits, we account for the contract as a lease.

Certain of our leases include options to extend the lease term at our discretion. We include lease extension options in our operating lease ROU assets and lease liabilities when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise the options. Our extension options range from approximately 1 to 25 years, and the impacts of all currently available options are recorded in our operating lease ROU assets and lease liabilities. Our lease agreements do not contain any significant residual value guarantees or restrictive covenants.

We assess operating lease ROU assets for impairment quarterly, and when events or circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable, we evaluate the net book value of the assets by comparing it to the projected undiscounted future cash flows of the assets. If the carrying value of the assets is determined to not be recoverable and is in excess of the estimated fair value, we recognize an impairment charge in asset impairments on our consolidated statements of income.

As our leases do not provide an implicit borrowing rate, we use our estimated IBR to determine the present value of our lease payments and apply a portfolio approach. We apply judgment in estimating our IBR, including assumptions related to currency risk and our credit risk. We also consider our recent debt issuances as well as publicly available data for instruments with similar characteristics when determining our IBR.

Our operating leases may include the following terms: (i) fixed minimum lease payments, (ii) variable lease payments based on a percentage of the hotel's profitability measure, as defined in the lease, (iii) lease payments equal to the greater of a fixed minimum or variable amount based on a percentage of the hotel's profitability measure, as defined in the lease, (iv) lease payments adjusted for changes in an index or market value, or (v) variable lease payments based on a percentage split of the total gross revenues, as defined in the lease. Future lease payments that are contingent are not included in the measurement of the operating lease liability or in the future maturities table (see Note 8).

For office space, land, and building leases, we do not separate the lease and nonlease components, which primarily relate to common area maintenance and utilities. We combine lease and nonlease components for those leases where we are the lessor, and we exclude all leases with terms of 12 months or less from the operating lease ROU assets and lease liabilities.

For additional information about leases, see Note 8.

Acquisitions—We evaluate the facts and circumstances of each acquisition to determine whether the transaction should be accounted for as an asset acquisition or a business combination.

Under the supervision of management, independent third-party valuation specialists estimate the fair value of the assets or businesses acquired using various recognized valuation methods, including the income approach, cost approach, relief from royalty approach, and sales comparison approach, all of which are primarily based on Level Three assumptions. Assumptions utilized in determining the fair value under these approaches include, but are not limited to, historical financial results when applicable, projected cash flows, discount rates, capitalization rates, royalty rates, current market conditions, likelihood of contract renewals, and comparable transactions. In a business combination, the fair value is allocated to tangible assets and liabilities and identifiable intangible assets, with any remaining value assigned to goodwill, if applicable. In an asset acquisition, any difference between the consideration paid and the fair value of the assets acquired is allocated across the identified assets based on the relative fair value. When we acquire the remaining ownership interest in or the property from an unconsolidated hospitality venture in a step acquisition, we estimate the fair value of our equity interest using the assumed cash proceeds we would receive from sale to a third party at a market sales price, which is determined using our fair value methodologies and assumptions.

The results of operations of properties or businesses are included in our consolidated statements of income beginning on the respective acquisition dates. Assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree are recorded on our consolidated balance sheets at the respective acquisition dates based on their estimated fair values. In business combinations, purchase price allocations may be based on preliminary estimates and assumptions. Accordingly, the allocations are subject to revision when we receive and review final information, including contracts, appraisals, and/or other analyses.

Acquisition-related costs incurred in conjunction with a business combination are recognized in transaction and integration costs on our consolidated statements of income. In an asset acquisition, these costs are included in the total consideration paid and allocated to the acquired assets.

Periodically, we enter into like-kind exchange agreements upon the disposition or acquisition of certain properties. Pursuant to the terms of these agreements, the proceeds from the sales are placed into an escrow account administered by a qualified intermediary and are unavailable for our use until released. The proceeds are recorded as restricted cash on our consolidated balance sheets and released (i) if they are utilized as part of a like-kind exchange agreement, (ii) if we do not identify a suitable replacement property within 45 days after the agreement date, or (iii) when a like-kind exchange agreement is not completed within the remaining allowable time period.

For additional information about acquisitions, see Note 7.

Contingent and Non-cash Consideration—As part of our acquisitions and dispositions, we may enter into contingent consideration arrangements whereby the buyer pays the seller additional consideration after transaction close upon the achievement of certain milestones, performance-based metrics, or other objectives as prescribed per the terms of the related agreement. In conjunction with our dispositions, we may receive non-cash consideration, such as preferred shares in the buyer entity or its affiliates.

Contingent consideration payable arising from acquisitions is recorded at fair value as a liability on the acquisition date. In order to estimate the fair value, we generally utilize a Monte Carlo simulation to model the probability of possible outcomes. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and judgments regarding discount rates, estimated probability of achieving the contractual objectives, and/or expected timing of payments, which are primarily Level Three assumptions. Contingent consideration liabilities are recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities or other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets and are remeasured at fair value on a quarterly basis. Changes in fair value are recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income.

Contingent consideration receivable and non-cash consideration arising from dispositions are recorded at fair value as an asset upon sale. In order to estimate the fair value, we generally utilize a Monte Carlo simulation to model possible outcomes or a probability-based discounted future cash flow approach. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and judgments regarding probability weighting, discount rates, estimated probability of achieving the contractual objectives, operating results, and/or expected timing of payments, which are primarily Level Three assumptions. Contingent consideration receivables are recorded in receivables, net or other assets on our consolidated balance sheets. Changes in the carrying value are recognized when realizable, and if it is determined that the contingent consideration receivable is not recoverable, we recognize a loss. The corresponding offset depends on the underlying nature of the transaction and is recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other or equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures on our consolidated statements of income. Non-cash consideration is generally recorded in other assets on our consolidated balance sheets based on the underlying nature of the consideration.

For additional information about contingent and non-cash consideration, see Note 7 and Note 15.

Goodwill—Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired in a business combination that are not individually identified or separately recognized. We evaluate goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quarter of each year using balances at October 1 and at interim dates if a triggering event occurs. Goodwill impairment is determined by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying amount.

We evaluate the fair value of the reporting unit by performing a qualitative or quantitative assessment. In any given year, we can elect to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If it is more likely than not that the fair value is less than the carrying value, or we elect to bypass the qualitative assessment, we proceed to the quantitative assessment.

When determining fair value, we utilize internally-developed discounted future cash flow models, third-party valuation specialist models, which may include income-based and/or market-based approaches, third-party appraisals or broker valuations, and if appropriate, pending third-party offers. Under an income-based approach, we utilize various assumptions requiring judgment, including projected future cash flows, discount rates, and capitalization rates. Our estimates of projected future cash flows are based on historical data, internal estimates, and/or external sources, which are primarily Level Three assumptions, and are developed as part of our routine, long-term planning process. For certain reporting units, we apply a weighting of an income-based approach and a market-based approach, which utilizes the guideline public companies method and is based on earnings multiple data derived from publicly traded peer group companies. We then compare the estimated fair value to our carrying value. If the carrying value is in excess of the fair value, we recognize an impairment charge in asset impairments on our consolidated statements of income based on the amount by which the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeded the fair value, limited to the carrying amount of goodwill. For additional information about goodwill, see Note 9.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets—We have certain brand and other indefinite-lived intangible assets that were acquired through various asset acquisitions and business combinations. We evaluate indefinite-lived intangible assets for

impairment annually during the fourth quarter of each year using balances at October 1 and at interim dates if indicators of impairment exist. We use the relief from royalty method to estimate the fair value. When determining fair value, we utilize internally-developed discounted future cash flow models and third-party valuation specialist models, which include various assumptions requiring judgment, including projected future cash flows, discount rates, and market royalty rates. Our estimates of projected cash flows are based on historical data, internal estimates, and/or external sources, which are primarily Level Three assumptions, and are developed as part of our routine, long-term planning process. We then compare the estimated fair value to our carrying value. If the carrying value is in excess of the fair value, we recognize an impairment charge in asset impairments on our consolidated statements of income. For additional information about indefinite-lived intangible assets, see Note 9.

Guarantees—We enter into performance guarantees related to certain hotels we manage. We also enter into debt repayment and other guarantees with respect to certain unconsolidated hospitality ventures, certain hospitality venture partners, certain managed or franchised hotels, and indemnifications provided as a result of certain dispositions for liabilities incurred prior to sale. We record a liability for the fair value of these guarantees at their inception date. In order to estimate the fair value, we generally use either scenario-based weighting, which utilizes a Monte Carlo simulation or a probability-based weighting approach to model the probability of possible outcomes, or the with and without method under the income approach, which calculates the difference in present value of anticipated cash flows with and without the guarantee. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and judgments regarding probability weighting, discount rates, volatility, hotel operating results, hotel property sales prices, and timing of expected cash flows, which are primarily Level Three assumptions. The fair value is not revalued due to future changes in assumptions. The non-cash corresponding offset depends on the circumstances in which the guarantee was issued and is generally recorded to equity method investments or key money assets. We amortize the liability for the fair value of a guarantee into income over the term of the guarantee using a systematic and rational, risk-based approach. Guarantees related to our managed or franchised hotels, hospitality venture partners, and indemnifications for liabilities incurred prior to sale are amortized into income in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income. Guarantees related to our unconsolidated hospitality ventures are amortized into income in equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures on our consolidated statements of income.

- **Performance and other guarantees**—On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the likelihood of funding under a guarantee. To the extent we determine an obligation to fund is both probable and estimable based on performance during the period or facts and circumstances of the underlying indemnification liability, we record a separate contingent liability and recognize expense in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income.
- **Debt repayment guarantees**—At guarantee inception and on a quarterly basis, we evaluate the risk of funding under a guarantee. We assess credit risk based on the current and forecasted performance of the underlying property, whether the property owner is current on debt service, the historical performance of the underlying property, and the current market, and we record a separate liability and recognize expense in other income (loss), net or equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures on our consolidated statements of income based on the nature of the guarantee.

For additional information about guarantees, see Note 4 and Note 15.

Income Taxes—We account for income taxes to recognize the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and the amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities resulting from the future tax consequences of differences between the financial statements and tax basis of the respective assets and liabilities. We assess the realizability of our deferred tax assets and record a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some or all of our deferred tax assets are not realizable. This assessment is completed by tax jurisdiction and relies on the weight of both positive and negative evidence available with significant weight placed on recent financial results. When necessary, we use systematic and logical methods to estimate when deferred tax liabilities will reverse and generate taxable income and when deferred tax assets will reverse and generate tax deductions.

We recognize the financial statement effect of a tax position when, based on the technical merits of the uncertain tax position, it is more likely than not to be sustained on a review by taxing authorities. We review these estimates and make changes to recorded amounts of uncertain tax positions as facts and circumstances warrant. For additional information about income taxes, see Note 14.

Stock-Based Compensation—As part of our LTIP, we award time-vested stock appreciation rights ("SARs"), time-vested restricted stock units ("RSUs"), and performance-vested restricted stock units ("PSUs") to certain employees and non-employee directors. In addition, non-employee directors may elect to receive their annual fees and/or annual equity retainers in the form of shares of our Class A common stock. Under the LTIP, we are authorized to issue up to 28,025,000 shares:

- **SARs**—Each vested SAR gives the holder the right to the difference between the value of one share of our Class A common stock at the exercise date and the value of one share of our Class A common stock at the grant date. The

value of the SARs is determined using the fair value of our common stock at the grant date based on the closing stock price of our Class A common stock. SARs generally vest 25% annually over four years, beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date. Vested SARs can be exercised over their life as determined in accordance with the LTIP. All SARs have a 10-year contractual term, are settled in shares of our Class A common stock, and are accounted for as equity instruments.

We recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis from the date of grant through the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period, unless the employee meets applicable retirement eligibility criteria resulting in immediate recognition. We recognize the effect of forfeitures as they occur.

- *RSUs*—Each vested RSU will generally be settled by delivery of a single share of our Class A common stock and therefore is accounted for as an equity instrument. In certain situations, we grant a limited number of cash-settled RSUs, which are recorded as liability instruments. The cash-settled RSUs represent an insignificant portion of previous grants.

The value of the RSUs is determined using the fair value of our common stock at the grant date based on the closing stock price of our Class A common stock. Awards are generally settled as each individual tranche vests under the relevant agreements. We recognize compensation expense over the requisite service period of the individual grant, which is generally a vesting period of one to four years, unless the employee meets retirement eligibility criteria resulting in immediate recognition. We recognize the effect of forfeitures as they occur.

Under certain circumstances, we have issued time-vested RSUs with performance requirements, which vest based on the satisfaction of a continued employment requirement and the attainment of specified performance-vesting conditions that are established annually and eligible to be earned in tranches. Generally, these RSUs fully vest and settle in Class A common stock to the extent performance requirements for the applicable tranche are achieved, and if the requisite service period, which is generally three to five years, is satisfied. The value of the RSUs is set at award issuance or is determined using the fair value of our common stock at the grant date based on the closing stock price of our Class A common stock. Due to the fact that the performance conditions are established annually, each tranche typically has its own grant date. We issued \$15 million of these RSUs during the year ended December 31, 2024, of which \$12 million have not met the grant date criteria and were therefore not deemed granted at December 31, 2024. We did not issue any such RSUs during the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

- *PSUs*—PSUs vest and are settled in Class A common stock based on the performance of the Company through the end of the applicable performance period relative to the applicable performance target and are generally subject to a continued employment requirement through the applicable performance period. The PSUs are eligible to vest at the end of the performance period only to the extent the performance threshold is met and continued service requirements are satisfied; there is no interim performance metric, except in the case of certain change in control transactions.

The value of the PSUs is determined using the fair value of our common stock at the grant date based on the closing stock price of our Class A common stock. PSUs may include a relative total shareholder return ("TSR") modifier to determine the number of shares earned at the end of the performance period. Under the supervision of management, independent third-party valuation specialists estimate the fair value of the PSUs that include the TSR modifier using a Monte Carlo simulation to model the probability of possible outcomes. The Monte Carlo simulation uses the grant date stock price as a key input and includes assumptions and judgments regarding the risk-free interest rate, expected volatility, and annual dividend yield. Generally, the fair value of the PSUs estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation does not significantly differ from the fair value based on the grant date stock price.

We recognize compensation expense over the requisite performance period, which is generally a vesting period of approximately three to six years. Compensation expense recognized is dependent on management's quarterly assessment of the expected achievement relative to the applicable performance targets. We recognize the effect of forfeitures as they occur.

For additional information about stock-based compensation, including where we recognize compensation expense on our consolidated statements of income, see Note 17.

Loyalty Program—The loyalty program is funded through contributions from participating properties and third-party loyalty alliances based on eligible revenues from loyalty program members and returns on marketable securities. The funds are used for the redemption of member awards and payment of operating expenses. Operating costs are expensed as incurred and recognized in reimbursed costs on our consolidated statements of income.

The program invests amounts received from the participating properties and third-party loyalty alliances in marketable securities, which are included in cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, and other assets on our consolidated balance sheets (see Note 4). Additionally, from time to time, the program may loan excess funds to the Company and receive market-rate interest in return. Any such loans are due on demand, if needed to fund expenses of the program. Deferred revenue related to the loyalty program is classified as current and long-term contract liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets (see Note 3). The costs of administering the loyalty program, including the estimated cost of award redemption, are charged to the participating properties and third-party loyalty alliances based on members' qualified expenditures.

Advertising Costs—We expense costs to produce advertising in the period incurred and costs to communicate advertising as the communication occurs. Advertising costs are generally reimbursed by our third-party owners and franchisees and are recognized in revenues for reimbursed costs and reimbursed costs on our consolidated statements of income. Certain advertising costs associated with our distribution segment are not reimbursable. During each of the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, we recognized \$67 million of advertising costs in distribution expenses on our consolidated statements of income.

Government Assistance—We receive government subsidies, primarily in the form of cash, related to expenses such as salaries, wages, and taxes. The subsidies are recorded when there is reasonable assurance the conditions of the subsidies will be met and the subsidies will be received. The subsidies are recognized as a benefit against the related expense on our consolidated statements of income over the period that the subsidies are intended to compensate. Our subsidies primarily relate to the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security ("CARES") Act and the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 ("ARPA"). The CARES Act, enacted in March 2020, as well as subsequently enacted legislation, including ARPA, provided economic support due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act included an employee retention credit, which is a refundable tax credit against certain employment taxes. ARPA provided a refundable subsidy tax credit to employers to offset the costs of COBRA coverage for certain qualified employees from April 1, 2021 through September 30, 2021. During the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, we received \$2 million, \$19 million, and \$6 million, respectively, of government assistance related to these programs in the form of cash. The benefit from the government subsidies was primarily recognized against the related expenses in prior periods. At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had \$5 million and \$7 million, respectively, related to these programs recorded in receivables, net on our consolidated balance sheets.

Adopted Accounting Standards

Reference Rate Reform—In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2020-04 ("ASU 2020-04"), *Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting*. ASU 2020-04 provides optional expedients and exceptions that we can elect to adopt, subject to meeting certain criteria, regarding contract modifications, hedging relationships, and other transactions that reference the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") or another reference rate expected to be discontinued because of reference rate reform. In December 2022, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2022-06 ("ASU 2022-06"), *Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848*. ASU 2022-06 was effective upon issuance and defers the sunset date of Topic 848 by two years, extending the provisions of ASU 2020-04 through December 31, 2024. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we adopted the provisions of ASU 2020-04. We amended certain LIBOR-based contracts during the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. ASU 2020-04 did not materially impact our consolidated financial statements upon adoption.

Segment Reporting—In November 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-07 ("ASU 2023-07"), *Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures*. ASU 2023-07 improves reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses and information used to evaluate segment performance. The provisions of ASU 2023-07 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. We adopted the provisions of ASU 2023-07 for the year ended December 31, 2024 on a retrospective basis and included enhanced disclosures in Note 19.

Future Adoption of Accounting Standards

Disclosure Improvements—In October 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-06 ("ASU 2023-06"), *Disclosure Improvements: Codification Amendments in Response to the SEC's Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative*. ASU 2023-06 modifies the disclosure and presentation requirements for certain FASB Accounting Standards Codification topics to align with the SEC's regulation. The effective date for each amendment will be the date on which the SEC's removal of that related disclosure from its regulations becomes effective, if the SEC removes the disclosure by June 30, 2027. The provisions of ASU 2023-06 are to be applied prospectively, with early adoption prohibited. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 2023-06 to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and accompanying Notes.

Income Taxes—In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-09 ("ASU 2023-09"), *Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures*. ASU 2023-09 requires enhanced annual income tax disclosures including (1) disaggregation of effective tax rate reconciliation categories, (2) additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold, and (3) incomes taxes paid by jurisdiction. The provisions of ASU 2023-09 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted, and may be applied either prospectively or retrospectively for all prior periods presented. We are currently assessing the impact of adopting ASU 2023-09.

Expense Disaggregation Disclosures—In November 2024, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2024-03 ("ASU 2024-03"), *Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses*. ASU 2024-03 requires disclosure of disaggregated information about certain costs and expenses presented on the consolidated statements of income, including purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, and intangible asset amortization. The provisions of ASU 2024-03 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted, and may be applied either prospectively or retrospectively for any or all prior periods presented. We are currently assessing the impact of adopting ASU 2024-03.

3. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Disaggregated Revenues

See Note 19 for our revenues disaggregated by the nature of the product or service.

Contract Balances

Contract assets were insignificant at both December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

Contract liabilities were comprised of the following:

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Deferred revenue related to the loyalty program	\$ 1,333	\$ 1,130
Deferred revenue related to distribution and destination management services	705	719
Deferred revenue related to insurance programs	112	75
Deferred revenue related to co-branded credit card programs	66	49
Advanced deposits	53	57
Initial fees received from franchise owners	47	45
Deferred revenue related to the paid membership program (1)	—	1,204
Other deferred revenue	80	78
Total contract liabilities	\$ 2,396	\$ 3,357

(1) The change from December 31, 2023 is due to balances written off to gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2024 as a result of the UVC Transaction (see Note 4).

Revenue recognized during the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of each year was \$1,208 million and \$1,224 million, respectively. This revenue primarily relates to distribution and destination management services and the loyalty program.

Revenue Allocated to Remaining Performance Obligations

Revenue allocated to remaining performance obligations represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized, which includes deferred revenue and amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue in future periods. Contracted revenue expected to be recognized in future periods was approximately \$125 million at December 31, 2024, approximately 10% of which we expect to recognize over the next 12 months, with the remainder to be recognized thereafter.

4. DEBT AND EQUITY SECURITIES

We invest in debt and equity securities that we believe are strategically and operationally important to our business. These investments take the form of (i) investments in variable interest entities, (ii) equity method investments where we have the ability to significantly influence the operations of the entity, (iii) marketable securities held to fund operating programs and for investment purposes, and (iv) other types of investments.

Variable Interest Entities

Bahia Principe—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we entered into a shareholders' agreement with an unrelated third-party and acquired 50% of the outstanding shares of Management Hotelero Piñero, S.L. The joint venture, which is a VIE, owns the Bahia Principe brand and manages Bahia Principe Hotels & Resorts-branded properties (see Note 7). Through our variable interest, we have the power to direct the activities that most significantly affect the economic performance of the VIE and have the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE and therefore, we are the primary beneficiary. We consolidate the operating results and financial position of this VIE in our consolidated financial statements within our management and franchising segment.

The following table summarizes the VIE's assets and liabilities, including the effect of foreign currency translation, recorded on our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2024. The assets may only be used to settle obligations of the consolidated VIE, if any. In addition, there is no recourse to us for the consolidated VIE's liabilities.

Cash and cash equivalents	\$	2
Receivables		15
Total current assets		17
Operating lease right-of-use assets		1
Goodwill		147
Intangibles, net		515
Other assets		50
Total assets	\$	730
Accounts payable	\$	15
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities		1
Total current liabilities		16
Long-term operating lease liabilities		1
Other long-term liabilities		161
Total liabilities	\$	178

The joint venture increases our all-inclusive portfolio giving guests and loyalty program members more opportunities to experience all-inclusive travel. In conjunction with the transaction, we entered into various agreements with the joint venture and its related parties to provide certain commercial and management support services to the joint venture and to support the growth of the Bahia Principe brand and the operation of the Bahia Principe Hotels & Resorts-branded properties.

UVC Transaction—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we completed the UVC Transaction and accounted for the sale of our controlling financial interest in the entity as a business disposition. We received \$41 million of proceeds, net of \$39 million of cash disposed; recorded a \$20 million equity method investment representing the fair value of our retained investment in the entity; and recorded \$86 million of guarantee liabilities as described below. The transaction resulted in a \$231 million pre-tax gain, which was recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2024. We continue to manage the Unlimited Vacation Club business under a long-term management agreement and license and royalty agreement. The operating results of the Unlimited Vacation Club business prior to the UVC Transaction are reported within our distribution segment.

The fair value of our retained investment in the entity was determined using a Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model of our common shares in the entity. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and judgments regarding volatility and discount rates, which are primarily Level Three assumptions.

In conjunction with the transaction, we agreed to guarantee up to \$70 million of our hospitality venture partner's investment upon the occurrence of certain events, and we recorded a \$25 million guarantee liability at fair value in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. The fair value was estimated using the with and without method, which includes projected cash flows based on contract terms. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and judgments regarding discount rates and length of time, which are primarily Level Three assumptions.

Additionally, we agreed to indemnify the unconsolidated hospitality venture, the primary obligor to the foreign taxing authorities, for obligations the entity may incur as a result of pre-existing uncertain tax positions as of the date of the transaction. Following the transaction, we accounted for the indemnification as a guarantee. We derecognized the long-term

income taxes payable related to the uncertain tax positions and recorded a \$61 million guarantee liability at fair value in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. The fair value of the indemnification was estimated using a probability-based weighting approach to determine the likelihood of payment of the tax liability, penalties, and interest related to the 2013 through 2018 tax years. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and judgments regarding probability weighting, discount rates, and expected timing of cash flows, which are primarily Level Three assumptions. At December 31, 2024, the indemnification for open tax years had a maximum exposure of \$72 million.

The entity that owns the Unlimited Vacation Club business is a VIE in which we hold a variable interest but are not the primary beneficiary, and we account for our common ownership interest as an equity method investment. At December 31, 2024, we had \$68 million recorded in other long-term liabilities (see Note 13) on our consolidated balance sheet related to our guaranteed obligations of this unconsolidated VIE. At December 31, 2024, our maximum exposure to loss was \$142 million, which includes the maximum exposure under the aforementioned guarantee and indemnification (see Note 15).

Equity Method Investments

The carrying values and ownership interests of our investments in unconsolidated hospitality ventures accounted for under the equity method were as follows:

Investee	Ownership interest	Carrying value	
		December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Juniper Hotels Limited	38.8 %	\$ 76	\$ 28
HP Boston Partners, LLC	50.0 %	20	22
Hotel am Belvedere Holding GmbH & Co KG	50.0 %	15	13
HRM HoldCo, LLC	50.0 %	15	13
HC Lenox JV Holdings LLC	50.0 %	15	9
Atona Impact Fund LP	49.8 %	12	—
Hotel Hoyo Uno, S. de R.L. de C.V.	40.0 %	7	7
Denver Downtown Hotel Partners LLC	50.0 %	5	5
H.E. Philadelphia HC Hotel, L.L.C.	40.0 %	5	7
Hyatt of Baja, S. de R.L. de C.V.	— %	—	74
Other		19	33
Total equity method investments		<u>\$ 189</u>	<u>\$ 211</u>

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recognized \$15 million of impairment charges, primarily related to two of our unconsolidated hospitality ventures in equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures on our consolidated statements of income as the estimated fair values were less than the carrying values, and the impairments were deemed other than temporary. We estimated the fair values of our investments, which are classified as Level Three in the hierarchy, using an internally-developed cash flow model, which included assumptions and judgments regarding projected future cash flows, discount rate, and capitalization rate.

Juniper Hotels Limited—During the year ended December 31, 2023, we acquired 50% of the outstanding shares of a third-party entity that owns three of our managed properties in India in exchange for the non-cash redemption of a HTM debt security. Upon completion, Juniper Hotels Limited acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of the entity, and we recorded a \$32 million equity method investment.

On September 28, 2023, our unconsolidated hospitality venture publicly filed a draft red herring prospectus with the Securities and Exchange Board of India in conjunction with a proposed initial public offering ("IPO") of equity shares, subject to market conditions and regulatory approvals. On February 28, 2024, Juniper Hotels Limited completed its IPO on the BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange of India Limited stock exchanges and issued 50,000,000 equity shares. Both prior and subsequent to the IPO, we hold 86,251,192 equity shares in the entity. At December 31, 2024, the aggregate value of our equity shares was \$354 million based on the price per share of the principal market.

As a result of the IPO, our ownership interest in the unconsolidated hospitality venture was diluted from 50.0% to 38.8%. As we maintain the ability to significantly influence the operations of the entity, we recorded an increase to our equity method investment and recognized a \$79 million non-cash pre-tax dilution gain in equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Hyatt of Baja, S. de. R.L. de C.V.—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we received \$21 million of proceeds related to the sale of our ownership interest in an equity method investment and recognized an \$8 million pre-tax gain in equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures on our consolidated statements of income, net of a \$2 million reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive loss (see Note 16). At the time of sale, we had \$28 million of outstanding financing receivables related to the unconsolidated hospitality venture, which were repaid in conjunction with the sale. Additionally, we retained long-term management and licensing agreements for the related hotel and residential units, respectively, upon sale.

We provided \$10 million of seller financing with a maturity date of two years. Upon sale, we estimated the fair value of the seller financing to be approximately \$8 million and recorded an unsecured financing receivable on our consolidated balance sheet. The fair value was estimated using a discounted future cash flow model and includes assumptions and judgments regarding the discount rate, which is primarily a Level Three assumption.

As part of total consideration, we may earn up to \$13 million of contingent consideration. The contingent consideration will be earned upon the achievement of certain performance-based metrics subsequent to hotel opening. Upon sale, we recorded a \$5 million contingent consideration receivable at fair value in other assets on our consolidated balance sheet. The fair value of the contingent consideration receivable was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation to model the likelihood of achieving the performance-based metrics. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and judgments regarding discount rates and operating results, which are primarily Level Three assumptions.

Other—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we received \$16 million of proceeds related to the sale of our ownership interest in an equity method investment and recognized a \$12 million pre-tax gain in equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures on our consolidated statements of income. Following the sale, we continue to manage the related property under a long-term management agreement.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we did not have any other activity.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we received \$23 million of proceeds related to the sale of our ownership interest in an equity method investment and recognized a \$4 million pre-tax gain in equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures on our consolidated statements of income, net of a \$5 million reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive loss. Following the sale, we continue to manage the related property under a long-term management agreement. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2022, an equity method investment, in which we hold an ownership interest, sold the underlying hotel to a third party, and we received \$16 million of proceeds. We recognized a \$15 million net gain in equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures on our consolidated statements of income. Upon sale, we entered into a long-term franchise agreement for the property.

Marketable Securities

We hold marketable securities with readily determinable fair values to fund certain operating programs and for investment purposes. We periodically transfer available cash and cash equivalents to purchase marketable securities for investment purposes.

Marketable Securities Held to Fund Operating Programs—Marketable securities held to fund operating programs, which are recorded at fair value on our consolidated balance sheets, were as follows:

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Loyalty program (Note 10)	\$ 642	\$ 807
Deferred compensation plans held in rabbi trusts (Note 10 and Note 13)	548	489
Captive insurance company (Note 10)	86	94
Total marketable securities held to fund operating programs	\$ 1,276	\$ 1,390
Less: current portion of marketable securities held to fund operating programs included in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments	(55)	(320)
Marketable securities held to fund operating programs included in other assets	\$ 1,221	\$ 1,070

At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, marketable securities held to fund operating programs included:

- \$473 million and \$330 million, respectively, of AFS debt securities with contractual maturity dates ranging from 2025 through 2069. The amortized cost of our AFS debt securities approximates fair value;

- \$25 million, in both periods, of time deposits classified as HTM debt securities with a contractual maturity date in 2025. The amortized cost of our time deposits approximates fair value;
- \$17 million and \$15 million, respectively, of equity securities with a readily determinable fair value.

Net unrealized and realized gains (losses) from marketable securities held to fund operating programs recognized on our consolidated financial statements were as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Unrealized gains (losses), net			
Net gains (losses) and interest income from marketable securities held to fund rabbi trusts (1)	\$ 6	\$ 42	\$ (89)
Revenues for reimbursed costs (2)	2	21	(42)
Other income (loss), net (Note 21)	4	10	(37)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (Note 16)	(5)	10	(14)
Realized gains (losses), net			
Net gains (losses) and interest income from marketable securities held to fund rabbi trusts (1)	\$ 43	\$ 13	\$ 14
Revenues for reimbursed costs (2)	21	6	7
Other income (loss), net (Note 21)	1	(2)	—

(1) Unrealized and realized gains and losses recognized in net gains (losses) and interest income from marketable securities held to fund rabbi trusts are offset by amounts recognized in general and administrative expenses and owned and leased expenses with no impact on net income.

(2) Unrealized and realized gains and losses recognized in revenues for reimbursed costs related to investments held to fund rabbi trusts are offset by amounts recognized in reimbursed costs with no impact on net income.

Marketable Securities Held for Investment Purposes—Marketable securities held for investment purposes, which are recorded at cost or fair value, depending on the nature of the investment, on our consolidated balance sheets, were as follows:

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Interest-bearing money market funds	\$ 600	\$ 284
Common shares in Playa N.V. (Note 10)	154	105
Time deposits (1)	379	11
Total marketable securities held for investment purposes	\$ 1,133	\$ 400
Less: current portion of marketable securities held for investment purposes included in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments	(975)	(294)
Marketable securities held for investment purposes included in other assets	\$ 158	\$ 106

(1) Time deposits have contractual maturities on various dates through 2027. The amortized cost of our time deposits approximates fair value.

We hold common shares in Playa Hotels & Resorts N.V. ("Playa N.V."), which are accounted for as an equity security with a readily determinable fair value as we do not have the ability to significantly influence the operations of the entity. We did not sell any of these common shares during the years ended December 31, 2024 or December 31, 2023. Net unrealized gains (losses) recognized on our consolidated statements of income were as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Other income (loss), net (Note 21)	\$ 49	\$ 26	\$ (18)

Fair Value—We measure marketable securities at fair value on a recurring basis:

	December 31, 2024	Cash and cash equivalents	Short-term investments	Other assets
Level One—Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets				
Interest-bearing money market funds	\$ 638	\$ 638	\$ —	\$ —
Mutual funds and exchange-traded funds	555	—	—	555
Common shares	164	—	—	164
Level Two—Significant Other Observable Inputs				
Time deposits	404	20	355	29
U.S. government obligations	307	—	5	302
U.S. government agencies	21	—	—	21
Corporate debt securities	249	—	12	237
Mortgage-backed securities	29	—	—	29
Asset-backed securities	38	—	—	38
Municipal and provincial notes and bonds	4	—	—	4
Total	\$ 2,409	\$ 658	\$ 372	\$ 1,379

	December 31, 2023	Cash and cash equivalents	Short-term investments	Other assets
Level One—Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets				
Interest-bearing money market funds	\$ 599	\$ 599	\$ —	\$ —
Mutual funds and exchange-traded funds	495	—	—	495
Common shares	114	—	—	114
Level Two—Significant Other Observable Inputs				
Time deposits	36	—	10	26
U.S. government obligations	250	—	—	250
U.S. government agencies	37	—	—	37
Corporate debt securities	212	—	5	207
Mortgage-backed securities	19	—	—	19
Asset-backed securities	24	—	—	24
Municipal and provincial notes and bonds	4	—	—	4
Total	\$ 1,790	\$ 599	\$ 15	\$ 1,176

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy.

Other Investments

HTM Debt Securities—We hold investments in third-party entities associated with certain of our hotels. The investments are redeemable on various dates through 2062 and recorded as HTM debt securities within other assets on our consolidated balance sheets:

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
HTM debt securities (1)	\$ 276	\$ 53
Less: allowance for credit losses	(9)	(13)
Total HTM debt securities, net of allowances	\$ 267	\$ 40

(1) At December 31, 2024, HTM debt securities included a \$194 million preferred equity investment, net of a \$35 million unamortized discount based on an imputed interest rate of approximately 8.9% and a probability-weighted fair value adjustment related to our investment in the third-party entity that owns Hyatt Regency Orlando (see Note 7).

The following table summarizes the activity in our HTM debt securities allowance for credit losses:

	2024	2023
Allowance at January 1	\$ 13	\$ 31
Provisions (reversals), net (1)	(2)	(15)
Write-offs	(2)	(3)
Allowance at December 31	<u>\$ 9</u>	<u>\$ 13</u>

(1) Provisions for credit losses were partially or fully offset by interest income recognized in the same periods (see Note 21).

We estimated the fair value of these HTM debt securities to be approximately \$270 million and \$41 million at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The fair values of our preferred equity investments, which are classified as Level Three in the fair value hierarchy, are estimated using probability-based discounted future cash flow models based on current market inputs for similar types of arrangements. The primary sensitivity in these models is the selection of appropriate discount rates and probability weighting. Fluctuations in these assumptions could result in different estimates of fair value. The remaining HTM debt securities are classified as Level Two in the fair value hierarchy due to the use and weighting of multiple market inputs being considered in the final price of the security.

Convertible Debt Security—During the year ended December 31, 2023, we invested in a \$30 million convertible debt security associated with a franchised property, which is classified as AFS and recorded in other assets on our consolidated balance sheets. The investment has a contractual maturity date in 2029. The convertible debt investment is remeasured at fair value on a recurring basis and is classified as Level Three in the fair value hierarchy. We estimated the fair value of this investment to be \$42 million and \$39 million at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The fair value is estimated using a discounted future cash flow model, and the primary sensitivity in the model is the selection of an appropriate discount rate. Fluctuations in our assumptions could result in different estimates of fair value. Net unrealized gains recognized on our consolidated financial statements were as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Other comprehensive income (loss) (Note 16)	\$ 3	\$ 9	\$ —

Equity Securities Without a Readily Determinable Fair Value—At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we held \$12 million and \$16 million, respectively, of investments in equity securities without a readily determinable fair value, which are recorded within other assets on our consolidated balance sheets and represent investments in entities where we do not have the ability to significantly influence the operations of the entity.

Due to ongoing operating cash flow shortfalls in the business underlying an equity security during the year ended December 31, 2024, we recognized a \$5 million impairment charge of our full investment balance in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income (see Note 21) as the carrying value was in excess of the fair value.

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Land	\$ 482	\$ 564
Buildings and improvements	1,591	2,645
Leasehold improvements	209	191
Furniture, equipment, and computers	891	1,166
Construction in progress	44	23
Total property and equipment	<u>3,217</u>	<u>4,589</u>
Less: accumulated depreciation	<u>(1,528)</u>	<u>(2,249)</u>
Total property and equipment, net	<u>\$ 1,689</u>	<u>\$ 2,340</u>

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Depreciation expense	\$ 202	\$ 219	\$ 216

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we identified changes in circumstances that indicated that the carrying values of certain asset groups, inclusive of property and equipment and operating lease ROU assets (see Note 8), may not be recoverable. We assessed the recoverability of the net book values and determined that the carrying values of certain asset groups were not fully recoverable. We then estimated the fair values of these assets, which are classified as Level Three in the hierarchy, using pending third-party offers or internally-developed cash flow models, which incorporated cash flow assumptions based on current economic trends, historical experience, and future growth projections. We determined that the carrying values of certain asset groups were in excess of the fair values, and we allocated the impairment charges to the long-lived assets within the asset group. We recognized \$21 million of impairment charges related to property and equipment. The impairment charges were recognized in asset impairments on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2024 within our owned and leased segment.

For additional information about acquisition and disposition activity impacting property and equipment, see Note 7.

6. RECEIVABLES

Receivables

At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had \$1,121 million and \$883 million, respectively, of net receivables recorded on our consolidated balance sheets.

The following table summarizes the activity in our receivables allowance for credit losses:

	2024	2023
Allowance at January 1	\$ 50	\$ 63
Provisions (reversals), net	19	(5)
Write-offs	(7)	(8)
Allowance at December 31	<u>\$ 62</u>	<u>\$ 50</u>

Financing Receivables

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Secured financing to hotel owners (1)	\$ 150	\$ —
Unsecured financing to hotel owners and unconsolidated hospitality ventures (2)	295	137
Total financing receivables	\$ 445	\$ 137
Less: current portion of financing receivables included in receivables, net	(41)	(22)
Less: allowance for credit losses (3)	(36)	(42)
Total long-term financing receivables, net of allowances	<u>\$ 368</u>	<u>\$ 73</u>

(1) Includes an \$85 million loan purchased, a CHF 41 million loan issued in conjunction with the sale of Park Hyatt Zurich, and a \$20 million loan issued in conjunction with the sale of Hyatt Regency O'Hare Chicago (see Note 7).

(2) At December 31, 2024, unsecured financing included a \$35 million loan, net of a \$15 million unamortized discount based on an imputed interest rate of approximately 9.5%, related to the seller financing issued in conjunction with the sale of an undeveloped land parcel (see Note 7).

(3) At December 31, 2024, there was no allowance for credit losses recorded for secured financing to hotel owners.

Allowance for Credit Losses—The following table summarizes the activity in our unsecured financing receivables allowance for credit losses:

	2024	2023
Allowance at January 1	\$ 42	\$ 44
Write-offs	(6)	(2)
Foreign currency exchange, net	(2)	—
Provisions (reversals), net	2	—
Allowance at December 31	<u>\$ 36</u>	<u>\$ 42</u>

Credit Monitoring—Our unsecured financing receivables were as follows:

	December 31, 2024			
	Gross loan balance (principal and interest)	Related allowance	Net financing receivables	Gross receivables on nonaccrual status
Loans	\$ 259	\$ (33)	\$ 226	\$ 20
Other financing arrangements	36	(3)	33	—
Total unsecured financing receivables	<u>\$ 295</u>	<u>\$ (36)</u>	<u>\$ 259</u>	<u>\$ 20</u>

	December 31, 2023			
	Gross loan balance (principal and interest)	Related allowance	Net financing receivables	Gross receivables on nonaccrual status
Loans	\$ 128	\$ (39)	\$ 89	\$ 22
Other financing arrangements	9	(3)	6	—
Total unsecured financing receivables	<u>\$ 137</u>	<u>\$ (42)</u>	<u>\$ 95</u>	<u>\$ 22</u>

Fair Value—We estimated the fair value of financing receivables to be approximately \$440 million and \$133 million at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The fair values, which are classified as Level Three in the fair value hierarchy, are estimated using discounted future cash flow models. The principal inputs used are projected future cash flows and the discount rate, which is generally the effective interest rate of the loan.

7. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

Acquisitions

Bahia Principe—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we completed the Bahia Principe Transaction (see Note 4) for €419 million of base consideration, subject to customary adjustments related to working capital, cash, and indebtedness, and including €60 million of deferred consideration payable at future dates. We may pay additional variable contingent consideration through 2034 primarily related to the achievement of certain milestones for the development of additional hotels to be managed by the joint venture. The contingent consideration is payable at each hotel opening and is based on a multiple of stabilized base and incentive management fee revenues, and therefore, we are unable to reasonably estimate our maximum potential future consideration.

We closed on the transaction on December 27, 2024, paid cash of €359 million (approximately \$374 million) and accounted for the transaction as a business combination as we are the primary beneficiary of the VIE (see Note 4). Upon acquisition, we recorded a \$58 million deferred consideration liability at fair value, of which \$20 million is recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities and \$38 million is recorded in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. The fair value was estimated using a discounted future cash flow model and includes assumptions and judgments regarding the discount rate, which is primarily a Level Three assumption. We also recorded a \$33 million contingent consideration liability at fair value in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. The fair value was estimated using a discounted future cash flow model and includes assumptions and judgments regarding the discount rate, estimated probability of achieving the hotel development milestones, and expected amount and timing of payments, which are primarily Level Three assumptions. Total purchase consideration was determined as follows:

Cash paid, net of cash acquired	\$ 372
Cash acquired	2
Fair value of deferred consideration	58
Fair value of contingent consideration	33
Total purchase consideration	<u>\$ 465</u>

The acquisition includes management and hotel services agreements for operating hotels and the Bahia Principe trade name. In addition, the acquisition contemplates the future management of undeveloped Bahia Principe Hotels & Resorts-branded properties. For the period from the acquisition date through December 31, 2024, total revenues and net income attributable to Bahia Principe were insignificant.

Our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2024 reflects preliminary estimates of the fair value of the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and noncontrolling interest in the entity based on available information as of the acquisition date. The fair values of intangible assets acquired were estimated using either discounted future cash flow models or the relief from royalty method, both of which include revenue projections based on the expected contract terms and long-term growth rates, which are primarily Level Three assumptions. The fair value of the noncontrolling interest related to the equity interests in the VIE held by our venture partner was estimated based on 50% of enterprise value of the entity. The remaining assets and liabilities were recorded at their carrying values, which approximate their fair values.

We will continue to evaluate the contracts acquired and the underlying inputs and assumptions used in our valuation of assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and the noncontrolling interest in the entity. Accordingly, these estimates, along with any related tax impacts, are subject to change during the measurement period, which is up to one year from the date of acquisition.

The following table summarizes the preliminary fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired at the acquisition date:

Cash and cash equivalents	\$	2
Receivables (1)		15
Operating lease right-of-use assets		1
Goodwill (2)		336
Indefinite-lived intangibles (3)		84
Management and hotel services agreement intangibles (4)		433
Other assets (5)		50
Total assets acquired	\$	921
Accounts payable (1)	\$	15
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities		1
Long-term operating lease liabilities		1
Other long-term liabilities (5)		162
Total liabilities assumed		179
Noncontrolling interest		277
Total net assets acquired attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation	\$	465

- (1) Relates to value added taxes. We recorded an offsetting payable as amounts to be received are due to a third-party.
- (2) The goodwill is attributable to the growth opportunities we expect to realize by expanding our all-inclusive resort offerings and destination management services as well as synergies we expect to realize in the future through our management of and licensing of the Bahia Principe brand to the Unlimited Vacation Club business. Goodwill is not tax deductible. At December 31, 2024, we have not completed the assignment of goodwill to reporting units due to the close proximity of the closing date and our year end (see Note 9).
- (3) Relates to the Bahia Principe brand name.
- (4) Amortized over useful lives of approximately 25 to 31 years, with a weighted-average useful life of approximately 28 years.
- (5) Includes \$50 million of prior year tax liabilities relating to certain foreign filing positions, including interest. We recorded an offsetting indemnification asset in other assets that we expect to collect under contractual agreements (see Note 10 and Note 14).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recognized \$11 million of transaction costs, primarily related to regulatory, financial advisory, and legal fees, in transaction and integration costs on our consolidated statements of income.

Alua Portfolio—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we completed an asset acquisition of Alua Atlántico Golf Resort, Alua Tenerife, and AluaSoul Orotava Valley through a locked box structure. The enterprise value of €117 million was subject to customary adjustments related to indebtedness and net working capital as of the locked box date, as well as a value accrual representing the economic value of the locked box date through the acquisition date. At closing, we paid €61 million of cash (approximately \$65 million), including \$4 million of cash acquired. Assets acquired primarily include \$123 million of property and equipment, and liabilities assumed primarily include \$53 million of long-term debt (see Note 11). All assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded within our owned and leased segment on our consolidated balance sheet.

Standard International—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding equity interests of certain entities collectively doing business as Standard International for \$150 million of base consideration, subject to customary adjustments related to working capital, cash, and indebtedness, and up to an additional \$185 million of contingent consideration to be paid upon the achievement of certain milestones related to the development of additional hotels and/or potential new hotels identified by the sellers through 2028.

We closed on the transaction on October 1, 2024 and paid \$151 million of cash. Upon acquisition, we recorded a \$108 million contingent consideration liability at fair value in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. The fair value was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation to model the likelihood of achieving the agreed-upon milestones based on available information as of the acquisition date. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and judgments regarding the discount rate, estimated probability of achieving the milestones, and expected timing of payments, which are primarily Level Three assumptions. Total purchase consideration was determined as follows:

Cash paid, net of cash acquired	\$	148
Cash acquired		3
Fair value of contingent consideration		108
Total purchase consideration	\$	<u>259</u>

The acquisition includes management, franchise, and license agreements for both operating and additional hotels that are expected to open in the future and the affiliated trade names. Following the acquisition date, fee revenues and operating expenses of Standard International were recognized on our consolidated statements of income. For the period from the acquisition date through December 31, 2024, total revenues and net loss attributable to Standard International were \$6 million and \$5 million, respectively.

Our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2024 reflects preliminary estimates of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on available information as of the acquisition date. The fair values of intangible assets acquired were estimated using either discounted future cash flow models or the relief from royalty method, both of which include revenue projections based on the expected contract terms and long-term growth rates, which are primarily Level Three assumptions. The fair values of performance guarantee liabilities assumed were estimated using Monte Carlo simulations to model the probability of possible outcomes. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and judgments regarding discount rates, volatility, and hotel operating results, which are primarily Level Three assumptions (see Note 15). The remaining assets and liabilities were recorded at their carrying values, which approximate their fair values.

We will continue to evaluate the contracts acquired and the underlying inputs and assumptions used in our valuation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Accordingly, these estimates, along with any related tax impacts, are subject to change during the measurement period, which is up to one year from the date of acquisition.

The following table summarizes the preliminary fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired at the acquisition date:

Cash and cash equivalents	\$	3
Receivables		4
Operating lease right-of-use assets		6
Goodwill (1)		86
Indefinite-lived intangibles (2)		96
Management and franchise agreement intangibles (3)		84
Total assets acquired	\$	<u>279</u>
Accounts payable	\$	1
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities		1
Accrued compensation and benefits		3
Current operating lease liabilities		1
Long-term operating lease liabilities		5
Other long-term liabilities		9
Total liabilities assumed	\$	<u>20</u>
Total net assets acquired attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation	\$	<u>259</u>

- (1) The goodwill, which is primarily tax deductible and recorded on the management and franchising segment, is attributable to the growth opportunities we expect to realize by enhancing our lifestyle portfolio and offering immersive brand experiences.
- (2) Includes intangible assets related to The Standard, Bunkhouse Hotels, and The Manner brand names.
- (3) Amortized over useful lives of approximately 5 to 25 years, with a weighted-average useful life of approximately 19 years.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recognized \$10 million of transaction costs, primarily related to financial advisory and legal fees, in transaction and integration costs on our consolidated statements of income.

Me and All Hotels—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we acquired the Me and All Hotels brand name from an unrelated third party for approximately \$28 million, inclusive of closing costs. Upon completion of the asset acquisition, we recorded an indefinite-lived brand intangible within intangibles, net on our consolidated balance sheet (see Note 9).

Mr & Mrs Smith—During the year ended December 31, 2023, we acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Smith Global Limited, doing business as Mr & Mrs Smith, in a business combination through a locked box structure. The enterprise value of £53 million was subject to customary adjustments related to indebtedness and net working capital as of the locked box date, as well as a value accrual representing the economic value from the locked box date through the acquisition date.

We closed on the transaction on June 2, 2023 and paid cash of £58 million (approximately \$72 million). Total purchase consideration was determined as follows:

Cash paid, net of cash acquired	\$	50
Cash acquired		22
Total purchase consideration	\$	<u>72</u>

The acquisition includes technology related to a boutique and luxury global travel platform, brand name, and relationships with affiliated hotel owners. Following the acquisition date, fee revenues and operating expenses of Mr & Mrs Smith were recognized on our consolidated statements of income. For the period from the acquisition date through December 31, 2023, total revenues and net income attributable to Mr & Mrs Smith were \$15 million and \$2 million, respectively.

Our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2023 reflected estimates of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on available information as of the acquisition date. The fair values of intangible assets acquired were estimated using discounted future cash flow models, the relief from royalty method, or a cost-based approach. Depending on the valuation method, these estimates include revenue projections based on long-term growth rates, expected attrition, historical cost information, and/or an obsolescence factor, all of which are primarily Level Three assumptions. The remaining assets and liabilities were recorded at their carrying values, which approximate their fair values.

We finalized the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the second quarter of 2024, which resulted in insignificant measurement period adjustments.

The following table summarizes the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired at the acquisition date:

Cash and cash equivalents	\$	22
Receivables		6
Prepays and other assets		1
Goodwill (1)		38
Indefinite-lived intangibles (2)		12
Customer relationships intangibles (3)		12
Other intangibles (4)		16
Total assets acquired	\$	<u>107</u>
Accounts payable	\$	1
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities		5
Current contract liabilities		19
Long-term contract liabilities		3
Other long-term liabilities		7
Total liabilities assumed	\$	<u>35</u>
Total net assets acquired attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation	\$	<u>72</u>

- (1) The goodwill, which is recorded on the distribution segment, is attributable to growth opportunities we expect to realize through direct booking access to properties within the Mr & Mrs Smith platform through our distribution channels. Goodwill is not tax deductible.
- (2) Relates to the Mr & Mrs Smith brand name.
- (3) Amortized over a useful life of 12 years.
- (4) Amortized over a useful life of 10 years.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recognized \$5 million of transaction costs, primarily related to financial advisory and legal fees, in transaction and integration costs on our consolidated statements of income.

Dream Hotel Group—During the year ended December 31, 2023, we acquired 100% of the limited liability company interests of each of Chatwal Hotels & Resorts, LLC, DHG Manager, LLC, and each of the subsidiaries of DHG Manager, LLC (collectively, Dream Hotel Group) for \$125 million of base consideration, subject to customary adjustments related to working capital and indebtedness, and up to an additional \$175 million of contingent consideration to be paid upon the achievement of certain milestones related to the development of additional hotels and/or potential new hotels previously identified by the sellers.

We closed on the transaction on February 2, 2023 and paid \$125 million of cash. Upon acquisition, we recorded a \$107 million contingent consideration liability at fair value in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. The fair value was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation to model the likelihood of achieving the agreed-upon milestones based on available information as of the acquisition date. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and judgments regarding the discount rate, estimated probability of achieving the milestones, and expected timing of payments, which are primarily Level Three assumptions. Total purchase consideration was determined as follows:

Cash paid	\$	125
Fair value of contingent consideration		107
Total purchase consideration	\$	<u>232</u>

The acquisition includes management and license agreements for both operating and additional hotels that are expected to open in the future, primarily across North America, and the affiliated trade names. Following the acquisition date, fee revenues and operating expenses of Dream Hotel Group were recognized on our consolidated statements of income. For the period from the acquisition date through December 31, 2023, total revenues and net income attributable to Dream Hotel Group were \$7 million and \$4 million, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the fair values of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed, which were estimated based on available information as of the acquisition date, were finalized. The fair values of intangible assets acquired were estimated using either discounted future cash flow models or the relief from royalty method, both of which include revenue projections based on the expected contract terms and long-term growth rates, which are primarily Level Three assumptions. The remaining assets and liabilities were recorded at their carrying values, which approximate their fair values. During the measurement period, we recorded adjustments to the intangible assets acquired with a corresponding offset to goodwill as a result of the refinement of certain assumptions, including contract terms and useful lives, which affected the underlying cash flows in the valuation and were based on facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The following table summarizes the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired at the acquisition date:

Receivables	\$	1
Goodwill (1)		62
Indefinite-lived intangibles (2)		20
Management agreement intangibles (3)		143
Other intangibles (2)		7
Total assets acquired	\$	<u>233</u>
Long-term contract liabilities	\$	1
Total liabilities assumed	\$	<u>1</u>
Total net assets acquired attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation	\$	<u>232</u>

- (1) The goodwill, which is tax deductible and recorded on the management and franchising segment, is attributable to the growth opportunities we expect to realize by expanding our lifestyle offerings and providing global travelers with an increased number of elevated hospitality experiences.
- (2) Includes intangible assets related to the Dream Hotels, The Chatwal, and Unscripted Hotels brand names. Certain brand names are amortized over useful lives of 20 years.
- (3) Amortized over useful lives of approximately 9 to 22 years, with a weighted-average useful life of approximately 17 years.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recognized \$7 million of transaction costs, primarily related to regulatory, financial advisory, and legal fees, in transaction and integration costs on our consolidated statements of income.

Hyatt Regency Irvine—During the year ended December 31, 2022, we acquired Hyatt Regency Irvine from an unrelated third party for \$135 million, net of closing costs and proration adjustments. Upon completion of the asset acquisition, we recorded \$135 million of property and equipment within our owned and leased segment on our consolidated balance sheet.

Dispositions

Hyatt Regency O'Hare Chicago—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we sold Hyatt Regency O'Hare Chicago to an unrelated third party and accounted for the transaction as an asset disposition. We received \$11 million of proceeds, net of closing costs and proration adjustments, issued a \$20 million secured financing receivable with a maturity date of five years (see Note 6), and committed to loan up to \$45 million for a future renovation. Upon sale, we entered into a long-term franchise agreement for the property. The sale resulted in a \$5 million pre-tax loss, which was recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2024. The operating results and financial position of this hotel prior to the sale remain within our owned and leased segment.

Hyatt Regency Orlando—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we sold Hyatt Regency Orlando and an adjacent undeveloped land parcel to an unrelated third party. We received \$723 million of cash consideration, net of cash disposed, closing costs, and proration adjustments, and accounted for the transaction as an asset disposition.

In conjunction with the sale, we received a \$265 million preferred equity investment in the parent of the third-party entity that owns the property. Upon sale, we estimated the fair value of our preferred equity investment, which is redeemable at our option on various dates starting in 2030, to be approximately \$188 million and recorded a HTM debt security within other assets on our consolidated balance sheet (see Note 4). The fair value was estimated using a probability-based discounted future cash flow model and includes assumptions and judgments regarding the probability weighting, discount rates, and expected timing of payments, which are primarily Level Three assumptions.

Additionally, we provided \$50 million of seller financing with an initial maturity date of five years for the adjacent undeveloped land parcel. Upon sale, we estimated the fair value of the seller financing to be approximately \$34 million and recorded an unsecured financing receivable on our consolidated balance sheet (see Note 6). The fair value was estimated using a discounted future cash flow model and includes assumptions and judgments regarding the discount rate and expected timing of payments, which are primarily Level Three assumptions.

Upon sale, we entered into a long-term management agreement for the property and a development agreement for the adjacent undeveloped land parcel. The sale resulted in a \$514 million pre-tax gain, which was recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2024. The operating results and financial position of this hotel prior to the sale remain within our owned and leased segment.

Park Hyatt Zurich—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we sold Park Hyatt Zurich to an unrelated third party and accounted for the transaction as an asset disposition. We received proceeds of CHF 220 million (approximately \$244 million), net of closing costs and proration adjustments, and issued a CHF 41 million (approximately \$45 million) secured financing receivable with an initial maturity date of five years (see Note 6). Upon sale, we entered into a long-term management agreement for the property. The sale resulted in a \$257 million pre-tax gain, including the reclassification of \$6 million of currency translation gains from accumulated other comprehensive loss (see Note 16), which was recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2024. The operating results and financial position of this hotel prior to the sale remain within our owned and leased segment.

Hyatt Regency San Antonio Riverwalk—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we sold Hyatt Regency San Antonio Riverwalk to an unrelated third party for \$226 million, net of closing costs and proration adjustments, and accounted for the transaction as an asset disposition. Upon sale, we entered into a long-term management agreement for the property. The sale resulted in a \$100 million pre-tax gain, which was recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2024. The operating results and financial position of this hotel prior to the sale remain within our owned and leased segment.

Hyatt Regency Green Bay—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we sold Hyatt Regency Green Bay to an unrelated third party for \$3 million, net of closing costs and proration adjustments, and accounted for the transaction as an asset disposition. Upon sale, we entered into a long-term franchise agreement for the property. The sale resulted in a \$4 million pre-tax loss, which was recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2024. The operating results and financial position of this hotel prior to the sale remain within our owned and leased segment.

Hyatt Regency Aruba Resort Spa and Casino—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we sold the shares of the entities that own Hyatt Regency Aruba Resort Spa and Casino to an unrelated third party and accounted for the transaction as

an asset disposition. We received \$173 million of proceeds, net of cash disposed, closing costs, and proration adjustments, and issued a \$41 million unsecured financing receivable with an initial maturity date of five years (see Note 6). Upon sale, we entered into a long-term management agreement for the property. The sale resulted in a \$172 million pre-tax gain, which was recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2024. In connection with the disposition, we recognized a \$15 million goodwill impairment charge in asset impairments on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2024 (see Note 9). The assets disposed represented the entirety of the reporting unit and therefore, no business operations remained to support the related goodwill, which was therefore impaired. The operating results and financial position of this hotel prior to the sale remain within our owned and leased segment. At December 31, 2023, we classified the assets and liabilities as held for sale on our consolidated balance sheet.

Destination Residential Management—During the year ended December 31, 2023, we sold our interests in the entities that own the Destination Residential Management business to an unrelated third party for \$2 million of base consideration, subject to customary adjustments related to working capital and indebtedness, and up to an additional \$48 million of contingent consideration. The contingent consideration can be earned within two years following the sale upon the achievement of certain performance-based metrics and the extensions of certain contracts related to the rental programs and/or homeowner associations. Upon sale, we recorded a \$28 million contingent consideration receivable at fair value in other assets on our consolidated balance sheet.

The fair value of the contingent consideration receivable was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation to model the likelihood of achieving the performance-based metrics and a probability-based weighting approach to determine the likelihood of extending certain contracts. The valuation methodology includes assumptions and judgments regarding probability weighting, discount rates, operating results, and expected timing of payments, which are primarily Level Three assumptions. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded a \$17 million decrease in the carrying value of the contingent consideration receivable and recognized the offset in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income. We did not recognize any changes in the carrying value of the contingent consideration receivable during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The transaction was accounted for as a business disposition, and we recognized a \$19 million pre-tax gain in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2023. In conjunction with the disposition, we transferred \$10 million of cash to the buyer related to advanced deposits. The operating results and financial position of this business prior to the sale remain within our management and franchising segment.

Hyatt Regency Greenwich—During the year ended December 31, 2022, we sold Hyatt Regency Greenwich to an unrelated third party for approximately \$38 million, net of closing costs and proration adjustments, and accounted for the transaction as an asset disposition. Upon sale, we entered into a long-term management agreement for the property. The sale resulted in a \$14 million pre-tax gain, which was recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2022. The operating results and financial position of this hotel prior to the sale remain within our owned and leased segment.

Hyatt Regency Mainz—During the year ended December 31, 2022, we sold the share of the entity that is the operating lessee of Hyatt Regency Mainz to an unrelated third party for a nominal amount, net of closing costs, and accounted for the transaction as an asset disposition. Upon sale, we entered into a long-term franchise agreement for the property. The sale resulted in an insignificant pre-tax loss, which was recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during year ended December 31, 2022. The operating results and financial position of this hotel prior to the sale remain within our owned and leased segment.

The Confidante Miami Beach—During the year ended December 31, 2022, we sold The Confidante Miami Beach to an unrelated third party for approximately \$227 million, net of closing costs and proration adjustments, and accounted for the transaction as an asset disposition. Upon sale, we entered into a long-term management agreement for the property. The sale resulted in a \$24 million pre-tax gain, which was recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2022. The operating results and financial position of this hotel prior to the sale remain within our owned and leased segment.

The Driskill—During the year ended December 31, 2022, we sold The Driskill to an unrelated third party for approximately \$119 million, net of closing costs and proration adjustments, and accounted for the transaction as an asset disposition. Upon sale, we entered into a long-term management agreement for the property. The sale resulted in a \$51 million pre-tax gain, which was recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2022. The operating results and financial position of this hotel prior to the sale remain within our owned and leased segment.

Grand Hyatt San Antonio River Walk—During the year ended December 31, 2022, we sold Grand Hyatt San Antonio River Walk to an unrelated third party and accounted for the transaction as an asset disposition. We received approximately \$109 million of cash consideration, net of closing costs; a \$19 million HTM debt security as additional consideration; and \$18 million from the release of restricted cash held for debt service related to the Series 2005 Bonds. At the time of sale, we had \$166 million of outstanding debt related to the Series 2005 Bonds, inclusive of accrued interest and net of \$4 million of unamortized discounts, which was legally defeased in conjunction with the sale (see Note 11). Upon sale, we entered into a long-term management agreement for the property.

The sale resulted in a \$137 million pre-tax gain, which was recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2022. In connection with the disposition, we recognized a \$7 million goodwill impairment charge in asset impairments on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2022 (see Note 9). The assets disposed represented the entirety of the reporting unit and therefore, no business operations remained to support the related goodwill, which was therefore impaired. The operating results and financial position of this hotel prior to the sale remain within our owned and leased segment.

Hyatt Regency Indian Wells Resort & Spa—During the year ended December 31, 2022, we sold Hyatt Regency Indian Wells Resort & Spa, which was subsequently rebranded to Grand Hyatt Indian Wells Resort & Villas in 2024, to an unrelated third party for approximately \$136 million, net of closing costs and proration adjustments, and accounted for the transaction as an asset disposition. Upon sale, we entered into a long-term management agreement for the property. The sale resulted in a \$40 million pre-tax gain, which was recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2022. The operating results and financial position of this hotel prior to the sale remain within our owned and leased segment.

8. LEASES

Lessee

A summary of operating lease expenses, net of insignificant sublease income, was as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Minimum rentals	\$ 45	\$ 49	\$ 44
Contingent rentals	29	98	111
Total operating lease expenses	<u>\$ 74</u>	<u>\$ 147</u>	<u>\$ 155</u>

Total lease expenses related to short-term leases and finance leases were insignificant for the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, certain operating ROU assets were included in asset groups deemed not fully recoverable (see Note 5). We recognized \$5 million of impairment charges related to these operating ROU assets in asset impairments on our consolidated statements of income within our owned and leased segment.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to finance leases was as follows:

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Property and equipment, net (1)	<u>\$ 3</u>	<u>\$ 5</u>
Current maturities of long-term debt	\$ 2	\$ 2
Long-term debt	2	4
Total finance lease liabilities	<u>\$ 4</u>	<u>\$ 6</u>

(1) Finance lease assets are net of \$18 million and \$14 million of accumulated amortization at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.

Weighted-average remaining lease terms and discount rates were as follows:

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Weighted-average remaining lease term in years		
Operating leases (1)	14	15
Finance leases	2	3
Weighted-average discount rate		
Operating leases	3.8 %	3.7 %
Finance leases	2.0 %	1.2 %

(1) Certain of our hotel and land leases have nominal or contingent rental payments and are excluded from the weighted-average remaining lease term calculation resulting in a lower weighted-average term.

The maturities of lease liabilities for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Year Ending December 31,	Operating leases (1)	Finance leases
2025	\$ 41	\$ 2
2026	37	2
2027	34	—
2028	34	—
2029	33	—
Thereafter	174	—
Total minimum lease payments	\$ 353	\$ 4
Less: amount representing interest	(75)	—
Present value of minimum lease payments	\$ 278	\$ 4

(1) Operating lease payments have not been reduced by \$55 million of future sublease receipts.

Lessor—We lease retail space under operating leases at certain of our owned hotels. Rental payments are primarily fixed with certain variable payments based on a contractual percentage of revenues. Rental income recognized in owned and leased revenues on our consolidated statements of income was follows:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Rental income	\$ 8	\$ 11	\$ 12

The future minimum lease receipts scheduled to be received for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Year Ending December 31,	
2025	\$ 5
2026	3
2027	3
2028	1
2029	1
Thereafter	5
Total minimum lease receipts	\$ 18

9. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES, NET

Goodwill

	Management and franchising	Owned and leased	Distribution (1)	Overhead	Unallocated (2)	Total
<i>Balance at January 1, 2023</i>						
Goodwill	\$ 1,465	\$ 210	\$ 1,589	\$ 2	\$ —	\$ 3,266
Accumulated impairment losses	(4)	(161)	—	—	—	(165)
Goodwill, net	\$ 1,461	\$ 49	\$ 1,589	\$ 2	\$ —	\$ 3,101
<i>Activity during the year</i>						
Additions	62	—	39	—	—	101
Foreign currency translation adjustments	3	—	—	—	—	3
<i>Balance at December 31, 2023</i>						
Goodwill	1,530	210	1,628	2	—	3,370
Accumulated impairment losses	(4)	(161)	—	—	—	(165)
Goodwill, net	\$ 1,526	\$ 49	\$ 1,628	\$ 2	\$ —	\$ 3,205
<i>Activity during the year</i>						
Additions	86	—	—	—	336	422
Disposals	—	—	(914)	—	—	(914)
Impairment losses	(110)	(15)	(38)	—	—	(163)
Measurement period adjustments (Note 7)	—	—	(1)	—	—	(1)
Foreign currency translation adjustments	(7)	—	—	—	(1)	(8)
<i>Balance at December 31, 2024</i>						
Goodwill	1,609	210	713	2	335	2,869
Accumulated impairment losses	(114)	(176)	(38)	—	—	(328)
Goodwill, net	\$ 1,495	\$ 34	\$ 675	\$ 2	\$ 335	\$ 2,541

(1) At December 31, 2023, one of our reporting units with \$914 million of allocated goodwill had a negative carrying value.

(2) At December 31, 2024, we have not completed the assignment of goodwill attributed to the Bahia Principe Transaction to reporting units (see Note 7).

During the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, we recognized goodwill impairment charges of \$15 million, \$0 million, and \$7 million, respectively, related to the sales of certain hotels. These goodwill impairment charges were recognized in asset impairments on our consolidated statements of income within our owned and leased segment (see Note 7). During the year ended December 31, 2024, as a result of our annual impairment analyses (see Note 2), we determined that the carrying values of two of our reporting units were in excess of the fair values, and we recognized \$148 million of goodwill impairment charges in asset impairments on our consolidated statements of income within our management and franchising and distribution segments. We estimated the fair values of the goodwill allocated to the reporting units, which are classified as Level Three in the fair value hierarchy, using a weighted methodology considering the output from both a discounted future cash flow model and the guideline public companies method. The assumptions and judgments included projected future cash flows, discount rate, and capitalization rate. For the reporting unit within our management and franchising segment, changes in projected business performance expectations or specific valuation factors outside of our control, such as the discount rate, may significantly impact the estimated fair value of the reporting unit. A 5% decline in the underlying cash flows or a 1% increase in the discount rate or capitalization rate would result in a material impairment charge.

Intangibles

	Weighted-average useful lives in years	December 31, 2024		
		Gross carrying value	Accumulated amortization	Net carrying value
Management and hotel services agreement and franchise agreement intangibles	19	\$ 1,368	\$ (290)	\$ 1,078
Brand and other indefinite-lived intangibles	—	806	—	806
Customer relationships intangibles	10	410	(153)	257
Other intangibles	10	35	(9)	26
Total		<u>\$ 2,619</u>	<u>\$ (452)</u>	<u>\$ 2,167</u>

	Weighted-average useful lives in years	December 31, 2023		
		Gross carrying value	Accumulated amortization	Net carrying value
Management and hotel services agreement and franchise agreement intangibles		\$ 906	\$ (248)	\$ 658
Brand and other indefinite-lived intangibles		608	—	608
Customer relationships intangibles		620	(243)	377
Other intangibles		33	(6)	27
Total		<u>\$ 2,167</u>	<u>\$ (497)</u>	<u>\$ 1,670</u>

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Amortization expense	\$ 131	\$ 178	\$ 210

We estimate amortization expense for definite-lived intangibles for the next five years and thereafter as follows:

Year Ending December 31,	
2025	\$ 141
2026	119
2027	117
2028	113
2029	108
Thereafter	763
Total amortization expense	<u>\$ 1,361</u>

During the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, we recognized \$8 million, \$17 million, and \$21 million, respectively, of impairment charges related to brand intangibles, as we determined that the carrying values of certain assets were in excess of the fair values, and \$16 million, \$12 million, and \$10 million, respectively, of impairment charges related to management and franchise agreement intangibles, primarily as a result of contract terminations. The impairment charges were recognized in asset impairments on our consolidated statements of income, primarily within our management and franchising segment. The judgments and assumptions used in determining the impairment charges are classified as Level Three in the fair value hierarchy.

For additional information about acquisition and disposition activity impacting goodwill and intangibles, see Note 7.

10. OTHER ASSETS

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Key money assets	\$ 994	\$ 896
Marketable securities held to fund the loyalty program (Note 4)	608	495
Marketable securities held to fund rabbi trusts (Note 4)	548	489
Long-term investments (Note 4)	325	96
Common shares in Playa N.V. (Note 4)	154	105
Marketable securities held for captive insurance company (Note 4)	65	86
Indemnification asset (Note 7)	50	—
Deferred costs related to the paid membership program	—	194
Other	99	116
Total other assets	<u>\$ 2,843</u>	<u>\$ 2,477</u>

11. DEBT

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
\$750 million senior unsecured notes maturing in 2024—1.800%	\$ —	\$ 746
\$450 million senior unsecured notes maturing in 2025—5.375%	450	450
\$400 million senior unsecured notes maturing in 2026—4.850%	400	400
\$600 million senior unsecured notes maturing in 2027—5.750%	600	600
\$400 million senior unsecured notes maturing in 2028—4.375%	399	399
\$600 million senior unsecured notes maturing in 2029—5.250%	600	—
\$450 million senior unsecured notes maturing in 2030—5.750%	440	440
\$450 million senior unsecured notes maturing in 2031—5.375%	450	—
\$350 million senior unsecured notes maturing in 2034—5.500%	350	—
Variable rate mortgage loan	52	—
Variable rate term loan	45	—
Floating average rate loan	19	28
Total debt before finance lease obligations	<u>3,805</u>	<u>3,063</u>
Finance lease obligations (Note 8)	<u>4</u>	<u>6</u>
Total debt	<u>3,809</u>	<u>3,069</u>
Less: current maturities	(456)	(751)
Less: unamortized discounts and deferred financing fees (1)	<u>(27)</u>	<u>(13)</u>
Total long-term debt	<u>\$ 3,326</u>	<u>\$ 2,305</u>

(1) Includes an insignificant amount and \$1 million of unamortized discounts and deferred financing fees related to current maturities at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.

Under existing agreements, maturities of debt for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Year Ending December 31,	
2025	\$ 454
2026	405
2027	605
2028	405
2029	651
Thereafter	1,285
Total maturities of debt (1)	<u>\$ 3,805</u>

(1) Excludes \$4 million of finance lease obligations and \$27 million of unamortized discounts and deferred financing fees.

Senior Notes—Interest on the outstanding Senior Notes is payable semi-annually. We may redeem some or all of the Senior Notes at any time prior to their maturity at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Senior Notes

redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption plus a make-whole amount, if any. The amount of any make-whole payment depends, in part, on the yield of U.S. Treasury securities with a comparable maturity to the Senior Notes at the date of redemption. A summary of the terms of our outstanding Senior Notes, by year of issuance, is as follows:

- In 2013, we issued \$350 million of 3.375% senior notes due 2023 at an issue price of 99.498% (the "2023 Notes").
- In 2016, we issued \$400 million of 4.850% senior notes due 2026 at an issue price of 99.920% (the "2026 Notes").
- In 2018, we issued \$400 million of 4.375% senior notes due 2028 at an issue price of 99.866% (the "2028 Notes").
- In 2020, we issued \$450 million of 5.375% senior notes due 2025 (the "2025 Notes") and \$450 million of 5.750% senior notes due 2030 (the "2030 Notes").
- In 2021, we issued \$700 million of 1.300% senior notes due 2023 at an issue price of 99.941% (the "2023 Fixed Rate Notes"), \$300 million of floating rate senior notes due 2023 (the "2023 Floating Rate Notes"), and \$750 million of 1.800% senior notes due 2024 at an issue price of 99.994% (the "2024 Fixed Rate Notes").
- In 2023, we issued \$600 million of 5.750% senior notes due 2027 at an issue price of 99.975% (the "2027 Notes"). We received approximately \$596 million of net proceeds from the sale, after deducting \$4 million of underwriting discounts and other offering expenses. We used the net proceeds from the senior notes issuance, together with cash on hand, to repay the outstanding balance on the 2023 Fixed Rate Notes, as described below.
- In 2024, we issued an aggregate \$600 million of 5.250% senior notes due 2029 at an aggregate issue price of 99.693% (the "2029 Notes"), \$450 million of 5.375% senior notes due 2031 at an issue price of 99.745% (the "2031 Notes"), and \$350 million of 5.500% senior notes due 2034 at an issue price of 98.860% (the "2034 Notes"). We received approximately \$1,380 million of net proceeds, after deducting \$20 million of underwriting discounts and other offering expenses. We used the net proceeds from a portion of 2029 Notes and the 2034 Notes to repay the outstanding balance on the 2024 Fixed Rate Notes, as described below. We temporarily invested the net proceeds from the remaining portion of the 2029 Notes and 2031 Notes in marketable securities (see Note 4), and we intend to use the net proceeds to repay the outstanding balance on the 2025 Notes at or prior to maturity and for general corporate purposes.

Senior Notes Redemptions, Repayments, and Repurchases—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we repaid the 2024 Fixed Rate Notes, of which there was \$746 million outstanding, at maturity for approximately \$753 million, inclusive of \$7 million of accrued interest.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we repaid the 2023 Fixed Rate Notes, of which there was \$638 million outstanding, at maturity for approximately \$642 million, inclusive of \$4 million of accrued interest. Additionally, we repurchased approximately \$18 million of principal on the 2023 Fixed Rate Notes in the open market.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we redeemed the 2023 Floating Rate Notes, of which there was \$300 million of aggregate principal outstanding, at a redemption price of approximately \$302 million, which included principal and \$2 million of accrued interest. We also redeemed the 2023 Notes, of which there was \$350 million of aggregate principal outstanding, at a redemption price of approximately \$353 million, which included principal and \$3 million of accrued interest. Additionally, we paid approximately \$58 million to repurchase \$44 million of principal on the 2023 Fixed Rate Notes, \$4 million of principal on the 2024 Fixed Rate Notes, \$1 million of principal on the 2028 Notes, and \$10 million of principal on the 2030 Notes in the open market. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we incurred an insignificant net loss on extinguishment of debt recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income related to this activity.

Variable Rate Mortgage Loan—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we assumed a €50 million secured mortgage loan through a facility agreement with Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A. ("BBVA") in conjunction with the acquisition of the Alua Portfolio (see Note 7). The variable rate loan, which had approximately \$52 million outstanding at December 31, 2024, matures in 2031. Additionally, we assumed €38 million of interest rate swaps with BBVA that expire in 2029 and reduce our exposure to fluctuations in EURIBOR. The interest rate swaps are remeasured at fair value on a recurring basis and are classified as Level Two in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value is estimated using an income approach based on the terms of the interest rate swap contracts and inputs corroborated by observable market data including interest rates and yield curves. At December 31, 2024, the fair value of the interest rate swaps was insignificant.

Variable Rate Term Loan—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we entered into a credit agreement with Bank of America to correspond with the total amount of the secured financing receivable we issued to the buyer in conjunction with the sale of Park Hyatt Zurich (see Note 7) for a CHF 41 million (approximately \$45 million outstanding at December 31, 2024) variable rate term loan, which matures in 2029.

Series 2005 Bonds—During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Series 2005 Bonds were legally defeased in conjunction with the sale of Grand Hyatt San Antonio River Walk (see Note 7). The Series 2005 Bonds had \$166 million outstanding prior to defeasance, inclusive of accrued interest and net of \$4 million of unamortized discounts, and we recognized an \$8 million loss on extinguishment of debt related to restricted cash utilized to defease the debt. The loss was recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income during the year ended December 31, 2022.

Floating Average Rate Loan—During the year ended December 31, 2012, we obtained a secured construction loan with Banco Nacional de Desenvolvimento Econômico e Social - BNDES ("BNDES") in order to develop Grand Hyatt Rio de Janeiro. The loan was split into four separate sub-loans. Sub-loans (a) and (b) mature in 2031 and bear interest at the Brazilian Long Term Interest Rate - TJLP plus 2.02%, and when the TJLP rate exceeds 6%, the amount corresponding to the TJLP portion above 6% is required to be capitalized daily. Sub-loans (c) and (d) matured during the year ended December 31, 2023. At December 31, 2024, the weighted-average interest rates for the sub-loans we have drawn upon is 8.02%. At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had Brazilian Real ("BRL") 119 million, or \$19 million, and BRL 136 million, or \$28 million, outstanding, respectively.

Revolving Credit Facility—During the year ended December 31, 2022, we entered into a credit agreement with a syndicate of lenders that provides for a \$1.5 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility that matures in May 2027. The credit agreement refinanced and replaced in its entirety our Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated January 6, 2014, as amended. The revolving credit facility provides for the making of revolving loans to us in U.S. dollars and, subject to a sublimit of \$250 million, certain other currencies, and the issuance of up to \$300 million of letters of credit for our own account or for the account of our subsidiaries. We have the option during the term of the revolving credit facility to increase the revolving credit facility by an aggregate amount of up to an additional \$500 million provided that, among other things, new and/or existing lenders agree to provide commitments for the increased amount. We may prepay any outstanding aggregate principal amount, in whole or in part, at any time, subject to customary breakage costs and upon proper notice. The credit agreement contains customary affirmative, negative, and financial covenants; representations and warranties; and default provisions.

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had no borrowings or repayments on our revolving credit facility. At both December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had no balance outstanding. At December 31, 2024, we had \$1,497 million of borrowing capacity available under our revolving credit facility, net of letters of credit outstanding.

At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had \$105 million and \$256 million, respectively, of letters of credit outstanding, excluding letters of credit outstanding that reduce our borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facility (see Note 15).

Fair Value—We estimated the fair value of debt, which consists of our Senior Notes and other long-term debt, excluding finance leases. Our Senior Notes are classified as Level Two due to the use and weighting of multiple market inputs in the final price of the security. We estimated the fair value of other debt instruments using a discounted cash flow analysis based on current market inputs for similar types of arrangements. Based on the lack of available market data, we have classified our other debt instruments and revolving credit facility, if applicable, as Level Three in the fair value hierarchy. The primary sensitivity in these models is based on the selection of appropriate discount rates. Fluctuations in our assumptions will result in different estimates of fair value.

	December 31, 2024				
	Carrying value	Fair value	Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level One)	Significant other observable inputs (Level Two)	Significant unobservable inputs (Level Three)
Debt (1)	\$ 3,805	\$ 3,813	\$ —	\$ 3,695	\$ 118

(1) Excludes \$4 million of finance lease obligations and \$27 million of unamortized discounts and deferred financing fees.

	December 31, 2023				
	Carrying value	Fair value	Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level One)	Significant other observable inputs (Level Two)	Significant unobservable inputs (Level Three)
Debt (2)	\$ 3,063	\$ 3,062	\$ —	\$ 3,032	\$ 30

(2) Excludes \$6 million of finance lease obligations and \$13 million of unamortized discounts and deferred financing fees.

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Defined Benefit Plans—We sponsor supplemental executive retirement plans consisting of funded and unfunded defined benefit plans for certain former executives. Retirement benefits are based primarily on the former employees' salary, as defined, and are payable upon satisfaction of certain service and age requirements as defined by the plans. At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the accumulated benefit obligation related to the unfunded U.S. plan was \$14 million and \$16 million, respectively, of which \$13 million and \$15 million were recorded in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets (see Note 13). At December 31, 2024, we expect \$1 million of benefits to be paid annually over the next 10 years.

Defined Contribution Plans—We provide retirement benefits to certain eligible employees under the Retirement Savings Plan (a qualified plan under Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k)), the FRP, and other similar plans. During the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, we recognized \$48 million, \$43 million, and \$38 million, respectively, of expenses related to the Retirement Savings Plan based on a percentage of eligible employee contributions on stipulated amounts. The majority of these contributions relate to property-level employees, which are reimbursable to us, and are recognized in revenues for reimbursed costs and reimbursed costs on our consolidated statements of income.

Deferred Compensation Plans—We provide nonqualified deferred compensation for certain employees. Contributions and investment elections are determined by the employees, and we provide contributions to certain eligible employees according to pre-established formulas. The DCP is fully funded through a rabbi trust, and therefore changes in the underlying securities impact the deferred compensation liability, which is recorded in other long-term liabilities (see Note 13), and the corresponding marketable securities, which are recorded in other assets (see Note 10), on our consolidated balance sheets.

Employee Stock Purchase Program—We provide the ESPP, which is intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code. The ESPP provides eligible employees the opportunity to purchase shares of our Class A common stock on a quarterly basis through payroll deductions at a price equal to 95% of the fair value on the last trading day of each quarter. We issued 53,366, 61,977, and 60,543 shares under the ESPP during the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Foreign Labor Liabilities—We provide post-employment benefits to certain eligible employees primarily in Mexico based on their seniority and the nature and timing of their departure, as required by labor laws. At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had \$7 million and \$15 million, respectively, of total liabilities related to the benefits, which included \$6 million and \$11 million recorded in other long-term liabilities (see Note 13) and \$1 million and \$4 million recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities, respectively, on our consolidated balance sheets.

13. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Deferred compensation plans funded by rabbi trusts (Note 4)	\$ 548	\$ 489
Income taxes payable	464	407
Guarantee liabilities (Note 15)	229	142
Contingent consideration liabilities (Note 15)	214	115
Deferred income taxes (Note 14)	171	66
Self-insurance liabilities (Note 15)	83	73
Deferred consideration liability (Note 7)	38	—
Other	63	59
Total other long-term liabilities	<u>\$ 1,810</u>	<u>\$ 1,351</u>

14. TAXES

Our tax provision includes federal, state, local, and foreign income taxes.

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
U.S. income before income taxes	\$ 742	\$ 188	\$ 349
Foreign income before income taxes	821	122	14
Income before income taxes	<u>\$ 1,563</u>	<u>\$ 310</u>	<u>\$ 363</u>

The provision (benefit) for income taxes was comprised of the following:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Current:			
Federal	\$ 202	\$ 106	\$ 100
State	47	21	10
Foreign	141	88	57
Total current	<u>\$ 390</u>	<u>\$ 215</u>	<u>\$ 167</u>
Deferred:			
Federal	\$ (41)	\$ (62)	\$ (184)
State	(9)	(4)	(77)
Foreign	(73)	(59)	2
Total deferred	<u>\$ (123)</u>	<u>\$ (125)</u>	<u>\$ (259)</u>
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	<u>\$ 267</u>	<u>\$ 90</u>	<u>\$ (92)</u>

The following is a reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the effective tax rate:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate	21.0 %	21.0 %	21.0 %
State income taxes—net of federal tax benefit	2.1	4.2	5.2
Impact of foreign operations (1)	2.0	15.3	6.6
Impact of foreign transactions	(7.0)	—	—
Foreign asset restructuring	—	(15.3)	—
Change in valuation allowances	(3.1)	(7.7)	(58.6)
Tax contingencies	2.0	9.4	6.2
U.S. foreign tax credits valuation allowance	—	—	(4.7)
Other	0.1	2.0	(0.9)
Effective income tax rate	<u>17.1 %</u>	<u>28.9 %</u>	<u>(25.2)%</u>

(1) Excludes unconsolidated hospitality ventures losses.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, significant items affecting the effective tax rate included the benefit of gains on the sale of the shares of the entities that own Hyatt Regency Aruba Resort Spa and Casino and the UVC Transaction that carry a low effective tax rate and a non-cash tax benefit as a result of the release of a valuation allowance on certain foreign deferred tax assets. These benefits were partially offset by the impact of foreign operations, tax contingencies, and state income taxes. Further, during the year ended December 31, 2024, we purchased \$69 million of Investment Tax Credits from a third party, and we recognized a \$4 million benefit as a reduction to income tax expense.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, significant items affecting the effective tax rate included the rate differential on foreign operations and the impact of tax contingencies. These expenses were partially offset by a non-cash tax benefit from the foreign asset restructuring undertaken related to the ALG integration and the release of a valuation allowance on U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, significant items affecting the effective tax rate included a \$250 million non-cash benefit as a result of the release of a valuation allowance on U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets and U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards. This benefit was partially offset by the impact of tax contingencies and the impact of foreign operations.

The components of the net deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities were comprised of the following:

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Deferred tax assets related to:		
Loyalty program	\$ 288	\$ 238
Employee benefits	155	146
Foreign net operating losses and credit carryforwards	120	144
Long-term operating lease liabilities	89	88
Interest deduction limitations	65	66
Deferred revenues	31	115
Federal and state net operating losses and credit carryforwards	28	34
Allowance for uncollectible assets	23	24
Investments	16	10
Unrealized losses	10	11
Other	76	72
Valuation allowance	(90)	(253)
Total deferred tax assets	\$ 811	\$ 695
Deferred tax liabilities related to:		
Intangibles	\$ (277)	\$ (169)
Operating lease ROU assets	(95)	(95)
Investments	(69)	(18)
Property and equipment	(43)	(74)
Prepaid expenses	(8)	(24)
Unrealized gains	(5)	(5)
Other	(19)	(18)
Total deferred tax liabilities	\$ (516)	\$ (403)
Net deferred tax assets	\$ 295	\$ 292
Recorded on our consolidated balance sheets as:		
Deferred tax assets—noncurrent	\$ 466	\$ 358
Deferred tax liabilities—noncurrent	(171)	(66)
Total	\$ 295	\$ 292

During the year ended December 31, 2024, significant changes to our deferred tax assets included an increase of \$50 million related to the loyalty program deferred tax asset as a result of changes in the loyalty program's deferred revenue liability and a \$62 million reduction of valuation allowance balance due to the release of a valuation allowance on certain foreign deferred tax assets. Further, the deferred tax asset on the deferred revenue liability related to the paid membership program decreased \$84 million with a corresponding decrease to the valuation allowance as a result of the UVC Transaction. Significant changes to our deferred tax liabilities during the year ended December 31, 2024 included a \$108 million increase in intangibles driven by the Bahia Principe Transaction.

At December 31, 2024, we had \$144 million of deferred tax assets for future tax benefits related to federal, state, and foreign net operating losses and \$4 million of benefits related to federal and state credits. Of these deferred tax assets, \$44 million related to net operating losses and federal and state credits that expire in 2025 through 2044 and \$104 million related to federal, state, and foreign net operating losses that have no expiration date and may be carried forward indefinitely. A \$90 million valuation allowance was recorded on deferred tax assets that we do not believe are more likely than not to be realized.

At December 31, 2024, we had \$645 million of accumulated undistributed earnings generated by our foreign subsidiaries, the majority of which have been subject to U.S. tax. Any potential additional taxes due with respect to such earnings or the excess of book basis over tax basis of our foreign investments would generally be limited to an insignificant amount of foreign withholding and/or U.S. state income taxes. We continue to assert that undistributed net earnings with respect to certain foreign subsidiaries that have not previously been taxed in the U.S. are indefinitely reinvested.

At December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, total unrecognized tax benefits recorded in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets were \$366 million, \$301 million, and \$253 million, of which \$137 million, \$120 million, and \$102 million, respectively, would impact the effective tax rate, if recognized. It is reasonably possible that a reduction of up to \$5 million of unrecognized tax benefits could occur within 12 months resulting from the expiration of certain tax statutes of limitations. Further, while it is reasonably possible that the amount of uncertain tax benefits associated with the U.S. treatment of the loyalty program discussed below could significantly change within the next 12 months, at this time, we are not able to estimate the range by which the reasonably possible outcomes of the pending litigation could impact our uncertain tax benefits within the next 12 months.

A reconciliation of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

	2024	2023	2022
Unrecognized tax benefits—January 1	\$ 301	\$ 253	\$ 205
Total increases—current-period tax positions	67	54	38
Total increases (decreases)—prior-period tax positions	11	(3)	22
Lapse of statute of limitations	(8)	(9)	(5)
Foreign currency translation adjustments	(5)	6	(7)
Unrecognized tax benefits—December 31	<u>\$ 366</u>	<u>\$ 301</u>	<u>\$ 253</u>

In 2024, the \$65 million net increase in uncertain tax positions was primarily related to an accrual for the U.S. treatment of the loyalty program. The increase in prior-period tax positions includes a \$38 million increase related to foreign tax filing positions recorded as part of the Bahia Principe Transaction offset by a \$32 million reduction related to foreign tax filing positions as a result of the UVC Transaction.

In 2023, the \$48 million net increase in uncertain tax positions was primarily related to foreign tax filing positions and an accrual for the U.S. treatment of the loyalty program.

In 2022, the \$48 million net increase in uncertain tax positions was primarily related to foreign tax filing positions identified as a result of the ALG Acquisition and an accrual for the U.S. treatment of the loyalty program.

We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. Total gross accrued interest and penalties were \$103 million, \$133 million, and \$111 million at December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively.

The amount of interest and penalties recognized as a component of our income tax expense in 2024 and 2023 was \$42 million and \$23 million, respectively, primarily related to interest accrued on the U.S. treatment of the loyalty program and foreign tax matters. The amount of interest and penalties recognized as a component of our income tax expense in 2022 was a \$21 million expense, primarily related to foreign tax matters.

We are subject to audits by federal, state, and foreign tax authorities. U.S. tax years 2018 through 2020 are currently under field exam. U.S. tax years 2009 through 2011 have been subject to a U.S. Tax Court case concerning the tax treatment of the loyalty program in which the IRS is asserting that loyalty program contributions are taxable income to the Company. U.S. tax years 2012 through 2017 are pending the outcome of the U.S. Tax Court.

The Tax Court issued an opinion on October 2, 2023 related to the aforementioned case and determined that the Company must recognize approximately \$12 million in net taxable income for the tax years 2009 through 2011, but that the Company need not recognize approximately \$228 million in net taxable income related to tax years that preceded 2009. The Tax Court entered its decision on September 13, 2024. The Company filed a Notice of Appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals on December 9, 2024. As part of the appeal, the Company will pay the tax liability and interest related to the 2009 through 2011 tax years as determined by the Tax Court, which is estimated to be \$2 million. If the Tax Court's opinion is upheld on appeal, the estimated income tax payment due for the subsequent years 2012 through 2024 is \$280 million, including \$46 million of estimated interest, net of federal benefit. We believe we have an adequate uncertain tax liability recorded in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 740, *Income Taxes*, for this matter and believe that the ultimate outcome of this matter will not have a material effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

Through a prior acquisition, we assumed an assessment of additional corporate income tax from the Mexican tax authorities, which was in the process of being appealed, primarily related to disallowed deductions taken on historical tax returns. During the year ended December 31, 2024, our request for appeal to a higher court for one of the tax years was denied, and the assessment was finalized. At December 31, 2024, we had an \$18 million tax liability recorded in other long-term

liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet in connection with this matter. Our filing position for the additional tax years and matters assessed is more likely than not to be sustained. As the tax benefit that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement is zero, we recorded a \$13 million uncertain tax liability in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2024.

Further, the Mexican tax authorities disallowed credits taken on historical tax returns and applied value added taxes to certain transactions. In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 450, *Contingencies*, we have not recorded a liability associated with the additional value added tax as we do not believe a loss is probable. At December 31, 2024, our maximum exposure is not expected to exceed \$12 million.

We have several state audits pending, including in California and Illinois. State income tax returns are generally subject to examination for a period of three to five years after filing of the return. However, the state impact of any federal changes remains subject to examination by various states for a period generally up to one year after formal notification to the states of the federal changes. We also have several foreign audits pending. The statutes of limitations for the foreign jurisdictions ranges from three to ten years after filing the applicable tax return.

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In the ordinary course of business, we enter into various commitments, guarantees, surety and other bonds, and letter of credit agreements.

Commitments—At December 31, 2024, we are committed, under certain conditions, to lend, provide certain consideration to, or invest in various business ventures up to \$659 million, net of any related letters of credit.

Performance Guarantees—Certain of our contractual agreements with third-party owners require us to guarantee payments to the owners if specified levels of operating profit are not achieved by their hotels. Except as described below, at December 31, 2024, our performance guarantees had \$150 million of remaining maximum exposure and expire between 2025 and 2042.

Through acquisitions, we acquired certain management and hotel services agreements with performance guarantees based on annual performance levels and with expiration dates between 2027 and 2045. Contract terms within certain management and hotel services agreements limit our exposure, and therefore, we are unable to reasonably estimate our maximum potential future payments.

At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had \$113 million and \$99 million, respectively, of total performance guarantee liabilities, which included \$104 million and \$91 million, respectively, recorded in other long-term liabilities and \$9 million and \$8 million, respectively, recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets.

Additionally, we enter into certain management and hotel services agreements where we have the right, but not an obligation, to make payments to certain third-party owners if their hotels do not achieve specified levels of operating profit. If we choose not to fund the shortfall, the hotel owner has the option to terminate the contract. At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had no amount and an insignificant amount, respectively, recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets related to these performance cure payments.

Debt Repayment Guarantees—We enter into various debt repayment guarantees in order to assist third-party owners, franchisees, and unconsolidated hospitality ventures in obtaining third-party financing or to obtain more favorable borrowing terms.

Geographical region	Maximum potential future payments (1)	Maximum exposure net of recoverability from third parties (1)	Other long-term liabilities recorded at December 31, 2024	Other long-term liabilities recorded at December 31, 2023	Year of guarantee expiration (2)
United States (3), (4)	\$ 125	\$ 25	\$ 51	\$ 30	various, through 2030
All foreign (3)	29	18	7	21	various, through 2026
Total	<u>\$ 154</u>	<u>\$ 43</u>	<u>\$ 58</u>	<u>\$ 51</u>	

(1) Our maximum exposure is generally based on a specified percentage of the total principal due upon borrower default.

(2) Certain underlying debt agreements have extension periods which are not reflected in the year of guarantee expiration.

(3) We have agreements with our unconsolidated hospitality venture partners or the respective third-party owners or franchisees to recover certain amounts funded under the debt repayment guarantee; the recoverability mechanism may be in the form of cash or HTM debt security.

(4) Certain agreements give us the ability to assume control of the property if defined funding thresholds are met or if certain events occur.

At December 31, 2024, we are not aware, nor have we received any notification, that our third-party owners, franchisees, or unconsolidated hospitality ventures are not current on their debt service obligations where we have provided a debt repayment guarantee.

Other Guarantees—We may be obligated to fund up to \$142 million related to certain guarantees as a result of the UVC Transaction (see Note 4). At December 31, 2024, we had \$67 million of guarantee liabilities recorded in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet associated with these guarantees.

Guarantee Liabilities Fair Value—We estimated the fair value of our guarantees to be \$213 million and \$148 million at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. Based on the lack of available market data, we have classified our guarantees as Level Three in the fair value hierarchy.

Contingent Consideration Fair Value—As part of acquisitions, we have entered into various contingent consideration arrangements. At December 31, 2024, we have \$359 million of potential future consideration remaining under these arrangements. However, we are unable to reasonably estimate our maximum potential future consideration remaining related to the Bahia Principe Transaction (see Note 7).

At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had \$214 million and \$115 million, respectively, recorded in other long-term liabilities, and \$3 million and no amount, respectively, recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets related to contingent consideration. Our contingent consideration liabilities are remeasured at fair value on a recurring basis and are classified as Level Three in the fair value hierarchy. The following table summarizes the change in fair value recognized in other income (loss), net on our consolidated statements of income:

	2024	2023
Fair value at January 1	\$ 115	\$ —
Fair value as of acquisition dates (Note 7)	141	107
Change in fair value (1) (Note 21)	(39)	9
Payments	—	(1)
Fair value at December 31	<u>\$ 217</u>	<u>\$ 115</u>

(1) During the year ended December 31, 2024, we amended certain terms of the Dream Hotel Group contingent consideration arrangement, including an extension through 2031.

Insurance—We obtain insurance for potential losses from general liability, property, automobile, aviation, environmental, workers' compensation, employment practices, crime, cyber, and other miscellaneous risks. A portion of these risks is retained through a U.S.-based and licensed captive insurance company that is a wholly owned subsidiary of Hyatt and generally insures our deductibles and retentions. Reserve requirements are established based on actuarial projections of ultimate losses. Reserves for losses in our captive insurance company to be paid within 12 months are \$46 million and \$41 million at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, and are recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. Reserves for losses in our captive insurance company to be paid in future periods are \$83 million and \$73 million at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, and are recorded in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets (see Note 13).

Collective Bargaining Agreements—At December 31, 2024, approximately 21% of our U.S.-based employees were covered by various collective bargaining agreements, generally providing for basic pay rates, working hours, other conditions of employment, and orderly settlement of labor disputes. Certain employees are covered by union-sponsored, multi-employer pension and health plans pursuant to agreements between various unions and us. Generally, labor relations have been maintained in a normal and satisfactory manner, and we believe our employee relations are good.

Surety and Other Bonds—Surety and other bonds issued on our behalf were \$268 million at December 31, 2024 and primarily relate to our insurance programs, litigation, customer deposits associated with ALG Vacations, taxes, licenses, liens, and utilities for our lodging operations.

Letters of Credit—Letters of credit outstanding on our behalf at December 31, 2024 were \$108 million, which primarily relate to our ongoing operations, collateral for customer deposits associated with ALG Vacations, collateral for estimated insurance claims, and securitization of our performance under certain debt repayment guarantees, which are only called on if the borrower defaults on its obligations. Of the letters of credit outstanding, \$3 million reduces the available capacity under our revolving credit facility (see Note 11).

Capital Expenditures—As part of our ongoing business operations, expenditures are required to complete renovation projects that have been approved.

Other—We act as general partner of various partnerships owning hotel properties that are subject to mortgage indebtedness. These mortgage agreements generally limit the lender's recourse to security interests in assets financed and/or other assets of the partnership(s) and/or the general partner(s) thereof.

In conjunction with financing obtained for our unconsolidated hospitality ventures and certain managed or franchised hotels, we may provide standard indemnifications to the lender for loss, liability, or damage occurring as a result of our actions or actions of the other unconsolidated hospitality venture partners or the respective third-party owners or franchisees.

As a result of certain dispositions, we have agreed to provide customary indemnifications to third-party purchasers for certain liabilities incurred prior to sale and for breach of certain representations and warranties made during the sales process, such as representations of valid title, authority, and environmental issues that may not be limited by a contractual monetary amount. These indemnification agreements survive until the applicable statutes of limitation expire or until the agreed-upon contract terms expire.

We are subject to various claims and contingencies arising in the normal course of business, which are primarily related to lawsuits and taxes (see Note 14), as well as commitments under contractual obligations. Many of these claims are covered under our current insurance programs, subject to deductibles. We record a liability when the loss is probable and reasonably estimable, and if the loss is recoverable from third parties, we record a receivable when the realization of the claim is probable. Based on information currently available, we do not expect the ultimate resolution of such claims and litigation to have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Missouri Court of Appeals issued an opinion affirming a previous verdict awarding damages to a guest at one of our managed hotels. We have requested the Missouri Supreme Court exercise jurisdiction over the appeal, which remains pending. In connection with this matter, we have recorded an estimated liability in accrued expenses and other current liabilities with an offsetting receivable from insurance recorded in receivables, net on our consolidated balance sheet. At December 31, 2024, our maximum exposure, which is fully insured, is not expected to exceed \$177 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we received a notice from the Indian tax authorities assessing additional service tax on our operations in India. We appealed this decision and do not believe a loss is probable, and therefore, we have not recorded a liability in connection with this matter. At December 31, 2024, our maximum exposure is not expected to exceed \$19 million.

16. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Common Stock—At December 31, 2024, Pritzker family business interests beneficially owned, in the aggregate, approximately 95.8% of our Class B common stock and approximately 1.8% of our Class A common stock, representing approximately 54.1% of the outstanding shares of our common stock and approximately 88.8% of the total voting power of our outstanding common stock. As a result, consistent with the voting agreements contained in the Amended and Restated Global Hyatt Agreement and Amended and Restated Foreign Global Hyatt Agreement, Pritzker family business interests are able to exert a significant degree of influence or actual control over our management and affairs and over matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and other significant corporate transactions. While the voting agreements are in effect, they may provide our board of directors with effective control over matters requiring stockholder approval. Because of our dual class ownership structure, Pritzker family business interests will continue to exert a significant degree of influence or actual control over matters requiring stockholder approval, even if they own less than 50% of the outstanding shares of our common stock. Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Global Hyatt Agreement and Amended and Restated Foreign Global Hyatt Agreement, the Pritzker family business interests have agreed to certain voting agreements and to certain limitations with respect to the sale of shares of our common stock. In addition, other stockholders beneficially own, in the aggregate, approximately 4.2% of our outstanding Class B common stock representing approximately 2.4% of the outstanding shares of our common stock and approximately 3.9% of the total voting power of our outstanding common stock. Pursuant to the 2007 Stockholders' Agreement, these entities have also agreed to certain voting agreements and to certain limitations with respect to the sale of shares of our common stock.

Share Repurchase—On December 18, 2019, May 10, 2023, and May 8, 2024 our board of directors authorized repurchases of up to \$750 million, \$1,055 million, and \$1,000 million, respectively, of our common stock. These repurchases may be made from time to time in the open market, in privately negotiated transactions, or otherwise, including pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan or an ASR transaction, at prices we deem appropriate and subject to market conditions, applicable law, and other factors deemed relevant in our sole discretion. The common stock repurchase program applies to our Class A and Class B

common stock. The share repurchase program does not obligate us to repurchase any dollar amount or number of shares, and the program may be suspended or discontinued at any time and does not have an expiration date.

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Total number of shares repurchased (1)	7,992,256	4,123,828	4,233,894
Weighted-average price per share	\$ 148.90	\$ 109.86	\$ 87.07
Aggregate purchase price (2)	\$ 1,190	\$ 453	\$ 369
Shares repurchased as a percentage of total common stock outstanding (3)	8%	4%	4%

(1) The year ended December 31, 2023 includes repurchases of 106,116 shares that were initiated prior to December 31, 2022, but settled in the first quarter of 2023. At December 31, 2022, a \$9 million share repurchase liability was recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet.

(2) Excludes related insignificant expenses.

(3) Calculated based on the total common stock outstanding as of December 31 of the prior year.

The shares of Class A common stock repurchased in the open market were retired and returned to the status of authorized and unissued shares, while the shares of Class B common stock repurchases were retired and the total number of authorized Class B shares was thereby reduced by the number of shares returned (see Note 18). At December 31, 2024, we had \$971 million remaining under the total share repurchase authorization.

Dividend—The following tables summarize dividends declared to Class A and Class B stockholders of record:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Class A common stock	\$ 27	\$ 21	\$ —
Class B common stock	34	27	—
Total cash dividends declared	\$ 61	\$ 48	\$ —

Date declared	Dividend per share amount for Class A and Class B	Date of record	Date paid
February 14, 2024	\$ 0.15	February 28, 2024	March 12, 2024
May 9, 2024	\$ 0.15	May 29, 2024	June 11, 2024
August 6, 2024	\$ 0.15	August 27, 2024	September 10, 2024
October 31, 2024	\$ 0.15	November 22, 2024	December 6, 2024
May 11, 2023	\$ 0.15	May 30, 2023	June 12, 2023
August 3, 2023	\$ 0.15	August 25, 2023	September 8, 2023
November 2, 2023	\$ 0.15	November 22, 2023	December 6, 2023

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss—The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax impacts, were as follows:

	Balance at January 1, 2024	Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassification	Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss	Balance at December 31, 2024
Foreign currency translation adjustments (1)	\$ (156)	\$ (94)	\$ (1)	\$ (251)
AFS debt securities unrealized fair value adjustments	4	(2)	—	2
Pension liabilities adjustments (2)	—	2	(2)	—
Derivative instrument adjustments (3)	(23)	(2)	5	(20)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	<u>\$ (175)</u>	<u>\$ (96)</u>	<u>\$ 2</u>	<u>\$ (269)</u>

- (1) Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss included realized losses recognized in equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures related to the dilution of our ownership interest in an unconsolidated hospitality venture in India (see Note 4), realized gains recognized in equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures related to the sale of our ownership interest in an unconsolidated hospitality venture (see Note 4), and realized gains recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other related to the sale of Park Hyatt Zurich (see Note 7).
- (2) Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss primarily included realized gains recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other related to the UVC Transaction (see Note 4) and the sale of Park Hyatt Zurich (see Note 7).
- (3) Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss included realized losses recognized in interest expense related to the settlement of interest rate locks. We expect to reclassify \$5 million of losses, net of insignificant tax impacts, over the next 12 months.

	Balance at January 1, 2023	Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassification	Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss	Balance at December 31, 2023
Foreign currency translation adjustments	\$ (202)	\$ 46	\$ —	\$ (156)
AFS debt securities unrealized fair value adjustments (4)	(11)	12	3	4
Derivative instrument adjustments (5)	(29)	1	5	(23)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	<u>\$ (242)</u>	<u>\$ 59</u>	<u>\$ 8</u>	<u>\$ (175)</u>

- (4) Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss included realized losses recognized in other income (loss), net related to marketable securities held for our captive insurance company (see Note 21).
- (5) Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss included realized losses recognized in interest expense related to the settlement of interest rate locks.

17. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Compensation expense and unearned compensation presented below exclude (i) amounts related to employees of our managed hotels and other employees whose payroll is reimbursed, as these expenses have been, and will continue to be, reimbursed by our third-party owners and are recognized in revenues for reimbursed costs and reimbursed costs on our consolidated statements of income and (ii) insignificant amounts related to employees of our owned and leased hotels recognized in owned and leased expenses on our consolidated statements of income. Stock-based compensation expense recognized in general and administrative expenses, distribution expenses, and transaction and integration costs on our consolidated statements of income related to our awards was as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
SARs	\$ 15	\$ 13	\$ 12
RSUs	34	40	36
PSUs	15	22	13
Total	<u>\$ 64</u>	<u>\$ 75</u>	<u>\$ 61</u>

The income tax benefit recognized at the time of vest related to our awards was as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
SARs	\$ 1	\$ 1	\$ —
RSUs	7	5	5
PSUs	1	2	1
Total	<u>\$ 9</u>	<u>\$ 8</u>	<u>\$ 6</u>

SARs—A summary of SAR activity is presented below:

	SARs	Weighted-average exercise price	Weighted-average remaining contractual term
Outstanding at December 31, 2023	3,883,347	\$ 67.20	5.68
Granted	223,410	156.97	
Exercised	(864,715)	55.19	
Forfeited or expired	—	—	
Outstanding at December 31, 2024	<u>3,242,042</u>	<u>\$ 76.59</u>	<u>5.68</u>
Exercisable at December 31, 2024	2,541,081	\$ 65.23	5.03

The weighted-average grant date fair value for the awards granted in 2024, 2023, and 2022 was \$68.77, \$48.54, and \$37.56, respectively.

The fair value of each SAR was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

	2024	2023	2022
Exercise price	\$ 156.97	\$ 111.71	\$ 94.60
Expected life in years	6.24	6.24	6.24
Risk-free interest rate	4.31 %	3.70 %	2.40 %
Expected volatility	38.60 %	37.37 %	36.07 %
Annual dividend yield	0.38 %	— %	— %

Due to a lack of historical exercise activity, the expected life was estimated based on the midpoint between the vesting period and the contractual life of each SAR. The risk-free interest rate was based on U.S. Treasury instruments with similar expected life. We calculate volatility using our trading history over a time period consistent with our expected term assumption. The dividend yield assumption is based on the expected annualized dividend payment at the date of grant.

During the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, the intrinsic value of exercised SARs was \$85 million, \$47 million, and \$21 million, respectively. The total intrinsic value of SARs outstanding at December 31, 2024 was \$261 million, and the total intrinsic value for exercisable SARs at December 31, 2024 was \$233 million.

RSUs—A summary of the status of the nonvested RSU awards outstanding under the LTIP, including certain RSUs with a performance component, is presented below:

	RSUs	Weighted-average grant date fair value
Nonvested at December 31, 2023	1,140,535	\$ 93.01
Granted	327,657	156.75
Vested	(561,679)	86.81
Forfeited or canceled	(32,834)	112.47
Nonvested at December 31, 2024	<u>873,679</u>	<u>\$ 120.17</u>

The weighted-average grant date fair value for the awards granted in 2024, 2023, and 2022 was \$156.75, \$111.26, and \$91.95, respectively. The liability and related expense for granted cash-settled RSUs are insignificant at and for the year ended December 31, 2024. The fair value of RSUs vested during the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022 was \$49 million, \$55 million, and \$41 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2024, the total intrinsic value of nonvested RSUs was \$137 million.

PSUs—A summary of the status of the nonvested PSU awards outstanding under the LTIP is presented below:

	PSUs	Weighted-average grant date fair value
Nonvested at December 31, 2023	555,401	\$ 91.45
Granted	177,795	159.69
Vested	(226,038)	119.56
Forfeited or canceled	—	—
Nonvested at December 31, 2024	507,158	\$ 102.84

The weighted-average grant date fair value for the awards granted in 2024, 2023, and 2022 was \$159.69, \$120.64, and \$83.58, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2024, \$27 million of PSUs vested. During the year ended December 31, 2023, no PSUs vested. During the year December 31, 2022, \$10 million of PSUs vested.

At December 31, 2024, the total intrinsic value of nonvested PSUs was \$80 million, if target performance is achieved.

Unearned Compensation—Our total unearned compensation for our stock-based compensation programs at December 31, 2024 was \$2 million for SARs, \$33 million for RSUs, and \$13 million for PSUs, which will be recognized in general and administrative expenses, distribution expenses, and transaction and integration costs over a weighted-average period of one year with respect to PSUs, two years with respect to SARs, and three years with respect to RSUs.

On May 15, 2024, our stockholders approved the Fifth Amended and Restated Hyatt Hotels Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "2024 LTIP") subsequent to the adoption of such amended plan by our board of directors. The 2024 LTIP (i) increased the share limit by 5,650,000 shares, (ii) was updated to reflect market practices with respect to broker-assisted sales and data privacy, and (iii) extended the term of the 2024 LTIP by 10 years until the 10th anniversary of May 15, 2024, the date on which the 2024 LTIP was approved by our stockholders.

18. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those included elsewhere in the Notes to our consolidated financial statements, related-party transactions entered into by us are summarized as follows:

Legal Services—A partner in a law firm that provided services to us throughout 2024, 2023, and 2022 is the brother-in-law of our Executive Chairman. During the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, we incurred \$23 million, \$15 million, and \$14 million, respectively, of legal fees with this firm. At both December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had \$2 million due to the law firm.

Equity Method Investments—We have equity method investments in entities that own, operate, manage, or franchise properties or other hospitality-related businesses, including the Unlimited Vacation Club paid membership program, for which we receive management, franchise, license, or royalty fees. We recognized \$83 million, \$23 million, and \$22 million of fee revenues during the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively. In addition, in some cases we provide loans or guarantees to these entities (see Note 4, Note 6, and Note 15). During the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, we recognized \$2 million, \$6 million, and \$7 million, respectively, of income related to these guarantees. At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had \$112 million and \$43 million, respectively, due from these entities, inclusive of \$67 million and \$22 million, respectively, recorded in receivables, net and \$45 million and \$21 million, respectively, recorded in financing receivables, net on our consolidated balance sheets. During the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, we recognized \$5 million, \$3 million, and \$4 million, respectively, of interest income related to these receivables. Our ownership interest in these unconsolidated hospitality ventures varies from 20% to 50%.

In addition to the aforementioned fees, we provide system-wide services on behalf of owners of managed and franchised properties and administer the loyalty program for the benefit of Hyatt's portfolio of properties. These expenses have been, and

will continue to be, reimbursed by our third-party owners and franchisees and are recognized in revenues for reimbursed costs and reimbursed costs on our consolidated statements of income.

Class B Share Conversion—During the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, 1,596,064 shares, 160,626 shares, and 735,522 shares, respectively, of Class B common stock were converted on a share-for-share basis into shares of Class A common stock, \$0.01 par value per share. The shares of Class B common stock that were converted into shares of Class A common stock have been retired, thereby reducing the shares of Class B common stock authorized and outstanding.

Class B Share Repurchase—During the year ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased 3,629,480 shares of Class B common stock at a weighted-average price of \$154.66 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$561 million. The shares of Class B common stock were repurchased in privately negotiated transactions from a limited liability company owned directly and indirectly by trusts for the benefit of certain Pritzker family members, a private foundation affiliated with certain Pritzker family members, and a charitable trust affiliated with certain Pritzker family members, and were retired, thereby reducing the shares of Class B common stock authorized and outstanding by the repurchased share amount.

Charitable Contribution—During the year ended December 31, 2022, we contributed \$5 million to the Hyatt Hotels Foundation. The charitable contribution was recognized in general and administrative expenses on our consolidated statements of income.

19. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Our reportable segments are components of the business which are managed discretely and for which discrete financial information is reviewed regularly by the CODM to assess performance and make decisions regarding the allocation of resources. Our CODM is our President and Chief Executive Officer. We define our operating and reportable segments as follows:

- **Management and franchising**—This segment derives its earnings primarily from the provision of management, franchising, and hotel services, or the licensing of our intellectual property to, (i) our property portfolio, (ii) our co-branded credit card programs, and (iii) other hospitality-related businesses, including the Unlimited Vacation Club following the UVC Transaction. This segment also includes revenues for reimbursed costs primarily related to payroll at managed properties where we are the employer, as well as costs associated with system-wide services and the loyalty program operated on behalf of owners of managed and franchised properties. The intersegment revenues relate to management fees earned from our owned and leased hotels and commission fees earned from certain ALG Vacations bookings, both of which are eliminated in consolidation.
- **Owned and leased**—This segment derives its earnings from owned and leased hotel properties located predominantly in the United States but also in certain international locations, and for purposes of segment Adjusted EBITDA, includes our pro rata share of unconsolidated hospitality ventures' Adjusted EBITDA, based on our ownership percentage of each venture. Adjusted EBITDA includes intercompany management fee expenses paid to our management and franchising segment, which are eliminated in consolidation. Intersegment revenues relate to promotional award redemptions earned by our owned and leased hotels related to our co-branded credit card programs and are eliminated in consolidation.
- **Distribution**—This segment derives its earnings from distribution and destination management services offered through ALG Vacations and the boutique and luxury global travel platform offered through Mr & Mrs Smith. Prior to the UVC Transaction, this segment also included earnings from a paid membership program offering benefits exclusively at certain all-inclusive resorts primarily in Latin America and the Caribbean. Adjusted EBITDA includes intercompany commission fee expenses paid to our management and franchising segment, which are eliminated in consolidation.

Within overhead, we include unallocated corporate expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we revised our definition of Adjusted EBITDA to exclude transaction and integration costs (see Note 1), and we recast prior-period results to provide comparability. The revised definition excludes integration costs, which were previously recognized in integration costs during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and general and administrative expenses during the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, and transaction costs, which were previously recognized in general and administrative expenses during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. Previously, only transaction costs recognized in gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other and other income (loss), net were excluded from Adjusted EBITDA. As these costs may vary in frequency or magnitude, we believe the revised definition presents a more representative measure of our core operations, assists

in the comparability of results, and provides information consistent with how our management evaluates operating performance.

Our CODM evaluates performance based on gross fee revenues, owned and leased revenues, distribution revenues, other revenues, and Adjusted EBITDA. Our CODM uses these measures to evaluate trends and assess segment operating performance as compared to our industry and competitors in order to determine how to allocate resources to each segment. Significant segment expenses include Adjusted general and administrative expenses, owned and leased expenses, and distribution expenses. Our CODM does not evaluate our operating segments using discrete asset information.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation plus net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests and our pro rata share of unconsolidated owned and leased hospitality ventures' Adjusted EBITDA based on our ownership percentage of each owned and leased venture, adjusted to exclude Contra revenue; revenues for reimbursed costs; stock-based compensation expense; transaction and integration costs; depreciation and amortization; reimbursed costs that we intend to recover over the long term; equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures; interest expense; gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other; asset impairments; other income (loss), net; and benefit (provision) for income taxes.

Adjusted general and administrative expenses exclude the impact of deferred compensation plans funded through rabbi trusts and stock-based compensation expense. Adjusted general and administrative expenses assist us in comparing our performance over various reporting periods on a consistent basis because it removes from our operating results the impact of items that do not reflect our core operations, both on a segment and consolidated basis.

The following tables present revenues disaggregated by the nature of the product or service and by segment:

	Year Ended December 31, 2024					
	Management and franchising	Owned and leased	Distribution	Segment Total	Eliminations	Total
Base management fees	\$ 432	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 432	\$ (33)	\$ 399
Incentive management fees	252	—	—	252	(10)	242
Franchise and other fees	465	—	—	465	(7)	458
Gross fees	1,149	—	—	1,149	(50)	1,099
Rooms and packages	—	777	—	777	(23)	754
Food and beverage	—	279	—	279	—	279
Other	—	141	—	141	—	141
Owned and leased	—	1,197	—	1,197	(23)	1,174
Distribution	—	—	1,023	1,023	—	1,023
Other revenues	42	—	26	68	1	69
Segment revenues	1,191	1,197	1,049	3,437	(72)	3,365
Contra revenue	(69)	—	—	(69)	—	(69)
Revenues for reimbursed costs	3,352	—	—	3,352	—	3,352
Total revenues	<u>\$ 4,474</u>	<u>\$ 1,197</u>	<u>\$ 1,049</u>	<u>\$ 6,720</u>	<u>\$ (72)</u>	<u>\$ 6,648</u>
Intersegment revenues	\$ 49	\$ 23	\$ —	\$ 72		

Year Ended December 31, 2023

	Management and franchising	Owned and leased	Distribution	Segment Total	Eliminations	Total
Base management fees	\$ 414	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 414	\$ (40)	\$ 374
Incentive management fees	248	—	—	248	(16)	232
Franchise and other fees	371	—	—	371	(7)	364
Gross fees	1,033	—	—	1,033	(63)	970
Rooms and packages	—	874	—	874	(29)	845
Food and beverage	—	333	—	333	—	333
Other	—	161	—	161	—	161
Owned and leased	—	1,368	—	1,368	(29)	1,339
Distribution	—	—	1,047	1,047	—	1,047
Other revenues	110	—	189	299	1	300
Segment revenues	1,143	1,368	1,236	3,747	(91)	3,656
Contra revenue	(47)	—	—	(47)	—	(47)
Revenues for reimbursed costs	3,058	—	—	3,058	—	3,058
Total revenues	<u>\$ 4,154</u>	<u>\$ 1,368</u>	<u>\$ 1,236</u>	<u>\$ 6,758</u>	<u>\$ (91)</u>	<u>\$ 6,667</u>
Intersegment revenues	\$ 62	\$ 29	\$ —	\$ 91		

Year Ended December 31, 2022

	Management and franchising	Owned and leased	Distribution	Segment Total	Eliminations	Total
Base management fees	\$ 356	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 356	\$ (37)	\$ 319
Incentive management fees	205	—	—	205	(13)	192
Franchise and other fees	307	—	—	307	(10)	297
Gross fees	868	—	—	868	(60)	808
Rooms and packages	—	800	—	800	(28)	772
Food and beverage	—	305	—	305	—	305
Other	—	158	—	158	—	158
Owned and leased	—	1,263	—	1,263	(28)	1,235
Distribution	—	—	986	986	—	986
Other revenues	134	—	137	271	2	273
Segment revenues	1,002	1,263	1,123	3,388	(86)	3,302
Contra revenue	(31)	—	—	(31)	—	(31)
Revenues for reimbursed costs	2,620	—	—	2,620	—	2,620
Total revenues	<u>\$ 3,591</u>	<u>\$ 1,263</u>	<u>\$ 1,123</u>	<u>\$ 5,977</u>	<u>\$ (86)</u>	<u>\$ 5,891</u>
Intersegment revenues	\$ 58	\$ 28	\$ —	\$ 86		

The following tables provide a reconciliation of segment revenues to segment Adjusted EBITDA:

	Year Ended December 31, 2024			
	Management and franchising	Owned and leased	Distribution	Segment Total
Segment revenues	\$ 1,191	\$ 1,197	\$ 1,049	\$ 3,437
Significant segment expenses:				
Adjusted general and administrative expenses	(268)	(10)	(6)	(284)
Owned and leased expenses (1)	—	(991)	—	(991)
Distribution expenses (2)	—	—	(882)	(882)
Other segment items:				
Other income (expenses) (3)	(69)	3	(21)	(87)
Pro rata share of unconsolidated owned and leased hospitality ventures'				
Adjusted EBITDA	—	62	—	62
Segment Adjusted EBITDA	<u>\$ 854</u>	<u>\$ 261</u>	<u>\$ 140</u>	<u>\$ 1,255</u>

(1) Includes intercompany management fee expenses paid to our management and franchising segment and promotional award redemptions earned by our owned and leased hotels related to our co-branded credit card programs, which are eliminated in consolidation.

(2) Includes intercompany commission fee expenses paid to our management and franchising segment, which are eliminated in consolidation.

(3) Primarily includes direct costs associated with our co-branded credit card programs and the paid membership program prior to the UVC Transaction recognized in other direct costs. Owned and leased includes the change in market performance of the underlying invested assets recognized in net gains (losses) and interest income from marketable securities held to fund rabbi trusts.

	Year Ended December 31, 2023			
	Management and franchising	Owned and leased	Distribution	Segment Total
Segment revenues	\$ 1,143	\$ 1,368	\$ 1,236	\$ 3,747
Significant segment expenses:				
Adjusted general and administrative expenses	(218)	(11)	(51)	(280)
Owned and leased expenses (1)	—	(1,107)	—	(1,107)
Distribution expenses (2)	—	—	(866)	(866)
Other segment items:				
Other income (expenses) (3)	(143)	6	(190)	(327)
Pro rata share of unconsolidated owned and leased hospitality ventures'				
Adjusted EBITDA	—	64	—	64
Segment Adjusted EBITDA	<u>\$ 782</u>	<u>\$ 320</u>	<u>\$ 129</u>	<u>\$ 1,231</u>

(1) Includes intercompany management fee expenses paid to our management and franchising segment and promotional award redemptions earned by our owned and leased hotels related to our co-branded credit card programs, which are eliminated in consolidation.

(2) Includes intercompany commission fee expenses paid to our management and franchising segment, which are eliminated in consolidation.

(3) Primarily includes direct costs associated with our co-branded credit card programs, the Unlimited Vacation Club paid membership program, and the Destination Residential Management business prior to sale recognized in other direct costs. Owned and leased includes the change in market performance of the underlying invested assets recognized in net gains (losses) and interest income from marketable securities held to fund rabbi trusts.

	Year Ended December 31, 2022			
	Management and franchising	Owned and leased	Distribution	Segment Total
Segment revenues	\$ 1,002	\$ 1,263	\$ 1,123	\$ 3,388
Significant segment expenses:				
Adjusted general and administrative expenses	(216)	(11)	(45)	(272)
Owned and leased expenses (1)	—	(991)	—	(991)
Distribution expenses (2)	—	—	(785)	(785)
Other segment items:				
Other income (expenses) (3)	(157)	(8)	(125)	(290)
Pro rata share of unconsolidated owned and leased hospitality ventures' Adjusted EBITDA	—	55	—	55
Segment Adjusted EBITDA	<u>\$ 629</u>	<u>\$ 308</u>	<u>\$ 168</u>	<u>\$ 1,105</u>

- (1) Includes intercompany management fee expenses paid to our management and franchising segment and promotional award redemptions earned by our owned and leased hotels related to our co-branded credit card programs, which are eliminated in consolidation.
- (2) Includes intercompany commission fee expenses paid to our management and franchising segment, which are eliminated in consolidation.
- (3) Primarily includes direct costs associated with our co-branded credit card programs, the Unlimited Vacation Club paid membership program, and the Destination Residential Management business recognized in other direct costs. Owned and leased includes the change in market performance of the underlying invested assets recognized in net gains (losses) and interest income from marketable securities held to fund rabbi trusts.

The following table provides a reconciliation of segment Adjusted EBITDA to income before income taxes:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Segment Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 1,255	\$ 1,231	\$ 1,105
Unallocated overhead expenses	(160)	(177)	(170)
Eliminations	1	1	1
Contra revenue	(69)	(47)	(31)
Revenues for reimbursed costs	3,352	3,058	2,620
Stock-based compensation expense (Note 17) (1)	(62)	(75)	(60)
Transaction and integration costs	(42)	(42)	(35)
Depreciation and amortization	(333)	(397)	(426)
Reimbursed costs	(3,457)	(3,144)	(2,632)
Equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated hospitality ventures	31	(1)	5
Interest expense	(180)	(145)	(150)
Gains (losses) on sales of real estate and other	1,245	18	263
Asset impairments	(213)	(30)	(38)
Other income (loss), net	257	124	(34)
Pro rata share of unconsolidated owned and leased hospitality ventures' Adjusted EBITDA	(62)	(64)	(55)
Income before income taxes	<u>\$ 1,563</u>	<u>\$ 310</u>	<u>\$ 363</u>

- (1) Includes amounts recognized in general and administrative expenses and distribution expenses.

The following tables present revenues and long-lived assets, including property and equipment, net and operating lease ROU assets, by geographical region:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Revenues:			
United States	\$ 5,036	\$ 5,074	\$ 4,560
All foreign	1,612	1,593	1,331
Total	<u>\$ 6,648</u>	<u>\$ 6,667</u>	<u>\$ 5,891</u>
		December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Long-lived assets:			
United States		\$ 1,316	\$ 2,001
All foreign		701	708
Total		<u>\$ 2,017</u>	<u>\$ 2,709</u>

20. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per Class A and Class B share, including a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator, is as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Numerator:			
Net income	\$ 1,296	\$ 220	\$ 455
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	—	—	—
Net income attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation	<u>\$ 1,296</u>	<u>\$ 220</u>	<u>\$ 455</u>
Denominator:			
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding (1)	99,791,270	104,861,037	109,093,790
Stock-based compensation	2,632,830	2,865,924	2,171,149
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding (1)	<u>102,424,100</u>	<u>107,726,961</u>	<u>111,264,939</u>
Basic Earnings Per Class A and Class B Share:			
Net income	\$ 12.99	\$ 2.10	\$ 4.17
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	—	—	—
Net income attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation	<u>\$ 12.99</u>	<u>\$ 2.10</u>	<u>\$ 4.17</u>
Diluted Earnings Per Class A and Class B Share:			
Net income	\$ 12.65	\$ 2.05	\$ 4.09
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	—	—	—
Net income attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation	<u>\$ 12.65</u>	<u>\$ 2.05</u>	<u>\$ 4.09</u>

(1) The computations reflect a reduction in shares outstanding at December 31, 2022 for the repurchases of 106,116 shares that were initiated prior to December 31, 2022, but settled in the first quarter of 2023.

The computations of diluted earnings per Class A and Class B share do not include the following shares of Class A common stock assumed to be issued as stock-settled SARs and RSUs because they are anti-dilutive.

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
SARs	100	57,200	9,800
RSUs	1,500	2,400	3,200

21. OTHER INCOME (LOSS), NET

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024	2023	2022
Interest income	\$ 123	\$ 74	\$ 44
Unrealized gains (losses), net (Note 4)	53	36	(55)
Guarantee amortization income (Note 15)	49	17	20
Contingent consideration liability fair value adjustment (Note 15)	39	(9)	—
Depreciation recovery	23	21	15
Foreign currency exchange, net	7	(10)	(12)
Credit loss reversals, net (Note 4 and Note 6)	1	17	16
Impairment of an equity security without a readily determinable fair value (Note 4)	(5)	—	—
Restructuring costs	(5)	(4)	(39)
Guarantee expense (Note 15)	(11)	(19)	(13)
Other, net	(17)	1	(10)
Other income (loss), net	<u>\$ 257</u>	<u>\$ 124</u>	<u>\$ (34)</u>

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized \$39 million of restructuring expenses for severance costs related to the planned future redevelopment of an owned hotel, net of \$10 million reimbursed by the developer.

HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022

(In millions of dollars)

Description	Balance at beginning of period	Additions charged to revenues, costs, and expenses	Additions charged to other accounts	Deductions	Balance at end of period
Year Ended December 31, 2024:					
Deferred tax assets—valuation allowance	\$ 253	\$ 17	\$ (15)	\$ (165) A	\$ 90
Year Ended December 31, 2023:					
Deferred tax assets—valuation allowance	262	28	13	(50)	253
Year Ended December 31, 2022:					
Deferred tax assets—valuation allowance	478	31	3	(250) B	262

A—This amount relates to a reduction due to the impacts of the UVC Transaction and the release of the valuation allowance recorded on certain foreign deferred tax assets.

B—This amount primarily relates to the release of the valuation allowance recorded on U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets.

See Note 6 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary of our receivables and financing receivables allowance for credit losses.

EXHIBIT A-2

**UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION**
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): March 26, 2025

HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware
(State or other jurisdiction
of incorporation)

001-34521
(Commission
File Number)

20-1480589
(IRS Employer
Identification No.)

150 North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, IL
(Address of principal executive offices)

60606
(Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (312) 750-1234

Former name or former address, if changed since last report: Not Applicable

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions:

- ☐ Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)
- ☐ Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)
- ☐ Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))
- ☐ Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class	Trading Symbol	Name of each exchange on which registered
Class A common stock, \$0.01 par value	H	New York Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933 (§ 230.405 of this chapter) or Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (§ 240.12b-2 of this chapter).

Emerging growth company ☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐

Item 1.01. Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

Offering of the Notes

On March 26, 2025, Hyatt Hotels Corporation (the “Company”) issued and sold \$500,000,000 of its 5.050% Senior Notes due 2028 (the “2028 Notes”) and \$500,000,000 of its 5.750% Senior Notes due 2032 (the “2032 Notes” and, together with the 2028 Notes, the “Notes”) in a public offering (the “Offering”) pursuant to an effective Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-274272) (the “Registration Statement”). The Company received net proceeds from the Offering of approximately \$993.1 million, after deducting underwriters’ discounts and estimated offering expenses payable by the Company.

The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the Offering to fund a portion of the purchase price for its pending acquisition of Playa Hotels & Resorts N.V. (“Playa,” and the pending acquisition of Playa, the “Playa Hotels Acquisition”), which may include payment of any fees and expenses relating to the Playa Hotels Acquisition and to pay fees and expenses related to the Offering.

Indenture

The Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated August 30, 2023 (the “Base Indenture”), between the Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”), as supplemented by a third supplemental indenture, dated March 26, 2025 (the “Third Supplemental Indenture” and, together with the Base Indenture, the “Indenture”), between the Company and the Trustee, setting forth the terms of the Notes.

The Base Indenture was included as Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-274272), filed on August 30, 2023, and is incorporated herein by reference. The Third Supplemental Indenture and the forms of the 2028 Notes and the 2032 Notes are attached hereto as Exhibits 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3, respectively, and are incorporated herein by reference. The Third Supplemental Indenture and the forms of the Notes are also filed with reference to, and are hereby incorporated by reference in, the Registration Statement.

Terms of the Notes

Interest and Maturity. The 2028 Notes will bear interest at a rate of 5.050% per annum and the 2032 Notes will bear interest at a rate of 5.750% per annum, which will be payable, in each case, semi-annually on March 30 and September 30 of each year, beginning on September 30, 2025. The 2028 Notes will mature on March 30, 2028 and the 2032 Notes will mature on March 30, 2032.

Redemption. At any time prior to February 29, 2028, the Company may redeem some or all of the 2028 Notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest plus a “make-whole” amount calculated at the applicable Treasury Rate, plus 20 basis points. At any time prior to January 30, 2032, the Company may redeem some or all of the 2032 Notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest plus a “make-whole” amount calculated at the applicable Treasury Rate, plus 25 basis points.

Change of Control. In the event of a Change of Control Triggering Event (as defined in the Indenture), the holders of the Notes may require the Company to purchase for cash all or a portion of the holders’ Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the Notes purchased plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any.

Special Mandatory Redemption. If the Playa Hotels Acquisition is not consummated, the Company will be required to redeem the Notes at a special mandatory redemption price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any.

Covenants. The Indenture does not limit the ability of the Company or its subsidiaries to issue or incur other debt or issue preferred stock. Subject to certain important exceptions, the Indenture contains covenants that, among other things, limit the Company’s ability and the ability of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries to create liens on principal property, enter into sale and leaseback transactions with respect to principal property and enter into mergers or consolidations or transfer all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.

Ranking. The Notes rank equal in right of payment with all of the Company’s other existing and future unsecured unsubordinated indebtedness, senior in right of payment to all of the Company’s future subordinated indebtedness and effectively subordinated in right of payment to all of the Company’s existing and future secured obligations to the extent of the value of the assets securing such obligations. The Notes are not obligations of, nor are they guaranteed by, any of the Company’s subsidiaries. As a result, the Notes are structurally subordinated to all of the existing and future liabilities (including trade payables) of each of the Company’s subsidiaries.

The descriptions of the Indenture and the Notes herein are summaries and are qualified in their entirety by the terms of the Indenture and the Notes.

Item 8.01. Other Events.

Underwriting Agreement

The Notes were sold pursuant to an Underwriting Agreement, dated as of March 17, 2025 (the “Underwriting Agreement”), by and among the Company and BofA Securities, Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as representatives of the several underwriters named therein. The Underwriting Agreement sets forth the terms and conditions pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell the Notes to the underwriters and the underwriters agreed to purchase the Notes from the Company for resale to the public in the Offering.

The Underwriting Agreement is attached as Exhibit 1.1 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference. The Underwriting Agreement is also filed with reference to, and is hereby incorporated by reference in, the Registration Statement.

Legal Opinion Letter

In connection with the Offering, a legal opinion letter of Latham & Watkins LLP regarding the validity of the Notes is attached as Exhibit 5.1 hereto. The legal opinion letter is also filed with reference to, and is hereby incorporated by reference in, the Registration Statement.

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(d) Exhibits.

<u>Exhibit No.</u>	<u>Document Description</u>
1.1	<u>Underwriting Agreement, dated as of March 17, 2025, by and among the Company and BofA Securities, Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as representatives of the several underwriters named therein.</u>
4.1	<u>Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 26, 2025, between the Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as trustee.</u>
4.2	<u>Form of 5.050% Senior Note due 2028 (included in Exhibit 4.1).</u>
4.3	<u>Form of 5.750% Senior Note due 2032 (included in Exhibit 4.1).</u>
5.1	<u>Opinion of Latham & Watkins LLP, dated March 26, 2025.</u>
23.1	<u>Consent of Latham & Watkins LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).</u>
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

Additional Information and Where to Find It

This Form 8-K is for informational purposes only and is neither an offer to purchase nor a solicitation of an offer to sell ordinary shares of Playa or any other securities, nor is it a substitute for the tender offer materials that HI Holdings Playa B.V. (“Buyer”) filed with the SEC upon the commencement of the tender offer. Buyer has filed with the SEC a tender offer statement on Schedule TO (the “Tender Offer Statement”) and Playa has filed with the SEC a solicitation/recommendation statement on Schedule 14D-9 (the “Solicitation/Recommendation Statement”) with respect to the tender offer. Playa also filed with the SEC a proxy statement (the “Proxy Statement”) in connection with an extraordinary general meeting of shareholders of Playa, at which the Playa shareholders will vote on certain proposed resolutions (the “EGM Proposals”) in connection with the transactions referenced in the Purchase Agreement, and mailed the definitive proxy statement and a proxy card to each Playa shareholder entitled to vote at the extraordinary general meeting. **THE TENDER OFFER STATEMENT (INCLUDING AN OFFER TO PURCHASE, A RELATED LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL AND CERTAIN OTHER TENDER OFFER DOCUMENTS), THE SOLICITATION/RECOMMENDATION STATEMENT ON SCHEDULE 14D-9 AND THE PROXY STATEMENT CONTAIN IMPORTANT INFORMATION. PLAYA’S SHAREHOLDERS ARE URGED TO READ THESE DOCUMENTS CAREFULLY (AS EACH MAY BE AMENDED OR SUPPLEMENTED FROM TIME TO TIME) BECAUSE THEY**

CONTAIN IMPORTANT INFORMATION THAT HOLDERS OF PLAYA'S SECURITIES SHOULD CONSIDER BEFORE MAKING ANY DECISION WITH RESPECT TO THE TENDER OFFER. The Tender Offer Statement (including the Offer to Purchase, the related Letter of Transmittal and certain other tender offer documents), as well as the Solicitation/Recommendation Statement, are available to all holders of Playa's ordinary shares at no expense to them. The Tender Offer Statement and the Solicitation/Recommendation Statement are available for free at the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. Copies of the documents filed by the Buyer with the SEC will also be available free of charge on the Company's Investor Relations site at investors.hyatt.com. Copies of the documents filed by Playa with the SEC will also be available free of charge on Playa's website at investors.playaresorts.com or by contacting Playa's investor relations department at ir@playaresorts.com. In addition, Playa shareholders may obtain free copies of the tender offer materials by contacting the information agent for the tender offer by telephone at (866) 828-4304 (toll free) or (210) 664-3693 (non-toll free), or by email at HyattOffer@georgeson.com.

Participants in the Solicitation

Playa, its directors and executive officers and other members of its management and employees, as well as the Company and its directors and executive officers, may be deemed to be participants in the solicitation of proxies from Playa's shareholders in connection with the EGM Proposals. Information about Playa's directors and executive officers and their ownership of Playa's ordinary shares is set forth in the proxy statement for Playa's 2024 annual general meeting of shareholders, which was filed with the SEC on April 22, 2024, and Playa's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, which was filed with the SEC on February 25, 2025. Information about Hyatt's directors and executive officers is set forth in the proxy statement for Hyatt's 2024 annual meeting of shareholders, which was filed with the SEC on April 4, 2024, and Hyatt's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, which was filed with the SEC on February 13, 2025. Shareholders may obtain additional information regarding the direct and indirect interests of the participants in the solicitation of proxies in connection with the EGM Proposals, including the interests of Playa's directors and executive officers in the transaction, which may be different than those of Playa's shareholders generally, by reading the proxy statement and other relevant documents regarding the transaction which will be filed with the SEC.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 8-K contains certain "forward-looking statements," which statements are not historical facts, relating to the Company, Playa and the proposed acquisition. These statements include, but are not limited to: statements about the proposed acquisition and the expected timeline for completing the acquisition; approvals of the acquisition; ability to consummate and finance the acquisition; method of financing the acquisition; integration of the acquisition; future operations or benefits; future business and financial performance; and outcomes of the proposed acquisition involve known and unknown risks that are difficult to predict. Words such as "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "expect," "seek," "likely," "forecast," "estimate," "continue," "intend," "may," "could," "plan," "project," "predict," "should," "would," "will" and variations of these terms and similar expressions, or the negative of these terms or similar expressions, are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are necessarily based upon estimates and assumptions available to us as of the date the statements are made, which are inherently uncertain. Our actual results, performance or achievements may differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements due to various known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Factors that may cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from current expectations include, but are not limited to: the effects that the announcement or pendency of the proposed acquisition may have on us, Playa and our respective business and ability to retain and hire key personnel and maintain relationships with customers, suppliers and others with whom we or they do business; inability to obtain required regulatory or government approvals or to obtain such approvals on satisfactory conditions; inability to obtain sufficient shareholder tender of Playa ordinary shares, shareholder approval or to satisfy other closing conditions; inability to obtain financing; the occurrence of any event, change or other circumstance that could give rise to the termination of the definitive agreement; the effects that any termination of the definitive agreement may have on us or our business; failure to successfully complete the proposed acquisition; legal proceedings that may be instituted related to the proposed acquisition; significant and unexpected costs, charges or expenses related to the proposed acquisition; risks associated with potential divestitures, including of Playa real estate or business; ability or failure to successfully integrate the acquisition with existing operations; ability to realize anticipated synergies or obtain the results anticipated; general economic uncertainty in key global markets and a worsening of global economic conditions or low levels of economic growth; the financial condition of, and our and Playa's relationships with, third-party owners, franchisees, and hospitality venture partners; the possible inability of third-party owners, franchisees, or development partners to access the capital necessary to fund current operations or implement our plans for growth; our ability to successfully execute our strategy to expand our management and hotels services and franchising business while at the same time reducing Playa's real estate asset base within targeted timeframes and at expected values; our and Playa's ability to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures; declines in the value of real estate assets; unforeseen terminations of management and hotels services or franchise agreements; risks associated with changing, or the introduction of new, brand concepts, including lack of acceptance of different or new brands or innovation; general volatility of the capital markets and our ability to access such markets; changes in the competitive environment in our industry, industry consolidation, and the markets where we and Playa operate; violations of regulations or laws related to our or Playa's franchising businesses, licensing businesses or international operations;

and other risks discussed in our filings with the SEC, including our most recently filed annual report on Form 10-K and subsequent quarterly reports filed on Form 10-Q, which filings are incorporated herein by reference and available from the SEC's website at www.sec.gov, and in other documents that we may file with or furnish to the SEC. All forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements set forth above. We caution you not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, which are made only as of the date of this Form 8-K. We do not undertake or assume any obligation to update publicly any of these forward-looking statements to reflect actual results, new information or future events, changes in assumptions or changes in other factors affecting forward-looking statements or otherwise, except to the extent required by applicable law. If we update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that we will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-looking statements.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Hyatt Hotels Corporation

Date: March 26, 2025

By: /s/ Joan Bottarini

Name: Joan Bottarini

Title: Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT B
FRANCHISE APPLICATION

B

Hyatt

To: Hyatt Franchising, L.L.C., Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C.,
Hyatt House Franchising, L.L.C. (as applicable, "Franchisor")
150 North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606

This Franchise Application ("Application") is submitted to Franchisor by the undersigned applicant, and its officers, directors, and shareholders as applicable ("Applicant") to induce Franchisor to grant a franchise to Applicant or an entity owned and controlled by Applicant (in either case, "Franchisee" or "Franchisee Entity"), on the terms and conditions set forth in Franchisor's standard Franchise Agreement, for a proposed Hotel under the Hyatt-affiliated brand and at the address or location listed below (the "Hotel").

HOTEL SITE

Brand and Proposed Name of the Hotel	
Address of the intended site of the Hotel (the "Site") If no address exists, state the nearest intersection or other information regarding the Site	Click here to enter text.
Will the Site be leased or owned by Applicant's organization?	Click here to enter text.
If Site will be owned, but the sale has not yet taken place, what is the expected closing date of the sale?	Click here to enter text.
If Site will be owned, will Franchisee Entity or an affiliated entity hold title? (If an affiliate will hold title, the Franchisee Entity must lease the Site)	
If Site will be leased, state name and relationship of the lessor to Applicant and Franchisee Entity (parent, affiliated party, third party, etc.). (NOTE: leases must be for at least the term of the franchise agreement)	Click here to enter text.

APPLICANT

Company Name	Click here to enter text.	
Principal Owners of Company		
Any Previous Name[s] used in the Past Five Year	Click here to enter text.	
Address	Click here to enter text.	
Telephone	Click here to enter text.	
Applicant is:	<input type="checkbox"/> corporation	<input type="checkbox"/> partnership
	<input type="checkbox"/> limited liability company	<input type="checkbox"/> other Click here to enter text.
Jurisdiction of organization	Click here to enter text.	
Name of primary contact during the Franchise Application process	Click here to enter text.	
Telephone	Click here to enter text.	
Email	Click here to enter text.	

APPLICANT'S EXPERIENCE

Has Applicant (or any other parent or affiliated entity of the intended Franchisee Entity) conducted business (whether or not in the lodging industry) for at least five (5) years? ☐ yes ☐ no

Does Applicant (or any other parent or affiliated entity of the intended Franchisee Entity) have a net worth of at least ~~six~~seven million ~~one~~three hundred ~~sixty-five~~forty-eight thousand ~~five hundred~~ dollars (\$~~6,165,500~~7,348,000)?

☐ yes ☐ no

FRANCHISEE ENTITY (IF DIFFERENT THAN APPLICANT & IF KNOWN)

Legal Name	Click here to enter text.	
Any Previous Name[s] used in the Past Five Year	Click here to enter text.	
Address	Click here to enter text.	
Telephone	Click here to enter text.	
Franchisee Entity is:	<input type="checkbox"/> corporation	<input type="checkbox"/> partnership
	<input type="checkbox"/> limited liability company	<input type="checkbox"/> other
	Click here to enter text.	
Jurisdiction of organization	Click here to enter text.	

GUARANTOR

(The Franchise Agreement must be guaranteed by an individual or entity other than the Franchisee Entity, meeting Franchisor's net worth requirements as described in Franchisor's Franchise Disclosure Document (FDD) and/or the term sheet, if any)

Legal Name	Click here to enter text.	
Any Previous Name[s] used in the Past Five Year	Click here to enter text.	
Address	Click here to enter text.	
Telephone	Click here to enter text.	
Guarantor is:	<input type="checkbox"/> individual(s)	<input type="checkbox"/> limited liability company
	<input type="checkbox"/> corporation	<input type="checkbox"/> partnership
	<input type="checkbox"/> other Click here to enter text.	
Jurisdiction of organization (if applicable)	Click here to enter text.	
List any properties, other than the Hotel, that the guarantor has an ownership interest in or for which the guarantor guarantees obligations under a franchise agreement or management agreement.	Click here to enter text.	

GUARANTOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Please upload current financial statements (including balance sheet and profit and loss or income statement) for each Guarantor. If Guarantor is a partnership, corporation, or limited liability company, the statements should be submitted for the partnership, corporation or limited liability company, and for each partner, stockholder, or member.

GOVERNING DOCUMENTS

Please attach any relevant corporate formation and governance documents and operating agreements relating to the Applicant and the Franchisee Entity. Franchisor may require you to submit these documents for Guarantor and any other entities within the ownership structure for the Hotel, at a later time.

FINANCING

Please describe how you intend to finance the acquisition of the land and the construction of the Hotel. Describe how you will source both the equity and debt that will be needed and if it has already been secured

Click here to enter text.

PUBLIC FACILITIES

Describe any public facilities that will be located within the same building as the proposed hotel (e.g. brand unaffiliated restaurant, bar, health club, retail, expanded meeting space, structure parking):

Click here to enter text.

PROJECTED TIMELINE

Projected construction start date	Click here to enter text.
Projected hotel opening date	Click here to enter text.

CREDIT INFORMATION

Has Applicant, Franchisee, Guarantor, or any partner, shareholder, member, officer, or director of any of them ever been adjudged bankrupt? ☐ yes ☐ no

If yes, state name of court, case number, and date when adjudication was made:

Click here to enter text.

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE CHART

Please upload an ownership structure chart showing the names of all shareholders/members (whether an individual or an entity) of the franchisee and (if different) the Hotel. For each entity listed in the chart, include the complete name of the entity as it appears in the certificate of incorporation (or equivalent document), the state of incorporation, and the percent interest that the entity holds in the franchisee entity (or the Hotel).

For each entity included in the ownership structure, list names of all shareholders that have a greater than 10% ownership interest in the entity, the right to control the entity, or that would be otherwise be considered a true owner regardless of their ownership percentage. Identify any entity that is a public company or a municipality or other form of governmental entity.

SHAREHOLDERS/MEMBERS OF APPLICANT

COMPLETE A SEPARATE ROW WITHIN “TABLE A” BELOW FOR EACH SHAREHOLDER OR MEMBER IDENTIFIED IN APPLICANT’S OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE CHART THAT IS AN INDIVIDUAL.

TABLE A - Individuals

INDIVIDUAL SHAREHOLDER/MEMBERS OF APPLICANT AND FRANCHISEE				
NAME	DATE OF BIRTH	COUNTRY OF RESIDENCE [AND NATIONALITY, IF DIFFERENT]	GOVERNMENT OFFICIAL [Y/N]	Related Entity Name from organization structure chart

COMPLETE A SEPARATE “TABLE B” FOR EACH SHAREHOLDER OR MEMBER IDENTIFIED IN APPLICANT’S OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE CHART THAT IS AN ENTITY.

TABLE B Officers/Directors

LIST OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS FOR THE ENTITY that will control the franchisee entity.				
DIRECTOR NAME & TITLE	DATE OF BIRTH	COUNTRY OF RESIDENCE [AND NATIONALITY, IF DIFFERENT]	GOVERNMENT OFFICIAL [Y/N]	TITLE AND EMPLOYER
OFFICER NAME & TITLE	DATE OF BIRTH	COUNTRY OF RESIDENCE [AND NATIONALITY, IF DIFFERENT]	GOVERNMENT OFFICIAL [Y/N]	TITLE AND EMPLOYER
Chief Executive Officer or Equivalent: Name:				
Chief Financial Officer or Equivalent: Name:				
Responsible Person [if not identified above] Name:				
Person with day-to-day operational responsibility for the Hotel [if not identified above] Name:				

If the Applicant maintains an official list of shareholders, or is required to file such a list with the government, provide a copy of that list if different from the structure chart.

PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

Please send the application fee via wire transfer according to the wiring instructions below. If you are unable to pay the application fee via wire transfer, please send a check to the business address listed below and include the property/project name in the memo field.

Wire Transfer Information:		Check Payment Information:
Account Number:	87652-61131	Hyatt Corporation
Swift Code:	BOFAUS3N	16417 Collections Center Drive
Bank Address:	New York, New York	Chicago, Illinois 60693
Account Name:	Hyatt Corporation	
Bank Routing Number:	026009593	
Bank Name:	Bank of America	
You must indicate property/project name in memo field regardless of whether payment is by wire transfer or check.		

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Applicant and Franchisee represent and warrant that the information and materials contained in this Application (including the documents submitted with this Application to Hyatt before the date of this Application or later supplemented to this Application,) are or will be true, complete and current. Franchisor shall not be deemed to have knowledge of any facts not contained in this Application or in the attached documents.

Included with this Application is the application fee in the amount specified in the FDD or letter of intent. Applicant hereby expressly acknowledges that acceptance and deposit of the application fee by Franchisor does not, in any respect, bind or obligate Franchisor to enter into a Franchise Agreement granting Applicant a franchise. This Application is neither an offer of a franchise by Franchisor nor a contract for the acquisition of a franchise or any other rights to operate a Hyatt-affiliated Hotel. Applicant further acknowledges that the research, investigation, review and approval process and similar administrative functions of Franchisor constitute the sole and only consideration for the application fee submitted herewith. If Applicant withdraws this Application before Franchisor approves it, or if Franchisor does not approve this Application for any reason, Franchisor will refund Applicant's application fee less a \$5,000 fee to cover Franchisor's costs associated with evaluating this Application; however, after Franchisor approves this Application, Applicant's application fee is not refundable, even if Franchisor and Applicant do not sign a Franchise Agreement.

Applicant, Franchisee and any partner, stockholder, member, officer or director further represents and warrants that:

- a) Applicant and its controlling shareholders have not been involved in an investigation by a court or government agency regarding a potential violation of any applicable law prohibiting fraud, bribery or other corrupt activity, except as disclosed in an attachment submitted herewith;
- b) No Government Official is entitled to compensation or benefits in relation to the acquisition, development, construction or operation of the Hotel, except as disclosed in an attachment submitted herewith;

Applicant, its controlling shareholders and their officers, and directors (including any authorized agents) have complied with all applicable anti-corruption laws in connection with the acquisition, construction, development, operation and ownership of the Hotel, and the formation of the Applicant and its affiliates, if applicable;

- c) Applicant has or will have an Anti-Corruption Policy, Code of Conduct, or similar corporate compliance program regarding compliance with applicable anti-corruption laws (including bribery of Government Officials) and/or the prevention of unlawful conduct;
- d) Neither Applicant nor its affiliates are party to a binding agreement with a third party for branding of the Hotel, other than agreement that may be unilaterally terminated by Applicant or its affiliate or that will expire by prior to a franchise agreement with Hyatt taking effect; and
- e) Applicant hereby releases Hyatt, its respective officers, employees, and agents from any liability for any damage whatsoever as a result of any investigative inquiry, consumer report, or investigative consumer report necessary to confirm the information in this Application which is received by Hyatt, its representatives, and designees.

SIGNATURE PAGE

Please upload a signed pdf copy of the signature.

APPLICANT:

By: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

Date: _____

EXHIBIT C
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

C

**BRAND HOTEL
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT**

DATED: _____, ~~2024~~2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ARTICLE I GRANT OF FRANCHISE, TERM AND AREA OF PROTECTION	1
1.1 Grant of Franchise.....	1
1.2 Term.....	1
1.3 Rights in Area of Protection During AOP Term.....	1
1.4 No Other Restrictions.....	2
1.5 Right of First Offer.....	2
ARTICLE II DEVELOPMENT AND OPENING OF THE HOTEL	2
2.1 Hotel Development.....	2
2.2 IT Project Management Services.....	23
2.3 F&B Operations and Spa Operations.....	4
2.4 Pre-Opening Sales Office.....	5
2.5 Opening the Hotel.....	5
2.6 Hyatt's Role in Pre-Opening Phase.....	5
2.7 Comfort Letter Parties.....	6
2.8 Hotel System Variations.....	6
ARTICLE III TRAINING, GUIDANCE AND ASSISTANCE.....	6
3.1 Training.....	6
3.2 Providing System Standards.....	78
3.3 CRS, GDS, ADS and IT Services.....	8
3.4 General Guidance and Assistance.....	8
3.5 Other Arrangements and Delegation.....	8
ARTICLE IV OPERATION OF THE HOTEL.....	8
4.1 System Services.....	8
4.2 Management of the Hotel.....	9
4.3 System Standards.....	10
4.4 Sources of Products and Services.....	11
4.5 CRS, GDS and ADS.....	11
4.6 F&B Operations and Spa Operations.....	11
4.7 Upgrading the Hotel and CapEx Account.....	12
4.8 Inspections/Compliance Assistance and Quality Assurance <u>and</u> <u>Compliance</u> Program.....	12
4.9 Compliance With Laws.....	12 <u>13</u>
4.10 No Diverting Business.....	13
4.11 No <u>Competing</u> Brand Owners.....	13
4.12 Restrictions on Use of the Site.....	13

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

	Page
ARTICLE V ADVERTISING AND MARKETING	14
5.1 Pre-Opening Marketing.....	14
5.2 Participation in Advertising and Marketing.....	14
5.3 Approval of Marketing Programs and Materials.....	14
5.4 Websites and Electronic Media.....	15
5.5 Cooperative Advertising Programs.....	15
ARTICLE VI FEES AND PAYMENTS.....	16
6.1 Initial Fees.....	16
6.2 Monthly Fees to Hyatt.....	16 17
6.3 Payments to Other Parties.....	17
6.4 Electronic Funds Transfer.....	17
6.5 Late Fee and Late Payment Interest.....	17 18
6.6 Application of Payments.....	18
6.7 Taxes on Franchisee's Payments.....	18
6.8 Non-Refundability.....	18
ARTICLE VII BOOKS AND RECORDS, AUDITS AND REPORTING.....	18
7.1 Reports.....	18
7.2 Lender and Ground Lessor Information.....	18
7.3 Other Actions or Events.....	18 19
7.4 Preparation and Maintenance of Books and Records.....	19
7.5 Audit.....	19
ARTICLE VIII RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES AND INDEMNIFICATION	19
8.1 Relationship of the Parties.....	19
8.2 Franchisee's Notices to Public Concerning Independent Status.....	19 20
8.3 Franchisee's Indemnification and Defense of Hyatt.....	20
8.4 Hyatt's Indemnification and Defense of Franchisee.....	21
8.5 Survival and Mitigation.....	21 22
ARTICLE IX INSURANCE.....	21 22
ARTICLE X CONDEMNATION AND DAMAGE.....	22
10.1 Condemnation.....	22
10.2 Damage.....	22 23
ARTICLE XI PROPRIETARY RIGHTS.....	23 24
11.1 Ownership and Goodwill of Proprietary Marks, Copyrighted Materials, and Confidential Information.....	23 24
11.2 Limitations on Franchisee's Use of Proprietary Marks.....	24
11.3 Notification of Infringements and Claims.....	24 25

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

	Page
11.4 Discontinuing Use of Proprietary Marks.....	25
11.5 Confidential Information.....	25
11.6 Guest Information.....	25 26
11.7 Innovations.....	26
11.8 Hotel IP.....	26
ARTICLE XII OWNERSHIP OF FRANCHISEE AND TRANSFER.....	26 27
12.1 Ownership of Franchisee and Guarantors.....	26 27
12.2 Transfer by Franchisee – Defined.....	27
12.3 Non-Control Transfers.....	27
12.4 Control Transfers.....	27 28
12.5 Permitted Control Transfers.....	29
12.6 Security Interests.....	29 30
12.7 Transfers of Equity Interest Upon Death.....	30
12.8 Public Offerings and Disclosures.....	30
12.9 Non-Waiver of Claims.....	31
12.10 Transfer by Hyatt.....	31
ARTICLE XIII SUCCESSOR FRANCHISE.....	31
13.1 Right to a Successor Franchise Agreement.....	31
13.2 Successor Franchise Notice and PIP.....	31 32
13.3 Agreements/Releases.....	32
ARTICLE XIV DISPUTE RESOLUTION.....	32 33
14.1 Arbitration.....	32 33
14.2 Governing Law.....	33 34
14.3 Consent to Jurisdiction.....	34
14.4 Attorneys’ Fees.....	34
14.5 Waiver Of Punitive Damages And Jury Trial.....	34
14.6 Limitations of Claims.....	34 35
ARTICLE XV DEFAULT AND TERMINATION.....	35
15.1 Termination by Hyatt After Opportunity to Cure.....	35
15.2 Termination by Hyatt Without Opportunity to Cure.....	35 36
15.3 Suspension of Rights and Services.....	37
15.4 General Provisions Concerning Default and Termination.....	38
ARTICLE XVI RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS UPON EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION.....	38
16.1 De-Identification.....	38
16.2 Pay Amounts Owed.....	39 40
16.3 Contacting Customers.....	39 40

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

	Page
16.4 Survival.....	3940
16.5 Liquidated Damages.....	40
16.6 System Services.....	4041
ARTICLE XVII NOTICES	4041
ARTICLE XVIII GENERAL	41
18.1 The Exercise of Hyatt’s Judgment.....	41
18.2 Severability and Interpretation.....	4142
18.3 Waiver of Obligations and Force Majeure.....	42
18.4 Binding Effect.....	4243
18.5 Entire Agreement and Construction.....	4243
18.6 Cumulative Remedies.....	43
ARTICLE XIX ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4344
19.1 Franchisee Acknowledgements.....	4344
19.2 Franchisee Acknowledgements in Certain States.....	44
19.3 No Waiver or Disclaimer of Reliance in Certain States.....	45

EXHIBITS

Exhibit A	–	DEFINED TERMS
Exhibit B-1	–	<u>HOTEL AND BRAND APPENDIX SPECIFIC TERMS</u>
Exhibit B-2	–	<u>AREA OF PROTECTION AND AOP TERM</u>
Exhibit B-3	–	<u>DEVELOPMENT OR RENOVATION SCHEDULE & HOTEL ELEMENTS</u>
Exhibit C	–	RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER FOR STRATEGIC MARKETS
Exhibit D	–	PROPERTY IMPROVEMENT PLAN (if applicable)
Exhibit E	–	IT PROJECT MANAGEMENT SERVICES
Exhibit F	–	MANAGEMENT COMPANY DOCUMENTS
Exhibit G	–	FRANCHISEE’S OWNERSHIP
Exhibit H	–	GUARANTY AND ASSUMPTION OF OBLIGATIONS

BRAND HOTEL FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

THIS FRANCHISE AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of _____, ~~2024~~2025 (this “**Agreement**”) by and between _____, a _____ (“**Franchisee**”) and the franchisor entity set forth in Exhibit B-1 (“**Hyatt**”).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Franchisee is the owner of, or has the right to occupy, certain real property located at the Site identified in Exhibit B-1. Hyatt has the right to grant franchises for Brand Hotels. Franchisee wishes to enter into this Agreement to obtain a franchise to use the Hotel System to operate a Brand Hotel located at the Site. In addition to other terms defined in this Agreement, the initial capitalized terms shall have the meanings set forth in Exhibit A or Exhibit B-1 (as applicable).

NOW, THEREFORE, Franchisee and Hyatt agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

GRANT OF FRANCHISE, TERM AND AREA OF PROTECTION

1.1 **Grant of Franchise.** Hyatt grants Franchisee, and Franchisee accepts, the non-exclusive right and obligation to use the Hotel System during the Term (defined below in Section 1.2) to build or convert, and operate, the Hotel at the Site in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks in accordance with this Agreement’s terms.

1.2 **Term.** The term of this Agreement (the “**Term**”) will commence on the Effective Date and expire without notice on the date which is twenty (20) years after the first (1st) day of the Opening Date~~Month~~Month, subject to its earlier termination as set forth in this Agreement.

1.3 **Rights in Area of Protection During AOP Term.** Subject to the one exception below, neither Hyatt nor any of its Affiliates will open and operate during the AOP Term, nor authorize any other party to open and operate during the AOP Term, any other Brand Hotels the physical premises of which are located within the Area of Protection. The one exception to this restriction is that, during the AOP Term, if Hyatt or any Affiliate acquires ownership of or the right to operate, manage, franchise or license (regardless of the form of transaction) another group of at least four (4) hotels, one (1) or more of which hotels are located or are under contract or construction to be located in the Area of Protection, then Hyatt and/or its Affiliates will have the unrestricted right to convert, or cause to be converted, the acquired hotel(s) within the Area of Protection from its (or their) original trade identity to operate in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks and the Hotel System, and thereafter to operate or authorize any other party to operate such hotel(s) as Brand Hotels, even if one (1) or more of the other acquired hotels, whether operating within or outside the Area of Protection, are not converted to Brand Hotels.

Franchisee’s rights in the Area of Protection apply only during the AOP Term. Following the AOP Term, Franchisee will have no territorial rights or protection whatsoever, whether within or outside the Area of Protection, and Hyatt and its Affiliates may open and operate, and authorize

any other parties to open and operate, other Brand Hotels the physical premises of which are located within the Area of Protection, including pursuant to franchise applications submitted and/or franchise agreements and other agreements signed during the AOP Term.

1.4 **No Other Restrictions.** Except for the limited exclusivity provided in Section 1.3, Franchisee's rights under this Agreement are nonexclusive in all respects, the Hotel has no territorial protection whatsoever, and Hyatt and its Affiliates have the right without restriction to engage in any and all activities Hyatt and they desire (including with respect to any and all types of lodging facilities), at any time and place, whether or not using the Proprietary Marks or any aspect of the Hotel System, and whether or not those activities compete with the Hotel. Without limiting the foregoing, Franchisee acknowledges that Hyatt and its Affiliates currently operate other franchised and non-franchised systems for lodging facilities and other accommodations and hospitality affiliations that use different brand names, trademarks, and service marks, including those with the "Hyatt" name as part of their brand name, some of which might operate and have facilities in the Area of Protection during the AOP Term, that will compete directly with Franchisee. Hyatt and its Affiliates may use or benefit from, among other things, common computer systems, administrative systems, reservation systems, purchasing systems and personnel, and may provide some or all System Services to other Hyatt Network Hotels and other hotels, lodging facilities and other businesses, even if they compete with the Hotel. Franchisee will have no right to pursue any claims, demands, or damages as a result of these activities, whether under breach of contract, unfair competition, implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, divided loyalty, or other theories.

1.5 **Right of First Offer.** If Hyatt determines that the Site is located in a strategic market for Hyatt and its Affiliates, then simultaneously with signing this Agreement, Hyatt and Franchisee shall sign and deliver to each other the Right of First Offer attached as Exhibit C. Hyatt and Franchisee acknowledge that, unless they sign and deliver to each other the Right of First Offer, the terms of the Right of First Offer and Exhibit C shall not apply to the Hotel or Franchisee.

ARTICLE II

DEVELOPMENT AND OPENING OF THE HOTEL

2.1 **Hotel Development.** Franchisee shall, at its expense and with all reasonable diligence, develop or renovate the Hotel at the Site in accordance with the ~~development~~ provisions ~~in~~ of Exhibit B-3 and the Hotel System, including the Design and Construction Standards, as well as applicable law. Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that the selection of the Site for the Hotel or the failure of Hyatt to object to the Site, does not constitute an assurance, representation or warranty by Hyatt of any kind, express or implied, as to the suitability (commercially or otherwise) of the Site for the Hotel or for any other purpose. Hyatt shall not be responsible for the failure of the Site approved by Hyatt to meet expectations as to revenue, income or operational criteria. Franchisee further acknowledges and agrees that approval of the Site for the Hotel is based on Franchisee's own independent investigation of the suitability of the Site. Franchisee may not make any material changes to plans approved by Hyatt (including any changes to any structural or life safety equipment or systems, the number and/or type of guest rooms or common areas, or any architectural features) without Hyatt's prior written consent.

2.2 **IT Project Management Services.**

(a) **IT Project Management Services.** Franchisee shall install information technology system(s) for the Hotel in accordance with the System Standards. To assist Franchisee and Franchisee's consultants in installing and implementing information technology system(s) that meet Hyatt's requirements and in consideration of the IT Project Management Services Fee, Hyatt will provide the IT Project Management Services in connection with the opening of the Hotel in accordance with this Section 2.2. Hyatt will staff the IT Project Management Services using its employees or third party contractors, as Hyatt determines.

(b) **Franchisee Responsibilities.** Franchisee agrees to perform, in a timely manner, the tasks identified as Franchisee's responsibilities in Exhibit E. Franchisee acknowledges that Hyatt's performance of the IT Project Management Services is dependent on Franchisee's timely, accurate, and effective performance of all Franchisee's responsibilities set forth in Exhibit E, including providing written notice to Hyatt of Franchisee's designated representative. Franchisee further acknowledges and agrees that its failure to perform may prevent or delay Hyatt's performance of the IT Project Management Services and/or require modifications to the services performed, including an adjustment to the scope of work, completion schedule or fees.

(c) **Site Preparation.** Franchisee will be responsible for all site preparation at the Hotel in connection with the IT Project Management Services. Without limitation, Franchisee is responsible for all climate control, physical safety and security, provision of adequate electric and telecommunications utilities, and wiring for all equipment and devices. Franchisee will also provide such ~~work space~~workspace, supplies, hardware and software as are reasonably required for each assignment.

(d) **Hyatt Limited Warranty.** Hyatt warrants that the IT Project Management Services will be performed in substantial accordance with the specifications set forth in Exhibit E. If any IT Project Management Services do not comply with this warranty, Franchisee must notify Hyatt in writing within thirty (30) days after completion of the IT Project Management Services. As to any valid warranty claim, Hyatt will at its option: (i) repair the defect; (ii) re-perform the defective IT Project Management Services; or (iii) refund sums paid by Franchisee to Hyatt for the defective IT Project Management Services. Following expiration of the warranty period, Franchisee accepts the IT Project Management Services in their "AS-IS" condition. The foregoing constitutes Franchisee's sole and exclusive remedies in response to a warranty claim. Hyatt makes no representation or warranty with respect to: (1) software, equipment, or goods manufactured, developed or provided by others, including Franchisee; (2) use of the IT Project Management Services in a manner contrary to instructions from Hyatt; (3) use of the IT Project Management Services in combination with goods or IT Project Management Services not delivered by Hyatt; (4) defects caused by Franchisee; or (5) other events outside the control of Hyatt. EXCEPT AS STATED ABOVE, HYATT MAKES NO OTHER REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO IT PROJECT MANAGEMENT SERVICES, GOODS OR SOFTWARE DELIVERED, INCLUDING WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A

PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NON-INFRINGEMENT, QUALITY, PERFORMANCE, INTEGRATION, SECURITY, SYSTEM UPTIME, DATA INTEGRITY, OR TITLE. HYATT MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES THAT SYSTEM DISRUPTIONS, SECURITY BREACHES OR IMPAIRMENTS WILL NOT OCCUR AND DISCLAIMS ALL RELATED EXPRESS AND IMPLIED WARRANTIES. HYATT SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY LOSS OF DATA, CORRUPTION OF DATA, OR NETWORK INSECURITY.

(e) **Franchisee Limited Warranty.** Franchisee represents and warrants that access by Hyatt to software licensed or controlled by Franchisee is permitted under the applicable third party license agreements. Except with respect to systems owned or controlled by Hyatt or a vendor selected by Hyatt, Franchisee represents and warrants that Hyatt's performance of the IT Project Management Services will not constitute a misappropriation of any intellectual property or other proprietary or contractual rights of any third party or a violation of any applicable law, regulation, rule or order.

(f) **Procurement of Third Party Components.** All software, equipment, and other goods required for Franchisee's use in connection with its business operations will be procured directly by Franchisee from the appropriate third party vendor. Hyatt will not be responsible for procuring any third party deliverables for use by Franchisee unless otherwise agreed to by Hyatt in a separate writing approved by an authorized officer of Hyatt. Franchisee will comply with the terms of all underlying third party agreements, including all third party software license agreements. Franchisee shall also engage a third party service provider in accordance with this Agreement to support all third party hardware and software installed at the Hotel, and such engagement shall be in place as of the date Hyatt completes all Services.

(g) **Data Back-Up & Disaster Recovery.** Franchisee will maintain in accordance with this Agreement and the System Standards: (i) appropriate data back-up and storage procedures to minimize any harm occurring from loss or corruption of data whatever the cause and (ii) an appropriate disaster recovery and business continuance plan to be activated in response to a technology crisis or system downtime.

(h) **Changes in Scope, Fees.** Hyatt and Franchisee acknowledge and agree that the scope of the IT Project Management Services may change between the Effective Date and the date that the IT Project Management Services are provided, as a result of modifications to the technology systems required under the Hotel System. If any such changes result in an increase to Hyatt's costs in providing the IT Project Management Services, Hyatt shall have the right to charge a reasonable additional fee in connection therewith.

2.3 F&B Operations and Spa Operations.

(a) **F&B Operations Plan.** At Hyatt's option, Franchisee must prepare and deliver to Hyatt for its approval the F&B Operations Plan describing Franchisee's proposal for conducting F&B Operations at the Hotel. Franchisee shall make such modifications to the F&B Operations Plan that Hyatt reasonably specifies and ensure that the Hotel and its

F&B Operations operate in accordance with the approved F&B Operations Plan. Franchisee may not make any material changes to the F&B Operations Plan (including any changes to the proposed restaurant concept(s) and/or F&B Operator(s)) without Hyatt's prior written approval. Before the Hotel begins operating in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks, Franchisee shall require each F&B Operator (if any) to sign such documents as Hyatt reasonably specifies to protect Hyatt's (and its Affiliates') intellectual property and other rights. At Hyatt's option, Franchisee must submit to Hyatt for its prior approval any proposed lease or other agreement between Franchisee (or its Affiliate or the Management Company) and the F&B Operator pursuant to which the F&B Operator will conduct F&B Operations, in which case Franchisee may not sign (or permit its Affiliate or the Management Company to sign) any such lease or other agreement that Hyatt has not approved.†

(b) **Spa Operations.** If the Hotel has Spa Operations, Franchisee may subcontract the management of the Spa Operations to a Spa Operator only if (i) Hyatt (in its sole judgment) approves of the Spa Operator, the spa concept and the terms of the lease or other arrangement between Franchisee and the Spa Operator; (ii) the Spa Operator complies with all applicable System Standards; and (iii) the spa does not use the Proprietary Marks in any manner (unless Hyatt authorizes such use in writing).†

2.4 **Pre-Opening Sales Office.** Promptly after the Technology System is installed at the Hotel, at Hyatt's option, Franchisee must open and begin operating a Pre-Opening Sales Office at the Site, staffed by the Hotel's director of sales.†

2.5 **Opening the Hotel.** Franchisee may not open or begin operating the Hotel in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks until Hyatt has notified Franchisee in writing that Franchisee has satisfied all of the pre-opening conditions set forth in the System Standards or otherwise in writing. Franchisee must open and begin operating the Hotel under the Hotel System and in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks on or before the Opening Deadline. Franchisee may request an extension of the Opening Deadline by submitting to Hyatt, at least three (3) months before the Opening Deadline, a written request for extension and an extension fee in the amount set forth in Exhibit B-1. If Hyatt approves the extension, Hyatt will set a new Opening Deadline, the extension fee will be non-refundable, and Hyatt may (at its option) require Franchisee to modify any previously-approved plans, construction documents, or the PIP (as applicable), to comply with the then current design, equipment and other aspects of the Hotel System. If Hyatt denies the extension, Hyatt will refund the extension fee. Franchisee shall indemnify Hyatt for all costs and expenses that Hyatt incurs directly or indirectly as a result of Franchisee's failure to open the Hotel on or before the anticipated Opening Date specified by Franchisee or the Opening Deadline, whichever is earlier, including any amounts that Hyatt pays with respect to customers whose reservations at the Hotel are cancelled.

2.6 **Hyatt's Role in Pre-Opening Phase.** Hyatt agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts in connection with its review and approval of plans and its approval to open the Hotel in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks, including by making a reasonable number of visits to the Site and providing reasonable guidance and advice relating to the Hotel's development or conversion. Franchisee must pay Hyatt's then current fees (if any) for any additional guidance, services or assistance (beyond what Hyatt typically provides to similarly situated Brand Hotels,

subject to Reasonable Deviations) that Franchisee requests, and that Hyatt (at its option) agrees to provide, in connection with the Hotel's development or conversion. Hyatt's review and approval of plans, its providing construction, design, architectural, planning and/or related services in connection with the Hotel (whether before or after signing this Agreement), and its approval to open the Hotel in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks are intended only to determine compliance with Hyatt's pre-opening requirements. Hyatt's determination that Franchisee has met all of Hyatt's pre-opening requirements will not constitute a representation or warranty, express or implied, that the Hotel complies with any laws or is safe for occupancy, nor shall such determination act as a waiver of Franchisee's non-compliance, or of Hyatt's right to demand full compliance, with such pre-opening requirements or any other provision of this Agreement. Hyatt will have no liability to Franchisee for the Hotel's construction or renovation. It is Franchisee's responsibility to ensure that the Hotel (a) complies with Hyatt's requirements as communicated to Franchisee by Hyatt, (b) complies with all Accessibility Laws and other applicable ordinances, building codes, and permit requirements, and (c) is safe for occupancy.

2.7 **Comfort Letter Parties.** Franchisee must cause each Comfort Letter Party to sign a comfort letter or other agreement that Hyatt reasonably specifies under which such Comfort Letter Party agrees, among other things, to assume Franchisee's obligations under this Agreement (subject to Hyatt's rights under ARTICLE XII) if the Comfort Letter Party or any of its Affiliates acquires title or otherwise assumes possession, or the right to sell or direct the disposition of, the Hotel's real property or building and improvements. Franchisee shall pay Hyatt its then current comfort letter fee for each comfort letter that Hyatt negotiates relating to the Hotel. In addition, upon Hyatt's request from time to time, Franchisee must cause each Comfort Letter Party to sign and deliver to Hyatt an estoppel in the form that Hyatt reasonably specifies concerning the status of Franchisee's contractual relationship with that Comfort Letter Party.

2.8 **Hotel System Variations.** Franchisee acknowledges that Hyatt and its Affiliates may operate, and authorize others to operate, Brand Hotels within or outside the United States providing additional, fewer and/or different amenities and services to guests than the Hotel provides or that otherwise operate in a manner that is substantially different from the manner in which the Hotel operates. Hyatt may establish and periodically modify the Hotel System and System Standards for certain Brand Hotels in a manner that is different from the Hotel System and System Standards that apply to some or all Brand Hotels.

ARTICLE III

TRAINING, GUIDANCE AND ASSISTANCE

3.1 **Training.**

(a) **Owner and Management Company Orientation.** Within the time period that Hyatt reasonably specifies after the Effective Date, (i) Franchisee's managing owner and senior operations officer must attend an owner orientation program, and (ii) a senior operations officer for Franchisee's initial Management Company must attend an operator orientation program, in each case virtually, at Hyatt's headquarters in Chicago, Illinois, or at another location Hyatt designates, unless such person has previously attended Hyatt's

owner orientation program or operator orientation program (as applicable) within the two (2) year period immediately prior to the Effective Date.

(b) **General Manager Orientation.** Within the time period that Hyatt reasonably specifies before the Hotel's anticipated Opening Date, the Hotel's proposed general manager must attend an orientation program virtually, at Hyatt's headquarters in Chicago, Illinois, or at another location Hyatt designates. If Franchisee or the Management Company replaces the Hotel's general manager during the Term (subject to Section 4.2), the replacement general manager must attend the orientation program within thirty (30) days (or such longer period that Hyatt periodically designates) after assuming that position. Franchisee must pay Hyatt's then current fee for this orientation program and any additional programs that the Hotel's personnel attend.

(c) **Initial Training Programs.** Before opening the Hotel for business in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks, members of the Core Management team and other Hotel personnel whom Hyatt specifies must attend and successfully complete Hyatt's brand standard training programs and curriculum for their respective positions. During the Term, if Franchisee, the Management Company or the approved F&B Operator (if any) replaces any member of its Core Management team or any other individual whom Hyatt required to attend training, that person's replacement must attend and successfully complete the applicable brand standard training programs that Hyatt reasonably specifies within ninety (90) days (or such longer period that Hyatt periodically designates) after assuming that position. Hyatt will designate the dates, locations, and duration of training.

(d) **Pre-Opening Training.** Hyatt will provide pre-opening training to the Hotel staff on ~~brand standards~~the System Standards and related issues in connection with the Hotel's opening in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks. Hyatt may conduct this training via remote learning, in one or more visits to the Hotel, or both, as Hyatt determines in its sole option. Franchisee must pay Hyatt's then current fee and the trainers' travel and living expenses associated with any training that Hyatt provides on-site at the Hotel. If Hyatt provides on-site training, the trainers will arrive at or before the Hotel's opening in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks and stay for the period that Hyatt specifies.

(e) **Supplemental and Optional Training.** Hyatt may, at such times and places as it deems best, require the Core Management and/or other Hotel personnel that Hyatt reasonably specifies to participate in regional and national conventions, meetings, and other brand standard training programs that Hyatt periodically specifies. Hyatt also may, at its option, offer various optional training programs from time to time during the Term.

(f) **Training Fees and Expenses.** Franchisee must pay Hyatt's then current fees for any conventions, meetings and other initial, supplemental and optional training programs that the Hotel's personnel attend. Franchisee also is responsible for all related compensation, and travel and living expenses that Hotel personnel incur. If Hyatt holds any training at the Hotel, Franchisee must provide free lodging for Hyatt's representatives, subject to availability.

3.2 **Providing System Standards.** Hyatt shall provide Franchisee access to the System Standards during the Term. Franchisee must comply with the System Standards, as Hyatt periodically modifies them, except for any employment-related or other policies and procedures which are clearly indicated in the System Standards as being for Franchisee's optional use. Hyatt may communicate the System Standards to Franchisee using various means that Hyatt may periodically establish, including electronic media and/or written materials, and Franchisee agrees continuously to monitor and access any updates to the System Standards or other aspects of the Hotel System. Franchisee agrees to restrict (and ensure the Management Company restricts) access to the System Standards in accordance with Hyatt's policies, as Hyatt periodically modifies them. If there is a dispute over their contents, Hyatt's master version of the System Standards controls. Franchisee agrees that the System Standards and any passwords or other digital identifications necessary to access the System Standards are part of the Confidential Information.

3.3 **CRS, GDS, ADS and IT Services.** During the period before the Hotel's Opening Date that Hyatt reasonably specifies and continuing for the remainder of the Term, Hyatt shall provide Franchisee access to the CRS and listings in advertising publications that Hyatt periodically specifies. Hyatt also may, at its option, provide IT project management implementation services and other services relating to the computing equipment and other technology at the Hotel during the Term. Franchisee must pay Hyatt's reasonable fees and reimburse Hyatt's expenses in connection with such assistance.

3.4 **General Guidance and Assistance.** During the Term, Hyatt may advise Franchisee from time to time regarding the Hotel's operation, for example, with respect to System Standards and advertising and marketing materials and programs. If Franchisee requests, and Hyatt agrees to provide, additional or special guidance, assistance, or training, Franchisee agrees to pay Hyatt's then applicable charges and travel and living expenses. Any specific training, guidance or assistance that Hyatt provides does not create an obligation (whether by course of dealing or otherwise) to continue providing that specific training, guidance or assistance, all of which Hyatt may periodically modify.

3.5 **Other Arrangements and Delegation.** Hyatt may make arrangements with its Affiliates or other third parties to provide development, marketing, operations, administration, technical, and support functions, facilities, services, and/or personnel related to the Hotel System. Hyatt may delegate the performance of any portion or all of its obligations under this Agreement to third party designees, whether these designees are its Affiliates, agents, or independent contractors with whom Hyatt contracts to perform these obligations. If Hyatt does so, the third party designees will be obligated to perform the delegated functions for Franchisee in compliance with this Agreement.

ARTICLE IV

OPERATION OF THE HOTEL

4.1 **System Services.** If Franchisee is in full compliance with its obligations under this Agreement, Hyatt or one or more members of the Hyatt Group will provide to Franchisee those System Services periodically specified by Hyatt [for Brand Hotels](#). Franchisee must participate in all Mandatory Services and related programs, and may (at Franchisee's option) participate in any

or all Non-Mandatory Services and related programs, in the manner that Hyatt periodically specifies. Hyatt may from time to time add to, delete from, and otherwise modify these System Services, and the scope of and manner of providing System Services, upon notice to Franchisee. Also, due to the differences in products, services, markets and hospitality experiences among Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels, Hyatt may, where it deems appropriate in its judgment: (a) classify certain System Services as Mandatory Services under this Agreement which Hyatt classifies as Non-Mandatory Services or does not offer to other Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels; (b) not provide to the Hotel certain System Services that Hyatt provides to other Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels; and (c) limit the scope of those System Services provided to franchised Brand Hotels, including, by way of example and without limitation, by limiting the access that franchised Brand Hotels have to certain customer and other proprietary information for Hyatt Network Hotels other than the Hotel.

4.2 Management of the Hotel.

(a) Franchisee or Management Company as Manager. Either a Management Company that Hyatt approves ~~pursuant to this Section~~ **Error! Unknown switch argument.** in writing or Franchisee (if Hyatt approves Franchisee to manage the Hotel ~~pursuant to this Section~~ **Error! Unknown switch argument.**) must at all times retain and exercise direct management control over all aspects of the Hotel's business and must be the employer of the Hotel's Core Management and other personnel, ~~unless~~ except for any members of Core Management that are overseen by an F&B Operator whom Hyatt approves ~~employs the individual(s) serving as director of food and beverage, director of catering, and/or executive chef for the Hotel.~~

~~(a).~~ At Hyatt's option, before any of the Hotel's Core Management are engaged, Franchisee must submit to Hyatt the identity and qualifications of the proposed candidates. These personnel must be in place and working on behalf of the Hotel by the time period Hyatt specifies. Franchisee or Management Company as Manager. Franchisee may not enter into a Management Arrangement without Hyatt's prior written approval of the Management Company, and Franchisee may not itself manage the Hotel without Hyatt's approval of Franchisee as the Hotel's operator. Hyatt will not unreasonably withhold its approval if the Management Company or Franchisee (as applicable) meets Hyatt's minimum qualifications, including Hyatt's then current operator approval fee, and ensures that its personnel attend and satisfactorily complete required brand standard training programs. ~~If Hyatt approves a~~

(b) Management Company Documents. As a condition of Hyatt's approval of any Management Company, ~~as a condition of that approval,~~ the Management Company must (i) sign the documents Hyatt requires to protect its intellectual property rights and to reflect the Management Company's agreement to perform its management responsibilities and otherwise operate the Hotel in compliance with this Agreement (collectively, the "**Management Company Documents**"); and (ii) attend and successfully complete Hyatt's designated then current operator training programs for Brand Hotels, if any. The current version of the Management Company Documents is attached as Exhibit F. ~~Nevertheless,~~ Hyatt may refuse to approve a Management Company ~~which~~ that is a Competing Brand Owner. If Hyatt has ~~preliminarily~~ approved a Management Company as of the Effective

Date, or if Hyatt has ~~preliminary~~-approved Franchisee to manage the Hotel as of the Effective Date, then ~~that approval is indicated~~the approved Management Company (if applicable) is listed on Exhibit B-1.

(c) **Revocation of Management Company Approval.** If an approved Management Company or Franchisee (if Hyatt approves Franchisee to manage the Hotel) at any time becomes a Competing Brand Owner, fails to attend and successfully complete ~~Hyatt's designated operator~~mandatory training program(s), fails to meet Hyatt's minimum qualifications (as Hyatt may periodically modify them), or fails to comply with this Agreement (including any System Standards and/or, without limiting the terms of Section 4.8 below, if the Hotel remains in any remedial or non-compliant status under Hyatt's then-current Quality Assurance and Compliance Program for three (3) or more consecutive months), the Management Company Documents, or any conditions of operator approval previously imposed by Hyatt, then, without limiting Hyatt's other rights and remedies under this Agreement and applicable law, Hyatt may (i) revoke its approval of ~~that the~~ Management Company (or of Franchisee) as the manager of the Hotel or (ii) as a condition of its continued approval, Hyatt may impose on the Management Company (or Franchisee) additional requirements, including participation in remedial training and other operational programs, at the Management Company's or Franchisee's expense. If Hyatt revokes its approval of the Management Company or of Franchisee as ~~the manager of the Hotel. If Hyatt does so,~~ then Franchisee must promptly terminate the Management Arrangement with that Management Company (if applicable) and either assume direct control of the Hotel's management and operation, if Hyatt approves Franchisee to manage the Hotel, or engage another Management Company that Hyatt has approved in writing.

~~(b) **Management Qualifications.** At Hyatt's option, before any general manager, director of sales (if applicable) or director of revenue management (if applicable) for the Hotel are engaged, Franchisee must submit to Hyatt the identity and qualifications of the proposed candidates. These personnel must be in place and working on behalf of the Hotel by the time period Hyatt specifies. If the Hotel's general manager fails to ensure that the Hotel satisfies Hyatt's quality assurance requirements or other brand standards, or the Hotel's director of sales (if applicable) or director of revenue management (if applicable) fails to ensure that the Hotel satisfies Hyatt's brand standards relevant to the subject area for which that individual has responsibility, then, without limiting Hyatt's other rights and remedies under this Agreement and applicable law, Hyatt may require Franchisee or the Management Company (as applicable) to appoint a new individual to serve in that position for the Hotel within the time period that Hyatt specifies.~~

(d) ~~(e)~~ **Core Management Staffing.** Franchisee, the Management Company or the approved F&B Operator (as applicable) is solely responsible for hiring the Core Management and other Hotel personnel and determining the terms and conditions of their employment. Franchisee, the Management Company or the approved F&B Operator (as applicable) must hire and properly train all Core Management and have a Core Management team in place at the Hotel at all times. Franchisee must ensure that all members of the Hotel's Core Management whom Franchisee or the Management Company employ spend all of their working time at the Hotel fulfilling their management and

operational responsibilities and do not concurrently maintain a position at another lodging facility or in any other capacity related to the lodging industry.

4.3 **System Standards.** Subject to ARTICLE X, Franchisee must operate the Hotel twenty-four (24) hours a day, every day, and use the Hotel and its premises solely for the business franchised under this Agreement. Franchisee, and not Hyatt, shall be responsible for providing a safe and secure environment at the Hotel and the Site for guests, employees, and members of the public. Franchisee must at all times ensure that the Hotel is operated in compliance with the Hotel System and all other mandatory System Standards Hyatt periodically communicates to Franchisee, as Hyatt may periodically modify them. System Standards may regulate any aspect of the Hotel's operation and the products and services that the Hotel uses and offers to guests and other customers, including participation in and compliance with the terms of all of Hyatt's mandatory marketing, reservation service, rate and room inventory management, advertising, guest frequency and loyalty, social responsibility, discount or promotional, training and operating programs, including a property management system that interfaces with the CRS. Franchisee must sign and comply with any license, participation and other agreements Hyatt periodically specifies relating to these programs.

Despite Hyatt's right to establish and periodically to modify System Standards for the Hotel and modify the Hotel System as Hyatt deems best, Franchisee retains the right to control, and responsibility for, the Hotel's day-to-day management and operation and implementing and maintaining System Standards at the Hotel. Because complete and detailed uniformity under many varying conditions might not be possible or practical, Hyatt reserves the right, as Hyatt deems best, to vary the Hotel System and System Standards for any Brand Hotel based upon the peculiarities of any condition or factors that Hyatt considers important to that hotel's successful operation. Franchisee has no right to require Hyatt to grant Franchisee a similar variation or accommodation.

Hyatt and Franchisee agree that any materials, guidance or assistance that Hyatt provides with respect to employment-related policies or procedures are solely for Franchisee's (and/or the Management Company's) optional use. Those materials, guidance and assistance do not form part of the mandatory System Standards. Franchisee (or the Management Company) will determine to what extent, if any, these materials, guidance or assistance should apply to the Hotel's employees. Franchisee acknowledges that Hyatt does not dictate or control labor or employment matters for franchisees and their employees. Franchisee (or the Management Company) is solely responsible for determining the terms and conditions of employment for all Hotel employees (including Core Management), for all decisions concerning the hiring, firing and discipline of Hotel employees, and for all other aspects of the Hotel's labor relations and employment practices.

4.4 **Sources of Products and Services.** Hyatt may require Franchisee to acquire FF&E, supplies, and other goods and services only from Hyatt (or its Affiliate) or from one or more sources that Hyatt periodically designates or approves. If Franchisee wishes to obtain any FF&E, supplies, or other goods and services from a source that Hyatt has not previously approved as a supplier of the particular item or service, Franchisee must comply with Hyatt's then current supplier approval standards. Upon Hyatt's request, Franchisee must reimburse Hyatt's costs in reviewing Franchisee's request and evaluating the product, service and/or source. Hyatt may designate a particular source for, or model or brand of, FF&E, supplies or other goods or services that Hyatt (in its sole judgment) determines to be critical to the Hotel System. Hyatt and its

Affiliates have the right to receive rebates, commissions, and other consideration from suppliers on account of their actual or prospective dealings with Franchisee and other franchisees and owners of Brand Hotels, but (subject to Section 4.1) neither Hyatt nor its Affiliates will receive rebates from suppliers based solely on the volume of Franchisee's purchases from those suppliers unless Hyatt either forwards those rebates to Franchisee, uses them to cover System Services Costs, or otherwise uses those rebates for the benefit of the Hotel System or the Brand Hotel network.

4.5 **CRS, GDS and ADS.** Franchisee must participate in, connect with, and use the authorized CRS, GDS and ADS (and only the authorized CRS, GDS and ADS) in the manner Hyatt periodically designates for offering, booking, modifying, and communicating guest room reservations for the Hotel. Franchisee must honor and give first priority on available rooms to all confirmed reservations that the CRS, GDS or ADS refers to the Hotel. The CRS and approved GDS and ADS are the only reservation systems or services that the Hotel may use for reservations. Franchisee will establish the Hotel's room rates, provided that those rates and Franchisee's pricing policies comply with System Standards (to the maximum extent the law allows). Franchisee may not charge any guest a rate higher than the rate that the reservations center specifies to the guest when the guest makes the reservation.

4.6 **F&B Operations and Spa Operations.** Franchisee is responsible for ensuring that all F&B Operations and all Spa Operations (if the Hotel has Spa Operations) operate in full compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and all applicable System Standards. Franchisee agrees to provide, or cause the Management Company to provide, all training programs to the F&B Operator and Spa Operator (as applicable) that Hyatt periodically specifies. If the F&B Operator or Spa Operator at any time fails to operate in full compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and all applicable System Standards, or fails to comply with any agreement with Hyatt, then, without limiting Hyatt's other rights and remedies under this Agreement and applicable law, Hyatt may revoke its approval of the F&B Operator or Spa Operator (as applicable). If Hyatt does so, then Franchisee must promptly terminate its arrangement with the F&B Operator or Spa Operator and either assume direct control of the Hotel's F&B Operations or Spa Operations (as applicable), if Hyatt has approved Franchisee to manage the Hotel, or engage another approved F&B Operator or Spa Operator that Hyatt has approved in writing.

4.7 **Upgrading the Hotel and CapEx Account.** Franchisee may not make any material changes to the Hotel's construction, including any changes to any structural or life safety equipment or systems, the number and/or type of guest rooms or common areas, or any architectural features, without Hyatt's prior written consent and complying with such conditions and procedures that Hyatt periodically establishes for such changes. Without limiting Hyatt's rights and Franchisee's obligations under Section 4.3, Hyatt may require Franchisee at any time and from time to time during the Term to upgrade or renovate the Hotel, including by altering the Hotel's appearance and/or replacing a material portion of improvements and/or FF&E, to comply with then current building décor, appearance, trade dress standards and other aspects of the Hotel System that Hyatt has established and then requires for new similarly situated Brand Hotels (subject to Reasonable Deviations). This upgrading or renovation may obligate Franchisee to invest additional capital in the Hotel and/or incur higher operating costs. Franchisee agrees to implement such upgrading and renovation within the time period Hyatt requests, provided that all

such upgrades and renovations apply to similarly situated Brand Hotels (subject to Reasonable Deviations).

In order to assist Franchisee in having funds available to make any necessary capital expenditures at the Hotel and comply with its obligations under this Section 4.7 (but without limiting those obligations), each month Franchisee shall deposit into a separate account that Franchisee controls (the “CapEx Account”) the amount set forth in Exhibit B-1. Upon Hyatt’s reasonable request, Franchisee will periodically provide Hyatt information concerning the funds in and expenditures from ~~that account~~the CapEx Account. Franchisee shall use ~~such~~the funds in the CapEx Account only for the purpose of making approved capital expenditures and complying with its upgrade and other obligations under this Section 4.7, although such obligations may require Franchisee to spend more than the amount then in ~~that account~~the CapEx Account.

4.8 Inspections/Compliance Assistance and Quality Assurance and Compliance Program. Hyatt may inspect the Hotel at any time, with or without notice to Franchisee, to determine whether Franchisee and the Hotel are complying with the Hotel System, System Standards, and other provisions of this Agreement. Franchisee must give Hyatt’s representatives free lodging (subject to availability) during the inspection period. The Hotel also must participate in and pay its allocable share of all fees and other costs associated with the Quality Assurance and Compliance Program. If Hyatt determines that the Hotel is failing to comply with the System Standards or any other terms and conditions of this Agreement, then, without limiting Hyatt’s other rights or remedies under this Agreement, any other agreement or applicable law, Franchisee must: (a) reimburse Hyatt for its costs related to that non-compliance, including fees, travel and living expenses, guest satisfaction payments or expenses, and other costs for administering any necessary actions, follow-up inspections, audits or re-evaluation visits until the failures to comply have been fully corrected, and (b) ensure that applicable Hotel personnel attend meetings and additional brand standard training programs that Hyatt specifies, at Franchisee’s sole expense, relating to that non-compliance.

4.9 Compliance With Laws. Franchisee must strictly comply with all laws, rules, regulations and other legal and governmental requirements concerning the Hotel’s development and operation, including by (a) ensuring that the Hotel is at all times in full compliance with the Accessibility Laws; (b) paying all taxes when due; and (c) obtaining and maintaining (or ensuring that the Management Company, F&B Operator and/or Spa Operator, as applicable, obtains and maintains) all licenses (including all liquor licenses) and permits necessary to operate the Hotel, including the F&B Operations and Spa Operations (if the Hotel has Spa Operations). Franchisee agrees to comply, and to assist Hyatt to the fullest extent possible in its efforts to comply, with the Trade Restriction Laws, Anti-Corruption Laws and Privacy Laws. In connection with that compliance, Franchisee (on behalf of itself and its Owners, excluding any Public Owners) certifies, represents, and warrants as of the Effective Date that none of Franchisee’s nor any such Owner’s property or interests is subject to being blocked under, and that Franchisee and such Owners otherwise are not in violation of, any of the Trade Restriction Laws. Franchisee represents and warrants that as of the Effective Date it has in place, and covenants to maintain in place throughout the Term, commercially reasonable compliance programs, policies and procedures designed to prevent any violations of, and promptly to detect any risks of violation or potential violation of, any Trade Restriction Laws, Anti-Corruption Laws or Privacy Laws, including procedures for conducting background checks on Owners and prospective Owners (other than Public Owners).

4.10 **No Diverting Business.** Franchisee must refer guests and customers, wherever reasonably possible, only to Brand Hotels or other Hyatt Network Hotels, not use the Hotel or the Hotel System to promote a competing business or other lodging facility, and not divert business from the Hotel to a competing business.

4.11 **No Competing Brand Owners.** Franchisee represents and warrants to Hyatt that neither Franchisee nor any of its Owners (other than a Public Owner) is a Competing Brand Owner and agrees that neither Franchisee nor any of its Owners (other than a Public Owner) at any time during the Term shall be or become a Competing Brand Owner.

4.12 **Restrictions on Use of the Site.** If the Hotel is or will be part of a Mixed-Use Site:

(a) Franchisee agrees to ensure that no part or portion of the Mixed-Use Site is used to operate (i) a pawnshop, check-cashing business, gentleman's club, pornography retailer, or other sexually-oriented business, or (ii) a package liquor store, marijuana dispensary, or gambling business, without Hyatt's prior written consent, which consent may be granted or withheld in Hyatt's sole judgment, or (iii) a bar, lounge, club or similar establishment situated within three hundred (300) feet of any part of the Hotel's interior footprint, whose revenues are derived more than fifty percent (50%) from the sale of alcoholic beverages, without Hyatt's prior written consent, which consent will not be withheld unless Hyatt reasonably determines that the establishment might have a material negative impact on guests of the Hotel.

(b) Franchisee shall and shall cause its lessees and its Affiliates and their respective lessees to: (i) develop, maintain and operate all Non-Hotel Components within the Mixed-Use Site in accordance with quality, design and operational standards consistent with the quality, design and operational standards applicable to the Hotel, (ii) refrain from advertising, marketing or promoting the Non-Hotel Components as being associated with or part of the Hotel, the Brand, the Brand Hotels, or any other Proprietary Marks, except in connection with Hotel, advertisement and promotion approved pursuant to ARTICLE V of this Agreement; and (iii) operate the Non-Hotel Components in a way that, in Hyatt's reasonable judgment, does not damage or reflect adversely on the goodwill associated with any Proprietary Mark.

(c) Franchisee shall and shall cause its lessees and its Affiliates and their respective lessees to, obtain and maintain throughout the Term, with respect to the Non-Hotel Components, the insurance coverages meeting then-current industry standards.

(d) Hyatt shall have the right to review the applicable provisions of agreements between Franchisee or its Affiliates and operators of the Non-Hotel Components to determine compliance with this Section 4.12.

ARTICLE V

ADVERTISING AND MARKETING

5.1 **Pre-Opening Marketing.** At least one hundred twenty (120) days before the Hotel's Opening Date, Franchisee must prepare and submit to Hyatt for its approval a written pre-opening marketing program that satisfies Hyatt's requirements and contemplates spending at least the amount set forth in Exhibit B-1. Franchisee must change the program as Hyatt specifies and implement the approved program.

5.2 **Participation in Advertising and Marketing.** Franchisee acknowledges that promoting Brand Hotels as a single chain in the United States is an important part of the Hotel System. Franchisee must participate in and use, in the manner that Hyatt specifies, all advertising, marketing and promotional activities, materials and programs that Hyatt periodically requires for ~~the Hotel~~ similarly-situated Brand Hotels (subject to Reasonable Deviations).

5.3 **Approval of Marketing Programs and Materials.** Subject to Hyatt's requirements and at Franchisee's expense, Franchisee may conduct local and regional marketing, advertising and promotional programs for the Hotel. Franchisee must ensure that all advertising, marketing and promotional materials, all public relations plans and programs, and all uses of the Proprietary Marks are conducted in a dignified manner and in accordance with the System Standards, including the use of Hyatt's standard templates where applicable, and which may, at Hyatt's option, require Hyatt's prior approval of materials not previously approved by Hyatt in the manner Hyatt specifies. Franchisee must discontinue using any materials, including previously-approved materials, and cease engaging in any plans and programs, including previously-approved plans and programs, within the timeframe Hyatt specifies after Franchisee receives written notice from Hyatt. Franchisee may not use Guest Information in conducting marketing, advertising and promotional programs for the Hotel unless conducted by or through Hyatt or with Hyatt's supervision in each instance. Franchisee shall pay Hyatt the reasonable fees that Hyatt periodically establishes for optional marketing, advertising and promotional materials and programs that Franchisee chooses to acquire from Hyatt or its Affiliates or in which Franchisee chooses to participate.

5.4 **Websites and Electronic Media.**

(a) Hyatt may maintain (or authorize any other entity to maintain) the Hotel System Website to advertise, market and promote all or a certain group of Brand Hotels that Hyatt periodically specifies (and, at Hyatt's option, other Hyatt Network Hotels). Franchisee must comply with all System Standards relating to the Hotel System Website, including by providing Hyatt (or its designee) all information and other materials concerning the Hotel that Hyatt periodically requests and promptly notifying Hyatt whenever any information concerning the Hotel on the Hotel System Website is no longer accurate. By providing Hotel-related information and materials, Franchisee is representing to Hyatt that they are accurate and not misleading and do not infringe any third party's intellectual property or other rights. Hyatt shall have the final decision about all information or materials appearing on the Hotel System Website. As between Hyatt and Franchisee, Hyatt owns all intellectual property rights and other rights in and to the Hotel

System Website, including data that visitors supply or the Hotel System Website obtains. Hyatt may discontinue the Hotel System Website and/or any of its content (including separate webpages for participating Brand Hotels) at any time.

(b) Franchisee may not develop, maintain or authorize any website or other electronic medium (other than the Hotel System Website) that either has the word “hyatt” or any similar word, or any of the Proprietary Marks, as part of its domain name or URL or that accepts reservations for the Hotel (other than through an approved link to a Hotel System Website) or otherwise sells any products or services associated with the Hotel or any of the Proprietary Marks. In addition, except for the Hotel System Website, approved ADS, and as otherwise provided in this Section 5.4, Franchisee may not develop, maintain or authorize any other website, other online presence or other electronic medium that describes or in any other way promotes the Hotel or displays any of the Proprietary Marks. Franchisee may, with Hyatt’s approval (which it will not unreasonably withhold) and subject to compliance with System Standards, authorize any Travel Services Website or Franchisee Organization Website to list and promote the Hotel together with other hotels.

5.5 **Cooperative Advertising Programs.** Hyatt may identify a region in which two (2) or more Brand Hotels are located in order to establish a local or regional advertising cooperative (a “**Cooperative**”). Hyatt may form, change, dissolve and merge Cooperatives. The Cooperative’s purpose will be to collect funds from its members and to plan, discuss, organize, develop, utilize, produce, disseminate, and implement marketing, advertising and promotional programs and materials on a collective basis (and to cover related expenses) for participating Brand Hotels. Hyatt will not require Franchisee to participate in a Cooperative. However, if Franchisee chooses to participate in the Cooperative, Franchisee must do so according to the Cooperative’s rules, including paying the Hotel’s allocable share of any advertising, marketing, promotional and other programs that the Cooperative conducts. All restrictions under this Agreement relating to any advertising, marketing or promotional programs that Franchisee conducts also apply to any such programs that the Cooperative conducts.

ARTICLE VI

FEES AND PAYMENTS

6.1 **Initial Fees.**

(a) The initial Application Fee was fully earned by Hyatt and non-refundable upon Hyatt’s approval of Franchisee’s franchise application before Hyatt and Franchisee signed this Agreement. If Hyatt and Franchisee agree to add guest rooms to the Hotel above the number of rooms stated in [Exhibit B-3](#) before the Hotel opens, then Franchisee must pay Hyatt, when Hyatt approves the additional guest rooms, an additional Application Fee in an amount equal to the amount set forth in [Exhibit B-1](#). After the Hotel opens, if Franchisee wants to add any guest rooms to the Hotel, Franchisee must pay Hyatt’s then current PIP fee (currently the amount set forth in [Exhibit B-1](#) when Franchisee requests Hyatt’s approval of Franchisee’s plans. This PIP fee is non-refundable. Hyatt will apply this PIP fee toward the additional Application Fee of the amount set forth in [Exhibit B-1](#) if Hyatt approves Franchisee’s plans. If the PIP fee exceeds the additional Application Fee,

Hyatt may keep the excess. The remaining portion of the additional Application Fee is due, fully earned by Hyatt, and non-refundable on the date Hyatt approves Franchisee's plans to develop the additional guest rooms.

~~(b) In connection with the IT Project Management Services, Franchisee shall pay Hyatt the "IT Project Management Services Fee" as set forth in Exhibit B. The IT Project Management Services Fee is non-refundable.~~

(b) Franchisee shall pay Hyatt the "IT Project Management Services Fee" set forth in Exhibit B-1, plus any applicable taxes thereon. The IT Project Management Services Fee is non-refundable. Franchisee shall reimburse Hyatt's or its Affiliate's reasonable expenses in connection with rendering the IT Project Management Services, including any necessary transportation, lodging and meals, plus applicable taxes thereon. The IT Project Management Services Fee (including expenses) will be invoiced by Hyatt no earlier than: (i) Hyatt's completion of the IT Project Management Services or (ii) upon Franchisee's termination of the Hotel development project or the IT Project Management Services, for any reason, in either event regardless of whether Hyatt has approved the Hotel for opening.

(c) ~~If~~ Franchisee is constructing a new Hotel, adapting a non-hotel space for use as a Hotel, or conducting a significant renovation of an existing hotel in connection with conversion to a Brand Hotel, Franchisee shall pay Hyatt a design services review fee (the "**Design Services Review Fee**") as set forth in Exhibit B-1. In addition, if Franchisee requests Hyatt's review of alternative plans, design or products other than those prescribed by Hyatt's prototype plans, Franchisee must pay Hyatt an alternative design review fee (the "Alternative Design Review Fee") as set forth in Exhibit B-1. The Design Services Review Fee ~~is~~ and the Alternative Design Review Fee are non-refundable.†

6.2 **Monthly Fees to Hyatt.** On or before the tenth (10th) day of each month or such later day of the month that Hyatt periodically specifies, Franchisee shall pay Hyatt:

(a) a "**Royalty Fee**" equal to the amount set forth in Exhibit B-1;

(b) the System Services Charges for the previous month. Franchisee acknowledges that System Services Charges will include an allocable proportion of certain System Services Costs incurred during the period before the Hotel opens in accordance with this Agreement. System Services Charges shall be determined on the same basis as such amounts are determined for other Participating Hotels. Any allocation of shared costs that the Hyatt Group makes in good faith and with the intention of fairly allocating such costs to System Services shall be binding on the parties hereto. System Services Costs shall include the actual costs incurred by the Hyatt Group and shall not be subject to any mark-up, premium or profit on any Mandatory Services, but may include a profit or mark-up component on Non-Mandatory Services as described above or as determined by the Hyatt Group. The Hyatt Group may in its reasonable judgment periodically change its method of allocation of the System Services Costs among Participating Hotels, and the categories of Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels that are classified as Participating Hotels, provided that such method of allocation and categories of

Participating Hotels shall at all times be determined on a reasonable, equitable and non-discriminatory basis; and

(c) all fees and other amounts that Hyatt (or its Affiliates) then has paid or has agreed to pay on Franchisee's behalf to any Providers. If any Provider assesses a single or group fee or other charge that covers all or a group of Brand Hotels or other Hyatt Network Hotels to which that Provider provides products or services, Franchisee agrees that Hyatt's allocation of that fee or other charge among the Hotel and other participating hotels is final. The Providers may periodically increase the fees and other charges they impose. At Hyatt's option, Franchisee must begin paying these fees and other charges directly to the applicable Provider(s).

6.3 **Payments to Other Parties.** Franchisee agrees to pay on a timely basis, as and when due, all amounts owed to third parties (including Hyatt's Affiliates) arising out of the Hotel's operation (excluding only amounts owed which are reasonably in dispute), including: (a) applicable commissions to travel agents and third party reservation service charges and otherwise participate in any Hotel System travel agent commission payment program, as Hyatt periodically modifies it; (b) all commissions and fees for reservations Franchisee accepts through any sources (including the Internet), whether processed through Hyatt, the CRS, or any Provider's reservation system or billed directly to Franchisee; (c) all fees and assessments due for guest frequency programs and other marketing programs Hyatt periodically initiates that are attributable to the Hotel; and (d) all contributions for cooperative advertising programs in which Franchisee agrees to participate, as required in Section 5.5.

6.4 **Electronic Funds Transfer.** Franchisee must make all payments for Royalty Fees, System Services Charges and other amounts due to Hyatt or any member of the Hyatt Group under this Agreement or otherwise in connection with the Hotel by electronic funds transfer ("EFT") in compliance with System Standards. Hyatt periodically may change the procedure for payments hereunder. Funds must be available in Franchisee's account to cover payments when due. Franchisee may not change its bank, financial institution, or account used in connection with the operation of the Hotel without first telling Hyatt.

6.5 **Late Fee and Late Payment Interest.** Franchisee agrees to pay Hyatt a late fee of Two Hundred Twenty-Five Dollars (\$225) for each required payment not made on or before its original due date and for each required payment or authorized automatic debit not honored by Franchisee's financial institution. The late fee is not interest or a penalty but compensates Hyatt for increased administrative and management costs due to Franchisee's late payment. In addition, all amounts that Franchisee owes Hyatt that are more than seven (7) days late, or that are not available for withdrawal by automatic debit when due (if the amounts are payable by automatic debit), will bear interest accruing as of their original due date at one and one-half percent (1.5%) per month or the highest commercial contract interest rate the law allows, whichever is less. Franchisee acknowledges that this Section 6.5 is not Hyatt's agreement to accept any payments after they are due or Hyatt's commitment to extend credit to, or otherwise finance Franchisee's operation of, the Hotel.

6.6 **Application of Payments.** Despite any designation Franchisee makes, Hyatt may apply any of Franchisee's payments to any of Franchisee's past due indebtedness to Hyatt or its

Affiliates. Hyatt may set off any amounts Franchisee or its Affiliates owe Hyatt or its Affiliates against any amounts that Hyatt or its Affiliates owe Franchisee or its Affiliates. Franchisee may not withhold payment of any amounts Franchisee owes Hyatt or its Affiliates due to Hyatt's alleged nonperformance of any of its obligations under this Agreement.

6.7 **Taxes on Franchisee's Payments.** In addition to any sales, use and other taxes that applicable law requires or permits Hyatt to collect from Franchisee for providing goods or services under this Agreement, Franchisee shall pay to Hyatt all Transaction Taxes in an amount necessary to provide Hyatt with after-tax receipts (taking into account any additional payments required hereunder) equal to the same amounts that Hyatt would have received under this Agreement if such Transaction Taxes had not been imposed.

6.8 **Non-Refundability.** Unless otherwise specified, all fees that Franchisee paid to Hyatt or its Affiliates before or simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, or pays to Hyatt or its Affiliates during the Term, are non-refundable.

ARTICLE VII

BOOKS AND RECORDS, AUDITS AND REPORTING

7.1 **Reports.** Franchisee must prepare and deliver to Hyatt the operating statements, financial statements and other reports relating to the Hotel that Hyatt periodically requires, prepared in the form, by the methods, and within the timeframes that Hyatt periodically specifies in the System Standards. Hyatt may use such information for all reasonable purposes. Hyatt may require Franchisee to have audited financial statements prepared annually during the Term.

7.2 **Lender and Ground Lessor Information.** Franchisee must send Hyatt current contact information for each Lender and Ground Lessor upon Hyatt's request ~~or any change in the Lender's or Ground Lessor's information, and must provide Hyatt written notice of any proposed material amendments to any mortgage or loan facility covering the Hotel, together with information concerning the proposed amendment and Franchisee's financial condition that Hyatt reasonably requests, at least fifteen (15) days before finalizing the amendment. Upon Hyatt's request, Franchisee.~~ Without limiting Section 2.7 of this Agreement, Franchisee must promptly provide notice to Hyatt if Franchisee or any Affiliate of Franchisee enters into any arrangement with a Lender and such arrangement has not been previously disclosed to Hyatt, including any refinancing with a new or existing Lender. Franchisee must provide Hyatt copies of all ground leases, subleases and other arrangements with any Ground Lessor. Franchisee must promptly send Hyatt a copy of any notices of default, termination, or other exercise of any default rights or remedies that Franchisee receives from or delivers to any Lender or Ground Lessor, together with all other information that Hyatt reasonably requests relating to any such defaults or termination. Franchisee agrees that Hyatt may, at its option and without breaching any rights of or obligations to Franchisee, have discussions and share information with any Lender, Ground Lessor, supplier or other vendor concerning the Hotel or Franchisee.

7.3 **Other Actions or Events.** Franchisee must notify Hyatt in writing within ten (10) days after Franchisee receives information or documentation about any lawsuit, action, or

proceeding, or the issuance of any injunction, award, or decree of any court, quasi-judicial body, or governmental agency, that might adversely affect the Hotel, Franchisee's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement, or Franchisee's financial condition.

7.4 **Preparation and Maintenance of Books and Records.** Franchisee agrees to: (a) prepare on a current basis in a form satisfactory to Hyatt, and thereafter maintain in accordance with System Standards, complete and accurate records concerning ~~Gross Rooms Revenue and~~ all financial (including revenue and expenses), operating, marketing, and other aspects of the Hotel; and (b) maintain an accounting system that fully and accurately reflects all financial aspects of the Hotel. Hyatt reserves the right to access Franchisee's computer system independently to obtain sales information, occupancy information, and other data and information relating to the Hotel.

7.5 **Audit.** Hyatt may at any time during Franchisee's regular business hours, and with prior notice to Franchisee, examine Franchisee's and the Hotel's business and accounting records, tax records and returns, and other records. Franchisee agrees to cooperate fully in any examination. If any examination discloses an understatement of the ~~Hotel's Gross Rooms Revenue~~ revenue, Franchisee agrees to pay Hyatt, within fifteen (15) days after receiving the examination report, the Royalty Fees, System Services Charges and other fees due on the amount of the understatement, together with the late fee and interest in accordance with Section 6.5. Furthermore, if Hyatt determines that an examination is necessary due to Franchisee's failure to furnish reports or other information when required, or if Hyatt's examination reveals a Royalty Fee or System Services Charge underpayment of three percent (3%) or more of the total amount owed during any six (6)-month period, or that Franchisee willfully understated the Hotel's ~~Gross Rooms Revenue~~ revenue, Franchisee agrees to reimburse Hyatt for the costs of the examination, including out-of-pocket costs and compensation of Hyatt's employees. These remedies are in addition to Hyatt's other remedies and rights under this Agreement and applicable law.

ARTICLE VIII

RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES AND INDEMNIFICATION

8.1 **Relationship of the Parties.** Franchisee is an independent contractor. Neither Hyatt nor Franchisee is the legal representative or agent of, or has the power to obligate, the other for any purpose. No partnership, joint venture, affiliate, agency, fiduciary, or employment relationship is intended or created by this Agreement. Hyatt and Franchisee may not make any express or implied agreements, warranties, guarantees, or representations, or incur any debt, in the name or on behalf of the other nor represent that Hyatt's and Franchisee's relationship is other than franchisor and franchisee. Hyatt will not be obligated for any damages to any person or property directly or indirectly arising out of the Hotel's operation or the business Franchisee conducts under this Agreement.

8.2 **Franchisee's Notices to Public Concerning Independent Status.** Franchisee must provide notices making clear to the public that Hyatt is not the Hotel's owner or operator and is not accountable for events occurring at the Hotel. Franchisee also agrees to communicate clearly with Hotel employees in employment agreements, handbooks and other materials that Franchisee (or the Management Company, as applicable), and not Hyatt or its Affiliates, is the employer of all Hotel employees.

8.3 **Franchisee's Indemnification and Defense of Hyatt.**

(a) **Indemnification.** In addition to Franchisee's obligation under this Agreement to procure and maintain insurance, Franchisee agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Hyatt Indemnified Parties against, and to reimburse any one or more of the Hyatt Indemnified Parties for, all Losses directly or indirectly arising out of, resulting from, or in connection with (i) the application Franchisee submitted to Hyatt for the rights granted under this Agreement; (ii) the development or operation of the Hotel, including the use of any Market Descriptor or Hotel IP in connection with the Hotel and any claim or allegation relating to the Accessibility Laws, and including claims alleging either intentional or negligent conduct, acts or omissions by Hyatt or its Affiliates (or any of their agents, employees or representatives) relating to the operation of the Hotel, the F&B Operations, the Spa Operations (if any) or the Hotel System, subject to Section 8.4(a); or (iii) Franchisee's breach of this Agreement.

(b) **Defense.** Franchisee shall notify Hyatt within five (5) days after receiving notice of any Proceeding covered in Section 8.3(a) naming any Hyatt Indemnified Party as a defendant or potential defendant and shall include with such notification copies of all correspondence or court papers relating to the Proceeding. Franchisee agrees to defend (at Franchisee's expense) the Hyatt Indemnified Parties from and against any and all Proceedings directly or indirectly arising out of, resulting from, or in connection with any matter described in Section 8.3(a)(i) through (iii), including those alleging a Hyatt Indemnified Party's negligence or willful misconduct, subject to Section 8.4(a). Each Hyatt Indemnified Party may at Franchisee's expense defend and control the defense of any Proceeding described in this Section 8.3(b) and agree to settlements and take any other remedial, corrective, or other actions, without limiting Franchisee's obligations under Section 8.3(a), provided that the Hyatt Indemnified Party will seek Franchisee's advice and counsel, and keep Franchisee informed, with regard to any proposed or contemplated settlement.

(c) **Separate Counsel and Settlement.** If separate counsel is appropriate in Hyatt's opinion because of actual or potential conflicts of interest, Hyatt may retain attorneys and/or independently defend any Proceeding subject to indemnification under this Section 8.3 at Franchisee's sole expense. No party may agree to any settlement in any Proceeding that could have an adverse effect on Hyatt, its Affiliates, the Hotel System, or other franchisees without Hyatt's prior approval.

(d) **Right to Control Defense of Certain Proceedings.** Without limiting Hyatt's rights or Franchisee's obligations under this Section 8.3, Hyatt (or its designee) has the right to defend and control the defense of any Proceeding arising from any Data Breach or any class action or other Proceeding involving both the Hotel and any other Brand Hotel or Hyatt Network Hotel, regardless of whether Hyatt or any of the other Hyatt Indemnified Parties are named defendants in that Proceeding. Franchisee shall promptly reimburse Hyatt for the Hotel's proportionate share of all reasonable expenses that Hyatt incurs in connection with any Proceeding covered by this Section 8.3(d). Hyatt shall allocate those

expenses equitably among the Hotel and all other Brand Hotels and Hyatt Network Hotels involved in the Proceeding in any manner that Hyatt reasonably determines.

8.4 **Hyatt's Indemnification and Defense of Franchisee.**

(a) **Indemnification.** Hyatt agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Franchisee Indemnified Parties against, and to reimburse any one or more of the Franchisee Indemnified Parties for, any and all Losses (including defense costs and other Losses incurred in defending any Proceeding described in Section 8.3(b), if applicable) directly or indirectly arising out of, resulting from, or in connection with (i) a final decision by a court of competent jurisdiction not subject to further appeal that Hyatt, its Affiliate, or any of their respective employees directly engaged in willful misconduct or gross negligence or intentionally caused the property damage or bodily injury that is the subject of the claim with respect to the operation of the Hotel, so long as the claim is not asserted on the basis of (A) theories of vicarious liability (including agency, apparent agency, or joint employer), (B) Hyatt's failure to compel Franchisee to comply with this Agreement, or (C) negligence or misconduct in connection with the development or construction of the Hotel, all of which are claims for which the Franchisee Indemnified Parties are not entitled to indemnification under this Section 8.4; or (ii) any trademark infringement Proceeding disputing Franchisee's authorized use of any Proprietary Mark under this Agreement, provided that Franchisee has timely notified Hyatt of, and complies with Hyatt's directions in responding to, the Proceeding.

(b) **Defense.** Hyatt agrees to defend (at Hyatt's expense) the Franchisee Indemnified Parties from and against any and all Proceedings described in Section 8.4(a)(ii). At Hyatt's option, Hyatt and/or its Affiliate(s) may defend and control the defense of any other Proceeding arising from or relating to the Proprietary Marks or Franchisee's use of any Proprietary Mark under this Agreement. Hyatt may agree to settlements and take any other remedial, corrective, or other actions with respect to any Proceeding described in this Section 8.4(b), provided that Hyatt will seek Franchisee's advice and counsel, and keep Franchisee informed, with regard to any proposed or contemplated settlement.

8.5 **Survival and Mitigation.** The obligations under Sections 8.3 and 8.4 will continue in full force and effect subsequent to and notwithstanding this Agreement's expiration or termination. A Hyatt Indemnified Party or Franchisee Indemnified Party need not seek recovery from any insurer or other third party, or otherwise mitigate its Losses, in order to maintain and recover fully a claim under Section 8.3 or 8.4 (as applicable). The obligation to indemnify under Section 8.3 or 8.4 (as applicable) shall not be limited in any way by reason of any insurance that any indemnified party maintains.

ARTICLE IX

INSURANCE

At Franchisee's expense, Franchisee must procure and at all times during the Term maintain such insurance covering the risks, in the amounts, and with the deductibles, retentions

and other provisions, as set forth in the System Standards from time to time. All insurance must be endorsed specifically name Hyatt and its Affiliates (and Hyatt's and their employees and agents) as additional insureds. Franchisee must purchase each policy from an insurance company reasonably acceptable to Hyatt. Either the insurer or Franchisee must provide at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice to Hyatt of any insurance policy's cancellation, non-renewal or material change. Franchisee must deliver to Hyatt a certificate of insurance (or certified copy of such insurance policy if Hyatt requests) evidencing the required coverages and setting forth the amount of any deductibles not less than ten (10) days after their respective inception dates. Franchisee must ensure that each F&B Operator (if any) and Spa Operator (if any) maintains the insurance and otherwise complies with all applicable obligations under this ARTICLE IX that Hyatt periodically specifies, including by naming Hyatt and any Affiliates that Hyatt periodically designates (and Hyatt's and their employees and agents) as additional insureds and delivering certificates of insurance to Hyatt. If Franchisee fails for any reason to procure or maintain the insurance required by this Agreement, Hyatt shall have the right and authority (although without any obligation to do so) to immediately procure such insurance and to charge Franchisee the cost together with a reasonable fee for Hyatt's expenses. Hyatt shall have the right to review Franchisee's insurance coverage for the foregoing requirements from time to time during the Term and to update requirements for insurance coverage in response to material changes in the circumstances of the Hotel, then-current industry practices, and changes in economic conditions. Franchisee shall promptly comply with Hyatt's updated requirements.

ARTICLE X

CONDEMNATION AND DAMAGE

10.1 **Condemnation.** Franchisee must immediately notify Hyatt of any proposed taking all or a substantial portion of the Hotel by eminent domain, condemnation or expropriation. If the parties do not otherwise agree to relocate the Hotel, then either party may terminate this Agreement immediately upon written notice to the other. If Franchisee and its Owners sign a Termination Agreement, then Franchisee shall not be required to pay liquidated damages pursuant to Section 16.5 at the time of termination. However, such Termination Agreement shall provide that if Franchisee or any of its Affiliates begins construction on or operation of a hotel of the same Hotel Type at any location within the Area of Protection at any time during the twenty-four (24) month period following the effective date of termination of this Agreement, other than a Hyatt Network Hotel or a hotel that was already under contract to be developed at that particular location within the Area of Protection on the date that the Termination Agreement is signed, then Franchisee or its Owners must pay Hyatt liquidated damages equal to the amount set forth in Exhibit B-1 multiplied by the number of guest rooms in that new hotel of the same Hotel Type. If Franchisee and its Owners fail to sign such Termination Agreement within a reasonable time after Hyatt delivers it to Franchisee, then Franchisee must pay Hyatt liquidated damages pursuant to Section 16.5 at the time of termination, in addition to complying with its other post-termination obligations under this Agreement.

10.2 **Damage.** If the Hotel is damaged by fire, flood, accident, hurricane or other casualty, Franchisee must notify Hyatt immediately.

(a) If the cost to repair the damage is less than or equal to the Damage Threshold, then Franchisee must repair the damage promptly according to the System Standards and this Agreement's other terms and conditions. If the damage or repair requires Franchisee to close all or any portion of the Hotel, then Franchisee must commence reconstruction as soon as practicable (but in any event within four (4) months) after closing the Hotel and reopen for continuous business operations as a Brand Hotel as soon as practicable (but in any event within twenty-four (24) months) after closing the Hotel, but not without complying with this Agreement's other terms and conditions. The Term will be extended for the period of time during which the Hotel is closed pursuant to this Section 10.2(a), and Franchisee need not make any payments of Royalty Fees or System Services Charges while the Hotel is closed pursuant to this Section 10.2(a) unless Franchisee receives insurance proceeds compensating Franchisee for lost Gross Rooms Revenue during such period, in which case Franchisee must pay Royalty Fees and System Services Charges on the amount of proceeds received allocable to such loss.

(b) If the cost to repair the damage from the casualty exceeds the Damage Threshold, then Franchisee may either: (i) repair the damage promptly according to the System Standards and this Agreement's other terms and conditions; or (ii) elect to terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Hyatt. If Franchisee elects to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 10.2(b)(ii), Franchisee and its Owners must sign a Termination Agreement and pay a termination fee (in lieu of liquidated damages or Brand Damages) in an amount equal to the lesser of the liquidated damages calculated pursuant to Section 16.5 and the Net Recovery, provided that if the Net Recovery is less than zero, no termination fee shall be required upon signing the Termination Agreement.

(c) Franchisee must provide Hyatt such documentation as Hyatt may reasonably request to calculate the Damage Threshold, the insurance proceeds Franchisee receives in connection with any casualty, and the Net Recovery amount (if applicable). Any Termination Agreement signed pursuant to this Section 10.2 shall provide that if Franchisee, any of its Affiliates, or any other entity (including any buyer of the Hotel) begins construction on or operation of a hotel of the same Hotel Type at the Site other than a Brand Hotel or another Hyatt Network Hotel at any time during the twenty-four (24)-month period following the effective date of termination of this Agreement, then Franchisee or its Owners must pay Hyatt liquidated damages equal to the difference between (i) the amount that would have been payable pursuant to Section 16.5 at the time of termination, less (ii) the amount of liquidated damages actually paid at the time of termination pursuant to this Section 10.2.

ARTICLE XI

PROPRIETARY RIGHTS

11.1 Ownership and Goodwill of Proprietary Marks, Copyrighted Materials, and Confidential Information. Hyatt's Affiliate has licensed the Proprietary Marks, Copyrighted Materials, and Confidential Information to Hyatt to use and sublicense in franchising, developing, and operating Brand Hotels. Franchisee's right to use the Proprietary Marks, Copyrighted Materials, and Confidential Information is derived only from this Agreement and is limited to

Franchisee's developing and operating the Hotel according to this Agreement and all System Standards that Hyatt prescribes during the Term. Franchisee's unauthorized use of the Proprietary Marks, Copyrighted Materials, or Confidential Information is a breach of this Agreement and infringes Hyatt's and its Affiliate's rights in them. Franchisee's use of the Proprietary Marks, Copyrighted Materials, and Confidential Information and any goodwill established by that use are exclusively for Hyatt's and its Affiliate's benefit, and this Agreement does not confer any goodwill or other interests in the Proprietary Marks, Copyrighted Materials or Confidential Information upon Franchisee, other than the right to develop and operate the Hotel under this Agreement. Franchisee may not at any time during or after the Term contest or assist any other person or entity in contesting the validity, or Hyatt's and its Affiliate's ownership, of any of the Proprietary Marks, Copyrighted Materials, or Confidential Information.

11.2 Limitations on Franchisee's Use of Proprietary Marks. Franchisee shall use the Proprietary Marks, along with a Market Descriptor designated or approved by Hyatt, as the sole identification of the Hotel. The Market Descriptor is not a Proprietary Mark. Hyatt makes no representation concerning Franchisee's right to use any Market Descriptor requested by Franchisee and approved by Hyatt. Hyatt has the right to require Franchisee to change, or discontinue use of any previously-approved, Market Descriptor and to substitute an alternative Market Descriptor in its place as Hyatt deems necessary or advisable, and Franchisee agrees to promptly adhere to Hyatt's instructions in connection therewith. Franchisee (or the Management Company) must identify itself as the Hotel's independent owner (or operator) in the manner that Hyatt periodically specifies. Franchisee may not use any Proprietary Mark (a) as part of any corporate or legal business name; (b) with any prefix, suffix, or other modifying words, terms, designs, or symbols (other than logos Hyatt licenses to Franchisee); (c) in providing or selling any unauthorized services or products; (d) as part of any domain name, homepage, meta tags, keyword, electronic address, or otherwise in connection with a website (unless Hyatt has approved such use in advance); or (e) in any other manner Hyatt has not expressly authorized in writing. Franchisee (and, if applicable, any restaurant operators at the Hotel) may use the Proprietary Marks in connection with any Hotel restaurant operations only with Hyatt's prior written consent and in compliance with all System Standards relating thereto. If Hyatt discovers Franchisee's unauthorized use of the Proprietary Marks, in addition to Hyatt's other rights and remedies under this Agreement and applicable law, Hyatt may require Franchisee to destroy (with no reimbursement from Hyatt) all offending items reflecting such unauthorized use.

Franchisee may not use any Proprietary Mark in advertising the transfer, sale, or other disposition of the Hotel or an ownership interest in Franchisee or any of its Owners without Hyatt's prior written consent, which Hyatt will not unreasonably withhold. Franchisee agrees to display the Proprietary Marks as Hyatt periodically prescribes at the Hotel and on advertising and other materials Hyatt periodically designates. Franchisee agrees to give the notices of trade and service mark registrations that Hyatt periodically specifies and to obtain any fictitious or assumed name registrations required under applicable law.

11.3 Notification of Infringements and Claims. Franchisee agrees to notify Hyatt immediately of any apparent infringement or challenge to Franchisee's use of any Proprietary Mark, Copyrighted Materials, or Confidential Information, or of any person's claim of any rights in any Proprietary Mark, Copyrighted Materials, or Confidential Information, and not to communicate with any person other than Hyatt, its Affiliates, and its and their attorneys, and

Franchisee's attorneys, regarding any infringement, challenge, or claim. Hyatt and its Affiliates may take the action it and they deem appropriate (including no action) and control exclusively any Proceeding arising from any infringement, challenge, or claim or otherwise concerning any Proprietary Mark, Copyrighted Materials, or Confidential Information. Franchisee agrees to sign any documents and take any other reasonable actions that, in the opinion of Hyatt's and its Affiliates' attorneys, are necessary or advisable to protect and maintain Hyatt's and its Affiliates' interests in any Proceeding or otherwise to protect and maintain Hyatt's and its Affiliates' interests in the Proprietary Marks, Copyrighted Materials, and Confidential Information. Hyatt or its Affiliate will reimburse Franchisee's reasonable out-of-pocket costs for taking any requested action.

11.4 Discontinuing Use of Proprietary Marks. If it becomes advisable at any time for Hyatt and/or Franchisee to modify, discontinue using, and/or replace any Proprietary Mark and/or to use one or more additional, substitute, or replacement trade or service marks, Franchisee agrees to comply with Hyatt's directions within a reasonable time after receiving notice. Neither Hyatt nor its Affiliates will reimburse Franchisee for any costs or expenses incurred in connection with such directions, including expenses of changing the Hotel's signs, any loss of revenue due to any modified or discontinued Proprietary Mark, or Franchisee's expenses of promoting a modified or substitute trademark or service mark. Hyatt's rights in this Section 11.4 apply to any and all of the Proprietary Marks (and any portion of any Proprietary Mark) that this Agreement authorizes Franchisee to use.

11.5 Confidential Information. Hyatt and its Affiliates possess (and will continue to develop and acquire) Confidential Information, some of which constitutes trade secrets under applicable law. Franchisee agrees that the Confidential Information is proprietary to Hyatt and its Affiliates, includes Hyatt's and its Affiliate's trade secrets, and is disclosed to Franchisee only on the condition that Franchisee agrees, and Franchisee hereby does agree, that Franchisee: (a) will not use (or allow any of its Affiliates to use) Confidential Information in any other business or capacity; (b) will keep confidential each item deemed to be a part of Confidential Information, both during and after the Term (afterward for as long as the item is not generally known in the hotel industry); (c) will not make unauthorized copies of any Confidential Information disclosed via electronic medium or in written or other tangible form; and (d) will adopt and implement reasonable procedures that Hyatt periodically specifies to prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of Confidential Information.

11.6 Guest Information. All Guest Information is Hyatt's property and part of Confidential Information. Hyatt has the right from time to time during the Term, without notice to Franchisee, to access the Hotel's property management system and other computer systems to retrieve Guest Information. Hyatt and its Affiliates may use, and allow others to use, the Guest Information in any manner that Hyatt deems appropriate (subject to applicable law).

Franchisee may use the Guest Information, and certain other information and data relating to guests and customers of other Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels that Hyatt periodically specifies, during the Term only to provide services to guests and potential guests of the Hotel in accordance with the System Standards and all applicable laws, rules and regulations. Franchisee must ensure that its Affiliates may not access, and neither Franchisee nor any of its

Affiliates may use, any such Guest Information or such other information and data in any other business or capacity. However, following the expiration or termination of this Agreement, Franchisee may use, and allow its Affiliates and others to use, any Guest Information that was generated at the Hotel (and not supplied to the Hotel by Hyatt or its Affiliate) during the guest's stay at the Hotel and stored in the Hotel's property management system database in any manner that Franchisee deems appropriate (subject to applicable law) at Franchisee's own risk, provided that Franchisee complies, and ensures that any recipients of that Guest Information from Franchisee (whether directly or indirectly) comply, with Hyatt's then current policies and procedures regarding the collection, storage, use, processing and transfer of personal and/or financial data. If there is a Data Breach, Franchisee must notify Hyatt promptly and Hyatt may require Franchisee to use a third party supplier designated by Hyatt, at Franchisee's sole cost and expense, to review and if necessary, remediate such breach or unauthorized access. Franchisee shall not take any action that could jeopardize Hyatt's or its Affiliate's ability to comply with, or make certifications under, any law, regulation, contract, program or policy related to Guest Information (including Privacy Laws, privacy notices and PCI certifications) and applicable to Hyatt or such Affiliate.

11.7 **Innovations.** All Innovations must be promptly disclosed to Hyatt and will be deemed to be Hyatt's or its Affiliate's sole and exclusive property, part of the Hotel System, and works made-for-hire for Hyatt or its Affiliates. However, Franchisee may not use any Innovation in operating the Hotel or otherwise without Hyatt's prior written consent. If any Innovation does not qualify as a "work made-for-hire" for Hyatt or its Affiliate, by this paragraph Franchisee assigns ownership of that Innovation, and all related intellectual property rights and other rights to that Innovation, to Hyatt and agrees to take whatever action (including signing assignment or other documents) that Hyatt requests to evidence its ownership or to help Hyatt obtain intellectual property rights in the Innovation.

11.8 **Hotel IP.** Franchisee hereby grants Hyatt and its Affiliates the right to use the Hotel IP in connection with the marketing, promotion, and publicity of the Hotel, the Proprietary Marks, other Brand Hotels, Hyatt Network Hotels, and Hyatt's loyalty program(s), and otherwise to perform Hyatt's obligations under this Agreement, including use of the Hotel IP in connection with the CRS, the Hotel System Website, and any other media, technology or device now known or hereafter developed, without further authorization from or remuneration to Franchisee. As part of this license, Hyatt and its Affiliates have the right to use, copy, publish, distribute, and license others to use the Hotel IP, as needed, and may alter, retouch, crop or use in composite form the Hotel IP, in any way. Franchisee represents and warrants that Franchisee owns or has all valid rights to use the Hotel IP and that use of the Hotel IP by Hyatt and its Affiliates as permitted hereunder will not violate the rights of any third party.

ARTICLE XII

OWNERSHIP OF FRANCHISEE AND TRANSFER

12.1 **Ownership of Franchisee and Guarantors.**

- (a) **Franchisee's Owners.** Franchisee represents and warrants that:
- (a) Exhibit G completely and accurately identifies all Owners (other than any Limited

Interest Owner) and describes their ownership interests (whether direct or indirect) in Franchisee; and (b) none of Franchisee's Owners (other than a Public Owner) is a Sanctioned Person. Without limiting Hyatt's rights or Franchisee's obligations under this ARTICLE XII, upon Hyatt's reasonable request, Franchisee agrees to provide Hyatt information about the identity of the Owners (other than a Public Owner) and their ownership interests (whether direct or indirect) in Franchisee from time to time using the forms and formats that Hyatt reasonably specifies.

(b) **Guaranty**. Franchisee must ensure that one or more of the Controlling Owners which Hyatt specifies as of the Effective Date signs Hyatt's Guaranty and Assumption of Obligations (the "**Guaranty**"), the current form of which is attached as Exhibit H. Franchisee represents and warrants that at least one Guarantor satisfies the Guarantor Monetary Threshold as of the Effective Date, and Franchisee agrees to ensure that at least one Guarantor continues to satisfy the Guarantor Monetary Threshold (as it may be increased in accordance with Exhibit B-1) at all times during the Term. Franchisee agrees to, and shall cause its Guarantors to, reasonably cooperate with Hyatt in connection with all auditing and reporting requirements that Hyatt reasonably specifies relating to the Guarantor Monetary Threshold.

12.2 **Transfer by Franchisee – Defined**. Franchisee acknowledges that the rights and duties this Agreement creates are personal to Franchisee and its Controlling Owners and that Hyatt has granted Franchisee the rights under this Agreement in reliance upon Hyatt's perceptions of Franchisee's and its Controlling Owners' collective character, skill, aptitude, attitude, business ability, and financial capacity. Accordingly, unless otherwise specified in this ARTICLE XII, neither this Agreement (or any interest in this Agreement), the Hotel or substantially all of its assets, nor any ownership interest in Franchisee or any Owner (if such Owner is a legal entity) may be transferred (as defined in Exhibit A) without complying with the terms and conditions applicable to such transfer in this ARTICLE XII. A transfer of the Hotel's ownership, possession, or control, or substantially all of its assets, may be made only with a transfer of this Agreement. Any transfer without complying with the terms and conditions applicable to such transfer in this ARTICLE XII, including Hyatt's approval (where such approval is required under this Agreement), is a breach of this Agreement.

12.3 **Non-Control Transfers**. Subject to the other provisions of this ARTICLE XII, Franchisee and/or any of its Owners may consummate any Non-Control Transfers, without seeking or receiving Hyatt's consent, if (a) neither the proposed transferee nor any of its direct and indirect owners (if the transferee is a legal entity), other than a Public Owner, is a Competing Brand Owner or Sanctioned Person; and (b) such transfer does not, whether in one transaction or a series of related transactions (regardless of the time period over which these transactions take place), result in the transfer or creation of a direct or indirect Controlling Ownership Interest in Franchisee. Within thirty (30) days after the effective date of any Non-Control Transfer (other than transfers among then-existing Owners), Franchisee shall provide Hyatt an updated Exhibit G (if the previously effective version of Exhibit G has changed) or such other information as Hyatt reasonably requests from time to time concerning any new Non-Controlling Owners (other than Limited Interest Owners).

12.4 Control Transfers. Franchisee must notify Hyatt in writing at least ten (10) days in advance of Franchisee's listing the Hotel or a direct or indirect Controlling Ownership Interest in Franchisee for sale and promptly send Hyatt all information that Hyatt reasonably requests regarding any proposed sale. In connection with any proposed Control Transfer, Franchisee must submit to Hyatt, on behalf of the proposed transferee, a complete application for a new franchise agreement (the "**Change of Ownership Application**"), accompanied by payment of Hyatt's then current application fee (although no such fee is due if the transfer is to the spouse, child, parent, or sibling of the Owner(s) or from one individual or entity who is an Owner as of the Effective Date to another individual or entity who is an Owner as of the Effective Date) and information concerning any proposed replacement Guarantor. If Hyatt does not approve the Change of Ownership Application and consent to the proposed Control Transfer, Hyatt will refund any application fee paid, less Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$7,500) for processing costs. Hyatt will process the Change of Ownership Application according to this Section 12.4 and its then current procedures. Hyatt has sixty (60) days from its receipt of the completed and signed Change of Ownership Application to consent or withhold its consent to the proposed Control Transfer. No Control Transfer may occur without Hyatt's prior written consent.

If Franchisee (and each of its Guarantors) is complying with this Agreement, then, subject to the other provisions of this ARTICLE XII, Hyatt will not unreasonably withhold its approval of a Control Transfer if all of the following conditions are met before or concurrently with the effective date of the Control Transfer:

(a) the transferee and each of its direct and indirect owners (if the transferee is a legal entity) has, in Hyatt's judgment, the necessary business experience, aptitude, and financial resources to operate the Hotel and meets Hyatt's then applicable standards for Brand Hotel franchisees;

(b) Franchisee has paid all amounts owed to Hyatt, its Affiliates and third party vendors, and has not violated any provision of this Agreement or any other agreement with Hyatt or its Affiliate, in each case during both the sixty (60)-day period before Franchisee requested Hyatt's consent to the transfer and the period between Franchisee's request and the effective date of the transfer;

(c) the transferee's general manager and other Hotel management personnel that Hyatt specifies, if different from the Hotel's general manager and management personnel, satisfactorily complete Hyatt's required brand standard training programs;

(d) the transferee and its owners (if the transfer is of this Agreement), or Franchisee and its Owners (if the transfer is of a Controlling Ownership Interest in Franchisee or one of its Controlling Owners), at Hyatt's option, either sign: (i) Hyatt's then current form of franchise agreement and related documents for use with existing Brand Hotels (including guarantees and assumptions of obligations), any and all of the provisions of which may differ materially from any and all of those contained in this Agreement, including the Royalty Fee and System Services Charges, and the term of which franchise agreement will be, at Hyatt's option, either twenty (20) years or the remaining unexpired portion of the Term; or (ii) the agreements and related documents (including guarantees and assumptions of obligations) that Hyatt then specifies under which they assume (or

confirm the continued effectiveness of) all of Franchisee's rights and obligations under this Agreement;

(e) Franchisee signs a Termination Agreement and Franchisee and all Guarantors sign all documents Hyatt requests evidencing their agreement to remain liable or assume liability for all obligations to Hyatt and its Affiliates existing before the effective date of the transfer;

(f) Hyatt has determined that Franchisee's or the transferee's (as applicable) capital structure, debt service and overall financial status following the transfer will not adversely affect the operation of the Hotel;

(g) the transferee (if the transfer is of this Agreement) or Franchisee (if the transfer is of a Controlling Ownership Interest in Franchisee or one of its Controlling Owners) agrees (regardless of cost) to renovate, remodel and/or expand the Hotel, which may include structural alterations, adding or replacing improvements and FF&E, and otherwise modifying the Hotel, as Hyatt requires to comply with the Hotel System and System Standards then applicable for new similarly situated Brand Hotels, subject to Reasonable Deviations; and

(h) Franchisee (if Franchisee will no longer operate the Hotel) and its transferring Owners agree that they will not directly or indirectly at any time or in any manner use any Proprietary Mark, Copyrighted Materials or Confidential Information, except as otherwise permitted under any then effective agreement with Hyatt or its Affiliate.

Hyatt may review all information regarding the Hotel that Franchisee gives the proposed transferee, correct any information that Hyatt believes is inaccurate, and give the transferee copies of any reports that Franchisee has given Hyatt or Hyatt has made regarding the Hotel.

12.5 Permitted Control Transfers. Notwithstanding Section 12.4:

(a) any Controlling Owner may, without Hyatt's prior written consent and without complying with the other terms and conditions of Section 12.4, transfer its interest in Franchisee (or Franchisee's Controlling Owner) to any other entity in which such Controlling Owner owns (directly or indirectly) all of the ownership interests, as long as the transferee is not a [Competing](#) Brand Owner or a Sanctioned Person and Franchisee notifies Hyatt in writing of the transfer no later than thirty (30) days following the effective date of such Transfer; and

(b) any Owner who is an individual may, without Hyatt's prior written consent and without complying with the other terms and conditions of Section 12.4, transfer that Owner's interest in Franchisee (or Franchisee's Owner) to a trust or other entity established for estate planning purposes, as long as that Owner is a trustee of, or otherwise controls the exercise of the rights in Franchisee (or Franchisee's Owner) held by, the trust or other entity, continues to comply with and ensures the trust's or other entity's compliance with the applicable provisions of this Agreement (if such Owner is a Guarantor), and notifies Hyatt in writing of the transfer at least ten (10) days prior to its anticipated effective date.

Dissolution of or transfers from any trust or other entity described in this Section 12.5(b) are subject to all applicable terms and conditions of Section 12.3 or 12.4.

12.6 **Security Interests.** Franchisee's Owners may pledge their ownership interests in any Non-Controlling Owner to a Lender, without having to obtain Hyatt's prior approval. Franchisee may mortgage or otherwise grant a Security Interest in the Hotel and its assets (but not this Agreement) to a Lender, and Franchisee's Owners may pledge their ownership interests in Franchisee or any Controlling Owner to a Lender, without having to obtain Hyatt's prior approval and without complying with the other terms and conditions of Section 12.4, provided the Lender signs Hyatt's form of comfort letter pursuant to Section 2.7. Unless otherwise specified in any then effective comfort letter, the terms and conditions of this Agreement (including Section 12.3 or 12.4) apply to any foreclosure or other exercise of any rights or remedies with respect to any Security Interest.

12.7 **Transfers of Equity Interest Upon Death.** Upon the death or mental incompetency of a person with a Controlling Ownership Interest in Franchisee or one of its Controlling Owners, that person's executor, administrator, or personal representative ("Representative") must, within six (6) months after the date of death or mental incompetency, transfer the Owner's interest in Franchisee or the Controlling Owner to a third party or to the other Owner(s) of Franchisee, if any, subject to the conditions set forth in Section 12.4(a), 12.4(b), and 12.4(f) above, and provided that at least one Guarantor that satisfies the Guarantor Monetary Threshold (as it may be increased in accordance with [Exhibit B-1](#)). In the case of a transfer by devise or inheritance, if the heirs or beneficiaries cannot meet the foregoing conditions within this six (6)-month period, the Representative will have twelve (12) months from the date of death or mental incompetency to dispose of the interest in accordance with this Section 12.7. If this required transfer does not occur within the required timeframe, Hyatt shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Franchisee, provided that Franchisee will not be liable for liquidated damages pursuant to Section 16.5 or Brand Damages in connection with such termination.

12.8 **Public Offerings and Disclosures.**

(a) **Public Offering of Securities.** Notwithstanding Sections 12.3 and 12.4, neither Franchisee nor any Controlling Owner may offer any ownership interests or other securities in a public offering for which a registration statement must be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission or any similar regulatory agency (whether within or outside the United States) having jurisdiction over the sale of securities.

(b) **Private Placement Offering Materials.** With respect to any private placement of ownership interests in Franchisee or any Owner, Franchisee agrees to submit all Offering Materials to Hyatt for its prior approval. No Offering Materials may imply or state (by use of the Proprietary Marks or otherwise) that Hyatt or its Affiliate is participating as an underwriter, issuer, or Franchisee's (or its Owner's) representative, suggest that Hyatt or its Affiliate endorses the offering or agrees with any financial projections, or otherwise contain any information about Hyatt or its Affiliates, this Agreement, Hyatt's relationship with Franchisee or the network of Brand Hotels or other Hyatt Network Hotels (other than the Hotel) that Hyatt disapproves. Hyatt's review and

approval of the Offering Materials is not its endorsement of the offering or representation that Franchisee or its Owner is complying with applicable laws. Franchisee must pay Hyatt a non-refundable fee equal to Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000) to review the proposed Offering Materials. Hyatt may require changes to the Offering Materials for the purposes specified above and has the right to request and receive a full indemnification from all participants in the offering before issuing Hyatt's consent.

12.9 **Non-Waiver of Claims.** Hyatt's consent to a transfer is not a representation of the fairness of the terms of any contract between Franchisee (or its Owners) and the transferee, a guarantee of the Hotel's or transferee's prospects of success, or a waiver of any claims Hyatt has against Franchisee (or its Owners) or of Hyatt's right to demand the transferee's full compliance with this Agreement or any other agreement with Franchisee or the transferee.

12.10 **Transfer by Hyatt.** Franchisee represents that Franchisee has not signed this Agreement in reliance on any particular direct or indirect owner, officer or employee remaining with Hyatt in that capacity. Hyatt may change its ownership or form and/or assign this Agreement and any other agreement to a third party without restriction. After Hyatt's assignment of this Agreement to a third party who expressly assumes the obligations under this Agreement, Hyatt no longer will have any performance or other obligations under this Agreement. Such an assignment shall constitute a release of Hyatt and a novation with respect to this Agreement, and the assignee shall be liable to Franchisee as if it had been an original party to this Agreement.

ARTICLE XIII

SUCCESSOR FRANCHISE

13.1 **Right to a Successor Franchise Agreement.** When this Agreement expires, if Franchisee (and, as applicable, each Guarantor): (a) has substantially complied with this Agreement during its Term and is in full compliance with this Agreement (including all System Standards) as of the date upon which this Agreement expires; (b) then meets Hyatt's then applicable standards for franchisees and owners of franchisees of Brand Hotels; (c) has received passing Quality Assurance Scores (as defined in the System Standards) on all evaluations conducted during the preceding three (3)-year period; and (d) has the right to maintain possession of the Hotel for at least ten (10) years following this Agreement's expiration, then Hyatt will offer Franchisee the right to enter into a successor franchise agreement to continue operating the Hotel as a Brand Hotel for a term commencing immediately upon the expiration of this Agreement and expiring ten (10) years from that date (the "**Successor Franchise Right**") in accordance with this ARTICLE XIII. If Franchisee (or any Guarantor) does not meet the requirements of this Section 13.1, then Hyatt need not enter into a successor franchise agreement with Franchisee, whether or not Hyatt notified Franchisee of the non-compliance or had, or chose to exercise, the right to terminate this Agreement during its Term.

13.2 **Successor Franchise Notice and PIP.** Franchisee agrees to give Hyatt written notice of Franchisee's election to exercise or not to exercise the Successor Franchise Right no more than twenty-one (21) months, and no less than eighteen (18) months, before this Agreement expires. Simultaneously with submitting its notice to exercise the Successor Franchise Right, Franchisee shall pay Hyatt its then current PIP fee, which is non-refundable. Franchisee's failure

to deliver such notice within such timeframe or to pay such PIP fee shall be deemed Franchisee's decision not to exercise the Successor Franchise Right. Within ninety (90) days after Hyatt receives Franchisee's notice and payment of the PIP fee, Hyatt agrees to notify Franchisee of Hyatt's decision either to:

(a) deny Franchisee's election to exercise the Successor Franchise Right based on the failure to satisfy the conditions in Section 13.1 (and Hyatt shall provide the reasons for its decision); or

(b) approve Franchisee's election to exercise Successor Franchise Right, subject to (i) Franchisee's renovating, remodeling and/or expanding the Hotel (which may include structural alterations), adding or replacing improvements and FF&E, and otherwise modifying the Hotel as Hyatt requires to comply with the Hotel System and System Standards then applicable for new similarly situated Brand Hotels (subject to Reasonable Deviations), which must be completed to Hyatt's reasonable satisfaction before the Term expires in accordance with the PIP that Hyatt prepares (including the timeframes set forth therein); and (ii) Franchisee's (and each Guarantor's) continued compliance with the other provisions of this Agreement during the remaining Term.

13.3 **Agreements/Releases.** If Franchisee satisfies all of the other conditions for a successor franchise agreement under this ARTICLE XIII, Franchisee agrees to sign the form of franchise agreement and any ancillary agreements Hyatt then customarily uses in granting franchises for Brand Hotels (modified as necessary to reflect the fact that it is for a successor franchise and that there will be no further renewal or successor franchise rights), which may contain provisions that differ materially from any and all of those contained in this Agreement, except that Hyatt will not charge a successor franchise fee. Franchisee and the Guarantors further agree to sign general releases, in a form satisfactory to Hyatt, of any and all claims against Hyatt and its Affiliates and its and their respective owners, officers, directors, managers, employees, agents, representatives, successors, and assigns.

ARTICLE XIV

DISPUTE RESOLUTION

14.1 **Arbitration.** All controversies, disputes, or claims between Hyatt (and/or its Related Parties) and Franchisee (and/or its Related Parties) arising out of or related to: (a) this Agreement or any other agreement between Franchisee and Hyatt or any of its Affiliates; (b) Hyatt's (or any of its Affiliates') relationship with Franchisee; (c) the scope or validity of this Agreement or any other agreement between Franchisee and Hyatt or any of its Affiliates, or any provision of any of those agreements (including the validity and scope of the arbitration obligation under this Section 14.1, which Hyatt and Franchisee acknowledge is to be determined by an arbitrator, not a court); or (d) any aspect of the Hotel System or any System Standard, must be submitted for binding arbitration to the American Arbitration Association (the "AAA"). The arbitration proceedings will be conducted by one (1) arbitrator and, except as this Section 14.1 otherwise provides, according to the AAA's then current commercial arbitration rules. The arbitrator must be a licensed attorney, have hotel industry experience, and be listed on the AAA's National Roster of Neutrals (or such other equivalent replacement roster of experienced arbitrators

that the AAA designates). All proceedings shall be conducted at a suitable location chosen by the arbitrator that is within ten (10) miles of Hyatt's then current principal business address. The arbitrator shall have no authority to select a different hearing locale. All matters relating to arbitration will be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. Sections 1 et seq.) and not by any state arbitration law.

The arbitrator has the right to award any relief that the arbitrator deems proper, including money damages (with interest on unpaid amounts from the date due, as well as post-award interest, in accordance with Section 6.5), specific performance, injunctive relief, and attorneys' fees and costs, provided that the arbitrator may not declare any Proprietary Mark generic or otherwise invalid or, except as expressly provided in Section 14.5 below, award any punitive, exemplary, or treble or other forms of multiple damages against either party (Hyatt and Franchisee hereby waiving to the fullest extent permitted by law, except as expressly provided in Section 14.5 below, any right to or claim for any punitive, exemplary, and treble and other forms of multiple damages against the other). The award of the arbitrator shall be conclusive and binding upon all parties and judgment upon the award may be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction.

Hyatt and Franchisee agree to be bound by the provisions of any limitation on the period of time in which claims must be brought under applicable law or this Agreement, whichever expires earlier. Hyatt and Franchisee further agree that, in any arbitration proceeding, each must submit or file any claim that would constitute a compulsory counterclaim (as defined by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure) within the same proceeding as the claim to which it relates. Any claim that is not submitted or filed as required is forever barred. The arbitrator may not consider any settlement discussions or offers that might have been made by either Franchisee or Hyatt or any of their related parties.

Hyatt and Franchisee agree that arbitration will be conducted on an individual, not a class-wide, basis; that only Hyatt and Franchisee (and/or their respective Related Parties, as applicable) may be the parties to any arbitration proceedings described in this Section 14.1; and that an arbitration proceeding between Hyatt and Franchisee (and/or their respective Related Parties) may not be consolidated with any other arbitration proceeding between Hyatt and any other person or entity. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary in this Section 14.1 or Section 18.2, if any court or arbitrator determines that all or any part of the preceding sentence is unenforceable with respect to a dispute that otherwise would be subject to arbitration under this Section 14.1, then all parties agree that this arbitration clause shall not apply to that dispute and that such dispute shall be resolved in a judicial proceeding in accordance with this ARTICLE XIV (excluding this Section 14.1).

Despite this Section 14.1, Hyatt and Franchisee each have the right to seek temporary restraining orders and temporary or preliminary injunctive relief from a court of competent jurisdiction; provided, however, that Hyatt and Franchisee must contemporaneously submit the dispute for arbitration on the merits as provided in this Section 14.1. The provisions of this Section 14.1 are intended to benefit and bind certain third party non-signatories and will continue in full force and effect subsequent to and notwithstanding this Agreement's expiration or termination.

14.2 **Governing Law.** All matters relating to arbitration will be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. Sections 1 et seq.). Except to the extent governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, the United States Trademark Act of 1946 (Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. Sections 1051 et seq.) or other federal law, this Agreement, the franchise, and all claims arising from the relationship between Hyatt (and/or any of its Affiliates) and Franchisee will be governed by the laws of the State of Illinois, without regard to its conflict of laws rules, except that any Illinois law regulating the offer or sale of franchises, business opportunities, or similar interests, or governing the relationship between a franchisor and a franchisee or any similar relationship, will not apply unless its jurisdictional requirements are met independently without reference to this Section 14.2.

14.3 **Consent to Jurisdiction.** Subject to the parties' arbitration obligations and the provisions below, Franchisee agrees that all actions arising under this Agreement or otherwise as a result of the relationship between Franchisee and Hyatt (and/or any of its Affiliates) must be commenced in the state or federal court of general jurisdiction closest to Hyatt's then current principal business address, and Franchisee irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of those courts and waives any objection it might have to either the jurisdiction of or venue in those courts. Nonetheless, Franchisee agrees that Hyatt may enforce this Agreement and any arbitration orders and awards in the courts of the state or states in which Franchisee is domiciled or the Hotel is located.

14.4 **Attorneys' Fees.** If either party initiates a formal legal proceeding under or relating to this Agreement or the relationship between Franchisee and Hyatt (and/or any of its Affiliates), the non-prevailing party in that proceeding (as determined by the judge or arbitrator, as applicable) must reimburse the prevailing party for all of the prevailing party's costs and expenses that it incurs, including reasonable accounting, attorneys', arbitrators', and related fees.

14.5 **Waiver Of Punitive Damages And Jury Trial.** EXCEPT FOR THE INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS FOR THIRD PARTY CLAIMS UNDER SECTIONS 8.3 AND 8.4, AND EXCEPT FOR PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY, AND TREBLE AND OTHER FORMS OF MULTIPLE DAMAGES AVAILABLE TO EITHER PARTY UNDER FEDERAL LAW, HYATT AND FRANCHISEE WAIVE TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW ANY RIGHT TO OR CLAIM FOR ANY PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY, AND TREBLE AND OTHER FORMS OF MULTIPLE DAMAGES AGAINST THE OTHER AND AGREE THAT, IN THE EVENT OF A DISPUTE BETWEEN HYATT AND FRANCHISEE, THE PARTY MAKING A CLAIM WILL BE LIMITED TO EQUITABLE RELIEF AND TO RECOVERY OF ANY ACTUAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING LIQUIDATED DAMAGES) IT SUSTAINS.

SUBJECT TO THE PARTIES' ARBITRATION OBLIGATIONS, HYATT AND FRANCHISEE IRREVOCABLY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING, OR COUNTERCLAIM, WHETHER AT LAW OR IN EQUITY, BROUGHT BY EITHER HYATT OR FRANCHISEE.

14.6 **Limitations of Claims.** EXCEPT FOR CLAIMS ARISING FROM FRANCHISEE'S NON-PAYMENT OR UNDERPAYMENT OF AMOUNTS FRANCHISEE OWES HYATT OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES, ANY AND ALL CLAIMS ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR HYATT'S (OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES')

RELATIONSHIP WITH FRANCHISEE WILL BE BARRED UNLESS A LEGAL PROCEEDING (IN THE REQUIRED OR PERMITTED FORUM) IS COMMENCED WITHIN EIGHTEEN (18) MONTHS FROM THE DATE ON WHICH THE PARTY ASSERTING THE CLAIM KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN OF THE FACTS GIVING RISE TO THE CLAIMS.

ARTICLE XV

DEFAULT AND TERMINATION

15.1 **Termination by Hyatt After Opportunity to Cure.** Hyatt has the right to terminate this Agreement, effective on the date stated in Hyatt's written notice (or the earliest date permitted by applicable law), if:

(a) Hyatt determines that a serious threat or danger to public health or safety results from the construction, maintenance, or operation of the Hotel, such that an immediate shutdown of the Hotel or construction site is necessary to avoid a substantial liability or loss of goodwill to the Hotel System, and Franchisee fails to shut down the Hotel or construction site within twenty-four (24) hours after delivery of Hyatt's written notice to Franchisee;

(b) Franchisee fails to pay Hyatt or any of its Affiliates any fees or other amounts due under this Agreement or any other agreement, and does not cure that default within ten (10) days after delivery of Hyatt's written notice of default to Franchisee;

(c) Franchisee does not buy, maintain, or send Hyatt evidence of required insurance coverage and does not cure that default within ten (10) days after delivery of Hyatt's written notice of default to Franchisee;

(d) Franchisee fails to pay when due any financial obligation to a Provider or otherwise fails to comply with any other provision of this Agreement, any aspect of the Hotel System or any System Standard, and does not cure that default within thirty (30) days after delivery of Hyatt's written notice of default to Franchisee;

(e) Franchisee fails to comply with any other agreement with Hyatt or its Affiliates relating to the Hotel and does not cure that default within thirty (30) days (or such shorter time period that the other agreement specifies for curing that default) after delivery of Hyatt's written notice of default to Franchisee; or

(f) Franchisee fails to ensure that at least one Guarantor satisfies the Guarantor Monetary Threshold and does not cure that default (by providing the financial statements demonstrating that at least one Guarantor then satisfies the Guarantor Monetary Threshold) within sixty (60) days after delivery of Hyatt's written notice of default to Franchisee.

15.2 **Termination by Hyatt Without Opportunity to Cure.** Hyatt may terminate this Agreement immediately, without giving Franchisee an opportunity to cure the default, effective upon delivery of written notice to Franchisee (or such later date as required by law), if:

(a) Franchisee or any Guarantor admits its inability to pay its debts as they become due or makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; suffers an action to dissolve or liquidate; commences or consents to any case, proceeding, or action seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or composition of debts under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, or relief of debtors; suffers an appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, or other official for any portion of its property or the Hotel; takes any corporate or other action to authorize any of the actions set forth above in this Section 15.2(a); has any case, proceeding, or other action commenced against it as debtor seeking an order for relief, or seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or composition of it or its debts under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, or relief of debtors, or seeking appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, or other official for it or any portion of its property or the Hotel, and such case, proceeding, or other action results in an order for relief against it that is not fully stayed within seven (7) business days after being entered or remains un-dismissed for forty-five (45) days; has an attachment of Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000) or more on all or any part of the Hotel or any of its assets that remains for at least ninety (90) days; or fails, within sixty (60) days after the entry of a final judgment against it in any amount exceeding One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000), to discharge, vacate, or reverse the judgment, to stay its execution, or, if appealed, to discharge the judgment within thirty (30) days after a final adverse decision in the appeal;

(b) Franchisee ceases operating the Hotel at the Site in affiliation with the Proprietary Marks, fails to identify the Hotel to the public as a Brand Hotel, or loses possession of or the right to possess all or a significant part of the Hotel, for any reason except as otherwise provided in this Agreement;

(c) Franchisee or any of its Affiliates contests in any court or other Proceeding Hyatt's or its Affiliate's ownership of all or any portion of the Hotel System or the validity of any Proprietary Mark, Copyrighted Materials, or Confidential Information, or registers or attempts to register any Proprietary Mark or a derivative thereof;

(d) Franchisee (or any of its Owners) makes a transfer in violation of ARTICLE XII;

(e) Franchisee or any of its Owners or Guarantors is, or is discovered to have been, convicted of a felony or enters or is discovered to have entered a plea of no contest to a felony, unless (i) the Owner is a Limited Interest Owner; and (ii) such Owner divests all of such Owner's direct and indirect ownership interests in Franchisee within sixty (60) days after the date of the conviction or plea;

(f) Franchisee or any of its Owners or Guarantors commits (or is discovered to have committed) any action or any other offense likely in Hyatt's reasonable opinion to reflect materially adversely upon Hyatt, its Affiliates, the Hotel System, or the Proprietary Marks, unless (i) the Owner is a Limited Interest Owner; and (ii) such Owner divests all of such Owner's direct and indirect ownership interests in Franchisee within sixty (60) days after notice from Hyatt;

(g) Franchisee knowingly maintains false books and records of account or knowingly submits false or misleading reports or information to Hyatt or its Affiliate, including any information Franchisee provided or failed to provide on its franchise application;

(h) Franchisee (or any of its Owners) knowingly makes any unauthorized use or disclosure of any part of the System Standards or any other Confidential Information;

(i) Franchisee violates any law, ordinance, or regulation and does not begin to cure the violation immediately after receiving notice from Hyatt or any other party and to complete the cure as soon as is reasonably practicable or within the timeframe allowed by law, whichever is shorter;

(j) Franchisee (1) fails on three (3) or more separate occasions within any twelve (12) consecutive month period to comply with this Agreement, whether the failures relate to the same or different obligations under this Agreement and whether or not Hyatt provides formal written notice to Franchisee of or Franchisee corrects the failures; or (2) fails on two (2) or more separate occasions within any six (6) consecutive month period to comply with the same obligation under this Agreement, whether or not Hyatt provides formal written notice to Franchisee of or Franchisee corrects the failures; or

(k) Franchisee's or any of its Owners' (other than a Public Owner's) assets, property, or interests are blocked under any Trade Restriction Law, or Franchisee or any of its Owners (other than a Public Owner) otherwise violate any Trade Restriction Law.

15.3 Suspension of Rights and Services. Upon Franchisee's failure to remedy any default or failure to comply with this Agreement specified in any written notice issued to Franchisee under Section 15.1 (following any cure period specified for such default or failure in Section 15.1) or Section 15.2, Hyatt has the right, until Franchisee remedies such default or failure to Hyatt's satisfaction, to (a) suspend Franchisee's right to use, and Franchisee's access to, the CRS, the GDS and ADS, and/or other System Services; (b) remove the Hotel from Hyatt's advertising publications and programs and/or remove the Hotel's webpage from the Hotel System Website; (c) suspend or terminate any temporary or other fee reductions to which Hyatt might have agreed in this Agreement or any amendment(s) to this Agreement; and/or (d) refuse to provide any operational support that this Agreement otherwise requires. If Hyatt suspends Franchisee from the CRS, Hyatt has the right to divert reservations previously made for the Hotel to other Brand Hotels or Hyatt Network Hotels. If Hyatt exercises its right to suspend Franchisee's access to the CRS or other System Services, such suspension will last no more than six (6) months, after which time Hyatt shall either reinstate Franchisee's access or terminate this Agreement. Hyatt's exercise of this right will not constitute an actual or constructive termination of this Agreement nor be Hyatt's sole and exclusive remedy for Franchisee's default or failure to comply with this Agreement. If Hyatt exercises its right not to terminate this Agreement but to implement any remedies in this Section 15.3, Hyatt may at any time after the appropriate cure period under the written notice has lapsed (if any) terminate this Agreement without giving Franchisee any additional corrective or cure period. During any suspension period, Franchisee must continue to pay all fees and other amounts due under, and otherwise comply with, this Agreement and all related agreements. Hyatt's exercise of its rights under this Section 15.3 will not be a waiver by Hyatt of any breach

of this Agreement. If Hyatt rescinds any suspension of Franchisee's rights, Franchisee will not be entitled to any compensation for any fees, expenses or losses Franchisee might have incurred due to Hyatt's exercise of any suspension right provided in this Section 15.3.

15.4 **General Provisions Concerning Default and Termination.** In any arbitration or other proceeding in which the validity of any termination of this Agreement or Hyatt's refusal to enter into a successor franchise agreement is contested, each party may cite to and rely upon all defaults or violations of this Agreement, not only the defaults or violations referenced in any written notice. Franchisee agrees that Hyatt has the right and authority (but not the obligation) to notify Franchisee's Lender and any or all of Franchisee's Owners, creditors and/or suppliers if Franchisee is in default under, or Hyatt has terminated, this Agreement.

ARTICLE XVI

RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS UPON EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION

16.1 **De-Identification.** Beginning on the date upon which this Agreement terminates or expires, Franchisee must immediately cease using the Hotel System and begin to de-identify the Hotel by taking whatever action Hyatt deems necessary to ensure that the Hotel no longer is identified as a Brand Hotel. Franchisee agrees to take the following steps, among other actions that Hyatt then specifies, to de-identify the Hotel:

(a) return to Hyatt all Copyrighted Materials, and all materials containing Confidential Information (other than Guest Information stored in the Hotel's property management system database that Franchisee is permitted to use after this Agreement's expiration or termination pursuant to Section 11.6) or bearing any of the Proprietary Marks, and cease using all such items;

(b) remove all structures and items identifying the Hotel System, including all elements of the trade dress and other distinctive features, devices, and/or items associated with the Hotel System, such as (for example) FF&E that is uniquely identified with a Brand Hotel and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels, interior signage, phone face plates, memo pads, pens, cups, glasses, and all other materials bearing one or more of the Proprietary Marks. With respect to the Hotel's exterior signage, Franchisee must (i) immediately schedule the permanent removal of all exterior signage bearing any of the Proprietary Marks and give Hyatt written evidence of that schedule, (ii) immediately cover all such exterior signage in a professional manner, and (iii) permanently remove all such exterior signage within thirty (30) days after this Agreement expires or terminates. In addition, Franchisee must make at its expense such specific additional changes that Hyatt reasonably requests to de-identify the Hotel;

(c) stop all uses of the Proprietary Marks, Confidential Information and other aspects of the Hotel System in connection with any F&B Operations or Spa Operations (if any);

(d) change the Hotel's telephone listing and immediately stop answering the telephone in any way that would lead a current or prospective customer, vendor, or other

person to believe that the Hotel still is affiliated with the Brand Hotel network or with Hyatt;

(e) stop all uses of the Proprietary Marks on any Franchisee Organization Website and require all third party websites to remove any references that directly or indirectly associate the Hotel with the Proprietary Marks;

(f) cancel all fictitious, assumed, or other business name registrations relating to Franchisee's use of the Proprietary Marks; and

(g) permit Hyatt's representatives to enter the Hotel on no less than twenty-four (24) hours' prior notice to conduct inspections on a periodic basis until de-identification is completed to Hyatt's satisfaction.

Beginning on the date upon which this Agreement terminates or expires and continuing until de-identification is completed to Hyatt's satisfaction, Franchisee must maintain a conspicuous sign at the registration desk in a form that Hyatt specifies stating that the Hotel no longer is associated with the Brand Hotel network. Franchisee and its Affiliates may not, without Hyatt's permission, represent to Hotel customers, prospective customers or the public that the Hotel is or was a Brand Hotel, or otherwise hold itself out to the public as a former franchisee of Hyatt's or as the former operator of a Brand Hotel, except in the limited case of informing investors, prospective investors, or lenders that Franchisee has general experience in operating a Brand Hotel. Subject to the terms of Subsection (b) above with respect to exterior signage, Franchisee shall complete all de-identification obligations under this Section 16.1 to Hyatt's satisfaction, and provide a written certification to Hyatt indicating such completion, on or before the date which is fifteen (15) days after this Agreement terminates or expires. If Franchisee fails to comply with any of the de-identification provisions in this Section 16.1, Franchisee agrees to: (i) pay Hyatt a royalty fee of Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000) per day until de-identification is completed to Hyatt's satisfaction; and (ii) permit Hyatt's representatives to enter the Hotel to complete the de-identification process at Franchisee's expense.

16.2 Pay Amounts Owed. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, within five (5) days after the termination or expiration of this Agreement, Franchisee must pay all amounts owed to Hyatt and its Affiliates under this Agreement or any other agreement.

16.3 Contacting Customers. Upon this Agreement's termination or expiration for any reason, Hyatt has the right to contact those individuals or entities who have reserved rooms with Franchisee through the CRS, and any other Hotel customers, and inform them that Franchisee's lodging facility no longer is part of the Brand Hotel network. Hyatt also has the right to inform those individuals, entities and customers of other Brand Hotels and Hyatt Network Hotels that are proximately located to Franchisee's lodging facility in case they prefer to change their reservations so that they can stay at a Hyatt Network Hotel. Hyatt's exercise of these rights will not constitute an interference with Franchisee's contractual or business relationships. Franchisee acknowledges that the individuals and entities that made reservations with Franchisee's lodging facility when it was a Brand Hotel under this Agreement constitute Hyatt's customers.

16.4 **Survival.** The following provisions of this Agreement shall survive termination or expiration of this Agreement regardless of the circumstances: Sections 6.5, 6.7, 7.4, 8.1, 8.3, 8.4, 11.1, 11.5, 11.6, 11.7 and 15.4 and ARTICLE IX, ARTICLE XIV, ARTICLE XVI, ARTICLE XVII and ARTICLE XVIII. Additionally, all of Hyatt's and Franchisee's obligations that by their terms or by implication are to be performed after the termination or expiration of the Term shall survive such termination or expiration.

16.5 **Liquidated Damages.** Franchisee acknowledges and confirms that Hyatt will suffer substantial damages as a result of the termination of this Agreement before the Term expires, including Brand Damages. Hyatt and Franchisee acknowledge that Brand Damages are difficult to estimate accurately and proof of Brand Damages would be burdensome and costly, although such damages are real and meaningful to Hyatt. Therefore, upon termination of this Agreement before the Term expires for any reason (subject to ARTICLE X), Franchisee agrees to pay Hyatt, within fifteen (15) days after the date of such termination, liquidated damages in a lump sum equal to the amount set forth in Exhibit B-1.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if this Agreement is terminated because of a Consequential Termination, then the liquidated damages are one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the amount calculated in the preceding paragraph.

Franchisee agrees that the liquidated damages calculated under this Section 16.5 represent the best estimate of Hyatt's Brand Damages arising from any termination of this Agreement before the Term expires. Franchisee's payment of the liquidated damages to Hyatt will not be considered a penalty but, rather, a reasonable estimate of fair compensation to Hyatt for the Brand Damages Hyatt will incur because this Agreement did not continue for the Term's full length. Franchisee acknowledges that Franchisee's payment of liquidated damages is full compensation to Hyatt only for the Brand Damages resulting from the early termination of this Agreement and is in addition to, and not in lieu of, Franchisee's obligations to pay other amounts due to Hyatt under this Agreement as of the date of termination and to comply strictly with the de-identification procedures of Section 16.1 and Franchisee's other post-termination obligations. If any valid law or regulation governing this Agreement limits Franchisee's obligation to pay, and/or Hyatt's right to receive, the liquidated damages for which Franchisee is obligated under this Section 16.5, then Franchisee shall be liable to Hyatt for any and all Brand Damages Hyatt incurs, now or in the future, as a result of Franchisee's breach of this Agreement.

16.6 **System Services.** Beginning on the date that this Agreement terminates or expires, Hyatt and its Affiliates shall stop providing System Services to the Hotel.

ARTICLE XVII

NOTICES

All written notices, reports, and payments permitted or required to be delivered by this Agreement or the System Standards will be deemed to be delivered (whether or not delivery is accepted): (a) at the time delivered by hand; (b) at the time delivered via computer transmission if the sender has confirmation of a successful transmission, and, in the case of the Royalty Fees, System Services Charges, and other amounts due, at the time Hyatt actually receives payment via

EFT; (c) one (1) business day after transmission by email or other electronic system if the sender has confirmation of successful transmission; (d) one (1) business day after being placed in the hands of a nationally recognized commercial courier service for next business day delivery; or (e) three (3) business days after placement in the United States Mail by Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, postage prepaid. Either Hyatt or Franchisee may change the person and/or address for notice by giving thirty (30) days' prior notice to the other party by any of the means specified in subparagraphs (a) through (e) above.

Notices to Hyatt
Hyatt: 150 North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
Attention: General Counsel
E-mail:
office.of.general.counsel@hyatt.com

Notices to [ENTITYNAMECAPS]
Franchisee : [PCADDRESS1]
[PCADDRESS2]
Attention: [PCNAME]
E-mail: _____

ARTICLE XVIII

GENERAL

18.1 **The Exercise of Hyatt's Judgment.** Hyatt has the right from time to time to develop, operate, and change the Hotel System and System Standards in any manner not specifically prohibited by this Agreement. Whenever Hyatt has reserved in this Agreement a right to take or to withhold an action, or to grant or decline to grant Franchisee the right to take or omit an action, Hyatt may, except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, make its decision or exercise its rights based on information readily available to it and its judgment of what is in the best interests of Hyatt and its Affiliates, the Brand Hotel network generally, or the Hotel System at the time its decision is made, without regard to whether Hyatt could have made other reasonable or even arguably preferable alternative decisions or whether its decision promotes Hyatt's (or its Affiliates') financial or other individual interest. Except where this Agreement expressly obligates Hyatt reasonably to approve or not unreasonably to withhold its approval of any of Franchisee's actions or requests, Hyatt has the absolute right to refuse any request Franchisee makes or to withhold its approval of any of Franchisee's proposed, initiated, or completed actions that require its approval. However, Hyatt may withhold its consent, whenever and wherever otherwise required, if Franchisee is in default under this Agreement.

18.2 **Severability and Interpretation.** Except as expressly provided to the contrary in this Agreement (including in Section 14.1), each section, subsection, paragraph, term, and provision of this Agreement is severable, and if, for any reason, any part is held to be invalid or contrary to or in conflict with any applicable present or future law or regulation in a final, unappealable ruling issued by any court, agency, or tribunal with competent jurisdiction, that ruling will not impair the operation of, or otherwise affect, any other portions of this Agreement, which will continue to have full force and effect and bind the parties. If any applicable and binding law or rule of any jurisdiction requires more notice than this Agreement requires of this Agreement's termination or of Hyatt's refusal to offer Franchisee the Successor Franchise Right, or some other action that this Agreement does not require, or if, under any applicable and binding law or rule of any jurisdiction, any provision of this Agreement or any System Standard is invalid, unenforceable, or unlawful, the notice and/or other action required by the law or rule will be

substituted for the comparable provisions of this Agreement, and Hyatt may modify the invalid or unenforceable provision or System Standard to the extent required to be valid and enforceable or delete the unlawful provision in its entirety. Franchisee agrees to be bound by any promise or covenant imposing the maximum duty the law permits that is subsumed within any provision of this Agreement, as though it were separately articulated in and made a part of this Agreement.

18.3 **Waiver of Obligations and Force Majeure.** Hyatt and Franchisee may unilaterally waive or reduce any obligation of or restriction upon the other under this Agreement only by a signed written instrument, effective upon delivery of written notice to the other or another effective date stated in the notice of waiver. Any waiver granted will be without prejudice to any other rights Hyatt or Franchisee have, will be subject to continuing review, and may be revoked at any time and for any reason effective upon delivery of ten (10) days' prior written notice.

Hyatt and Franchisee will not waive or impair any right, power, or option this Agreement reserves (including Hyatt's right to demand compliance with every term, condition, and covenant or to declare any breach to be a default and to terminate this Agreement before the Term expires) because of any custom or practice that varies from this Agreement's terms; Hyatt's or Franchisee's failure, refusal, or neglect to exercise any right under this Agreement or to insist upon the other's compliance with this Agreement, including any System Standard; Hyatt's waiver of or failure to exercise any right, power, or option, whether of the same, similar, or different nature, with other Brand Hotels; the existence of franchise agreements for other Brand Hotels that contain provisions differing from those contained in this Agreement; or Hyatt's acceptance of any payments due from Franchisee after any breach of this Agreement. No special or restrictive legend or endorsement on any check or similar item given to either party will be a waiver, compromise, settlement, or accord and satisfaction. The receiving party is authorized to remove any legend or endorsement, and it will have no effect.

Neither Hyatt nor Franchisee will be liable for loss or damage or be in breach of this Agreement, including Franchisee's obligations to develop and open the Hotel under ARTICLE II, if Hyatt's or Franchisee's failure to perform its obligations results from Force Majeure. Any delay resulting from Force Majeure will extend performance accordingly or excuse performance, in whole or in part, as may be reasonable, except that Force Majeure will not excuse payments of amounts owed at the time of the occurrence or payment of Royalty Fees, System Services Charges or other payments due afterward.

18.4 **Binding Effect.** This Agreement is valid and enforceable only when signed by Franchisee and signed and accepted by Hyatt at its office in Chicago, Illinois, whether signed by original or electronic signature. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, which, when taken as a whole, shall constitute a single agreement.

18.5 **Entire Agreement and Construction.** This Agreement is binding upon Hyatt and Franchisee and their respective permitted assigns and successors in interest. Subject to Hyatt's right to modify the Hotel System, System Standards, System Services and System Services Charges (including the methods of allocating costs for System Services), from time to time, this Agreement may not be modified except by a written agreement signed by both Hyatt's and Franchisee's duly-authorized officers. The Preliminary Statement and Exhibits, the attached PIP (if applicable), any state-specific Rider to this Agreement signed by Hyatt and Franchisee at the

same time as this Agreement, and the Franchise Application that Franchisee (or its Owner or Affiliate) submitted to Hyatt relating to the Hotel, are a part of this Agreement, which constitutes Hyatt's and Franchisee's entire agreement, and there are no other oral or written understandings or agreements between Hyatt and Franchisee, and no other oral or written representations by Hyatt, relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, the franchise relationship, or the Hotel (any understandings or agreements reached, or any representations made, before this Agreement are superseded by this Agreement). Franchisee may not rely on any alleged oral or written understandings, agreements, or representations not contained in this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement or any related agreement shall disclaim or require Franchisee to waive reliance on any representation that Hyatt made in the most recent franchise disclosure document (including its exhibits and amendments) that Hyatt delivered to Franchisee or its representative.

Any policies that Hyatt adopts and implements from time to time to guide Hyatt in its decision-making are subject to change, are not a part of this Agreement, and are not binding on Hyatt. Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement is intended or deemed to confer any rights or remedies upon any person or legal entity not a party to this Agreement.

References in this Agreement to "Hyatt" with respect to all of Hyatt's rights and all of Franchisee's obligations to Hyatt under this Agreement include any of Hyatt's Affiliates, and its and their successors and assigns, with whom Franchisee deals. The headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and will not control or affect the meaning or construction of any provision. Time is of the essence in this Agreement, and all provisions of this Agreement shall be so interpreted.

18.6 **Cumulative Remedies.** Hyatt's and Franchisee's rights under this Agreement are cumulative, and their exercise or enforcement of any right or remedy under this Agreement will not preclude their exercise or enforcement of any other right or remedy that they are entitled by law to enforce.

ARTICLE XIX

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

19.1 **Franchisee Acknowledgements.** To induce Hyatt to sign this Agreement and grant Franchisee the rights under this Agreement, Franchisee represents, warrants and acknowledges that:

(a) Hyatt's approval of the Site is not a guarantee or warranty, express or implied, of the success or profitability of a Brand Hotel at that location;

(b) all statements Franchisee has made and all materials (including ownership information and descriptions of Franchisee's and/or its Affiliates' ownership structure(s)) it has given Hyatt in acquiring the rights under this Agreement are accurate and complete and that Franchisee has made no misrepresentations or material omissions in obtaining those rights;

(c) Franchisee is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation, and Franchisee's execution and delivery of this Agreement and performance of its obligations hereunder (i) have been duly authorized by all necessary company action, (ii) do not and will not violate or result in a breach or default under any applicable law or any agreement to which Franchisee is a party or by which it is bound, and (iii) do not require the consent of any third party that has not been obtained; and

(d) In accordance with an exemption available under the Federal Trade Commission's Trade Regulation Rule entitled "Disclosure Requirements and Prohibitions Concerning Franchising," 16 C.F.R. Section 436.8(a)(5)(ii), Franchisee, or its parent or any of its Affiliates, is an entity that has been in business for at least five (5) years and has a net worth of at least ~~\$6,165,500~~7,348,000.

19.2 **Franchisee Acknowledgements in Certain States.** The following representations, warranties and acknowledgements shall be made by and binding on Franchisee, unless this Agreement and/or the relationship between Hyatt and Franchisee is subject to state franchise registration and/or disclosure laws in California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington or Wisconsin.

(a) Franchisee represents, warrants and acknowledges that it has independently investigated and evaluated the opportunity of investing in the hotel industry generally and specifically the Brand Hotel franchise opportunity, including the current and potential market conditions and competitive factors and risks, and recognizes that, like any other business, the nature of a Brand Hotel's business will evolve and change over time.

(b) Franchisee represents, warrants and acknowledges that, except as expressly set forth in the franchise disclosure document that Hyatt delivered to Franchisee or its representative, Franchisee has not received from Hyatt, and is not relying upon, and that Hyatt expressly disclaims making, any representation, warranty or guaranty, express or implied, as to the actual or potential volume, sales, income or profits of the Hotel or any other Brand Hotel, and any information Franchisee has acquired from other Brand Hotel owners, including information regarding their sales, profits or cash flows, is not information obtained from Hyatt, and Hyatt makes no representation about that information's accuracy.

(c) Franchisee represents, warrants and acknowledges that it has no knowledge of any representations made about the Brand Hotel franchise opportunity by Hyatt, its Affiliates or any of their respective officers, directors, managers, owners or agents that are contrary to the statements made in Hyatt's franchise disclosure document or to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

(d) Franchisee represents, warrants and acknowledges that it is relying solely on Hyatt, and not on any Affiliate of Hyatt, with regard to Hyatt's financial and other obligations under this Agreement, and no employee or other person speaking on behalf of,

or otherwise representing, Hyatt has made any statement or promise to the effect that Hyatt's Affiliates guarantee Hyatt's performance or financially back Hyatt.

19.3 **No Waiver or Disclaimer of Reliance in Certain States.** The following provision applies only to franchisees and franchises that are subject to state franchise registration/disclosure laws in California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington, or Wisconsin:

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by Franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by Hyatt, any franchise seller, or any other person acting on behalf of Hyatt. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Agreement as of the dates set forth by their signatures, to be effective as of the Effective Date (regardless of the dates of the parties' signatures).

FRANCHISEE:

[ENTITYNAMECAPS]

By: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

Date: _____

HYATT:

[FRANCHISOR ENTITY]

By: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

Date: _____

[Signature Page to Franchise Agreement]

EXHIBIT A
to the
BRAND HOTEL FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

DEFINED TERMS

In addition to any other terms defined in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the respective meanings as indicated below.

“**Accessibility Laws**” means the Americans with Disabilities Act and other laws, rules, regulations and ordinances governing accommodations for or relationships with persons with disabilities or similar individuals, as in effect from time to time.

“**ADS**” means the online travel agencies and other alternative distribution systems that Hyatt may periodically authorize or require for Franchisee’s Hotel and other similarly situated Brand Hotels (subject to Reasonable Deviations).

“**Affiliate**” means, with respect to a party, any person or entity directly or indirectly owned or controlled by, under common control with, or owning or controlling, such party. For purposes of this definition, “**control**” means the power to direct or cause the direction of management and policies.

“**Anti-Corruption Laws**” means any laws, rules or regulations relating to anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering, or similar prohibited conduct or otherwise relating to the maintenance of accurate books and records and internal controls.

“~~Average Monthly Revenues~~**AOP Term**” has the meaning set forth in Exhibit B-2.

“Area of Protection” has the meaning set forth in Exhibit B-2.

“Average Monthly Revenues” means:

(a) if the date of termination occurs after the Ramp Period, the average monthly Gross Rooms Revenue of the Hotel during the twelve (12) full calendar months immediately preceding the month of termination; or

(b) if the date of termination occurs after the Opening Date but before the end of the Ramp Period, the greater of (i) the average monthly Gross Rooms Revenue of the Hotel during the period from the Opening Date until the effective date of termination or (ii) the amount determined under part (c) below; or

(c) if the date of termination occurs before the Opening Date, the average monthly Gross Rooms Revenue per available guest room for all Brand Hotels in the United States (including those that Hyatt and its Affiliates own, manage, and franchise) during the twelve (12) full calendar months preceding the month of termination, multiplied by the number of guest rooms approved for the Hotel.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if “Average Monthly Revenues” as determined pursuant to any part of (a) through (c) above has been materially and negatively impacted during the preceding twelve (12) full calendar month period by a disruption in Hotel operations resulting from Force Majeure, casualty, suspension of operations (whether or not consented to by Hyatt), renovation of the Hotel, or any other similar circumstances, “Average Monthly Revenue” shall be determined by reference to the most recent twelve (12) full calendar month period preceding termination during which the Hotel performance was not so impacted.

“**Brand**” has the meaning set forth in Exhibit B-1.

“**Brand Damages**” means lost Royalty Fees, lost System Services Charges, lost market penetration and goodwill, loss of Hotel System representation in the Hotel’s market area, confusion of national accounts and individual customers, disadvantage in competing for national accounts and other types of bookings for Brand Hotels, lost opportunity costs, and expenses that Hyatt will incur in developing or finding another franchisee to develop another Brand Hotel in the Hotel’s market area.

“**Brand Hotel**” means a hotel operating under the Hotel System and the Proprietary Marks.

“**Comfort Letter Party**” means each Lender, each Ground Lessor (if applicable), the owner of fee simple title to the Hotel’s real property or building and improvements (if Franchisee is not that owner), and each other entity with an interest (or any power or right, conditional or otherwise, to acquire an interest) in the Hotel’s real property or building and improvements.

“**Competing Brand Owner**” means any entity that (a) is either a franchisor or owner of a Competing Brand (defined below), (b) manages or otherwise operates hotels exclusively for the franchisor or owner of a Competing Brand, or (c) is an Affiliate of any entity described in (a) or (b) above. A “**Competing Brand**” is a hotel concept that has at least five (5) hotels operating under that concept’s trade name anywhere in the world and that, in Hyatt’s reasonable opinion, competes with Brand Hotels. For the avoidance of doubt, Franchisee shall not be deemed a Competing Brand Owner under this Agreement merely because Franchisee’s Affiliates operate (as franchisees and/or managers) hotels of multiple Competing Brands.

~~“**Comfort Letter Party**” means each Lender, each Ground Lessor (if applicable), the owner of fee simple title to the Hotel’s real property or building and improvements (if Franchisee is not that owner), and each other entity with an interest (or any power or right, conditional or otherwise, to acquire an interest) in the Hotel’s real property or building and improvements.~~

“**Confidential Information**” means (a) site selection criteria; (b) the substance, design, and construction of Brand Hotels and the Design and Construction Standards; (c) training and operations materials and modules, including the System Standards; (d) methods, formats, specifications, standards, systems, procedures, sales and marketing techniques, knowledge, and experience used in developing and operating Brand Hotels; (e) marketing, advertising and promotional programs for Brand Hotels; (f) Guest Information and any information and data relating to guests and customers of other Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels; (g) knowledge of specifications for and suppliers of FF&E and other products and supplies that are uniquely identified with Brand Hotels and/or other Hyatt Network Hotels; (h) any part of the

Technology System and other computer software or other technology that is proprietary to Hyatt, its Affiliates or the Hotel System, including digital passwords and identifications and any source code of, and data, reports, and other printed materials generated by, the software or other technology; (i) knowledge of the operating results and financial performance of Brand Hotels other than the Hotel; (j) graphic designs and related intellectual property; and (k) any negotiated provisions of this Agreement (including any amendment to this Agreement) and any other difference between the terms of this Agreement (including any amendment to this Agreement) and the terms of the standard form of Franchise Agreement in the Brand Hotel franchise disclosure document. However, Confidential Information does not include information, knowledge, or know-how that Franchisee can demonstrate lawfully came to its attention before Hyatt or its Affiliate provided it to Franchisee or its Affiliate directly or indirectly; that, at the time Hyatt or its Affiliate disclosed it to Franchisee, already had lawfully become generally known in the hotel industry through publication or communication by others (without violating an obligation to Hyatt or its Affiliate); or that, after Hyatt or its Affiliate disclose it to Franchisee, lawfully becomes generally known in the hotel industry through publication or communication by others (without violating an obligation to Hyatt or its Affiliate). If Hyatt includes any matter in Confidential Information, anyone who claims that it is not Confidential Information must prove that one of the exclusions provided in the preceding sentence is satisfied.

~~“Consequential Termination” has the meaning set forth in Exhibit B.~~

“Consequential Termination” means termination of this Agreement if (a) such termination involves a transfer of the Hotel or its assets, or a Controlling Ownership Interest in Franchisee or its Controlling Owner, to a Competitor or (b) there are three (3) or more franchise agreements (including this Agreement) with Franchisee or its Affiliates for hotels of the Hotel Type that Hyatt (or its Affiliate) terminates because of Franchisee’s (or its Affiliates’) default or that Franchisee (or its Affiliate(s)) terminates in breach of the applicable agreement. For purposes of this definition, a “Competitor” is any entity that owns, franchises and/or manages, or is an affiliate of any entity that owns, franchises and/or manages, a hotel brand, trade name or service mark for a system of at least four (4) hotels with an average daily room rate for all or substantially all of the hotels in the U.S. during the then most recent full calendar year that is at least sixty percent (60%) of the average daily room rate for Brand Hotels operating in the U.S.

“Control Transfer” means any transfer (as defined in this Exhibit A) of (a) this Agreement (or any interest in this Agreement), (b) the Hotel or all or substantially all of its assets, (c) a Controlling Ownership Interest in Franchisee, whether in one transaction or a series of related transactions (regardless of the time period over which these transactions take place), or (d) a Controlling Ownership Interest in any Controlling Owner (if such Owner is a legal entity), whether in one transaction or a series of related transactions (regardless of the time period over which these transactions take place).

“Controlling Owner” means an individual or legal entity holding a direct or indirect Controlling Ownership Interest in Franchisee.

“Controlling Ownership Interest” in a legal entity means, whether directly or indirectly, either (a) the record or beneficial ownership of, or right to control, fifty percent (50%) or more of the investment capital, equity, rights to receive profits or losses, or other rights to participate in the

results of the entity, or (b) the effective control of the power to direct or cause the direction of that entity's management and policies, including a general partnership interest (with respect to an entity that is a partnership) and a manager or managing member interest (with respect to an entity that is a limited liability company), or the power to appoint or remove any such party. In the case of (a) or (b), the determination of whether a "Controlling Ownership Interest" exists is made both immediately before and immediately after a proposed transfer.

"Copyrighted Materials" means all copyrightable materials that Hyatt or its Affiliate periodically develops and Hyatt periodically designates for use in connection with the Hotel System, including the contents of Hyatt's secure extranet, electronic media, marketing materials (including advertising, marketing, promotional, public relations materials and business and marketing plans), the Design and Construction Standards, sample architectural plans, drawings, designs, and layouts such as, without limitation, site, floor, plumbing, lobby, electrical, and landscape plans and building designs, whether or not registered with the U.S. Copyright Office.

"Core Management" means, ~~as applicable, the general manager, rooms director, director of sales, engineering director, director of food and beverage, director of catering, executive chef, and assistant general manager~~ the management positions for the Hotel as listed in Exhibit B-1.

"CPI Increase" means the amount to be adjusted multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers for All Items, as published by the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (the **"Base Index"**) as of the first day of the calendar month during which the increase is to take effect, and the denominator of which is the Base Index in effect on the Effective Date or used for the most recent increase (whichever is later). If the Base Index is no longer published, Hyatt may designate another reasonably comparable index for calculating changes in the cost of living or purchasing power for consumers.

"CRS" means the central reservations system and related services for Brand Hotels, as Hyatt may periodically modify it.

"Damage Threshold" means the greater of (a) sixty percent (60%) of the market value of the Hotel immediately prior to the time of fire, flood, accident, hurricane or other casualty, or (b) the amount of insurance proceeds made available to Franchisee in connection with the casualty.

"Data Breach" means an actual or suspected breach of security or unauthorized access of Guest Information or other information from the Hotel's property management system or other computer system database.

"Design and Construction Standards" means the standards that Hyatt periodically prescribes detailing certain design criteria to be incorporated into the design and layout of the Hotel, and Hyatt's minimum standards for engineering and construction of newly constructed, renovated, or adapted Brand Hotels, including refreshing the Hotel according to periodic, scheduled upgrades, all as Hyatt determines them.

"Effective Date" means the date listed on page one of this Agreement, regardless of the date upon which Hyatt and Franchisee sign this Agreement.

“F&B Operations” means all food and beverage operations for Hotel guests and patrons consisting of the following (in each case, to the extent applicable): (a) restaurant, dining, bar, lounge, and retail food and beverage services; (b) banquet, meeting, event, catering (including outside catering), and room services; (c) a multi-functional service area that serves coffee and breakfast, lunch and dinner menu items, and alcoholic beverages; (d) grab-and-go food and beverage items available for purchase in a Hotel market; (e) a communal area serving as a combination restaurant, bar, coffee shop and workplace; (f) a standalone restaurant and/or rooftop bar; and (g) all other food, beverage and related services at the Hotel.

“F&B Operations Plan” means the plan for conducting and administering the F&B Operations at the Hotel that Franchisee prepares at Hyatt’s request and subject to Hyatt’s approval.

“F&B Operator” means, if applicable, the restaurant operator or other operator of some or all F&B Operations at the Hotel, other than Franchisee or the Management Company.

“FF&E” means all fixtures; equipment; furnishings; furniture; telephone systems; communications systems; copiers; signs; the Technology System and other property management, revenue optimization, in-room entertainment, and other computer and technology systems; and other similar items that Hyatt periodically specifies for the Hotel.

“Force Majeure” means (a) compliance with the orders, requests or recommendations of any federal, state, or municipal government, unless such order, request or recommendation arises because of Hyatt’s or Franchisee’s failure to comply with any applicable law, regulation or ordinance; (b) fire, flood, accident, hurricane, or other calamity or act of God; (c) strikes, embargoes, war, civil disturbance, acts of terrorism or similar events; or (d) any other similar event or cause.

“Franchisee Indemnified Parties” means Franchisee, its Affiliates, and its and their respective owners, officers, directors, managers, agents, employees, representatives, successors, and assigns.

“Franchisee Organization Website” means a website that mentions the Hotel and other hotels in which Franchisee and its Affiliates have an interest as part of Franchisee’s and its Affiliates’ portfolio of properties and that has a primary purpose of promoting the entire portfolio (rather than only promoting the Hotel).

“GDS” means the global distribution systems that Hyatt periodically authorizes or requires for Franchisee’s Hotel and other similarly situated Brand Hotels (subject to Reasonable Deviations).

“Gross Rooms Revenue” means “Total Rooms Revenue,” or the equivalent thereof, as determined in accordance with the Uniform System of Accounts, plus any revenue from resort fees, destination fees, or similar mandatory charges. If Franchisee receives any proceeds from any business interruption insurance applicable to the rental of rooms at the Hotel, then there shall be added to Gross Rooms Revenue an amount equal to the imputed gross revenues that the insurer used to calculate those proceeds. Inclusion of resort fees, destination fees, or similar fees in “Gross Rooms Revenue” does not constitute approval of or authorization by Hyatt to charge such fees.

“Ground Lessor” means any person or entity (including any Affiliate of Franchisee) that, directly or through one or more other people or entities, leases or subleases all or any part of the Hotel’s real property or improvements to Franchisee or that otherwise has any fee simple ownership or leasehold interest in the Site or the Hotel.

“Guarantor” means each individual or entity who from time to time guarantees Franchisee’s obligations under this Agreement.

“Guarantor Monetary Threshold” means ~~the minimum amount of~~each of the following: (a) total assets less total liabilities (excluding Hotel assets and liabilities relating solely to the Hotel), each as calculated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, ~~and in~~ the minimum amount of the Guarantor Net Worth Minimum set forth in Exhibit B-1 and (b) liquid assets (consisting of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities), ~~that at least one Guarantor (whether an individual or an entity) must maintain at all times during the Term. The in the minimum~~ amount of the Guarantor ~~Monetary Threshold as of the Effective Date is listed~~Liquidity Minimum set forth in Exhibit B-1.

“Guest Information” means information and data relating to or derived from the Hotel’s guests and other customers during the Term, whether obtained from the guest or customer or from any other source, including names, preferences, and other information about the guests’ or customers’ experiences and/or purchases, and including information stored in or provided to the CRS or the Hotel’s property management system.

“Hotel” means the Brand Hotel located at the Site that Franchisee will operate pursuant to this Agreement. The Hotel includes all structures, facilities, appurtenances, FF&E, entrances, exits, and parking areas located on the Site or any other real property that Hyatt approves for Hotel expansion, signage, or other facilities.

“Hotel Elements” has the meaning set forth in Exhibit B-3.

“Hotel IP” means, to the extent not part of the Hotel System, all images, videos, renderings, recordings, text, restaurant, gift shop, spa and other outlet or amenity names, or other content relating to the Hotel and the Non-Hotel Components provided to Hyatt or its Affiliate by Franchisee or its Affiliate.

“Hotel System” means the concept and system associated with the establishment and operation of Brand Hotels, as Hyatt periodically modifies it. The Hotel System now includes: (a) the Proprietary Marks; (b) all Copyrighted Materials; (c) all Confidential Information; (d) the Design and Construction Standards; (e) the CRS; (f) the required or authorized GDS and ADS; (g) management, personnel, and operational training programs, materials, and procedures; (h) System Standards; (i) marketing, advertising, and promotional programs; and (j) Mandatory Services and Non-Mandatory Services.

“Hotel System Website” means a website that Hyatt or one or more members of the Hyatt Group develops, maintains and/or authorizes for all or a certain group of Brand Hotels that Hyatt periodically specifies (and, at Hyatt’s option, other Hyatt Network Hotels).

“Hotel Type” means the type of hotel set forth in Exhibit B-1.

“Hyatt Group” means Hyatt and any of its Affiliates who from time to time provide goods or services to Franchisee and/or other Participating Hotels.

“Hyatt Indemnified Parties” means Hyatt, its Affiliates, and its and their respective owners, officers, directors, managers, agents, employees, representatives, successors, and assigns.

“Hyatt Network Hotels” means the Brand Hotels and other hotels, resorts, lodging facilities and other accommodations and hospitality affiliations that from time to time are owned and/or operated by Hyatt, its Affiliates, or its or their franchisees or licensees under the name “Hyatt” or another brand owned by any of Hyatt’s Affiliates, regardless of whether those brands utilize the “Hyatt” mark in their names.

“Include” and **“including,”** whenever used in this Agreement, whether capitalized or not, will mean “including, by way of example, but without limitation.”

“Innovations” means all inventions, innovations and discoveries relating to a Brand Hotel and based or relying upon any element of the Hotel System, including any advertising, marketing, promotional or public relations plans, programs or materials that Franchisee or its contractors develop for the Hotel, whether or not protectable intellectual property and whether created by or for Franchisee, its Affiliates or contractors, or its or their employees.

“IT Project Management Services” means the services described in Exhibit E to this Agreement.

“Lender” means each financial institution or other party (including an Affiliate of Franchisee), if any, that provided or provides any financing for Franchisee’s acquisition, development, and/or operation of the Hotel, including any mortgagee or trustee under any deed of trust and any mezzanine lender or other party that takes a pledge of Franchisee’s or any Controlling Owner’s ownership interests as security for the repayment of any such financing.

“Limited Interest Owner” means any Non-Controlling Owner who is not a Guarantor and who owns (directly or indirectly) ten percent (10%) or less of the ownership interests in Franchisee.

“Losses” means any and all losses, expenses, obligations, diminutions in value, liabilities, damages (actual, consequential, or otherwise), and reasonable defense costs that an indemnified party incurs. For purposes of this definition, defense costs include accountants’, arbitrators’, attorneys’, and expert witness fees, costs of investigation and proof of facts, court costs, travel and living expenses, and other expenses of litigation, arbitration, or alternative dispute resolution, regardless of whether litigation, arbitration, or alternative dispute resolution is commenced.

“Management Arrangement” means any lease, management agreement, or other similar arrangement with any entity for the management or other oversight of all or a part of the Hotel’s operation.

“Management Company” means any entity (including any Affiliate of Franchisee) that Hyatt approves as the Hotel’s manager pursuant to a Management Arrangement.

“Mandatory Services” means those mandatory System Services that one or more members of the Hyatt Group provides to the Hotel and certain other Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels that the Hyatt Group reasonably determines must acquire those Mandatory Services only from the Hyatt Group—, including, but not limited to, any marketing, reservation service, rate and room inventory management, advertising, guest frequency and loyalty, discount or promotional programs required pursuant to Section 4.3 or the System Standards.

“Market Descriptor” means any geographic or market descriptor that Hyatt periodically approves for Franchisee’s use to identify the Hotel along with the Proprietary Marks.

“Mixed-Use Site” means a site (whether newly constructed or adapted) that is owned or developed by Franchisee, its Owner or Affiliate, which may include, in addition to the Hotel, certain Non-Hotel Components.

“Net Recovery” means the aggregate insurance proceeds that Franchisee and its Affiliates receive or are entitled to receive relating directly or indirectly to the casualty impacting the Hotel, less the aggregate of (a) the portion of such proceeds that Franchisee and its Affiliates are required to pay to Lenders (or that Lenders are permitted to collect) under any applicable loan or credit agreement covering the Hotel, and (b) the portion of such proceeds that Franchisee and its Affiliates are required to pay to Owners under any partnership agreement, limited liability company operating agreement or similar governing document in effect prior to the casualty in order to return to such Owners any unreturned capital investment they made in connection with the development of the Hotel.

“Non-Control Transfer” means any transfer (as defined in this Exhibit A) of (a) a non-Controlling Ownership Interest in Franchisee, (b) a non-Controlling Ownership Interest in any Controlling Owner (if such Owner is a legal entity), or (c) a Controlling Ownership Interest or non-Controlling Ownership Interest in any Non-Controlling Owner (if such Owner is a legal entity).

“Non-Controlling Owner” means any Owner which is not a Controlling Owner.

“Non-Hotel Components” means residential, retail, restaurant, commercial or public spaces that are located on the same single, contiguous site as the Hotel but which operate separate from the Hotel.

“Non-Mandatory Services” means those non-mandatory System Services that one or more members of the Hyatt Group provides to the Hotel and certain other Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels that the Hyatt Group reasonably determines will be offered the option, but will not be required, to acquire those Non-Mandatory Services from the Hyatt Group.

“Offering Materials” means all disclosure documents and other written or electronic materials that Franchisee or any Owner (or any of their agents or representatives) intends to provide to any offeree or prospective purchaser of any ownership interests or other securities in Franchisee or any Owner (if that owner is an entity) which contain information about Hyatt or its Affiliates, this Agreement, Hyatt’s relationship with Franchisee, or the network of Brand Hotels or other Hyatt Network Hotels (other than the Hotel).

“Opening Date” means: (a) for purposes of calculating the Term pursuant to Section 1.2 of this Agreement, the date upon which Franchisee has first opened the Hotel for business in affiliation with the Brand with at least ninety percent (90%) of the number guest rooms specified in [Exhibit B-1](#) available as inventory in the CRS and (b) for all other purposes under this Agreement, the date upon which Franchisee first opens the Hotel for business in affiliation with the Brand. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if immediately prior to the Effective Date the Hotel was operated as part of the Brand pursuant to a franchise agreement with Hyatt (whether by Franchisee or any other party), then the Opening Date is the Effective Date.

“Opening Month” shall mean the calendar month in which the Opening Date occurs.

“Owner” means any person or entity holding a direct or indirect ownership interest (whether of record, beneficially, or otherwise) or voting rights in Franchisee, including any person or entity who has a direct or indirect interest in Franchisee, this Agreement, the franchise, or the Hotel and any person or entity who has any other legal or equitable interest, or the power to vest in themselves any legal or equitable interest, in their revenue, profits, rights, or assets or any capital appreciation relating thereto.

“Participating Hotels” means, with respect to any System Services, those other Brand Hotels and Hyatt Network Hotels that Hyatt reasonably determines from time to time are similarly situated with the Hotel (subject to Reasonable Deviations) and that participate in such System Services in the same manner.

“Person” or **“persons”** as the context requires, means an individual (and the heirs, executors, administrators, or other legal representatives of an individual), a partnership, a joint venture, a firm, a company, a corporation, a government or any department or agency thereof, a trustee, a trust, an unincorporated organization, or any other legal entity of whatever kind or nature.

“PIP” means Property Improvement Plan.

“Pre-Opening Sales Office” means a temporary or permanent sales office at the Site to solicit and accept reservations before the Opening Date for stays after the Opening Date.

“Privacy Laws” means any international, national, state, local or other law, code, rule or regulation that regulates the collection, processing, storage, transmission or use of Guest Information or other personally-identifiable information in any way, including data protection laws, laws regulating marketing or electronic communications, and information security regulations.

“Proceeding” means any claim asserted or inquiry made (whether formally or informally), and any legal action, investigation or other proceeding (including any arbitration proceeding) brought, by any governmental agency or other person or entity.

“Proprietary Marks” means the trade names, trademarks, and service marks, Brand, and such other trade names, trademarks, service marks, logos, slogans, trade dress, domain names, and other designations of source and origin (including all derivatives of the foregoing) that Hyatt or its Affiliate periodically develops and Hyatt periodically designates for use in connection with the Hotel System.

“Providers” means providers of products or services for the Hotel, including the then current CRS operator (if applicable), then current GDS and ADS operators (if applicable), and other suppliers to the Hotel, which may include Hyatt and/or its Affiliates.

“Public Owner” means any holder of five percent (5%) or less of any class of securities of a Non-Controlling Owner which are publicly traded on any securities exchange or quoted in any publication or electronic reporting service maintained by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or any of its successors.

“Quality Assurance and Compliance Programs” means the quality assurance, compliance and guest satisfaction programs for the Hotel that Hyatt periodically develops and modifies.

“Ramp Period” means the period beginning on the first day of the month that the Hotel first began operating as a Brand Hotel (whether under Franchisee or any other party) continuing for the number of calendar months set forth in Exhibit B-1.

“Reasonable Business Judgment” means that Hyatt’s action or inaction has a business basis that is intended to benefit the Brand Hotel network or the profitability of the network, including Hyatt and its Affiliates, regardless of whether some individual hotels may be unfavorably affected; or to increase the value of the Proprietary Marks; or to increase or enhance overall hotel guest or franchisee or owner satisfaction; or to minimize possible brand inconsistencies or customer confusion.

“Reasonable Deviations” means that, if the market area or circumstances of a Brand Hotel warrant, then, in Hyatt’s Reasonable Business Judgment, Hyatt may apply an aspect of the Hotel System, System Standard, requirement, fee or other term or condition to the Hotel in a manner which differs from the manner in which that aspect of the Hotel System, requirement, fee or other term or condition applies to one or more other similarly situated Brand Hotels.

“Related Parties” means, with respect to each of Hyatt and Franchisee, each of their respective Affiliates (and, with respect to Franchisee, the Guarantors), and all of its and their respective owners, officers, managers, directors, agents and/or employees.

“Sanctioned Person” means (a) any individual, entity or organization, including any government or agency thereof, with whom either Franchisee or Hyatt is prohibited from doing business or maintaining a relationship under any Trade Restriction Law; and (b) any individual, entity or organization who is controlled by, or acting as the agent or nominee of, anyone listed in subsection (a).

“Security Interest” means any lien, charge, pledge, mortgage, security interest or other encumbrance.

“Spa Operations” means all spa and related operations and services for Hotel guests and patrons, consisting of all therapy, massage and other treatments, salon services and other spa-related services, if applicable for the Hotel.

“Spa Operator” means the operator of Spa Operations (if any) at the Hotel, other than Franchisee or the Management Company.

“System Services” means those services generally made available by the Hyatt Group from time to time on a central, regional, or other shared or group basis (whether in whole or in part) to all or certain Brand Hotels and other Hyatt Network Hotels that the Hyatt Group reasonably determines shall be provided such services, and which are categorized as either Mandatory Services or Non-Mandatory Services.

“System Services Charges” means the amounts that the Hyatt Group charges the Hotel, and Franchisee hereby agrees to pay, for the Hotel’s equitably allocable share of the System Services Costs attributable to the System Services in which the Hotel participates (or is obligated to participate), as periodically determined by the Hyatt Group.

“System Services Costs” means, with respect to any of the System Services in which the Hotel participates (or is required to participate), all costs actually incurred or properly accrued by any member of Hyatt Group during the period of determination in respect of the provision of such System Services, including out-of-pocket expenses, costs for employees, occupancy costs, capital costs, administrative expenses, carrying costs and other costs incurred directly or indirectly in providing System Services.

“System Standards” means standards, specifications, procedures, and rules for operations, marketing, construction, equipment, furnishings, and quality assurance that Hyatt implements and may periodically modify for Brand Hotels.

“Technology System” means certain computer systems, sales and marketing systems, communications equipment and related equipment and supplies that Hyatt or its Affiliate will require Franchisee to use in the Hotel’s operation.

“Termination Agreement” means Hyatt’s then current form of agreement that would terminate (or confirm the termination of) this Agreement and include a general release, in a form satisfactory to Hyatt, of any and all claims against Hyatt and its Affiliates, and its and their respective owners, officers, directors, managers, employees, agents, representatives, successors and assigns. If the Termination Agreement is required pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, it must be signed by Hyatt, Franchisee and each then current Guarantor, and, if neither Franchisee nor any then current Guarantor then maintains the Guarantor Monetary Threshold, Franchisee must require an Owner or other entity that maintains the Guarantor Monetary Threshold to assume and agree to be bound by Franchisee’s obligations under the Termination Agreement.

“Trade Restriction Laws” mean Executive Order 13224 issued by the President of the United States, the USA PATRIOT Act, the list of prohibited countries, individuals, organizations and entities maintained by the U.S. Department of Treasury Office of Foreign Assets Control, and all other present and future federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, regulations, policies, lists, and other requirements of any governmental authority addressing or in any way relating to terrorist acts, acts of war, trade, economic or investment sanctions or prohibitions, or similar restrictions.

“Transaction Taxes” means federal, state, local or foreign (a) sales, use, excise, privilege, occupation or any other transactional taxes, and (b) other taxes or similar exactions, no matter how

designated, that are imposed on Hyatt or that Hyatt is required to withhold in connection with the receipt or accrual of amounts payable by Franchisee to Hyatt under this Agreement, excluding only taxes imposed on Hyatt for the privilege of conducting business and calculated with respect to Hyatt's net income (including Royalty Fee income), capital, net worth, gross receipts, or some other basis or combination thereof, but not excluding any gross receipts taxes imposed on Hyatt or its Affiliates for Franchisee's payments intended to reimburse Hyatt or its Affiliates for expenditures incurred for the benefit and on behalf of Franchisee.

“Transfer” (whether or not such term is capitalized) means and includes a voluntary, involuntary, direct, or indirect assignment, sale, gift, or other disposition of any interest in this Agreement; Franchisee; the Hotel or substantially all of its assets; any of Franchisee's Owners (if such Owner is a legal entity); or any right to receive all or a portion of the Hotel's, Franchisee's, or any Owner's profits or losses or any capital appreciation relating to the Hotel, Franchisee or any Owner. An assignment, sale, gift, or other disposition includes the following events: (a) transfer of ownership of capital stock, a partnership or membership interest, or another form of ownership interest; (b) merger or consolidation or issuance of additional securities or other forms of ownership interest; (c) any sale or other transfer of a security or other interest convertible to an ownership interest; (d) transfer in a divorce, insolvency, or entity dissolution proceeding or otherwise by operation of law; (e) transfer by will, declaration of or transfer in trust, or under the laws of intestate succession; and (f) foreclosure upon or exercising any similar rights or remedies with respect to any Security Interest in this Agreement (to someone other than Hyatt), the Hotel or an ownership interest in Franchisee or one of its Owners, foreclosure upon the Hotel, or Franchisee's transfer, surrender, or loss of the Hotel's possession, control, or management.

“Travel Services Website” means a website operated by a third party (which is not an Affiliate of Franchisee) that promotes and sells travel-related products and services for a number of hotel brands, including other Hyatt Network Hotels.

“Uniform System of Accounts” means the Uniform System of Accounts for the Lodging Industry, Eleventh Edition, as published by the Educational Institute of the American Hotel and Motel Association, 2014, or a later edition that Hyatt approves.

EXHIBIT B-1
to the
BRAND HOTEL FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

HOTEL AND BRAND SPECIFIC TERMS

<u>Section Reference</u>	<u>Subject</u>	<u>Applicable Term</u>
<u>Preamble</u>	<u>Franchisor entity</u>	<u>Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company</u>
<u>Preamble</u>	<u>Site</u>	<u>[Address]</u>
<u>Preamble</u>	<u>Tradename</u>	<u>N/A</u>
<u>2.3</u>	<u>F&B Operations and Spa Operations</u>	<u>Section 2.3 is deleted in its entirety.</u>
<u>2.4</u>	<u>Pre-Opening Sales Office</u>	<u>Section 2.4 is deleted in its entirety.</u>
<u>2.5</u>	<u>Extension Fee</u>	<u>Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000)</u>
<u>4.1</u>	<u>Approved Management Company as of Effective Date (if any)</u>	<u>[Management Company Name] or [N/A]</u>
<u>4.7</u>	<u>CapEx Account</u>	<u>(a) three percent (3%) of the Hotel's Gross Rooms Revenue accrued during the calendar twelve (12)-month period beginning on the first (1st) day of the Opening Month; (b) four percent (4%) of the Hotel's Gross Rooms Revenue accrued during the calendar twelve (12)-month period beginning on the first (1st) anniversary of the first (1st) day of the Opening Month; and (c) five percent (5%) of the Hotel's Gross Rooms Revenue accrued during the balance of the Term.</u>
<u>5.1</u>	<u>Pre-opening marketing</u>	<u>Five Hundred Dollars (\$500) multiplied by the number of guest rooms at the Hotel</u>
<u>6.1(a)</u>	<u>Initial Application Fee amount</u>	<u>\$ _____</u>
<u>6.1(a)</u>	<u>Additional Application Fee</u>	<u>Five Hundred Dollars (\$500) multiplied by the number of additional guest rooms at the Hotel over 150 total guest rooms at the Hotel</u>
<u>6.1(a)</u>	<u>Current PIP Fee</u>	<u>Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000)</u>
<u>6.1(b)</u>	<u>IT Project Management Services Fee amount</u>	<u>\$ _____</u>

<u>Section Reference</u>	<u>Subject</u>	<u>Applicable Term</u>
<u>6.1(c)</u>	<u>Design Services Review Fee amount</u>	<u>\$ _____</u>
<u>6.1(c)</u>	<u>Design Services Review Fee payment date(s)</u>	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Initial payment of \$ _____ : Effective Date _____ • Remaining \$ _____ : paid in _____ () equal monthly installments of \$ _____ each, with the first such installment due and payable on _____, 20____
<u>6.1(c)</u>	<u>Alternative Design Review Fee amount</u>	<u>\$ _____</u>
<u>6.2(a)</u>	<u>Royalty Fee</u>	<u>Five percent (5%) of the Hotel's Gross Rooms Revenue accrued during the preceding month</u>
<u>10.1</u>	<u>Per room liquidated damages – condemnation</u>	<u>Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000)</u>
<u>16.5</u>	<u>Liquidated Damages</u>	<u>(a) the lesser of thirty-six (36) or the number of months then remaining in this Agreement's term had it not been terminated, multiplied by (b) the sum of (i) the Average Monthly Revenue times five percent (5%) for lost future Royalty Fees; plus (ii) the Average Monthly Revenue times three and one-half percent (3.5%) for lost future System Services Charges.</u>
<u>Exhibit A</u>	<u>Definition of "Brand"</u>	<u>Hyatt Place®</u>
<u>Exhibit A</u>	<u>Definition of "Core Management"</u>	<u>The general manager, assistant general manager, and sales director</u>
<u>Exhibit A</u>	<u>Definition of "Guarantor Net Worth Minimum"</u>	<u>\$ _____</u>
<u>Exhibit A</u>	<u>Definition of "Guarantor Liquidity Minimum"</u>	<u>\$ _____</u>
<u>Exhibit A</u>	<u>Definition of "Hotel Type"</u>	<u>Select service hotel</u>
<u>Exhibit A</u>	<u>Definition of "Opening Deadline"</u>	<u>_____ () months following the Effective Date</u>
<u>Exhibit A</u>	<u>Definition of "Ramp Period"</u>	<u>Thirty-six (36) months</u>

8. ~~The “AOP Term” means the period during which time the rights in the Area of Protection apply according to the terms and conditions of Section 1.3 of the Agreement, which~~that begins on the Effective Date and ends on the earlier of: (a) the date which is _____ (__) years after the Opening Date; and (b) _____, 20____.

“Area of Protection” means the geographic area contained by the following borders:

- [Insert line-by-line description of Area of Protection borders]

9. ~~The “Area of Protection” is defined as _____.~~ The Area of Protection is depicted on the map attached below. ~~However, if~~If there is an inconsistency between the ~~language in this Exhibit B~~foregoing written description and the attached map, the ~~language in this Exhibit B~~written description shall control.

[Insert map here]

~~10. Franchisee shall comply with the following provisions concerning the Hotel’s development:~~

EXHIBIT B-3
to the
BRAND HOTEL FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

DEVELOPMENT OR RENOVATION SCHEDULE & HOTEL ELEMENTS

[Include the following provisions only if Franchisee is not converting an existing hotel at the Site to a Brand Hotel.]

- ~~(a) Within four (4) months after the Effective Date, Franchisee must prepare and submit to Hyatt for its approval the initial design development documents for the Hotel, commonly known as “50% drawings” (the “**Design Development Documents**”). The Design Development Documents must comply with the Design and Construction Standards and the Hotel System.~~
- ~~(b) Within six (6) months after the Effective Date, Franchisee’s managing owner or senior operations officer must attend at Franchisee’s expense a briefing virtually, at Hyatt’s headquarters in Chicago, Illinois or another location Hyatt specifies to acquaint Franchisee with Hyatt’s building process and support structure.~~
- ~~(c) Within nine (9) months after the Effective Date, Franchisee must prepare and submit to Hyatt for its approval complete working drawings and specifications for the Hotel, with such detail and containing such information that Hyatt requires, covering: the Hotel property; all structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, heating, ventilating, air conditioning and life safety equipment and systems; major architectural features and systems, including site layout and outline specifications; specifications for all proposed FF&E; and complete interior design drawings, with detail sufficient to enable submission of construction permitting applications and secure contractor pricing (the “**Detailed Construction Documents**”). The Detailed Construction Documents may not deviate from the Design Development Documents (in the form that Hyatt approved them) and must comply with the Design and Construction Standards and the Hotel System.~~
- ~~(d) Construction of~~ Franchisee shall design, build, equip, furnish and decorate the Hotel ~~may not begin until Hyatt has approved the Detailed~~ having the Hotel Elements. ~~Construction Documents in writing must begin within twelve (12) months after the Effective Date.~~ For purposes of this Agreement, construction of the Hotel is deemed to have begun when the vertical construction or adaptation of the Hotel portion of the building begins for mixed use projects or upon pouring concrete for the Hotel’s foundation or finished slab for all other projects. ~~After Hyatt approves the Detailed Construction Documents, Franchisee may not make any material changes to them (including any changes to any structural or life safety equipment or systems, the number and/or type of guest rooms or common areas, or any architectural features) without Hyatt’s prior written consent, which Hyatt will not unreasonably withhold. If material changes in the Detailed Construction Documents are required during the course of the Hotel’s development, Franchisee must notify Hyatt and seek Hyatt’s consent as promptly as reasonably possible.~~

~~(e) Construction must begin within twelve (12) months after the Effective Date. Franchisee shall notify Hyatt within (5) days after construction begins, and construction shall continue uninterrupted (unless interrupted by Force Majeure) until the Hotel is completed. Franchisee must construct the Hotel according to the Detailed Construction Documents (in the form that Hyatt approved them) and the Hotel System.~~

~~(f) The “Opening Deadline” means the date which is _____ (___) months after the Effective Date.~~

The “Hotel Elements” means:

- (i) _____ guest rooms [plus an additional _____ suites for a total of _____ keys];
- (ii) _____ restaurants and _____ bars;
- (iii) Approximately _____ square feet of meeting rooms and pre-function areas; along with banquet facilities
- (iv) [a ballroom]
- (v) a spa
- (vi) a fitness center
- (vii) [approximately _____ square feet of retail space;]
- (viii) a garage or other parking space for guests and some employees; and
- (ix) all millwork, installations and building systems necessary for the operation of the Hotel, including elevator, heating, ventilating, air conditioning, electrical (including lighting), plumbing (including sanitary), refrigerating, telephone and communications, safety and security, laundry storage and kitchen installations and systems, the FF&E, all public grounds, gardens and other landscaping features and facilities, and such other facilities and appurtenances, as are necessary or desirable for the operation of the Hotel under the Design and Construction Standards

[Include the following provisions only if Franchisee is converting an existing hotel at the Site to a Brand Hotel.]

~~(a) Within three (3) months after the Effective Date, Franchisee's managing owner or senior operations officer must attend at Franchisee's expense a briefing virtually, at Hyatt's headquarters in Chicago, Illinois or another location Hyatt specifies to acquaint Franchisee with Hyatt's building process and support structure.~~

~~(b) Franchisee agrees to renovate the Hotel according to the Hotel System and in accordance with, and within the time frames set forth on, the PIP attached as Exhibit E. Franchisee may not make any material changes to plans set forth in the PIP (including any changes to any structural or life safety equipment or systems, the number and/or type of guest rooms or common areas, or any architectural features) without Hyatt's prior written consent, which Hyatt will not unreasonably withhold.~~

(e) Franchisee shall renovate the Hotel in accordance with, and within the time frames set forth in, the PIP attached as Exhibit D to this Agreement. If this Agreement anticipates Franchisee's conversion of an existing franchised or managed facility to a Brand Hotel, then before any Proprietary Marks (including signage) are installed or displayed at the Site, and before Franchisee opens a Pre-Opening Sales Office or the Hotel is authorized to open as a Brand Hotel, Franchisee must submit evidence reasonably satisfactory to Hyatt of the termination of Franchisee's previous franchise or management agreement in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

~~(d) The "Opening Deadline" means the date which is _____ (___) months after the Effective Date, unless otherwise provided in the PIP.~~

~~11- The following Brand-specific provisions shall apply:~~

Section Reference	Subject	Applicable Term
Preamble	Franchisor Entity	Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company
2.5	Extension Fee	Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000)
4.7	CapEx Account	(a) three percent (3%) of the Hotel's Gross Rooms Revenue accrued during the First Year, (b) four percent (4%) of the Hotel's Gross Rooms Revenue accrued during the Second Year, and (c) five percent (5%) of the Hotel's Gross Rooms Revenue accrued during the balance of the Term.
5.1	Pre-Opening Marketing	Five Hundred Dollars (\$500) multiplied by the number of guest rooms at the Hotel
6.1(a)	Additional Application Fee	Five Hundred Dollars (\$500) multiplied by the number of additional guest rooms over 150 total guest rooms at the Hotel
6.1(a)	Current PIP Fee	Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000)
6.2(a)	Royalty Fee	Five percent (5%) of the Hotel's Gross Rooms Revenue accrued during previous month.

Section Reference	Subject	Applicable Term
10.1	Liquidated Damages— Condemnation	Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000)
16.5	Liquidated Damages	(a) the lesser of thirty-six (36) or the number of months then remaining in this Agreement's term had it not been terminated, multiplied by (b) the sum of (i) the Average Monthly Revenue times five percent (5%) for lost future Royalty Fees; and (ii) the Average Monthly Revenue times three and one-half percent (3.5%) for lost future System Services Charges.
Exhibit A	Definition of “Average Monthly Revenues”	<p>(i) if, as of the effective date of termination, at least thirty-six (36) months have elapsed since the Opening Date, the average monthly Gross Rooms Revenue of the Hotel during the twelve (12) full calendar months preceding the month of termination; or</p> <p>(ii) if, as of the effective date of termination, the Opening Date has not yet occurred, the average monthly Gross Rooms Revenue per available guest room for all Brand Hotels in the United States (including those that Hyatt and its Affiliates own, manage, and franchise) during the twelve (12) full calendar months preceding the month of termination, multiplied by the number of guest rooms approved for the Hotel; or</p> <p>(iii) if, as of the effective date of termination, the Opening Date has occurred but less than thirty-six (36) months have elapsed since the Opening Date, either (a) the amount determined under part (ii) above or (b) the average monthly Gross Rooms Revenue of the Hotel during the period from the Opening Date until the effective date of termination, whichever of (a) or (b) is greater.</p> <p>Notwithstanding the foregoing, if “Average Monthly Revenues” as determined pursuant to any part of (i) through (iii) above has been materially and negatively impacted during the preceding twelve (12) full calendar month period by a disruption in Hotel operations resulting from Force Majeure, casualty, suspension of operations (whether or not consented to by Hyatt), renovation of the Hotel, or any other similar circumstances, “Average Monthly Revenue” shall be determined by reference to the most recent twelve (12) full calendar month period preceding termination, during which the Hotel performance was not so impacted.</p>
Exhibit A	Definition of “Brand”	Hyatt Place®

Section Reference	Subject	Applicable Term
Exhibit A	Definition of “ Consequential Termination ”	A termination of this Agreement if (a) such termination involves a transfer of the Hotel or its assets, or a Controlling Ownership Interest in Franchisee or its Controlling Owner, to a Competitor; or (b) there are three (3) or more franchise agreements for Hyatt-Related Select Service Brand (defined below) hotels (including this Agreement) with Franchisee or its Affiliates that Hyatt (or its Affiliate) terminates because of Franchisee’s (or its Affiliate’s) default or Franchisee (or its Affiliate) terminates in breach of the applicable agreement. For purposes of this definition, a “Hyatt-Related Select Service Brand” means any brand under which or in affiliation with which a select service Hyatt Network Hotel operates. For purposes of this definition, a “Competitor” is any entity that owns, franchises and/or manages, or is an affiliate of any entity that owns, franchises and/or manages, a select service hotel brand, trade name or service mark for a system of at least four (4) hotels with an average daily room rate for all or substantially all of the hotels in the U.S. during the then most recent full calendar year that is at least sixty percent (60%) of the average daily room rate for Brand Hotels operating in the U.S.
Exhibit A	Definition of “ First Year ”	The following definition is added to <u>Exhibit A</u> : “ First Year ” means the calendar twelve (12) month period beginning on the first (1 st) day of the calendar month during which the Opening Date occurs.
Exhibit A	Guarantor Monetary Threshold	The “ Guarantor Monetary Threshold ” means each of the following: (a) the amount of total assets less total liabilities (excluding Hotel assets and liabilities relating solely to the Hotel), each as calculated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, equal to or exceeding \$ _____ as of the date hereof; and (b) liquid assets (consisting of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities) equal to or exceeding \$500,000 as of the date hereof; provided, however, that Hyatt will waive (b) during any period in which Franchisee (i) is in compliance with Section 6.4 of the Franchise Agreement and (ii) has not, for a period of sixty (60) or more days, owed Hyatt or its Affiliates any past due payments. Each of these dollar amounts shall increase automatically each year, without notice from Hyatt, effective on the first day of the calendar month during which the Franchise Agreement’s Effective Date falls, by an amount equal to the CPI Increase.
Exhibit A	Definition of “ Hotel Type ”	Select service hotel

Section Reference	Subject	Applicable Term
Exhibit A	Definition of “ Second Year ”	The following definition is added to <u>Exhibit A</u> : “ Second Year ” means the calendar twelve (12)-month period beginning on the first (1 st) anniversary of the first (1 st) day of the calendar month during which the Opening Date occurs.

FRANCHISEE:

[ENTITYNAMECAPS]

By: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

[FRANCHISOR ENTITY]

By: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

EXHIBIT C
to the
BRAND HOTEL FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER FOR STRATEGIC MARKETS

By signing this Exhibit C, Hyatt and Franchisee acknowledge that Hyatt's right of first offer reflected in this Exhibit C applies to this Agreement. If Hyatt and Franchisee do not sign this Exhibit C, then it does not apply to this Agreement. Hyatt has the unrestricted right to assign its right of first offer to an Affiliate or other third party, who then will have Hyatt's rights and obligations described in this Exhibit C.

If Franchisee (or any of its Owners) at any time during the Term determine to sell or transfer for consideration this Agreement, the Hotel or all or substantially all of its assets, or a Controlling Ownership Interest in Franchisee or its Controlling Owner (except to or among Franchisee's Owners as of the Effective Date, which is not subject to this Exhibit C), then Franchisee must first give Hyatt the opportunity to acquire those rights (the "**Offered Rights**") by delivering written notice to Hyatt. Franchisee's notice must contain a summary of the material terms and conditions of the proposed sale or transfer, including (without limitation) the proposed consideration and the terms of any financing Franchisee or its Affiliate will provide for the proposed purchase price (the "**Offer Terms**"). The Offer Terms must relate exclusively to the Offered Rights and not to any other assets or rights.

Hyatt will then have thirty (30) days after receiving the Offer Terms to notify Franchisee whether Hyatt elects to acquire the Offered Rights on the Offer Terms, provided that (1) Hyatt may substitute cash, a cash equivalent, or marketable securities for any form of payment proposed in the Offer Terms (such as ownership interests in an entity) and may elect to pay the net present value of any payments to be made over time; (2) Hyatt must be afforded the opportunity to conduct customary due diligence on the Offered Rights; and (3) Hyatt must receive, and Franchisee and its Owners agree to make, all customary representations, warranties, and indemnities in Hyatt's purchase, including representations and warranties as to ownership and condition of and title to assets; liens and encumbrances on assets; validity of contracts and agreements; liabilities affecting the assets, contingent or otherwise; and indemnities for all actions, events, and conditions that existed or occurred in connection with the Hotel or Franchisee's business before the closing.

If Hyatt exercises the right of first offer, the closing will take place at a location and on a date that Hyatt chooses, within ninety (90) days after Hyatt delivers its notice of exercise to Franchisee or such longer period as may be contemplated by the Offer Terms. Hyatt and Franchisee will sign documents, including deeds, affidavits, transfers and assignments, and any other documents necessary or appropriate for the sale or transfer of the Offered Rights. Franchisee must satisfy all liens, mortgages, and/or encumbrances on the Hotel. Hyatt and Franchisee will share equally any closing costs.

If Hyatt notifies Franchisee in writing that Hyatt does not intend to exercise its right of first offer with respect to any Offer Terms, or fails to notify Franchisee of Hyatt's decision within the thirty (30)-day period described above, then Franchisee thereafter may offer the Offered Rights to

any third party on terms no more favorable to that party than the Offer Terms. However, Franchisee or its Owners may sell or transfer the Offered Rights only if Hyatt otherwise approves the transfer in accordance with, and Franchisee (and its Owners) and the transferee comply with the conditions in, ARTICLE XII of this Agreement. This means that, even if Hyatt does not exercise Hyatt's right of first offer, if the proposed transfer otherwise would not be allowed under ARTICLE XII, Franchisee (or its Owners) may not move forward with the transfer at all.

Later, Franchisee may determine to offer the Offered Rights on terms which are more favorable to the buyer than the Offer Terms, or Franchisee may determine to change the Offered Rights, then Franchisee must first offer those new terms to Hyatt according to the procedures described above. In addition, if Franchisee does not sell or transfer the Offered Rights in compliance with this Exhibit C and the conditions in ARTICLE XII within twelve (12) months after Hyatt first receives notice of the Offered Rights, then the rights under this Exhibit C shall once again apply with respect to those Offer Terms, and Franchisee may not sell or transfer for consideration the Offered Rights without first giving Hyatt the opportunity to acquire those rights according to this Exhibit C.

By signing below, Hyatt and Franchisee acknowledge and agree that the terms of this Exhibit C will apply to this Agreement.

FRANCHISEE:

[ENTITYNAMECAPS]

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

HYATT:

[FRANCHISOR ENTITY]

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

EXHIBIT D
to the
BRAND HOTEL FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

DESIGN APPROVAL REVIEW PROCESS OR
PROPERTY IMPROVEMENT PLAN
(as applicable)

EXHIBIT E
to the
BRAND HOTEL FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
IT PROJECT MANAGEMENT SERVICES

[SELECT SERVICE]

**HYATT IT PROJECT MANAGEMENT SERVICES AND IMPLEMENTATION AND
TRAINING FOR HYATT PROPRIETARY SYSTEMS**

1. Scope of Services, Part 1

IT Project Management Services - The overall process includes a Blueprint Review and IT Project Management & Planning. Listed below are the activities for each component which are included in the IT Project Management Services fee.

- Initial Discussion
 - Blueprint Review.
 - Provide and review IT Systems Bid Book, Hyatt IT Brand Standards, Cabling SOW, etc. (Collectively “IT Systems Requirements”).
- Project Management and Planning
 - Communicate status on an agreed upon schedule.
 - Plan and direct the overall IT Project Management activities through implementation and sign-off.
 - Monitor all Teams/Vendors with respect to standard work processes related to IT System installations.
 - Coordinate installation of the standard IT Systems and facilitate communication between Vendor and hotel.
 - Act as the Single Point of Contact (“SPOC”) for IT problem escalation during Vendor installations.
 - Provide specifications and oversight for low voltage cabling.
- Procurement Assistance
 - Review IT orders for accuracy and pricing (“Purchase Orders”).
 - Communicate IT Systems Requirements to Vendors.
 - Manage and provide reports of any modifications and/or updates to original Purchase Orders (“Change Orders”).
- Vendor Management and Scheduling
 - Be the SPOC for Hyatt IT Vendor scheduling and coordination.
 - Work with construction general contractor or Owner to identify schedule touch points and dependencies.
 - Manage Hyatt Vendor issues.
 - Communicate Hyatt IT Vendor on-site dates.
 - Coordinate Hyatt IT Vendor training and hotel signoff.
 - Schedule and facilitate Hyatt Vendor meetings as possible.
- EMV on-property setup, on-property mobile entry setup, interface configuration support.
- Hyatt Network Operations consulting – VPN setup and systems whitelisting.
- Hyatt Telecom consulting – faceplate approval, Auto-attendant setup and standardization, Music on hold setup and standardization.
- On-site Visits - The following visits are approximate. They may be removed, combined or added as necessary.

- Visit 1 – Review Cabling at 50% installation.
- Visit 2 – Review Cabling at 90% installation.
- Visit 3 – End of Construction Walk-through and Computer Room setup (if needed), also onsite w/ Sound & Security system teams.
- Visit 4 – Hotel pre-opening week, on-site week before opening with PMS/POS, keylock, E-room, In-room Entertainment and telephone teams.
- Visit 5 – On-site for opening/Project close out.

2. Scope of Services, Part 2

Remote installation, configuration and training services for Hyatt proprietary systems - This process covers Hyatt's installation, configuration, and training services for the following systems which are included on Hyatt's consolidated invoice:

- Online Check-in / Express Check-out – remote installation and training
- Mobile Entry Service – remote installation and training
- Colleague Advantage – remote installation and training
- Envision Lite – remote installation and training
- Property Management – remote installation and training resource management
- Guest Request System (HyGeo) – installation and training

3. Out Of Scope Items

The following services are not included in the Hyatt IT Project Management Services Statement of Work:

- Installation and configuration of network, server, or workstation hardware and software
- Configuration of system interfaces to Opera
- Purchasing required hardware, software, interfaces and licenses.
- Performing upgrades to existing equipment intended for re-use in new hotel opening
- Installing non-standard software or systems hardware outside of hardware detailed above
- Installation and configuration of 'off-brand' hardware or hardware not purchased within Hyatt specification
- Configuration of equipment intended for use beyond Hyatt's standard configuration (i.e., configuration of redundant/hot-swap devices)
- Configuration of Virtual Machine-based systems, to include the Domain Controller
- Setup and configuration of systems typically configured by respective vendors
- Installing or terminating any low-voltage cabling or manufacture of patch cables
- Performing training for vendor-specific systems

- Supporting hardware or systems software following install.
- Installation & configuration of server backup software

4. Deliverables And Work Product

The Hyatt IT Systems Bid Book will include specified pricing for standard computer systems (the “Bid Book”). Hyatt will designate a Consultant (the “IT Project Manager”) to manage property project plans from checklists to final signoffs, manage and maintain an updated issues list, as well as review the existing documentation regularly in order to update the master based on real time adjustments. Further, the IT Project Manager will be responsible for timely delivery of IT Site Reports after all on-site visits.

5. Roles and Responsibilities

Legend: O = Owns, P = Participates, R = Reviews

Task Description	Hotel Owner/ Mgmt	Hotel GM	Hyatt IT	General Contractor
Approve IT SOW	O		R	
Perform Blueprint Review	P		O	
Review Blueprint Variances	P		O	
Review Bid Book and Vendor Quotes	P		O	
Select Vendors for systems that do not require a mandatory vendor	O		R	
Provide specifications to meet Hyatt Brand Standards	R		O	
Provide IT Systems Electric and Low Voltage Cabling Specifications			O	P
Review specifications of hotel selected vendors	O		R	
Generate purchase orders	O		R	
Process deposits	O		R	
Communicate construction milestones and dates	R	R	R	O
Install IT Electric and Cabling			R	O
Approve vendor change orders as needed	O		R	
Schedule IT vendor installations		R	O	
Coordinate Computer Room and Gallery Host Stand installations	O	P	R	
Schedule IT vendor training		P	O	
Post implementation walk-through	P	P	O	

6. Project Schedule

Upon approval of this Statement of Work, an IT Project Manager will be assigned to perform a Blueprint Review. An IT System Installation and Training Schedule will be produced approximately 90 days prior to the Hotel opening for business to the public.

Sample Hotel Schedule:

Task	Blueprint Review	50% Cabling	90% Cabling		Computer Room	PBX & Sound Head End	Security & Keylock Systems		Review Vendor Progress, HSIA & E.	In-Room Entertainment PMS &	Hotel Opening	Live Support	Close Out
Time Scale in Weeks	45	32	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	P1	P2
Validate POs & Shipping ETAs													
Coordinate with GC PM or Owner's Representative													
Vendor Coordination & Scheduling													
Post-Install Support													
PM On-site Timeframes													

Note: Above schedule is a sample. Actual timeframe will differ based on the property and/or permits.

7. Project Dependencies

Critical milestones for IT Systems are dependent on available electricity, conduit, core drilling and cabling in the Computer Room, Gallery Host Stand, E-room, Meeting Rooms, etc. Every effort will be taken to schedule computer system vendors without change or expedite fees since this will add to the cost of the Project.

8. Completion Criteria

This Statement of Work will be deemed completed when:

- the Computer Room installed and operational;
- the Gallery Host Stand installed and operational;
- the Hyatt Standard IT Systems are installed and operational; and
- completion of Vendor training.

STATEMENT OF WORK – Computing Environment Setup and Configuration

1. Scope Of Services

Computing environment setup and configuration includes the following items:

- Unpacking of systems components to include Firewall, Domain Controller Server, Administrative Network Switch, all workstations, and miscellaneous hardware. This includes disposal of packing materials
- Installation of Hyatt computing equipment into racks in Computer room
- Installation of firewall on to racks in Telco room unless this work is completed by others
- Configuration and installation of administrative network switch
- Set up and configuration of KVM hardware in Computer room
- Set up, configuration and placement of Domain Controller to include set up of Server operating system and set up of UserID's per Hyatt's standard procedures for franchise installations
- Connecting all Hyatt standard systems equipment to administrative network
- Setup, configuration, and placement of end-user workstations to include front desk and all back of house workstation hardware, keyboards, and pointing devices per Hyatt's standard procedure for franchise installations
- Installation of Hyatt central systems software and access to systems to include PMS, Reservation System, Sales System, and Revenue Management Systems
- Installation of Hyatt approved endpoint protection and Microsoft Office
- Installation and configuration of hotel-provided on-line backup for domain controller
- Turnover of installation documentation to hotel management at conclusion of project

2. Out Of Scope

The following services are not included in the Computing Environment Setup and Configuration Statement of Work:

- Performing upgrades to existing equipment intended for re-use in new hotel opening
- Installing non-standard software or systems hardware outside of hardware detailed above
- Installation and configuration of 'off-brand' hardware or hardware not purchased within Hyatt specification
- Configuration of equipment intended for use beyond our standard configuration (i.e., configuration of redundant/hot-swap devices)
- Configuration of Virtual Machine-based systems, to include the Domain Controller
- Setup and configuration of systems typically configured by respective vendors
- Any and all low-voltage cabling or manufacture of patch cables

- Purchasing required hardware, software, interfaces and licenses
- Performing training for vendor-specific systems
- Ongoing support of systems and hardware following hotel opening
- Integrating or troubleshooting non-standard Hyatt computer systems
- Provide any physical or logical connection between the administrative network and the guest network
- Installation and configuration of backup software to be used with workstations
- Installation and configuration of PMS interfaces unless this work is ready for completion while resource is on site

3. Deliverables And Work Product

Hyatt will provide a qualified technical project manager to perform the installation and configuration of the hotel's computing environment. The Hyatt standard computing environment typically consists of a firewall, network switch, KVM, and 6 – 10 general use workstations to include front desk workstations. This equipment will be installed, configured and placed in its respective locations. Hyatt will coordinate activities with circuit/firewall vendors to connect the Hyatt computing environment to the data circuit to ensure internet access and access to Hyatt's central systems. Hyatt will configure the network switch and connect all standard devices to the network and ensure functional performance of all devices.

It is strongly recommended that hotel ownership or management contracts with an IT outsourced provider to observe Hyatt's IT resources to ensure continuity of support following hotel opening.

4. Project Dependencies

Critical milestones for IT Systems are dependent on available electricity, conduit, core drilling and cabling in the Computer Room, Gallery Host Stand, E-room, Meeting Rooms, etc. Every effort will be taken to schedule computer system vendors without change or expedite fees since this will add to the cost of the Project.

5. Completion Criteria

This Computing Environment Setup and Configuration Statement of Work will be deemed completed when:

- the Computer Room installed and operational;
- the Gallery Host Stand installed and operational;
- the Hyatt Standard IT Systems are installed an operational.

EXHIBIT F
to the
BRAND HOTEL FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

MANAGEMENT COMPANY DOCUMENTS

MANAGEMENT COMPANY RIDER
to the Franchise Agreement dated as of _____, ~~2024~~2025 (“Franchise Agreement”)
between _____ (“Hyatt”) and
_____ (“Franchisee”)

_____ (“Management Company”) has entered into a Management Agreement with Franchisee (as amended, the “Management Agreement”) under which Management Company will operate the Brand Hotel located at _____ (the “Hotel”) in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Franchise Agreement. However, under the Franchise Agreement, Management Company may not operate the Hotel without Hyatt’s consent, and Hyatt is unwilling to provide such consent unless Franchisee and Management Company agree to the terms of this Rider.

In consideration of the rights granted to Management Company under the Management Agreement and of Hyatt’s consent (under the Franchise Agreement) to Management Company’s operation of the Hotel, Management Company hereby acknowledges and ratifies the terms and conditions of the Franchise Agreement and agrees to fully observe and be bound by all terms, conditions and restrictions regarding the management and operation of the Hotel set forth in the Franchise Agreement for as long as Management Company operates the Hotel, as if and as though Management Company had executed the Franchise Agreement as “Franchisee,” including, without limitation, all terms and conditions of ARTICLE IV and ARTICLE V of the Franchise Agreement (other than Section 4.2(a)). Management Company further agrees to be bound by the confidentiality and other covenants set forth in Sections 11.5, 11.6, and 11.7 of the Franchise Agreement (including all remedies available to Hyatt under the Franchise Agreement for breach thereof) during and subsequent to its tenure as manager of the Hotel. However, notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Rider constitutes an agreement of Management Company: (a) to pay or assume any financial obligation of Franchisee to Hyatt or to any third party, including any obligation of Franchisee to pay Royalty Fees or System Services Charges or any liquidated damages pursuant to Section 16.5 of the Franchise Agreement; or (b) to be bound by any provision in ARTICLE XII of the Franchise Agreement. Management Company represents and warrants to Hyatt and Franchisee that Management Company is not a Competing Brand Owner, as defined in the Franchise Agreement.

Management Company agrees that Hyatt may enforce directly against Management Company those terms and conditions of the Franchise Agreement to which Management Company has hereby agreed to be bound. Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that any act or omission of Management Company relating directly or indirectly to the Hotel will be deemed and considered the act or omission of Franchisee for purposes of Hyatt’s rights and remedies under the Franchise Agreement (including, without limitation, Franchisee’s indemnification and defense obligations under Section 8.3 of the Franchise Agreement), any other agreement, or applicable law. ARTICLE

VIII, ARTICLE XIV (including, without limitation, the arbitration provisions) and ARTICLE XVIII of the Franchise Agreement, entitled “Relationship of Parties and Indemnification,” “Dispute Resolution,” and “General,” respectively, are incorporated by reference in this Rider and will govern all aspects of Hyatt’s and Management Company’s relationship and this Rider as if fully restated within the text of this Rider, with all references to “Franchisee” interpreted as references to Management Company.

MANAGEMENT COMPANY:

[FRANCHISOR ENTITY], a _____
limited liability company

a(n) _____

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

FRANCHISEE:

a(n) _____

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

EXHIBIT G
to the
BRAND HOTEL FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

FRANCHISEE'S OWNERSHIP

FRANCHISEE:

[ENTITYNAMECAPS]

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

HYATT:

[FRANCHISOR ENTITY]

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

EXHIBIT H
to the
BRAND HOTEL FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

GUARANTY AND ASSUMPTION OF OBLIGATIONS

THIS GUARANTY AND ASSUMPTION OF OBLIGATIONS (“**Guaranty**”) is given this ____ day of _____, ~~2024~~2025, by the undersigned party or parties (individually and collectively, “**Guarantor**”) in favor of _____, a _____ limited liability company (together with its successors and assigns, “**Hyatt**”).

WHEREAS, [_____] (“**Franchisee**”) owns the hotel to be known as the Brand Hotel located or to be located at the Site identified in the Franchise Agreement (defined below) (the “**Hotel**”);

WHEREAS, simultaneously herewith, Franchisee is entering into a Brand Hotel Franchise Agreement (as amended, modified or amended and restated from time to time, the “**Franchise Agreement**”) with Hyatt with respect to the Hotel;

WHEREAS, Guarantor is either an owner (whether direct or indirect) of Franchisee or otherwise has a direct or indirect relationship with Franchisee or its affiliates, Guarantor will benefit significantly from Hyatt’s entering into the Franchise Agreement with Franchisee, and Hyatt will not enter into the Franchise Agreement unless each of the undersigned agrees to sign and comply with the terms of this Guaranty;

WHEREAS, as a condition to entering into the Franchise Agreement, Hyatt has required that Guarantor guarantee the payment and performance of the Guaranteed Obligations (as defined herein), subject to the terms of this Guaranty.

NOW, THEREFORE, as a material inducement to Hyatt entering into the Franchise Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Guarantor hereby does irrevocably and unconditionally warrant and represent unto and covenant as follows:

1. **Recitals; Defined Terms.** The recitals above are a part of this Guaranty, form a basis for this Guaranty, and shall be considered prima facie evidence of the facts and documents referred to therein. Defined terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Franchise Agreement.

2. **Guaranty.** Guarantor hereby irrevocably and unconditionally personally guarantees to Hyatt and its successors and assigns Franchisee’s punctual payment and performance of, and agrees to be personally bound by and personally liable for the breach of, each and every Guaranteed Obligation. Guarantor hereby irrevocably and unconditionally covenants and agrees that it is liable for the Guaranteed Obligations as a primary obligor.

3. **Guaranteed Obligations.** As used herein, the term “Guaranteed Obligations” means (i) Franchisee’s payment in full of all of Franchisee’s monetary obligations including but

not limited to Franchisee's payment of any liquidated damages that become due and payable pursuant to the Franchise Agreement as and when required pursuant to the Franchise Agreement, and (ii) Franchisee's performance of each and every provision in the Franchise Agreement (including any amendments or modifications of the Franchise Agreement), including, without limitation: (a) obligations to take or refrain from taking specific actions or to engage or refrain from engaging in specific activities, including, without limitation, the confidentiality and transfer requirements and the prohibitions with respect to Competing Brand Owners; and (b) the arbitration requirements and other enforcement provisions in ARTICLE XIV and ARTICLE XVIII of the Franchise Agreement.

4. **Guarantor Monetary Threshold.** Guarantor represents and agrees that, at the time of signing this Guaranty and at all times during the term of the Franchise Agreement, at least one of the undersigned or another then current guarantor of Franchisee's obligations under the Franchise Agreement satisfies the Guarantor Monetary Threshold (defined below). The "**Guarantor Monetary Threshold**" means each of the following: (a) the amount of total assets less total liabilities (excluding Hotel assets and liabilities relating solely to the Hotel), each as calculated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, equal to or exceeding _____ Dollars (\$_____) as of the date hereof; and (b) liquid assets (consisting of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities) equal to or exceeding _____ Dollars (\$_____) as of the date hereof. Each dollar amount in this Section 4 shall increase automatically each year, without notice from Hyatt, effective on the first day of the calendar month during which the Franchise Agreement's Effective Date falls, by an amount equal to the CPI Increase. The "**CPI Increase**" means the amount to be adjusted multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers for All Items, as published by the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (the "**Base Index**") as of the first day of the calendar month during which the increase is to take effect, and the denominator of which is the Base Index in effect on the Franchise Agreement's Effective Date or used for the most recent increase (whichever is later). If the Base Index is no longer published, Hyatt may designate another reasonably comparable index for calculating changes in the cost of living or purchasing power for consumers. Guarantor agrees to provide Hyatt on an annual basis financial statements or other documents that Hyatt reasonably specifies, certified by Guarantor in the manner that Hyatt specifies, demonstrating that at least one Guarantor satisfies the Guarantor Monetary Threshold. Upon reasonable advance notice, but no more than twice during any calendar year during the Franchise Agreement's term, Hyatt may examine the undersigned's business, bookkeeping, accounting and tax records to ascertain compliance with the Guarantor Monetary Threshold. In addition to and without limiting Hyatt's other rights and remedies under the Franchise Agreement, this Guaranty or applicable law, Guarantor acknowledges that Hyatt may terminate the Franchise Agreement (subject to the applicable notice and cure period in the Franchise Agreement) if at least one Guarantor or another guarantor of Franchisee's obligations under the Franchise Agreement does not satisfy the Guarantor Monetary Threshold at all times during the Franchise Agreement's term.

5. **Nature of Guaranty.** Guarantor consents and agrees that: (1) the representations, warranties, agreements, liabilities, and obligations of Guarantor set forth in this Guaranty shall apply to each of the undersigned parties in its individual capacity; (2) notwithstanding the foregoing, each of the undersigned's direct and immediate liability under this Guaranty will be

joint and several, both with Franchisee and among the other parties (if any) comprising Guarantor; (3) Guarantor will render any payment or performance required under the Franchise Agreement upon demand if Franchisee fails or refuses punctually to do so; (4) this liability will not be contingent or conditioned upon Hyatt's pursuit of any remedies against Franchisee or any other person or entity; (5) this liability will not be diminished, relieved, or otherwise affected by any extension of time, credit, or other indulgence that Hyatt may from time to time grant to Franchisee or any other person or entity, including, without limitation, the acceptance of any partial payment or performance or the compromise or release of any claims (including the release of other guarantors), none of which will in any way modify or amend this Guaranty, which will be continuing and irrevocable during and after the term of the Franchise Agreement (including extensions) for so long as any performance is or might be owed under the Franchise Agreement by Franchisee or any of its guarantors and for so long as Hyatt has any cause of action against Franchisee or any of its guarantors; and (6) this Guaranty will continue in full force and effect for (and as to) any extension or modification of the Franchise Agreement and despite the transfer of any direct or indirect interest in the Franchise Agreement or Franchisee, and Guarantor waives notice of any and all renewals, extensions, modifications, amendments, or transfers.

6. **Waivers.**

(a) Guarantor hereby waives: (i) all rights to payments and claims for reimbursement or subrogation that Guarantor may have against Franchisee arising as a result of the undersigned's execution of and performance under this Guaranty, for the express purpose that none of the undersigned shall be deemed a "creditor" of Franchisee under any applicable bankruptcy law with respect to Franchisee's obligations to Hyatt; (ii) all rights to require Hyatt to proceed against Franchisee for any payment required under the Franchise Agreement, proceed against or exhaust any security from Franchisee, take any action to assist any of the undersigned in seeking reimbursement or subrogation in connection with this Guaranty or pursue, enforce or exhaust any remedy, including any legal or equitable relief, against Franchisee; (iii) any benefit of, any right to participate in, any security now or hereafter held by Hyatt; and (iv) acceptance and notice of acceptance by Hyatt of Guarantor's undertakings under this Guaranty, all presentments, demands and notices of demand for payment of any indebtedness or non-performance of any obligations hereby guaranteed, protest, notices of dishonor, notices of default to any party with respect to the indebtedness or nonperformance of any obligations hereby guaranteed (except as otherwise expressly provided herein or in the Franchise Agreement), and any other notices and legal or equitable defenses to which Guarantor may be entitled. Hyatt shall have no present or future duty or obligation to the undersigned under this Guaranty, and each of the undersigned waives any right to claim or assert any such duty or obligation, to discover or disclose to the undersigned any information, financial or otherwise, concerning Franchisee, any other guarantor, or any collateral securing any obligations of Franchisee to Hyatt. Without affecting the obligations of the undersigned under this Guaranty, Hyatt may, without notice to the undersigned, extend, modify, supplement, waive strict compliance with, or release all or any provisions of the Franchise Agreement or any indebtedness or obligation of Franchisee, or settle, adjust, release, or compromise any claims against Franchisee or any other guarantor, make advances for the purpose of performing any obligations of Franchisee under the Franchise Agreement, assign the Franchise Agreement

or the right to receive any sum payable under the Franchise Agreement, and the undersigned each hereby jointly and severally waive notice of same. The undersigned expressly acknowledge that the obligations hereunder survive the expiration or termination of the Franchise Agreement.

(b) In addition, Guarantor waives any defense arising by reason of any of the following: (i) any disability or any counterclaim or right of set-off or other defense of Franchisee, (ii) any lack of authority of Franchisee with respect to the Franchise Agreement, (iii) the cessation from any cause whatsoever of the liability of Franchisee, (iv) any circumstance whereby the Franchise Agreement shall be void or voidable as against Franchisee or any of Franchisee's creditors, including a trustee in bankruptcy of Franchisee, by reason of any fact or circumstance, (v) any event or circumstance that might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge of the undersigned's obligations hereunder, except that the undersigned do not waive any defense arising from the due performance by Franchisee of the terms and conditions of the Franchise Agreement, (vi) any right or claim of right to cause a marshaling of the assets of Franchisee or any other guarantor, and (vii) any act or omission of Franchisee.

(c) Guarantor's obligations under this Guaranty shall not be released, diminished, impaired, reduced or adversely affected by any of the following and Guarantor waives any common law, equitable, statutory or other rights (including, without limitation, rights to notice, other than notices required in this Guaranty) which Guarantor might otherwise have as a result of or in connection with any of the following:

(i) any increase, modification, alteration or rearrangement of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, the Franchise Agreement or any other document, instrument, contract or understanding between Franchisee and Hyatt or any other parties pertaining to the Guaranteed Obligations, or any failure of Hyatt to notify Guarantor of any such action.

(ii) any adjustment, indulgence, forbearance or compromise that might be granted or given by Hyatt to Franchisee or Guarantor.

(iii) the insolvency, bankruptcy, arrangement, adjustment, composition, liquidation, disability, dissolution or lack of power of Franchisee, Guarantor or any other party at any time liable for the payment or performance of all or part of the Guaranteed Obligations; or any dissolution of Franchisee or Guarantor, or any sale, lease or transfer of any or all of the assets of Franchisee or Guarantor, or any changes in the direct or indirect owners of Franchisee or Guarantor; or any reorganization of Franchisee or Guarantor.

7. **Representations.** Guarantor represents and warrants to Hyatt that (a) if it is a business entity, it is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation, and its execution and delivery of this Guaranty have been duly authorized by all necessary company action; and (b) the undersigned's execution and delivery of, and performance under, this Guaranty do not and will not violate or result in a breach or default

under any applicable law or any agreement to which the undersigned is a party or by which it is bound, and does not require the consent of any third party that has not been obtained.

8. **Expenses.** If Hyatt is required to enforce this Guaranty in a judicial or arbitration proceeding and prevails in such proceeding, Guarantor shall reimburse Hyatt for Hyatt's costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, reasonable accountants', attorneys', attorneys' assistants', arbitrators', and expert witness fees, costs of investigation and proof of facts, court costs, other litigation expenses, and travel and living expenses, whether incurred prior to, in preparation for, or in contemplation of the filing of any such proceeding. If Hyatt is required to engage legal counsel in connection with any failure by the undersigned to comply with this Guaranty, the undersigned shall reimburse Hyatt for any of the above-listed costs and expenses Hyatt incurs even if Hyatt does not commence a judicial or arbitration proceeding.

9. **Effect of Bankruptcy.** In the event that, pursuant to any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, receivership or other debtor relief law, or any judgment, order or decision thereunder, Hyatt must rescind or restore any payment, or any part thereof, received by Hyatt in satisfaction of the Guaranteed Obligations, as set forth herein, any prior release or discharge from the terms of this Guaranty given to Guarantor by Hyatt shall be without effect, and this Guaranty and the Guaranteed Obligations shall remain in full force and effect. It is the intention of Franchisee and Guarantor that Guarantor's obligations hereunder shall not be discharged except by Guarantor's performance of such obligations and then only to the extent of such performance.

10. **Notices.** All notices, consents, approvals and requests required or permitted hereunder shall be given in writing and shall be effective for all purposes (a) at the time delivered by hand; (b) at the time delivered via computer transmission if the sender has confirmation of a successful transmission; (c) one (1) business day after transmission by facsimile or other electronic system if the sender has confirmation of successful transmission; (d) one (1) business day after being placed in the hands of a nationally recognized commercial courier service for next business day delivery; or (e) three (3) business days after placement in the United States Mail by Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows (or at such other address and Person as shall be designated from time to time by any party hereto):

If to Guarantor:

with a copy to:

If to Hyatt:

Hyatt
150 North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
Attention: General Counsel
E-mail: office.of.general.counsel@hyatt.com

11. **Amendments.** This Guaranty may be amended only by an instrument in writing executed by the party or an authorized representative of the party against whom such amendment is sought to be enforced.

12. **Parties Bound; Assignment.** This Guaranty shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors, assigns, heirs and legal representatives; provided, however, that Guarantor shall not, without the prior written consent of Hyatt, assign any of its rights, powers, duties or obligations hereunder.

13. **Counterparts.** To facilitate execution, this Guaranty may be executed in as many counterparts as may be convenient or required. It shall not be necessary that the signature of, or on behalf of, each party, or that the signature of all persons required to bind any party, appear on each counterpart. All counterparts shall collectively constitute a single instrument. It shall not be necessary in making proof of this Guaranty to produce or account for more than a single counterpart containing the respective signatures of, or on behalf of, each of the parties hereto. Any signature page to any counterpart may be detached from such counterpart without impairing the legal effect of the signatures thereon and thereafter attached to another counterpart identical thereto except having attached to it additional signature pages.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has affixed its signature on the same day and year as the Agreement was executed.

GUARANTOR(S)

[ENTITYNAMECAPS]

By: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

EXHIBIT D

STATE ADMINISTRATORS/AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS

D

STATE AGENCIES/AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS

Listed here are the names, addresses and telephone numbers of the state agencies having responsibility for the franchising disclosure/registration laws. We may not yet be registered to sell franchises in any or all of these states.

If a state is not listed, we have not appointed an agent for service of process in that state in connection with the requirements of the franchise laws. There may be states in addition to those listed below in which we have appointed an agent for service of process.

There also may be additional agents appointed in some of the states listed.

CALIFORNIA

Website: www.dfpi.ca.gov

Email: ask.DFPI@dfpi.ca.gov

(for service of process)

Commissioner of Department of Financial
Protection & Innovation

(state franchise administrator)

Department of Financial Protection &
Innovation

Toll Free: 1 (866) 275-2677

Los Angeles

320 West 4th Street, Suite 750
Los Angeles, California 90013-2344
(213) 576-7500

Sacramento

2101 Arena Boulevard
Sacramento, California 95834
(866) 275-2677

San Diego

1455 Frazee Road, Suite 315
San Diego, California 92108
(619) 525-4233

San Francisco

One Sansome Street, Suite 600
San Francisco, California 94104-4428
(415) 972-8559

HAWAII

(for service of process)

Commissioner of Securities
Department of Commerce
and Consumer Affairs
Business Registration Division
335 Merchant Street, Room 203
Honolulu, Hawaii 96813
(808) 586-2722

(for other matters)

Commissioner of Securities
Department of Commerce
and Consumer Affairs
Business Registration Division
335 Merchant Street, Room 205
Honolulu, Hawaii 96813
(808) 586-2722

ILLINOIS

Illinois Attorney General
500 South Second Street
Springfield, Illinois 62706
(217) 782-4465

INDIANA

(for service of process)

Indiana Secretary of State
201 State House
200 West Washington Street
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204
(317) 232-6531

(state agency)

Indiana Secretary of State
Securities Division
Room E-111
302 West Washington Street
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204
(317) 232-6681

MARYLAND

(for service of process)

Maryland Securities Commissioner
at the Office of Attorney General-
Securities Division
200 St. Paul Place
Baltimore, Maryland 21202-2021
(410) 576-6360

(state agency)

Office of the Attorney General-
Securities Division
200 St. Paul Place
Baltimore, Maryland 21202-2021
(410) 576-6360

MICHIGAN

Michigan Attorney General's Office
Consumer Protection Division
Attn: Franchise Section
G. Mennen Williams Building, 1st Floor
525 West Ottawa Street
Lansing, Michigan 48933
(517) 335-7567

MINNESOTA

Commissioner of Commerce
Department of Commerce
85 7th Place East, Suite 280
St. Paul, Minnesota 55101
(651) 539-1500

NEW YORK

(for service of process)

Attention: New York Secretary of State
New York Department of State
One Commerce Plaza,
99 Washington Avenue, 6th Floor
Albany, New York 12231-0001
(518) 473-2492

(Administrator)

NYS Department of Law
Investor Protection Bureau
28 Liberty Street, 21st Floor
New York, New York 10005
(212) 416-8236

NORTH DAKOTA

(for service of process)

Securities Commissioner
North Dakota Securities Department
600 East Boulevard Avenue
State Capitol, 14th Floor, Dept. 414
Bismarck, North Dakota 58505-0510
(701) 328-4712

(state agency)

North Dakota Securities Department
600 East Boulevard Avenue, Suite 414
Bismarck, North Dakota 58505
(701) 328-2910

OREGON

Oregon Division of Financial Regulation
350 Winter Street NE, Suite 410
Salem, Oregon 97301
(503) 378-4140

RHODE ISLAND

Securities Division
Department of Business Regulations
1511 Pontiac Avenue
John O. Pastore Complex-Building 69-1
Cranston, Rhode Island 02920
(401) 462-9500

SOUTH DAKOTA

Division of Insurance
Securities Regulation
124 S. Euclid, Suite 104
Pierre, South Dakota 57501
(605) 773-3563

VIRGINIA

(for service of process)

Clerk, State Corporation Commission
1300 East Main Street
First Floor
Richmond, Virginia 23219
(804) 371-9733

(for other matters)

State Corporation Commission
Division of Securities and Retail Franchising
Tyler Building, 9th Floor
1300 East Main Street
Richmond, Virginia 23219
(804) 371-9051

WASHINGTON

(for service of process)

Director Department of Financial Institutions
Securities Division
150 Israel Road SW
Tumwater, Washington 98501
(360) 902-8760

(for other matters)

Department of Financial Institutions
Securities Division
P. O. Box 41200
Olympia, Washington 98504-1200
(360) 902-8760

WISCONSIN

(for service of process)

Administrator, Division of Securities
Department of Financial Institutions
4822 Madison Yards Way, North Tower
Madison, Wisconsin 53705
(608) 266-2139

(state administrator)

Division of Securities
Department of Financial Institutions
4822 Madison Yards Way, North Tower
Madison, Wisconsin 53705
(608) 266-9555

EXHIBIT E
SYSTEM STANDARDS TABLE OF CONTENTS

HYATT PLACE SYSTEM STANDARDS TABLE OF CONTENTS (3614 Total Pages)

• Owner / Operator / Hotel Communications	
○ Owner/Operator/Hotel Communications	(6 Pages*)
○ Global Weekly Communication (GWC)	(2 Pages)
○ Hyatt Pro Americas Franchise Training Policy	(3 Pages)
○ Orientation – Americas	(3 Pages)
○ Commercial Services Advanced User Course	(1 Page)
○ Monthly Update Webinars	(10 Pages*)
○ Commercial Services Owner/Operator Quarterly Update Webinars	(347 Pages)
○ Focused Improvement Policy (FIP) Office Hours	(16 Pages*)
○ Hyatt Leadership Awards Americas Franchise 2023	(3 Pages)
○ Hyatt Leadership Awards Americas Franchise 2024	(3 Pages)
○ Hyatt Pro Americas Franchise Training Policy	(5 Pages)
○ EAME Operator and GM Update	(2 Pages)
• Portfolio Health Tier Guides	
○ Portfolio Health Tiers	(7 Pages)
○ Portfolio Health Tier – Risk	(8 Pages)
○ Portfolio Health Tier – Bronze	(8 Pages)
○ Portfolio Health Tier – Silver	(8 Pages)
○ Portfolio Health Tier – Gold	(8 Pages)
○ Portfolio Health Tier – Platinum	(6 Pages)
• Brand Standards	
○ Brand Experience Guides (BEGs)	(1 Page)
○ Focused Improvement Policy (FIP)	(18 Pages)
○ Brand Protection Program (BPP)	(5 Pages)
○ Renovations Select Service Americas	(36 Pages)
○ Global Quality Assurance Program	(8 Pages)
○ Hyatt Email Policy & Signature Brand Standards	(18 Pages)
○ Best Rate Guarantee (BRG)	(29 Pages)
○ Reviews and Survey Guidelines	(7 Pages)
○ Express Housekeeping - Select Service Americas	(77 Pages*)
○ Cyber Security Risk Management Framework (Franchise)	(17 Pages)
○ Franchise and License Agreement Insurance Provision/Requirements	(31 Pages)
○ Guest Relocation Policy	(5 Pages)
○ Hyatt Technical Standards	(2 Pages)
○ General Manager Vacancy Policy	(4 Pages)
○ Global Privacy Program – Franchise	(22 Pages)
○ Human Trafficking Training – Franchise	(10 Pages)
• Hyatt Identity, Access, and Contacts	
○ Hyatt User Management (HUM)	(45 Pages*)
○ Password Resetting (SSPR/MFA)	(20 Pages*)
○ Contact Finder - Accessing & Updating Hotel Contacts	(12 Pages*)

o	Systems Reference Guide - How Do I Request Access to Hyatt's Systems?	(28 Pages)
o	Distribution Groups	(17 Pages)
o	Citrix.....	(2 Pages)
•	Accounting	
o	Systems Reference Guide - How Do I Request Access to Hyatt's Systems?.....	(28 Pages)
o	Sertifi eAuthorize for Opera	(78 Pages)
o	Banking Information Set Up and Update.....	(7 Pages)
o	Budget Guidance.....	(2 Pages)
o	EBS Production - Reference Materials	(54 Pages)
o	Franchise Fee True Up Process.....	(2 Pages)
o	Franchise Invoices on Planning Analysis Website (PAW)	(18 Pages*)
o	Gift Cards & Certificates	(8 Pages)
o	Guest Fees.....	(6 Pages)
o	NACA - National Account Credit Approval Program	(9 Pages)
o	Onyx - Travel Agent Commissions	(65 Pages)
o	Planning and Analysis Website (PAW).....	(4 Pages)
o	World of Hyatt Accounting	(4 Pages)
•	Global Care & Cleanliness Commitment	
o	GBAC STAR Facility Accreditation (Optional).....	(125 Pages)
o	Hygiene & Wellbeing Leader Certification	(41 Pages)
•	Commercial Services	
o	Commercial Services Resources.....	(4 Pages)
o	Systems Reference Guide - How Do I Request Access to Hyatt's Systems?.....	(28 Pages)
o	Hyatt PrO Rollout.....	(155 Pages)
o	Hyatt PrO Americas Franchise Training Policy.....	(5 Pages)
o	Performance Health Evaluation Template (PHE).....	(2 Pages)
o	Hyatt's Global Digital Content & Website Content Updates.....	(30 Pages)
o	Guest Fees.....	(6 Pages)
o	Upselling.....	(3 Pages)
•	Corporate Responsibility	
o	Sustainability at Hyatt.....	(7 Pages)
o	EcoTrack	(10 Pages)
o	RiseHY Resources	(3 Pages)
o	Peloton.....	(43 Pages*)
•	Food & Beverage - Select Service	
o	Hyatt Place Core Food & Beverage Standards	(5 Pages)
o	Beverage Program.....	(36 Pages)
o	Digital Menu.....	(44 Pages)
•	Franchise Colleague Perks	
o	Colleague Discount Room Availability	(11 Pages)
o	Headspace for Work	(57 Pages)
•	Franchise Recruiting Tools	
o	Posting Jobs to Hyatt's Career Site	(9 Pages)

o	Hiring & Recruiting.....	(58 Pages)
o	People Playbook Franchise Edition	(4 Pages)
o	LinkedIn Recruiter.....	(5 Pages)
•	Guest/Hotel Technology	
o	Guest/Hotel Technology Product Team.....	(3 Pages)
o	Apple Wallet	(190 Pages)
o	Digital Key (BLE Bluetooth based)	(28 Pages)
o	Hyatt In Room Entertainment Featuring Staycast.....	(64 Pages)
o	Hyatt Digital Compendium.....	(18 Pages)
o	Guest Internet/ High Speed Internet Access (HSIA).....	(22 Pages)
o	Child Sexual Abuse Materials (CSAM) DNSFilter Initiative.....	(3 Pages)
o	Electric Vehicle Charging.....	(1 Page)
•	Job Training	
o	Revenue Management Learning Resources – Global.....	(55 Pages)
o	Service Skills.....	(144 Pages)
o	Global Privacy Program – Franchise.....	(22 Pages)
o	Human Trafficking Training – Franchise.....	(10 Pages)
o	General Manager.....	(5 Pages)
o	Assistant General Manager	(55 Pages)
o	Director of Operations & Rooms.....	(55 Pages)
o	Director of Housekeeping	(36 Pages)
o	Director of Engineering.....	(36 Pages)
o	Front Office Manager.....	(66 Pages)
o	Food & Beverage.....	(41 Pages)
o	Commercial Services Resources.....	(4 Pages)
o	Minisites.....	(20 Pages)
o	Standard Operational Learning Curriculum.....	(20 Pages)
•	Operational Systems	
o	Systems Reference Guide - How Do I Request Access to Hyatt's Systems?	(28 Pages)
o	Guest Experience Applications, Resources, and Support.....	(5 Pages)
o	Inspection Program Applications & Resources.....	(15 Pages)
o	Property Management & Reservation Systems.....	(8 Pages)
o	BOB.....	(15 Pages)
o	Colleague Advantage	(24 Pages)
o	E-Tipping Resources.....	(36 Pages)
o	Food & Beverage Systems.....	(2 Pages)
o	Glasswing.....	(50 Pages)
o	Reserve	(31 Pages)
•	People & Learning	
o	My Learning.....	(59 Pages)
o	Colleague Engagement Resources.....	(7 Pages)
•	Openings & Transitions	
o	Acquisitions.....	(16 Pages)

○ Brand Training Guidance and Fees.....	(8 Pages)
○ Pre-Opening Toolkit Hyatt Place.....	(275 Pages)
○ Training Resources.....	(13 Pages)
○ Transitions.....	(45 Pages)
● Purchasing	
○ Contacts – Purchasing Franchise.....	(6 Pages)
○ Avendra for Franchise.....	(3 Pages)
○ Purchasing - Select Service Franchise.....	(31 Pages)
○ Hyatt Branded Merchandise (swag).....	(3 Pages)
● Security / Emergency	
○ Special Situations Management - Emergency Notification	(8 Pages*)
○ Hotel Systems Emergency Evacuation Procedures	(10 Pages)
○ Risk Portal - Incident Intake.....	(22 Pages)
● World of Hyatt	
○ In-Hotel Benefit SOP's.....	(157 Pages)
○ World of Hyatt Department Pages.....	(3 Pages)

EXHIBIT F
CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT

F

CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT

This CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made as of this _____ day of _____, _____, by and between _____, a[n] _____, whose address is _____ ("Company") and HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, whose address is 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606 ("Hyatt"). Hyatt and/or Company may each also be referred to herein as a "party" or collectively as the "parties" and a party which is disclosing Confidential Information may be referred to herein as the "disclosing party" and the party which is receiving Confidential Information may be referred to herein as the "receiving party."

RECITALS

A. Company and Hyatt are discussing mutual business opportunities relating to the possible transaction (the "Transaction") with respect to the property commonly known as _____ (the "Property") and the hotel business conducted thereon (the "Business") and Company and Hyatt desire to share certain Confidential Information (as defined herein) with each other, subject to the terms contained herein.

B. Hyatt and Company wish to enter into this Agreement to confirm that the Confidential Information will be treated as confidential in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, and to provide the parties hereto with certain rights and remedies in connection with the violation of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, and agreements contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

1. Confidential Information. "Confidential Information" shall mean the information provided by either party to the other with respect to the Property and Business including, but not limited to, the following: (a) management and operational information, forecasts, and projections; (b) financing information; (c) proprietary know-how, data, documents, designs, photographs, plans, graphs, drawings, specifications, pro forma models, reports, contracts, customer lists, pricing information, studies, findings, and other ideas; (d) entity information relating to the disclosing party including, without limitation, any joint venture agreement, limited liability company agreement or similar arrangements; (e) documents relating to real property interests including, but not limited to, environmental reports and audits; (f) information that should be treated as confidential under the circumstances surrounding its disclosure, including without limitation, proprietary information of Hyatt; (g) any information of Hyatt clearly identified as a "Hyatt Trade Secret"; and (h) any discussion between Hyatt and the Company with respect to any of the foregoing, the Property, the Business, the possible business relationship, and this Agreement in general, including without limitation, the fact that any such discussions are taking place or any business relationship is being discussed, and the content and terms thereof.

2. Exclusions. The term Confidential Information does not include information which (A) was or becomes generally available to the public other than as a result, directly or indirectly, of any disclosure by the receiving party hereunder, or (B) was or becomes available to the receiving party on a non-confidential basis from a source other than the disclosing party or its employees, agent or representatives, provided that such source is not, to the receiving party's knowledge, bound by a confidentiality agreement or otherwise prohibited from transmitting the information to the receiving party by contractual, legal or fiduciary obligations, (C) was within the possession of the receiving party prior to its being furnished to the receiving party by the disclosing party, or (D) information which is incorporated into analyses, studies or internal reports, provided, however, such information, studies,

analyses or reports shall be kept confidential in accordance with the receiving party's policies and procedures it uses to protect and safeguard its own client confidential information.

3. Covenants Regarding Confidential Information. The receiving party shall hold all Confidential Information received in confidence and take all necessary steps to keep the Confidential Information confidential with its then current protocols in order to maintain the confidential nature of the Confidential Information in accordance with the terms hereof. The receiving party may only use Confidential Information for evaluation purposes with respect to the Property and the Business in relationship to the Transaction and may not disclose the Confidential Information to any third party other than to its affiliates, related companies, partners, employees, directors, officers, legal counsel, accountants, prospective lenders, consultants, advisors, principals, and existing investors (collectively, the "Representatives") who have a need to know Confidential Information, provided that the party which shares the Confidential Information with its Representatives shall inform all such Representatives to maintain the confidentiality of the Confidential Information. Receiving party shall be liable for a breach of this Agreement by its Representatives; provided, however, the receiving party shall not be responsible for any breach of this Agreement by a Representative that has executed a separate confidentiality agreement with the disclosing party with respect to the Transaction.

4. Ownership of Confidential Information. All Confidential Information disclosed by a disclosing party, directly or indirectly, shall remain the exclusive property of such party. Further, the disclosing party does not grant any license or rights to any Confidential Information, trademark, trade name or trade secret to the other party.

5. No Representation or Warranty. The disclosing party does not (a) make any guarantee, warranty or representation whatsoever, expressed or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of the Confidential Information, and (b) have any liability whatsoever to the receiving party relating to or resulting from the use of the Confidential Information or any errors therein or omissions therefrom. The receiving party agrees that it is not entitled to rely on the accuracy or completeness of any Confidential Information.

6. Destruction of Confidential Information by Company. Each of the parties shall immediately destroy all Confidential Information and all copies or summaries of Confidential Information at the earlier of (a) the termination of discussions between Company and Hyatt regarding the Project or (b) on the written request of the disclosing party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, receiving party and its Representatives may retain one copy of Confidential Information as may be required by (i) law, regulation or legal process, (ii) internal compliance or document retention policies, or (iii) with respect to digital media, such return or destruction is not practically feasible. Any Confidential Information so retained shall kept confidential in accordance with such party's policies and procedures it uses to protect and safeguard its own client confidential information. The receiving party shall also provide to the disclosing party a certification executed by a duly authorized officer who has supervised compliance with the foregoing indicating that the requirements of this provision have been satisfied in full.

7. Term. Except as otherwise set forth herein, the obligations set forth in this Agreement shall terminate upon the execution of definitive agreements between the parties with respect to the Transaction or two (2) years from the date of this Agreement, whichever occurs first; *provided, however*, that notwithstanding the termination of this Agreement, the confidentiality obligations of the Company with respect to a Hyatt Trade Secret shall continue until the later of (i) five (5) years from the date of this Agreement, and (ii) until such time that Hyatt has provided notice that the Hyatt Trade Secret is no longer deemed by Hyatt to be a trade secret.

8. Indemnity. Company acknowledges and agrees that it presented the Property and Business to Hyatt and initiated all discussions with Hyatt surrounding the Property and Business. Company agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Hyatt for, from and against any and all Claims. For purposes of this Agreement, "Claims" shall mean any and all claims, demands, actions, penalties, suits and liabilities, in connection with, arising from, or for

any reason related to (i) negotiations relating to the Property or Business in violation of any existing management or similar agreement relating to the branding, operation or use of the Property (the “Existing Agreements”) and/or (ii) the termination of the Existing Agreements, as a result of any such negotiations.]

9. Remedies and Waiver. The parties hereby acknowledge the importance of complying with the provisions of this Agreement. Therefore, the parties agree that money damages, which the parties agree would be substantial, would not be a sufficient remedy for any breach of this Agreement, and a party shall be entitled, in addition to money damages, to specific performance and injunctive relief and any other appropriate equitable remedies for any such breach. The party at fault agrees not to oppose the granting of equitable relief on grounds that damages are sufficient, and agrees not to require that the other party prove that damages are insufficient in order to obtain equitable relief or the posting of a bond. The party at fault agrees to waive, and to cause its Representatives to waive, any requirement for the securing or posting of any bond in connection with such remedy. Such remedies shall not be deemed to be the exclusive remedies for a breach of this Agreement, but shall be in addition to all other remedies available at law or in equity to a party. **THE PARTIES WAIVE THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY SUCH DISPUTE.** The prevailing party in any dispute regarding the enforcement of this Agreement shall be entitled to reasonable legal fees and expenses, which such prevailing party incurred in connection with such enforcement.

10. Compulsion by Law. If a receiving party is requested or required (by oral questions, interrogations, requests for information or documents, subpoena, civil investigative demand or similar process) to disclose any Confidential Information, the receiving party shall, to the extent legally permissible, provide the disclosing party with immediate notice of such request(s) so that the disclosing party may seek an appropriate protective order and/or waive compliance with the provisions of this Agreement. The receiving party agrees to cooperate with the disclosing party, at the disclosing party’s expense, in obtaining such a protective order. If the receiving party does not obtain such protective order or other remedy, the receiving party agrees to furnish only that portion of the Confidential Information which, in the opinion of the receiving party’s counsel, the receiving party is legally compelled to disclose and the receiving party agrees to use its reasonable efforts to obtain assurance that, to the extent possible, confidential treatment will be accorded the Confidential Information.

11. Relationship. Nothing herein contained shall be construed to create an agency, joint venture, partnership or other form of business association between Hyatt, Company, and their respective affiliates, related companies, partners, employees, directors, officers, legal counsel, consultants or accountants hereto. By receiving the Confidential Information, neither party nor their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, prospective lenders, consultants, or principals are under any obligation to negotiate in respect of a transaction with respect to the Property or Business, the parties will not be bound by any verbal agreement, and either party may terminate at any time discussions with the other party, its officers, directors, employees, agents, prospective lenders or principals, at its sole and absolute discretion.

12. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which, when taken together, shall be deemed one agreement, but no counterpart shall be binding unless an identical counterpart shall have been executed and delivered by each of the other parties hereto. Documents executed, scanned and transmitted electronically in PDF format and/or electronic signatures shall be deemed original signatures for purposes of this Agreement and all matters related thereto, with such scanned and electronic signatures having the same legal effect as original signatures.

13. Governing Laws. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York and the laws of the United States applicable therein.

14. Jurisdiction. For the purposes of all legal proceedings, this Agreement will be deemed to have been performed in the State of New York and the courts of the State of New York will have jurisdiction to entertain

any action arising under this Agreement. The parties hereby attorn to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of New York.

15. Notice. Any notice required under this Agreement to be given by either party to the other party shall be in writing in the English language. Any required notice shall be served by sending the same (a) via personal delivery thereof to, and actual receipt by, the other party; (b) upon facsimile or electronic mail transmission to the other party, at its facsimile number or Email address as set forth below, provided such delivery is acknowledged by the recipient confirming such receipt with respect to electronic mail transmission and provided the facsimile copy sent by the sender provides an automatic notation confirming the delivery thereof; (c) on the next business day following delivery by the sender to a recognized international courier service; or (d) three (3) business days following deposit in the United States mail to the address of the other party stated in this Agreement. All notices delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall be addressed to the parties as follows (or to such other address and to the attention of such persons as the parties may designate by like notice hereunder):

If to Company:

Attn: _____
Fax: _____
Email: _____

If to Hyatt:

Hyatt Corporation
150 North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, IL 60606
Attn: _____
Fax: _____
Email: _____

with a copy to:

Hyatt Corporation
150 North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, IL 60606
Attn: General Counsel
Fax: 312-780-5284
Email: office.of.general.counsel@hyatt.com

16. Interpretation. Wherever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such a manner as to be valid under applicable law, but, if any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid or prohibited thereunder, such invalidity or prohibition shall be construed as if such invalid or prohibited provision had not been inserted herein and shall not affect the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

17. Miscellaneous. The terms set out in this Agreement may be modified only in writing signed by both parties. No waiver is effective unless in writing and signed by the waiving party. No waiver is deemed a waiver of any future performance. This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties with respect to the Confidential Information and shall be binding upon each of the parties, and their respective employees, affiliates, third-party agents, successors, and assigns.

[Signatures on the following page]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year first above written.

HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

EXHIBIT G

LIST OF ~~HYATT PLACE HOTEL~~ FRANCHISEES AS OF DECEMBER 31, ~~2023~~2024

G

Hyatt Place ~~2024-2025~~2025 FDD
~~ACTIVE\1609045226.2~~
1615720939.4

LIST OF CURRENT FRANCHISEES
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2024

Alabama

W 2007 Equity Inns Realty, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Birmingham/Hoover
2980 John Hawkins Parkway
Hoover, Alabama 35244
205.988.8444

PR MIG Huntsville OPCO, LLC
Hyatt Place Huntsville/Research Park
6860 Governors Way
Huntsville, Alabama 35806
256.666.9660

Yedla Management Company Inc.
Hyatt Place Huntsville/Stadium Commons
3322 South Memorial Parkway
Huntsville, Alabama 35801
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Alaska

Midtown Hotel Investors, LLC
Hyatt Place Anchorage
101 West Tudor Road
Anchorage, Alaska 99503
907.562.1235

Fairbanks Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Fairbanks
400 Merhar Avenue
Fairbanks, Alaska 99701
907.328.1100

Arizona

DAB of Chandler AZ, LLC
Hyatt Place Phoenix/Chandler-Fashion Center
3535 West Chandler Boulevard
Chandler, Arizona 85226
480.812.9600

Krista R Corporation
Hyatt Place Flagstaff
397 South Malpais Lane
Flagstaff, Arizona 86001
928.433.6930

HCW GH, LLC
Hyatt Place Phoenix/Gilbert
3275 South Market Street
Gilbert, Arizona 85297
480.899.5900

Summit Hotel TRS 133, LLC
Hyatt Place Phoenix/Mesa
1422 West Bass Pro Drive
Mesa, Arizona 85201
480.969.8200

Larkspur Development L.P.
Hyatt Place Page/Lake Powell
1126 North Navajo Drive
Page, Arizona 86040
928.212.2200

AHP Real 3 Platform III Phoenix HP Tenant LLC
Hyatt Place Phoenix North
10838 North 25th Avenue
Phoenix, Arizona 85029
602.997.8800

PHX Investment Properties, LLC
Hyatt Place Phoenix Downtown
150 West Adams Street
Phoenix, Arizona 85003
602.388.4888

KRE HIP HPHH Scottsdale Owner LLC
Hyatt Place North Scottsdale
18513 North Scottsdale Road
Scottsdale, Arizona 85255
480.590.8100

Malon Hotels, LLC
Hyatt Place Scottsdale/Odysea in the Desert
8400 North Dobson Road
Scottsdale, Arizona 85256
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Summit Hotel TRS 027, LLC
Hyatt Place Scottsdale/Old Town
7300 East 3rd Avenue
Scottsdale, Arizona 85251
480.423.9944

Zenith Asset Company, LLC
Hyatt Place Scottsdale/Pima Road
7330 North Pima Road
Scottsdale, Arizona 85258
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Apple Nine Hospitality Management, Inc.
Hyatt Place Tempe
601 East 6th Street
Tempe, Arizona 85281
480.207.1578

MSDS MGT.,INC.
Hyatt Place Tucson Airport
6885 South Tucson Boulevard
Tucson, Arizona 85756
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Zac Tucson, LLC
Hyatt Place Tucson Central
1375 West Grant Road
Tucson, Arizona 85745
520.206.0602

Arkansas

B&T Arkansas Hotels II, LLC
Hyatt Place Fayetteville
348 East Van Asche Drive
Fayetteville, Arkansas 72703
479.601.8450

Northern Arkansas Hotel & Convention Center, LLC
Hyatt Place Jonesboro
U.S. Highway 63/Browns Lane Access Road
Jonesboro, Arkansas 72401
Not open as of December 31, 2024

4610 Rogers Hotel Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Rogers/Bentonville
4610 West Walnut Street
Rogers, Arkansas 72756
479.633.8555

California

HP Anaheim, LP
Hyatt Place Anaheim
2035 South Harbor Boulevard
Anaheim, California 92802
714.750.4000

Full Moon Hospitality, L.P.
Hyatt Place Bakersfield
310 Coffee Road
Bakersfield, California 93311
661.885.6300

KFK Hospitality, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Buellton
McMurray Road and Valley Vineyard Circle
Buellton, California 93427
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Inn-Come Hotels LLC
Hyatt Place Clovis
Clovis Avenue and Spruce Avenue
Clovis, California 93611
Not open as of December 31, 2024

BREIT Davis TRS, LLC
Hyatt Place UC Davis
173 Old Davis Road Extension
Davis, California 95616
530.756.9500

DMPW, LLC
Hyatt Place Delano
1200 Garzoli Avenue
Delano, California 93215
661.454.6500

Dublin Hwang, LLC
Hyatt Place Dublin/Pleasanton
4950 Hacienda Drive
Dublin, California 94568
925.828.9006

Welcome LAX LLC
Hyatt Place Los Angeles/LAX/El Segundo
750 North Nash Street
El Segundo, California 90245
310.322.2880

Holiday Garden Ev Corp.
Hyatt Place Emeryville
5700 Bay Street
Emeryville, California 94608
510.285.9232

APRR Management, LLC
Hyatt Place Fairfield
Intersection of North Texas Street and Interstate 80
Fairfield, California 94533
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Fresno Lodging Inc.
Hyatt Place Fresno
7333 North Fresno Street
Fresno, California 93710
559.899.0400

Apex Hospitality Inc.
Hyatt Place Gilroy
Intersection of 9th Street and Chestnut Street
Gilroy, California 95020
Not open as of December 31, 2024

225 GL Hotel Holding, LLC
Hyatt Place Glendale/Los Angeles
225 West Wilson Avenue
Glendale, California 91203
747.272.1710

Mahabal Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place Hayward
1164 West A Street
Hayward, California 94541
Not open as of December 31, 2024

BK Hotel LLC
Hyatt Place Lathrop
16306 Golden Valley Parkway
Lathrop, California 95330
Not open as of December 31, 2024

5959 LLC
Hyatt Place LAX/Century Boulevard
5959 West Century Boulevard
Los Angeles, California 90045
310.258.9000

ACAP South Park Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place Los Angeles Downtown
1155 South Olive Street
Los Angeles, California 90015
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Yosemite Mariposa Hotel LLC
Hyatt Place Mariposa/Yosemite
Intersection of State Highway 49 & Joe Howard Street
Mariposa, California 95338
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Moreno Hospitality Group LLC
Hyatt Place Moreno Valley
22500 Town Circle
Moreno Valley, California 95553
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Shivam Real Estate, LLC
Hyatt Place Newark/ Silicon Valley
5600 John Muir Drive
Newark, California 94560
510.771.5000

Navin, LLC
Hyatt Place Novato
7701 Redwood Boulevard
Novato, California 94945
Not open as of December 31, 2024

HPO, L.P.
Hyatt Place Ontario/Rancho Cucamonga
4760 East Mills Circle
Ontario, California 91764
909.980.2200

Ontario H Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place Ontario Airport
2800 East Inland Empire Boulevard
Ontario, California 91764
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Paseo Pasadena Hotel Investment, LLC
Hyatt Place Pasadena
399 East Green Street
Pasadena, California 91101
626.788.9108

Zen Paso Robles, LLC
Hyatt Place Paso Robles
1955 Theater Drive
Paso Robles, California 93446
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Phillips Ranch Business Center, LLC
Hyatt Place Pomona
55 Rancho Camino Drive
Pomona, California 91766
Not open as of December 31, 2024

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Sacramento/Rancho Cordova
10744 Gold Center Drive
Rancho Cordova, California 95670
916.635.4799

RUI XIN, LLC
Hyatt Place Riverside/Downtown
3500 Market Street
Riverside, California 92501
951.321.3500

Nella Hotels, LLC
Hyatt Place Sacramento/Roseville
220 Conference Center Drive
Roseville, California 95678
916.781.6400

G B Commercial, LLC
Hyatt Place Sacramento Airport International Airport
4850 Duckhorn Drive
Sacramento, California 95834
916.680.9000

Sitaram Enterprises, Inc.
Hyatt Place San Carlos
26 El Camino Real
San Carlos, California 94070
650.226.5829

T180 SD Owner, LLC
Hyatt Place San Diego Downtown
180 Broadway
San Diego, California 92101
Not open as of December 31, 2024

DC San Francisco 1 Operations, LLC
Hyatt Place San Francisco Downtown
701 3rd Street
San Francisco, California 94107
415.767.2000

82 SJ Hotel Holding, LLC
Hyatt Place San Jose Airport
82 Karina Court
San Jose, California 95131
669.342.0007

BREIT San Jose TRS, LLC
Hyatt Place San Jose Downtown
282 Almaden Boulevard
San Jose, California 95113
408.998.0400

WSC Hotel LLC
Hyatt Place San Jose West
1470 West San Carlos Street
San Jose, California 95126
Not open as of December 31, 2024

State Street Hospitality, Inc.
Hyatt Place Santa Barbara
4111 State Street
Santa Barbara, California 93110
805.681.1585

California Coastal Resorts, LLC
Hyatt Place Santa Cruz
407 Broadway Street
Santa Cruz, California 95060
831.226.2300

Royal Oak Development Company, LLC
Hyatt Place Sonoma Wine Country
3750 North Laughlin Road
Santa Rosa, California 95403
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Silicon Valley Hotels, LLC
Hyatt Place Sunnyvale
590 West El Camino Real
Sunnyvale, California 94085
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Trinidad Rancheria Economic Development Corporation
Hyatt Place Trinidad/Redwoods
1 Cher-Ae Lane
Trinidad, California 95570
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Venture Hotel, Inc.
Hyatt Place Turlock
3501 West Monte Vista Avenue
Turlock, California 95383
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Sunrise Palace, Inc.
Hyatt Place Vacaville
620 Orange Drive
Vacaville, California 95678
707.469.2323

Vista Hotel Venture LLC
Hyatt Place San Diego/Vista-Carlsbad
2645 South Melrose Drive
Vista, California 92081
760.814.8879

Colorado

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Denver Airport
16250 East 40th Avenue
Aurora, Colorado 80011
303.371.0700

SREIT HP Boulder Opco, L.L.C
Hyatt Place Boulder/Pearl Street
2280 Junction Place
Boulder, Colorado 80301
303.442.0160

A&A Enterprise of Colorado Springs, Inc.
Hyatt Place Colorado Springs Downtown
201 East Kiowa Street
Colorado Springs, Colorado 80903
719.635.9663

Denver Downtown Hotel Partners, LLC
Hyatt Place Denver Downtown
440 14th Street
Denver, Colorado 80202
303.893.2900

Pena MH, LLC
Hyatt Place Denver/Pena Station
6110 North Panasonic Way
Denver, Colorado 80249
720.405.4321

Summit Hotel TRS 024, LLC
Hyatt Place Denver Tech Center
8300 East Crescent Parkway
Englewood, Colorado 80111
303.804.0700

Chatham Cherry Creek HP Leaseco LLC
Hyatt Place Denver/Cherry Creek
4150 East Mississippi Avenue
Glendale, Colorado 80246
303.782.9300

RCP Keystone Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place Keystone
23044 US Route 6
Keystone, Colorado 80435
970.455.8631

Summit Hotel TRS 014, LLC
Hyatt Place Denver South/Park Meadows
9030 East Westview Road
Lone Tree, Colorado 80124
303.662.8500

Pacific Northwest Petroleum Inc.
Hyatt Place Denver/Westminster
6865 West 103rd Avenue
Westminster, Colorado 80021
303.464.1997

Connecticut

Empyrean Hospitality, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Milford
190 Old Gate Lane
Milford, Connecticut 06460
203.877.9800

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Mystic
224 Greenmanville Avenue
Mystic, Connecticut 06355
860.536.9997

Hitalk Hotels LLC
Hyatt Place Mohegan Sun
2049 Norwich New London Turnpike
Uncasville, Connecticut 06382
860.383.1234

Delaware

Ruddertowne Hotel, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Dewey Beach
1301 Coastal Highway
Dewey Beach, Delaware 19971
302.864.9100

96 East Main Street Associates, LLC
Hyatt Place Newark / Main Street
94 East Main Street, Building 1000
Newark, Delaware 19711
302.266.2000

Riverfront Hotel LLC
Hyatt Place Wilmington Riverfront
760 Justison Street
Wilmington, DE 19801
302.803.5888

District of Columbia

400 E Street SW, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Washington D.C./National Mall
400 East Street SW
Washington, District of Columbia 20024
202.803.6110

2121 M Street, LLC
Hyatt Place Washington D.C./Georgetown/West End
2121 M Street NW
Washington, District of Columbia 20037
202.838.2222

ESP1522K LLC
Hyatt Place Washington D.C./White House
1522 K Street Northwest
Washington, District of Columbia 20005
202.830.1900

Excel Holdings 10 LLC
Hyatt Place Washington D.C./U.S. Capitol
33 New York Avenue Northeast
Washington, District of Columbia 20002
202.289.5599

Florida

DK Palmetto LLC
Hyatt Place Boca Raton
100 East Palmetto Park Road
Boca Raton, Florida 33432
561.672.7819

Cornerstone Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place Ft. Lauderdale/Coral Springs
Southwest quadrant of Northwest 94th Avenue and West Sample Road
Coral Springs, Florida 33065
Not open as of December 31, 2024

KD Dania Beach LLC
Hyatt Place Ft. Lauderdale Cruise Port and Convention Center
91 Southwest 18th Avenue
Dania Beach, Florida 33004
954.922.0436

ASA Lodging, LLC
Hyatt Place Daytona Beach Oceanfront
3161 South Atlantic Avenue
Daytona Beach Shores, Florida 32118
386.944.2010

KCMCL Pineapple Grove, LLC
Hyatt Place Delray Beach
104 Northeast 2nd Avenue
Delray Beach, Florida 33444
561.330.3530

Grand Boulevard West, LLC
Hyatt Place Sandestin at Grand Boulevard
325 Grand Boulevard
Destin/Miramar Beach, Florida 32550
850.650.7611

KCMCL Coconut Point LLC
Hyatt Place Coconut Point
23120 Via Villagio
Estero, Florida 33928
239.495.1395

KCMCL FLL, LLC
Hyatt Place Ft. Lauderdale/17th Street Convention Center
1851 Southeast 10th Avenue (Harbor Shops Drive West)
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33316
954.763.7670

OG Ft Myers HP, LLC.
Hyatt Place Fort Myers at the Forum
2600 Champion Ring Road
Fort Myers, Florida 33905
239.418.1844

Apple Nine Florida Services, Inc.
Hyatt Place Jacksonville Airport
14565 Duval Road
Jacksonville, Florida 32218
904.741.4184

KRE HIP HP Jacksonville Owner LLC
Hyatt Place Jacksonville/St. Johns Town Center
4742 Town Center Parkway
Jacksonville, Florida 32246
904.641.7200

Myra Hotel LLC
Hyatt Place Lake Mary/Orlando North
1255 South International Parkway
Lake Mary, Florida 32746
407.995.5555

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Lakeland Center
525 West Orange Street
Lakeland, Florida 33815
863.413.1122

LWR Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place Sarasota/Lakewood Ranch
6021 Exchange Way
Lakewood Ranch, Florida 34202
941.748.3100

Impact Wesley Chapel, LLC
Hyatt Place Tampa/Wesley Chapel
26000 Sierra Center Boulevard
Lutz, Florida 33559
813.803.5600

Melbourne Airport One, LLC
Hyatt Place Melbourne Airport, FL
747 Air Terminal Parkway
Melbourne, Florida 32901
321.372.1785

ARC Hospitality Portfolio I Misc TRS, LLC
Hyatt Place Miami Airport West/Doral
3655 Northwest 82nd Avenue
Miami, Florida 33166
305.718.8292

M2 Miami Airport Tenant LLC
Hyatt Place Miami Airport East
3549 NW 42nd Avenue
Miami, Florida 33142
305.667.1003

Lagoon Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place New Smyrna Beach
429 East 3rd Avenue
New Smyrna Beach, Florida 32169
Not open as of December 31, 2024

M4 Orlando Tenant LLC
Hyatt Place Orlando Lake Buena Vista
8688 Palm Parkway
Orlando, Florida 32836
407.778.5500

Quadrangle Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Orlando East/UCF
Southeast corner of Quadrangle Boulevard and High Tech Avenue
Orlando, Florida 32817
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Summit Hotel TRS 048, LLC
Hyatt Place Orlando/I-Drive/Convention Center
8741 International Drive
Orlando, Florida 32819
407.370.4720

Summit Hotel TRS 051, LLC
Hyatt Place Orlando across from Universal
5976 Caravan Court
Orlando, Florida 32819
407.351.0627

SLF V HOLDCO, LLC
Hyatt Place Melbourne/Palm Bay
1435 Sportsman Lane NE
Palm Bay, Florida 32905
321.332.0212

Palmetto Hospitality of PCB, LLC
Hyatt Place Panama City Beach / Beachfront
15727 Front Beach Road
Panama City Beach, Florida 32413
850.234.6100

Sandspur Development, LLC
Hyatt Place Pensacola Airport
161 Airport Lane
Pensacola, Florida 32504
850.483.5599

SSN Plantation, LLC
Hyatt Place Fort Lauderdale/Plantation
8530 West Broward Boulevard
Plantation, Florida 33324
954.370.2220

Portview Place, LLC
Hyatt Place Cape Canaveral
9009 Astronaut Boulevard
Port Canaveral, Florida 32920
Not open as of December 31, 2024

SAH Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place Sarasota/Bradenton Airport
950 University Parkway
Sarasota, Florida 34234
941.554.5800

R&R Hotels, LLC
Hyatt Place St. Augustine/Vilano Beach
117 Vilano Road
St. Augustine, Florida 32084
904.295.1111

DK ST. Petersburg LLC
Hyatt Place St. Petersburg
25 2nd Street North
St. Petersburg, Florida 33701
727.220.0950

Indian Trace Hotel Investment 18 LLC
Hyatt Place Weston/Sunrise
1338 SW 160th Avenue
Sunrise, Florida
Not open as of December 31, 2024

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Tampa Busch Gardens
11408 North 30th Street
Tampa, Florida 33612
813.979.1922

Urban Tampa DB Hotel Owner, LLC
Hyatt Place Tampa Downtown
325 North Florida Avenue
Tampa, Florida 33602
813.616.1234

Westshore Lodging, LLC
Hyatt Place Tampa Airport/Westshore
4811 West Main Street
Tampa, Florida 33607
813.282.1037

BBL Florida Hotel Group LLC
Hyatt Place Titusville
6299 Riverfront Center Boulevard
Titusville, Florida 32780
321.383.2280

KPC Lakeview Development, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place West Palm Beach/Downtown
295 Lakeview Avenue
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
561.655.1454

Georgia

JK North Point LLC
Hyatt Place Atlanta/Alpharetta/North Point Mall
7500 North Point Parkway
Alpharetta, Georgia 30022
770.594.8788

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Atlanta/Alpharetta/Windward Parkway
5595 Windward Parkway
Alpharetta, Georgia 30004
770.343.9566

HP Athens, LLC
Hyatt Place Athens
412 North Thomas Street
Athens, Georgia 30601
706.425.1800

ML Peachtree Group, Inc.
Hyatt Place Atlanta Downtown
330 Peachtree Street Northeast
Atlanta, Georgia 30308
407.577.1980

West & Joyce LLC
Hyatt Place Augusta
160 Mason McKnight Jr Parkway
Augusta, Georgia 30907
706.396.4040

Green Frog Corporation
Hyatt Place Columbus-North
2974 North Lake Parkway
Columbus, Georgia 31909
706.507.5000

BHG Hotels LLC
Hyatt Place Atlanta/Duluth/Johns Creek
11505 Medlock Bridge Road
Duluth, Georgia 30097
770.622.5858

Concord ATL Perimeter LLC
Hyatt Place Atlanta/Perimeter Center
1232 Hammond Drive
Dunwoody, Georgia 30346
770.394.9595

Drap Airport, LLC
Hyatt Place Atlanta Airport North
3415 Norman Berry Drive
East Point, Georgia 30344
404.768.8484

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Atlanta/Norcross/Peachtree
5600 Peachtree Parkway
Norcross, Georgia 30092
770.416.7655

Ideal Hospitality Investments Inc.
Hyatt Place Savannah Airport/Pooler
221 Tanger Outlets Boulevard
Pooler, Georgia 31322
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Bhole Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place Savannah Airport
4 Stephen S. Green Drive
Savannah, Georgia 31408
912.966.0020

Hawaii

AEP GP LLC
Hyatt Place Ho'opili
91-3598 Nane Hope Street
Ewa Beach, Hawaii 96706
Not open as of December 31, 2024

CCHP Waikiki LLC
Hyatt Place Waikiki
175 Paoakalani Avenue
Honolulu, Hawaii 96815
808.922.3861

Idaho

Boise Hotel Investors, LLC
Hyatt Place Boise Downtown
1024 West Bannock Street
Boise, Idaho 83702
208.991.5275

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Boise/Towne Square
925 North Milwaukee Street
Boise, Idaho 83704
208.375.1200

B&T Idaho Hotels V, LLC
Hyatt Place Boise / Meridian
1175 S Silverstone Way
Meridian, Idaho 83642
208.990.9080

DBH PF LLC
Hyatt Place Post Falls
Idaho and 4th Avenue
Post Falls, Idaho 83854
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Illinois

Belleville Hotel Ventures I, LLC
Hyatt Place St. Louis/Belleville
116 Street Eugene Drive
Belleville, Illinois 62223
Not open as of December 31, 2024

HPB Hotel, Inc.
Hyatt Place Bolingbrook
131 Remington Boulevard
Bolingbrook, Illinois 60440
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Champaign Lodging, LLC
Hyatt Place Champaign/Urbana
217 North Neil Street
Champaign, Illinois 61820
217.531.2800

1551 Inc.
Hyatt Place Chicago/Wicker Park
1551 West North Avenue
Chicago, Illinois 60622
773.384.8280

CHDG Phase 1A1 (Hotel/Retail) Owner LLC
Hyatt Place Chicago/Medical District
1835 West Harrison Street
Chicago, Illinois 60612
312.341.1234

Clargran, LLC
Hyatt Place Chicago/River North
66 West Illinois Street
Chicago, Illinois 60654
312.755.1600

Smart Hotels/Olympia Chicago, LLC
Hyatt Place Chicago - South/University Medical Center
5225 South Harper Avenue
Chicago, Illinois 60615
773.752.5300

Summit Hotel TRS 132, LLC
Hyatt Place Chicago Downtown Loop
28 North Franklin Street
Chicago, Illinois 60606
312.955.0950

Weglarz Hotel V, LLC
Hyatt Place Chicago/Midway
6550 South Cicero Avenue
Chicago, Illinois 60638
708.594.1400

Hall Quad Cities II, LLC
Hyatt Place East Moline/Quad Cities
111 Bend Boulevard
East Moline, Illinois 61244
309.755.6000

Estates Hotel LLC
Hyatt Place Chicago/Hoffman Estates
2750 Greenpoint Parkway
Hoffman Estates, IL 60169
847.839.1800

IHP Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place Chicago/Itasca
1150 North Arlington Heights Road
Itasca, Illinois 60143
630.875.1400

LF Conway Hotel LLC
Hyatt Place Chicago/Lake Forest (The Forester)
200 North Field Drive
Lake Forest, Illinois 60045
847.582.6400

Lombard Hotel LLC
Hyatt Place Chicago/Lombard
2340 South Fountain Square Drive
Lombard, Illinois 60148
630.932.6501

MHI – Bloomington Normal HP Opco, LLC
Hyatt Place Normal
200 Broadway
Normal, Illinois 61761
309.454.9288

Hotel Mannheim Chicago, LLC
Hyatt Place Chicago/O'Hare Airport
6810 Mannheim Road
Rosemont, Illinois 60018
224.563.1800

Himalaya Investment LLC
Hyatt Place Chicago/Schaumburg
1851 McConnor Parkway
Schaumburg, Illinois 60173
847.330.1060

Kanak LLC
Hyatt Place Chicago/Naperville/Warrenville
27576 Maecliff Drive
Warrenville, Illinois 60555
630.836.9800

Indiana

Zenith Asset Company III, LLC
Hyatt Place Bloomington
217 West Kirkwood Avenue
Bloomington, Indiana 47404
812.339.5950

Sohum Hotels Carmel, LLC
Hyatt Place Carmel
12045 North Illinois Street
Carmel, Indiana 46032
317.343.6400

Kinship Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Evansville
202 Southeast 2nd Street
Evansville, Indiana 47708
812.777.3203

NF V Fishers H OP CO, LLC
Hyatt Place Indianapolis/Fishers
11455 Ikea Way
Fishers, Indiana 46037
317.288.4188

Fort Wayne Hospitality Trust, Inc.
Hyatt Place Fort Wayne/Southwest
5950 Ellison Road
Fort Wayne, Indiana 46804
Not open as of December 31, 2024

FTW Hotel Suites, LLC
Hyatt Place Fort Wayne/Northwest
111 West Washington Center Road
Fort Wayne, Indiana 46825
260.471.8522

Ameriplex Capital Partners, LLC
Hyatt Place Indianapolis Airport South
8000 Milhouse Road
Indianapolis, Indiana 46241
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Indy Penn Center Hotel Owner, LLC
Hyatt Place Indianapolis Downtown
130 South Pennsylvania Street
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204
317.762.9000

Aathesh LLC
Hyatt Place South Bend/Mishawaka
215 West Day Road
Mishawaka, Indiana 46545
574.258.7777

HP Munster Investment, LLC
Hyatt Place Munster
9450 Calumet Avenue
Munster, Indiana 46321
219.529.5300

Iowa

HOA Hotels LLC
Hyatt Place Des Moines/Altoona
480 Bass Pro Drive Northwest
Altoona, Iowa 50009
515.520.8300

Liberty Des Moines LLC
Hyatt Place Des Moines/Downtown
418 6th Avenue
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
515.282.5555

Riverfront Crossing Hospitality Owner, LLC
Hyatt Place Iowa City/Downtown
255 East Court Street
Iowa City, Iowa 52240
319.569.2780

MCCCH LLC
Hyatt Place Mason City
214 South Delaware Avenue
Mason City, Iowa 50401
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Jordan Creek Lodging LLC
Hyatt Place West Des Moines/Jordan Creek
295 South 64th Street
West Des Moines, Iowa 50266
515.223.4001

Kansas

Lenexa City Center Hotel Corporation
Hyatt Place Kansas City/Lenexa City Center
8741 Ryckert Street
Lenexa, Kansas 66219
913.742.7777

Dream Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Kansas City/Overland Park/Metcalf
6801 West 112th Street
Overland Park, Kansas 66211
913.451.2553

Central Mall Realty Holding, LLC
Hyatt Place Salina
2259 South 9th Street
Salina, Kansas 67401
Not open as of December 31, 2024

JK Topeka LLC
Hyatt Place Topeka
6021 Southwest Sixth Avenue
Topeka, Kansas 66615
785.273.0066

Shocker Lodging, LLC
Hyatt Place Wichita State University
4703 East 19th Street North
Wichita, Kansas 67260
316.364.7400

Kentucky

HPBG Investments LLC
Hyatt Place Bowling Green
1347 Center Street
Bowling Green, Kentucky 42101
270.467.0001

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Cincinnati Airport
300 Meijer Drive
Florence, Kentucky 41042
859.647.1170

Palomar Host, LLC
Hyatt Place Lexington South
3801 Harrodsburg Road
Lexington, Kentucky 40513
Not open as of December 31, 2024

SAT, LLC
Hyatt Place Lexington
2001 Bryant Road
Lexington, Kentucky 40509
859.296.0091

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Louisville East
701 South Hurstbourne Parkway
Louisville, Kentucky 40222
502.426.0119

Louisiana

HIT Portfolio I TRS, LLC
Hyatt Place Baton Rouge/I-10
6080 Bluebonnet Boulevard
Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70809
225.769.4400

LVP HP New Orleans Holding Corporation
Hyatt Place New Orleans/Convention Center
881 Convention Center Boulevard
New Orleans, Louisiana 70130
504.524.1881

Maine

Cow Plaza Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place Portland
433 Fore Street
Portland, Maine 04101
207.775.1000

Maryland

511 South Central Avenue, LLC
Hyatt Place Baltimore/Inner Harbor East
511 South Central Avenue
Baltimore, Maryland 21231
410.558.1840

Oxon Hill Hotels, LLC
Hyatt Place Washington DC/National Harbor
123 Waterfront Street
Forest Heights, Maryland 20745
301.686.1120

Kent Narrows South, LLC
Hyatt Place Kent Narrows & Marina
3028 Kent Narrows Way South
Grasonville, Maryland 21638
443.446.6000

Sarbhan Hotels BWI, LLC
Hyatt Place Baltimore/BWI Airport
940 International Drive
Linthicum Heights, Maryland 21090
410.859.3366

PRBR Hospitality Group, LLC
Hyatt Place Ocean City/Oceanfront
1 16th Street
Ocean City, Maryland 21842
410.213.5333

Nova Owings Mills DE, LLC
Hyatt Place Baltimore/Owings Mills
4730 Painters Mill Road
Owings Mills, Maryland 21117
410.998.3630

Massachusetts

Karma Trustee, LLC
Hyatt Place Braintree
50 Forbes Road
Braintree, Massachusetts 02184
781.848.0600

Marlboro Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place Marlborough
169 Apex Drive
Marlborough, Massachusetts 01752
508.506.8100

KRE HIP HP Medford Owner LLC
Hyatt Place Boston Medford
116 Riverside Avenue
Medford, Massachusetts 02155
781.395.8500

Michigan

South State Street Ann Arbor Retail LLC
Hyatt Place Ann Arbor
3223 South State Street
Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108
734.995.1234

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Detroit Auburn Hills
1545 North Opdyke Road
Auburn Hills, Michigan 48326
248.475.9393

Leo Capital Investments LLC
Hyatt Place Clarkston
7006 Sashabaw Road
Clarkston, Michigan 48348
Not open as of December 31, 2024

HP Flint LLC
Hyatt Place Flint/Grand Blanc
5481 Hill 23 Drive
Flint, Michigan 48507
810.424.9000

150 Ottawa Hotel Development, LLC
Hyatt Place Grand Rapids Downtown
150 Ottawa Avenue Northwest
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503
616.984.1200

HP Lansing, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Lansing
2401 Showtime Drive
Lansing, Michigan 48912
517.679.7600

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Detroit Livonia
19300 Haggerty Road
Livonia, Michigan 48152
734.953.9224

Boco Enterprises, Inc.
Hyatt Place Detroit/Novi
46080 Grand River Avenue
Novi, Michigan 48374
248.513.4111

Bay Harbor Resort LLC
Hyatt Place Petoskey/Bay Harbor
3682-3762 Charlevoix Road
Petoskey, Michigan 49770
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Trailhead RO, LLC
Hyatt Place Detroit/Royal Oak
422 North Main Street
Royal Oak, Michigan 48067
248.545.7030

Bostick 801, LLC
Hyatt Place Troy
801 West Big Beaver Road
Troy, Michigan 48084
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Kentwood Hotel & Suites, Inc.
Hyatt Place Grand Rapids South
2150 Metro Lane
Wyoming, Michigan 49519
616.724.1234

Minnesota

W2007 Equity Inns Realty, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Minneapolis Airport South
7800 International Drive
Bloomington, Minnesota 55425
952.854.0700

HP Eden Prairie LLC
Hyatt Place Minneapolis/Eden Prairie
11369 Viking Drive
Eden Prairie, Minnesota 55344
952.944.9700

Summit Hotel TRS 057, LLC
Hyatt Place Minneapolis Downtown
425 South 7th Street
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55415
612.333.3111

Legacy Hospitality II, LLC
Hyatt Place Rochester/Mayo Clinic
15 South Broadway
Rochester, Minnesota 55904
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Custom House Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place St. Paul/Downtown
180 East Kellogg Boulevard
St. Paul, Minnesota 55101
651.647.5000

Mississippi

The Creeks II, LLC
Hyatt Place Biloxi
1150 Beach Boulevard
Biloxi, Mississippi 39532
228.206.0950

Lodging America of Covington, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Columbus
100 Hospital Road Extension
Columbus, Mississippi 39701
866.492.8847

Madison Lodging, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Jackson/Ridgeland
1016 Highland Colony Parkway
Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157
601.898.8815

Missouri

HP Chesterfield, LLC
Hyatt Place St. Louis/Chesterfield
333 Chesterfield East
Chesterfield, Missouri 63017
636.536.6262

RDR Enterprises, Inc.
Hyatt Place Columbia
Northeast Quadrant of Interstate 70 and Highway 63
Columbia, Missouri 65202
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Montana

West Post Hotel Partners, LLC
Hyatt Place Bozeman Airport
Intersection of Alaska Frontage Road and Frank Road
Belgrade, Montana 59714
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Billings Shiloh Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place Billings
Shilah Road & St. Vincent Healthcare
Billings, Montana 59106
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Missoula Expressway Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place Missoula
200 Expressway Boulevard
Missoula, Montana 59808
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Nebraska

TDP Phase Two, LLC
Hyatt Place Lincoln
600 Q Street
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508
402.742.6007

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Omaha Old Market
540 South 12th Street
Omaha, Nebraska 68102
402.513.5500

Nevada

MNPH Hotels, LLC
Hyatt Place Las Vegas/Silverton Village
8380 Dean Martin Drive
Las Vegas, Nevada 89139
702.575.6201

Verdant Las Vegas, LLC
Hyatt Place Las Vegas
4520 Paradise Road
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
702.369.3366

Reno Airport Lodging, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Reno-Tahoe Airport
1790 East Plumb Lane
Reno, Nevada 89502
775.826.2500

TDC Summit LLC
Hyatt Place Reno South
13925 South Virginia Street
Reno, Nevada 89511
775.276.5000

New Jersey

Fair Lawn Hotel Group LLC
Hyatt Place Fair Lawn/Paramus
41-01 Broadway (Route 208 North)
Fair Lawn, New Jersey 07410
201.475.3888

SAPTHAGIRI Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Fort Lee
2167 Route 4 East
Fort Lee, New Jersey 07024
201.849.5900

HP Princeton, LLC
Hyatt Place Princeton
3565 US Highway 1
Princeton, New Jersey 08540
609.780.0200

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Secaucus
575 Park Plaza Drive
Secaucus, New Jersey 07094
201.422.9480

Bapu Corporation
Hyatt Place Union
2735 US Highway 22 West
Union, New Jersey 07083
Not open as of December 31, 2024

New Mexico

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Albuquerque Airport
1400 Sunport Place South East
Albuquerque, New Mexico 87106
505.242.9300

W2007 Equity Inns Realty, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Albuquerque/Uptown
6901 Arvada Avenue Northeast
Albuquerque, New Mexico 87110
505.872.9000

4320 Cerrillos Road, LLC
Hyatt Place Santa Fe
4320 Cerrillos Road
Santa Fe, New Mexico 87507
505.474.7777

New York

705 Broadway Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place Albany
82 Montgomery Street
Albany, New York 12207
518.977.7778

Iskalo 5020 Main LLC
Hyatt Place Buffalo/Amherst
5020 Main Street
Amherst, New York 14226
716.839.4040

39 Prince Realty, LLC
Hyatt Place Flushing
133-42 39th Avenue
Flushing, New York 11354
718.888.1234

Summit Hotel TRS 100, LLC
Hyatt Place Garden City
5 North Avenue
Garden City, New York 11530
516.222.6277

JFK QB 36 LLC
Hyatt Place JFK Airport
144-06 135th Avenue
Jamaica, New York 11436
Not open as of December 31, 2024

27-07 43rd Avenue LLC
Hyatt Place Long Island City
2707 43rd Avenue
Long Island City, New York 11101
929.208.3100

Malta Hospitality, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Saratoga/Malta
20 State Farm Place
Malta, New York 12020
518.885.1109

Blue 36th Street NYC LLC
Hyatt Place New York/Midtown South
52 West 36th Street
New York, New York 10018
212.239.9100

NY 24th Street Operating VI LLC
Hyatt Place Chelsea/24th Street
140 West 24th Street
New York, New York 10011
929.430.2400

NY 39th Street Operating Tenant LLC
Hyatt Place Times Square
350 West 39th Street
New York, New York 10018
212.904.1811

HH 310, LLC
Hyatt Place Niagara Falls
310 Rainbow Boulevard South
Niagara Falls, New York 14303
716.285.5000

Empire Hotel Development, Inc.
Hyatt Place Poughkeepsie
2165 South Road
Poughkeepsie, New York 12601
845.632.3100

HP East End Riverhead, LLC
Hyatt Place Long Island/East End
451 East Main Street
Riverhead, New York 11901
631.208.0002

Yonkers LW Hotel Associates, LP
Hyatt Place New York/Yonkers
7000 Mall Walk
Yonkers, New York 10704
914.377.1400

North Carolina

PMHB LLC
Hyatt Place Asheville Airport
329 Rockwood Road
Asheville, North Carolina 28704
Not open as of December 31, 2024

CH Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place Chapel Hill
1090 US Highway 15-501
Chapel Hill, North Carolina 27517
919.929.9511

Charlotte HP, LLC
Hyatt Place Charlotte Downtown
222 South Caldwell Street
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202
704.227.0500

HYCN Hotel Inc.
Hyatt Place Charlotte/University Research Park
640 University Center Boulevard
Charlotte, North Carolina 28262
980.256.5500

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Charlotte Airport
2950 Oak Lake Boulevard
Charlotte, North Carolina 28208
704.423.9931

Southland Capital Realty Group, LLC
Hyatt Place Charlotte/Motor Speedway
12300 US Highway 29 North
Charlotte, North Carolina 28262
Not open as of December 31, 2024

YK Forest Point LLC
Hyatt Place Charlotte/Arrowood
7900 Forest Point Boulevard
Charlotte, North Carolina 28273
704.522.8400

Summit Hospitality Group, Ltd.
Hyatt Place Durham/Southpoint
7840 NC-751
Durham, North Carolina 27713
919.688.7800

PCH Development Co., LLC
Hyatt Place Fayetteville Downtown
460 Hay Street
Fayetteville, North Carolina 28301
Not open as of December 31, 2024

HACAB, LLC
Hyatt Place Greensboro Downtown
312 North Eugene Street
Greensboro, North Carolina 27401
336.373.6269

Stanley GB Ops, LLC
Hyatt Place Greensboro
1619 Stanley Road
Greensboro, North Carolina 27407
336.852.1443

Gateway Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Raleigh-Durham Airport
200 Airgate Drive
Morrisville, North Carolina 27560
919.405.2400

HJH Associates of Alabama
Hyatt Place Raleigh West
710 Corporate Center Drive
Raleigh, North Carolina 27607
919.233.2205

Ohio

Blue Sky Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Cincinnati/Blue Ash
11435 Reed Hartman Highway
Cincinnati, Ohio 45241
513.489.3666

Sharonville Hills, LLC
Hyatt Place Sharonville
11345 Chester Road
Cincinnati, Ohio 45246
513.771.1718

Columbus Airport Hospitality Inc.
Hyatt Place Columbus Airport
2900 North Cassidy Road
Columbus, Ohio 43219
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Grande De Logement LLC
Hyatt Place Columbus/Worthington
7490 Vantage Drive
Columbus, Ohio 43235
614.846.4355

Grandview Yard Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place Columbus/OSU
795 Yard Street
Columbus, Ohio 43212
614.280.1234

Sakshi Gopal LLC
Hyatt Place Columbus/Polaris
2006 Polaris Parkway
Columbus, Ohio 43240
614.964.1877

Legacy Village Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place Cleveland/Lyndhurst/Legacy Village
24665 Cedar Road
Lyndhurst, Ohio 44122
216.382.3350

HP of Canton JV, LLC
Hyatt Place Canton
5421 Whipple Avenue Northwest
North Canton, Ohio 44720
330.244.1700

CD Block K Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place Crocker Park
2020 Crocker Road
Westlake, Ohio 44145
440.871.3100

Oklahoma

Summit Hotel TRS 180, LLC
Hyatt Place Oklahoma City/Bricktown
20 Russell M. Perry Avenue
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73104
405.702.4028

400 SB Operator, LLC
Hyatt Place Tulsa/Downtown
400 South Boston Avenue
Tulsa, Oklahoma 74103
918.346.6024

Oregon

SKHY, LLC
Hyatt Place Eugene/Oakway
333 Oakway Road
Eugene, Oregon 97401
541.343.9333

Parq on 12th, LLC
Hyatt Place Portland/Pearl District
350 Northwest 12th Avenue
Portland, Oregon 97209
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Summit Hotel TRS 084, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Portland Airport
9750 Northeast Cascades Parkway
Portland, Oregon 97220
503.288.2808

Pennsylvania

Mill Hotel LLC
Hyatt Place Allentown/Lehigh Valley
621 Grange Road
Allentown, Pennsylvania 18106
610.387.1000

HyBeth Hotel Partners, L.P.
Hyatt Place Bethlehem
45 West North Street
Bethlehem, Pennsylvania 18018
610.625.0500

KOP9 LLC
Hyatt Place Philadelphia/King of Prussia
440 American Avenue
King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406
484.690.3000

Chatham Pittsburgh HP Leaseco, LLC
Hyatt Place Pittsburgh/North Shore
260 North Shore Drive
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15212
412.321.3000

Pittsburgh Hospitality Group, LLC
Hyatt Place Pittsburgh Airport
6011 Campbells Run Road
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15205
412.494.0202

Fraser Centre Hotel LLC
Hyatt Place State College
219 West Beaver Avenue
State College, Pennsylvania 16801
814.862.9808

Meadows Hotel Associates, LLC
Hyatt Place Pittsburgh South/Meadows Racetrack & Casino
212 Racetrack Road
Washington, Pennsylvania 15301
724.222.7777

H&N Operations, LLC
Hyatt Place Wilkes-Barre
40 East Market Street
Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania 18701
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Rhode Island

D'Ambra Warwick Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place Warwick/Providence Airport
800 Jefferson Boulevard
Warwick, Rhode Island 02886
401.738.8700

South Carolina

HOSP CHASC HD, LLC
Hyatt Place Charleston Historic District
560 King Street
Charleston, South Carolina 29403
843.414.4900

HPSC Hotel Owner LLC
Hyatt Place Columbia/Vista
819 Gervais Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
803.978.2013

East Evans Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Florence Downtown
100 East Evans Street
Florence, South Carolina 29506
843.519.9900

Apple Ten Hospitality Management, Inc.
Hyatt Place Greenville Downtown
128 East Broad Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
864.720.2700

YK Greenville LLC
Hyatt Place Greenville/Haywood
40 West Orchard Park Drive
Greenville, South Carolina 29615
864.232.3000

LRP Hotels of Columbia, LLC
Hyatt Place Columbia/Harbison
1130 Kinley Road
Irmo, South Carolina 29063
803.407.1560

OTV Towne Centre, LLC
Hyatt Place Mt. Pleasant Town Center
Palmetto Grand Drive
Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
843.473.3105

Montague Opco, Inc.
Hyatt Place Charleston Airport/Convention Center
3234 West Montague Avenue
North Charleston, South Carolina 29418
843.302.8600

Moody National HP N-Charles MT, LLC
Hyatt Place North Charleston
7331 Mazyck Road
North Charleston, South Carolina 29406
843.735.7100

Four Raines HP Berkeley, LLC
Hyatt Place Charleston/Summerville
SE corner of Sigma Drive and Edge Street
Summerville, South Carolina 29486
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Sumter Hotel Venture, LLC
Hyatt Place Sumter/Downtown
18 North Main Street
Sumter, South Carolina 29150
803.774.8100

South Dakota

C.R. Lloyd Associates, Inc.
Hyatt Place Rapid City
525 St. Joseph Street
Rapid City, South Dakota 57701
Not open as of December 31, 2024

RT Lake Lorraine Ventures, LLC
Hyatt Place Sioux Falls South
4935 West Lake Shore Boulevard
Sioux Falls, South Dakota 57106
605.271.2871

Tennessee

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Nashville/Brentwood
202 Summit View Drive
Brentwood, Tennessee 37027
615.661.9477

W2007 Equity Inns Realty, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Nashville/Franklin/Cool Springs
650 Bakers Bridge Avenue
Franklin, Tennessee 37067
615.771.8900

Moody National HP G-Town MT, LLC
Hyatt Place Memphis/Germantown
9161 Winchester Road
Germantown, Tennessee 38138
901.759.1174

Hunt Services Inc
Hyatt Place Jackson
Lambuth and West Forest Avenue
Jackson, Tennessee 38301
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Dover Development Corporation
Hyatt Place Knoxville Downtown
530 South Gay Street
Knoxville, Tennessee 37902
865.544.9977

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Memphis/Primacy Parkway
1220 Primacy Parkway
Memphis, Tennessee 38119
901.680.9700

W2007 Equity Inns Realty, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Memphis/Wolfchase Galleria
7905 Giacosa Place
Memphis, Tennessee 38133
901.371.0010

Yorktown, LLC
Hyatt Place Murfreesboro
2108 Lothric Way
Murfreesboro, Tennessee 37129
615.995.7920

BNA Hotel Partners, LLC
Hyatt Place Nashville Airport
721 Royal Parkway
Nashville, Tennessee 37214
615.493.5200

BNA Woodland OZ Business, LLC
Hyatt Place East Nashville/Stadium
408 Woodland Street
Nashville, Tennessee 37206
Not open as of December 31, 2024

HP Nashville TRS, Inc.
Hyatt Place Nashville Downtown
301 3rd Avenue South
Nashville, Tennessee 37201
615.687.9995

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Nashville/Opryland
220 Rudy Circle
Nashville, Tennessee 37214
615.872.0422

Minal M. Patel, an individual
Hyatt Place Nashville Airport
2717 Elm Hill Pike
Nashville, Tennessee 37214
Not open as of December 31, 2024

REVPAR Green Hills, LLC
Hyatt Place Nashville/Green Hills
3818 Bedford Avenue
Nashville, Tennessee 37215
615.802.1171

Shree Sai Ram Smyrna, LLC
Hyatt Place Nashville/Smyrna
Northeast corner of Sam Ridley Parkway and Colonnade Drive
Smyrna, Tennessee 37167
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Texas

Shriji Investments LLC
Hyatt Place Dallas/Allen
333 North Central Expressway
Allen, Texas 75013
972.747.5151

8985 Amarillo Blvd, LLC
Hyatt Place Amarillo West
8985 West Amarillo Boulevard
Amarillo, Texas 79124
806.310.2700

ALDK Arlington LLC
Hyatt Place Dallas/Arlington
2380 E Road to Six Flags Street
Arlington, Texas
801.649.7676

BCORE 211 E 3rd TRS LLC
Hyatt Place Austin Downtown
211 East Third Street
Austin, Texas 78701
512.476.4440

Hill Country Hospitality Management, LLC
Hyatt Place Austin/Arboretum
3612 Tudor Boulevard
Austin, Texas 78759
512.231.8491

LOF2 Austin TRS, LLC
Hyatt Place Austin Airport
9532 Spirit of Austin Lane
Austin, Texas 78719
512.272.5001

Spades Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place Austin/Lake Travis/Four Points
7300 North FM 620
Austin, Texas 78726
512.369.3120

SRH Hospitality Cedar Park Operating, LLC
Hyatt Place Austin/Cedar Park
1315 East New Hope Drive
Cedar Park, Texas 78641
512.337.3001

CS 1100 Hotel, L.P.
Hyatt Place College Station
1100 University Drive East
College Station, Texas 77840
979.846.9800

DUDHIMA, LP.
Hyatt Place Corpus Christi
6773 South Padre Island Drive
Corpus Christi, Texas 78412
361.985.8888

JK North Central LLC
Hyatt Place Dallas/Park Central
12411 North Central Expressway
Dallas, Texas 75243
972.458.1224

Amigos Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place Eagle Pass
SEQ of Main Street and Patsy Winn Boulevard
Eagle Pass, Texas 78852
830.498.0600

Campus Hotel Venture LP
Hyatt Place Fort Worth/TCU
3029 Sandage Avenue
Fort Worth, Texas 76109
682.385.9743

Cityview Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Fort Worth/Cityview
5900 Cityview Boulevard
Fort Worth, Texas 76132
817.361.9797

Moon Hotel Alliance Investment, LLC
Hyatt Place Fort Worth/Alliance Town Center
3201 Alliance Town Center
Fort Worth, Texas 76177
682.285.1234

Stockyards Station Hotel, L.P.
Hyatt Place Fort Worth/Historic Stockyards
132 East Exchange Avenue
Fort Worth, Texas 76164
817.626.6000

Supreme Bright Frisco IV, LLC
Hyatt Place Dallas/Frisco
Southwest quadrant of John Hickman Parkway and Dallas North Tollway
Frisco, Texas 75034
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Metro Garland LLC
Hyatt Place Dallas/Garland
5101 North President George Bush Highway
Garland, Texas 75040
972.414.3500

Atlas Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Dallas/North Arlington/Grand Prairie
1542 North Highway 360
Grand Prairie, Texas 75050
972.988.6800

Infinite Hospitality Management and Development LLC
Hyatt Place Dallas/Grand Prairie South – I 20
Sara Jane Parkway near Interstate 20
Grand Prairie, Texas 75052
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Summit Hotel TRS 165, LLC
Hyatt Place Dallas/Grapevine
2220 Grapevine Mills Circle West
Grapevine, Texas 76051
972.691.1199

CRP/SH Galleria Plaza Hotel Owner II, L.P.
Hyatt Place Houston Galleria Plaza
5252 West Alabama Street
Houston, Texas 77056
713.626.7300

Madhurrie Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Houston Northwest/Cy-Fair
19813 Northwest Freeway
Houston, Texas 77065
281.955.5070

Star Owner LLC
Hyatt Place Houston Downtown
1114 Texas Avenue
Houston, Texas 77002
832.930.8500

Thind Houston LLC
Hyatt Place Houston-North
300 Ronan Park Place
Houston, Texas 77060
281.820.6060

TMC Hotel, Ltd.
Hyatt Place Houston Medical Center
7329 Fannin Street
Houston, Texas 77030
346.502.4703

Vintage Park Hotels LP
Hyatt Place Houston NW Highway 249/Vintage Park
20330 TX-249
Houston, Texas 77070
832.930.8090

XE Seven, LLC
Hyatt Place Houston Bush Intercontinental Airport
Southeast quadrant of Kendrick Plaza Drive and John F. Kennedy Boulevard
Houston, Texas 77032
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Hep Hotels LLC
Hyatt Place Ft Worth/Hurst
1601 Hurst Town Center Drive
Hurst, Texas 76054
817.577.3003

Randal DFW Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place Dallas/Las Colinas
5455 Green Park Drive
Irving, Texas 75038
972.550.7400

IC Hotels, LP
Hyatt Place Houston/Katy
1401 North West Green Boulevard
Katy, Texas 77449
832.913.1244

Summit Hotel TRS 176, LLC
Hyatt Place Lubbock
2309 Mac Davis Lane
Lubbock, Texas 79401
806.741.0200

HYT New Braunfels, LLC
Hyatt Place New Braunfels
154 Creekside Crossing
New Braunfels, Texas 78130
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Shriji Investments Plano, LLC and Speedup, LLC
Hyatt Place Dallas/Plano
3100 Dallas Parkway
Plano, Texas 75093
972.378.3997

Rockwall Innkeepers I, Ltd.
Hyatt Place Dallas/Rockwall
1600 La Jolla Pointe Drive
Rockwall, Texas 75087
469.747.1234

Sundance Lodging, LLC
Hyatt Place Austin/North Round Rock
420 Sundance Parkway
Round Rock, Texas 78681
512.244.4300

RS 4303 Hospitality LLC and Cyber Gold OM LLC, as tenants in common
Hyatt Place San Antonio Northwest/Medical Center
4303 Hyatt Place Drive
San Antonio, Texas 78230
210.561.0099

Sonterra Hotel Investors, LLC
Hyatt Place San Antonio North/Stone Oak
1610 East Sonterra Boulevard
San Antonio, Texas 78258
210.545.2810

Monarch Sugar Land, L.P.
Hyatt Place Sugar Land
16730 Creekbend Drive
Sugar Land, Texas 77478
281.491.0300

Randal Colony Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place Dallas/The Colony
5200 Memorial Drive
The Colony, Texas 75056
972.625.2300

Research Hotel Partners, L.P.
Hyatt Place Houston/The Woodlands
1909 Research Forest Drive
The Woodlands, Texas 77380
281.298.4600

Tyler Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Tyler
South Broadway Avenue
Tyler, Texas 75703
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Moonlight Hospitality LP
Hyatt Place Waco South
5400 Bagby Avenue
Waco, Texas 76711
254.313.0800

Waco RL Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place Waco Downtown
301 South 3rd Street
Waco, Texas 76701
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Utah

Holmbrands LLC
Hyatt Place Bryce Canyon
1945 W UT-12
Bryce, Utah 84764
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Station Park Hotel CenterCal Owner, LLC
Hyatt Place Salt Lake City/Farmington/Station Park
222 West Union Avenue
Farmington, Utah 84025
801.683.4444

Canyon Slope Development, LLC
Hyatt Place Salt Lake City/Cottonwood
3090 East 6200 South
Holladay, Utah 84121
801.890.1280

Lehi Hotel Partners, LLC
Hyatt Place Salt Lake City/Lehi
3700 North Outlet Parkway
Lehi, Utah 84043
385.345.8300

Moab Place, LLC
Hyatt Place Moab
890 North Main Street
Moab, Utah 84532
435.259.9190

NHT Park City TRS, LLC
Hyatt Place Park City
4377 North Highway 224
Park City, Utah 84098
435.776.1234

Freedom Plaza Hotel, LLC
Hyatt Place Provo
180 West 100 North
Provo, Utah 84602
801.609.2060

Boyer Gateway Hotel, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Salt Lake City/Downtown/The Gateway
55 North 400 West
Salt Lake City, Utah 84101
801.456.6300

Hyatt Place SLC Group, LLC
Hyatt Place Salt Lake City Airport
52 North Tommy Thompson Road
Salt Lake City, Utah 84116
801.363.1400

Zion Park Resort, L.C.
Hyatt Place Springdale/Zion
1215 Zion Park Boulevard
Springdale, Utah 84767
Not open as of December 31, 2024

PEG Development, LLC
Hyatt Place St. George
1819 South 120 East
St. George, Utah 84790
435.656.8686

Virginia

2401 Wilson, LLC
Hyatt Place Arlington/Courthouse
2401 Wilson Boulevard
Arlington, Virginia 22201
703.243.2494

UCB HP, LLC
Hyatt Place Blacksburg
650 University City Boulevard
Blacksburg, Virginia 24060
540.552.7500

Macfarlane Stonefield, LLC
Hyatt Place Charlottesville
2100 Bond Street
Charlottesville, Virginia 22901
434.995.5200

SAK Developers, LLC
Hyatt Place Chesapeake/Greenbrier
709 Eden Way North
Chesapeake, Virginia 23320
757.312.0020

Kingston II, LLC
Hyatt Place Richmond/Chester
13148 Kingston Avenue
Chester, Virginia 23836
804.530.4600

Everest Investments, LLC
Hyatt Place Fredericksburg/Mary Washington
1241 Emancipation Highway
Fredericksburg, Virginia 22401
540.654.3333

Cox HP, LLC
Hyatt Place Richmond/Innsbrook
4100 Cox Road
Glen Allen, Virginia 23060
804.747.9644

Hampton Lodging Partners LLC
Hyatt Place Hampton Convention Center
1905 Coliseum Drive
Hampton, Virginia 23666
757.788.8400

Innovation Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Harrisonburg
1884 Evelyn Byrd Avenue
Harrisonburg, Virginia 22801
540.417.1234

Excel Holdings 15 LLC
Hyatt Place Herndon/Dulles Airport East
13711 Sayward Boulevard
Herndon, Virginia 20171
571.643.0905

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Richmond/Arboretum
201 Arboretum Place
Richmond, Virginia 23236
804.560.1566

Oak, LLC
Hyatt Place Richmond Airport
4401 South Laburnum Avenue
Richmond, Virginia 23231
804.549.4865

JK Valley View LLC
Hyatt Place Roanoke Airport/Valley View Mall
5040 Valley View Boulevard North
Roanoke, Virginia 24012
540.366.4700

Belvedere Hotel Investments Associates, LLC
Hyatt Place Virginia Beach/Oceanfront
2705 Atlantic Avenue
Virginia Beach, Virginia 23451
757.428.4200

SC Pembroke, LLC
Hyatt Place Virginia Beach Town Center
281 Independence Boulevard
Virginia Beach, Virginia 23462
757.431.7000

Washington

98188 Place, LLC
Hyatt Place SeaTac Airport
17224 International Boulevard
Seattle, Washington 98188
Not open as of December 31, 2024

HP Hotel, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Seattle Downtown
110 6th Avenue North
Seattle, Washington 98109
206.441.6041

Evergreen Downtown Vancouver, LLC
Hyatt Place Vancouver
Intersection of Southwest 5th Street and Washington Street
Vancouver, Washington 98660
Not open as of December 31, 2024

Wisconsin

Manchester Suites Hotel, L.L.P.
Hyatt Place Milwaukee Airport
200 West Grange Avenue
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53207
414.744.3600

MKE Hotel LLC
Hyatt Place Milwaukee Downtown
800 West Juneau Avenue
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233
414.808.3880

Liberty Business Park Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Madison/Verona
846 Liberty Drive
Verona, Wisconsin 53593
608.497.3223

Wyoming

JJM HYT CPR Hospitality LLC
Hyatt Place Casper
407 North Walsh Street
Casper, Wyoming 82609
Not open as of December 31, 2024

EXHIBIT H

LIST OF FRANCHISEES WHO LEFT THE SYSTEM

H

LIST OF FRANCHISEES WHO LEFT THE SYSTEM IN 2024

Terminations

Arkansas

Opal Hotels LLC
Hyatt Place Hot Springs
2910 Harrisburg Lane
Texarkana, Texas 75503
919.977.8140

*** Franchise agreement signed but hotel never opened.*

Louisiana

Reva Hospitality Bossier LLC
Hyatt Place Bossier City
2591 Dallas Parkway
Frisco, Texas 75034
972.731.4303

*** Franchise agreement signed but hotel never opened.*

Michigan

28th Street Hotel Group, LLC
Hyatt Place Grand Rapids Airport
31100 Stephenson Highway
Madison Heights, MI 48071
616.942.5461

*** Franchise agreement signed but hotel never opened.*

Mississippi

Rebel Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Oxford
200 Riverwind East Drive, Suite 108
Pearl, Mississippi
312.202.9800

*** Franchise agreement signed but hotel never opened.*

GPMU, LP
Hyatt Place Gulfport
620 Herndon Parkway, Suite 360
Herndon, Virginia 20170
269.262.4565

*** Franchise agreement signed but hotel never opened.*

If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

North Carolina

Pepper Property Investments III, LLC
Hyatt Place Winston-Salem
26 Milton Avenue
Alpharetta, Georgia 30009
678.802.4912

*** Franchise agreement signed but hotel never opened.*

Pennsylvania

ELPIZO HP, LLC
Hyatt Place Philadelphia Airport
600 East Jefferson Street, Suite 402
Rockville, Maryland 20852
215.365.4150

*** Franchise agreement signed but hotel never opened.*

Texas

Baytown Innkeepers I, Ltd.
Hyatt Place Houston/Baytown
6176 FM 2011
Longview, Texas 75603
903.643.9171

*** Franchise agreement signed but hotel never opened.*

GJ Hospitality and Resorts, LLC
Hyatt Place Houston/Hobby Airport
11721 Fuqua
Houston, Texas 77304
281.387.8117

*** Franchise agreement signed but hotel never opened.*

SAHY JM LLC
Hyatt Place San Antonio Airport/Quarry Market
200 Concord Plaza Drive, Suite 240
San Antonio, Texas 78216
210.762.6666

If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

Wisconsin

Manchester Suites Hotel, L.L.P.
Hyatt Place Milwaukee West
5429 North 118th Court
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53225
414.466.0111

Transfers

Arkansas

Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee, on behalf of the Registered Holders of Citigroup Commercial Mortgage Securities Inc., Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2015-GC33
Hyatt Place Rogers/Bentonville
c/o LNR Partners, LLC
2340 Collins Avenue, Suite 700
Miami Beach, Florida 33139
305.695.5600

California

Bright Melrose LLC
Hyatt Place San Diego/Vista-Carlsbad
20342 SW Acacia Street
Newport Beach, California 92660
909.860.6255

Florida

Lauderdale Partners, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Ft. Lauderdale/Plantation
2355 Centennial Circle
Gainesville, Georgia 30504
770.534.4457

ARC Hospitality Portfolio I TRS, LLC
Hyatt Place Tampa Airport/Westshore
c/o American Realty Capital
405 Park Avenue
New York, New York 10022
904.741.1122

If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

Georgia

The Lanier Group, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Atlanta/Duluth/Johns Creek
301 Washington Street, Suite 3
Gainesville, Georgia 30501
804.379.6683

Mainstream Hotel Group, Inc.
Hyatt Place Savannah Airport
110 Sullivan Place
Pooler, Georgia 31322
912.966.0020

Illinois

YG Hotel Investors, LLC
Hyatt Place Champaign/Urbana
804 N. Neil Street, Suite 103
Champaign, Illinois 61820
217.531.2800

Indiana

First SHP, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place South Bend/Mishawaka
9700 West Higgins Road, Suite 810
Rosemont, Illinois 60018
847.299.9040

Springdale Hotel Partners, LLC
Hyatt Place Indianapolis/Fishers
300 SE Riverside Drive, Suite 100
Evansville, Indiana 47713
812.471.9300

Nevada

W2007 Equity Inns Realty, L.L.C.
Hyatt Place Las Vegas
208 South Lasalle Street, Suite 814
Chicago, Illinois 60604
352.335.9100

If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

New Jersey

Auerbach III-Princeton LLC
Hyatt Place Princeton
6000 Fairview Road, 12th Floor
Charlotte, North Carolina 28210
302.636.5401

Pennsylvania

KOP Hospitality, LLC
Hyatt Place Philadelphia/King of Prussia
7400 Slauson Avenue
Commerce, California 90077
302.636.5401

LSREF3/AH Chicago Tenant, LLC
Hyatt Place Pittsburgh Airport / Robinson Mall
5301 Headquarters Drive, Suite 130
Plano, Texas 75024
214.469.0080

South Carolina

Pyramid Charleston Tenant LLC
Hyatt Place Charleston Historic District
One Post Office Square, Suite 1950
Boston, Massachusetts 02109
302.658.7581

Tennessee

Counting Donuts, LLC
Hyatt Place Murfreesboro
621 Northwest Frontage Road, Suite 315
Augusta, Georgia 30907
615.457.1648

Texas

Summit Hotel TRS 166, LLC
Hyatt Place Dallas/Plano
13215 Bee Cave Parkway, Suite B-300
Austin, Texas 78738
512.538.2305

If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

NF IV-VA SSCI Austin Op Co, LLC
Hyatt Place Austin/North Round Rock
3424 Peachtree Road NE, #2000
Atlanta, Georgia 30326
404.419.1000

Pramukhraj Irving LLC
Hyatt Place Houston-North
7319 Native Oak Lane
Irving, Texas 75063
760.617.0800

Utah

Breit Rex TRS LLC
Hyatt Place Salt Lake City Airport
345 Park Avenue
New York, New York 10154
302.636.5401p

If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

EXHIBIT I

CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES BY HYATT

SERVICEMASTER AGREEMENT ~~FOR REVENUE MANAGEMENT SERVICES~~

CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES BY HYATT
SERVICE MASTER AGREEMENT FOR REVENUE MANAGEMENT SERVICES

*This version is only for use with franchised locations
in the U.S., Canada & the islands of the Caribbean*

THIS ~~SERVICE AGREEMENT FOR REVENUE MANAGEMENT~~ CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES (~~the BY HYATT MASTER AGREEMENT~~ (“Agreement”)) is made ~~this _____ day of _____, 2024~~ (the “as of the date of full execution” (“Agreement Effective Date”)), by and between _____, a(n) _____ located at _____ [Insert Owner’s Contracting Entity] (“Owner”) and Hyatt Corporation, ~~a Delaware corporation~~ located at 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606 (“Hyatt”).

BACKGROUND WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Owner owns ~~the _____ Hotel, which is or will be a~~ property known as [Insert Hotel Name] located at _____ [Insert Owner Address] (the “Hotel Property”), and ~~the Property is~~ operated pursuant to a franchise agreement ~~dated _____, between Owner and Hyatt’s~~ with Hyatt or its affiliate (as it may be amended, ~~the “Franchise Agreement”~~). ~~Owner desires to retain revenue management services from Hyatt in connection with Owner’s operation of the Hotel. The:~~

WHEREAS, Owner has requested that Hyatt provide certain Services, as defined below, to Owner in connection with the Property, pursuant to one or more of the following programs offered by Hyatt to Hyatt branded and affiliated hotels: the Field Marketing Program, the Central Sales Services Program, the Revenue Management Services Program, the Global Property Guest Services Program, the Digital Ancillary Services Program, or any similar program offered by Hyatt in the future (each individually, a “Program” and collectively, the “Programs”); and

WHEREAS, Hyatt has agreed to provide such Services according to the terms and under the conditions set forth herein and any Schedules attached hereto.

NOW, THEREFORE, ~~the parties, therefore,~~ hereby mutually agree as follows. ~~Capitalized terms used herein but not defined shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Franchise Agreement.~~

~~1. Term and Termination. This Agreement shall be for a term (the “Term”) commencing on the Effective Date and ending upon the expiration or termination of the Franchise Agreement, unless sooner terminated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement (the “Expiration Date”). The Services provided by Hyatt shall commence: (a) if the Hotel is already operating as of the date of this Agreement, on a date Hyatt determines not less than ninety (90) days following execution of this Agreement or (b) if this Agreement is being executed in connection with the development of a new hotel, on a date Hyatt determines approximately ninety (90) days prior to the anticipated or scheduled opening of the Hotel for the “Tactical” or “Essential” service tier level service or one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the anticipated or scheduled opening of the Hotel for the “Premium” service tier level service (unless, in either case, Hyatt consents to an earlier date) (the “Service Commencement Date”).~~

1. Amended and Restated; Term / Termination.¹

This Agreement shall be effective as of the Agreement Effective Date and shall continue in full force and effect until expiration and/or termination of the Franchise Agreement, unless earlier terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement (“Agreement Term”). Any Services (defined below) provided pursuant to a Schedule to this Agreement (defined below) shall commence as of the effective date(s) set forth therein (“Service Effective Date”), and shall continue until expiration or termination of such Schedule, or the sooner expiration of this Agreement or the Franchise Agreement, subject to subsection 1.b. below.

This Agreement may be terminated as follows:

- a. ~~Either party~~Hyatt may terminate ~~this~~the Agreement for any reason or no reason by notifying ~~the other party~~Owner in writing at least days ninety (90) days in advance. ~~Notwithstanding the foregoing, Owner may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Subsection 1(a), or select a service tier level lower than the [“Essential” or “Premium”] tier, for an effective date of termination that is earlier than _____ (—) months after the later of Service Commencement Date or the last day of Opening Month;~~
- b. This Agreement shall automatically terminate if the Franchise Agreement expires or is terminated and Owner does not enter into a franchise agreement, hotel management agreement or hotel services agreement with Hyatt or its affiliate such that the ~~Hotel~~Property continues to operate under a Hyatt brand or Hyatt affiliation immediately following such termination; and
- c. If either party commits a material breach of any provision of this Agreement and has failed to cure such breach within ten (10) days of receiving written notice ~~thereof~~, the other party may terminate this Agreement immediately upon written notice.

Upon termination of this Agreement, Owner shall remit to Hyatt payment for Services rendered through the effective date of termination pursuant to any applicable Schedule.

~~2. Scope of Service. Commencing on the Service Commencement Date, Hyatt will provide revenue management services for the Hotel according to the service tier level (“Tactical,” “Essential” or “Premium,” as Hyatt defines them from time to time) then in effect (the “Services”). As of the Service Commencement Date, the applicable service tier level is or will be the [“Tactical,” “Essential” or “Premium”] service tier level. Subject to Section 1(a) above, Owner may change its service tier level by providing a minimum of sixty (60) days written notice to Hyatt, provided that Hyatt may agree to a shorter notice period at its sole determination. Hyatt will, upon Owner’s request, use commercially reasonable efforts to provide Owner with information regarding the scope and levels of service provided by Hyatt for each service tier level.~~

2. Services

¹ If needed: The parties acknowledge and agree that Owner may have previously entered into a similar agreement with Hyatt for any of the Programs. As of the Agreement Effective Date, the parties agree that this Agreement shall supersede and replace any previous agreement related to such Program.

During the Agreement Term, and in exchange for payment of the Fees described in this Agreement, Hyatt (or any authorized designee) shall provide the Property with certain “Services”, as more specifically outlined in any of the Field Marketing Program Schedule, Central Sales Services Schedule, Revenue Management Services Schedule, Global Property Guest Services Schedule, Digital Ancillary Services Schedule, or schedule for any similar program offered by Hyatt in the future attached hereto (each individually, a “Schedule”, and collectively the “Schedules”), and any and all Services provided by Hyatt under this Agreement shall be set forth in such a written Schedule attached to this Agreement. Hyatt may update the Services and related prices attached to any Schedule at any time by providing the Property an updated applicable attachment to such Schedule (“Updated Services Schedule”), which may be provided electronically via email or by posting to any intranet for Hyatt branded or affiliated hotels. For the avoidance of doubt, an Updated Services Schedule shall have no effect on any Services or Schedules provided under this Agreement other than the Services referenced in the Updated Services Schedule. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Owner understands and acknowledges that the Fees and Services are typically updated annually, and the initial Schedules attached hereto may not reflect Hyatt’s then-current pricing or exact service benefits on the Service Effective Date. Owner agrees to be responsible for the Fees set forth on Hyatt’s then-current applicable Schedules as of the Service Effective Date, and any subsequently updated Fees as listed on an Updated Services Schedule. Notwithstanding Hyatt’s provision of the Services, Owner is solely responsible for all decisions relating to the field marketing, sales, revenue management, merchandising and other aspects of the day-to-day control of the ~~Hotel’s~~Property’s operations. Hyatt reserves the right to suspend Services under any applicable Schedule if Owner has failed to timely pay or perform any of its obligations under this Agreement or any applicable Schedule for so long as Owner’s failure to pay or perform continues.

3. Personnel.

~~3. Schedule; Personnel. Hyatt will provide the Services on a schedule and using such personnel as Hyatt determines. The Services may be rendered by one or more employees or contractors~~an employee or subcontractor of Hyatt or its affiliates, ~~as Hyatt determines, and such person(s): (a) may not be~~affiliate who (a) is not solely dedicated to the ~~Hotel,~~Property and may perform similar services for other ~~hotels~~Owners; (b) may perform Services ~~on-site~~ at the ~~Hotel~~Property or ~~remotely off-site~~; and (c) will conform to the reasonable rules and regulations of the ~~Hotel when on Hotel premises. Owner hereby designates as Owner’s representative to direct the provision of the Services (as defined below) with respect to the Hotel:~~Property when on Property premises.

[Name, Title]

[email]

[telephone]

4. Fees.

~~4. Equipment and Material. Owner will provide and maintain adequate office space, equipment, systems, reports and materials at the Hotel in accordance with the System Standards (as defined in the Franchise Agreement) including, but not limited to, access to Smith Travel Reports and to the Hotel proprietary systems to permit timely performance and completion of the Services.~~

~~5. Fees and Reimbursements. Commencing on the Service Commencement Date, Owner will pay Hyatt services fees according to the service tier level then in effect (the “Fees”). As the date of this Agreement, the fees for each service tier level are as follows:~~

~~(a) For “Tactical” Tier Level: One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$1,000) per month;~~

In consideration of the Services, Owner agrees to pay Hyatt the fees at the rates set forth in the applicable Schedule(s) attached to this Agreement, or the then-current Updated Services Schedule, as applicable (“Fees”). Hyatt hereby discloses that fees set forth in any Schedule or an Updated Services Schedule may include a profit component, not to exceed a competitive amount. All amounts invoiced by Hyatt or its affiliates pursuant to this Agreement shall be payable on a “net” basis. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, if under applicable laws, Owner is required to withhold or Hyatt is required to pay any taxes and/or levies assessed by any third party on Hyatt or any of its affiliates as a recipient, including, but not limited to, sales taxes and withholding tax, and also any similar taxes that can replace or append the existing taxes, the amount payable to Hyatt and/or its affiliates by Owner shall be increased in such a manner that the net amount received after withholding or payment of all such taxes or levies shall be equal to the amount which Hyatt and/or its affiliates would have otherwise been entitled to invoice under the terms of this Agreement in the absence of any such taxes, levies or deductions.

~~(b) For “Essential” Tier Level: One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000) per month for calendar months preceding the Opening Month (if applicable) and Two Thousand Dollars (\$2,000) per month from and after the Opening Month; and~~

~~(c) For “Premium” Tier Level: One Thousand Seven Hundred and Fifty Dollars (\$1,750) per month for calendar months preceding the Opening Month (if applicable) and Three Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$3,500) per month from and after the Opening Month.~~

~~For purposes of this Section 5, “Opening Month” means the calendar month in which the Hotel first opens to the public as a Hyatt branded or affiliated hotel, provided that if such date occurs after the 16th day of the month, then the “Opening Month” is the immediately following calendar month.~~

~~Hyatt may periodically increase the Fees at any time upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to Owner, provided that Hyatt may not increase the Fees by more than ten percent (10%) per calendar year.~~

5. Feedback.

~~In addition to payment of the Fees, Hyatt reserves the right to charge Owner for reimbursement of expenses reasonably incurred by Hyatt in rendering the Services, including for transportation and related expenses, printing, photocopying, postage, and delivery services.~~

If Owner provides Hyatt with information, ideas, or feedback regarding the Services (“Feedback”), Owner hereby grants Hyatt a perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free, worldwide, sublicensable and transferrable right and license to use, reproduce, disclose, distribute, modify and otherwise exploit such Feedback without restriction. Section 5 shall survive termination or expiration of this Agreement.

6. Confidentiality.

- a. Each party (a “Receiving Party”) acknowledges that it and its employees, subcontractors or agents may, in the course of satisfying its obligations hereunder, be exposed to or acquire information that is proprietary to or confidential to the other party (a “Disclosing Party”). Any and all confidential information of any form obtained by a Receiving Party or its employees, subcontractors or agents in the performance of the Services or the satisfaction of such party’s obligations hereunder, including but not limited to the financial terms of this Agreement, product and business plans, unpublished financial information, trade secrets, know-how and information regarding processes, information regarding customers,

information concerning both successful and unsuccessful tests and ideas and technologies, and any reports, materials, program materials, software, flowcharts, notes, outlines and the like, used, created or developed by Hyatt or its affiliates in connection herewith (“Work Product”) shall be deemed to be the confidential and proprietary information (“Confidential Information”) of the Disclosing Party. The Receiving Party agrees (i) to hold all Confidential Information in strict confidence; (ii) to disclose Confidential Information only to employees of the Receiving Party who have a need to know such Confidential Information and who are advised to hold such Confidential Information in strict confidence; and (iii) not to copy, reproduce, sell, assign, license, market, transfer or otherwise dispose of, give or disclose such Confidential Information to third parties, or to use such Confidential Information for any purposes whatsoever other than in connection with the Receiving Party’s performance under this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement, the Receiving Party shall not copy, reproduce, sell, assign, license, market, transfer or otherwise dispose of, give or disclose the Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information to a competitor of the Disclosing Party without the prior written consent of the Disclosing Party. In addition, Owner acknowledges it does not have right, title, interest or copyright in any Work Product or Hyatt Confidential Information, nor any license to use, sell, exploit, copy or further develop such Work Product or Confidential Information. This provision will survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.

- b. Confidential Information shall exclude all information, which (a) is at the time of disclosure, or thereafter becomes, a part of the public domain through no act or omission of the other party, its employees or agents; (b) was in the other party’s possession as shown by written records prior to the disclosure and had not been obtained by such party either directly or indirectly from the Disclosing Party; (c) is hereafter disclosed to the other party by a third party who did not acquire the information directly or indirectly from the Disclosing Party hereunder; or (d) was independently developed by the other party without use of the Confidential Information, as evidenced by written records.

7. Compliance with Laws.

~~6. Compliance with Laws.~~ In performing the Services, Hyatt will, at its expense, fully comply with all applicable federal, state and/or local laws, rules, regulations and ordinances.

~~7. Indemnification. Owner will defend, indemnify and hold harmless Hyatt, its affiliates, and its and their respective officers, directors, agents and employees, representatives, successors and assigns (the “Indemnified Parties”) against, and will reimburse any one or more of the Indemnified Parties for, all Losses (as defined in the Franchise Agreement) directly or indirectly arising out of, resulting from, or in connection with the performance of the Services or the presence of Hyatt’s personnel at the Hotel, including, but not limited to, all Losses from or arising out of any bodily injuries to or the death of any of Hyatt’s employees working at the Hotel, however caused or occasioned. However, Owner has no obligation to indemnify under this Section 7 if a court of competent jurisdiction makes a final decision not subject to further appeal that Hyatt, its affiliate, or any of their respective employees directly engaged in willful misconduct or gross negligence or intentionally caused the property damage or bodily injury that is the subject of the claim, so long as the claim is not asserted on the basis of a theory of vicarious liability (including agency, apparent agency or employment), which are claims to which the~~

~~Indemnified Parties are entitled to indemnification under this Section. The provisions of this Section 7 shall survive termination or expiration of this Agreement.~~

8. Insurance.

~~8. Insurance.~~ Owner shall maintain insurance as set forth in the Franchise Agreement. To the extent the Franchise Agreement does not address Owner's insurance obligations, Owner shall procure ~~prior to the Service Commencement Date and for the remainder of the Term~~ and at all times during the term of this Agreement maintain such insurance covering the risks, in the amounts, and with the deductibles, retentions and other provisions, as reasonably designated by Hyatt from time to time for recipients of the Services, including but not limited to advertising liability and contractual liability coverage in a minimum amount of \$2,000,000.00 per occurrence or the then-current minimum coverage amount designated by Hyatt. All insurance must by endorsement specifically name Hyatt and its ~~affiliates~~ Affiliates (and Hyatt's and their employees and agents) as additional insureds. Owner must purchase each policy from an insurance company reasonably acceptable to Hyatt. Either the insurer or Owner must provide at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice to Hyatt of any insurance policy's cancellation, non-renewal or material change. Owner must deliver to Hyatt a certificate of insurance (or certified copy of such insurance policy if Hyatt requests) evidencing the required coverages and setting forth the amount of any deductibles not less than ten (10) days after their respective inception dates. If Owner fails for any reason to procure or maintain the insurance required by this Agreement, Hyatt shall have the right and authority (although without any obligation to do so) to procure such insurance and to charge Owner the cost together with a reasonable fee for Hyatt's expenses. Section 8 shall survive termination or expiration of this Agreement.

~~9.~~ **9. Indemnification and Limitation of Liability.**

- ~~a. a.~~ IF ANY, ~~HYATT'S INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS IN THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT ARE INCORPORATED BY THIS REFERENCE INTO THIS AGREEMENT.~~ HYATT'S INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS IN THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT ARE INCORPORATED BY THIS REFERENCE INTO THIS AGREEMENT.
- b. IF ANY, OWNER'S INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS IN THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT ARE INCORPORATED BY THIS REFERENCE INTO THIS AGREEMENT.
- c. EXCEPT IN FULFILLMENT OF ANY INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS, IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOSS OF PROFITS OR LOSS OF USE DAMAGES) ARISING OUT OF THE SERVICES OR ANY OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER SUCH CLAIM IS BASED UPON BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE) OR ANY OTHER LEGAL THEORY, EVEN IF A PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES OR LOSSES. EXCEPT IN FULFILLMENT OF ANY INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS, EACH PARTY'S LIABILITY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE LIMITED TO AND WILL NOT EXCEED THE SUM WHICH EQUALS THE FEES PAID TO HYATT UNDER THIS AGREEMENT.

- d. ~~THIS SECTION 9 SHALL SURVIVE TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION OF THIS AGREEMENT~~SECTION 9 SHALL SURVIVE TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION OF THIS AGREEMENT.

~~10. Confidentiality.~~ Hyatt and its affiliates have in the past acquired and developed, and in the future may acquire and develop, a substantial amount of commercially useful Proprietary Information (defined below) which gives them competitive advantages over those who do not have, or would have to expend significant efforts to compile, comparable information, including but not limited to revenue management practices and material. “Proprietary Information” includes, but is not limited to, (i) ~~information concerning both successful and unsuccessful tests and ideas and technologies,~~ (ii) ~~information concerning Hyatt’s and its affiliates’ business or business plans,~~ (iii) ~~information which Hyatt compiles and maintains in databases for its internal business purposes, including, but not limited to, information regarding Hyatt’s customers,~~ (iv) ~~information disclosed by Hyatt’s personnel in conversations verbally noted as “confidential” or in documents marked “confidential”,~~ (v) ~~any reports, materials, program materials, software, flowcharts, notes, outlines and the like, used, created or developed by Hyatt or its affiliates in connection herewith (“Work Product”),~~ and (vi) ~~any other information which Owner is informed or reasonably ought to know Hyatt regards as confidential. Owner will keep all Proprietary Information and Work Product confidential at all times, and further, Owner does not have right, title, interest or copyright in any Proprietary Information, Work Product or Hyatt confidential information, nor any license to use, sell, exploit, copy or further develop such Proprietary Information, Work Product or confidential information. This provision will survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.~~

10. Independent Contractor.

~~11. Independent Contractor.~~ Hyatt is an independent contractor and all persons employed to furnish Services hereunder are employees or subcontractors of Hyatt or its affiliates and not of Owner.

~~12.~~ 11. Incorporation of Franchise Agreement Provisions.

The article entitled Dispute Resolution and the sections entitled Notices, and Governing Law of the Franchise Agreement (if any and even if identified differently) are incorporated by this reference into this Agreement. Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this Agreement or in any Schedules attached hereto, as may be updated or supplemented by Hyatt in writing from time to time. All other capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Franchise Agreement and are incorporated herein by reference.

12. Force Majeure.

~~13. Force Majeure.~~ Neither party shall be liable to the other for any loss or damage due to delays or failure to perform hereunder resulting from events beyond the reasonable control of such party, including without limitation acts of God, action by any governmental entity, pandemic, fire, flood, telecommunication failures or labor disputes. (“Force Majeure Event”). In the event that a Force Majeure Event prevents Hyatt from delivering the Services for a period of more than thirty (30) days, either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon notice to the other party.

13. Binding/Assignment.

~~14. Binding/Assignment.~~ Except in the event of termination of this Agreement as set forth in Section 1, this Agreement shall inure to and bind the successors, assigns and representatives of the parties. Owner shall not assign this Agreement, except to an affiliate, without the prior written approval of Hyatt. Hyatt may assign this agreement, including to any of its affiliates, without the prior consent of Owner.

14. Entire Agreement.

~~15. Entire Agreement.~~ This contains the entire agreement between the parties, and supersedes any prior agreement, promises and understandings between them, concerning the subject matter hereto. No representations, promises or agreements, oral or otherwise, not embodied herein, shall be of any force or effect.

~~16-~~ **15. Execution / Amendment of Agreement.**

This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which, when fully executed, shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement may be executed and delivered via electronic transmission (including PDF) with the same force and effect as if it were executed and delivered by the Parties simultaneously in the presence of one another. This Agreement may be amended only by a written or electronic instrument signed by the parties hereto.

16. Schedules.

This Agreement shall prevail over any inconsistent terms in any Schedule attached hereto.

17. Headings.

~~17. Headings.~~ The headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and do not affect any provision hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties ~~have~~ executed this Agreement as of the Agreement Effective Date.

[Insert Owner's Contracting Entity]

Hyatt Corporation

By: _____

By: _____

Name: _____

Name: _____

Title:_____

Date:_____

Title:_____

Date:_____

FIELD MARKETING PROGRAM SCHEDULE
TO CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES BY HYATT MASTER AGREEMENT

This Field Marketing Program Schedule (“**Schedule**”) is made effective as of **[INSERT DATE]** (“**Schedule Effective Date**”) subject to and part of the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement entered into by the parties listed in the signature block below. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement or the Franchise Agreement, as applicable.

The Services under this Schedule shall be effective commencing on such date as Hyatt may designate in writing to Owner (email shall suffice) and, if no date is specifically designated by Hyatt in writing, then commencing on the first day of the first quarter that is at least thirty (30) days following the Schedule Effective Date (“**Service Effective Date**”) and continuing until terminated in accordance with this section. From the Service Effective Date until this Schedule is terminated or until this Schedule is replaced with an Updated Services Schedule that sets forth new Services or Fees, each party shall fulfill its obligations hereunder. Owner acknowledges that Hyatt may update the Services and related prices at any time by providing the Property an Updated Services Schedule at least ninety (90) days in advance, which may be provided electronically via email or by posting to any intranet for Hyatt branded or affiliated hotels. Owner agrees to be responsible for any subsequently updated Fees as listed on an Updated Services Schedule.

This Schedule may be terminated as follows:

- a. Either party may terminate this Schedule for any reason or no reason by notifying the other party in writing at least days ninety (90) days in advance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of termination by Owner pursuant to this subsection a, the effective date of such termination shall be no earlier than **[Insert Date]**²:
- b. This Schedule shall automatically terminate if (i) the Franchise Agreement expires or is terminated and Owner does not enter into a franchise agreement, hotel management agreement or hotel services agreement with Hyatt or its affiliate such that the Property continues to operate under a Hyatt brand or affiliation immediately following termination, or (ii) the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement expires or is terminated; and/or
- c. If either party commits a material breach of any provision of this Schedule and has failed to cure such breach within ten (10) days of receiving written notice, the other party may terminate this Schedule immediately upon written notice.

Upon termination of this Schedule, Owner shall remit to Hyatt payment for Services rendered through the effective date of termination.

[Signature Page to Follow]

² NTD: Delete this entire sentence if there is no term commitment being made by the hotel.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties executed this Schedule as of the Schedule Effective Date.

[Insert Owner's Contracting Entity]

Hyatt Corporation

By:_____

By:_____

Name:_____

Name:_____

Title:_____

Title:_____

Date:_____

Date:_____

**FIELD MARKETING PROGRAM SCHEDULE
TO CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES BY HYATT MASTER AGREEMENT**

SERVICES AND FEES ATTACHMENT – EFFECTIVE MARCH 2025

Choose an item.

1. **Services.** As part of Hyatt’s Field Marketing Program, Hyatt or its designee shall provide the following services:
 - **Digital Media Management and Budget Maintenance** – Hyatt Top-Up bid management Choose an item. and budget optimizations in Koddi.
 - **SEO** – Provide ongoing tactics to increase website visibility and semi-annual performance review.
 - **Agency Oversight** – Manager to join up to Choose an item. to provide strategic recommendations for paid media, outside of Top-Up, to include paid search, display and social media, including budget recommendations and performance review (only applicable if Property is working with a third party outside agency).
 - **Social Media Guidance** – Provide general support and ongoing consultation and best practices to leverage in property-level social media management. There may be opportunities to pilot paid social tools and capabilities.
 - **Destination + Email Marketing** – Opportunity for Property to be merchandized via local and/or regional promotions for select markets.
 - **Strategy Calls** – Field Marketing to participate in up to Choose an item. to align on hotel strategy and marketing recommendations.
 - **Ownership Support** – Manager to participate in up to (1) one ownership review Choose an item. (upon request/if applicable).
 - **Reporting** – Field Marketing program manager to provide monthly property specific reporting to Hotel regarding Field Marketing performance.
 - **Enhanced Content** – On-going site maintenance including management of the upload tool and Hyatt Brand Manager.
 - **Merchandising** – Support of merchandising for property-specific offers including Field Marketing emails, destination landing pages, Personalization Engine, brand and loyalty incentives.
 - **Third-Party Profiles** – Annual audit and maintenance of Google Business Profile including quarterly posts. Semi-annual audit of TripAdvisor and Yelp hotel profile only (does not include outlet profiles).
 - **Additional Tier Level support:**
 - Choose an item. marketing strategy meetings
 - Monthly reporting
 - Choose an item. analysis
 - Choose an item. digital optimizations
2. **Fees.** Subject to section 4 of the Central Hotel Services Master Agreement, Property shall pay Choose an item. USD per month commencing on Service Effective Date.

CENTRAL SALES PROGRAM SCHEDULE
TO CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES BY HYATT MASTER AGREEMENT

This Central Sales Program Schedule (“**Schedule**”) is made effective as of **[INSERT DATE]** (“**Schedule Effective Date**”) subject to and part of the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement entered into by the parties listed in the signature block below. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement or the Franchise Agreement, as applicable.

The Services under this Schedule shall be effective commencing on such date as Hyatt may designate in writing to Owner (email shall suffice) and, if no date is specifically designated by Hyatt in writing, then commencing on the first day of the first quarter that is at least thirty (30) days following the Schedule Effective Date (“**Service Effective Date**”) and continuing until terminated in accordance with this section. From the Service Effective Date until this Schedule is terminated or until this Schedule is replaced with an Updated Services Schedule that sets forth new Services or Fees, each party shall fulfill its obligations hereunder. Owner acknowledges that Hyatt may update the Services and related prices at any time by providing the Property an Updated Services Schedule at least ninety (90) days in advance, which may be provided electronically via email or by posting to any intranet for Hyatt branded or affiliated hotels. Owner agrees to be responsible for any subsequently updated Fees as listed on an Updated Services Schedule.

This Schedule may be terminated as follows:

- a. Either party may terminate this Schedule for any reason or no reason by notifying the other party in writing at least days ninety (90) days in advance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of termination by Owner pursuant to this subsection a, the effective date of such termination shall be no earlier than **[Insert Date]**³:
- b. This Schedule shall automatically terminate if (i) the Franchise Agreement expires or is terminated and Owner does not enter into a franchise agreement, hotel management agreement or hotel services agreement with Hyatt or its affiliate such that the Property continues to operate under a Hyatt brand or affiliation immediately following termination, or (ii) the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement expires or is terminated; and/or
- c. If either party commits a material breach of any provision of this Schedule and has failed to cure such breach within ten (10) days of receiving written notice, the other party may terminate this Schedule immediately upon written notice.

Upon termination of this Schedule, Owner shall remit to Hyatt payment for Services rendered through the effective date of termination.

[Signature Page to Follow]

³ NTD: Delete this entire sentence if there is no term commitment being made by the hotel.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties executed this Schedule as of the Schedule Effective Date.

[Insert Owner's Contracting Entity]

Hyatt Corporation

By:_____

By:_____

Name:_____

Name:_____

Title:_____

Title:_____

Date:_____

Date:_____

CENTRAL SALES PROGRAM SCHEDULE
TO CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES BY HYATT MASTER AGREEMENT

SERVICES AND FEES ATTACHMENT – EFFECTIVE MARCH 2025

- 1. Services.** As part of Hyatt’s Central Sales Program, Hyatt shall provide the following services (check all that apply):

Group Sales Management Services

☐ Select Service at Tier: Choose an item.

- Respond to incoming Group Leads & Referrals in assigned market
- Advance tentative group opportunities through the sales process to the contract phase
- Post Contract Operational Support - Build Blocks & Billing Support
- Detailing Definite Groups - Communicate Group needs to property
- Perform outreach to new and repeat clients

☐ Non-Select Service at Tier: Choose an item.

- Respond to incoming Group Leads and Referrals in assigned market
- Advance tentative group opportunities through the sales process to the contract phase
- Perform outreach to new and repeat clients

☐ **Lead Specialist Services at Tier: Choose an item.**

- Group Lead Response to client and proposal generation
- Checks sales funnel regularly and responds to assigned markets-Goal of decreased response time
- Daily Business Review (DBR) as needed for business that is outside the booking guidelines
- Submit transient RFPs via Cvent Transient
- Weekly Reporting (TENT Book Review)

☐ **Transient Sales Management at Tier: Choose an item.**

- Establish Negotiated Account Strategy and tactics to achieve goals
- Perform outreach to new and repeat clients
- Execute RFP Process
- Engagement with Business Travelers to build loyalty and encourage repeat business
- Deploy effective Distribution of new and existing volume accounts and groups
- Account Manage all existing account to build relationships as well as grow and steal market share

☐ **Central Director of Sales at Tier: Choose an item.**

- Research Property, competitors and market to understand current business landscape
- Establish Property Strategy and tactics to achieve goals

- Respond to incoming Group Leads & Referrals in assigned market
- Advance tentative group opportunities through the sales process to the contract phase
- Post Contract Operational Support – Build Blocks & Billing Support
- Detailing Definite Groups – Communicate Group needs to property
- Perform outreach to new and repeat clients
- Execute RFP Process
- Engagement with Business Travelers to build loyalty and encourage repeat business
- Deploy effective Distribution of new and existing volume accounts and groups
- Account Manage all existing account to build relationships as well as grow and steal market share

Administrative Support Services

☐ Select Service at Tier: Choose an item.

- Ensure leads from all sources are addressed promptly and accurately tracked in Envision
- Support Property with the drafting of contracts and addendums
- Build Group blocks & initial set up of group billing
- Load Transient rates and test sell for accuracy
- Monitor group production, cut off dates, attrition and rooming lists
- Provide Property leadership with reporting on sales funnel, target lists and performance

☐ Non-Select Service at Tier: Choose an item.

- Ensure leads from all sources are addressed promptly and accurately tracked in Envision
- Assign leads based on sales deployment
- Provide Property leadership with reporting on sales funnel and performance from Envision and Cvent

☐ **Sales Audit**

- Total evaluation of sales performance at Property including:
 - System Adoption
 - Response time to clients
 - Sales Process in place
 - Sales Strategy Established
- Presentation back to Property with findings and suggested area of opportunity and path forward

2. Fees. Subject to Section 4 of the Central Hotel Services Master Agreement, Property shall pay the Fees listed below based on the Services selected in Section 1 above.

Please note, lead volumes are targets and not guarantees.

Group Sales Management Services

<u>Tier</u>	<u>Annual Lead Volume Target</u>	<u>Service Level</u>	<u>Monthly Fee</u>
<u>“Express”</u>	<u>0-250 lead target</u>	<u>Select</u>	<u>\$1,750</u>
<u>1</u>	<u>250-500 lead target</u>	<u>Select</u>	<u>\$3,500</u>
<u>2</u>	<u>501-1000 lead target</u>	<u>Select</u>	<u>\$4,200</u>
<u>3</u>	<u>1001-1500 lead target</u>	<u>Select</u>	<u>\$4,900</u>
<u>4</u>	<u>1501-2000 lead target</u>	<u>Select</u>	<u>\$5,600</u>
<u>5</u>	<u>2001-2500 lead target</u>	<u>Select</u>	<u>\$6,300</u>
<u>1</u>	<u>0-500 lead target</u>	<u>Non-Select</u>	<u>\$3,850</u>
<u>2</u>	<u>501-1000 lead target</u>	<u>Non-Select</u>	<u>\$4,550</u>
<u>3</u>	<u>1001-1500 lead target</u>	<u>Non-Select</u>	<u>\$5,250</u>
<u>4</u>	<u>1501-2000 lead target</u>	<u>Non-Select</u>	<u>\$5,950</u>
<u>5</u>	<u>2001-2500 lead target</u>	<u>Non-Select</u>	<u>\$6,650</u>

Lead Specialist Services

<u>Tier</u>	<u>Annual Lead Volume Target</u>	<u>Meeting Space</u>	<u>Monthly Fee</u>
<u>1</u>	<u>0-500 lead target</u>	<u><5K space</u>	<u>\$1,000</u>
<u>2</u>	<u>501-1000 lead target</u>	<u><5K space</u>	<u>\$2000</u>
<u>3</u>	<u>501-1000 lead target</u>	<u>>5k space</u>	<u>\$3,000</u>
<u>4</u>	<u>1001-1500 lead target</u>	<u>>5k space</u>	<u>\$4,000</u>
<u>5</u>	<u>1501-2000 lead target</u>	<u>>5k space</u>	<u>\$5,000</u>
<u>5+</u>	<u>+2,000 lead target</u>	<u>>5k space</u>	<u>Based on Lead Volume</u>

Transient Sales Service

<u>Tier</u>	<u>Annual Corporate Negotiation Room Nights Target</u>	<u>Monthly Fee</u>
<u>1</u>	<u><5,000</u>	<u>\$ 1,600</u>
<u>2</u>	<u>>5,000 - < 10,000</u>	<u>\$ 2,400</u>
<u>3</u>	<u>> 10,000</u>	<u>\$ 3,200</u>

Central Director of Sales Service (Select Service Only)

<u>Tier</u>	<u>Annual Lead Volume Target</u>	<u>Annual Corporate Negotiation Room Nights Target</u>	<u>Monthly Fee</u>
<u>“Express”/Pre-Opening</u>	<u><250</u>	<u><2,500</u>	<u>\$ 5,050</u>
<u>1</u>	<u>≥250</u>	<u>≥2,500</u>	<u>\$ 7,600</u>

Administrative Support

<u>Tier</u>	<u>Annual Lead Volume</u>	<u>Service Level</u>	<u>Monthly Fee</u>
<u>1</u>	<u><1,000</u>	<u>Select</u>	<u>\$ 2,000</u>
<u>2</u>	<u>≥1,000</u>	<u>Select</u>	<u>\$ 2,500</u>

<u>Tier</u>	<u>Annual Lead Volume</u>	<u>Service Level</u>	<u>Monthly Fee</u>
<u>2</u>	<u><1,000</u>	<u>Non-Select</u>	<u>\$ 3,000</u>
<u>3</u>	<u>≥1,000</u>	<u>Non-Select</u>	<u>\$ 3,500</u>

Sales Audit

<u>One Time Service</u>	<u>Service Level</u>	<u>One Time Cost</u>
<u>Sales Audit</u>	<u>Select</u>	<u>\$1,000</u>

**REVENUE MANAGEMENT SERVICES PROGRAM SCHEDULE
TO CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES BY HYATT MASTER AGREEMENT**

This Revenue Management Services Program Schedule (“**Schedule**”) is made effective as of **[INSERT DATE]** (“**Schedule Effective Date**”) subject to and part of the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement entered into by the parties listed in the signature block below. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement or the Franchise Agreement, as applicable.

The Services under this Schedule shall be effective commencing on such date as Hyatt may designate in writing to Owner (email shall suffice) and, if no date is specifically designated by Hyatt in writing, then commencing: (a) if the Property is already operating as of the Schedule Effective Date, on a date Hyatt determines not less than ninety (90) days following the Schedule Effective Date or (b) if this Schedule is being executed in connection with the development of a new hotel, on a date Hyatt determines approximately ninety (90) days prior to the anticipated or scheduled opening of the Property for the “Tactical” or “Essential” tier level service or one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the anticipated or scheduled opening of the Hotel for the “Premium” tier level service (unless, in either case, Hyatt consents to an earlier date) (“**Service Effective Date**”) and continuing until terminated in accordance with this section. From the Service Effective Date until this Schedule is terminated or until this Schedule is replaced with an Updated Services Schedule that sets forth new Services or Fees, each party shall fulfill its obligations hereunder. Owner acknowledges that Hyatt may update the Services and related prices at any time by providing the Property an Updated Services Schedule ninety (90) days in advance, which may be provided electronically via email or by posting to any intranet for Hyatt branded or affiliated hotels. Owner agrees to be responsible for any subsequently updated Fees as listed on an Updated Services Schedule.

This Schedule may be terminated as follows:

- a. Either party may terminate this Schedule for any reason or no reason by notifying the other party in writing at least days ninety (90) days in advance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of termination by Owner pursuant to this subsection a, the effective date of such termination shall be no earlier than **[Insert Date]**⁴;
- b. This Schedule shall automatically terminate if (i) the Franchise Agreement expires or is terminated and Owner does not enter into a franchise agreement, hotel management agreement or hotel services agreement with Hyatt or its affiliate such that the Property continues to operate under a Hyatt brand or affiliation immediately following termination, or (ii) the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement expires or is terminated; and/or
- c. If either party commits a material breach of any provision of this Schedule and has failed to cure such breach within ten (10) days of receiving written notice, the other party may terminate this Schedule immediately upon written notice.

Upon termination of this Schedule, Owner shall remit to Hyatt payment for Services rendered through the effective date of termination.

[Signature Page to Follow]

⁴ NTD: Delete this entire sentence if there is no term commitment being made by the hotel.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties executed this Schedule as of the Schedule Effective Date.

(OWNER)

HYATT CORPORATION

[Insert Owner's Contracting Entity]

Hyatt Corporation

By: _____

By: _____

Name: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

Title: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

**REVENUE MANAGEMENT SERVICES PROGRAM SCHEDULE
TO CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES BY HYATT MASTER AGREEMENT**

SERVICES AND FEES ATTACHMENT– EFFECTIVE MARCH 2025

Choose an item. Tier Level Service

- 1. Services.** As part of Hyatt’s Revenue Management Services Program, Hyatt or its designee shall provide the following services:
- Resource planning, inventory controls, market segmentation, and industry and competitor analyses for the Property; frequency of service and number of touchpoints will vary by Tier Service Level selected.
 - Owner agrees to provide and maintain adequate office space, equipment, systems, reports and materials at the Property in accordance with the System Standards (as defined in the Franchise Agreement) including, but not limited to, access to Smith Travel Reports and to the Property’s proprietary systems to permit timely performance and completion of the Services.
 - Owner hereby designates the following representative to direct the provision of the Services with respect to the Property:
 - [Name, Title]
 - [email]
 - [telephone]
- 2. Fees.** Subject to section 4 of the Central Hotel Services Master Agreement, Property shall pay the following fees commencing on the Service Effective Date:
- If applicable, Choose an item. USD per month for any month preceding the Opening Month⁵
 - Choose an item. USD per month from and after the Opening Month
 - “Opening Month” means the calendar month in which the Property first opens to the public as a Hyatt branded or affiliated hotel, provided that if such date occurs after the 16th day of the month, then the “Opening Month” is the immediately following calendar month.
 - In addition to payment of the Fees, Hyatt reserves the right to charge Owner for reimbursement of expenses reasonably incurred by Hyatt in rendering the Services, including for transportation and related expenses, printing, photocopying, postage, and delivery services.

⁵ NTD: Delete for Tactical.

**GLOBAL PROPERTY GUEST SERVICES PROGRAM SCHEDULE
TO CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES BY HYATT MASTER AGREEMENT**

This Global Property Guest Services Program Schedule (“**Schedule**”) is made effective as of **[INSERT DATE]** (“**Schedule Effective Date**”) subject to and part of the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement entered into by the parties listed in the signature block below. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement or the Franchise Agreement, as applicable.

The Services under this Schedule shall be effective commencing on such date as Hyatt may designate in writing to Owner (email shall suffice) and, if no date is specifically designated by Hyatt in writing, then commencing on the first day of the first quarter that is at least thirty (30) days following the Schedule Effective Date (“**Service Effective Date**”) and continuing until terminated in accordance with this section. From the Service Effective Date until this Schedule is terminated or until this Schedule is replaced with an Updated Services Schedule that sets forth new Services or Fees, each party shall fulfill its obligations hereunder. Owner acknowledges that Hyatt may update the Services and related prices at any time by providing the Property an Updated Services Schedule at least ninety (90) days in advance, which may be provided electronically via email or by posting to any intranet for Hyatt branded or affiliated hotels. Owner agrees to be responsible for any subsequently updated Fees as listed on an Updated Services Schedule.

This Schedule may be terminated as follows:

- a. Either party may terminate this Schedule for any reason or no reason by notifying the other party in writing at least days ninety (90) days in advance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of termination by Owner pursuant to this subsection a, the effective date of such termination shall be no earlier than **[Insert Date]**⁶:
- b. This Schedule shall automatically terminate if (i) the Franchise Agreement expires or is terminated and Owner does not enter into a franchise agreement, hotel management agreement or hotel services agreement with Hyatt or its affiliate such that the Property continues to operate under a Hyatt brand or affiliation immediately following termination, or (ii) the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement expires or is terminated; and/or
- c. If either party commits a material breach of any provision of this Schedule and has failed to cure such breach within ten (10) days of receiving written notice, the other party may terminate this Schedule immediately upon written notice.

Upon termination of this Schedule, Owner shall remit to Hyatt payment for Services rendered through the effective date of termination.

[Signature Page to Follow]

⁶ NTD: Delete this entire sentence if there is no term commitment being made by the hotel.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties executed this Schedule as of the Schedule Effective Date.

[Insert Owner's Contracting Entity]

Hyatt Corporation

By: _____

By: _____

Name: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

Title: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

**GLOBAL PROPERTY GUEST SERVICES PROGRAM SCHEDULE
TO CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES BY HYATT MASTER AGREEMENT**

SERVICES AND FEES ATTACHMENT– EFFECTIVE MARCH 2025

1. Services. As part of Hyatt’s Global Property Guest Services Program, Hyatt or its designee shall provide the following services (check all that apply):

☐ **Foreign Independent Travelers (FIT):** Hyatt will manually add reservations on an as needed basis.

☐ **HySAT Reviews:** Hyatt or its subcontractors will engage post-stay online surveys on the following sites – Expedia, hotels.com, booking.com, google, and trip advisor, or other sites as Hyatt may indicate from time to time.

☐ **PBX Services:** Hyatt will accept and respond to guest calls that are routed to the Property front desk & handle basic requests in HotSOS, in accordance with regularly scheduled service hours as reasonably determined by Hyatt. Property agrees to reasonably cooperate with Hyatt so that Hyatt may give guests high quality service in accordance with brand guidelines and Hyatt industry standard.

☐ **GSB/Rooming List Support:** Contractor will build group blocks and/or upload rooming lists on an as needed basis. This includes support and changes for the life of the group along with EOI Property support.

☐ **Post Stay Review Support:** Contractor will engage post-stay Medallia surveys on behalf of Property.

2. Fees. Subject to section 4 of the Central Hotel Services Master Agreement, Property shall pay the Fees listed below based on the Services selected in Section 1 above.

<u>Service</u>	<u>One Time Cost</u>
<u>FIT</u>	<u>\$3.50 USD per interaction</u>
<u>HySAT Reviews</u>	<u>\$3.50 USD per interaction</u>
<u>PBX Services</u>	<u>\$1.30 USD per occupied room</u>
<u>GSB/Rooming List Support</u>	<u>\$16 USD per list</u>
<u>Post Stay Review Support</u>	<u>\$3.50 USD per interaction</u>

**DIGITAL ANCILLARY SERVICES PROGRAM SCHEDULE
TO CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES BY HYATT MASTER AGREEMENT**

This Digital Ancillary Program Schedule (“**Schedule**”) is made effective as of **[INSERT DATE]** (“**Schedule Effective Date**”) subject to and part of the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement entered into by the parties listed in the signature block below. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement or the Franchise Agreement, as applicable.

The Services under this Schedule shall be effective commencing on such date as Hyatt may designate in writing to Owner (email shall suffice) and, if no date is specifically designated by Hyatt in writing, then commencing on the first day of the first quarter that is at least thirty (30) days following the Schedule Effective Date (“**Service Effective Date**”) and continuing until terminated in accordance with this section. From the Service Effective Date until this Schedule is terminated or until this Schedule is replaced with an Updated Services Schedule that sets forth new Services or Fees, each party shall fulfill its obligations hereunder. Owner acknowledges that Hyatt may update the Services and related prices at any time by providing the Property an Updated Services Schedule at least ninety (90) days in advance, which may be provided electronically via email or by posting to any intranet for Hyatt branded or affiliated hotels. Owner agrees to be responsible for any subsequently updated Fees as listed on an Updated Services Schedule.

This Schedule may be terminated as follows:

- a. Either party may terminate this Schedule for any reason or no reason by notifying the other party in writing at least days ninety (90) days in advance. [Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of termination by Owner pursuant to this subsection a, the effective date of such termination shall be no earlier than **[Insert Date]**⁷;
- b. This Schedule shall automatically terminate if (i) the Franchise Agreement expires or is terminated and Owner does not enter into a franchise agreement, hotel management agreement or hotel services agreement with Hyatt or its affiliate such that the Property continues to operate under a Hyatt brand or affiliation immediately following termination, or (ii) the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement expires or is terminated; and/or
- c. If either party commits a material breach of any provision of this Schedule and has failed to cure such breach within ten (10) days of receiving written notice, the other party may terminate this Schedule immediately upon written notice.

In addition, Property agrees to provide Owner a copy of this Schedule, along with a written communication specifically noting that Owner may rescind execution of this Schedule by notifying Way (defined below) of such rescission within thirty (30) days of the date of the communication, a template form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A. If Owner provides timely notice of its decision to rescind, this Schedule shall immediately terminate without further obligation by either party.

Upon termination of this Schedule, Owner shall remit to Hyatt payment for Services rendered through the effective date of termination.

⁷ NTD: Delete this entire sentence if there is no term commitment being made by the hotel.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties executed this Schedule as of the Schedule Effective Date.

[Insert Owner's Contracting Entity]

Hyatt Corporation

By:_____

By:_____

Name:_____

Name:_____

Title:_____

Title:_____

Date:_____

Date:_____

**DIGITAL ANCILLARY SERVICES PROGRAM SCHEDULE
TO CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES BY HYATT MASTER AGREEMENT**

SERVICES AND FEES ATTACHMENT– EFFECTIVE MARCH 2025

- 1. Services.** As part of Hyatt’s Digital Ancillary Services Program, Hyatt or its designee, including Kouto, Inc. d/b/a Way (“Way”), shall provide the following services:
 - **Experience Content Management** – Access to build experiences with certain Way products which provide the capability to merchandise different categories of experiences. Products include Host, Activate, Reserve, and certain new products released by Way during the Term of this Schedule.
 - **Experience Availability Management** – Ability to manage pricing, inventory, and availability for each experience configured and bookable through Way.
 - **Dedicated Ancillary Site** – One dedicated, Property branded site that allows visitors to view and book experiences configured in Way. Site can include experiences bookable on Way or experiences linked from Way to other sites.
 - **Intelligent Ancillary Placements** – Distribution across Hyatt web, app, and marketing channels through dedicated ancillary placements. Select individual experience placements using Hyatt Personalization Engine (HPE) to target experiences to users.
 - **Ongoing Property Support** – Staff support from Way by phone or email throughout the Term. Also access to self-serve support through Way support guides and a dedicated HyattConnect page.

- 2. Fees.** Subject to section 4 of the Central Hotel Services Master Agreement, Property shall pay \$1,250 USD per month plus the Way Commission commencing on Service Effective Date.
 - **“Way Commission”** means a commission on all ancillary services and products booked through the Way integrated channels and not cancelled by the purchaser equal to 5% of Net Revenues actually received and not refunded by Way or Owner with respect to such ancillary services and products (**“Commission”**).
 - **“Net Revenue”** is defined as gross revenues actually received by Way from purchases of ancillary services and products, less any refunds, sales taxes, and third-party transaction fees (including but not limited to credit card processing fees).
 - There will be no Way Commission assessed on: (a) non-revenue generating activities included in the ancillary services and products; (b) any ancillary services and products purchased directly at the Property (e.g., through concierge or front desk colleagues); (c) non-publicly listed b2b or group sales ancillary services and products even if booked through the Way integrated channels; or (d) Owner/member only ancillary services and products (and only where member ID functionality is used) even if booked through the Way integrated channels.

EXHIBIT A
TO DIGITAL ANCILLARY SERVICES PROGRAM SCHEDULE
TO CENTRAL HOTEL SERVICES BY HYATT MASTER AGREEMENT

We are pleased to inform you that we have opted in to secure additional Digital Ancillary Services through the Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Program for our hotel. Attached is a fully executed Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement and Digital Ancillary Services Program Schedule for these additional Digital Ancillary Services from Hyatt.

Under this agreement, Hyatt or its designee, Way, will provide additional Digital Ancillary Services support to our hotel, including negotiated pricing for annual Way software license, exclusive ancillary merchandising placements, and custom reporting capabilities to drive ancillary revenue opportunities at our hotel. These enhanced services will be in addition to any base ancillary services provided by Hyatt pursuant to your existing agreements.

Should you wish to rescind the agreement, you have thirty days from the date of this letter to contact digitalancillary@hyatt.com and request such action. Otherwise, we look forward to receiving these services and will work to maximize the benefits we receive.

Please let us know of any questions.

EXHIBIT J
COMFORT LETTER

J



150 North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, IL 60606

Tel: 312.750.1234

_____, ~~2024~~2025

[Lender Name]
[Street Address]
[City, State ZIP]
Attention: [Contact Name]
E-mail: [Contact Email]

Re: Franchise Agreement dated as of _____, ~~2024~~2025 (the “**Franchise Agreement**”), by and between ~~Hyatt~~ _____ Choose an item., L.L.C., a _____ Choose an item. limited liability company, ~~(“Hyatt”)~~, and _____, ~~a(n)~~ _____, a _____ (“**Franchisee**”).

Dear Sir or Madam:

Reference is made to the Franchise Agreement pursuant to which Franchisee operates or will operate the ~~{Brand}~~ Choose an item. Hotel located at _____ [Hotel Address] (the “**Hotel**”). The arrangement represented by the Franchise Agreement is called the “Franchise.” Franchisee has represented that (1) Franchisee and _____ [Lender Name] (“**Lender**”) have entered into, or are about to enter into, a loan agreement pursuant to which the Hotel will secure certain indebtedness owed by Franchisee to Lender, which indebtedness will be evidenced by a promissory note made by Franchisee in favor of Lender (together with the other loan documents evidencing or securing such indebtedness, as amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the “**Loan Documents**”) and (2) that the loan proceeds will be used for the direct benefit of the Hotel. Franchisee and Lender have requested that Hyatt enter into this letter agreement (this “**Comfort Letter**”). Franchisee or Lender shall pay to Hyatt a fee in the amount of Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$2,500) in connection with this Comfort Letter, prior to or simultaneous with its execution. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Franchise Agreement.

Hyatt, Franchisee, and Lender agree as follows:

1. While Lender has a valid first mortgage on the Hotel during the term of the Franchise Agreement, Hyatt agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) give Lender thirty

(30) days prior written notice of any voluntary surrender by Franchisee of the Franchise (to the extent that Hyatt is aware in advance of any such voluntary surrender) and (b) furnish Lender with copies of default notices sent by Hyatt to Franchisee. In the event of a default by Franchisee under the Franchise Agreement Hyatt shall allow Lender thirty (30) days from the date of any such notice to cure or cause to be cured the default(s) specified in such notice. If such default is of a non-monetary nature and cannot be cured within said thirty (30) day period by reason of the time necessary for Lender to exercise its rights and remedies pursuant to the Loan Documents or applicable law, then Lender shall have such additional period of time, as is reasonably necessary to complete the exercise of its rights and remedies, provided that Lender proceeds with and continues to cure such non-monetary default and exercise of remedies with due diligence, but in no event shall such period exceed one hundred and eighty (180) days following notice to Lender. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing: ~~(a)~~, in the event of a health or life safety default, the cure period shall be three (3) days; ~~and (b)~~. In addition, Lender does not have the ability to cure the following defaults by Franchisee: bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, appointment of a receiver, breach of restrictions on Control Transfers, or breach of Trade Restriction Laws, but foreclosure of Lender's mortgage by Lender shall constitute curing of such defaults solely for the purpose of this Comfort Letter and commencement of foreclosure proceedings shall constitute commencement of cure solely for the purpose of this Comfort Letter; provided, however, if Lender petitions for the appointment of a receiver, Lender (~~ay~~) shall not, during the term of the receivership, consent to a sale or transfer of the Hotel to a third party unless Hyatt has approved the transferee in accordance with Section 12.4 of the Franchise Agreement and (~~bz~~) any receiver must be authorized to operate the Hotel in accordance with the Franchise Agreement and meet Hyatt's reasonable requirements for operators of Hyatt-affiliated hotels. For the avoidance of doubt, Lender is not required to cure any default by Franchisee under the Franchise Agreement except as set forth below in connection with an Acquisition.

2. ~~If~~ Lender acknowledges and agrees that if Lender should acquire the Hotel through foreclosure, conveyance in lieu of foreclosure, or any similar transaction (an "**Acquisition**") while the Franchise Agreement is in full force and effect, ~~Hyatt and Lender shall~~ it shall become obligated to perform under the Franchise Agreement as the franchisee. In order to effectuate such obligation, within thirty (30) days following such Acquisition and in any event prior to any subsequent sale of the Hotel by Lender, Hyatt and Lender shall, at Hyatt's option, either (a) sign an assignment and assumption agreement in a form that Hyatt reasonably specifies under which Lender shall take an assignment of and assume all of Franchisee's rights and obligations under the Franchise Agreement, or (b) enter into a new ~~Franchise Agreement with Hyatt~~ franchise agreement to operate the Hotel for a term equal to Franchisee's remaining term of the Franchise Agreement in accordance with Hyatt's then prevailing standards, rates, requirements, and terms; provided however that in either event (i) Lender shall not be charged any Application Fee (as same is described in Hyatt's then current Franchise Disclosure Document for prospective franchisees); (ii) Lender shall not be required to perform a renovation or upgrading of the Hotel (although Lender will be required to cure any quality deficiencies as shown on the most current quality inspection

report and shall be subject to ongoing renovation or upgrading requirements that may be required by Hyatt in accordance with the Franchise Agreement, including but not limited to standard cycle renovations); (iii) Lender shall have no personal responsibility for the payment of liquidated damages or termination fees which Franchisee may be obligated to pay under the terms of the Franchise Agreement solely as a result of the Acquisition; (iv) Lender shall agree to cure any existing defaults under the Franchise Agreement by Franchisee within the times specified by Hyatt and bring current all payments due and owing to Hyatt and its affiliated companies, except for any amounts specifically excluded under this Section 2; ~~and~~ (v) Lender shall assume the obligation to repay Hyatt unamortized “key money,” if any, as described in the Franchise Agreement, although any such amounts shall (if applicable) continue to amortize in the manner set forth in the Franchise Agreement. ~~Hyatt acknowledges and agrees that an Acquisition by Lender shall not be subject to any right of first refusal or right of first offer contained in the Franchise Agreement.~~

; and (vi) as soon as is practicable but in no event later than thirty (30) days following such Acquisition. ~~Notwithstanding the foregoing, Hyatt is not obligated to enter into a Franchise Agreement with Lender pursuant to this Section 2 if Lender fails to comply with the requirements of Section 3 below within the times provided therein or if Lender is a Brand Owner or Hyatt is prohibited from transacting with Lender under any Trade Restriction Law. If Lender should acquire the Hotel,~~ Lender shall appoint an agent or management company to operate the Hotel and such agent or management company must ~~(ix)~~ (ix) be approved in writing by Hyatt; ~~(ix)~~ (ix) meet Hyatt’s then current requirements for such agents or management companies, including by signing such agreements and other documents as Hyatt periodically specifies; and ~~(ix)~~ (ix) cause the Hotel’s general manager and other personnel (if different from the Hotel personnel in place prior to the Acquisition) to complete Hyatt’s then current training requirements in accordance with the Franchise Agreement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Hyatt acknowledges and agrees that an Acquisition by Lender shall not be subject to any right of first refusal or right of first offer contained in the Franchise Agreement, and Lender acknowledges and agrees that Hyatt may refuse to enter into a franchise agreement with Lender pursuant to this Section 2 if Lender fails to comply with the requirements of Section 3 below within the times provided therein or if Lender is a Competing Brand Owner or Hyatt is prohibited from transacting with Lender under any Trade Restriction Law, in which case Hyatt shall provide notice to Lender of such refusal and of the termination of the Franchise Agreement as a result.

3. Lender agrees:

(a) ~~(i)~~ to provide Hyatt with written notice at least twenty (20) days in advance of: ~~(a)~~ the commencement of any proceedings by Lender regarding an Acquisition of the Hotel; ~~(b)~~ the petition by Lender for appointment of a receiver, or to obtain the entry of an order for relief or take any action under federal or state bankruptcy laws or similar laws with regard to the

Hotel; (~~e~~iii) the acceptance by Lender of a conveyance of the Hotel in lieu of foreclosure; or (~~d~~iv) Lender taking ownership or possession of the Hotel in any manner; and

(b) (~~ii~~) to notify Hyatt in writing of the commencement by another party of foreclosure proceedings or the filing of an action for the appointment of a receiver or petition for relief under state or federal bankruptcy laws, within thirty (30) days after ~~Lender receives~~ Lender's notice of commencement of such proceedings.

4. Except as set forth in paragraphs 5 and 6 below, this Comfort Letter and the rights hereunder are not assignable by Lender or Franchisee, and neither Lender nor Franchisee has any right or authority to sell, transfer, or assign, or in any manner convey to any third party the Franchise Agreement or any rights under this Comfort Letter, except as provided in the Franchise Agreement. If a third party should become the owner of the Hotel, that third party may apply to Hyatt for a new ~~Franchise~~franchise to operate the Hotel, and such application shall be considered in accordance with the same standards by Hyatt with respect to other franchise applications unless otherwise required by law.

5. Lender may assign the Comfort Letter to any subsequent holder or holders of all or any portion of the Loan Documents (the “**Assignee**”) without Hyatt’s consent; provided that the Assignee (~~i~~a) is a commercial bank, investment bank, pension fund, finance company, insurance company, trustee in a securitization or other financial company, or other financial institution or such other type of established organization (so long as such established organization is not a Competing Brand Owner or does not exclusively lend to a Competing Brand Owner) primarily engaged in the business of making or holding loans and any fund or trust managed or serviced by any of the foregoing and (~~ii~~b) does not own, directly or indirectly, any equity interest in Franchisee or its constituent owners; provided further that upon the sale or transfer of the Loan Documents, Lender pays to Hyatt a processing charge of \$7,500 and that promptly upon the sale or transfer of the Loan Documents to the Assignee, Lender, Assignee, and Franchisee shall execute and deliver to Hyatt an assignment and assumption agreement of this Comfort Letter (the “**Assignment**”), and provided further that, in the event there is more than one Assignee, such Assignees shall have (~~ix~~) designated one representative to receive notices, negotiate on behalf of and bind each such Assignee in connection with this Comfort Letter and any Assignment thereof, and (~~iz~~) acknowledged that Hyatt shall be entitled to rely on such designation and deal solely with such representative without the necessity of notifying, negotiating with, or obtaining the consent of, each such Assignee.

6. The rights and obligations which accrue to Lender under this Comfort Letter upon ~~the taking of title to the Hotel's premises by foreclosure or deed in lieu thereof~~ an Acquisition shall also accrue to any wholly-owned subsidiary or commonly controlled affiliate of Lender that takes title to the premises by ~~foreclosure or deed in lieu thereof~~ Acquisition, and Lender guarantees all obligations to Hyatt of such subsidiary. For avoidance of doubt, Lender’s obligations under this

Comfort Letter shall also apply to and bind any designee of Lender who acquires the Hotel or its premises through an Acquisition.

7. All notices required under this Comfort Letter shall be in writing, sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, or by Federal Express or other express service and addressed, if to Lender, to _____[Lender Address], Attention: [Lender Contact Name], if to Hyatt, to Hyatt ~~Franchising~~Choose an item., L.L.C., 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606, with a copy via e-mail to office.of.general.counsel@hyatt.com, and if to Franchisee, _____[Franchisee Address], Attention: [Franchisee Contact Name]. Any notice sent pursuant to this Comfort Letter shall be deemed to be given three (3) days after mailing or on the day of delivery by hand.

8. By its signature below, Franchisee acknowledges that this Comfort Letter was provided to Lender at Franchisee's request and in consideration thereof, Franchisee hereby (i) releases Lender and Hyatt, as well as each of their respective subsidiaries, parents, divisions, successors, assigns, heirs and representatives, including but not limited to their respective employees, agents, officers, directors and owners, of and from any and all actions, causes of action, suits, claims, demands, contingencies, debts, accounts and judgments whatsoever, at law or in equity, whether known or unknown, arising from the exercise by Lender or Hyatt (as applicable) of any of the rights granted hereunder and the recognition and compliance with such exercise by Hyatt or Lender (as applicable) and (ii) agrees that Hyatt may discuss with Lender or its designee the status of the Hotel, the Franchise Agreement, or any matter to which Lender or Hyatt is entitled to notice under the terms of this Comfort Letter or the Franchise Agreement.

9. The provisions of this Comfort Letter are not intended to, and do not in any way, alter, modify or amend the Franchise Agreement as between Hyatt and Franchisee.

10. It is further acknowledged and agreed that Hyatt shall be entitled to rely upon any written notice or request by Lender made pursuant to the provisions hereof without requirement of necessitating the accuracy or authenticity of such written notice or any facts or allegations contained therein. Lender shall notify Hyatt promptly upon the satisfaction or cancellation of Lender's mortgage on the Hotel.

11. Lender's rights under this Comfort Letter shall terminate if Lender has been taken over in any manner by any state or federal agency or is in a receivership, conservatorship, reorganization, or liquidation, or Lender or any of its officers or directors have entered into or are subject to a cease and desist order or any other formal or informal written agreement with a federal or state regulatory agency.

12. This Comfort Letter may be executed in multiple counterparts and by .pdf or facsimile transmission, each of which shall constitute an original and all of which taken together

[LENDER NAME]
_____, ~~2024~~2025
Page 6

shall constitute one and the same instrument. An executed copy will be returned to both Lender and Franchisee.

[Signature pages follow]

[LENDER NAME]

_____, ~~2024~~2025

Page 7

HYATT _____ Choose an item., **L.L.C.**
a _____ Choose an item. **limited liability**
company

By: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

FRANCHISEE

[FRANCHISEE NAME]

[state/entity]

By: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

LENDER

[LENDER NAME]

[state/entity]

By: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

EXHIBIT K
SUBSCRIPTION AND HOSTING SERVICES AGREEMENT

K

SUBSCRIPTION AND HOSTING SERVICES AGREEMENT

This Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement (“**Agreement**”) is made this _____ day of _____, 2025 (the “**Effective Date**”), by and between _____ (Name of Franchisee), a(n) _____ (“**Owner**”) and Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company (“**Hyatt**”). Hyatt and Owner may be referred to herein individually as a “Party” or together as the “Parties.”

WHEREAS, Owner owns or will own the Hyatt Place Hotel, which is or will be located at _____, _____ (the “**Property**”), and the Property is operated pursuant to a franchise agreement between Owner and Hyatt (as it may be amended, “**Franchise Agreement**”);

WHEREAS, Hyatt’s affiliate licenses a property management system from Oracle America, Inc. (“**Oracle**”) and Hyatt has the right to grant Owner use of the property management system, and Owner desires to use such property management system; and

WHEREAS Owner has also requested that Hyatt provide hosting and related services in support of the Property Management System and Hyatt has agreed to provide such services to the extent set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the representations and promises of the parties set forth below, and other good and valuable consideration the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

1. Scope of Services.

a. Subscription Grant. This Agreement including Schedule 1 describes the Services that Hyatt shall provide to Owner hereunder, which shall include hosting and making available the Property Management System for use by Owner and its Authorized Users, and providing and maintaining the Hosted Hardware. The Services shall also include: (i) access to support as described in Schedule 1; and (ii) upgrades and updates to: (A) the Third Party Software (to the extent provided by applicable third party vendor and authorized for use by Hyatt); and (B) the Hosted Hardware (to the extent provided by applicable third party vendor and authorized for use by Hyatt). Installation and configuration services will be subject to a separate agreement.

b. Restrictions. Owner may not: (i) host, loan, rent, lease, resell, transfer, convey, assign or license the Property Management System, or any portion thereof to any other party; (ii) sell information services to other parties through the use of the Property Management System, whether in the form of a service bureau, reservation center, or other information processing entity; (iii) reverse engineer, decompile or disassemble the Property Management System; (iv) knowingly propagate any virus, worms, Trojan horses or other programming routine intended to damage any system or data; or (v) knowingly store defamatory, trade libelous, or otherwise unlawful data. In addition, Owner must comply with all other restrictions listed in the License Agreement. Hyatt reserves all other rights not expressly granted to Owner hereunder.

c. Suspension. Hyatt, without prejudice to its other rights at law or in equity, may suspend the Services: (i) upon a violation of any restriction or obligation listed in Section 1(b); (ii) if any misuse of the Services or misconduct with respect to the Services on the part of Owner or its employees, agents or end users creates, in Hyatt’s sole and reasonable judgment, an imminent risk of material damage to Hyatt’s network, facilities or other property or violation of any applicable laws or legal obligations; (iii) if Owner disrupts or causes harm to Hyatt’s computers, systems, infrastructure, or provision of the Property Management System to other parties; or (iv) upon request of a government authority. Any suspension shall be as limited in scope and duration as possible consistent with Hyatt’s needs to protect its network, facilities and property. Except in the case of suspension upon request of government authority, Owner shall continue to pay all Fees during the suspension period. Service shall be promptly restored as soon as Hyatt determines, in its sole, reasonable discretion, that the default has been cured.

2. Definitions

- a. **"Affiliate"** means with respect to any party, any person or entity that, at any given time, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such party, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract, or otherwise.
- b. **"Agreement"** means this Agreement, including all current or future schedules.
- c. **"Authorized Users"** means: (i) Owner; and (ii) employees and agents of Owner when they are performing services for Property relating to the Property Management System.
- d. **"Cardholder Data"** means any data that relates to (i) a payment card authorized by or bearing the logo of a member of the Payment Card Industry ("PCI") Security Standards Council (the "PCI SSC"), or any similar organization that Hyatt periodically specifies, or alternative technology or non-cash transaction method relating to payment that Hyatt periodically specifies, or (ii) a person to whom such a payment card or alternative technology as described in (i) has been issued.
- e. **"Effective Date"** means the date that appears in the first paragraph of this Agreement.
- f. **"Facility"** means the physical location at which, at any given time, the Hosted Hardware resides and the hosted components of the Property Management System are hosted by Hyatt or its Affiliate.
- g. **"Fees"** shall have the meaning assigned to it in Section 6(a).
- h. **"Flag Change"** shall have the meaning assigned to it in Section 10(c).
- i. **"Hosted Hardware"** means the file servers, network routers and switches, firewalls, and other hardware, technology, and network devices in the Facility and used by Hyatt to host the hosted components of the Property Management System and provide the Services. It does not include any hardware located outside of the Facility, including any hardware located at the Property.
- j. **"Hosted System"** means the Hosted Hardware, Property Management System and Third Party Software, collectively, hosted by Hyatt or its Affiliate and made available by Hyatt to Owner and its Authorized Users pursuant to this Agreement.
- k. **"Hotel Environment"** means the hardware and software environment for which the Owner has selected and is responsible for as set out in Hyatt's then current Configuration Guide Technical Requirements and Operating Standards: General Requirements, which is available upon request and posted on Hyatt's intranet site, Hyattconnect.
- l. **"License Agreement"** means the agreement between Oracle and Hyatt's Affiliate for the property management system.
- m. **"PCI DSS"** means the current Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards.
- n. **"Property Management System"** means the software specified in the License Agreement.
- o. **"Service Effective Date"** means the Opening Date of the Hotel as defined in the Franchise Agreement.
- p. **"Services"** means all tasks and services to be performed by Hyatt hereunder and described in Schedule 1.
- q. **"Term"** has the meaning assigned to it in Section 5 hereof.
- r. **"Third Party Software"** means any software that is proprietary to a third party and that is installed

and maintained on the Hosted Hardware or otherwise used in connection with the provision of the Services but does not include the Property Management System.

3. Data Ownership.

Hyatt and Owner acknowledge and agree that ownership and access rights for the data input into the Property Management System shall be as set forth in the Franchise Agreement.

4. Services

a. General. Schedule 1 specifies the Hosted System to be provided by Hyatt in connection with the performance of the Services hereunder. The Hosted System shall be physically located at the Facility. As of and from the Effective Date and continuing throughout the Term, Hyatt will be responsible for daily management, monitoring, operation and maintenance of the Hosted System within the Facility, for the benefit of Owner and its Authorized Users, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Should such maintenance require a temporary disruption of any Services, Hyatt shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide Owner two (2) weeks advance notice of such scheduled maintenance. The current maintenance schedule is set forth in Schedule 2. Hyatt shall update such schedule as applicable. Should any disruption be required outside of the agreed maintenance window (for example, for a critical incident), Hyatt shall provide Owner with prompt notice of such emergency maintenance. Hyatt will make every commercially reasonable effort to make any such disruptions as brief as possible and to schedule any such disruptions during the scheduled maintenance window.

b. Hotel Environment. Owner acknowledges and agrees that the performance of the Services is dependent upon Owner providing, at its sole cost and expense, all of the elements of the Hotel Environment. Owner waives any claims, without limitation, including warranty claims against Hyatt, to the extent arising from Owner's failure to provide a hardware and software environment that complies with the Hotel Environment requirements.

c. Restrictions. Owner may only use the Hosted System and Services for Owner's business at the Property. Owner will not make any representations or warranties on behalf of Hyatt or its Affiliate that are inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. Owner's failure to use the Property Management System, Third Party Software, Hosted Hardware, Hosted System, or Services shall not relieve Owner of any of its obligations hereunder, including without limitation payment obligations. Owner may not host, loan, rent, lease, resell, transfer, convey, assign or license the Services to any other party or sell information services to other parties through the use of the Property Management System, Hosted Systems or Service, whether in the form of a service bureau, reservation center, or other information processing entity.

d. Personnel. Services may be rendered by an employee or subcontractor of Hyatt or its Affiliate who (a) is not solely dedicated to the Property, and may perform similar services for other hotels; (b) may perform Services at the Property or off-site; and (c) will conform to the reasonable rules and regulations of the Property when on Property premises.

5. Term.

This Agreement is effective upon the Effective Date, and five (5) years from the Effective Date (the "**Initial Term**"), unless sooner terminated in accordance with the terms hereof. Thereafter, this Agreement shall automatically renew for successive 12-month renewal periods (each, a "**Renewal Term**" and, together with the Initial Term, the "**Term**") unless written notice of termination is provided by either Party to the other Party at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of the then-applicable term.

6. Payments and Terms.

a. Payment. In consideration of the Services to be provided by Hyatt to Owner under this Agreement, Owner agrees to pay the then-current fees for the Services in effect as of the Service Effective Date (the "**Fees**"), subject to Section 6(b) of this Agreement. After the Service Effective Date, the Fees may be increased by Hyatt on an annual basis, subject to Section 6(b) of this Agreement. Hyatt will send Owner an invoice for the Fees on a monthly basis. Owner shall pay all Fees set forth on an invoice within thirty (30) days of the invoice date. If Owner fails to

make any payment when due then, in addition to all other remedies that may be available, Hyatt may charge interest on the past due amount at the rate of 1.5% per month calculated daily and compounded monthly or, if lower, the highest rate permitted under applicable law.

b. Fee Guidance. The Fees for the Services are intended to cover the costs for Hyatt to provide the Services. The Fees for such Services will be calculated in the same manner as the fees charged to hotels managed by a Hyatt Affiliate that are receiving similar services.

c. Payment Default. If any undisputed payment is more than 45 days late, Hyatt shall have the right to suspend its provision of Services until the date such amount is paid in full by Owner.

7. Warranties.

a. Hyatt represents and warrants to Owner as follows:

i. that it has the full right, power and authority to enter into this Agreement and that Hyatt's entering into this Agreement shall not result in a breach of or constitute a default under any agreement or instrument to which it is a party;

ii. Hyatt shall comply with all applicable laws, enactments, orders and regulations in connection with the performance of its obligations hereunder;

iii. all performance under this Agreement by Hyatt shall be in a professional, and workmanlike manner by appropriately qualified and experienced personnel, in accordance with industry standard practices and the provisions and requirements of this Agreement; and

iv. Hyatt shall maintain compliance with the PCI DSS for the Hosted System, including the security of Cardholder Data that Hyatt stores, processes or transmits on behalf of the Owner.

v. Hyatt shall pass through to Owner any warranties received from Oracle as may be available.

vi. Hyatt shall implement a disaster recovery program and use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain such program.

b. Owner represents and warrants to Hyatt as follows:

i. it has the full right, power, and authority to enter into this Agreement and that Owner's entering into this Agreement shall not result in a breach of or constitute a default under any agreement or instrument to which it is a party;

ii. Owner shall comply with all applicable laws, enactments, orders and regulations in connection with the performance of its obligations hereunder; and

iii. Owner shall comply with standards and measures required under the PCI DSS regarding the collection, storage, use, processing and transfer of Cardholder Data and maintain the confidentiality and security of that Cardholder Data.

c. THE FOREGOING WARRANTIES ARE IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER WARRANTIES EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THOSE CONCERNING MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND ACCURACY OR USE. WITHOUT PREJUDICE TO THE FOREGOING WARRANTIES OR ANY OF HYATT'S EXPRESS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, HYATT DOES NOT WARRANT OR GUARANTEE THAT THE HOSTED HARDWARE, PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM, OR ANY OF THE SERVICES PROVIDED HEREUNDER WILL SATISFY OWNER'S REQUIREMENTS, OR THAT THE OPERATION OF SUCH WILL BE COMPLETELY UNINTERRUPTED OR COMPLETELY ERROR FREE.

8. Indemnity.

Hyatt and Owner's indemnification obligations in the Franchise Agreement are incorporated by reference into this Agreement. Hyatt agrees to pass through to Owner any indemnification rights received from Oracle as may be available.

9. Limitation of Damages and Disclaimers.

a. Indirect Damages. EXCEPT AS SET FORTH IN THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT, NO PARTY WILL BE RESPONSIBLE TO THE OTHER PARTY OR ITS AFFILIATES FOR ANY CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT OR SPECIAL DAMAGES, INCLUDING LOST PROFITS, BUSINESS INTERRUPTION, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES WHETHER ARISING FROM OWNER'S USE (OR INABILITY TO USE) OF THE HOSTED HARDWARE, PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM, SUPPORT OR SERVICES PROVIDED HEREUNDER, EVEN IF IT HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGE.

b. Damages Cap. EXCEPT AS SET FORTH IN THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT, IN NO EVENT SHALL ANY PARTY BE LIABLE IN RESPECT OF ANY EVENT OR SERIES OF CONNECTED EVENTS FOR ANY DAMAGES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES HEREUNDER IN EXCESS OF AN AMOUNT EQUAL TO THE SUM OF ALL FEES AND CHARGES DUE HEREUNDER, WHETHER OR NOT PAID BY OWNER FOR THE 12 MONTHS PERIOD PRIOR TO THE RELEVANT EVENT OR SERIES OF EVENTS. WITHOUT LIMITING HYATT'S EXPRESS OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER, HYATT SHALL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE FOR AND DISCLAIMS ANY LIABILITY ASSOCIATED WITH A THIRD PARTY'S FAILURE TO PROCESS CREDIT CARD TRANSACTIONS ON BEHALF OF OWNER.

c. Hotel Security. It is Owner's responsibility to have and maintain in place virus protection software and reasonable security for its on-site systems and on-site data, which such security include firewalls, passwords, physical security, access control policies, and the like. Owner acknowledges that the security of Property's facilities and protection of its own network and the data and applications on that network, including protections against unauthorized access, is solely and entirely Owner's responsibility. Owner acknowledges that, to be effective, virus protection software, system passwords, and other security software require periodic updates, which Owner must obtain from its supplier or the manufacturer, as appropriate. Support or services hereunder necessitated by viruses introduced by Owner or its Affiliate or a third party, or by any failure or breach of Owner's security for its systems or data (not including breaches of the security of the Services or Hosted Hardware), including, without limitation, damage caused by hackers or persons lacking authorized access, is not covered, and will be supplied only upon request and on a reasonable efforts basis, on a time and material basis. Owner waives any claims against Hyatt to the extent arising from Owner's failure to have or maintain current virus protection, or to the extent arising from a failure or breach of Owner's security for its own systems. Hyatt will use commercially reasonable efforts to secure the environment from unauthorized access, which shall be no less than the efforts it takes to secure its own environment.

d. Communications. Owner will be responsible for installing and bearing the cost of all communications necessary to access the Property Management System from Owner's facilities, and implementing and maintaining any necessary or desired security for the communication process. Hyatt expressly disclaims any responsibility for or liability or problems resulting from Owner's choice of a communications service provider and any matters directly relating to Owner's connectivity or transmission of data to or from the Facility.

e. Access to Data. Owner acknowledges that its ability to access its data may be adversely affected by problems with its Internet or Owner private network provider connectivity and any mutually agreed upon scheduled maintenance outages.

10. Termination.

a. Termination by Hyatt. Notwithstanding any minimum agreed term, Hyatt may, by written notice to Owner, terminate this Agreement: (i) upon any material breach by Owner which such material breach is not remedied within thirty (30) days of written notice to Owner setting out the nature of such breach and requiring its remedy; (ii)

upon the termination of the License Agreement in accordance with its terms; or (iii) at any time for any reason or no reason upon thirty (30) days written notice to Owner.

b. Termination by Owner. Owner may terminate this Agreement: (i) upon any material breach by Hyatt which such material breach is not remedied within thirty (30) days of written notice to Hyatt setting out the nature of such breach and requiring its remedy; or (ii) without cause upon six (6) months' notice to Hyatt.

c. Termination for Assignment. This Agreement shall automatically terminate upon any Flag Change by Owner. For purposes of this clause, "**Flag Change**" means any termination of Hyatt's franchise relationship with Owner or any change resulting in the Property ceasing to be under a management, franchise or similar agreement with a direct or indirect subsidiary of Hyatt Hotels Corporation.

d. Effect of Termination of Agreement. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement:

i. Owner shall immediately cease using the Services and Hyatt shall cease providing Services to Owner under this Agreement;

ii. Upon termination pursuant to Section 10(a), Owner shall pay all Fees for Services provided prior to the expiration/termination date.

iii. The Parties agree that Sections that by their nature, or to give effect to their meaning, must survive expiration or termination of this Agreement, shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement.

11. Facility. Hyatt or its Affiliate may move the Facility to another location at any time, provided in the event the new location is in a different country than the prior location, Hyatt shall notify Owner in writing of the intended move as far in advance thereof as is reasonably practicable under the circumstances (but in no event less than ninety (90) days in advance). Any relocation or moving of the Facility shall be conducted with the least disruption feasible upon Owner or any Authorized Users. Hyatt shall not be responsible to Owner for any such additional or incremental costs and expenses incurred by Owner, or any of its respective third-party service-providers or other business associates.

12. No Assignment. Owner may not assign or transfer this Agreement or its rights and obligations hereunder, without the prior written consent of Hyatt. Any unpermitted assignment shall be null and void. Hyatt reserves the right at any time to transfer or assign this Agreement, or a portion thereof, without notice or consent.

13. Force Majeure. Neither Party shall be responsible for delay or failure in performance resulting from events beyond its reasonable control and that were not avoidable through the exercise of due care, which shall include but not limited to acts of God, fire, earthquakes, war, civil unrest, accident, power fluctuations or outages, telecommunication fluctuations, outages or delays, utility failures, mechanical defects or other events beyond the control of a Party.

14. Independent Contractor. Hyatt is an independent contractor and all persons employed to furnish Services hereunder are employees or subcontractors of Hyatt and not of Owner.

15. Incorporation of Franchise Agreement Provisions. Articles XIV, XVII and XVIII of the Franchise Agreement, entitled Dispute Resolution (including, but not limited to Arbitration), Notices and General, respectively, are incorporated by this reference into this Agreement.

16. Binding. This Agreement shall inure to and bind the successors, assigns and representatives of the parties.

[signature page follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.

HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.

[Insert Name of Franchisee]

By: _____

By: _____

Name:

Name: _____

Title:

Title: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

LIST OF SCHEDULES

Schedule 1	Hosted System and Services
Schedule 2	Maintenance Schedule

Schedule 1

HOSTED SYSTEM AND SERVICES

HOSTED SYSTEM

OPERA Xpress Property Management (PMS)
Applicable Property Interfaces

SERVICES

Hyatt shall be responsible for:

- (i) Installation of the Hosted Hardware at the Facility.
- (ii) Hosting and monitoring of the Property Management System.
- (iii) Hosting, monitoring, maintenance and support of the Third Party Software (except the Property Management System), and the Hosted Hardware.
- (iv) For clarity, with regard to the Hosted System: (i) scheduled maintenance; (ii) security and intrusion detection; and (iii) event reporting.

All Hosted Hardware shall be continually monitored and managed by Hyatt on a 24 x 7 x 365 basis.

As between Owner and Hyatt, all connectivity from the Owner's network to the Hosted System components in the Facility is the sole responsibility of Owner. All connectivity within the Facility is the sole responsibility of Hyatt.

Owner's primary point of contact for support with respect to the Property Management System shall be Oracle, unless Owner is located in a region where Oracle does not provide support, in which case Owner's primary point of contact for such support shall be Oracle's designated support partner. If Owner is not able to obtain support from Oracle (or an Oracle designated support partner, as applicable), Owner may open a support ticket with the Hyatt Service Desk.

Schedule 2

MAINTENANCE SCHEDULE

Hyatt's maintenance schedule is subject to change. Emergency maintenance may be performed at any time. Hyatt's current maintenance schedule for scheduled and non-emergency maintenance is as follows:

Maintenance Task Calendar

The calendar below highlights the days when maintenance tasks may occur during the month.

Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8	9	10	11	12	13	14
15	16	17	18	19	20	21
22	23	24	25	26	27	28
29	30	31				

Color	Description
Green	Available for scheduled maintenance.
Yellow	Prior to performing any scheduled maintenance, additional discretion will be applied in order to avoid impact to business on these days.

EXHIBIT L

FIELD MARKETING PROGRAM OPT-IN AGREEMENT

EXHIBIT M

STATE-SPECIFIC ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES AND RIDERS

ML

**ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES TO THE
MULTI-STATE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT OF
HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.**

The following are additional disclosures to the Multi-state Franchise Disclosure Document of Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. required by various state franchise laws. Each provision of these additional disclosures will not apply unless, with respect to that provision, the jurisdictional requirements of the applicable state franchise registration and disclosure law are met independently without reference to these additional disclosures.

NO WAIVER OR DISCLAIMER OF RELIANCE IN CERTAIN STATES

The following provision applies only to franchisees and franchises that are subject to the state franchise registration/disclosure laws in California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington, or Wisconsin:

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by you in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by us, any franchise seller, or any other person acting on our behalf. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

CALIFORNIA

Item 21 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C.'s unaudited balance sheet as of December 31, ~~2023~~2024, its most recent fiscal year end, as follows:

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C.

Unaudited Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2024

HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.
UNAUDITED BALANCE SHEET
As of December 31, 2024

ASSETS	
CURRENT ASSETS:	
Accounts receivable	6,133,590
Total current assets	6,133,590
Franchise agreement assets constituting payments to customers	63,588,154
Franchise agreement intangibles, net	2,309,963
TOTAL ASSETS	\$ 72,031,707
LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S EQUITY	
CURRENT LIABILITIES:	
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$ 2,517
Current contract liabilities	977,606
Total current liabilities	980,123
Long-term contract liabilities	17,846,118
Total liabilities	18,826,241
MEMBER'S EQUITY	53,205,466
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S EQUITY	\$ 72,031,707

THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WERE PREPARED WITHOUT AN AUDIT. INVESTORS IN OR SELLERS OF FRANCHISES SHOULD BE ADVISED THAT NO CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT HAS AUDITED THESE FIGURES OR EXPRESSED HIS OPINION WITH REGARD TO THEIR CONTENTS OR FORM.

HAWAII

THESE FRANCHISES WILL BE/HAVE BEEN FILED UNDER THE FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW OF THE STATE OF HAWAII. FILING DOES NOT CONSTITUTE APPROVAL, RECOMMENDATION OR ENDORSEMENT BY THE DIRECTOR OF REGULATORY AGENCIES OR A FINDING BY THE DIRECTOR OF REGULATORY AGENCIES THAT THE INFORMATION PROVIDED HEREIN IS TRUE, COMPLETE AND NOT MISLEADING. THE FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW MAKES IT UNLAWFUL TO OFFER OR SELL ANY FRANCHISE IN THIS STATE WITHOUT FIRST PROVIDING TO THE PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE, OR SUBFRANCHISOR, AT LEAST SEVEN DAYS PRIOR TO THE EXECUTION BY THE PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE OF ANY BINDING FRANCHISE OR OTHER AGREEMENT, OR AT LEAST SEVEN DAYS PRIOR TO THE PAYMENT OF ANY CONSIDERATION BY THE FRANCHISEE, OR SUBFRANCHISOR, WHICHEVER OCCURS FIRST, A COPY OF THE OFFERING CIRCULAR, TOGETHER WITH A COPY OF ALL PROPOSED AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE SALE OF THE FRANCHISE. THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR CONTAINS A SUMMARY ONLY OF CERTAIN MATERIAL PROVISIONS OF THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT. THE CONTRACT OR AGREEMENT SHOULD BE REFERRED TO FOR A STATEMENT OF ALL RIGHTS, CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS AND OBLIGATIONS OF BOTH THE FRANCHISOR AND THE FRANCHISEE.

1. The following paragraph is added to the end of Item 17 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by you in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by us, any franchise seller, or any other person acting on our behalf. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

MARYLAND

1. The following language is added to the end of the “Summary” sections of Item 17(c) of the Franchise Disclosure Document, titled **Requirements for franchisee to renew or extend**, and Item 17(m), titled **Conditions for franchisor approval of transfer**:

Any release required as a condition of renewal and/or assignment/transfer will not apply to any liability under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

2. The following language is added to the end of the “Summary” section of Item 17(h) of the Franchise Disclosure Document, titled **“Cause” defined – non-curable defaults**:

Termination upon insolvency might not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 U.S.C. Section 101 et seq.), but we will enforce it to the extent enforceable.

3. The following language is added to the end of the “Summary” section of Item 17(v) of the Franchise Disclosure Document, titled **Choice of forum**:

Franchisee may, subject to any arbitration obligations, bring an action in Maryland for claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law to the extent required by the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law, unless preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act.

4. The following language is added to the end of the “Summary” section of Item 17(w) of the Franchise Disclosure Document, titled **Choice of law**:

; however, to the extent required by the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law, subject to your arbitration obligation, you may bring an action in Maryland.

5. The following paragraphs are added to the end of Item 17 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

You must bring any claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law within 3 years after the grant of the franchise.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by you in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by us, any franchise seller, or any other person acting on our behalf. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

MINNESOTA

1. The following paragraphs are added to the end of Item 17 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

For franchises governed by Minnesota law, we will comply with Minn. Stat. §80C.14, Subds. 3, 4, and 5 which require, except in certain specified cases, that you be given 90 days’ notice of termination (with 60 days to cure) and 180 days’ notice for non-renewal of the Franchise Agreement.

Any release as a condition of renewal and/or assignment/transfer will not apply to the extent prohibited by law for claims arising under Minn. Rule 2860.4400D.

Minn. Rule Part 2860.4400J prohibits a franchisee from waiving rights to a jury trial; waiving rights to any procedure, forum or remedies provided by the laws of the jurisdiction; or consenting to liquidated damages, termination penalties or judgment notes. However, we and you will enforce these provisions in our Franchise Agreement to the extent the law allows.

Minn. Stat. Sec. 80C.21 and Minn. Rule 2860.4400J prohibits us from requiring litigation to be conducted outside Minnesota. Those provisions also provide that no condition, stipulations or provision in the Franchise Agreement shall in any way abrogate or reduce any rights you have under the Minnesota Franchises Law, including (subject to your arbitration obligation) the right to submit matters to the jurisdiction of the courts of Minnesota and the right to any procedure, forum or remedies that the laws of the jurisdiction provide.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by you in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by us, any franchise seller, or any other person acting on our behalf. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

NORTH DAKOTA

1. The following language is added to the end of the “Remarks” column of the rows in the Item 6 chart of the Franchise Disclosure Document, titled “Royalty fee upon termination,” “Liquidated damages upon condemnation,” and “Liquidated damages upon termination”:

The Commissioner has determined termination or liquidated damages to be unfair, unjust and inequitable within the intent of Section 51-19-09 of the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law. However, we and you agree to enforce these provisions to the extent the law allows.

2. The following language is added to the end of the “Summary” sections of Item 17(c) of the Franchise Disclosure Document, titled **Requirements for franchisee to renew or extend**, and Item 17(m) of the Franchise Disclosure Document, titled **Conditions for franchisor approval of transfer by franchisee**:

Any release will not apply to the extent prohibited by applicable law to claims arising under the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law.

3. The “Summary” section of Item 17(u) of the Franchise Disclosure Document, titled **Dispute resolution by arbitration or mediation**, is deleted and replaced with the following:

Except for certain claims, we and you must arbitrate all disputes at a location the arbitrator chooses within 10 miles of our then current principal business address; however, to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise investment Law (unless preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act), we and you will arbitrate at a site to which we and you mutually agree.

4. The following language is added to the end of the “Summary” section of Item 17(v) of the Franchise Disclosure Document, titled **Choice of forum**:

; however, to the extent required by applicable law, subject to your arbitration obligation, you may bring an action in North Dakota.

5. The following language is added to the end of the “Summary” section of Item 17(w) of the Franchise Disclosure Document, titled **Choice of law**:

Except for Federal Arbitration Act and other federal law, to the extent required by law, North Dakota law applies.

6. The following paragraph is added to the end of Item 17 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by you in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by us, any franchise seller, or any other person acting on our behalf. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

**RIDER TO THE HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
FOR USE IN MARYLAND**

This Rider is made and entered into as of _____, ~~2024~~2025 (this “**Agreement**”) by and between _____, a _____ (“**Franchisee**”) and the franchisor entity set forth in Exhibit C (“**Hyatt**”).

1. **Background.** Hyatt and Franchisee are parties to that certain Franchise Agreement dated _____, ~~2024~~2025 that has been signed concurrently with the signing of this Rider. This Rider is annexed to and forms part of the Franchise Agreement. This Rider is being signed because (a) Franchisee is a resident of Maryland, or (b) the ~~Hyatt-Place~~Brand Hotel will be located or operated in Maryland.

2. **Releases.** The following language is added to the end of Sections 10, 12.4(e) and 13.3 of the Franchise Agreement:

; provided, however, that such general release shall not apply to any liability under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

3. **Dispute Resolution.** The following sentence is added to the end of the first paragraph of Section 14.1:

Franchisee may, subject to any arbitration obligations, bring an action in Maryland for claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law to the extent required by the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law, unless preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act.

4. **Governing Law.** The following sentence is added to the end of Section 14.2:

However, to the extent required by applicable law, Maryland law will apply to claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

5. **Limitations of Claims.** The following sentence is added to the end of Section 14.6 of the Franchise Agreement:

, except that any and all claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law must be brought within three (3) years after the grant of the Franchise.

6. **Acknowledgements.** The following language is added to the end of Article XIX of the Franchise Agreement:

Such representations are not intended to nor shall they act as a release, estoppel or waiver of any liability incurred under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Rider as of the dates set forth by their signatures, to be effective as of the Effective Date (regardless of the dates of the parties' signatures).

FRANCHISEE:

[ENTITYNAMECAPS]

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____
Date: _____

[FRANCHISOR ENTITY]

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

**RIDER TO THE HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.
CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT
FOR USE IN MARYLAND**

This Rider is made ~~as of this _____ day of _____, _____~~ and entered into as of _____, 2025, by and between _____, a[n] _____, whose address is _____ (“Company”) and HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, whose address is 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606 (“Hyatt”).

1. **Background.** Hyatt and Company are parties to that certain Confidentiality Agreement dated _____, ~~2024~~2025 that has been signed concurrently with the signing of this Rider. This Rider is annexed to and forms part of the Confidentiality Agreement. This Rider is being signed because (a) Franchisee is a resident of Maryland, or (b) the ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel will be located or operated in Maryland.

2. **Governing Law.** The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 13 and 14 of the Confidentiality Agreement:

However, to the extent required by applicable law, Maryland law will apply to claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Rider on the day and year first above written.

HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

**RIDER TO THE HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
FOR USE IN MINNESOTA**

This Rider is made and entered into as of _____, ~~2024~~2025 (this “Agreement”) by and between _____, a _____ (“Franchisee”) and the franchisor entity set forth in Exhibit C (“Hyatt”).

1. **Background.** Hyatt and Franchisee are parties to that certain Franchise Agreement dated _____, ~~2024~~2025 that has been signed concurrently with the signing of this Rider. This Rider is annexed to and forms part of the Franchise Agreement. This Rider is being signed because (a) the offer or sale of the franchise for the ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel that Franchisee will operate under the Franchise Agreement was made in the State of Minnesota, and/or (b) the ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel will be located or operated in Minnesota.

2. **Termination Penalties/Liquidated Damages.** The following language is added to the end of Sections 10.1, 10.2, and 16.5 of the Franchise Agreement

Hyatt and Franchisee acknowledge that certain parts of these provisions are not enforceable under Minn. Rule Part 2860.4400J; however, the parties will enforce these provisions to the extent the law allows.

3. **Releases.** The following language is added to the end of Sections 12.4(e) and 13.3 of the Franchise Agreement:

; however, any release required as a condition of renewal and/or assignment/transfer will not apply to the extent prohibited by the Minnesota Franchises Law.

4. **Termination and Renewal.** The following language is added to the end of Sections 10, 13 and 15 of the Franchise Agreement:

Minnesota law provides Franchisee with certain termination and non-renewal rights. Minn. Stat. §80C.14 Subds. 3, 4 and 5 require, except in certain specified cases, that Franchisee be given 90 days’ notice of termination (with 60 days to cure) and 180 days’ notice for non-renewal of this Agreement.

5. **Governing Law/Consent to Jurisdiction.** The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 14.2 and 14.3 of the Franchise Agreement:

Pursuant to Minn. Stat. §80C.21 and Minn. Rule Part 2860.4400j, these sections shall not in any way abrogate or reduce franchisee’s rights as provided for in Minnesota Statutes 1984, Chapter 80C., including, subject to the parties’ arbitration obligation, the right to submit matters to the jurisdiction of the courts of Minnesota.

6. **Waiver of Punitive Damages and Jury Trial.** If required by the Minnesota Franchises Law, Section 14.5 of the Franchise Agreement is deleted.

7. **Limitations of Claims.** The following sentence is added to the end of Section 14.6 of the Franchise Agreement:

However, Minnesota law provides that no action may be commenced under Minn. Stat. Sec. 80C.17 more than three (3) years after the cause of action accrues.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Rider as of the dates set forth by their signatures, to be effective as of the Effective Date (regardless of the dates of the parties' signatures).

FRANCHISEE:

[ENTITYNAMECAPS]

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____
Date: _____

[FRANCHISOR ENTITY]

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

**RIDER TO THE HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.
CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT
FOR USE IN MINNESOTA**

This Rider is made ~~as of this _____ day of _____, _____~~ and entered into as of _____, 2025, by and between _____, a[n] _____, whose address is _____ (“Company”) and HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, whose address is 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606 (“Hyatt”).

1. **Background.** Hyatt and Company are parties to that certain Confidentiality Agreement dated _____, ~~2024~~2025 that has been signed concurrently with the signing of this Rider. This Rider is annexed to and forms part of the Confidentiality Agreement. This Rider is being signed because (a) the offer or sale of the franchise for the ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel that Company would operate under a franchise agreement was made in the State of Minnesota, and/or (b) the ~~Hyatt Place~~Brand Hotel would be located or operated in Minnesota.

2. **Governing Law.** The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 13 and 14 of the Confidentiality Agreement:

Pursuant to Minn. Stat. §80C.21 and Minn. Rule Part 2860.4400J, this Section shall not in any way abrogate or reduce Company’s rights as provided for in Minnesota Statutes 1984, Chapter 80C, including the right to submit matters to the jurisdiction of the courts of Minnesota.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Rider on the day and year first above written.

HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

**RIDER TO THE HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
FOR USE IN NORTH DAKOTA**

This Rider is made and entered into as of _____, ~~2024~~2025 (this “Agreement”) by and between _____, a _____ (“Franchisee”) and the franchisor entity set forth in Exhibit C (“Hyatt”).

1. **Background.** Hyatt and Franchisee are parties to that certain Franchise Agreement dated _____, ~~2024~~2025 that has been signed concurrently with the signing of this Rider. This Rider is annexed to and forms part of the Franchise Agreement. This Rider is being signed because (a) the offer or sale of the franchise for the ~~Hyatt PlaceBrand~~ Hotel Franchisee will operate under the Franchise Agreement was made in the State of North Dakota, and/or (b) Franchisee is a resident of North Dakota and will operate the ~~Hyatt PlaceBrand~~ Hotel in North Dakota.

2. **Liquidated Damages.** The following language is added to the end of Sections 10.1, 10.2, and 16.5 of the Franchise Agreement:

The Commissioner has determined termination or liquidated damages to be unfair, unjust and inequitable within the intent of Section 51-19-09 of the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law. However, Hyatt and Franchisee agree to enforce these provisions to the extent the law allows.

3. **Releases.** The following language is added to the end of Sections 10, 12.4(e) and 13.3 of the Franchise Agreement:

Any release will not apply to the extent otherwise prohibited by applicable law with respect to claims arising under the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law.

4. **Arbitration.** The fourth sentence of Section 14.1 of the Franchise Agreement is deleted and replaced with the following:

All proceedings will be conducted at a suitable location chosen by the arbitrator that is within ten (10) miles of Hyatt’s then current principal business address; however, if required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law (unless preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act), Hyatt and Franchisee will arbitrate at a site to which Hyatt and Franchisee mutually agree.

5. **Governing Law.** The following language is added to the end of Section 14.2 of the Franchise Agreement:

However, to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law, North Dakota law applies to this agreement.

6. **Consent to Jurisdiction.** The following language is added to the end of Section 14.3 of the Franchise Agreement:

However, subject to the parties' arbitration obligations, to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law, franchisee may bring an action in North Dakota.

7. **Waiver of Punitive Damages and Jury Trial.** If required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law, Section 14.5 of the Franchise Agreement is deleted.

8. **Limitations of Claims.** The following sentence is added to the end of Section 14.6 of the Franchise Agreement:

The time limitations set forth in this Section might be modified by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Rider as of the dates set forth by their signatures, to be effective as of the Effective Date (regardless of the dates of the parties' signatures).

FRANCHISEE:

[ENTITYNAMECAPS]

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____
Date: _____

[FRANCHISOR ENTITY]

By: _____
Name: _____
Title: _____

**RIDER TO THE HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.
CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT
FOR USE IN NORTH DAKOTA**

This Rider is made ~~as of this _____ day of _____, _____~~ and entered into as of _____, 2025, by and between _____, a[n] _____, whose address is _____ (“Company”) and HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, whose address is 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606 (“Hyatt”).

1. **Background.** Hyatt and Company are parties to that certain Confidentiality Agreement dated _____, ~~2024~~2025 that has been signed concurrently with the signing of this Rider. This Rider is annexed to and forms part of the Confidentiality Agreement. This Rider is being signed because (a) the offer or sale of the franchise for the ~~Hyatt PlaceBrand~~ Hotel Company would operate under a franchise agreement was made in the State of North Dakota, and/or (b) Company is a resident of North Dakota and would operate the ~~Hyatt PlaceBrand~~ Hotel in North Dakota.

2. **Governing Law.** The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 13 and 14 of the Confidentiality Agreement:

Despite this provision, to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law, North Dakota law will apply to this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Rider on the day and year first above written.

HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: _____

By: _____

Name: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

Title: _____

HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.

GRANT OF FRANCHISOR CONSENT AND FRANCHISEE RELEASE

Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. (“we,” “us,” or “our”) and the undersigned franchisee, _____ (“you” or “your”), currently are parties to a certain Franchise Agreement (the “Franchise Agreement”) dated _____. You have asked us to take the following action or to agree to the following request: [insert as appropriate for renewal or transfer situation]_____

_____. We have the right under the Franchise Agreement to obtain a general release from you (and, if applicable, your owners) as a condition of taking this action or agreeing to this request. Therefore, we are willing to take the action or agree to the request specified above if you (and, if applicable, your owners) give us the release and covenant not to sue provided below in this document. You (and, if applicable, your owners) are willing to give us the release and covenant not to sue provided below as partial consideration for our willingness to take the action or agree to the request described above.

Consistent with the previous introduction, you, on your own behalf and on behalf of your affiliates, and your and their respective owners, officers, directors, partners, managers, employees, representatives and agents, and all of your and their respective successors, heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives and assigns (collectively, the “Releasing Parties”), hereby forever release and discharge us and our current and former affiliates, and our and their respective owners, officers, directors, partners, managers, employees, representatives and agents, and all of our and their respective successors, heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives and assigns (collectively, the “Hyatt Place Parties”), from any and all claims, damages (known and unknown), demands, causes of action, suits, duties, liabilities, and agreements of any nature and kind (collectively, “Claims”) that you or any of the other Releasing Parties now has, ever had, or, but for this document, hereafter would or could have against any of the Hyatt Place Parties (1) arising out of or related to the Releasing Parties’ rights or the Hyatt Place Parties’ obligations under the Franchise Agreement or any related agreement, or (2) otherwise arising from or related to your or any of the other Releasing Parties’ relationship, from the beginning of time to the date of your signature below, with any of the Hyatt Place Parties. You, on your own behalf and on behalf of the other Releasing Parties, further covenant not to sue any of the Hyatt Place Parties on any of the Claims released by this paragraph and represent that you have not assigned any of the Claims released by this paragraph to any individual or entity who is not bound by this paragraph.

[Signature Page Follows]

FRANCHISEE:

ENTITYNAMECAPS

By: _____
 SIGNEENAME
 SIGNEETITLE

Date: _____

HYATT PLACE FRANCHISING, L.L.C.

By: _____

Date: _____

State Effective Dates

The following states have franchise laws that require that the Franchise Disclosure Document be registered or filed with the state, or be exempt from registration: California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington, and Wisconsin.

This document is effective and may be used in the following states, where the document is filed, registered or exempt from registration, as of the Effective Date stated below:

State	Effective Date
California	March 26, 2024, as amended May 7, 2024 2025 (Exemption)
Hawaii	April 6, 2024, as amended May 14, 2024 Pending
Illinois	March 26, 2024, as amended May 7, 2024 2025 (Exemption)
Indiana	March 30, 2024, as amended May 7, 2024 26, 2025
Maryland	March 26, 2024, as amended May 7, 2024 Pending (Exemption)
Michigan	March 26, 2024, as amended May 7, 2024 2025
Minnesota	April 5, 2024, as amended May 29, 2024 Pending
New York	March 26, 2024, as amended May 7, 2024 2025 (Exemption)
North Dakota	April 9, 2024, as amended May 7, 2024 Pending (Exemption)
Rhode Island	April 4, 2024, as amended May 7, 2024 Pending (Exemption)
South Dakota	March 30, 2024, as amended May 7, 2024 26, 2025
Virginia	April 9, 2024, as amended June 10, 2024 Pending (Exemption)
Washington	April 26, 2024, as amended May 7, 2024 Pending (Exemption)
Wisconsin	March 30, 2024, as amended May 7, 2024 26, 2025

Other states may require registration, filing, or exemption of a franchise under other laws, such as those that regulate the offer and sale of business opportunities or seller-assisted marketing plans.

RECEIPT

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of the franchise agreement and other information in plain language. Read this disclosure document and all agreements carefully.

If Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. offers you a franchise, it must provide this disclosure document to you 14 calendar-days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make a payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale. **[Michigan requires that we give you this disclosure document at least 10 business days before the execution of any binding franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration, whichever occurs first.]**

If Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. does not deliver this disclosure document on time or if it contains a false or misleading statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal law and state law may have occurred and should be reported to the Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C., 20580 and the appropriate state agency identified in Exhibit D.

The franchisor is Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. located at 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606. Its telephone number is (312) 750-1234.

The franchise sellers for this offering are: ~~Jim Chu, Executive Vice President — Global Franchising~~ and Daniel Hansen, Head of Americas Development, Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C., 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606, (~~312~~605) ~~780-5891~~759-4767; and

- ☐ ~~Camilo Bolanos~~
~~396 Alhambra Circle~~
~~Suite 788~~
~~Coral Gables, Florida 33134~~
~~(304) 777-1234~~
- ☐ James “Kimo” Bertram
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(312) 750-1234
- ☐ **Margot Caruso**
6874 Avalon Avenue
Dallas, Texas 75214
(847) 494-8131
- ☐ **Brian Ebbs**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(240) 461-0283
- ☐ ~~Jason Gregorek~~
~~6860 North Dallas Parkway~~
~~Plano, Texas 75024~~
~~(972) 467-3094~~
- ☐ **Jeff Johnson**
17320 W. 17th Place
Golden, Colorado 80401
(720) 560-4779
- ☐ Meri Keller
150 North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(404) 849-5595

- ☐ **James Lewitt**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(312) 780-2425
- ☐ **Gabrielle McMillan**
220 Victoria Street
Bay St. Louis, Mississippi 39520
(662) 607-1591
- ☐ **Jared Riccio**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(856) 777-4163
- ☐ **Nirav Shah**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(312) 981-9544
- ☐ **Joshua Siebert**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(312) 780-5855
- ☐ **James Tierney**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(617) 803-4489
- ☐ **Christina Wells**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(312) 706-7440
- ☐ **Nathan Wilson**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(585) 280-3284

Issuance Date: March 26, ~~2024, as amended May 7, 2024~~[2025](#)

Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. authorizes the respective state agents identified on Exhibit D to receive service of process for it in the particular states. I received a disclosure document from Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. dated as of March 26, ~~2024, as amended May 7, 2024~~[2025](#), that included the following Exhibits:

Exhibit A	Financial Statements
Exhibit B	Franchise Application
Exhibit C	Franchise Agreement
Exhibit D	State Administrators/Agents for Service of Process
Exhibit E	System Standards Table of Contents
Exhibit F	Confidentiality Agreement
Exhibit G	List of Franchisees
Exhibit H	List of Franchisees Who Left the System
Exhibit I	Service Agreement for Revenue Management Central Hotel Services by Hyatt Master Agreement
Exhibit J	Comfort Letter
Exhibit K	Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement
Exhibit L	Field Marketing Program Opt-In Agreement
Exhibit ML ML	State-Specific Additional Disclosures and Riders

Date

Prospective Franchisee Name

Authorized Signature

RECEIPT

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of the franchise agreement and other information in plain language. Read this disclosure document and all agreements carefully.

If Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. offers you a franchise, it must provide this disclosure document to you 14 calendar-days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make a payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale. **[Michigan requires that we give you this disclosure document at least 10 business days before the execution of any binding franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration, whichever occurs first.]**

If Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. does not deliver this disclosure document on time or if it contains a false or misleading statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal law and state law may have occurred and should be reported to the Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C., 20580 and the appropriate state agency identified in Exhibit D.

The franchisor is Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. located at 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606. Its telephone number is (312) 750-1234.

The franchise sellers for this offering are: ~~Jim Chu, Executive Vice President—Global Franchising~~ and Daniel Hansen, Head of Americas Development, Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C., 150 North Riverside Plaza, Chicago, Illinois 60606, (~~312~~605) ~~780-5891~~759-4767; and

- ☐ ~~Camilo Bolanos~~
~~396 Alhambra Circle~~
~~Suite 788~~
~~Coral Gables, Florida 33134~~
~~(304) 777-1234~~
- ☐ James “Kimo” Bertram
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(312) 750-1234
- ☐ **Margot Caruso**
6874 Avalon Avenue
Dallas, Texas 75214
(847) 494-8131
- ☐ **Brian Ebbs**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(240) 461-0283
- ☐ ~~Jason Gregorek~~
~~6860 North Dallas Parkway~~
~~Plano, Texas 75024~~
~~(972) 467-3094~~
- ☐ **Jeff Johnson**
17320 W. 17th Place
Golden, Colorado 80401
(720) 560-4779
- ☐ Meri Keller
150 North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(404) 849-5595

- ☐ **James Lewitt**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(312) 780-2425
- ☐ **Gabrielle McMillan**
220 Victoria Street
Bay St. Louis, Mississippi 39520
(662) 607-1591
- ☐ **Jared Riccio**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(856) 777-4163
- ☐ **Nirav Shah**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(312) 981-9544
- ☐ **Joshua Siebert**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(312) 780-5855
- ☐ **James Tierney**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(617) 803-4489
- ☐ **Christina Wells**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(312) 706-7440
- ☐ **Nathan Wilson**
150 N. Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606
(585) 280-3284

Issuance Date: March 26, ~~2024, as amended May 7, 2024~~2025

Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. authorizes the respective state agents identified on Exhibit D to receive service of process for it in the particular states. I received a disclosure document from Hyatt Place Franchising, L.L.C. dated as of March 26, ~~2024, as amended May 7, 2024~~2025, that included the following Exhibits:

Exhibit A	Financial Statements
Exhibit B	Franchise Application
Exhibit C	Franchise Agreement
Exhibit D	State Administrators/Agents for Service of Process
Exhibit E	System Standards Table of Contents
Exhibit F	Confidentiality Agreement
Exhibit G	List of Franchisees
Exhibit H	List of Franchisees Who Left the System
Exhibit I	Service Agreement for Revenue Management <u>Central Hotel</u> Services <u>by</u> <u>Hyatt Master Agreement</u>
Exhibit J	Comfort Letter
Exhibit K	Subscription and Hosting Services Agreement
Exhibit L	Field Marketing Program Opt In Agreement
Exhibit ML <u>ML</u>	State-Specific Additional Disclosures and Riders

Date

Prospective Franchisee Name

Authorized Signature

After signing and dating the Receipt, you may return it to us (to the attention of Rebecca Smetters) by sending the original via overnight courier or 1st class mail to our address above or by emailing a scanned copy to rebecca.smetters@hyatt.com.